Pradip Kumar Sahu

# Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields



Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields





Pradip Kumar Sahu

Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields



Pradip Kumar Sahu Department of Agricultural Statistics Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya West Bengal India

ISBN 978-81-322-1019-1 ISBN 978-81-322-1020-7 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-81-322-1020-7 Springer New Delhi Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2013933139

© Springer India 2013

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use. While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)



To My Parents





# Preface

Starting from the initiation of the human civilization, all efforts have remained directed towards improving the quality of life. In the process, "Research," the search for knowledge, is ever increasing. Huge amount of resources in different forms is being channeled for this purpose. As such, the importance of research methodology is being felt day by day to have more and more successful research program. The voyage of discovery could be more meaningful if due attention is given to the art of scientific investigation, particularly in designing and meticulous implementation of a research program. Taking all these into consideration, this book has been written in such a way so that researchers in the field of agriculture, social science, and other fields could get a guideline about the appropriate methodology to be adopted and, in the process, the methods and techniques to be used so as to have successful research program.

This book contains 14 chapters altogether. The first two chapters ("Scientific Process and Research" and "Research Process" will help the research students, teachers, and researchers in different fields to get ideas/ conception and also plan better research programs. Chapter 3 ("Research Problem") will guide researchers in formulating a research problem under the given situations. Chapter 4 ("Research Design") is aimed at imparting ideas of quality research to researchers so that these could be attributed to a research program. Discussions of the types of variables, their measurement, and scaling techniques have been made in Chap. 5. In Chap. 6, mainly the techniques of drawing appropriate sample have been discussed. This will help researchers working on heterogeneous population. Different types of data and their collection methodologies are discussed in Chap. 7. To interpret the data collected, processing and analysis are the most important aspects. Processing of raw data, its scrutiny, and preliminary analytical techniques have been discussed in Chap. 8. Many research programs deal with problems that involve hypothesis testing. Details of hypothesis testing techniques, both parametric and nonparametric, are discussed in Chap. 9. Analysis of variance, along with different experimental designs and their analysis, is discussed in Chap. 10. In Chap. 11, an attempt has been made to demonstrate the techniques of analysis of different genetics and breeding related problems. Multiple regression analysis, discriminant analysis, principal component analysis, cluster analysis, etc., have been taken up in Chap. 12. The



emphasis has been on how to tackle multivariate problems with the help of computer programs and their interpretations. Instruments are nowadays an indispensible part of any research program. An attempt is made to discuss some of the instruments, precaution to be taken to use the laboratory safety measures, etc., in Chap. 13 . In this chapter, the utility of a computer in statistical analysis and the misuse of statistical theories are discussed in brief. In the last chapter, formulation of project proposal, interpretation, preparation of final report, etc., are discussed. In each chapter, theories are followed by examples from applied fields, which will help the readers of this book to understand the theories and applications of specific tools. Attempts have been made to familiarize the problems with examples on each topic in a lucid manner. During the preparation of this volume, a good number of books and articles in different national and international journals, have been consulted; efforts have been made to acknowledge and provide these in the reference section. An inquisitive reader may find more material from the literature cited.

To help the students, teachers and researchers in the field of agriculture and other allied fields remains the prime consideration in conceptualizing this book. Sincere efforts have been made to present the material in simplest and easy-to-understand form. Encouragements, suggestions and helps received from my teachers and my colleagues in the Department of Agricultural Statistics, Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya are acknowledged sincerely. Their valuable suggestions towards improvement of the content helped a lot and are acknowledged sincerely. Dr. BK Senapati, Associate Professor, Department of Plant Breeding, and Dr Kusal Roy, Department of Agricultural Entomology, Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya, have extended their full support towards the improvement of several chapters of this book. The author sincerely acknowledges the help received from Dr Senapati and Dr Roy. The author is happy to acknowledge the help received from Sri Pradeep Mishra, K Padmanabhan, and Ms Piyali Guha, the research students, during the preparation of this book. Thanks are due to my two daughters, Saswati and Jayati, and their mother Swati for their full cooperation and continuous encouragement during the preparation of this manuscript. The author thankfully acknowledge the constructive suggestions received from the reviewers towards improvement of the book. Statistical packages used to demonstrate the techniques of analyzing data are also gratefully acknowledged. Thanks are also due to M/S Springer Publishers for the publication of this book and continuous monitoring, help and suggestion during this book project. Help, co-operation, encouragement received from various corners, which are not mentioned above, the author thankfully acknowledge the same. Every effort will be successful if this book is well accepted by the students, teachers, researchers, and other users whom this book is aimed at. I am confident that like the other books written by me, this book will also receive huge appreciation from the readers. Every effort has been made to avoid errors. Constructive suggestions from the readers in improving the quality of this book will be highly appreciated.

Department of Agricultural Statistics Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya P.K. Sahu



### About the Book

This book is the outcome of more than 20 years of the author's experience in teaching and in research field. The wider scope and coverage of the book will help not only the students/ researchers/professionals in the field of agriculture and allied disciplines but also the researchers and practitioners in other fields. Written in a simple and lucid language, the book would appeal to all those who are meant to be benefited out of it. All efforts have been made to present "research," and its meaning, intention, and usefulness. The book reflects current methodological techniques used in interdisciplinary research, as illustrated by many relevant worked out examples. Designing of research program, selection of variables, collection of data, and their analysis to interpret the data are discussed extensively. Statistical tools are complemented with real-life examples, making the otherwise complicated subject like statistics seem simpler. Attempts have been made to demonstrate how a user can solve the problems using simple a computer-oriented program. Emphasis is placed not only on solving the problems in various fields but also on drawing inferences from the problems. The importance of instruments and computers in research processes and statistical analyses along with their misuse/incorrect use is also discussed to make the user aware about the correct use of specific technique. In all chapters, theories are combined with examples, and steps are enumerated to follow the correct use of the available packages like MSEXCELL, SPSS, SPAR1, STATISTICA and SAS. Utmost care has been taken to present varied range of research problems along with their solutions in agriculture and allied fields which would be of immense use to readers.





www.m

# Contents

Scie 1.1 1.2	ntific Process and Research   Scientific Methods   Research	1 1 2
<b>Res</b> 2.1	earch Process	15 15
<b>Res</b> 3.1 3.2	earch Problems Research Problems Steps in the Formulation of Research Problem	21 21 22
<b>Res</b> 4.1 4.2	earch Design Characteristics of a Good Research Design Types of Research Design	25 26 26
Var 5.1 5.2 5.3	iables, Measurement, and Scaling Technique   Variable   Measurement   Scaling and Its Meaning	35 35 40 42
Sam 6.1 6.2 6.3	Impling DesignErrors in Sample SurveySelection of Sample (Sampling Technique)Execution of the Sampling Plan	45 48 48 60
Coll 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ection of DataMethods of Collection of Primary DataCollection of Secondary DataCase StudyCriteria for Selections of Appropriate Methodof Data Collection	63 63 71 72 72
Pro 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6	cessing and Analysis of Data   Processing of Information   Analysis of Data   Correlation Analysis   Correlation Ratio   Association of Attributes   Regression Analysis	75 75 87 112 121 123 125
	Scie   1.1   1.2   Reso   2.1   Reso   3.1   3.2   Reso   4.1   4.2   Var   5.1   5.2   5.3   Sam   6.1   6.2   6.3   Coll   7.1   7.2   7.3   7.4   Proot   8.1   8.2   8.3   8.4   8.5   8.6	Scientific Process and Research   1.1   Scientific Methods   1.2 Research   Research Process   2.1 Steps in Research   Research Problems   3.1 Research Problems   3.2 Steps in the Formulation of Research Problem   Research Design   4.1 Characteristics of a Good Research Design   4.1 Characteristics of a Good Research Design   4.2 Types of Research Design   4.2 Types of Research Design   5.1 Variables, Measurement, and Scaling Technique   5.2 Measurement   5.3 Scaling and Its Meaning   Sampling Design 6.1   6.1 Errors in Sample Survey   6.2 Selection of Sample (Sampling Technique)   6.3 Execution of the Sampling Plan   Collection of Data 7.1   7.1 Methods of Collection of Primary Data   7.2 Collection of Secondary Data   7.3 Case Study   7.4 Criteria for Selections of Appropriate Method of Data   7.4 Criteria for Selections of Appropriate Method of Data

9	Form	Ilation and Testing of Hypothesis	131
	9.1	Estimation	131
	9.2	Testing of Hypothesis	132
	9.3	Statistical Test Based on Normal Population	134
	9.4	Large Sample Test	144
	9.5	Nonparametric Tests	158
		Appendix	174
10	Analys	sis of Variance and Experimental Designs	189
	10.1	Linear Models	189
	10.2	One-Way ANOVA	190
	10.3	Two-Way ANOVA	195
	10.4	Violation of Assumptions in ANOVA	205
	10.5	Experimental Reliability	215
	10.6	Comparison of Means	215
	10.7	Completely Randomized Design (CRD)	217
	10.8	Randomized Block Design (RBD)	228
	10.9	Latin Square Design (LSD)	234
	10.10	Missing Plot Technique	241
	10.11	Factorial Experiment	246
	10.12	Incomplete Block Design	258
11	Analy	sis Related to Breeding Researches	283
11	11 1	Analysis of Covariance	283
	11.1	Partitioning of Variance and Covariance	289
	11.2	Path Analysis	302
	11.5	Stability Analysis	315
	11.5	Sustainability	319
12	Multiv	variate Analysis	325
	12.1	Classification of Multivariate Analysis	325
	12.2	Regression Analysis	326
	12.3	Multiple Correlation	327
	12.4	Stepwise Regression	331
	12.5	Regression vs. Causality	345
	12.6	Partial Correlation	346
	12.7	Canonical Correlation	349
	12.8	Multiple Regression Analysis and Multicollinearity	354
	12.9	Factor Analysis	354
	12.10	Discriminant Analysis	364
	12.11	Cluster Analysis	377
13	Instru	mentation and Computation	380
15	13 1	Instruments	380
	13.1	I aboratory Safety Measures	405
	13.2	Computer Computer Software and Desearch	403
	15.5	Computer, Computer Software, and Research	400

المتسارات

xii

14	4 Research Proposal and Report Writing		
	14.1	Research Proposal	411
	14.2	Research Report Writing	414
Suggested Readings			
Ind	ex		427

www.m

# **Scientific Process and Research**

Inquisitiveness is the mother of all inventions. Human being, by its instinct, is curious in nature; everywhere they want to know what is this, what is this for, why this is so, and what's next. This inquisitiveness has laid the foundations of many inventions. When they want to satisfy their inquisitiveness on various phenomena in a logical sequence of steps, they should take the role of the scientific process.

#### 1.1 Scientific Methods

There are various ways or methods of knowing the unknowns, to answer to the inquisitiveness. Among the various methods, the scientific method is probably the most widely used method. The scientific process aims at describing explanation, and understating, of various known or unknown phenomena in nature. Thus, it increases the knowledge of human beings in multifarious ways. Any scientific process may have three basic steps: systematic observation, classification, and interpretation. Scientific methods are characterized by their objectivity, generality, verifiability, and creditability. Objectivity refers to procedures and findings not influenced by personal feelings, values, and beliefs of a researcher. Thus, objectivity in a scientific process ensures an unbiased, unprejudiced, and impersonal study. Generality refers to the power of generalization of the study from a particular phenomenon under study. Scientific studies should have general or universal applications. Universality refers to the fact that a study could provide a similar result under the same situations. Verifiability refers to the verifications of results or findings from subsequent studies. Not all scientific studies should lead to predictability, but when it predicts, it should predict with sufficient accuracy.

Scientific method is a pursuit of truth as determined by logical considerations. Logical sequence aims at formulating propositions/ hypotheses explicitly and accurately so that these not only explain the phenomenon and unearth the undiscovered truth but also possible alternatives. All these are done through investigations/experimentations/observations.

Thus, observation, investigation, and experimentation are the integral part of a scientific process either in isolation or in combination; through observation, one can describe and explain the phenomenon of interest. Investigations lead to provide a deeper insight into the phenomenon to unearth or expose the hidden truth. On the other hand, experimentations are mostly conducted under control conditions where most of the variables under considerations are allowed to remain constant, barring the variables of interest. The scientific method is mainly based on some basic postulates like:

- 1. It assumes the ethical neutrality of the problem under consideration, which leads to adequate and correct statement about the population objects.
- 2. It relies on empirical evidences.
- 3. It utilizes pertinent and relevant concepts.

1

- 4. It is committed to objective considerations.
- 5. It is committed to a methodology known to all concerned for critical scrutiny and possible replications.
- 6. In most of the cases, it is based on probabilistic approach.

#### 1.2 Research

Research is "re-search," meaning a voyage of discovery. "Re" means again and again, and "search" means a voyage of knowledge. Research facilitates original contribution to the existing stock of knowledge, making for its advancement for the betterment of this universe. Research inculcates scientific and inductive thinking, and it promotes logical habits of thinking and organizations. The wider area of research and its application has laid to define research in various ways by various authors. By and large, research can be thought of as a scientific process by which new facts, ideas, and theories could be established or proved in any branch of knowledge.

Research is an art of scientific investigations; it leads to unearth the so-called hidden things of this universe. Research leads to enrichment of knowledge bank. Scientific research is entirely different from the application of scientific method towards harnessing of curiosity. Scientific information is put forward by a scientific research in explaining the nature and properties of nature.

#### 1.2.1 Motivations of Research

Though inquisitiveness is the prime motivation for research, there are other motives or possible motives for carrying out a research project:

- 1. Joy of creativity
- 2. Desire to face challenges in solving the unsolved problems
- 3. Affinity to harness intellectual joy while doing some new work
- 4. Desire to serve the society
- 5. Desire to get respect

🖌 للاستشارات

- 6. Desire to get a research degree
- 7. Desire to have means of livelihood

Neither the above list is exhaustive, nor the motives mentioned above operate in isolation; they may operate individually or in combinations. These motivations are from individual point of view. But motivations in research may come as directives from the government as part of their policy and may come under certain compelling situations and so on. Government may ask to undertake a research program so as to make the public distribution system more effective towards eradicating hunger, may direct to undertake research so that the productivity of food grain production may reach to the target within the stipulated time period, may ask researchers in economic policy so that the economic recession in different parts of the globe may not touch the economy of a particular country, etc.

Compelling situations like certain natural disasters in the form of tsunami, Aila, flood, and tornado, and outbreak of pests and diseases may lead to a research work towards finding and understanding causal relationships and overcoming approaches.

#### 1.2.2 Objective of Research

The objective of any research is to unearth the answers to the questions an experimenter/ researcher has in mind. The purpose of any research is to find out the truth which has so long remained undiscovered. Any research may have one or more objectives befitting to the purpose of the study. However, these can be categorized into different groups:

- 1. To gain familiarity of new things or to get an insight into any phenomenon
- 2. To picturize or to describe the characteristics of a particular situation, group, etc.
- 3. To work out the relative occurrence of some things and their associated things
- 4. To taste the hypotheses of relationship among the associated variables, to study the dynamics of relationships of different associated variables in this universe

As such a research may be exploratory or formulative, descriptive, diagnostic or hypothesis testing, etc., in nature. A research can be oriented to explore new things or new solutions and new insights in a particular phenomenon. This type of research can lead to the formulation of new things.

#### 1.2.3 Research Methodology

The systematic process of solving a research problem is termed as research methodology. The science of studying how a research is carried out scientifically is known as research methodology. It generally encompasses various steps followed by researchers in studying research problems adopting logical sequences. In doing so, researchers should clearly understand the following questions in their mind: how to reach the answers to the questions, what could be the other steps, and what methods/techniques should be used? They should have ideas about a particular technique to be used among the available techniques, what are the assumptions and what are the merits and demerits. Thus, proper knowledge of research methodology enables a researcher to accomplish his or her research projects in a meticulous way. Research methodology helps a researcher in identifying the problems, formulating problems and hypotheses, gathering information, participating in the fieldwork, using appropriate statistical tools, considering evidences, drawing inferences from the collected information or experiment, etc. Research methodology has a great role to play in solving research problem in a holistic way by the researcher. Research methodology helps a researcher:

- 1. To carry out a research work more confidently
- 2. To inculcate his or her abilities/capabilities
- 3. To extract not only the undiscovered truth of the objective of the research but also his or her hidden talent
- 4. To better understand the society and its need

#### 1.2.4 Research Method

Techniques or methods used in performing research operation known as research method. Research method is mainly concerned with the collection and analysis of information generated in answering the research problem that researchers have in mind. Thus, research method mostly includes analytical tools of research. The method of collecting information (from observation, experimentation, survey, etc.) using an appropriate survey/case study/experimentation method is included in a research method. The next group of a research method consists of statistical techniques to be used among the host of available statistical tools in establishing the characteristics and relationships of the knowns or unknowns. Research method also includes techniques for evaluating the accuracy of the result obtained.

#### 1.2.5 Research Methodology vs. Research Method

From the above discussion, it is clear that research methodology is a multidimensional concept in which research method constitutes a part. As such research methodology has a wider scope and arena compared to research method. While discussing research methodology, a researcher talks not only about the techniques or collections of information and analysis of information but also on the logic behind the use of particular methods commensurating with the objective in mind and capability of generalizations of information generated from the research. Research methodology is also concerned with why the research problem has been chosen, how the specific problem has been defined, how the possible indicator has been identified, how the hypothesis is framed, what the data requirements for testing those hypotheses are, how to collect those data, why some particular methods of collections of analysis of data are against the other methods, and similar other questions. Thus, research



methodology is concerned with the whole research problem or study, whereas research method is concerned with techniques, collections of information, its analysis, and validation. Research method can be regarded as a subset of research methodology.

#### 1.2.6 Research Approach

Depending upon the inquisitiveness/problems the researcher has in mind, the approach to find a solution may broadly be categorized under two groups: qualitative and quantitative approach. In qualitative approach, research is mainly concerned with subjective assessment of the respondent. It is mainly concerned with attitudes, opinions, behaviors, impressions, etc. Thus, qualitative research is an approach to research to generate insights of the subject concerned in nonquantitative form or not subjected to rigorous quantitative analytical tools. In quantitative research approach, researchers undertake generations of information in quantitative form which are subjected to rigorous quantitative analysis subsequently. Generally, the quantitative approach has three different forms:

- 1. Inferential approach
- 2. Experimental approach
- 3. Simulation approach

#### 1.2.6.1 Inferential Approach

In this approach, information is obtained to use or to draw inference about the population characteristics, their relationships, etc. Generally, survey or observations are taken from a studied sample to determine its characteristics and their relationships, and then, sample behavior is used to infer about the population behavior on the same characteristics and their relationships. Though the objective remains to study the population behaviors, characteristics, and interrelationships, because of constraints like time, money, resource, accessibility, and feasibility, it becomes difficult to study each and every unit of the population. Representative part of the population samples are drawn to study the behavior, characteristics, and interrelationships; these are again subjected to inferential tools to draw conclusions and to draw inference about the populations, behavior, characteristics, and interrelationships. In this approach, the researcher has no control over the characteristics or variables or respondent under study.

#### 1.2.6.2 Experimental Approach

Experimental approach is characterized by control over a research environment by a researcher. An experiment is defined as a systematic process in which a researcher can have control over variables under considerations to fulfill the objective of his or her research process. Experiments are of two types: absolute experiment and comparative experiment. In absolute experiment, researches are in search of certain descriptive measures or characteristics and their relationships under control conditions, for example, how an average performance of a particular variety of paddy is changing over different nutrient regimes and how the nutrient regimes and average performance are associated. In comparative experiment, on the other hand, an experimenter is interested in comparing the effects of different treatments (control variables). For example, one may be interested in comparing the efficacy of different health drinks.

#### 1.2.6.3 Simulation Approach

Stimulation means operations of numerical model that represents the structure of a dynamic process. In a simulation approach, artificial environment is created within which required information can be generated. Given the values for initial or ideal conditions, parameters, and exogenous variables, stimulation is run to represent and to regenerate the behavior of a process again and again so that it reaches to a stabilized condition providing consistent results. Future conditions can also be visualized under different varying conditions, parameters, and exogenous variables.



#### 1.2.7 Criteria of Good Research

The ultimate objective of any research program should be oriented towards providing benefit to the society. The purpose of research, may it be in the field of life science, social science, business, economics, and others, will definitely facilitate better standard of living and conditions for the poorest of the poor. A good research should have the following criteria:

- 1. It should have clearly defined objectives
- 2. It should have described the research procedure sufficiently in detail and performed in a manner such that it could be repeated
- 3. It should have research design properly planned and formulated to provide results as far as possible to fulfill the objective of a research program
- 4. It should have adequate analytical work to reveal the significance in the tune of validity and reliability of the results for the betterment of the community
- It should find out and report the flaws and lacunae of the research carried out so that it could be rectified in future program
- 6. Inference should be drawn only to the extent to which it is justified by the information support and validated by the statistical tool. Unnecessary generalization and extra variant comments not warranted by the observations should be avoided.

With the above guidelines, a good research should be (a) systematic, (b) logical, (c) empirical, (d) replicable, and, above all, (e) creative.

Systematic research is one which is structured with specific steps in proper sequence in accordance with well-defined set of rules. Specific steps in proper sequence never rule out creative thinking in changing the standard paths and sequence.

Any scientific process is guided by the rules of logical reasoning and logical process of intention and deduction. Induction is a process of reasoning from portion to the whole, contrary to deduction, meaning a process of reasoning from some premises to the conclusion which comes out from the premises; without having any logical reasoning, a research is meaningless.



A good research should take into consideration one or more aspects of real-life situations which could deal with concrete data that provides basis for validity of research results.

Replicability of any research loves research results that should be verified by replicating a study and thereby providing a sound basis in taking decision with respect to the research findings.

Creativity is the most important factor in research proposal. Ideally no two research proposals should be identical to each other. Research proposal should be designed meticulously so as to consider all factors relevant to the objective of the project. Difference in the formulation and structure of two research programs results in difference in creativity and also in findings. Any sorts of guessing or imagination should be avoided in arriving at conclusions of a research program.

#### 1.2.8 Types of Research

Research is a journey towards the betterment of human lifestyle. It is innovative, intellectual, and fact-finding tools. Depending upon the nature, objectives, and other factors, research program has been defined or categorized under different types. The different types of research program mentioned below are to some extent overlapping, but each of them has some unique differentiable characteristic to put them under different categories:

- 1. Descriptive research
- 2. Analytical research
- 3. Fundamental/pure/basic research
- 4. Applied/empirical research
- 5. Qualitative research
- 6. Quantitative research
- 7. Conceptual research
- 8. Original research
- 9. Artistic research
- 10. Action research
- 11. Historical research
- 12. Laboratory research
  - 13. Field research
  - 14. Intervention research

- 15. Simulation research
- 16. Motivational research
- 17. One-time research
- 18. Longitudinal research
- 19. Clinical/diagnostic research
- 20. Conclusion-oriented research
- 21. Decision-oriented research
- 22. Exploratory research
- 23. Explanatory research
- 24. Evaluation research
- 25. Operation research
- 26. Market research
- 27. Dialectical research
- 28. Internet research
- 29. Participatory research

#### 1.2.8.1 Descriptive Research

This research is sometimes known as ex post facto research. In this type of research, the objective is to describe a state of phenomenon that already exists. Generally the researchers attempt to trace probable causes of an effect which has already occurred even when a researcher doesn't have any control over the variables. The plight of human beings after tsunami may be the objective of research projects. In this type of project, the researcher's emphasis is on the causes of their plight so that appropriate measures could be taken at proper level. Ex post facto research may also be undertaken in business and industry, for example, reasons for changing behavior of consumer towards a particular commodity or group of commodity. In this type of studies, all measures to describe the characteristics as well as correlation measures are considered.

#### 1.2.8.2 Analytical Research

Analytical research study is based on facts. A researcher has to use the facts or information available to them, analyzes them to critically evaluate the situation and followed bv inferences. Thus, the difference between the descriptive and analytical research, though there is no silver lining, is that analytical research most likely goes deep inside the information for critical evaluations of the situations, whereas descriptive research may have the sole objective in describing the characteristics of the situations.

#### 1.2.8.3 Fundamental/Pure/Basic Research

Fundamental or basic research, sometimes known as pure or exploratory research, is mostly related to the formulation of theory. Fundamental researches are concerned with the generalization of nature and human behavior at different situations. It may aim at gathering knowledge for knowledge's sake. Research findings which have resulted to the Newton's law of gravity, Newton's law of motion, etc., are examples of pure or fundamental research. Fundamental research is more often intellectual explorations arising out of intrinsic inquisitiveness of human beings. It is not associated with solving a particular problem, rather exploring the possibility of unearthing universal laws or theories.

#### 1.2.8.4 Applied Research

Applied researches are mostly applicationoriented research programs. This type of research aims at finding a solution for an immediate problem faced by a society, nation, business organization, etc. Market research is an example of applied research. Applied research is action oriented. Applied researches are often criticized by the nonacceptance or poor acceptance of their results by the people. Among the many reasons, one might be the fact that action research is conducted under controlled conditions which may not match entirely in reality with the people's living and working conditions. These problems of applied research have given rise to the concept of adaptive research. Thus, adaptive research should have emphasis on the usefulness of its results in the society and should be conducted under the prevailing situations of the targeted people.

#### 1.2.8.5 Qualitative Research

Qualitative research is concerned with qualitative phenomenon. It is associated with phenomena like reasons of human behaviors. It aims at discovering the reasons of motivations, feelings of the public, etc. This type of research explores the psychological approach of human behavior and qualitative aspects of other areas of interest. Instead of analyzing data, based on observations, this depends on the help and guidance of psychologists, experts, etc. Why a group of people in a particular area prefers a particular type of tea may be one of the examples of qualitative research. Qualitative research uses techniques like word association test, sentence test, or story competition test. Exit or opinion poll is conducted during election in determining how people react to political manifestoes, candidatures, etc., and in deciding the outcomes of election.

#### 1.2.8.6 Quantitative Research

Quantitative research is another kind of research in which systematic investigations having quantitative property and phenomenon are considered. Their relationships are worked out in this research. Quantitative research designs are experimental, correlational, and descriptive in nature. It has the ability to measure or quantify phenomena and analyze them numerically. Statistics derived from quantitative research can be used in establishing the associative or causal relationship among the variables. Fluctuations relating to performance of various business concerns, measured in terms of quantity or data, and agricultural experiments relating to measurement of quantitative characters and their correlational activities are examples of quantitative research. Quantitative research depends on the collection of data, the accuracy of data collection instruments, and the consistency and efficiency of the data. Utilization of proper statistical tool in testing of hypothesis or in measuring the estimate of the treatments is the prerequisite of the quality inference drawn from this type of research.

#### 1.2.8.7 Conceptual Research

Conceptual research leads to an outline of conceptual framework to be used for a possible course of action in a research program. Thus, conceptual researches are aimed at formulating intermediate theory that is related to, or connected to, all aspects of inquiry. Conceptual research is related to the development of new concepts or innovations and interpretations of new ideas for existing methods. It is generally adopted by the philosopher and policy makers or policy thinkers.

#### 1.2.8.8 Original Research

To some extent, original research is fundamental or basic in nature. This is not exclusively based on a summary, review, or synthesis of earlier publications on the subject of research. The objective of original research is to add new knowledge rather than to present the existing knowledge in a new form. An original work may be an experimental one, may be an exploratory one, and may be an analytical one. The originality of research is one of the major criteria for accessing a research program.

#### 1.2.8.9 Artistic Research

One of the characteristics of artistic research is that it is subjective in nature, unlike those used in conventional scientific methods. Thus, artistic research, to some extent, may have similarity with qualitative research. Artistic research is mainly used to investigate and taste an artistic activity in gaining knowledge for artistic disciplines. These are based on artistic methods, practice, and criticality. The main emphasis is enriching the knowledge and understanding the field of arts.

#### 1.2.8.10 Action Research

Action research is mostly specific problem oriented. The objective of this type of research is to find out reasons and to understand any situation to go deep into the problem so that an action-oriented solution could be attended. This is mostly used in social science researches; participation of local people is the main characteristic feature of this type of research. There are three main steps in action research: (1) examining and analyzing the problem with local people's participation, (2) deciding upon actions to be taken under the given situations in collaboration with active local people's participation, and (3) monitoring and evaluating so as to eradicate constraints and improve upon the action



1 Scientific Process and Research

plans. Generally this type of research doesn't include strong theoretical basis with high complex method of analysis; rather, it is directed towards mitigating immediate problems under a given situation.

#### 1.2.8.11 Historical Research

Historical research means an investigation of the past. In this type of research, past information is noted and analyzed to interpret the condition existed during the period of investigations. It may be a cross-sectional research or a time series research. This method utilizes sources like documents, remains, etc., to study past events or ideas, including the philosophies of people and groups at any remote point in time. In forecasting generally the past records are analyzed to find out the trends and behaviors of a particular subject of interest. These are sometimes mathematically modeled to extrapolate the future of a phenomenon with an assumption that past situations will likely continue in the future. The Delphi and expert opinion methods are examples of using such historical method of research in solving research problems.

#### 1.2.8.12 Laboratory Research

Laboratory research is one of the most powerful techniques in getting answers a researcher has in his or her mind. Laboratory research is also one of the wings of experimental research. It may combine with field research or may work independently. Modern scientific research is heavily dependent on laboratory/instrumental facilities available to researchers. A better laboratory facility in conjunction with tremendous inquisitiveness of a researcher may lead to an icebreaking scientific achievement for the betterment of human life. There are so many good popular, renowned laboratories in the world which continue to contribute to the knowledge bank not only by genius scientists but also by the facilities available to them. Under laboratory condition, a research is being carried out to some extent under control conditions. In laboratory research, an experimenter has the freedom to manipulate some variables while keeping others constant.



Laboratory experiments are characterized by its replicability.

#### 1.2.8.13 Field Research

Field research is a type of research that is not necessarily confined to laboratories. By field research, we generally mean researches were carried out under field conditions; field conditions may be agricultural, industrial, social, psychological, and so on. Field experiments are the major tools in psychology, sociology, education, industry, business, agriculture, etc. An experimenter may or may not have control over the variables. Field research may be an ex post facto research. It may be an exploratory in nature and may be a survey type of research. Field research can be very well suited for testing hypothesis and theories. In order to conduct a field research, an experimenter is required to have high social experimental, psychological, and other knowledge.

#### 1.2.8.14 Intervention Research

Interventional research mainly aimed at searching for the type of interventions required to improve upon the quality of life. Its main objective is to get an answer to the type of intermediaries and intervention (may be institutional, formal, informal, and others) required to solve a particular problem. Once the finding of an interventional research is obtained, the government and other agencies work out an intervention strategy. For example, it is decided that to ensure food and nutrition security by 2020, the productivity should increase at 3% per annum. The question is not only related to what should be the strategy to achieve the target but also related to what should be the appropriate steps; what should be the role of government, quasigovernment, and nongovernment agencies; and what are technical, socioeconomic, and other interventions required at different levelsintervention research is the only solution. In business, let a particular house wants to popularized their products to the consumer. Now research is required to answer the questions what should be the marketing/promotional/intermediary strategies to reach to the consumer, in

addition to motivational research about the consumers? At government levels, different health-improving programs are taken up based on intervention research findings on particular aspects. Thus, intervention research is most pertinent in social improvement perspective, having clear-cut objectives.

#### 1.2.8.15 Simulation Research

Simulation means an artificial environment related to a particular process is framed with the help of numerical or other models to indicate the structure of the process. In this endeavor, the dynamic behavior of the process is tried to be replicated under controlled conditions. The objective of this type of research is to trace the future path under varying situations with the given site of conditions. Simulation research has wider applicability not only in business and commerce but also in other fields like agriculture, medical, space, and other research areas. It is useful in building models for understanding the future course.

#### 1.2.8.16 Motivational Research

Motivational research is, by and large, a quality type of research carried out in order to investigate people's behavior. While investigating the reasons behind people's behavior, the motivation behind this behavior is required to be explored with the help of a research technique, known as motivational research. In this type of research, the main objective remains in discovering the underlying intention/desire/motive behind а particular human behavior. Using an in-depth interview/ interactions, researchers try to investigate into the causes of such behavior. In the process, researchers may take help from an association test, word completion test, sentence completion test, story completion test, and some other objective test. Research is designed in such a way so as to investigate the attitude and opinion of people and/or to find how people feel or what they think about a particular subject. Thus, mostly these are qualitative in nature. Through such research, one which can motivate the likings or dislikings of people towards a particular phenomenon. There

is little scope of quantitative analysis of such research investigation. But one thing is clear: while doing such research, one should have enough knowledge on human psychology or take help from a psychologist.

#### 1.2.8.17 One-Time Research

A research program either can be carried out at a particular point of time or can be continued over the time course. Most of the survey types of research designs are one-time research. This type of research may be both qualitative or quantitative in nature and applied or basic in nature and can also be action research. Survey research can be taken out by the National Sample Survey Organization (NSSO) in India, and another similar type of organizations in different countries takes up the survey type of research to answer different research problems which come under mostly one-time research program. Though research programs are taken up at a particular point of time, these can be replicated or repeated to verify their results or study the variations of results at different points of time under the same or varying situations.

#### 1.2.8.18 Longitudinal Research

Contrary to one-time research, longitudinal research is carried out over several time periods. In experimental research designs, particularly in the field of agriculture, there is a need for checking the consistency of the result immerged out from a particular research program; as such, these are coming under a longitudinal research program. Long-term experiments in the field of agriculture are coming under the purview of longitudinal research. This research program helps in getting not only the relationships among the factors or variables but also their pattern of change over time. Time series analysis in economics, business, and forecasting may be included under a longitudinal research program. Unearthing the complex interaction among variables or factors under long-term experimental setup is of much importance compared to a single experiment or one-time experiment.



#### 1.2.8.19 Clinical/Diagnostic Research

In medical, biochemical, biomedical, biotechnological, and other fields of research, a clinical/ diagnostic research forms an important part. Generally this type of research follows a case study method, in which in-depth study is made to reveal the causes of a particular phenomenon or to diagnose a particular phenomenon. This type of clinical/diagnostic research helps in knowing the causes and the relationship among the causes of a particular effect which has already occurred.

#### 1.2.8.20 Conclusion-Oriented Research

In conclusion-oriented research, a researcher picks up his or her problem design and redesigns a research process as he or she proceeds to have a definite conclusion from the research. This type of research leads to yield definite conclusion.

#### 1.2.8.21 Decision-Oriented Research

In decision-oriented type of research, a researcher needs to carry out a research process so as to facilitate the decision-making process. A researcher is not free to take up a research process or research program according to his or her own inclination.

#### 1.2.8.22 Exploratory Research

Exploratory research is associated with the development of a hypothesis. It is the type of research in which a researcher has no idea about the possible outcome of the research. Research is an innovative activity. It is an intellectual process to provide more benefits to the community. Exploratory research is the tool to discover hidden facts underlying the universe. Exploratory research can, however, be conducted to enrich a researcher on a particular phenomenon he or she wishes to study. For example, if a researcher intends to study social interaction pattern against the polio vaccination program or polythene avoidance program but has little idea about human behavior, a preliminary interaction with persons related against the polio vaccinations or against the polythene avoidance



may help the researcher in designing his or her research program.

#### 1.2.8.23 Explanatory Research

The purpose of explanatory research design is to answer the question why. That means in explanatory research, the problem is known and descriptions of the problem are with the researcher but the causes or reasons or the description of the described findings is yet to be known. Thus, explanatory research starts working where descriptive research ends. For example, descriptive research has findings that more than 30% of people in a particular community suffer from a particular disease or abnormality. Now, an explanatory researcher starts working to search the reason for such results. He or she is interested in knowing why a particular phenomenon is happening, what are the reasons behind it, and how could it be improved upon.

#### 1.2.8.24 Evaluation Research

In a broad sense, evolutionary research connotes the use of research methods to evaluate the program or services and determine how effectively they are achieving the goals. Evaluationary research contributes to a body of verifiable knowledge. The government or different organizations are taking up different developmental projects or programs. Evaluationary research develops a tool to evaluate the success/failure/lacunae of such research program. Evaluationary research program helps in decision-making process at the highest level of government departments or NGOs.

#### 1.2.8.25 Operation Research

Operation research is a type of a decisionoriented research. It is a scientific method of providing quantitative basis for decision making by the decision makers under their control.

#### 1.2.8.26 Market Research

Nowadays, market research is an important field of business or industry. This type of research generally falls under socioeconomic research pattern in which social economic behavior of the consumer, of the middlemen, of the business community, of the nation, and of the world is investigated in depth. This type of research is qualitative as well as quantitative in nature. Attitude, preference, liking, disliking, etc., towards adoption or non-adoption of a particular product are coming under qualitative research, whereas the area/quantum of consumers, possible turnover, possible profit or loss, etc., constitute the quantitative parts of a research. Market research is the basic and must-do type of research before releasing new product into the market. Market research also includes the types of marketing channels involved in the process, their modernization and upgradation, etc., so that the products are welcomed by ultimate users. No business unit can bypass the importance of market research. Market research investigates about the market structure, dreams, and desires of the customers. An effective marketing strategy should have clear idea about the nature of the targeted customer choices, the competitive goods, and the channels operative in the system.

#### 1.2.8.27 Dialectical Research

This is a type of qualitative research mostly exploratory in nature. This type of research utilizes the method of dialectic. The aim is to discover the truth through examination and interrogation of competing ideas, arguments, and perfectives. Hypothesis is not tested in this type of research; on the other hand, the development of understanding takes place. Unlike empirical research, these are researches working with arguments and ideas instead of data.

#### 1.2.8.28 Internet Research

If research is a journey towards knowledge, then Internet search can also be regarded as research. It is a widely used, readily accessible means of searching, enhancing, defining, and redefining the existing body of knowledge. Internet research helps to gather information for the purpose of furthering understanding. Internet research includes personal research on a particular subject, research for academic project and papers, and research for stories and write-up by writers and journalists. But there is an argument whether



to recognize Internet search as research or not. Internet research is clearly different from the well-defined rigorous process of scientific research. One may or may not recognize Internet research, but it is emphatically clear that in modern scientific world, Internet has a great role to play in unearthing or discovering the so-called hidden truth for the betterment of the humanity.

#### 1.2.8.29 Participatory Research

From the above discussion on the type of research, it can emphatically be noted that the type of research is based on its objectives, tools, nature, and perspectives/approaches. Different types of research are not exclusive to each other; rather, they are overlapping. Thus, the field experiment to compare the efficacy of yield of different varieties of rice may be put under the experimental research as well as applied research and also under field research. In fact, most of the research programs are following one or more of the research types mentioned above.

In social sciences, particularly when the research problem is aimed at solutions to the problems faced by a community or a group of people, participatory research plays an important role. In this type of research, people participation is ensured, leading to a better understanding of the problem, the need, and the solution needed. In finding out the solutions to social problems strategically, people perception about the solution is very much helpful, in particular during the implementation of the solution. This method is generally most effective for research programs involving relatively homogeneous community. The advantages of a participatory research method are as follows: (1) researchers (the outsiders) get an inner perspective of the community and (2) it is easier, (3) faster, (4) cheaper, and (5) more effective. Generally this type of research is used in intervention studies, though not solely.

#### 1.2.9 Significance of Research

Research is a process to satisfy the inquisitiveness of human beings. It is a pursuit of the unknown, to know the things in a better way. Research is a systematic, formal, or informal process of knowing or explaining the so-called hidden truth for the betterment of mankind. It is gaining importance day by day. Though in its initial phase it was mostly individual efforts, but with passage of time, it has been realized that individual efforts could be streamlined in a systematic way for the benefit of this universe in a better way. As a result it has become an indispensable component for the development of the nation, for the development of the industry, and for the development of a particular group of people, to guide the solutions to particular problems, in addition to the development of theories and hypothesis. It is consistent and sincere endeavor towards enriching the knowledge bank. Today's progress is based on the past days' research. If inquiry is the base of a research, then all progress is born of inquiry. Research inculcates scientific and inductive thinking in human beings. It helps human beings to think and organize logically. Research is an integral part of the development of the nations. In the absence of any fruitful research outcome, government policies will have little or no effects. The economic systems of the nations and the whole world are entirely based on the research outcomes. All government policies and activities are guided by the findings of the research.

The importance of scientific research can very well be felt in government, business, and social science sectors. Decision making may not be a part of research, but research can facilitate the decision of policy makers. Government is by the people, for the people, and of the people. It is an official machinery to run the administration. In the context of good administration, research as a tool to economic policy has three faces of operation: (1) investigation of economic structure through continuous assessment of facts, (2) diagnostics of events and analysis of forces underlying the event, and (3) the prediction of future development–prognosis.

Research has a significant role in solving various operational and planning problems of business and industry. The existence of different new products in the market is the ultimate result of the research carried out in the development of that product, operation research, motivational research, and market research. While pure and/ or applied research helps in the development of different new products, operation research is useful in optimizing the cost, namely, the profit maximization of the business concern. In a competitive market, any customer wants to have higher-quality products with the lowest price. Market research helps in unearthing the scenario in the market as well as the feelings and desires of the consumers and accordingly sets a marketing strategy. Motivational research is related with psychological behavior of the market. Motivational research helps in identifying the psychology or the motives of the consumers in favor of or against a particular product. Market analysis also plays a vital role in adjusting demand and supply for business houses. The researches in sales forecasting, price forecasting, and quality forecasting may help the business houses to develop effective business strategies.

1

Research is for the betterment of humanity. As a result, this is equally important in social science. Scientists of social science are to take up research programs so as to get solutions on different social problems. Social scientists are benefitted in two ways: social research provides them the intellectual satisfaction of gaining knowledge for the sake of enriching knowledge and also the satisfaction in solving practical social problems. The findings of social science research not only help to have better lifestyle for the community but also help in two other sectors-the business sector and the government. The results of social science are being effectively used by the business and industry for the effective expansion of business and marketing strategy. For the government, social science research provides the inputs in getting the impulse, feeling, likings, disliking, problems, constraints, etc., faced by the people, namely, the formulations of interventions or developmental strategy.

Keeping all these importances of research in view, both government and nongovernmental agencies are setting up the research wings for the purpose. Joining to a research laboratory, may be as a professional, may be as a means of livelihood, may be as a means for satisfying



the inquisitiveness, and may be to flourish the intellectuality of human beings, has become prestigious to the society. By knowing the research methodology and the methods, one can accomplish research intention in a better way. The knowledge of methodology provides a very good idea to the new research workers to enable them to do better research. The knowledge of research methodology not only enriches the logical capability of the researcher but also helps to evaluate and use the research results with reasonable confidence. The intellectual joy of developing a new theory, idea, product, etc., can never be compared with any other thing.



www.m

# **Research Process**

# 2

Research is a systematic process of knowing the unknown. A research process is a stepwise delineation of different activities to accomplish the objective of a researcher in a logical framework. It consists of a series of actions and/or steps for effective conduction of research. The main steps of a research process are given below. It may clearly be understood that the steps noted below are neither exhaustive nor mutually exclusive. These steps are not necessarily to be followed in the order these have been noted below. Depending upon the nature and objective of the process, more steps may come into the picture or some of the steps may not appear at all.

#### 2.1 Steps in Research

- 1. Identification and conceptualization of problem
- 2. Purpose of study
- 3. Survey of literature
- 4. Selection of the problem
- 5. Objectives of the study
- 6. Variables/parameters to be included in the study to fulfill the objectives
- 7. Selection of hypothesis
- 8. Selection of samples
- 9. Operationalization of concepts and optimization/standardization of the research instruments
- 10. Collection of information
- 11. Processing, tabulation, and analysis of information

- 12. Interpretation of results
- 13. Verification of results
- 14. Conclusion
- 15. Future scope of the research
- 16. Bibliography
- 17. Appendix

#### 2.1.1 Identification and Conceptualization of Problem

The inherent inquisitiveness of a researcher leads to an abstract idea about the type of research or area of research he/she is intending for. A newcomer in the field of research, like a PhD student or a Master's student doing a dissertation work under a supervisor/guide, may get ideas from the guide or the supervisor. The best way to understand the problem is to discuss with colleagues or experts in the relevant field. In private, government, and research organizations having definite research objectives, the research advisory committees and scientific advisory committees may also guide a researcher to the type of research work to be undertaken. A researcher may review conceptual and empirical type of literature to have a better understanding about the problem to be undertaken. There are mainly two types of researches that were carried out: study of nature and relational studies. The first one is concerned with the development of theories, laws, principles, etc., whereas the second one is related to working out the relationships among the variables under study. In the process of identification and

P.K. Sahu, Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields, DOI 10.1007/978-81-322-1020-7\_2, © Springer India 2013 15

conceptualization of problem, a researcher frames and reframes his/her ideas so as to reach to a meaningful research program.

#### 2.1.2 Purpose of Study

Any research program is guided by three "w's": what to do, why to do, where to do, and also how to do. All these are guided by the purpose of the study. The purpose of the study guides a researcher to the type of research problem(s) he/she should undertake, which means what to do, whether the study is basic in nature or an empirical one. Once the problem has crept into the mind of the researcher, the immediate question that rises into his/her mind is "why." That means what is the purpose of the study, why should one undertake this type of study, and what would be the benefit to human beings. Next, he/she should try to satisfy the query in his/her mind, that is, where to take up a research program, meaning the type of research program to be undertaken-experimental, social, etc. He/ she should have a clear-cut understanding of the objective of the study. The problems to be investigated must be conceptualized unambiguously, because that will help in deciding whether further information are needed or not.

#### 2.1.3 Survey of Literature

Once a problem is conceptualized, it should be checked and cross-checked for its possible acceptance or nonacceptance in the light of the scientific inquisitiveness. Extensive survey of literature should be done so as to have a comprehensive idea about not only the theoretical aspects but also the operational aspect of the program to be undertaken. A survey of research on theoretical aspects will help a researcher in fine-tuning a research program. This will also help in boosting the self-confidence of a researcher in his/her line of thinking. The operational part of the survey of the literature will give an idea to a researcher on how to accomplish a research program, what could be the possible problems in reaching the objective of the



program, and other information on relevant field of studies. These may help a researcher in anticipating the outcome of the research also. When a researcher has a better access to literature, the better he understood a research program; as a result, each and every research organization must have a well-equipped reference library. With the advancement of computer and Internet technology, a researcher, in any part of the world, is now better placed than their counterparts a few years ago. Thus, not only having a good library but also selecting an appropriate library are important for the smooth conduction of a research program. The review of literature, thus, constitutes the integral part of a research program, in spite of its being time-consuming, daunting, and, to some extent, frustrating but rewarding. The review of literature provides clarity and enhances the knowledge of a researcher, improves methodology in the context of findings, etc.

#### 2.1.4 Selection of the Problem

The selection and formulation of a research problem is the most important phase of a research program. A research must answer the questions "for whom," "what to do," etc. Once the conceptualization and purpose of the study are fixed along with an extensive literature survey, formulation and statement of the problem are next steps. The problem should examine the issues to be addressed and the path. While stating the problem unambiguously, care must be taken to verify the subjectivity and validity of the background facts and information of the problem. The path of formulation of the problem generally follows a sequential pattern in which the number of formulations is set up, each being more specific than the previous one and each being framed more analytically and realistically on the basis of the available information and resources. In selection and formulation of the problem, the subject area, the situations, the resources available particularly the time and monetary resources, etc., are required to be kept in mind. Any research program is usually associated with time consumption and possibility of unforeseen problems. One should select a problem of great interest which can sustain such problems. A too big or too extensive research program may be unmanageable within the given time frame and resource. So a researcher should take into cognizance these factors and narrow down the area of the topics up to that extent that it is already manageable. A researcher should make sure that the indicators by which research problems are going to be characterized/ investigated are explained and measurements are followed. A researcher should select the indicators/measuring tools/analytical tools in which he/she has a good level of expertise, which are relevant in the context of the program, and in which the data would be available and, of course, the ethical issues are not compromised. Thus, in formulating a problem, a researcher should identify the broad field of a study or subject of interest, dissect those into subareas and select the most interested and pertinent subareas, and lastly double-check all of the above steps.

#### 2.1.5 Objectives of the Study

The objectives of a study are the goals set to attend in the study. These objectives should clearly specify what a researcher wants through a study. An objective may be a main objective, and sub-objective, or specific objective. A main objective is a statement about the overall trust area of a study. In an empirical or applied research, these objectives may also set the relationship or associations a researcher wants to discover or establish. Sub-objectives are specific objectives of a particular topic a researcher wants to investigate within the main framework of a study. Generally, each objective of a study should be concerned with only one aspect of a study. The objectives of a study are generally written in words starting with "to determine," "to find out," "to ascertain," "to measure," "to describe," "to compare," "to demonstrate," etc. Thus, the objective should be framed in such a way that it gives a complete, clear, and specific



idea about a study, identifying the main and the correlational variables.

#### 2.1.6 Variables/Parameters to be Included in the Study to Fulfill the Objectives

In a research program, particularly the quantitative ones, it is important that the concepts used should be in measurable terms so that the variations in the respondent could be put under mathematical treatments. Thus, the knowledge of variables and measures plays a vital role in extracting the truth from the observation of a research program, so long remained hidden. The types and measurement of these variables have been discussed in Chap. 5. What is meant by a variable? What is the difference between a variable and a parameter? How are these measured? The variable is an entity which varies over various situations (time, space, both time and space, individuals or units). In other words, the antithesis of a constant is a variable. There are various types and concepts of variables and their measures/scales.

#### 2.1.7 Selection of Hypothesis

At the very beginning, it may be clearly understood that not all researchers have a definite hypothesis or a hypothesis to be tested. A hypothesis is an assumption/assertion of an idea about a phenomenon under study. This hypothesis forms the base of the entire research program. Hypothesis brings clarity and specificity, focuses to a research problem, but as has already been mentioned, it is not essential for all research programs. Hypotheses are based on the main and specific objectives of studies, and they direct a researcher to the type of information to be collected or not to be collected. Hypothesis enhances the objectivity of a research program. There are different types of hypothesis like null hypothesis, alternative hypothesis, and parametric and nonparametric hypotheses.

#### 2.1.8 Selection of Sample

In fact, most of the empirical or applied studies and, to some extent, some basic studies for their effective outcome heavily depend on the type of sample being used for the purpose. Any research program is directed towards enriching the lifestyle of the human being. Population can be studied by examining its individual unit. Because of constraints like time, resource, and feasibility, it may not be possible to study each and every individual unit of a targeted population. So a represen-taken; studies or researches are conducted on the sample, using statistical techniques; it is verified whether the sample behavior would be taken as the population behavior or not. Information can be obtained from experimental fields/social field depending upon the nature of the research program. There are different methods of drawing samples (probability sampling, non-probability sampling) depending upon the nature of the population. Certainly not all the methods are equally welcome in all situations. Thus, the technique of drawing samples and the nature of the samples plays a vital role in analyzing the sample characteristics, namely, drawing inference about the population characteristics towards fulfilling the objective of a research program.

#### 2.1.9 Operationalization of Concepts and Optimization/ Standardization of the Research Instruments

Nowadays most of the research programs are characterized by the use of high-end sophisticated modern instruments/equipments. Instrumentation centers have become an integrated component of any research organization. Starting from a simple pH meter to the modern-day electronic scanning microscopes or other sophisticated equipments required to be standardized, depending upon the nature of the experiments and types of the instruments. A faulty or unstandardized instrument may lead to erroneous



information and subsequently derail the entire research program from its ultimate objective. So, before taking up any information or recording data from any instruments, a researcher should be very careful about the authenticity and usefulness of the data in the light of the objective of a research program.

#### 2.1.10 Collection of Data

Whatever may be the research type, qualitative or quantitative, information are required to be collected or collated in a most scientific manner to fulfill the objective of a study. It may emphatically be noted that though there exists no clearcut silver lining in differentiating between information and data, by and large, by information we mean both qualitative and quantitative; on the other hand, by data one has an instinct to categorize them under quantitative form. But, quite frequently in a general sense, these two are used synonymously. There are different methods of collection of information/data depending upon the source, nature, etc. According to the source of information, data may be primary or secondary. Primary data are those data collected by the user from the field of investigations with specific objectives in mind. Secondary data, on the other hand, are collated from different sources by the user for his/her purpose. Thus, meteorological information is the primary data to the department of meteorology, but to a researcher who uses the information from the meteorological department, these are secondary data. There are different methods of collections of data: observation method, survey method, contact method, experimental method, etc.

#### 2.1.11 Processing, Tabulation, and Analysis of Information

Having fixed the objective of a study and collected the required information, the first thing a researcher should attempt is to scrutinize or cross verify the information. Once the information is passed through the above process, processing and/or tabulation is required to be done to extract firsthand concise information from the raw data. With the help of the processing and tabulation of the information, a researcher will be in a position to understand to some extent whether the results are in possible direction with the objectives or not. At this juncture, a researcher may note the findings in brief in the form of text or paragraphs, tables, graphs, etc. Analysis of data is the most critical and vital part of a research program in unearthing the hidden truth from the area of research concerned. Various analytical (mathematical and statistical) tools are available, and with the advancement of computing facility, most of them are used nowadays. But the most important thing is that not all analytical tools are useful/applicable in extracting/discovering the hidden truth in all types of research problems or under all situations. The researcher should know what he/she wants to get from a particular analysis, whether the analysis taken up is applicable/useful under a particular situation, whether proper tools have been used in the most correct manner, and whether the findings from the analysis are being explained in a proper manner. Given a set of data, it can be analyzed in numerous ways using a number of techniques, but definitely all are not going to provide accurate result in line of the objective of a research program. The researcher should be well aware about the "garbage in and garbage out" system of computing facilities. Thus, there is a need for coordination and understanding at the highest level between the researchers and analytical experts.

#### 2.1.12 Interpretation of Results

In modern science having so many fields of expertise and study, it is not always possible for a researcher to become an expert in all his/her relevant fields of research. As a result, a multidisciplinary approach of research is gaining momentum day by day. An understanding of a research program among team members of research groups complements and supplements each other in interpreting the results of a research program.



#### 2.1.13 Verification of Results

Once the results of a research program are interpreted, these should be verified/authenticated. Nowadays, taking advantage of Internet facility, various discussion boards are emerging out to discuss on a specific topic. Researchers can very well discuss the findings with the experts of the relevant field; they may post their findings in the web and invite discussions. They may also search the literature to gather knowledge about their findings. It may be noted that a research finding may be an expected or unexpected one. A good researcher should not bother about the expected one; he/she should have an open mind to accept both the expected and unexpected. Rather on getting the unexpected result, a researcher might be interested to verify the entire research program, starting from the formulation of the problem to the outcome of a research program.

#### 2.1.14 Conclusion

Conclusion is the most important part of a research activity; it summarizes in a systematic manner about the whole research program, starting from the conceptualization of the program to the ultimate findings and their interpretations. In doing so, it must be kept/ borne in mind that it should be neither too long nor too brief. The main objective of a conclusion, sometimes called as executive summary, is to provide an overall idea about the research problem concerned, its execution, and its salient findings. A conclusion provides a bird's eye view of the entire research program and its importance in brief. Conclusion may sometimes include recommendations with respect to the problem area undertaken in a research program.

#### 2.1.15 Future Scope of the Research

It is said that a good research program leads to a number of future research programs. In every research report, a section highlighting how the present research program would be extended or continued to throw more light to the knowledge bank and to throw lights on how other related programs would be solved in the same line of the present research work. A good research worker should also report in this section the sort of falls or lacunae of the present research program and how these would be overcome in a future research program.

#### 2.1.16 Bibliography

During the whole research process, a researcher is required to consult the existing body of literature. An alphabetic arrangement of this literature is needed not only to acknowledge the past works but also to help the future workers on the relevant aspects.

#### 2.1.17 Appendix

Appendix is constituted of all technical details like questioner/schedule, specific methods used during data collection or analysis and laboratory methods requiring elaboration. This means all support information which are not presented in the main part but may help the readers in understanding the research program.



# **Research Problems**

#### 3.1 Research Problems

Research is an endeavor to know the facts from the unknown. All inventions are the results of inquiry. Doubts are often preferred over confidence, because doubts lead to inquiry and inquiry leads to invention. Research may be carried out being motivated by the desire to know or to gather knowledge or by the desire to solve problems on hand. In the latter case, one need not identify the problems, but in the former case, a researcher needs to identify the problems. One thing must be clear that when we talk about a research problem, it is generally having a reference to a descriptive or hypothesis testing type of research. An exploratory or formulative type of research generally does start not with identifications of the problems-its objective is to find out the problems or the hypothesis. Generally all the problems are not researchable; to be researchable, the problem must satisfy certain criteria:

- 1. It must refer to some difficulty experienced in the context of either theoretical or practical situations and should obtain the solution for the same.
- 2. It must be related to the group of individual/ society. The study must be useful in solving burning problems towards enhancing the quality of life.
- 3. It must draw the attention of the experts, policy makers, and academicians, who are familiar with the subject.

- A subject should not be taken as a research problem in which lots of works have already been done and very difficult to throw new lights.
- Controversial subject should be avoided by an average researcher unless and otherwise there is a compelling situation or a researcher is extraordinary in nature.
- 6. Too narrow or too wide problems should be avoided.
- 7. A research program should have alternative outcomes for obtaining the objectives a researcher has in his/her mind.

A research problem is a type of problem which requires solution. A research problem is a problem for which a course of action is required to be set optimally to reach the objective. There should be alternative courses of actions to counter the unforeseen difficulties during the conductions of research. A research problem should be formulated taking all of the above into account.

A research problem is the brainchild of researchers. The hunger to know the unknowns and the desire to solve the compelling problems to provide some sorts of relief to the society are the motivational sources of research problems. While selecting a research problem, a researcher should not be too ambitious; he/she should be well aware of the resources and facilities available at his/her disposal and expertise required for the research along with other factors. While selecting research problems, the following guidelines may be followed; however, these guidelines are neither exclusive nor exhaustive or ordered.

#### 3.1.1 Researcher Interest

Research is re-search, to know the unknowns. A research problem is the brainchild of a researcher. As such, a researcher should select a problem area in which he/she is interested in it and familiar with and has reasonable level of understanding. Though research organizations both in private and government have guidelines for the areas of research to be undertaken depending upon the objective of the organizations, a researcher should try to select such areas in which his/her interest and the organizational interest coincide. All these are required because to accomplish a fruitful research work, the probing attitude, tenacity of spirit, and dedications of researchers are most warranted.

#### 3.1.2 Usefulness of the Topic

Most of the research problems arise out of the desire to obtain a fruitful solution to the pressing problems of the society. So a research problem should have directions such that its results are useful in solving the problem of the society. On the other hand, pure and basic research, though guided by the "knowledge for the sake of knowledge," must give rise to a number of applicationoriented research problems. The novelty theoretical research lies in stimulating or motivating the applied or empirical researches. A research problem should not be chosen such that it will be very difficult to throw new lights on the respective area. Moreover, an average researcher should try to avoid selecting such problems which are controversial in nature. Only the established and renowned researchers in the respective field shall take up such researches. A research problem with too narrow or too vague objectives is criticized for its usefulness for the betterment of the society. Thus, whatever may be the type of research, a research problem should enrich the knowledge bank either on theoretical aspects or application aspects.

#### 3.1.3 Resources Availability

Any research program is guided by three questions: "what to do," "where to do," and "what is available?" A researcher should have a clear-cut knowledge about the availability of resources at his/her disposal. With the experience and expertise available to the researchers, is he/ she confident in completing a research program? What are the facilities in the form of clerical and technical assistance, instrumental facilities, computational facilities, and of course monitory and time available for conduction of the research work? A well-equipped researcher in the form of laboratory, library, and technical manpower can think of attaining maximum objectives of a research program and, thus, can formulate a research problem accordingly. Most of the applied research programs are time bound in nature, so while framing a research program, one must be careful about the time limit allowed for the purpose.

#### 3.1.4 Availability of Data

Availability of data plays a vital role during the formations of a research problem, in a research based on secondary information. A researcher is required to examine whether the data for the program are available in plenty or not. For experimental research or survey type of research, these problems pose little problem, because a researcher generates the information for a specific purpose. A research problem formulated and to be tested with the help of secondary data is very susceptible to availability of the data.

#### 3.2 Steps in the Formulation of Research Problem

Defining a research problem is a daunting task. Defining a problem involves a task of laying down boundaries within which a researcher should study a problem with a predetermined

#### objective in view. Defining a research problem properly, clearly, and carefully is the most important part of any research study and should not be in any case accomplished hurriedly. A research problem should be defined in a systematic manner providing due considerations to all related points. Ideally a research problem is formulated following the paths described below.

#### (a) Statement of the Problem

A research problem is the brainchild of a researcher. In the first instance, a problem should be stated in a broad and general way. Ample scope should be there in defining and redefining research problems. In an organizational research generally, a researcher has little to do with this. But in case of an individual research, a statement of research problems plays a vital role; before stating the problem, a researcher must have a prima facie knowledge about the problem and its possible solutions. In the absence of such knowledge, the best way is to conduct a pilot study or pilot survey. In a conventional research program of academic institutes, the guide or the supervisor generally provides the problem in general terms. The researcher then takes up the problem and concretizes the areas and puts them in operational terms.

(b) Understanding the Nature of the Problems The best way of understanding the nature of a problem is to discuss the problem with the experts in the relevant fields. With the advancement of computer and Internet facilities, discussion groups are being formed with the view to exchange ideas on different aspects. Researchers in modern days can also take help of such facilities. A researcher can enrich himself/herself using these techniques to find out how the problem originally came about and with what objective in view. Understanding the nature of the problem is also related to where a research is to be carried out. This is because of the two facts in which with the change of situations, the nature of the problem changes and also the type of unforeseen situations during the conduction of the study.



#### (c) Surveying Available Literature

Before defining a research problem along with a clear-cut understanding about the nature of the problem, a researcher should be thorough with relevant theories, reports, and documents in the field of study. Reviewing of the available literature, thus, forms an inseparable part of defining research problems. The review of literature enhances the knowledge bank, the confidence of a researcher, and directions of a research program to be taken up. It also helps researchers in getting an idea about the past works and their merits and demerits. It can also help in improving the methodology to be taken up in a research program. Contextual findings are the added information generated through a review of literature. Contextual findings can not only help in fine-tuning the research problems but also help in explaining the findings of the research during the course of the study. There are different sources of literatures like printed books and journals in the libraries, e-libraries, Internet, discussions, and exchange of documents from the experts in relevant fields. While reviewing the literature, one should be careful whether the knowledge relevant to theoretical framework is clarified and confirmed beyond doubt. Different theories, their criticisms, methodologies adopted, and their basis should be noted carefully. A careful examination is required with respect to what extent the findings of the literature can be generalized and used in the present perspective of the research.

#### (d) Developing Ideas Through Discussions

Having passed through the stages of the general statement of the problem, understanding the nature of the problem, and surveying the literature, a researcher is now comfortably placed to discuss research problems with the experts in the relevant field to give a proper shape to the problem. In the process, a researcher must discuss who has enough experience in the same area or working on similar problems. This is sometimes known as experience survey. This will help a
researcher in sharpening a research program and specifying the problem at hand.

(e) **Rephrasing/Refining the Research Problem** The last step of the formation of a research problem is rephrasing or refining a research problem. The nature of the problem has been clearly understood, environment under which the research is to be carried out is clearly exposed to the researcher, experience from the experts has made it possible for the researcher to intersect and dissect the problems at hand, and the researcher is now in a better position to reframe or refine his/ her research problem so as to make the research problem operationally and analytically viable to reach the objective of the program. While refining a research problem, a researcher should be careful in defining and using the technical terminologies, phrases,

and words. He/she should clearly state the assumptions or the postulates relating to the research problem. A straightforward statement of the criteria for the selections of the problem should be provided. While refining the research problem, the time frame and the sources of data should be taken into consideration. Researcher should have clear idea about the scope of the investigation, limitations of the investigation, and prospects of furthering the study.

Thus, though defining a research problem is a herculean task, if properly followed, sequentially arranged, and meticulously executed, it may lead to the formulations of an ideal research problem. Starting from the general statement of the problem to the rephrasing of the problem, in each and every step, a researcher should be very careful and objective in mind.

# **Research Design**

4

A research design is the blueprint of the different steps to be undertaken starting with the formulation of the hypothesis to drawing inference during a research process. The research design clearly explains the different steps to be taken during a research program to reach the objective of a particular research. This is nothing but advance planning of the methods to be adopted at various steps in the research, keeping in view the objective of the research, the availability of the resources, time, etc. As such, the research design raises various questions before it is meticulously formed. The following questions need to be clarified before the formulation of the research design:

- 1. What is the study?
- 2. Why the study is being undertaken?
- 3. Where should the study be carried out?
- 4. What kind of data are required?
- 5. What are the resources available, including time?
- 6. What should be the sampling design (if required)?
- 7. What would be the methods of data collection?
- 8. What are the possible analytical techniques that can be used?
- 9. What would be the mode of presentation of the findings?

Without having a clear-cut idea about the nature of the study, pure or applied, experimental

or survey, exploratory or descriptive, etc., appropriate steps cannot be identified. Unless it is clearly known why a study is being undertaken, the objective of the study won't be clear. The study area where the research program is to be undertaken must be known, because the steps to be followed differ for different types of studies. The steps to be followed differ from survey design to experimental design, descriptive to exploratory design, and diagnostic to experimental design. If it is a laboratory experiment, the type of precision required is different from that of a field experiment. Depending upon the type of experiment, the type of research data required and the methods of data collection differ. In a survey type of research, one may have to adopt a specific sampling design or technique, which may be different from sampling techniques adopted for the selection of samples for experimental research studies. The research design is required to be framed in a way so as to utilize the available manpower, money power, and instrumental facilities within a given time frame in the best possible manner, and so as to reach to the objective of the study optimally. A research design then is a detailed outline of a plan of work to be undertaken during the process of conducting a research program, which may or may not require modifications as the research progresses.

P.K. Sahu, Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields, DOI 10.1007/978-81-322-1020-7\_4, © Springer India 2013

## 4.1 Characteristics of a Good Research Design

A good research design is one that helps in reaching the objective of a research program in the best possible way. *Objectivity, reliability, validity,* and *generalization* are the main characteristic features of a good research design.

## 4.1.1 Objectivity

By objectivity, we mean observations free from bias, from the observer's point of view. When we say "blood is red," it is an objective statement, but when we say "blood is the most useful element in the human body," then the statement may not be a purely objective one, because of the fact that the human body cannot survive only with blood; for an effective functioning of the human body, other useful components are needed along with blood, meaning blood can be a useful component, but most probably one cannot assign the word "most" before useful. In many research programs, various types of instruments and measures are being used. Good research designs use only those instruments and measures which are precise in nature. Generally it is felt that objectivity can be achieved easily, but in actual situations, it is very difficult to attain the objectivity from a host of competitive available sources.

## 4.1.2 Reliability

Reliability refers to consistency and authenticity in responses. Consistency means the respondent should not provide a different answer every time the same question is asked by the investigators in different forms for a particular problem. An instrument is consistent if its response remains same under repeated observations, essentially under the same condition. Authentic information is obtained from a source which has the authority and credential to report about the problem. To verify the reliability of the responses, particularly



in the social science researches, there should be provision for cross-checking the responses in the methods of collection of information.

## 4.1.3 Validity

While using any measuring instruments, a researcher should be sure that the instrument selected for use is a valid one. An originality test constructed for measuring originality should measure none other than originality. In literature, there are a number of procedures for establishing the validity of a test.

## 4.1.4 Generalization

Generalization of the outcome of a research program is one of the important points to be noted during the formulation of the research design. In most of the research programs, though the researcher starts with a particular problem for a particular situation, at the end of the day, the researcher would have the intent to explore the possibility of using such outcomes in other relevant fields and would precisely want to generalize the research outcome. That is, how best the information or solution generated by the present research work would be applied to a large group, from which the samples have been drawn. This is possible only when effective steps are taken during the formulation of the hypothesis, data collection, and of course analysis and interpretation of information. For example, if a sample size is large (>30 generally), then one can use the information applying the central limit theorem or normal approximation. But if a sample size is low, then specific probability distributions are required to be ascertained and followed; as such generalization of the result becomes restricted.

## 4.2 Types of Research Design

Research designs vary depending upon the type of research. By and large, research designs are framed in three types: (a) exploratory type of research, (b) descriptive type of research, and (c) hypothesis-testing type of research.

## 4.2.1 Research Design for Exploratory Research

The purpose of an exploratory research is the formulation of problem or the development of hypothesis. These can also be knowledge enhancing in nature. The major consideration of such design is the discovery of ideas and theories that have not been completely explored. As such, its research design must be quite flexible in nature, for the researcher explores with an open mind. Nobody knows what may happen in the next stage of exploration; everybody should remain alert with an expectation of unexpected outcome. Generally, there are three different methods of research designs in the context of exploratory research: (1) the survey of literature, (2) the experience survey, and (3) the analysis of insight-stimulating examples.

The survey of the concerned literature is the most fruitful and simple method of developing a research problem or hypothesis. This is nothing but a process of gathering knowledge from the past works of the concerned field of study. Hypotheses stated or formulated by previous workers may be reviewed and evaluated for their usefulness on the basis for future research. Sometimes, the creative work of previous workers may provide ample ground for the formulation of theories and hypotheses. In the process, a lot of effort, time, money, and energy could be saved if the researcher is well aware of the facts of what has been done in the past with respect to the proposed area under study.

An experience survey gives an opportunity to the researcher to get insight into the subject and its various facts and facets. Formal or informal discussions with experts, researchers, administrators, and professionals may provide effective clues toward the formulation of the problems. During the modern era of the Internet, different discussion groups may be formed and can play a vital role in sharing the knowledge about any specific field around the world.



Previously, questionnaires were sent to respondents (experts, administrators, group of affected people, researchers, professionals), sitting at different places to express their views on a particular subject. Thus, an experience survey not only helps the researcher in developing the problem but also helps in studying the feasibility of such type of research.

Analysis of insight-stimulating examples is a very useful method for suggesting hypothesis and formulating problems. It is more useful in areas where there is little experience which serves as a guide. The essence of this method lies in the intensive study of the selected phenomenon in which the researcher is interested. Examination of records and informal interviews may help in the process of selecting examples. In general, the problems of such contrast and having striking futures in the relevant fields are considered to be relatively useful for the purpose.

Thus, the exploratory studies provide excellent opportunities to get an insight into the subject concerned, vis-a-vis formulation of hypothesis and problems. Whatever may be the methods or research designs, they must be flexible to accommodate the need of the hour, so as to achieve the objective of the research program.

## 4.2.2 Research Design for Descriptive Type of Research

Descriptive research studies deal with the description of the characteristics of a group or a particular situation. In this type of study, a researcher should clearly mention what should be measured and how it should be measured, for a particular population. The research design must be well equipped to protect the bias and to maximize the reliability, and at the same time, it must be rigid and should not be too flexible in placing attention on the following points: (1) what the study is about and why it is being undertaken, (2) designing the methods for data collection in the most efficient manner, (3) selection of the samples and processing and analysis of data after examinations, and (4) interpreting the results and drawing conclusions.

In a descriptive study, the first step is to specify the objective with sufficient clarity. The objective of a study must be based on its usefulness along with its background information. Once the objectives are fixed, the collection of information comes into play. The quality of data in sufficient amount is a need of any good research program. Data collection should be safeguarded against bias and reliability. Whatever method of data collection is selected, questions must be well examined, they must be unambiguous, and there should not be any influence on the part of the enumerator on the responses. It is better to use pretested data collection instruments. The sampling design to be followed must be an appropriate one; it must take care of the nature of populations from which the samples are to be drawn. If the samples are not drawn properly, the findings are bound to be affected and, subsequently, the generalization of the results suffers. Data collected from the samples must pass through the following criteria: completeness, comprehensibility, consistency, and reliability. Only the scrutinized data are required to be put under processing and analysis. The processing and tabulation of information give a firsthand idea about the nature of the information generated. A host of statistical tools are available for analyzing the data. Definitely, all of them may not be suitable in all kinds of research. Appropriate statistical tools, befitting the objective of the research program and the data collected for the purpose, must be used. Coding of data, if required, must be done carefully to avoid any error and without compromising the reliability factor.

Research is the process of finding new things, which remained hidden otherwise. In the stage of research design, people come to know about the new findings from a particular research program. The art and skill of interpreting results is crucial in any research program. How elaborative, elucidative, comprehensive, and understandable a report is depends on the expertise and effectiveness of a researcher. This is the most vital part of any research program, and it clearly indicates how the objectives of a program have been fulfilled or, otherwise, how it is going to improve



upon the quality of life of the people, how it is effective to policy makers or decision makers, etc. Thus, the important task of interpretation of the results is to communicate the findings to the society so that the fruit of research changes the lifestyles of human beings.

## 4.2.3 Research Design for Hypothesis-Testing Research

A hypothesis-testing type of research is generally concerned with studies where a researcher wants to verify the hypothesis with respect to one or more objectives of the study. There is an argument whether the diagnostic type of research will be considered under this type of research design or the descriptive research design discussed in the previous section. In diagnostic type of research, there is a scope for testing the hypothesis, diagnosing the causal relationship among the parameters/variables in a research design. As such, we shall include a diagnostic type of research design under the broad category of research design for hypothesis testing. Thus, hypothesis-testing type of design can broadly be categorized under:

- 1. Research design for diagnostic studies
- 2. Research design for experimental studies

## 4.2.3.1 Research Design for Diagnostic Studies

Hypothesis refers to assertion about the population parameters. One or many hypotheses relating to the concerned population are tested in this type of research design. In the diagnostic type of research design, generally the observations are recorded from the existing population; an association between the variables and the related hypotheses is tested. A diagnostic type of study deals with problems as well as solutions. The main objective is to diagnose the problem accurately to work out for some solutions and, in the process, to find out the relationship among the variables associated. The success of a diagnostic study depends on (a) how the questions or questionnaires are framed and defined for the purpose, (b) how the concept used for the study is clearly defined, (c) how the area of the study is clearly stated and restricted, (d) how the methods and collection of information specific to the objective of the study are clearly understood or executed, (e) how best the efforts are taken to remove the bias from the information collected, (f) how best the statistical tools required for the purpose are adopted, and (g) how best the interpretation has been made only in the light of the observations and objective of the study. Too much generalization of the results of the study must be avoided.

## 4.2.3.2 Research Designs for Experimental Studies

In an experimental type of studies, a researcher wants to test the hypothesis with respect to the populations through experimentations. Experiments are designed and are conducted to get proper solutions to the problems at hand. The design for experimental studies has its origin in agricultural research. Prof. R.A. Fisher is the pioneer in this field of study. Experimental design may be of two types: (a) *informal* and (b) *formal*.

#### Informal Research Designs

*Informal research designs* are based on or associated with a less sophisticated form of analysis. Informal experimental design can be of three categories: (1) before and after without a control design, (2) after only with a control design, and (3) before and after with a control design.

#### 1. Before and After Without Control Design

In this type of design, variables are measured before and after the introduction of treatments. The impact of the treatment is measured by taking the differences in the measurements of a particular phenomenon at two different points of time. Hypothesis is tested whether the treatment has any effect on the level of phenomenon or not. Thus,  $\overline{D} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (Y_i - X_i)$ , where  $Y_{ij}$  and  $X_i$  are

values of the phenomenon after and before the treatment. The experimenter measures



#### Table 4.1 Before and after research design

Group	Before	After		
Treatment	$Y_i$	$Y_i'$		
Control	$X_i$	$X_i'$		

the  $Y_i$ s and  $X_i$ s for the targeted population and tests the hypothesis  $H_0$ :  $\overline{D} = 0$  using an appropriate test statistic.

#### 2. After Only with Control Design

In this type of experimentation, in addition to a treatment group, there will be one control group, which will not be treated. The level of phenomenon will be measured on both the treatment group and control group before and after treatment. The impact of the treatment will be studied against the control group. Let  $X_{ij}'$  be the observations of the *i*th individuals on the particular phenomenon for the control group after treatment. Similarly  $Y'_i$  is the value of the phenomenon of the *i*th individual of the treatment group after the treatments. Thus, we

have 
$$\overline{\delta} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (Y_i' - X_i').$$

The researcher would be interested in testing H<sub>o</sub>:  $\overline{\delta} = 0$  using an appropriate test statistic.

#### 3. Before and After with Control Design

In this type of research design, the researcher is interested in comparing the *change* in the level of phenomenon for two groups of people, that is, treatment group and control group (Table 4.1).

$$\overline{\delta} = \frac{1}{n} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (Y_i' - Y_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (X_i' - X_i)}; \text{observations are recorded}$$

in both control and treatment groups before and after treatment. The researcher tests the  $H_0$ :  $\overline{\delta} = 0$  using the appropriate test statistic.

#### Formal Experimental Design

Compared to informal experimental design, in the formal experimental design, the researcher has more control over the experiments. As such more sophisticated statistical tools would be used for the analysis of the data from the experiments. Formal experiments are of two types: laboratory experiments and field experiments. In these types of designs, mostly the techniques of analysis of variance are applied. Depending upon the situation and the objective of the study, the analysis of data arising out of experimental designs is taken up as per one-way analysis of variance, two-way analysis of variance, analysis of covariance, and so on. It should be clearly noted that analysis of variance is based on certain assumptions. So the validity of the result is not independent of these assumptions. The experimental designs may be one-factor, two-factor, or more-factor experiments, depending upon the number of factors put under the experimentations with different levels of each factor. Whatever may be the number of factors, these designs are based on certain basic principles and follow three basic designs. The principles of designs of experiments are replication, randomization, and local control. The three basic designs are completely randomized designs, randomized block designs (randomized complete block design), and Latin square design.

- *Replication* is the repeated application of the treatment among the experimental units. It helps in the estimation of the effects of different components of the experiments. Along with randomization, it leads to valid estimation. Along with local control, it leads to reductions in experimental error.
- *Randomization* is the technique of unbiased allocation of treatment among the experimental units. Randomization along with replication provides valid estimations of the component experiment. It reduces bias on the part of the experimenter and others.
- *Local control* is the technique by virtue of which experimental error is reduced.

The above three basic principles form the backbone of the experimental designs. Let us now discuss in brief the three basic designs.

## **Completely Randomized Design**

A completely randomized design (CRD) is the simplest of all designs where only two principles of design of the experiments, that is, replication and randomization, are used. The principle of local



control is not used in this design. As such a oneway analysis of variance is adopted in analyzing the data in this type of experimental design. The basic characteristic of this design is that the whole experimental area or all experimental units should be homogeneous in nature. One needs as many experimental units as the sum of the number of replications of all the treatments. If we have five treatments A, B, C, D, and E replicated 5, 4, 3, 3, and 5 times, respectively, then according to this design, we require the whole experimental area to be divided into 20 experimental units of equal size or 20 homogeneous experimental units. Thus, a completely randomized design is applicable only when the experimental area is homogeneous in nature. Under laboratory conditions, where other conditions including the environmental condition are controlled and all experimental units are homogeneous in nature, completely randomized design is the most accepted and widely used design.

#### Advantages

- 1. This is the simplest of all experimental design.
- 2. This is the only design with the flexibility in adopting different numbers of replications for different treatments. In a practical situation, it is very useful because sometimes researchers come across the problem of differential availability of experimental materials. Sometimes, response from particular experimental unit(s) may not be available; even then, the data can be analyzed with the help of the CRD design.

#### Disadvantages

- The basic assumption of homogeneity of experimental units, particularly under field condition, is rare. That is why this design is suitable mostly in laboratory condition or greenhouse condition.
- 2. The principle of "local control" is not used in this design which is very efficient in reducing the experimental error. Thus, the experimental error in CRD is comparatively higher.
- 3. With the increase in the number of treatments especially under field condition, it becomes very difficult to use this design, because of the need to obtain more number of homogeneous experimental units.

## Randomized Block Design or Randomized Complete Block Design (RBD/RCBD)

A randomized complete block design (RCBD) or simply randomized block design (RBD) is the most widely used design which takes into account the variability among the experimental units. A randomized block design uses all the three basic principles of experimental design, namely, (1) replication, (2) randomization, and (3) local control. In RBD, the whole variation is partitioned into mainly three components: (a) due to factors that are varied by an experimenter at his/her own wish, (b) due to variability in experimental units, and (c) due to extraneous factors-the experimental error. As such, a twoway analysis of variance is being followed. In a randomized block design, the whole experimental area is divided into a number of homogeneous block/groups, and each block/group consists of as many experimental units as the number of treatments. Blocking/grouping is done in such a way that the variation among the experimental units within the block/group is minimum (homogeneous) and the variation among the experimental units of different blocks/groups is maximum (heterogeneous).

#### Advantages

- 1. RBD is the simplest of all block designs.
- 2. Its layout is very simple.
- 3. It uses all the three principles of design of experiments.
- 4. It is more efficient compared to CRD.

#### Disadvantages

- 1. The number of treatments cannot be very large. If the number of treatments is very large, then it is very difficult to have a greater homogeneous block/group to accommodate all the treatments. In practice, the number of treatments in RBD should not exceed 12.
- Like CRD, flexibility of using variable replication for different treatments is not possible.
- 3. Missing observation, if any, is to be estimated first and then analysis of data is to be undertaken.
- 4. It takes care of the heterogeneity of an experimental area in one direction only.



#### Latin Square Design

In some experimental areas, it is found that soil heterogeneity varies in two perpendicular directions, that is, north to south and east to west or south to north and west to east, or individual units can be grouped based on the two variable characteristics. BD cannot take care of such methodology; LSD has the capacity to handle two sources of variations independently from the blocking criterion as in the case of RBD. A Latin square is an arrangement of treatments in such a way that each treatment occurs once and only once in each row and each column. Because of this type of allocation of treatments, the total variations among the experimental units are partitioned into different sources, namely, row, column, treatments, and errors. If the number of treatments is also equal to the number of replications r for each treatment, then the total number of experimental units needed for this design is t x t. These  $t^2$  units are arranged in t rows and t columns and the resulting LSD is an incomplete three-way design.

This type of experiment is mostly conducted or useful in field conditions or greenhouse conditions. The condition for the appearance of a treatment once and only once in each row and in each column can be achieved only if the number of replications is equal to the number of treatments, thereby is equal to the number of rows and columns treatments to be taken under LSD. This limits the LSD design's applicability in field experimentations. The number of treatments in LSD design should not be too many or too few. All these limitations have resulted in the limited use of Latin square design, in spite of its high potential in controlling experimental errors.

## Advantages and Disadvantages Advantages

Latin square design is an improvement over the other two basic designs, CRD and RBD, as it takes care of the heterogeneity or the two-way variations. Sometimes, when an experimenter does not have an idea about the soil heterogeneity among the experimental units or does not have the time to check the heterogeneity pattern, he/she can opt for the LSD design.

### Disadvantages

- 1. The number of treatments equals the number of rows and columns.
- 2. The layout of the design is not as simple as in the case of CRD or RBD.
- 3. The analysis assumes that there are no interactions.
- 4. It requires *mainly* a square number of experimental units.

The LSD is suitable and more advantageous over CRD and RBD under specific field conditions.

#### **Factorial Experiment**

لاستشارات

To save time and other resources and also to know the interaction effects of different factors in single factor experiments factorial experiments are set up. These are also suitable for agricultural field, laboratory, social science, and other studies in which the impact of more than one factor is required to be compared. It is our common experience that a particular variety of wheat or a crop is responding differentially under different irrigation schedule, different rates of fertilizers, different weed management practices, different crop protection practices etc. and an experimenter wants to know all the above. Moreover, in this type of experiments, the experimenter wants to know not only the level or the doses of individual factor giving better result but also wants the combination of the levels of different factors which is producing the better result. In a study related to the role of health drinks and physical exercise, one may be interested in knowing (1) which health drink is comparatively better, (2) what type of exercise is better, and (3) what combination of health drinks and exercise provides better health to the growing children. In socioeconomic studies, one may be interested in relating the economic status and educational status of the people in adopting modern agricultural practices. Factorial experiments are the methods for answering the questions related to more than one factor at a time for their individual effects as well as interaction effects in a single experiment.

#### Advantages

- 1. In factorial experiments, the effects of more than one factor at a time can be estimated.
- 2. In factorial experiments the interaction effects can be estimated which is not possible in single-factor experiments.
- Factorial experiments are resource saving compared to single-factor experiments; factorial experiments could be set up with lesser number of replications.

#### Disadvantages

- When the number of factors or the levels of factors or both increase, then the number of treatment combinations will also increase, resulting in a requirement of bigger experimental area/units and bigger block/group size. As the block/group size increases, it is very difficult to maintain homogeneity among the plots/units within the block/group. Thus, there is a possibility of increase in the experimental error vis-à-vis decrease in precision of experiment.
- 2. Factorial experiments are more complicated than single-factor experiments.
- 3. Failure in one experiment may result in a loss of huge amount of information compared to a single-factor experiment.

#### **Types of Factorial Experiment**

- (a) Based on the number of factors: Depending upon the number of factors used in the experiment, a factorial experiment is a two-factor, three-factor ... p-factor factorial experiment when the number of factors put under experimentation is 2, 3 ... p, respectively.
- (b) Based on the level of factors: Depending upon the equality or inequality in the levels of factors put under experimentation, a factorial experiment is either symmetrical or asymmetrical. If the numbers of levels for all factors are same, it is symmetrical, otherwise asymmetrical. For example, a two-factor factorial experiment with five varieties and five different doses of nitrogen is a symmetrical factorial experiment, but a factorial experiment with five varieties and any number of doses of nitrogen (not equal to five) is an asymmetrical

factorial experiment. Symmetrical factorial experiments are denoted by  $p^q$  form, that is, q factors each at p levels. When asymmetrical factorial experiments are denoted by  $p \times q \times r \times s$ , where the first, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th factors have p, q, r, and s levels, respectively.

There are several competitive research designs; a researcher must decide upon the proper type of research design, which is befitting to the need of the research toward fulfilling the objective of the study. In doing so, a researcher must keep in mind the type of data required and its collection and analysis, so as to extract the hidden information from the subject area of the research. The planning of research design and its execution with utmost sincerity and accuracy lead to valid inference and generalization about the subject of the research undertaken.

# Variables, Measurement, and Scaling Technique

5

The objective of a research is to search the hidden truth of the universe for the betterment of humanity. In doing, so a population is studied by its characteristics. The different characteristics of any population are also different in nature. If one wants to study the students (population), then the characteristics of these students are required to be studied. The different characteristics of students like age, intelligence, height, weight, economic conditions, race, gender, etc., are also required to be studied. All these characteristics mentioned above vary from student to student, and while studying the student population, one must take into account the above characteristics along with other varied characteristics. Similarly if one wants to study the production behavior of food grains of any country to meet the challenges of food and nutritional requirements, a researcher is required to study not only the time series information of each and every component of the food crops but also their variations over the different component states/provinces of the country concerned. Thus, studying a population is always related with studying "variabilities" of the characteristics/entities under consideration.

## 5.1 Variable

In this universe, there are two types of entities the first one varies over different situations and the second one remains fixed. An entity which varies over different situations (e.g., time, individuals, places) is known as the *variable*. On the other hand, an entity which doesn't vary is known as the *constant*. Thus, if a variable is a thesis, then the constant is the antithesis. The universal gravitational constant (G), acceleration due to gravity (g), Avogadro number, etc., are some of the examples of constant. One can find that the nature of constant G and g are not same; G remains constant at any situation, but "g" varies slightly over situations like at the top of Mt Everest and at a ground level which is even being constant, (1) *restricted constant* and (2) unrestricted constant. A constant like "g" is known as a restricted constant, whereas constants like G are known as an *unrestricted constant*.

The characteristics/variables which one generally studies during a research process can be of two different types: measurable and nonmeasurable. Height, weight, length, distance, marks obtained by a student in different subjects, income, number of family members, number of pods per plant, number of grains per panicle, number of insects per plant, area under disease, number of employees in a particular industry, turnover of a particular industry over the year, prices of different commodities at different markets at a particular point of time, prices of different commodities at different points of time at a particular market, etc., are few examples of characteristics/variables which could be measured. The above measurable characteristics/variables are known as quantitative characters/variables. There are certain characteristics like races (e.g., Aryans, Dravidians, Mongoloids), gender (e.g., male or female), complexion (e.g., good, fair, better),

P.K. Sahu, Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields, DOI 10.1007/978-81-322-1020-7\_5, © Springer India 2013 35

color (e.g., red, green), and taste (e.g., sweet, sour, bitter) which cannot be measured as such but can be grouped, ranked, and categorized; these are known as qualitative characters/variables. The qualitative variables are also known as attributes. Each variable or characteristic is generally associated with the chance factor. In statistical sciences, a researcher is interested in studying not only the variable but also their probability distributions. As such, the variable with chance/probability factor-the variate-is of much interest rather than simply a variable. Thus, the variate is defined as variable with chance or probability factor. Rainfall is a variable which varies over days (say), but when it is associated with probability distributions, then it becomes a variate.

In literature, variables have been categorized into different types in accordance with its nature, purpose, use, etc. One can find the following types of variables in different literatures, though the types are neither exhaustive nor exclusive rather sometimes they are overlapping:

- 1. Continuous variable
- 2. Discrete variable
- 3. Dependent variable
- 4. Independent variable
- 5. Explanatory variables
- 6. Extraneous variable
- 7. Stimulus variable
- 8. Control variable
- 9. Dummy variable
- 10. Preference variable
- 11. Multiple response variable
- 12. Target variable
- 13. Weight variable
- 14. Operationally defined variable

## 5.1.1 Continuous Variable

A continuous variable can take any value within a given range. Plant height, length of panicle, length and breadth of leafs, heights of different groups of people, etc., are the examples of a continuous character/variable. These variables can take any value for the respective range. If one says that the plant height of a particular variety of paddy varies from 60 to 90 cm,

which means taking out any plant from the field of a particular variety, its height will be within the range of 60–90 cm.

## 5.1.2 Discrete Variable

A discrete variable is one which takes only an integer value within a given range. For example, the number of grains per panicle of a particular variety of paddy varies between 40 and 60 grains. This means if one takes out any panicle of that particular variety, the number of grains in it will take any value within this range. But one cannot expect that the panicle taken at random should have a number of grains 50.6 or like that; it will be 50 or 51.

## 5.1.3 Dependent Variable

A dependent variable is a type of variable whose values are dependent on the values taken by the other variables and their relationship. Generally in relational studies, a variable is influenced/ affected by other related variables. In a production function analysis, there exists a functional relationship between the output and the factors of production. Here the output is considered as dependent variable which depends on the factors of production like land, labor, capital, and management. In socioeconomic studies, the adoption index (dependent variable) with respect to the adoption of a particular technology may depend on a number of socioeconomic factors like age  $(x_1)$ , caste  $(x_2)$ , education  $(x_3)$ , family type  $(x_4)$ , social status  $(x_5)$ , economic conditions  $(x_6)$ , area under cultivation  $(x_7)$ , and the size of holding  $(x_8)$ . Thus, one can write  $y = f(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6, x_8)$  $x_6, x_7, x_8$ ). In this example, y is the dependent variable and  $x_1 \ldots x_8$  are the independent variables. One can use a functional relationship to predict the values of a dependent variable for a given set of values of the variables  $x_1 \dots x_8$ . As such, y is also known as predicted variable and  $x_1 \dots x_8$  are known as predictor variables.

#### 5.1.4 Independent Variable

In any relational analysis, variables which help to predict the dependent variable using the functional relationship are known as independent variables. In the above example, in Sect. 5.1.3,  $x_1 \dots x_8$  are said to have no association among themselves and are termed as independent variables. These variables independently help in predicting the dependent variable. Though there is no silver lining between the predictor variable and the independent variables, generally in regression analysis, predictor variables are synonymous to independent variables. But it is not necessary that the predictor variable must be an independent once.

## 5.1.5 Explanatory Variables

Independent variables are sometimes known as explanatory variables. Any variable which explains the response/dependent/predicted variable is known as explanatory variable. In a simple regression analysis, there are only one predictor and one response variable. In a multiple regression analysis generally, there is one response or predicted variable with more than one predictor/explanatory/independent variables. In the case of system of simultaneous equations model, there may be more than one response variable and more than one predictor/independent/explanatory variable. Moreover, the response variable(s) in one equation may be the explanatory variable in the other equation.

## 5.1.6 Extraneous Variable

In a relational analysis, independent and dependent variables are not only the variables present in the system; some other variables known as extraneous variables may have an impact on the relationship between the independent and dependent variables. For example, the relationship between the performance in driving and salary may be influenced by factors like age, gender, academic background,



conditions of the road, and conditions of the car. Thus, factors like age, gender, academic background, conditions of the road, conditions of the car, etc., are the extraneous factors/variables in a relational study of driving performance and salary. Extraneous variables are those variables whose information is obtained from the outside a periphery of study. Generally the values of these variables are not directly obtained from the system under study, but these variables may affect the dependent/ response/predicted variables. Extraneous variables may again be of two types: (a) participant variables and (b) situational variables. Participant variables are extraneous variables which are related to the individual characteristics of each participant. Thus, in the above example, age, gender, and academic background are the participant variables. On the other hand, situational variables or extraneous variables are related to environmental factors like conditions of the road and climatic conditions etc. Generally under experimental research conditions, extraneous variables are controlled by researchers. These are more pertinent in the case of a system of simultaneous equations model; the information about these variables is taken from the outside of the system to solve the model.

## 5.1.7 Stimulus Variable

The idea of stimulus and response variables is familiar in agriculture, socioeconomic, and clinical studies. A stimulus is a type of treatment applied to the respondents to record their response. In clinical studies generally, the doses, concentrations, different chemicals, etc., form a stimulus, whereas the response may be in the form of quantal response or quantitative response. When a stimulus is applied to a record response, the response may be either-or type, or it may be measurable. In an either-or type of response, a respondent will either respond or not respond after being applied with the stimulus. The different concentrations of a particular chemical in controlling a particular pest of a particular crop may kill the pest or may not; the response is either to kill or not to kill. On the other hand, applications of insulin at a particular dose can help in reducing the blood sugar level, a measurable response. In socioeconomic studies, stimulus variables may be in the form of action variable like documentary film, field demonstration, and method demonstration, an effect which would be measured in the form of adoptions or nonadoptions of a particular technology in which documentary/field demonstration/method demonstrations were used.

## 5.1.8 Control Variable

Control variables are nothing but the independent variables in relational studies, which can affect the relationship between the dependent variables and the independent variables and which could be controlled by making them constant or by eliminating them from the model. Thus, control variables are the type of independent variables which could be controlled by a researcher to study effectively the effects of other independent variables. Thus, independent variable can be categorized into two groups, that is, the control variable group and the moderator variable group. In comparison to the control variable groups, the effect of moderator variables is studied, keeping the control variables at constant or eliminating or minimizing them. Depending upon the objective of a research, it is up to a researcher to determine the moderator variables and the control variables.

## 5.1.9 Dummy Variable

In many research studies, particularly concerned with the qualitative characters, it is very difficult to guide/put a study under mathematical treatment. To overcome this problem, one of the techniques is to assign numbers against the quality parameters. For example, in a study concerned with gender-related issues, the male may be assigned number 1, while 0 for the female or vice versa. In a study of plant type, a bushy type of plants may be assigned number 1, erect type number 2, and tree type number 3, and so on. Thus, in each of the above cases, quality



characters are designated by different numbers. As such, quality characters take the values 0, 1, 2, etc., and are known as dummy variables. Dummy variables have special implications, particularly in relational analysis. For example, instead of an ordinary simple regression analysis in case of numeric variables, one should go for *probit*, *logit*, and *nomit* regression analysis when encountered with dummy variables.

#### 5.1.10 Preference Variable

These are generally discrete type of variables whose values are either in decreasing or increasing order. For example, in a survey of acceptability of a film by the audience, respondents were asked to grade the film by using five different codes which are as follows: (1) excellent, 1; (2)very good, 2; (3) good, 3; (4) poor, 4; and (5) bad, 5. It may be noted here that there is no relationship between the difference in grades 1 and 2 with that of the difference between any two consecutive grades and vice versa. Similarly, in a study of constraint analysis, farmers were asked to indicate the importance of the following constraints in accordance with their preferences by using codes from 1 to 8: (1) weather, (2)finance, (3) irrigation, (4) marketing, (5) price of input, (6) price of output, (7) nonavailability of good quality seed, and (8) nonavailability of appropriate technology. The farmers are to arrange the above eight constraints from 1 to 8 with 1 being allotted to the most important constraint and 8 to the least important constraint.

### 5.1.11 Multiple Response Variable

In multiple response variables, a variable can assume more than one value. In a social, economic, market research, etc., it becomes very difficult for respondents to select a particular option against the other alternatives; rather, they opt for combinations of absence; a typical example is the use of modern-day high-tech mobile phones. If a respondent is asked to indicate the purposes of using mobile phones in his/her daily life, the respondent could score more than one category out of the following options: (1) talking to people at distant places, (2) using GPS for daily life activities, (3) using camera for getting records, (4) listening to music, (5) used for simple calculations, (6) using as a miniature form of computers, etc. To a user talking to people at different places along with listening to music may be of equal and top priority. To others, it may be the talking to people at distant places along with the use of miniature form of computers be of equal or top priority. Thus, in both cases, the user has no preference to select one at topmost priority rather than other ones. As such, there are multiple responses to the query: why a user likes to have a mobile?

#### 5.1.12 Target Variable

A target variable is almost synonymous to that of a dependent variable in a classical regression analysis. The main objective is to target a variable (predicted variable) whose value (s) is required to be predicted taking help of the values of the other variables and also the relational form.

### 5.1.13 Weight Variable

A weight variable specifies the weightage to be given to different data sets/subsets. A weight variable may be continuous or discrete in nature. In a given data set, if "0" is assigned to any row of data, then that particular row could be ignored. On the other hand, a weightage given to rows 1, 2, 3, etc., means the rows concerned have different importance.

#### 5.1.14 Operationally Defined Variable

Before conducting any experiment, it is imperative to have a firm operational definition for all the variables under consideration. An operational definition of a certain variable describes how



variables are defined and measured within the framework of a research study. If one wants to test the performance of driving, then before taking the variables to score the performance of a driver, it is required to have clear-cut a definition of "a driver"—what do we mean by driver?

## 5.1.14.1 Criteria for the Selection of Variables

Having formulated the problem of a research work, the objective and the specific objective of the studies and the hypothesis to be tested and a guideline or an abstract idea about the type of variables to be studied become visible to a researcher. At the first instance, a researcher investigates what is the information required and what is the information available from the study-experimental or nonexperimental. In fact a researcher at this point of time will be among the host of variables. But the most pertinent thing is that how many variables are available and how many variables are required to be studied under a framework of a study (under the given time, money, technical experts, instrumental availability, etc.). Generally while selecting a variable, a researcher should keep in mind the following points: (1) objective of the study, (2) specific objective of the study, (3) hypothesis to be tested, (4) variables which should be mutually exclusive (nonoverlapping), (5) variables which should be clearly understood by a researcher, (6) techniques that are available or to be developed to measure a variable, (7) the number of variables that should not be too many or too few, and (8) availability of time and resources to researchers. The variables to be selected should be guided or commensurated with the objective and specific objective of a research program. The variable to be included must be clearly defined; any ambiguity in defining the variables may jeopardize the findings of a research program. The variables to be selected must be related with the hypothesis to be tested in a study, and must be nonoverlapping in nature. The variable which could not be measured with sufficient level of accuracy or which measurement availability of technical staff is in dearth may be avoided.

## 5.2 Measurement

Human instinct is to quantify the things in our daily life. As a result, we measure height, weight, age, length, etc. We also try to measure how good a painting is, how good a story is, how good a drama is, how best a new technology is adopted by a farmer is, etc. Measurement is relatively complex and must be a "to do" type of activity. By and large, by measurement, we mean the process of assigning numbers to objects or observations. The level of measurement is a function which dictates numbers to be assigned to the objects or observations. Measurement is a process of mapping aspects of a domain onto other aspects of a range according to some rule of correspondence. In assigning numbers to objects or observations, there are two aspects to be considered: (a) assigning numbers in respect of the property of some object and (b) assigning numbers relative to others. The second aspect is relatively difficult. Measuring social integrity, intelligence, varietal adjustments, etc., requires close observations and attentions compared to measuring physical quantities like height, weight, and age. In the measuring process, one needs to have some scales. In fact, in literature, one can find different scales of measurement: sometimes, these are also known as levels of measurement. Mostly one can find a (a) nominal, (b) ordinal, (c) interval, and (d) ratio scale/levels of measurement.

#### (a) Nominal Scale

In this type of scaling system, numbers are assigned to objects just to level them. The numbers provided on the jersey of a player are simply to recognize a player with that particular number. It has nothing to do with the capability of the player or his/her order or grade. Nominal scales just provide an easy way of tracking the objects or people or events. Nominal scale has no order or distant relationship or no arithmetic origin. Nominal scales are generally useful in social and economical research studies and also in ex post facto research. The variables measured under a nominal scale can be put to get a frequency



percentage, mode, median, chi-square test, etc.

#### (b) Ordinal Scale

An ordinal scale is a one-step upgradation of a nominal scale. Ordinal scales place events in order, but the intervals between two consecutive orders may not be equal. Ranking and gradation are examples of ordinal scales. In an ordinal scale of measurement, there is a sense of greater than or less than, and events are categorized not only to provide numbers but also to indicate the order of events. This scale has no absolute zero point. Though the intervals are unequal, the ordinal scale provides more information than the nominal scales by virtue of their ordering properties of the events. Cricket players may be ranked or graded according to their performance popularity. Thus, the top 10 players will be having numbers assigned to them starting from 1 to 10, with the most popular performer being assigned as number 1. In economic surveys, families may be categorized into poor, lower middle class, upper middle class, higher income group, etc. Thus, this grouping not only assigns particular group to a family concerned, but also it describes its position in relative to others. The variables measured with ordinal scales can be put under statistical calculations like median, percentile, rank correlation coefficient, and chi-square test.

## (c) Interval Scale

Interval scales of measurement are further improved over an ordinal scale of measurement. In this type of measurement, scale numbers are assigned to objects or events which can be ordered like those of ordinal scale with an added feature of equal distance between the scale values. An interval scale can have an arbitrary zero, but it may not be possible to determine what could be called an absolute zero. In this type of scaling, for example, one can say that the increase in temperature from 40 to 50°C is the same as that of 80–90°C, but one cannot be sure that 80°C temperature is twice as warm as 40°C temperature. Incorporations of concepts of equality of intervals make the interval scale

a more powerful measurement than the ordinal scale. The mean and standard deviation are the appropriate measures of central tendency and dispersion, respectively, using the interval scale of measurement.

## (d) Ratio Scale

Demerit of an interval scale of having no absolute zero point of measurement is being overcome in a ratio scale. A ratio scale is also a type of an interval scale with an equal interval between the consecutive scales along with the added feature of having the true zero point on the scale. Thus, the presence of zero point on the scale benefits the scale in comparing two events, with their respective positions. The ratio scales have wider acceptability and use. Generally, almost all statistical tools are usable with the variables measured in a ratio scale.

## 5.2.1 Causes for Error in Measurement

For any research project to have meaningful research findings, the measurements taken during the process should be precise and accurate. Any failure or shortfall on this aspect may seriously affect the research findings. As such, every researcher should have an attempt to minimize the error of measurement. Mainly there are four sources of errors in measurement: (a) the respondent, (b) the situation, (c) the measurer, and (d) the instrument.

#### (a) The Respondent

Reluctance on the part a respondent may be due to the fact that either he/she has tremendous negative feelings or may have very little knowledge about the subject concerned, but very much reluctant to express his/her ignorance. In addition to this, fatigue, apathy, anxiety, etc., may cause in responding accurately.

#### (b) The Situation

The situation during the time of collection of information plays a great role in manifesting an effective research output. A situation (strained/easy) during the time of data



collection, particularly for socioeconomic researches, may assist or distort information needed for a research project. Sometimes, a respondent may feel that anonymity is not assured, and then he/she may be very reluctant to provide authentic information. The presence of somebody may hinder or ease out an information extraction process.

#### (c) The Measurer

The behavior and attitude of a measurer or a surveyor, and interviewer, and the instrument used is the most important thing in getting reliable and valid information. Particularly in social studies, the style of interactions of interviewers with the respondents may encourage or discourage the information gathering process. Faulty recording or tabulation of information may also hamper the authenticity and creditability of the information.

#### (d) The Instrument

Faulty or an unstandardized instrument may give rise to inaccurate information. Similarly, in social and market studies, complex languages beyond the comprehension of a respondent must be avoided. A researcher must know how to take a measurement correctly under the given resource and time situations. Whatever may be the planning and hypothesis, if information is collected not up to the standard, it has some adverse effects on the output of a research program.

## 5.2.2 Criteria for Good Measurement Scale

Validity, reliability, and practicality are the three major criteria one should consider while evaluating any measurement tool. Validity refers to the degree to which the instrument measures what is supposed to be measured. Validity specifies the utility of a measurement scale; it actually measures the true differences among the values measured. Depending upon the nature of a research problem and the judgment of a researcher, validity can take a great role.

5 Variables, Measurement, and Scaling Technique

In literature one can find three types of validity: (a) content validity, (b) criteria validity, and (c) construct validity. Content validity is related to a measure of adequate coverage of a topic under study. The coverage of a study is one of the most important criteria in evaluating a research project. On the other hand, criteria validity relates to an ability to predict or estimate the existence of some current conditions. It is mainly concerned with the fact of the power of measuring of some other empirical studies. However, a research work is able to predict the correlation, and other theoretical propositions are measured through construct validity. Construct validity compares the result of a particular research work with other works. Test for reliability refers to consistency when measurements are taken repeatedly. Reliability doesn't contribute to validity; similarly, a reliable instrument may not be a valid instrument. Reliability is measured in terms of stability and equivalence aspects. Stability refers to the consistency of results under repeated measurements, while equivalence aspects consider the amount of error that may be introduced by the different investigators or different samples of the items being studied. The test of practicability is measured in terms of economy, convenience, and interpretability. Economy refers to a trade-off between the budget allocated for a particular project and the budget for an ideal project. While convenience suggests the ease of handling an instrument or measurement, the interpretability consideration is supported or supplemented by detailed interaction for administering the test. The key scoring points and evidence about the reliability are the guide for interpreting results.

## 5.2.3 Stages of Techniques for Developing Measurement Tools

The measurement tools can be developed by following systematic stages of development. By and large, four stages of development in measurement tools can be identified:

- (a) Stage one: development of concept
- (b) Stage two: specifying the dimensions of the concept developed
- (c) Stage three: indicator selection
- (d) Stage four: indexing

The concept of development relates to understanding the conceptual framework of a study to be taken up by researchers. In applied research, the conceptual frameworks are mostly obtained as a result of previous theoretical works. As such conceptualization is a concern of mainly theoretical research study. Having a fixed conceptual part of a study, it is now the work of a researcher to find out the periphery of a research work, precisely to find out the dimensions of a research study. For example, in a market study, the dimensions may be the reputation of the manufacturers, the quality of the product, the acceptance of the product to the customers, the leadership of the manufacturing organizations, their social responsibilities, etc. Fixing the concepts and dimensions of a research study leads in finding out the measurement criteria. Indicators for measuring the concepts and dimensions identified in the previous stages must be worked out. Indicators are the means of measuring the knowledge, opinion, expectations, satisfaction, etc., of the respondents. In doing so, a researcher must have alternative options for judging the stability and verification of the responses received. Generally, the studies are related to multiple dimensions; as such, it is now essential to have a particular numerical figure taking the various indicators into consideration. The simplest way of getting an index is to sum up the scores of each and every response. Thus, the formation of index plays a vital role in bringing the responses of the different characteristics of a particular study from a particular respondent into numerical values by which respondents can be compared. It is better to have indicators measured in terms of unit-less measures so that the ultimate index is also a unitless quantity.

## 5.3 Scaling and Its Meaning

Quantitative or measurable indicators have the privilege of being considered as mathematical manipulations or treatments. But most of the socioeconomic, psychometric studies are being measured through subjective or abstract indicators. So, it is very difficult to aggregate the measurements taken on abstract concepts to bring to one into unison. Moreover, while measuring the attitudes or opinions, the problem of valid measurement comes into play. Scaling technique has come to rescue such problem. Scaling is a technique by which one attempts to determine quantitative measures for subjective or abstract concepts. Thus, by scaling, we mean assigning numbers to various subjective/abstract concepts like degree of opinion and attitude. The whole process of scaling is based on one or more of the following bases: (a) *subject orientations*, (b) response form, (c) degree of subjectivity, (d) scale properties, (e) dimensionality, and (f) scale *construction technique*. In a subject orientation, a scale is designed to measure the characteristics of respondents on a particular stimulus presented to the respondents. This can be done by allowing the respondent to go through the stimulus thoroughly and grade it, or it can also be done by asking the respondent to judge the stimulus on various dimensions. In a response form, responses are categorized into different scales: they may be a rating scale or a ranking scale. In a rating scale, the respondent rates a stimulus without having any direct reference to other stimuli; comparison among stimuli is absent. On the other hand, in a ranking scale, different stimuli are ranked 1, 2, 3. . ., etc., by the respondent. Scales may be based on subjectivity (preferential or non-preferential) of the respondent concerned. As discussed in the scales of measurement, scales may be developed on the basis of the nominal, ordinal, interval, or ratio nature. A ratio scale is the most important scale which possesses all the properties of the other three scales, along with a unique origin. Scales may be developed as unidimensional or multidimensional. In a unidimensional scale, only one attribute could be measured, but in multidimensional scales, objects maybe categorized/indexed based on multiple attributes-multivariate analysis.

## 5.3.1 Scaling Technique

الألم للاستشارات

As it has already been mentioned, rating and ranking scaling techniques are mostly used in



Ranking scales are mostly based on comparative basis. In this type of scaling technique, respondents are required to compare either pairwise comparison taking two objects at a time, ranking several objects in order, or placing the objects into different groups developed following interval scales. Based on the methods used, the ranking scales are used in three approaches: (a) *method of pair comparison*, (b) *method of rank order*, and (c) *method of successive intervals*. In method of pair comparison, a

5 Variables, Measurement, and Scaling Technique

pairwise comparison is taken up. As a result, if there are N numbers of objects to be compared, then one needs to compare  ${}^{N}C_{2}$  pairs. If N is very large, then the number of combinations will also be very large. On the other hand, in method of rank order, a respondent orders or ranks all objects according to the specified criteria into a,  $b, c \ldots$  or 1, 2, 3  $\ldots$  In many situations, respondents are asked to rank a particular object or to rank the first three and so on. Thus, the need of ranking all the objects under consideration doesn't arise at all. The problem with this type of method is that the carelessness or too much sensitivity on the part of the respondent may lead to bad information or time-consuming affairs, respectively. When there are a large number of objects for which the selections are to be made, it becomes very difficult to use the previous two methods. Instead, one can use the method of successive intervals. The large number of objects is sorted to different groups formed by taking interval scales.

## 5.3.2 Errors in Scaling Techniques

If a respondent is not very careful while rating or ranking, errors may occur. Mainly there could be three types of error: error of leniency, error of central tendency, and error of halo effect. The error of leniency takes place when respondents are not so serious in taking the job of rating/ ranking on their own hands. On the other hand, the error of central tendency occurs when respondents are very much reluctant to provide the highest/lowest rate/rank. Thus, in grading students, a teacher may be reluctant in judging the answer script thoroughly but put the grade leniently. Contrarily, if a teacher never wishes to provide the highest rank or the lowest rank but rather puts the average rank, then errors of central tendency occur. Errors of systematic bias or halo effects occur when a respondent carries or has preconceived ideas about the objects under rating. In most of the cases, the raters carry a generalized impression from one subject to another.



# **Sampling Design**

6

Collecting quality information/data is a prerequisite of any research program. And there are mainly two different methods of collecting data: (a) *census method* and (b) *sample survey method*. In census method, data are collected from individual members of the population. On the other hand, in sample survey method, information is collected from the units of sample drawn for the purpose following definite methods of the sampling techniques. A comparative account of two methods of data collection is given in Table 6.1.

Research is pursuit towards knowing the unknowns in this universe. In doing so, it is not possible to take care of all the aspects; rather the researchers quite often select only a few aspects from this universe as the purpose of study. In most of the research studies, the usual approach is to generalize the findings, that is, to draw inference about the population characteristics based on sample characteristics. The whole process depends heavily on the success of drawing sample from the population. If the sample(s) drawn is not a proper representative part of the population, then it may lead to wrong decisions with regard to generalization of the findings. To avoid this problem, we may think of checking the whole population, that is, each and every member of the population. This is simply not possible, mainly because of time, labor, cost involvement, and other difficulties. Sometimes, it is not possible also to identify each and every member of the population (infinite population). Thus, we need to have a proper sample following a statistical technique so as to obtain valid inference about population characteristics based on sample observations and avoid taking any wrong decision.

Sampling theory can be visualized as consisting of three major components: (a) *selection of proper sample*, (b) *collection of information from the sample*, and (c) *analysis of information to draw inferences about the population as a whole*. Before discussing the above three components, let us have a look into the definitions and characteristics of some of the terminologies related to this aspect.

*Population*: A population is a collection or totality of well-defined objects (entities). The observations or entities could be anything like persons, plants, animals, and objects (like nut bolts, books, pens, pencils, medicines, and engines). An individual member of the population is known as *element or unit* of the population.

Population size (N) is generally referred to as the number of observations in the population. Depending upon the size of the population, a population may be finite or infinite. A *finite population* is a population that contains a finite number of observations, for example, the population of students in a particular university and population of books/journals in a library.

An *infinite population* is a population that contains an infinite number of observations or units or elements, for example, the number of hairs in a particular head and the number of plants in a forest.

P.K. Sahu, Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields, DOI 10.1007/978-81-322-1020-7\_6, © Springer India 2013

Sl no.	Sample survey method	Census method
1	Only a representative part of the population (sample) comes under investigation	Every element of the population comes under investigation
2	Comparatively less accurate, if not done properly	Accurate
3	Economical	Costly
4	Less time- and labor-consuming	Time- and labor-consuming
5	Possible in case of infinite population	Not possible for infinite population
6	Possible for large population	Rarely possible and feasible for large population
7	With both sampling and non-sampling errors	With absent sampling errors
8	Nonresponse errors can be solved	Nonresponse problem cannot be worked out
9	Parameters are to be estimated and tested	Parameters are directly worked out
10	Used frequently	Rarely used (e.g., population census)

 Table 6.1
 Comparison of sample survey method and census method of data collection

*Parameter* is a real valued function of the population values. For example,

Population mean 
$$= \bar{Y} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_i,$$
  
Population variance  $= \sigma_Y^2 = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (Y_i - \bar{Y})^2;$   
Population coefficient of variation  $= C_{Y_i} = \frac{\sigma_Y}{N}$ 

Population coefficient of variation  $= C_Y = \frac{\sigma_Y}{Y}$ .

Sample: A sample is a representative part of a population. If the sample fails to represent the population adequately, then there is every chance of drawing wrong inference about the population based on such sample because of the fact that it will overestimate or underestimate some population characteristics. Let us suppose that we want to know the average economic background of the students of an agriculture college. If the college is a coeducation college and consists of students from different parts of the country and one draws a sample (1) of either boys or girls only, or (2) from a particular class, or (3) from the students of a particular state only, then the average economic condition obtained from the sample may fail to infer about the true average economic condition of the students of the college (the population). This type of sample is called a biased sample. On the other hand, an unbiased sample is statistically almost similar to its parent population, and thus, inference about the population based on this type



of sample is more reliable and acceptable than from a biased sample.

The Sample size (n) of a sample is the number of elements/units with which the sample is constituted of. Sample size is determined by a number of factors, namely, (1) objective and scope of the study, (2) nature of population and sampling unit, (3) sampling technique and estimation procedure to be used, (4) structure of variability in the population, (5) structure of time and cost component, and (6) size of the population. An efficient and optimum sample size either minimizes the mean squared error of the estimator for a fixed cost or minimizes the cost for a fixed value of mean squared error. Fixing of optimum sample size becomes complicated when more than one parameter is to be estimated or more than one variable is under study. In fact, it is very difficult to have a fixed rule for getting the sample size. However, based on past information or information gathered through the pilot study conducted before the main study and giving due consideration to the above decisive factors, sample sizes are fixed for specific studies.

Generally a sample is regarded as *large sample* if the sample size  $n \ge 30$ ; otherwise, *small sample*.

Krejcie and Morgan in their 1970 article "Determining Sample Size for Research Activities" (*Educational and Psychological Measurement*, #30, pp. 607–610) have used the following formula to determine sampling size provided the population is definite.

Population size (N)	Sample size ( <i>n</i> )	Population size (N)	Sample size ( <i>n</i> )	Population size (N)	Sample size ( <i>n</i> )	Population size (N)	Sample size ( <i>n</i> )
10	10	150	108	460	210	2,200	327
15	14	160	113	480	214	2,400	331
20	19	170	118	500	217	2,600	335
25	24	180	123	550	226	2,800	338
30	28	190	127	600	234	3,000	341
35	32	200	132	650	242	3,500	346
40	36	210	136	700	248	4,000	351
45	40	220	140	750	254	4,500	354
50	44	230	144	800	260	5,000	357
55	48	240	148	850	265	6,000	361
60	52	250	152	900	269	7,000	364
65	56	260	155	950	274	8,000	367
70	59	270	159	1,000	278	9,000	368
75	63	280	162	1,100	285	10,000	370
80	66	290	165	1,200	291	15,000	375
85	70	300	169	1,300	297	20,000	377
90	73	320	175	1,400	302	30,000	379
95	76	340	181	1,500	306	40,000	380
100	80	360	186	1,600	310	50,000	381
110	86	380	191	1,700	313	75,000	382
120	92	400	196	1,800	317	100,000	384
130	97	420	201	1,900	320		
140	103	440	205	2,000	322		

 Table 6.2
 Sample size corresponding to different population sizes

Estimation of sample size in research using Krejcie and Morgan's table is a commonly employed method (Krejcie and Morgan 1970).

$$S = \chi^2 N P (1 - P) / d^2 (N - 1) + \chi^2 P (1 - P)$$

S = the required sample size

 $\chi^2$  = the table value of chi-square for one degree of freedom at the desired confidence level

N = the population size

- P = the population proportion (assumed to be .50 since this would provide the maximum sample size)
- d = the degree of accuracy expressed as a proportion (.05)

Table 6.2 is given in DK Lal Das' Design of Social Research for the purpose. Based on Krejcie and Morgan's (1970) table for determining sample size, for a given population of 500, a sample size of 217 would be needed to represent a cross section of the population. However, it is important for a researcher to consider whether the sample size is adequate to provide enough accuracy to base decisions on the findings with confidence.

A *statistic* is a real valued function of the sample values. For example, the sample mean  $= \bar{y} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i$ , sample variance  $= s' \frac{2}{y} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \bar{y})^2$ ; sample coefficient of variation  $= c_y = \frac{s'_y}{\bar{y}}$ .

An *estimator* is a statistic used to estimate the population parameter and is a random variable as its value differs from sample to sample, and the samples are selected with specified probability laws. The particular value, which the estimator takes for a given sample, is known as an *estimate*.

An estimator *t* is said to be an *unbiased esti*mator of parameter  $\theta$  if  $E(t) = \theta$ , where  $E(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{M_0} t_i p_i$  and the probability of getting the *i*<sup>th</sup> sample is  $p_i$ , and  $t_i$  ( $i = 1, 2, 3 \dots M_0$ ) is the estimate, that is, the value of estimator "*t*" based on this sample for the parameter  $\theta$ ,  $M_0$  being the total number of possible samples for the specified probability scheme. On the other hand, if  $E(t) \neq \theta$ , the estimator is said to be a *biased* estimator of parameter  $\theta$  and the bias of *t* is given as  $B(t) = E(t) - \theta$ . The difference between estimate  $t_i$  based on the *i*th sample and parameter  $\theta$ , that is,  $(t_i - \theta)$ , may be called the error of the estimate.

The mean squared error (MSE). The MSE of an estimator t of  $\theta$  is  $M(t) = E(t-\theta)^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{M_o} \sum_{j=1}^{M_o} \sum_{i=1}^{M_o} \sum_{j=1}^{M_o} \sum_{j=1}^{M_o}$  $p_i(t_i - \theta)^2 = V(t) + [B(t)]^2$ , where V(t) (the variance of t) is defined as  $E[t - E(t)]^2 =$  $\sum_{i=1}^{M_o} p_i [t_i - E(t)]^2$ .

Given two estimators  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  for the population parameter  $\theta$ , the estimator  $t_1$  is said to be more efficient than  $t_2$  if MSE $(t_1) <$  MSE $(t_2)$ .

The selection of proper method to obtain a representative sample is of utmost importance. The selection of sample is oriented to answer the following major queries:

- (a) To select a representative part (sample) of the population under interest
- (b) To fix the size of the sample
- (c) To ensure good quality of information and subsequent inference
- (d) To estimate parameters, minimizing errors towards valid inferences about the population Once the purpose and objective of the study

is fixed, one has to prepare a suitable sampling plan to fulfill the objective of the study. The basic components of sampling plans are:

- (a) Definition of population and sampling units
- (b) Preparation of sampling frame
- (c) Scope of study area or domain
- (d) Time period allowed
- (e) Amount of cost permissible
- (f) Coverage, that is, type of information (qualitative or quantitative) to be collected
- (g) Type of parameters to be estimated
- (h) Sampling design
- (i) Selection of sample and collection of data through trained investigators

All the above steps aim at reducing the sampling error at a given cost within limited resources.

#### **Probability sampling**

#### 6.1 Errors in Sample Survey

There are mainly two types of errors associated with estimates worked out from the sample: (a) sampling error and (b) non-sampling error.

- (a) Sampling Error: If we use different samples, drawn following exactly the same way from the same population, it will be found that the estimates from each sample differ from the other even if the same questionnaires, instructions, and facilities are provided for the selection of all the samples. This difference is termed as sampling error.
- (b) Non-sampling Error: Non-sampling errors are attributed mainly to differential behavior of respondents as well as interviewers. Thus, difference in response, difficulties in defining, difference in interpretations, and inability in recalling information and so on are the major sources of non-sampling errors.

#### 6.2 Selection of Sample (Sampling Technique)

Depending upon the nature and scope of the investigation and the situations under which the study is being carried out, appropriate sampling technique is being chosen. Available sampling techniques can broadly be categorized into two categories: (a) probability sampling and (b) nonprobability sampling. Probability sampling helps researchers to estimate the extent to which the sample statistics are likely to adhere to the population parameters. Different types of sampling techniques available are:

Non-probability sampling – 1) Quota sampling 1) Simple random sampling -2) Varying probability sampling – 2) Judgment sampling 3) Stratified sampling 3) Purposive sampling -4) Systematic sampling 4) Snowball sampling 5) Cluster sampling - 5) Accidental sampling 6) Multistage sampling 7) Multiphase and double sampling 8) Sampling on two occasions 9) Inverse sampling 10) Sampling technique for rapid assessment (STRA)

Besides the above, some complex and mixed sampling techniques like (a) two-stage or threestage sampling with stratification, (b) double sampling for stratification, and (c) sampling on successive occasions are useful in studies related to socioeconomic, agronomic, and animal husbandry aspects.

#### 6.2.1 Probability Sampling

#### 6.2.1.1 Simple Random Sampling

Simple random sampling is the most widely used, simplest method of drawing sample from a population such that each and every unit in the population has an equal probability of being included in the sample. Simple random sampling is of two different types: (a) *simple random sampling with replacement (SRSWR)* and (b) *simple random sampling without replacement (SRSWOR)*.

From a population of N units, we select one unit by giving equal probability 1/N to all units with the help of random numbers. A unit is selected, noted, and returned to the population before drawing the second unit, and the process is repeated "n" times to get a simple random sample of "n" units. This procedure of selecting a sample is known as "simple random sampling with replacement (SRSWR)." On the other hand, if the above procedure is continued till "n" distinct units are selected ignoring all repetitions, a "simple random sampling without replacement (SRSWOR)" is obtained.

How to use random number from a random number table for drawing a random sample from a finite population is illustrated in the following example.

*Example 6.1.* Let 48 different lots of bulbs, each containing 100 bulbs, be studied for defective bulbs, and the following figures give the number of defective bulbs in each lot. We are to draw two random samples of 10 lots: (1) with replacement and (2) without replacement.

Lot no.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
No. of defective bulbs/lot	2	12	10	8	9	11	3	8	10	12	7	9
Lot no.	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24
No. of defective bulbs/lot	4	5	7	12	14	8	10	0	5	6	10	12
Lot no.	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36
No. of defective bulbs/lot	14	15	2	5	15	17	8	9	12	13	14	5
Lot no.	37	38	39	40	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48
No. of defective bulbs/lot	6	7	8	12	11	9	12	15	18	16	9	10

The sampling units, that is, lots, are already serially numbered from 1 to 48. Now N = 48 is a two-digit number.

#### Method 1 (Direct Approach)

Since N = 48 is a two-digit number, we shall use a two-digit random number table, consider random numbers from 01 to 48, and reject numbers greater than 48 and 00. One can start from any point (number) in the random number table, which is arranged in rows and columns. We can move in any random way we like; it can be vertically downward or upward, to the right or to the left. Let us start at random from a number in the 1st row and 12th column and move vertically



downward. The numbers selected from the random number table 6.7 are given in Table 6.3:

The random samples of size 10 with replacement and without replacement consist of the unit numbers 12, 4, 36, 36, 32, 18, 11, 45, 15, and 32 and 12, 4, 36, 32, 18, 11, 45, 15, 27, and 33, respectively. While selecting the random numbers according to the SRSWR, we have kept some random numbers, namely, 36 and 32, more than once because these units after selection were returned to the population. But no repetition of random number is found in SRSWOR method.

Demerit of the direct approach is that a large number of random numbers are rejected simply because these are more than the population size.

Random numbers taken	Selected random numbers						
from the table 6.7	SRSWR	SRSWOR					
12	12	12					
4	04	4					
36	36	36					
80	_	_					
36	36	-					
32	32	32					
95	—	—					
63	-	-					
78	—	—					
18	18	18					
94	—	—					
11	11	11					
87	—	_					
45	45	45					
15	15	15					
32	32	-					
71	—	_					
77	-	-					
55	_	_					
95	-						
27	_	27					
33	-	33					

**Table 6.3**Selection of random numbers for SRSWR andSRSWOR scheme using direct method

**Table 6.4**Selection of random numbers for SRSWR andSRSWOR scheme using remainder approach

Random	Remainder when	Selected random numbers				
numbers	divided by 48	SRSWR	SRSWOR			
12	12	12	12			
4	04	04	4			
36	36	36	36			
80	32	32	32			
36	36	36	_			
32	32	32	_			
95	47	47	47			
63	15	15	15			
78	30	30	30			
18	18	18	18			
94	46	_	46			
11	11	_	11			

If a sample of *n* units is drawn from a population of *N* units with SRSWR, then there are  $N^n$  ordered possible samples and the probability of getting any sample is  $P(s) = 1/N^n$ . If a sample is drawn with SRSWOR, then there are  $\binom{N}{C_n}$  unordered possible samples and  $P(s) = 1/\binom{N}{C_n}$ . It is further to be noted that the probability of getting *i*<sup>th</sup> unit at *r*<sup>th</sup> draw is  $P(\bigcup_{i_r}) = 1/N$ , i = 1, 2, 3, ..., N and r = 1, 2, 3, ..., n for both SRSWR and SRSWOR.

In case a sample of *n* units is drawn from a population of *N* units with SRSWR and the sample values are  $(y_1, y_2, y_3, ..., y_n)$ , then the sample mean  $\overline{y} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i$  is an unbiased estimator of the population mean  $\overline{Y}$ , that is,  $E(\overline{y}) = \overline{Y}$ , and a sampling variance of the sample mean, that is,  $V(\overline{y})$  is equal to  $\frac{\sigma^2}{n}$  where  $\sigma^2$  is the population variance. It is also observed that the sample mean square  $(s^2)$  is an unbiased estimator of the population variance, that is  $E(s^2) = \sigma^2$  where  $s^2 = \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \overline{y})^2$ . Thus, the standard error of the sample mean is given by  $SE(\overline{y}) = \frac{\sigma}{\sqrt{n}}$  and the estimated  $SE(\overline{y}) = \frac{s}{\sqrt{n}}$ .

For SRSWOR  $E(\bar{y}) = \bar{Y}$ ,  $V(\bar{y}) = \frac{N-n}{N-1} \frac{\sigma^2}{n}$  $= \frac{N-n}{N} \frac{S^2}{n}$  $= (1-f) \frac{S^2}{n}, E(s^2) = S^2$ 

— means random number drawn from random number table is more than 48.

#### Method 2 (Remainder Approach)

To reduce time and labor, the commonly used "remainder approach" is employed to avoid the rejection of random numbers. The greatest two-digit number, which is a multiple of 48, is 96, and we consider two-digit numbers from 01 to 96, rejecting the numbers greater than 96 and 00. By using two-digit random numbers as above, we prepare Table 6.4.

The random samples of size 10 with replacement and without replacement consist of the variety numbers 12, 4, 36, 32, 36, 32, 47, 15, 30, and 18 and 12, 4, 36, 32, 47, 15, 30, 18, 46, and 11, respectively.

In the direct approach, as many as 22 random numbers were selected to obtain a random sample of ten only. On the contrary, only 12 random numbers were sufficient in the second "remainder approach" to draw the sample of 10. Thus, with the help of the remainder approach, one can save time as well as labor in drawing a definite simple random sample.

where  $S^2 = \frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (Y_i - \bar{Y})^2$  is the population mean square and  $f = \frac{n}{N} =$  sampling fraction.

The factor  $\frac{N-n}{N} = (1-f)$  is a correction factor for the finite size of the population and is called the finite population correction factor. It is noted that  $V_{\text{WOR}}(\bar{y}) = \frac{N-n}{N-1} \frac{\sigma^2}{n} = (1 - \frac{n-1}{N-1}) \times \frac{\sigma^2}{n} \rightarrow \frac{\sigma^2}{n}$  which is equal to  $V(\bar{y})$ , when  $N \rightarrow \infty$ .

## 6.2.1.2 Varying Probability Sampling (Probability Proportional to Size Sampling)

In many practical situations, the units vary in size and the variable under study is directly related to the size of the unit. In this case, probabilities may be assigned to all the units proportional to their sizes and be employed probability proportional to size sampling technique. Let there be "N" units in a population having sizes  $X_1, X_2, X_3, ..., X_N$ , the total of the sizes of all the units in the population being  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i = X$ . In this method, the probability of selecting *i*th unit is  $X_i/X$ . The selection of sample according to probability proportional to size sampling with replacement can be made in two different ways: (a) *cumulative total method* and (b) *Lahiri's method*.

### **Cumulative Total Method**

Let the size of the *i*th unit in the population be  $X_i$  (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., N), and suppose that these are integers. Then the procedure is given in the following steps:

- 1. Assign 1 to  $X_1$  numbers to the first unit,  $X_1+1$  to  $(X_1+X_2)$  numbers to the second unit,  $X_1$  $X_2+1$  to  $X_1+X_2+X_3$  numbers to the third unit, and so on.
- 2. Select a random number from 1 to *X* from the random number table using the method for selection of sample according to simple random sampling technique.
- 3. The unit in whose range the random number falls is taken in the sample.
- 4. Steps in (2) and (3) are repeated "*n*" times to get a sample of size "*n*" with probability proportional to size with replacement.



 Table 6.5
 Selection of sample using cumulative total method

	Farm area				
Farm no.	(cents) (X <sub>i</sub> )	Cumulative total	Numbers associated	PPSWR	
1	20	20	1-20		
2	15	35	21-35		
3	10	45	36-45		
4	30	75	46–75		
5	60	135	76-135	$\checkmark$	
6	100	235	136–235		
7	40	275	236-275		
8	25	300	276-300		
9	35	335	301-335		
10	45	380	336-380		
11	50	430	381-430		
12	55	485	431-485		
13	20	505	486-505		
14	10	515	506-515		
15	70	585	516-585	$\checkmark$	
16	75	660	586-660		
17	90	750	661-750	$\checkmark$	
18	65	815	751-815		
19	40	855	816-855	V	
20	45	900	856-900		

*Example 6.2.* Suppose there are 20 farms. We are to select 5 farms with probability proportional to size with replacement.

**Solution.** With size being the area of farms by cumulative total method, we have Table 6.5 prepared:

Select five random numbers from 1 to 900 from the random number table. Random numbers selected from the random number table at the 1st row and 9th column and moving vertically downward are 843, 122, 735, 82, and 559. The units associated with these numbers are 19th, 5th, 17th, 5th, and 15th, respectively. Thus, according to PPS, with replacement the sample contains farms with serial numbers 5, 5, 15, 17, and 19.

#### Lahiri's Method

According to Lahiri's (1951) method of PPS selection, we do not require accumulation of the sizes at all. It consists in selecting a number at random from 1 to N and noting down the unit with the corresponding serial number provisionally.

www.m

76  $\sqrt{}$ 50 30 26 40 50  $\sqrt{}$ 

Farm

 $\sqrt{}$ 

 $\sqrt{}$ 

selected

Table 6.6 Selection of sample using PPSWR (Lahiri's method)

34

27

60

90

Farm area (cent)  $(X_i)$ 

Another random number is then chosen from 1 to M, where M is the maximum of the sizes of the N units or some convenient number greater than the maximum size. If the second random number is smaller or equal to the size of the unit provisionally selected, the unit is selected into the sample. If not, the entire procedure is repeated until a unit is finally selected. For selecting a sample of nunits with PPSWR, the above procedure is repeated till "n" units are selected.

*Example 6.3.* Let there be ten farms having farm sizes of  $X_1$  to  $X_{10}$  as given below. We are to select four farms with PPSWR according to Lahiri's method (Table 6.6).

In this example, N = 10, M = 90. First, we have to select a random number from 1 to 10 and a second random number from 1 to 90. Referring to the random number table, the pair is (8, 23). Here,  $23 < X_8 = 27$ . Hence, the 8th unit is selected in the sample. We choose another pair, which is (2, 48). Here,  $48 < X_2 = 50$ . Thus, the 2nd unit is selected in the sample. We choose another pair, which is (7, 55). Here,  $55 > X_7$ = 34. So the pair (7, 55) is rejected. Choosing two pairs, we can have (10, 70) and (6, 38). Here, the 10th and 6th units are selected in the sample. Hence, the sample consists of farms with serial numbers 8, 2, 10, and 6.

PPS sampling takes care of the heterogeneity in the population as well as the varying sizes of the population units/elements. Thus, it uses ancillary information in the form of size of units. This will help us in getting more efficient estimator of the population.

A random number can also be generated from the function menu of MS Excel following the method given below. Assume that we want to have 20 random numbers between 1 and 900.

It may be noted that in this process, the random number changes as we change the

1 9 X 9 Step 1: Click on Formulas as shown above in any Excel spreadsheet to get the following screen.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Sl. no. of farms

	H .	(H)(4)					Bo	ok1 - Microsof	t Excel					-	0 8
	Home	Insert	Page Layout	Formulas	Data Review	View SA	5								×
f.x Insert Function	AutoSu	Im Recently Used *	Financial Logic	al Text Date Time ion Library	& Lookup & Ma • Reference • & Tri	th More g • Functions •	Name Manager IIIP Create Defined N	Name * Formula * from Selection ames	SP Trace Prec Strace Dep R. Remove A	edents endents rrows = Q Form	Show Formulas Fror Checking * Evaluate Formula rula Auditing	Watch Window Op	culation Calculate Now culation Calculate Sheet Calculation		
	A1		· × • J*												
	A		В	C	D	E	F	G		н		1	K	L	M
1	=				Insert Funct	on		1	2 <b>X</b>						
2					Search for a	function:									
3					Type a br Go	ef description of wi	hat you want to do and	then dick	<u>Go</u>						
4					Or select a	gategory: Math &	Trig								
5					Select a fun	tiog:									
6					QUOTIEN	T			^						
. 0					RAND	APPN -			- 0	-					
/					ROMAN	ncon				-					
8					RANDBET	WEEN(bottom,to	p)			L					
9					Returns a	random number bet	ween the numbers you	specify.							
10															
11							-								
12					CED ON THE			OK	Cancel						
13					-										
1.4															
14															
15															
16.63	H Sheet	t1 Shee	t2 Sheet3	2/					-	•				_	
Edit		-						_	_			_		160% (=)	0
	e			<b>O</b>	🖾 🛛 👻	1811 I							- 6	1 - 1 - 40	5:56 AM 6/2/2012

Step 2: Click on Insert Function menu as shown above. The small window will appear, and from the different options, scroll to select RANDBETWEEN and click OK to get the following window.

(Cn) 11 "	(N) (R)	and the second second		20.0	Book	1 - Microsoft Excel	Strengt road		_		0	0 ×	
Home	Insert Page	Layout Formulas	Data Review	View SAS									×
fx Insert Function	Sum Recently Finance Used *	al Logical Text Date 8	Lookup & Math Reference * & Trig	More Functions -	Define Na SP Use in Fo me till Create fro Defined Nam	ame - Silent cmuta - 453 om Selection 224 es	race Precedents 🔌 race Dependents 🐇 emove Arrows + 🕢 Formula	Show Formulas Error Checking ~ Evaluate Formula a Auditing	Watch Windew Optie	Calculate Now			
RANDBETW	EDN • (* X	Service - RANDBETWE	EN(1,900)										¥
4	A B	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	K	L	M	E
1 1(1,9	00)												
2		(			-								
3			Function Arguments			e							
4			Bottom 1		<b>1</b> - 1								
5			Top 900		<b>1</b> = 900								
6			Dahang a candon or ma	the bab and the second	- Volati	le							ł
7			NEWTIS & FORMUM FILM	Top	is the largest integer	RANDBETWEEN will r	eturn.						
8													
9			Formula result = Vola	tle									
10			Help on this function			OK	Cancel						
11		L				-							
12													ł
12												_	
14													
14													
15													Ļ
H 4 > H Sh	eet1 Sheet2 / Si	heet3 , 😲								(an im (0))	0		5
<b>a</b> (	s 📷 I		a 😰 🛛	X							- P 41	5:57 AM	ĺ

*Step 3*: Put the lowest and the highest values in bottom and top spaces, respectively, of the above window and click OK to get the following screen.



0	13 m · Cr ·	0				Book	1 - Microsoft Exce	0					x
	Home Inse	rt Page Layout	Formulas C	lata Review	View SAS							<b>9</b> -	e x
f.x Insert Function	AutoSum Rec	ently Financial Log	ical Text Date & Time 1	Lookup & Math Reference - & Trig	More Nat Functions - Man	Jan Define Na Jan Use in For Ager III Create fro Defined Nam	ime • 50 mula • 40 m Selection 2 es	Trace Precedents Trace Dependents 🍲 Remove Arrows * 🥝 Formula	Show Formulas Error Checking * Evaluate Formula a Auditing	Watch Window Calcula Option	Calculate Now		
	A1	• (* fr	=RANDBETWEEN	¥(1,900)									¥
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L N	1
1	514												
2		Ĩ											
3													
4													
5													
6													
7													
8													
9													
10													
11													
12		Ť											
13													
14													
15													
11.50	H Sheet1 S	heet2 / Sheet3						14					× 1
Drag o	utside selection to	extend series or fill;	drag inside to clear						_	_	100 10 100 100	× 🕞 👘 🕕	•
3	e		· (?) [[#		X						- 19	- P + 558 / 6/2/2	012

Step 4: The first random number is generated. Click on the right lower corner of the first cell, hold it, and drag it to more than 20 cells to get random numbers as given below.



*Step 5*: The above random number generated may contain repetitions; repetitions are allowed in SRSWR, but to get distinct random numbers for SRSWOR, discard the repetitive ones and take only the distinct random numbers.



selection or repeat the process. So it is better to generate more random numbers than what is actually required and transform these into values using Copy, Paste Special, Values command immediately.

#### 6.2.1.3 Stratified Sampling

For a heterogeneous population, stratified random sampling is found to be better compared to SRS and simple random sampling with varying probability.

In stratified random sampling method, a population of size "N" is divided into subpopulations (called strata), which are homogeneous within and heterogeneous among themselves. Random samples are drawn from each stratum separately. Age, gender, educational or income status, geographical location, soil fertility pattern, stress level, species of fish, etc., are generally used as stratifying factors. The efficiency of the stratified random sampling design, relative to the simple random sampling design, will be high only if an appropriate stratification technique is used.

*Number of strata*: Stratification can be done to the extent such that the strata are not too many in number because too many strata do not necessarily bring down the variance proportionately.

Let there be *P* strata in a population with mean  $\overline{Y}$  and variance  $\sigma^2$ , and let  $N_h$  be the sizes of *h*th stratum with mean  $\overline{Y}_h$  and variance  $\sigma_h^2$  (h = 1, 2, 3, ..., P) so that  $N = N_1, +N_2+...+N_L$ . One can write

$$\begin{split} \overline{Y} &= \sum_{h=1}^{P} W_h \bar{Y}_h, \\ \sigma^2 &= \sum_{h=1}^{P} W_h \sigma_h^2 + \sum_{h=1}^{P} W_h (\bar{Y}_h - \bar{Y})^2, \end{split}$$

where  $W_h = \frac{N_h}{N}$ .

Ӑ للاستشارات

Let us take a random sample of size *n* by selecting  $n_h$  individuals from *h*th stratum such that  $\sum_{h=1}^{p} n_h = n$ . Let  $\bar{y}_h$  and  $s_h^2$  be the sample mean and sample mean square for the nth stratum where

$$\bar{y}_h = \frac{1}{n_h} \sum_{j=1}^{n_h} y_{hj} \text{ and } s_h^2 = \frac{1}{n_h - 1} \sum_{j=1}^{n_h} (y_{hj} - \bar{y}_h)^2.$$

Unbiased estimator for the population mean  $\overline{Y}$ and the population total Y are given by

$$\hat{\vec{Y}} = \bar{y}_{\mathrm{st}} = \sum_{h=1}^{L} W_h \bar{y}_h$$
 and  $\hat{Y} = N \bar{y}_{\mathrm{st}}$ ,

and their estimated variances are given by

$$\hat{V}(\bar{y}_{st}) = \sum_{h=1}^{L} W_h^2 (1 - f_h) \frac{s_n^2}{n_h} \ \hat{V}(N\bar{y}_{st}) = N^2 \hat{V}(\bar{y}_{st}),$$

where  $f_h = \frac{n_h}{N_h}$ .

## Allocation of Sample Size to Different Strata

Three methods of allocation of sample size to various strata in the population are given below:

- 1. *Equal allocation*: Total sample size is divided equally among the strata, that is, sample  $n_h$  to be selected from *h*th stratum such that  $n_h = n/L$ .
- Proportional allocation: In proportional allocation, n<sub>h</sub> ∞ (proportional to ) N<sub>h</sub>, that is, N<sub>h</sub> = nW<sub>h</sub>; h = 1, 2, 3, ..., P.
- 3. *Optimum allocation*: This is based on minimization of  $V(\bar{y}_{st})$  under a given cost C'. The simplest cost function is of the form  $C = C_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{p} C_h n_h$ , where  $C_0$  is the overhead cost,  $C_h$  is the cost of sampling a unit from the *h*th stratum, and *C* is the total cost. To solve this problem, we have

$$n_h = (C' - C_0) \frac{W_h S_h / \sqrt{C_h}}{\sum\limits_{h=1}^{L} W_h S_h \sqrt{C_h}}$$

h = 1, 2, 3, ..., L, where  $S_h^2$  is the population mean square for the *h*th stratum.

A particular case arises when  $C_h = C''$ , that is, if the cost per unit is the same in all the strata. In this case,

$$n_h = n \frac{W_h S_h}{\sum\limits_{h=1}^{L} W_h S_h} = n \frac{N_h S_h}{\sum\limits_{h=1}^{L} N_h S_h}.$$

This allocation is also known as *Neyman* allocation.

Stratified random sampling gives more representative sample, that is, more accuracy in sampling and efficient estimation of population parameters. However, it is more costly than simple random sampling and involves complicated analysis and estimation procedure.

## 6.2.1.4 Systematic Sampling

In this method of sampling, only the first unit is selected with the help of a random number, and the rest of the units of the sample get selected automatically according to some predesigned pattern. Suppose there are 500 population units numbered from 1 to 500 in some order and we want to draw a sample size of 50, We have  $500 = 50 \times 10$ , where 50 is the sample size and 10 is an integer; let a random number less than or equal to "10" be selected and every 10th unit thereafter; such a procedure is termed linear systematic sampling. If  $N \neq nk$ , where N = population size, n = sample size, and k =an integer, and every kth unit is included in a circular manner till the whole list is exhausted, it will be called *circular* systematic sampling. Systematic sampling is used in various surveys like in census work, forest surveys, milk yield surveys, and fisheries.

### 6.2.1.5 Cluster Sampling

When the population is very wide or big, say for countrywide survey, it may not be feasible to take sample units directly from the population itself. Moreover, this type of sampling is used when the population size is very large, and stratification is also not feasible to the best possible way because of nonavailability of full information on each and every element of the population. Resource constraint is also a major factor. In such cases, auxiliary/secondary information like block list, village list, and subdivision lists is used in probability sampling. In cluster sampling, the whole population is divided into a number of clusters, each consisting of several sampling units. Cluster size may definitely vary from cluster to cluster. Then some clusters are selected at



random out of all the clusters. Clusters need not necessarily be natural aggregates; these may be virtual or hypothetical or artificial also, like grids in the map. The best size of cluster depends on the cost of collecting information from the clusters and the resulting variance. The objective is to reduce both the cost and variance, and for that we can have a pilot survey also, if felt necessary.

Cluster sampling is useful where listing of population units is not available; for example, in a crop survey, the list of plots may not be available, but the list of villages may be available. Here, villages will be treated as clusters similarly. In animal husbandry, the list of cattle may not be available, but the list of rearers may be available. In such case, rearers will be considered as clusters.

A population of *NM* units is divided into *N* clusters having *M* units each. Let  $Y_{ij}$  be the value of the character *y* under study for *j*th observation corresponding to *i*th cluster (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., N and j = 1, 2, 3, ..., M). The population mean  $\overline{Y}$  is defined as

$$\bar{Y} = \frac{1}{NM} \sum_{i}^{N} \sum_{j}^{M} Y_{ij} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \bar{Y}_{i},$$

where  $\bar{Y}_i$  is the *i*th cluster mean. A sample of *n* clusters is drawn with SRSWOR, and all the units in the selected clusters are surveyed. An unbiased estimator of the population mean  $\bar{Y}$  is given by

$$\hat{\bar{Y}}_c = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{y}_i,$$

and its estimated variance is

$$\hat{V}\left(\hat{\bar{Y}}_{c}\right) = \frac{N-n}{N}\frac{s_{b}^{2}}{n},$$

where  $\bar{y}_i = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{j=1}^{M} y_{ij}$  = mean for the *i*th selected cluster and  $s_b^2 = \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \bar{y}_i - \hat{Y}_c \right)^2$ 

#### 6.2.1.6 Multistage Sampling

Multistage sampling is the extension of clustering in more than one stage. Instead of taking blocks/ villages directly as clusters, one may take districts at the first stage, then blocks/villages from the selected districts and farmers from the villages, etc. Thus, districts are the first stage units (fsu) (or primary stage units (psu)), blocks/villages are the second stage units, and farmers are the third stage units or the respondents. A multistage sampling is a two-stage/three-stage, etc., sampling depending upon the number of stages or clusters. If one is interested in counting the number of grains per panicle in a wheat field experiment, a three-stage sampling with individual hills as the "fsu" and individual panicles as the "ssu" and grains in panicle as "tsu" for sampling may be used.

Multistage sampling is very flexible. The whole process depends on the expertise of the supervisor. For two-stage sampling with a population divided into *N* first stage units and having *M* second stage units in each; the population mean  $\bar{Y} = \frac{1}{NM} \sum_{i}^{N} \sum_{j}^{M} Y_{ij} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \bar{Y}_{i}$ . If a sample of *n* fsu is selected from *N* fsu with SRSWOR and a sample of *m* ssu is selected from each selected fsu with SRSWOR, then an unbiased estimator for  $\bar{Y}$  is given by

$$\hat{\bar{Y}}_t = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \overline{y}_i \text{ with its estimated variance}$$
$$\hat{V}\left(\hat{\bar{Y}}_t\right) = (1 - f_1) \frac{s_b^2}{n} + \frac{f_1(1 - f_2)}{nm} s_2^2,$$

where

$$\bar{y}_i = \frac{1}{m} \sum_{j=1}^m y_{ij}, \quad s_b^2 = \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^n \left( \bar{y}_i - \hat{Y}_i \right)^2 \text{ and}$$
$$s_2^2 = \frac{1}{n(m-1)} \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m \left( y_{ij} - \bar{y}_i \right)^2, \ f_1 = \frac{n}{N}, f_2 = \frac{m}{M}$$

## 6.2.1.7 Multiphase and Double (Two-Phase) Sampling

Sampling in two or more phases is known as twophase or multiphase sampling. This is another



way of tackling the large population. The usual procedure is to take a large sample of size "n'" from the population of N units to observe the x-values of the auxiliary character and to estimate the population parameter (say mean), while a subsample of size "n" is drawn from "n'" to study the character under consideration.

Let the problem be the selection of a sample of families with probability proportional to income. But the problem is that we do not have any information on the income of the families. We can take an initial random sample of families having varied income and collect information on their incomes; then a subsample is taken from the initial sample with probability proportional to the size of income. This will serve as the test sample for the character under study from a selected sample on the basis of family income.

Thus, in multiphase sampling, every sample is obtained from previous sample.

Multiphase sampling should not be confused with multistage sampling. In multistage sampling, the sampling units at each stage are the clusters of units of the next stage, and the ultimate observable units are selected in stages, sampling at each stage being done from each of the sampling units or clusters selected in the previous stage.

Multiphase or double sampling is very flexible and valuable for survey purpose, particularly where the auxiliary information may not be available always. But it is tedious, monotonous, and less accurate.

In many situations, the population mean  $\bar{X}$  of an auxiliary character x is known. Then the ratio estimator for  $\bar{Y}$  is given by  $\bar{y}_R = \frac{\bar{y}}{\bar{x}}\bar{X}$ , where  $\bar{y}$  and  $\bar{x}$  are sample means of the characters yand x, respectively, based on a sample of size ndrawn with SRSWOR. It may happen that  $\bar{X}$  is not known and in this case, the ratio of estimation cannot be used to estimate the population mean  $\bar{Y}$ . The usual procedure in such a situation is to use the technique known as two-phase or double sampling. A preliminary random sample without replacement (SRSWOR) of size n' is taken as the information on x is collected. A subsample of size n' is drawn (SRSWOR) from n' and information on y is measured. The ratio estimator for  $\overline{Y}$  based on double sampling is given by

$$\bar{y}_{\rm Rd} = \frac{\bar{y}}{\bar{x}} \bar{x}',$$

where  $\bar{x}$  and  $\bar{y}$  are subsample means of x and y, respectively, and  $\bar{x'}$  is the sample mean in the first sample. It is noted that  $\bar{y}_{Rd}$  is biased and the estimator of  $V(\bar{y}_{Rd})$  to the first-order approximation is given by

$$\hat{V}(\bar{y}_{\mathrm{Rd}}) = \left(\frac{1}{n'} - \frac{1}{N}\right)s_y^2 + \left(\frac{1}{n} - \frac{1}{n'}\right)$$
$$\left(s_y^2 + \hat{R}^2 s_x^2 - 2\hat{R}s_{yx}\right)$$

where  $\hat{R} = \frac{\bar{y}}{\bar{x}}, s_{yx} = \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \bar{y})(x_i - \bar{x})$ 

#### 6.2.1.8 Sampling in Two Occasions

In agriculture, plant characters are commonly measured at different growth stages of the crop. For example, tiller number in rice may be measured at 30, 60, 90, and 120 days after transplanting or at the tillering, flowering, and harvesting stages. If such measurements are made on the same plants at all stages of observation, the resulting data may be biased because plants that are subjected to frequent handling may behave differently from others. In this situation, if sampling on successive occasions is done according to a specific rule, with partial replacement of sampling units, it is known as *rotation sampling*.

On the first occasion, a SRSWOR sample "s" of size "n" is selected from a population of "N" units; on the second occasion, a SRSWOR sample "s<sub>1</sub>" of "m" units from "s" and a SRSWOR sample "s<sub>2</sub>" of "u" (= n - m) units from the (N - n) units in the population not included in "s" are selected. The estimate for the population mean  $\bar{Y}_2$  on the second occasion is given by  $\hat{Y}_2 = W\bar{y}_{2n} + (1 - W)\bar{y}'_{2m}$ 

where 
$$\bar{y}_{2n} = \sum_{s_2} \frac{y_{2i}}{u}$$
 and  $\bar{y}'_{2m} = \bar{y}_{2m} - b(\bar{y}_{1m} - b)$ 

 $\bar{y}_{1n}$ ) are the simple mean for  $\bar{Y}_2$  based on the replaced (unmatched) portion and the regression estimator for  $\bar{Y}_2$  based on the matched portion,

المتساركة للاستشارات

respectively, *b* being the sample regression coefficient of  $y_2$  on  $y_1$  based on matched part of  $s_1$ , *W* being a constant, and  $\bar{y}_{1h} = \sum_s \frac{y_{1i}}{n}$ ,  $\bar{y}_{hm} =$ 

$$\sum_{s_1} yhi/m, \ (h=1,2)$$

The alternatives to the above scheme are the schemes based on (1) *complete matching* (i.e., retaining the sample of the first occasion to the second occasion completely) or (2) *complete replacement* (i.e., drawing a single independent sample at the second occasion and taking the sample mean as the estimator of  $\overline{Y_2}$  in both cases). The partial matching procedure is better than the other two procedures; for all practical purposes, one should retain 25–30% units at the second occasion for the gain in the efficiency.

#### 6.2.1.9 Inverse Sampling

Inverse sampling is generally used for the estimation of a rare population and is a method of sampling in which the drawing of a sample unit continues until certain specified conditions dependent on the results of those drawings have been fulfilled, for example, until a given number of individuals of specified type have emerged. For example, if we want to draw a sample of population affected by pox disease in which at least "k" has been affected by "chicken pox," while doing so, we do not know about the exact size of the sample because unless and otherwise we have "k" number of persons affected by chicken pox, the drawing will continue and the sample size will go on increasing. Thus, though costly and time and labor- consuming, this sampling gives due weightage to rare elements in the population.

Let P denote the proportion of units in the population possessing the rare attribute under study. Therefore, NP number of units in the population will possess the rare attributes. To estimate P, units are drawn one by one with SRSWOR. Sampling is discontinued as soon as the number of units in the sample possessing the rare attribute (a predetermined number, m) is reached. Let us denote by n the number of units required to be drawn in the sample to obtain m units possessing the rare attribute. An unbiased estimator of P is given by

$$\widehat{P} = \frac{m-1}{n-1}$$

and an unbiased estimator of the variance of  $\hat{P}$  is

$$\hat{V}(\hat{P}) = \frac{\hat{P}(1-\hat{P})}{(n-2)} \left[ 1 - \frac{n-1}{N} \right].$$

## 6.2.1.10 Sampling Technique for Rapid Assessment (STRA)

In exigencies like flood, diseases, tsunami, and Aila, we may not get enough time, money, or manpower to undertake a usual sampling technique, but in any way, we need a reliable estimate on some population parameters like damage of crops, houses, cattle, and human lives in a very short time so that the next suitable steps may be taken. Thus, to obtain an estimate of the total area damaged due to the outbreak of a particular pest in block, one may select "n" points ("n" being small, say, n = 15) haphazardly at different locations and calculate the mean intensity of outbreak from a rectangular area of, say, A = $5 \times 5 \text{ m}^2$  at these points. Let  $I_1, \ldots, I_n$  be the intensities of pest infestation in these "n" pseudorandomly selected rectangles and  $\bar{I} = \frac{1}{n}$  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} I_i$  be the sample mean. Then the estimated infestation would be

$$\hat{M} = \left(\frac{A}{a}\right)\bar{I} \tag{7.1}$$

where A is the area (in  $m^2$ ) under the block.



To obtain the rapid estimate of the intensity of a disease in a crop field, one may locate "*n*" subplots (say n = 9 one each in every direction and one at center) in a pseudorandom manner, each plot being a square of the same area, say, "*a*." The square may be of side 1 or 2 m. Let  $p_i$ be the damaged proportion of the crop in the *I*th plot, I = 1, ..., n. Then  $\bar{p} = \left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i$  would be the required estimate. The total area damaged in the field would be estimated as  $\hat{A}_p = \left(\frac{A}{a}\right)\bar{p}$ 

where *A* is the area of the field. The estimated variance would be

$$v(\hat{A}_p) = \left(\frac{A}{a}\right)^2 v(\bar{p}).$$

The sampling techniques for rapid assessment (STRA) may also be used for obtaining estimates of the yields of various crops.

#### 6.2.2 Non-probability Sampling

1. *Quota Sampling*: Each interviewer is assigned to interview a fixed number of respondents (quota) that are taken as representation of the whole sample.

If these are different groups in a population and a sample is drawn in such a way that a fixed number of units from different groups required to be included in that sample, say,  $n_1$ ,  $n_2$ , ...,  $n_i$  from the *i*th group to provide random sample of size  $n = n_1+n_2+...+n_i$ . But these  $n_1, n_2, ..., n_i$  number of units are selected by the interviewer in a nonrandom fashion.

This procedure of sampling is less costly, is convenient, does not require any sampling frame, and gives quick reply. But as has been mentioned earlier, it is criticized heavily because of its nonrandom selection of elements. The success of the entire procedure depends on the skill and personal efficiency of the interviewer.

2. Judgment Sampling: Basic to this type of sampling is to select a sample of desired size, giving priority to the purpose of the study, and the elements of the sample are selected in such a way so as to fulfill the objective of the study. This method is the simplest but may lead to biased and inefficient sample depending upon the efficiency of the investigator.

- 3. *Purposive Sampling*: The selection of elements to be included in the sample is entirely made on the basis of the choice of the researcher. Though easy to operate, it gives hardly a representation of the parent population and as such the results are biased and unsatisfactory.
- 4. *Snowball Sampling*: In researches, particularly in the field of social studies, related to sensitive issues like drug abuse and HIV victims in which the respondents are very much hesitant because of social taboos, reasons, or otherwise, this type of sampling is very useful. In this type of study, the researcher finds out initially one or two or a few respondents for the study purpose and then takes the help of these respondents to find more and more respondents on specific aspects. This is because of the fact that this type of respondents may be hesitant to present themselves when approached by a stranger rather than a fellow friend. Thus, in this type of studies, size of sample goes on increasing as one gets more and more number of respondents.
- 5. Accidental Sampling: This type of sampling is mostly used in evaluative types of research studies. Suppose one wants to know the extent of adoption of a particular technology, say, birth control program/hybrid rice technology in a certain community. In this method of selecting the respondents, the researchers/interviewers take information from the respondents who happen to meet the researchers first, and in the process, the researchers may take information

from the first 100 respondents whom the researchers/interviewers have met and who are willing to share information. Samples collected in this process are subject to biasness, and the only way to overcome the bias is to conduct parallel studies.

## 6.3 Execution of the Sampling Plan

A good sampling plan is an "essential" condition for the study to be undertaken, but it is not sufficient to have a good sample leading to efficient and accurate estimation of the population parameter. It is necessary to have a "good" sampling plan suitable for the study followed by the "efficient execution" of the sampling plan. A "good" sampling plan, if not executed properly, may give "bad" (unreliable, inaccurate) results, leading to wastage of entire time, energy, and money used for the investigation. For the efficient execution of the sampling plan, the investigator responsible for the data collection must possess the necessary qualifications. They must be properly trained before the data collection. They must be taught how to handle the equipment and to make correct observations and measurements and note them down carefully. A proper supervision of the fieldwork is a must, and scrutiny and editing of the collected data is essential. Precautions must be taken to identify the sample units, in specifying the units(s) of measurements at various stages, and to minimize the error in recording the data. Pilot survey may be undertaken to select the suitable sampling plan among the alternative plans. An efficient execution of sampling plan cannot only reduce both the sampling and non-sampling errors but also helps in reducing the cost of the study.


Table 6.7
 Random number table

		00-04	05-09	10-14	15-19	20-24	25-29	30-34	35–39	40-44	45–49
	00	54463	22662	65905	70639	79365	67382	29085	69831	47058	08186
	01	15389	85205	18850	39226	42249	90669	96325	23248	60933	26927
	02	85941	40756	82414	02015	13858	78030	16269	65978	01385	15345
	03	61149	69440	11286	88218	58925	03638	52862	62733	33451	77455
	04	05219	81619	10651	67079	92511	59888	84502	72095	83463	75577
	05	41417	98326	87719	92294	46614	50948	64886	20002	97365	30976
	06	28357	94070	20652	35774	16249	75019	21145	05217	47286	76305
	07	17783	00015	10806	83091	91530	36466	39981	62481	49177	75779
	08	40950	84820	29881	85966	62800	70326	84740	62660	77379	90279
	09	82995	64157	66164	41180	10089	41757	78258	96488	88629	37231
	10	96754	17675	55659	44105	47361	34833	86679	23930	53249	27083
	11	34357	88040	53364	71726	45690	66334	60332	22554	90600	71113
	$\frac{11}{12}$	06318	37403	49927	57715	50423	67372	63116	48888	21505	80182
	13	62111	52820	07243	79931	89292	84767	85693	73947	21303	11551
	$\frac{13}{14}$	47534	09243	67879	00544	23410	12740	02540	54440	32949	13491
	15	98614	75003	84460	62846	59844	14922	48730	73443	48167	34770
	$\frac{15}{16}$	24856	03648	44898	09351	08705	18644	39765	71058	90368	44104
	10	06887	12470	80621	66222	86085	78285	02422	52242	12846	04771
	17	00801	21479	42815	77408	27200	76766	52615	22141	20268	18106
	10	55165	77212	92666	26028	28420	70210	91260	41042	17266	41067
	$\frac{19}{20}$	75001	12052	03000	05108	72205	64620	01219	41945 00070	4/300	<u>41007</u> <u>95426</u>
	$\frac{20}{21}$	16777	27116	59550	42058	21460	42010	91516	09072	43575	10620
	$\frac{21}{22}$	16777	3/110	28330	42938	21400	43910	011/3	02164	09656	50227
	22	40230	438//	80207	01422	04710	32992	91380	60127	98030	12110
	$\frac{23}{24}$	42902	00892	40154	28020	94/10	23474	20425	10774	00009	13119
	24	81007	00333	51111	28039	10154	95425	39220	197/4	31/82	49037
	25	08089	01122	51111	12373	06902	/43/3	96199	9/01/	412/3	21546
	26	20411	6/081	89950	16944	93054	8/68/	96693	8/236	//054	33848
	27	58212	13160	06468	15/18	82627	76999	05999	58680	96739	63700
	28	70577	42866	24969	61210	76046	67699	42054	12696	93758	03283
	29	94522	74358	71659	62038	79643	79169	44741	05437	39038	13163
	30	42626	86819	85651	88678	17401	03252	99547	32404	17918	62880
	31	16051	33763	57194	16752	54450	19031	58580	47629	54132	60631
	32	08244	27647	33851	44705	94211	46716	11738	55784	95374	72655
	33	59497	04392	09419	89964	51211	04894	72882	17805	21896	83864
	34	97155	13428	40293	09985	58434	01412	69124	82171	59058	82859
	35	98409	66162	95763	47420	20792	61527	20441	39435	11859	41567
	36	45476	84882	65109	96597	25930	66790	65706	61203	53634	22557
	37	89300	69700	50741	30329	11658	23166	05400	66669	48708	03887
	38	50051	95137	91631	66315	91428	12275	24816	68091	71710	33258
	39	31753	85178	31310	89642	98364	02306	24617	09609	83942	22716
	40	79152	53829	77250	20190	56535	18760	69942	77448	33278	48805
	41	44560	38750	83635	56540	64900	42915	13953	79149	18710	48805
	42	68328	83378	63369	71381	39564	05615	42451	64559	97501	65747
	43	46939	38689	58625	08342	30459	85863	20781	09284	26333	91777
	44	83544	86141	15707	96256	23068	13782	08467	89469	93842	55349
	45	91621	00881	04900	54224	46177	55309	17852	27491	89415	23466
	46	91621	00881	04900	54224	46177	55309	17852	27491	89415	23466
	47	55751	62515	21108	80830	02263	29303	37204	96926	30506	09808
	48	85156	87689	954963	88842	00664	55017	55539	17771	69448	87530
	49	07521	56898	12236	60277	39102	62315	12239	07105	11844	01117
راك	) lunn	، فرسد									

# **Collection of Data**

Research is a process of knowing the unknown things for the betterment of humanity. In the process, explorations of the different sources of information are carried out by a researcher to expose the so long unexposed truth. Thus, information is the prerequisite for achieving the objectives of any research program. Information may be qualitative or quantitative/numerical. Data refers to different kinds of numerical information. In any research program, a researcher is always in search of a suitable mechanism/process for the collection of information. Thus, data collection plays a vital role in any research program. Depending upon the research design, in particular, the objective of a research program and the types of information required are fixed. The next task is data collection. Depending upon the sources of information, data may be (1) primary or (2) secondary.

1. Primary Data

Primary data are those data which are collected by a researcher afresh and for the first time with specific research objectives in mind. Thus, primary data are original in nature.

2. Secondary Data

Secondary data are those data which are collected by someone, an agency, an organization, etc., but are being used by some other users. So secondary data are not collected by a user himself/herself; rather the user is using the information generated by some other users.

Weather data is the primary data to the department of meteorology, as a part of their mandatory duties, but when this meteorological information is used by any researcher as an auxiliary or supportive information to facilitate the findings of a research program, then this data becomes secondary. Secondary information might have undergone a thorough statistical process to some extent. But primary data are raw in nature; that's why sometimes these are known as raw data, which definitely require processing. As a result, the methods of collection of these two types of data differ significantly. In case of primary data, the method for collection is required, whereas in secondary data, it requires a mere compilation.

# 7.1 Methods of Collection of Primary Data

As it has already been mentioned, the primary data are original in nature and collected with specific objectives in mind. Thus, the methods of the collection of primary data play a vital role in a research process. It requires an efficient planning and execution. Depending upon the type of a research design, primary data may be obtained from experimental fields or through a survey type of study. Experiment is an investigation to explore the hidden fact under the objectives. On the other hand, in a descriptive type of research, the information is collected through a sample survey technique or a census survey method from the existing area under study. Among the several methods of collection of primary data, the following methods are mostly used: (a) observation

*method*, (b) *interview method*, (c) *questionnaire method*, (d) *schedule method*, and (e) *other methods*.

# 7.1.1 Observation Method

In an observation method, data can be collected from structured experiments as well as from descriptive research studies. Though it is commonly used in behavioral/social sciences, it has also an ample application in experimental sciences. The power of observation in a scientific research program may lead to an icebreaking discovery. Observation is a planned, carefully and thoughtfully selected method of data collection. A scientific method of observation can result accurate findings and conclusions. In observation, a researcher can observe the elements under study even without asking anything. If observation is taken accurately, then subjective bias may also get reduced. While applying the observation method of data collection, a researcher should keep in mind (a) what to observe, (b) how observations are required to be noted, (c) how to ensure the accuracy of the information, and so on. Observations can be of two kinds: (a) structured observation and (b) unstructured observation. In a structured observation, the definition of units to be observed, the style of observation, the method of recording, the standardization of condition of data collection and selection of the pertinent data of observation, etc., are all settled well ahead of data collection. On the other hand, when data collection takes place without the above characteristics thought/settled in advance, then the process is known as unstructured observations. Generally the structured observation process is used in a descriptive type of studies, whereas the unstructured observations are mostly used in an exploratory type of research.

Depending upon the participation or nonparticipation of a researcher/investigator/enumerator, the observation methods of data collection can again be divided into *participant* and *nonparticipant* methods. In a participant method of observation, the observer (i.e., the researcher/the investigator/enumerator) acts as a member of a



group in which he/she shares his/her experiences. Thus, in the participant method, the added advantage is that the observer can extract information which were not thought earlier but may be found suitable while discussing. Nonparticipant observation method of data collection leads the observer to record the feelings/experiences of others maybe without disclosing the identity. As such, this method is also known as *disguised* observation. In a disguised method of observation, participants are free to exchange their experiences without being cautious by the presence of an investigator. But in the process, the investigator may not be in a position to ask for any additional explanation or experience arising out of discussion. Both participant and nonparticipant observation methods are applicable in social as well as experimental studies.

Observation methods of data collection may again be grouped into controlled and uncontrolled observations. When observations are recorded in accordance with the prearranged plans of the observer, which involves experimental procedures, the observation is known as controlled observation. On the other hand, in an uncontrolled observation, the observations take place in normal natural orders, without requiring any preplan for the recording of the observations. In social sciences, particularly in the studies of human behavior, uncontrolled observations provide natural and complete behavior of the human being/society. These are mostly applicable in an exploratory type of a research study. Control observation mostly takes place in laboratory or field experiments.

## 7.1.2 Interview Method

This is one of the most common methods of data collection, particularly in social and behavioral sciences. Oral communication is the main theme behind such method. Different questions, sometimes called stimuli are presented, to the respondents to record their responses. Interviews can broadly be classified into three categories: *personal interview, telephonic interview, and chatting*.

### 7.1.2.1 Personal Interview

In a personal interview method of data collection, a researcher or an interviewer generally asks some questions and notes down the respondent's responses, while in a direct personal interview method, an interviewer collects the information directly from the respondent. This is comparatively easy, and data collection takes place then and there. But, in some cases, it may not be possible to contact directly the person concerned due to various reasons; in such cases, indirect oral examinations can be conducted and of course followed by cross-examinations from other persons who have sufficient knowledge about the problem under investigation. An indirect method of interview is mostly useful if respondents are high profile in nature or are members of the commission and committee appointed by the government for specific investigations.

A personal interview can again be *structured* and unstructured. As usual, a structured personal interview is concerned with the use of a set of predetermined questions with standardized technique of data recording. These are mostly useful in descriptive and experimental type of research studies. An unstructured personal interview method is characterized by a freestyle approach of an investigator for getting the answers to questions as per situations the investigator finds them suitable. In this process, the investigator has a greater freedom to include and exclude some of the answers and also to inquire some relevant supplementary questions if he/she found them suitable. The unstructured personal interview method depends greatly on the capability of an interviewer for its success. In an exploratory type of research or a formulative type of studies, an unstructured personal interview is mostly useful.

Interview is a method of exposing the hidden factors at the heart of the respondent. The skill and capability of an interviewer greatly influence the outcome of an interview. In many of the situations, a specific and skilled interviewer is required to conduct the process. As such interviews can further be classified into three categories: (a) *focus interview*, (b) *clinical*  interview, and (c) nondirective interviews. In a focus interview methods, an interviewer is free to design and prepare a sequence of questions. Mostly this is a conversation-based interview in which an interviewer concentrates in getting information from the respondent about the subject in which the respondent has enough experience. Clinical interview is concerned with the recording of information about the feelings and opinions of individuals about their experiences in their own lives, whereas in a nondirective interview method, information on a particular aspect is recorded from the respondents. In this method, the work of an interviewer is to stimulate the respondent to go on talking about his/her feelings, beliefs, and experiences on a particular aspect.

### Merits and Demerits of Personal Interview

Though a personal interview is an excellent method of data collection, particularly in the field of social studies and behavioral sciences, it has certain advantages and weaknesses. There is a saying that "if there is a challenge, then face it." A personal interview method of data collection is such an activity which inspires researchers not only face the challenges of solving burning problem of the society but also collect the information for the purpose. Though a personal interview method is a challenging task to an interviewer or a researcher, it has still the following advantages:

- 1. More and more information at a greater depth could be obtained.
- By overcoming the resistance, if any, during the recording of information, an interviewer or researcher can lead to yield a perfect information bank.
- 3. Flexibility is the beauty of a personal interview method.
- 4. The factors of nonresponse, nonreturned, and ill response can be minimized.
- 5. Because of greater interactions, an interviewer develops a greater confidence on human behavior.
- 6. With the help of charisma, greater acceptability, and capability, newer dimension of research may also be worked out.



65

- 7. Both the interviewer and respondent become further educated.
- 8. Misinterpretation could be avoided.

In spite of the above strengths, there are also certain weaknesses of a personal interview method of data collection:

- 1. It is very expensive and time consuming, particularly when the area of study is big.
- 2. The whole method of a personal interview depends on the quality of an interviewer. As such for a big study, one needs to employ a number of interviewers, wherein they differ among themselves and thereby causing differences in the quality of information.
- 3. Nonresponse from potential respondents like higher officials in the government/private machineries is one of the major problems with this type of interview.
- 4. The presence of an interviewer may overstimulate or may cause shyness to the respondent, thereby hampering the quality of the data.
- 5. Selecting, providing training, and supervising an interviewer are the challenging tasks of a researcher.

### **Criteria for Better Interviewing**

- An interviewer should be selected carefully; only those persons who are well acquainted and honest and have the intelligence to capture the essence of the interview should be selected for this purpose.
- A selected interviewer should be trained adequately so that there would be no ambiguity arises in understanding the questions and the expected responses.
- An interviewer should be well behaved, honest, sincere, hard working, and impartial. Interviewing is an art of extracting the inner heart of the respondent.
- 4. An interviewer must enjoy the confidence and faith of the respondent.
- 5. An interviewer's approach must be friendly, courteous, conversational, and unbiased.
- 6. An interviewer should refrain from asking undesirable and unwarranted questions.

7. An interviewer should always try to create an atmosphere of mutual understanding, belief, and faith.

# 7.1.2.2 Telephonic Interview

With the advancement of communication technology, telephonic interview is gaining momentum. An interviewer should contact a respondent over a telephone. Telephonic methods of interviews include phone calls, SMS, and emails. Respondents are asked to provide a suitable time slot during which they could be talked over the telephone. During the interview, questions are asked and responses may be noted or recorded; the process facilitates the interview of the respondents at different places at different times. Short message service (SMS) and multimedia message service (MMS) are also used for interviewing over telephones, and an interview may also be conducted through emails. Questionnaires can be sent as an email attachment to which the respondent replied. Like the other methods, a telephonic interviewing method has merits and demerits.

# Merits

- 1. It is faster than any conventional method of personal interviewing or data collections through questionnaires or schedules.
- 2. It is cost-efficient.
- 3. It is easily manageable, no questions of training or supervising the field staff, etc.
- 4. People located at distant places over the world may be contacted for the purpose of the interview.
- 5. It is lesser time consuming than the other methods.
- 6. Telephonic interview can be recorded.

### Demerits

- 1. All intended respondents may not have a telephone connection.
- 2. Sometimes it is difficult to collect the telephone numbers of all potential respondents.
- 3. Respondents may refuse to response without facing the interviewers.

- 4. If the survey is comprehensive in nature and requires much time, the method may not be a suitable one.
- 5. For a telephonic interview, questions must be short and to the point; this may prove sometimes difficult to handle.
- Time provided to answer the question is comparatively limited.

### 7.1.2.3 Chatting

With the increasing use of Internet facilities, chatting has become the most popular way of communicating among people. Various common interest groups have come into existence, taking advantage of the facilities. Simply chatting or video chatting helps more than one person, sitting at distant places all over the world, to communicate their ideas, thoughts, and beliefs instantly. This type of interviewing, particularly the video chatting, is as good as personal interviewing method of data collection. As such, the competence of an interviewer not only over the subject under study but also the communication technology plays a great role on the successful completion of a process. This type of interviewing is very fast and has almost all the merits of telephonic methods of data collection. One of the most demerits of this method is that each and every respondent is required to be a member of the group for which an interview is to be conducted. The disturbances during the conversations or chatting may cause additional problems in this method. However, with the advancement of technology, this type of interviewing is bound to gain momentum day by day. In business and corporate sectors, this type of interviewing is highly appreciated. In many corporate sectors, employers recruit their employees through telephonic or chatting interviewing methods.

# 7.1.3 Questionnaire Method

One of the most conventional methods of data collection, particularly in wider areas having big inquiries, is the questionnaire method of primary



data collection. In this method, a questionnaire is prepared befitting to the objective of the study and sent generally by post to the respondents with a request to answer the questionnaires. Nowadays, questions are also sent via an email attachment using Internet facilities. The respondents are expected to read the questions and answer them. During the framing of the questionnaire, the questions may be set in a sequential order. The researcher sets the questions in such a way that the respondent can have an idea about the logical sequences and chronology of the questions. This is known as structured questionnaire. The questionnaire can also be nonstructured, that is, following no sequence. This may lead to problems in understanding the questions by the respondent. Questionnaires may be disguised or nondisguised in nature. In a disguised questionnaire method, the objective of the questionnaire is not clearly spelt out, whereas in a nondisguised questionnaire method, the objective of the study is made clear to the respondent. Like other methods of collecting information, a questionnaire method has also certain advantages and disadvantages. The success of this method, though, depends on the ability of a researcher to frame the questionnaires and the cooperation from the respondent. The following are some of the merits and demerits of questionnaire method:

### Merits

- 1. Most useful in comprehensive study.
- 2. Interviewer's biases are reduced.
- 3. In the absence of an interviewer, the answers of the respondents are free in nature.
- 4. Sufficient times are provided to the respondent.
- 5. Questionnaire can be sent to any phone number of respondents in any part of the world.

### Demerits

- 1. This method of data collection does not apply to uneducated or illiterate respondents.
- 2. It is time consuming.
- 3. Lengthy questionnaires may bore the respondent and thereby reducing the number of responses.

- 4. Postal delay may lead to ill response.
- 5. The response of the respondent may not be accurate.
- 6. The possibility of getting more information like that of an interview method is reduced.

For a data collection method to be successful, researchers dealing with the questionnaire should pay attention to the following features: (1) introducing letter, (2) the size of the questionnaires, (3) sequence of questions, (4) simplicity, (5) clarity, (6) nonpersonal, and (7) pretesting.

Each and every questionnaire should reach to the respondent with a request from the researcher in a very humble approach clearly mentioning the need for the study and the help needed from the respondent. The size of the questionnaire is a matter of great concern. In the present and fastmoving world, time is precious to each and every one. If one gets very lengthy questionnaire, the respondent gets bored. The question should be kept as minimal as possible. Repetitions and unnecessary questions should be avoided. Questions should be framed in a logical sequence so that both the respondent and the researcher become very much clear about each other with respect to the objective of the study vis-a-vis the questions framed. Questions should be framed in a free-flowing sequence. If the sequencing of the questions is such that the respondent may get confused, then their immediate reflection will be in how to answer the questions. Simplicity in language and communication is the art of framing a good questionnaire. A researcher should communicate to the respondent in a very simple and sober manner using simple language. The simpler the language, the easier is the way to reach the respondent. Any ambiguous question should be avoided. Question should be very short, simple, and informative. Clarity in the nature of questioning is the most important factor in getting an actual response. The degree of clarity of the questions asked and their wordings are the most important things. Questions should be easily understood; it should convey only one message at a time. The researcher should try to avoid asking any personal questions which may make the respondent hesitant in answering those questions.



Questions related to personal income, income tax paid, sale tax paid, and extramarital relationship should be avoided. Asking personal information greatly influences the overall response of the respondent. As such, personal questions if at all required to be asked should be placed at the end of the questionnaire. Instructions in filling out the questionnaire will provide an additional advantage to the respondent and may encourage him/her to respond positively to the request of the researcher. The researcher should clearly clarify the code, groups, or other special notations used in the questionnaire. A declaration on the part of the researcher stating that the information provided by the respondent should be kept confidential and should not be used for other purposes other than the purpose mentioned in the study without prior permission from the respondent may encourage the respondents in providing feedback to the questionnaires. For comprehensive and big studies, pretesting of questionnaire is essential. Pretesting of questionnaire means application of the questionnaire to a small group of respondents before it is being used for the main study. This is also known as pilot survey. There are several advantages of a pilot survey. The researcher can modify or adjust, incorporate some new questions, and delete some unwanted or nonresponsive questions based on the feedback from the pilot survey.

## 7.1.4 Schedule Method

The method of data collection through a schedule is almost similar to that method of data collection through questionnaires with a slight difference, that is, an enumerator or a researcher prepares a list of questions and takes it to the respondents to fill them in during the process/time of interviewing. While the questionnaires are being filled in by the respondents themselves, the schedule is most likely to be filled in by an enumerator or investigator. The added advantage of data collection through schedule is that the enumerator or investigator clarifies or explains the questions which seem to be difficult to answer by the respondent. The success of this

SI		
no.	Questionnaire	Schedule
1	Sent through mail	Carried by an enumerator or investigator
2	Filled in by the respondent	Filled in by an enumerator or the enumerator helps the respondent in filling in
3	No manpower is required	Trained enumerator or investigators are required
4	Cheaper or cost-effective	Costly
5	No questions of supervision is required	Enumerator or investigators are required to be supervised
6	Has more nonresponse	Has comparatively low nonresponse
7	Respondent's identify is unknown	Identity of respondent is fixed
8	May be time-consuming	Can be completed within a given time frame
9	No personal contact (in general)	Personal contact is established
10	Risk of misinformation or more wrong information is seen	Quality of information depends on the quality of the enumerator
11	Not applicable for illiterate	May be applicable for illiterate
12	Worldwide collection of information is possible	Worldwide collection of information is not possible

 Table 7.1 Differences between the questionnaire and schedule

method of data collection depends on the capability of the enumerator. The enumerator should be trained in such a way so that he/she becomes competent enough about the objective of the project and his/her duties. Though this method is time and resource consuming, a good, qualified, and capable enumerator can deliver wonderful information even beyond the scope of the research studies (Table 7.1).

# 7.1.5 Other Methods of Data Collection

Besides the above methods, there are other methods also for data collection particularly in the field of social, economic, psychometric, business, etc., studies. Among the different methods, (1) *projective method of data collection*, (2) *warranty card method*, (3) *audit method*, (4) *consumer panels*, (5) *mechanical device method*, (6) *depth interview method*, (7) *content analysis method*, and (8) *PRA method are important*.

# 7.1.5.1 Projective Method of Data Collection

It is mostly used in psychological studies to project the feelings, behaviors, and understanding of the respondents on a particular aspect. It is an indirect method of interview in which a respondent is put



in a situation wherein information about his/her personality and inner mind is extracted consciously by an interviewer but unconsciously by him. This method is mostly used in situations where the respondents are unwilling to respond to direct questions—this might be because of the fact that they have no clear-cut idea, opinion, and thought of feelings or situations where direct questioning is undesirable. There are different methods of projective techniques: (a) *word association test*, (b) *sentence completion test*, (c) *story completion test*, (d) *verbal projection test*, (e) *pictorial technique*, (f) *play technique*, (g) *quiz*, (h) *sociometry*, etc.

In a word association test, the number of disjoint words is provided to the respondent, and a response is sought about the first thought or word that the individual associates with each word. The interviewer notes the response, promotional expressions, etc., to judge the attitude of the respondents.

Instead of providing a list of words, a list of incomplete sentences is provided to the respondents with the request to complete this. Analysis of the replies serves as an indicator for the conception of the respondent about the subject and also the attitude towards it. Both the word testing and sentence completion are quick and easy to use but may not be easy to analyze numerically. Moreover, the entire success of word association and sentence completion test depends on the championship of the interviewer.

A story completion test is one step ahead of a word association and sentence completion test. A part of the story is provided to the respondent and asked to complete the same. In the process, the intention, thought, feelings, and the attitude of the respondent towards the subject of the story are recorded and analyzed.

In a verbal projection method, respondents are requested to comment on the subject about the feelings of others. For example, the question may be asked why people get married. From the answer to the question, the feelings of the people about marriage are being noted through the respondents.

In a pictorial technique, pictures of different forms, types, and subjects in series are presented to respondents, and the responses are recorded and analyzed to draw the personality structure and attitude of the respondents. There are different methods of pictorial techniques; among these, the important are (a) *thematic appreciation test (TAT)*, (b) *Rosenzweig test*, (c) *Rorschach test*, (d) *Holtzman inkblot test (HIT)*, and (e) *Tomkins–Horn picture arrangement test*.

A Play technique is the simplest form of understanding the inner feelings and the attitudes of the younger. In this method, different types of dolls (different races, different genders, different dresses, different religions, etc.) depending upon the subject of study are provided to the children or younger persons with the request to arrange these. The arrangements made by the respondents are the reflection of the state of mind, feelings, and attitude towards the society.

The different types of short questions are framed to test memorization and analytical ability of the respondents, supposing that the memorization capability and analytical ability are related to the likings, dislikings, and inner feelings of the respondents. It relates to answering the research problem: what are the subject areas in which people are interested in?

The motives of the respondents are studied to trace the flow of information and examine

كاللاستشارات

the ways in which new ideas are diffused. Sociograms are constructed to categorize the respondent into innovators, leaders, early adopters, laggards, etc.

### 7.1.5.2 Warranty Card Method

In market and business research, the warranty card method is mostly used. It is our common experience that when the consumers purchase any durable items, the post card (or in different form) size of information sheet is provided to the consumer to collect information not only about the product but also about certain other points of business interest. Analyzing the feedback from the consumer, the efficiency of the business house could be enhanced. Analyzing the feedback forms, the feelings, the attitude of the consumers, their expectations or discontent, etc., can be obtained.

### 7.1.5.3 Audit Method

There are different audit methods to know the attitudes of the consumers. Distributor or store audit method and pantry audit methods are mostly used in market and business research. Distributors or manufacturers get the retail stores audited through a salesman at a regular time interval. The information collected is used to assess the market size, market share, seasonality and cyclical behavior, trend, and so on of a particular item or a group of items. Thus, the process of auditing the retail stores by a distributor or a manufacturer is known as auditing method of data collection. Auditing is generally followed at an interval of time for a long period. In the process, one can have an idea about the impact of promotional program (if any) taken during the period of investigations. Auditing can also be made to estimate the consumption pattern of the consumersknown as *pantry audit method*. In a pantry audit method, an investigator collects the information on the types and quantities consumed of different commodities at different points of time and at different places. The same thing can also be obtained from the respondents. This type of pantry audit method of data collection can also be panel as well as one time. These methods give the

investigators huge amount of information maybe through questionnaires, personal interviews, or other methods. The only demerit is that personal preferences of the consumers may not be identified in this method or the effect of sale promotional activities may not be measured accurately.

### 7.1.5.4 Consumer Panels

A consumer panel method is a specialized type of pantry audit method. In this data collection method, the consumers or a set of consumers are studied on a regular basis. The assumption or the understanding of this method is that a selected consumer will maintain a daily detail record of his/her consumption, and the same could be made available to researchers as, and when, necessary. The consumer panel method of data collection may be transitory or continuing. In a transitory consumer panel method, information on the consumers' consumption details is taken before and after basis. That is, the information is taken from the selected consumer before introducing a particular phenomenon (sales promotional scheme like 20 % extra in biscuit packets of particular brand, etc.) and again after the occurrence of a particular phenomenon. Generally, consumers are not aware about the promotional scheme so long these are not introduced in the market. Thus, the effect of such phenomenon would be measured with such method of data collection. On the other hand, a continuing consumer panel is generally set up to study the consumer behaviors on particular aspects over a period of time. Like the market survey of consumers' good, in studies like television/radio viewership/listeners, care must be taken so that consumer panels selected for that purpose must represent the whole consumer community.

### 7.1.5.5 Mechanical Device Method

كالمك للاستشارات

As the name suggests, this is a method of collecting data through mechanical devices. Mechanical devices like camera, psychogalvanometer, motion picture camera, and audiometer are the principal devices used for general purposes. In agriculture, the instruments like leaf area meter and seed



### 7.1.5.6 Depth Interview Method

A special type of interviewing to get data is the depth interview method. Generally, this type of method is used to unearth the motives and desires of the respondents. Thus, this technique is more on psychological than mechanical one. The success of this method depends on the skills of an interviewer and the endurance of the respondents to reply to the queries, as most of depth interviews involve considerable time. The depth interviews may be projective or non-projective in nature depending upon the objective and the type of questions.

### 7.1.5.7 Content Analysis Method

It has already been mentioned that during the formulation of the subject matter of research studies, related documents are essential in the whole process. A researcher is to study and analyze the content of the documents (books, journals, magazines, Internet resources, etc.) to facilitate the whole research process. The content analysis may be a qualitative as well as quantitative one.

### 7.1.5.8 PRA and RRA Method

This method is mostly used under two situations, particularly in social sciences, when a researcher does not have a complete idea about the problems faced by the people and/or when information is needed quickly. The purpose of this method is to get an understanding and complexity of the problem rather than of getting absolutely accurate data. In this method, people participate in sharing their views, action–interaction takes place, and information is recorded.

# 7.2 Collection of Secondary Data

Secondary data are available only if required to be collated or compiled. Generally, secondary data are available from different sources like the government/private/industrial/business/research/ voluntary organizations. These are generally found in journals, booklets, books, monograms, technical reports, etc. In India, each and every state government and central government along with their different establishments publishes different data on various aspects. Before utilizing any secondary data, a researcher should be very much careful about the originality or authenticity of the data. In many of the cases, it is found that the data on the same aspect in various organizations has been reported in different ways. So the reliability, accuracy, and adoptability of the data are the most important features. The sources of secondary data may be under published or unpublished. The published data are generally available from various publications of the central/provincial/local bodies, publications of different international bodies or organizations, technical/scientific/trade journal, and books/ monographs/magazines/newspaper published by government/nongovernment/business/ various voluntary establishments. Reports and documents prepared by different research scholars, universities, and establishments also serve as good sources of secondary data. Among the unpublished sources of information are diaries, letters, biographies, autobiographies, and other relevant unpublished documents.

Before using a secondary data, a researcher must be careful whether to use or not to use the available secondary data. This can be judged on the basis of parameters like reliability, suitability, and adequacy. Reliability refers to the characteristic features of the sources of information. A researcher should be clear about the following essential points: (1) who collected the data, (2) where the data was collected, (3)what were the methods of data collection, (4) were the required methods followed properly, (5) what is the time of data collection, and (6) were the data collected at the desired level of accuracy? A researcher must be aware about the fact that whether the secondary data available are suitable for the present research purpose. That means the adoptability of the data must

be verified under the given situations. The original objective, scope, and nature of data collection must be scrutinized thoroughly.

# 7.3 Case Study

Case study refers to an in-depth study on various qualitative and quantitative aspects of a particular community, social unit, institution, etc. The main emphasis of this type of study is to study the units under considerations vertically rather than horizontally. For intensive investigation, this type of method of data collection is generally used. Minute details of the selected unit are studied intensively. Being exhaustive and intensive in nature, a case study method enables a researcher to understand fully the behavioral pattern of the concerned unit. Understanding the relationship of a social unit with the social factors and the forces involved in the surrounding environment is the major aim of case studies.

# 7.4 Criteria for Selections of Appropriate Method of Data Collection

So far, we have discussed the different methods of collections of primary and secondary data. Among the competitive methods of data collection, a researcher must optimally select the method for a specific research program. In doing so, a researcher is required to follow the following aspects of a research program: (1) *the nature*, *scope*, *and objective of the study*, (2) *availability of fund*, (3) *availability of time*, (4) *availability of technical person*, and (5) *precision required*.

# 7.4.1 Nature, Scope, and Objective of the Study

The nature, scope, and objective of a study decide the type of information required for the purpose. Whether a research program is



exploratory, descriptive, etc., in nature decides the type of data collection method. The objective and scope of the study guide whether to use the primary data or secondary data. If secondary data are to be used, then what are the sources, what is the reliability of, and at what accuracy they have been collected, all these things should be critically examined before taking any decision in this regard. If primary data are to be recorded, then what type of data is needed, qualitative or quantitative; does it require assistance from experts or sophisticated instrument, etc.?

### 7.4.2 Availability of Fund

Financial resource is a pivotal point or lifeline of any good or bad research program. Depending upon the availability of fund, research projects are exhaustive/intensive. In developing countries, where financial resources are one of the major constraints in conducting good research work, the guardians generally advise "try to do, whatever you can do within the limited resources, don't hanker for that which is not available at your disposal." When funds are available, a researcher is at his/her liberty to frame a research process; otherwise, he/she has to keep in mind the available resources at his/her disposal. If resources are available, one can make the program exhaustive/intensive, make use of sophisticated instrument, can take help from technical experts, and also can minimize the time required or otherwise.

### 7.4.3 Availability of Time

As discussed already, the different methods of data collection require different time periods for a successful completion. A researcher must be aware about the time period allowed to fulfill the objective of the study. A researcher must always make an endeavor to complete the data collection within the shortest possible time period at his/her disposal, keeping in mind the financial resources available for the purpose.

## 7.4.4 Availability of Technical Person

While discussing the different methods of data collection, it is noted that some methods of data collection require the help from the experts. In a schedule/observation/interview and other methods of data collection, the quality of the data depends greatly on the understanding of the subject/questions of the enumerator/investigator, behavior, intellectuality, and training taken by the enumerator. One cannot use highly sophisticated instrument for data collection in the absence of a highly trained expert in recording and retrieving the data from the sophisticated instruments.

# 7.4.5 Precision Required

Methods of data collection are greatly influenced by the precision required for the study. For example, length data can be taken with the help of screw gauge, slide calipers, centimeter scales, or tape. All these are coming under an experimental and observational data collection method. Now, the question is, to which one should one apply? Clearly, the precision with which the above instruments work is different, and a researcher needs to desire which technique or which method he/she should apply. Similarly, the different methods of data collection, may it be primary or secondary, have different levels of precision or accuracy. A researcher is to desire the best methods of data collection befitting to the objective of a research program commensurating with the available resources and the given time frame.



# **Processing and Analysis of Data**

8

# 8.1 Processing of Information

The information/data collected/collated either from primary or secondary sources at the initial stage is known as *raw data*. Raw data is nothing but the observation recorded from individual units. Raw data, particularly the primary data, can hardly speak anything unless and otherwise arranged in order or processed. Data are required to be processed and analyzed as per the requirement of a research problem outlined. Working with data starts with the scrutiny of data; sometimes it is also known as *editing* of data. There are several steps to follow before a set of data is put under analysis befitting with the objectives of a particular research program. Though the order of the steps are not unique and may change according to the need and objective of a study, the following steps are generally followed: (1) *scrutiny/editing of data*, (2) *arrangement of data*, (3) *coding of data*, (4) *classification of data*, and (5) *presentation of data*. The first three steps, that is, scrutiny, arrangement, and coding of data may interchange the order depending upon the situation. If the number of observations is few, one can go for scrutiny at the first stage; otherwise, it is better to arrange the data in ascending or descending order. We shall demonstrate the whole procedure by taking the following example.

*Example 8.1.* The following table gives data on the yield (q/ha) of paddy of 130 varieties.

15.50	25.50	26.50	24.50	28.50	29.50	26.50	53.50	46.50	43.50	77.50	63.50	51.50
24.80	12.80	21.80	23.80	25.80	27.80	58.80	80.80	24.80	33.80	77.80	74.80	70.80
18.00	19.00	22.00	21.00	23.00	26.00	40.00	68.00	20.00	30.00	83.00	55.00	80.00
20.00	21.00	22.00	27.00	28.00	26.00	41.00	37.00	61.00	68.00	78.00	39.00	51.00
19.00	28.00	27.00	26.00	29.00	30.00	68.00	48.00	33.00	38.00	23.00	66.00	37.00
23.50	32.50	15.50	17.50	18.50	19.50	87.50	29.50	18.50	65.50	45.50	64.50	44.50
17.50	16.50	19.50	22.50	23.50	21.50	57.50	66.50	52.50	60.50	51.50	56.50	80.50
19.00	21.00	23.00	25.00	27.00	24.00	36.00	74.00	32.00	23.00	80.00	16.00	45.00
20.00	20.00	21.00	22.00	23.00	24.00	59.00	39.00	71.00	20.00	46.00	30.00	19.00
20.00	24.00	25.00	26.00	27.00	28.00	41.00	30.00	49.00	70.00	85.00	27.00	24.00

0	10-0-				-	1.00	Book1 - N	Acrosoft Excel	A stand of the local division of					-	0 X
	Home Ins	ert Page L	ayout Formula	as Data	Review View	SAS									×
Get I	External Existing ata * Connection Get External Data	Refresh All+	Connections	24 2 X X1 Sort	Filter & Advanced	Text to Columns I	Remove Data Duplicates Validation Data To	Consolidate	What-If Analysis	ap Ungroup Subt	●∃ Show Det ●∃ Hide Deta	ali 🕒 Data And	dysis		
	A41	• (9	fx Raw Data	Sort											¥
	Α	В	С	Launch data b	h the Sort dialog box to	sort	G	н	1	J	К	L	M	N	(-
41	Raw Data			once.											
42	15.50			😧 Pres	ss F1 for more help.										
43	24.80														
44	18.00														
45	20.00														
46	19.00														-
47	23.50														
48	17.50														
49	19.00														
50	20.00														_
51	20.00														_
52	25.50														
53	12.80														
54	19.00														
55	21.00														_
56	28.00														_
57	32.50														_
14	H Sheet1	Sheet2 / Sh	eet3 / 😏 /						14						
Read	Y		-			_	_	_		Average: 37.93	Count: 13	L Sum: 4930.9	140	• •	•
	) (e		2 0		1. All 1.								- 🕷	• 🎦 🕫	3:13 PM 8/4/2012

Slide 8.1: Step 1 showing the entry or the transformation of data to Excel data sheet



Slide 8.2: Step 2 showing the sorting of data in Excel data sheet



0	149-	(		Books	- Microsoft Exc	el	Dra	awing Tools	of the second division of						- 0 -	×
	Home	Insert	Page Layout	Formulas	Data Re	riew View	SAS	Format							<u>0</u> - •	×
Get I	Deternal Existence Conr Get External D	isting sections	Refresh All - So Edi	perties t Links	Sort Filte	K Clear G Reapply G Advanced	Text to 3 Columns De	Remove Data uplicates Validation Data To-	Consolidate What-If Analysis	Group Un	agroup Subtotal	9∄ Show Detail "∄ Hide Detail	Data Analysis			
Straig	tht Arrow Co	nn •	(a fe		Sort				201	*						¥
	A		В	С	Launch the S	ort dialog box to se	rt F	G	H	1	J	К	L	М	N	-
41	Sorted o	data			once.	n several criteria ac										Т
42	1	2.80			😧 Press F1 fo	or more help.										
43	1	5.50														
44	1	5.50														
45	1	6.00	Î													
46	1	6.50	-													
47	1	7.50														
48	1	7.50														
166	5	1														
167	'	$\checkmark$														-11
168	8	0.00	-													- 1
169	8	0.50	¥													-11
170	8	0.80														-11
171	. 8	3.00														-11
172	8	5.00														-11
173	8	7.50														-11
174																ų
174	H Sheet	1 /She	et2 / Sheet3	( <del>1</del> 2)/	1.	1				1 <		11				
Read		-	-				-	-	-	-	-	-	00	140% (	9 0 3-32 0M	
	e			<b>9</b> 1										- 🕅 🚽	10 3:32 PM 8/4/2012	2

Slide 8.3: Step 3 showing the output of sorted data in Excel data sheet

From the arrangement of the above data set, it is clear that the yield of paddy has a maximum value 87.50 q/ha and a minimum value 12.80 q/ha, thereby having a yield difference of 74.8 q/ha between the highest yielder and the lowest yielder.

# 8.1.1 Scrutiny and Arrangement of Data

Raw data set is put under careful examination to find out the existence of any abnormal/doubtful observation, to detect errors and omissions, if any, and to rectify these. Editing/scrutiny of data ensures the accuracy, uniformity, and consistency of data. If the observations are few in number, during scrutiny, one can have an overall idea about the information collected or collated. If the number of observations is large, then one may go for arrangement of observations in order, that is, either ascending or descending order and then go for scrutiny. Scrutiny and arrangement of data help to have preliminary knowledge about the

Raw data:

nature of the data set which may not be possible (particularly when a number of observations are large) otherwise. Either scrutiny followed by arrangement (for small number of observations) or arrangement followed by scrutiny would help.

- 1. To know the maximum and minimum values of the observations.
- 2. Whether the values of the observations are consistent with the area of interest under consideration or not. That means whether there is any possibility of the data set containing outlier or not.
- 3. Whether the data set could be used for further analysis towards fulfilling the objective of the study or not.

Arrangements of data can be made using SORT command in MS Excel or similar command in other similar software.

*Example 8.2.* For discrete data, one may think of the formation of array. The formation of array taking the number of effective tiller (ET) data for 100 varieties of paddy is demonstrated as follows:

Variety	ETL	Variety	ETL	Variety	ETL	Variety	ETL
1	16	26	17	51	18	76	16
2	15	27	22	52	20	77	26
3	10	28	6	53	23	78	20
لاستشار	V AIL					(	continued)

Variety	ETL	Variety	ETL	Variety	ETL	Variety	ETL
4	11	29	8	54	9	79	21
5	12	30	16	55	13	80	19
6	13	31	12	56	14	81	7
7	14	32	13	57	8	82	9
8	7	33	14	58	7	83	14
9	8	34	7	59	9	84	22
10	9	35	8	60	13	85	23
11	10	36	11	61	7	86	14
12	11	37	17	62	8	87	26
13	14	38	9	63	11	88	18
14	16	39	10	64	24	89	20
15	18	40	12	65	16	90	19
16	20	41	18	66	4	91	17
17	7	42	17	67	6	92	9
18	8	43	16	68	5	93	10
19	4	44	8	69	6	94	12
20	6	45	6	70	7	95	23
21	15	46	4	71	10	96	20
22	8	47	16	72	11	97	21
23	12	48	22	73	4	98	12
24	15	49	26	74	8	99	10
25	16	50	21	75	12	100	18

(continued)



Slide 8.4: Step 1 showing the entry or the transformation of data to Excel data sheet

From the arrangement of the above data set on the number of effective tier per hill (ETL) of 100 varieties of paddy, it is clear that the ETL has a minimum value 4 and a maximum value 26; thereby having a range of 26 - 4 = 22 number of ETL among the varieties of paddy under consideration. After the formation of data, it takes the following shape (Tables 8.1 and 8.2).

It is found from the array that there are four varieties having ETL 4 numbers per hill; one

ETL									
4	7	8	9	11	13	15	16	19	22
4	7	8	9	11	13	15	17	19	22
4	7	8	10	11	13	15	17	20	22
4	7	8	10	12	13	16	17	20	23
5	7	8	10	12	14	16	17	20	23
6	7	8	10	12	14	16	18	20	23
6	7	9	10	12	14	16	18	20	24
6	8	9	10	12	14	16	18	21	26
6	8	9	11	12	14	16	18	21	26
6	8	9	11	12	14	16	18	21	26

Table 8.1 ETL data arranged in ascending order

Table 8.2	Summary	of ETL dat	a arranged	in	ascending	order
-----------	---------	------------	------------	----	-----------	-------

From the ab	ove a	array	, one	e can	have	e the	follov	ving s	umma	ry:												
ETL	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	26
Frequency	4	1	5	7	9	6	6	5	7	4	6	3	8	4	5	2	5	3	3	3	1	3

Table 8.3 Tally marking and formation of frequency distribution of ETL data

ETL	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	26
Tally marks	////	/	₩	<del>     </del>	<del>    </del>	<del>     </del>	<del>     </del>	₩H	<del>    </del>	////	<del>     </del>	///	<del>    </del>	////	₩	//	₩	///	///	///	/	///
Frequency	4	1	5	7	9	6	6	5	7	4	6	3	8	4	5	2	5	3	3	3	1	3

variety is having 5 ETL per hill, five varieties is having ETL six, and so on. This formation of array is done with the help of SORT key in Microsoft Excel computer package as shown above in case of example with the yield of paddy. Otherwise, conventionally we may take help of the tally marking. Process for tally marking is presented below (Table 8.3).

# 8.1.2 Coding of Data

Sometimes the information collected may be qualitative in nature like male/female, black/yellow/white/green, determinate/indeterminate, and educated/illiterate. Coding refers to the process of assigning numerals or other symbols to the responses so that these could be categorized. Coding should be made in such a way that these are nonoverlapping and all the observations are categorized in one of the categories framed for the purpose. That means the coding should be made in such a way that categories are exclusive and exhaustive in nature. Generally, the numerical information does not require coding. Coding helps researchers in understanding the data in a more meaningful way.

# 8.1.3 Classification/Grouping

While dealing with a huge number of observations, it is sometimes very difficult to have a concise idea about the information collected. So the first idea comes to mind, that is, to have a logical classification (formation of groups) in accordance with some common characteristic(s)/classification or grouping, may be one of the solutions.

The first question in classification comes to mind is, *how many classes one should make*? There is no hard-and-first rule as to fix the number of classes. However, a general guideline as given below is followed while making the classes:

- (a) Classes should be well defined and exhaustive.
- (b) Classes should not be overlapping.
- (c) Classes should be of equal width as far as possible.
- (d) The number of classes should not be too few or too many.
- (e) Classes should be devoid of an open-ended limit.
- (f) Classes should be framed in such a way that each and every class should have some observation.

	Examp	ole 8.1	Examp	ole 8.2
Formula	N	Class	N	Class
Yule	130	8.44 = 8	100	7.91 = 8
Struge	130	8.02 = 8	100	7.64 = 8

**Table 8.4** Determination of the no. of classes according to the two methods of classification for example data 8.1 and 8.2

While deciding the number of classes or groups, the general idea is to have minimum variations among the observations of a particular class/group and maximum variation among the groups/classes.

Following the above guidelines and the formulae given below, classes may be formed.

- 1. *Yule formula*:  $K = 2.5 \times N^{1/4}$
- 2. *Sturge formula*:  $K = 1 + 3.322 \log_{10}N$ ,
- where *N* is the number of observations and *K* is the number of classes.

Thus, according to the above two formulae, the number of classes for Example 8.1 and Example 8.2 is given in Table 8.4.

Generally, the range of date can be extended in both sides (i.e., at the lower end as well as at the upper end) so as to (1) make the no. of classes as a whole number and (2) avoid the class width as a fraction. For example, in the paddy yield, the maximum value is 87.5 and the minimum is 12.8. So to have 8 classes, the class width becomes 9.33, a fraction not advisable for the convenience of further mathematical calculation. To avoid this, one can increase the data range in both sides to 10 and 90, respectively, for the lower and upper sides, thus making the (90 - 10)/8 = 10 class width a whole number. It should emphatically be noted that making the class width whole number is not compulsory; one can very well use a fractional class width also.

### 8.1.3.1 Method of Classification

When both the upper limit and lower limit of a particular class are included in the class, it is known as *inclusive* method of classification. While in other methods one of these limits is not included in the respective class, it is known as *exclusive* method of classification (Table 8.5).

The above two classifications, that is, the inclusive method of classification and the exclusive method of classification, are for Examples 8.2 and 8.1, respectively. For Example 8.2 of



Table 8.5	Inclusive	and exc	lusive m	ethod of c	lassifica-
tion of data					

Inclusive method		Exclusive method <sup>a</sup>		
ETL Classes	Frequency	Yield classes	Frequency	
4-6	10	10–20	16	
7–9	22	20-30	54	
10–12	18	30-40	14	
13–15	13	40–50	11	
16–18	17	50-60	10	
19–21	10	60–70	10	
22–24	7	70–80	8	
25–27	3	80–90	7	

<sup>a</sup>Upper limits are not included in a particular class

 Table 8.6
 Making continuous classes from discrete classes

ETL classes		
Discrete	Continuous	Frequency
4–6	3.5-6.5	10
7–9	6.5–9.5	22
10–12	9.5-12.5	18
13–15	12.5-15.5	13
16–18	15.5–18.5	17
19–21	18.5-21.5	10
22–24	21.5-24.5	7
25–27	24.5-27.5	3

the effective tiller per hill, that is, for discrete variable, both the class limits are included in the respective class. But for Example 8.1, that is, for yield variable (a continuous character), exclusive method of classification has been used.

May it be discrete or continuous, different statistical measures in subsequent analysis of the data may result in a fractional form. As such, generally discrete classes are made continuous by subtracting "d/2" from the lower class limit and adding "d/2" to the upper class limit, where "d" is the difference between the upper limit of a class and the lower limit of the following class. The above classification wrt ETL may be presented in the form given in Table 8.6.

Thus, the constructed class limits are known as *lower class boundary*  $(3.5, 6.5, \ldots, 24.5)$  and *upper class boundary*  $(6.5, 9.5, \ldots, 27.5)$ , respectively, in case of continuous distribution. The class *width or the class interval* is equal to the difference between the upper class boundary and the lower class boundary of the class interval.

Yield classes	Frequency $(f_i)$	Mid value $(x_i)$	Cumulative frequency (CF<)	Cumulative frequency (CF≥)	Relative frequency	Frequency density
10–20	16	15	16	130	0.123077	5.33
20-30	54	25	70	114	0.415385	18.00
30-40	14	35	84	60	0.107692	4.67
40–50	11	45	95	46	0.084615	3.67
50-60	10	55	105	35	0.076923	3.33
60–70	10	65	115	25	0.076923	3.33
70–80	8	75	123	15	0.061538	2.67
80–90	7	85	130	7	0.053846	2.33

**Table 8.7** Frequency distribution table of yield (q/ha) in 130 paddy varieties

10-20	10	15	10	130	0.125077	5.55	
20–30	54	25	70	114	0.415385	18.00	
30-40	14	35	84	60	0.107692	4.67	
40–50	11	45	95	46	0.084615	3.67	
50–60	10	55	105	35	0.076923	3.33	
50-70	10	65	115	25	0.076923	3.33	
70–80	8	75	123	15	0.061538	2.67	
30–90	7	85	130	7	0.053846	2.33	
Table 8.8	Frequency distri	bution table of e	ffective tillers	per hill (ETL) in 100 pade	ly varieties		

ETL discrete	ETL continuous	Frequency	Mid	Cumulative	Cumulative	Relative	Frequency
classes	classes	$(f_i)$	value $(x_i)$	frequency (CF<)	frequency (CF $\geq$ )	frequency	density
4–6	3.5-6.5	10	5	10	100	0.10	3.33
7–9	6.5–9.5	22	8	32	90	0.22	7.33
10–12	9.5-12.5	18	11	50	68	0.18	6.00
13–15	12.5–15.5	13	14	63	50	0.13	4.33
16–18	15.5-18.5	17	17	80	37	0.17	5.67
19–21	18.5–21.5	10	20	90	20	0.10	3.33
22–24	21.5-24.5	7	23	97	10	0.07	2.33
25–27	24.5-27.5	3	26	100	3	0.03	1.00

Mid Value: Mid value of a class is the average of the lower limit/boundary and the upper limit/ boundary. Mid values are generally taken as representatives of different classes. In Table 8.1, the mid values for different classes are 15, 25, 35,..., etc.

Frequency Density: As we know it, "density" is mass per unit volume, that is, d = m/v gm/cc where m in gram is the mass for a "v" (cc) of a matter. Similarly, frequency density is the frequency of a particular class per unit of class width. In Table 8.2, the frequency density of the class 3.5-6.5 is 10/3 = 3.333. Similarly, for class 6.5–9.5 is 22/3 = 7.33. Frequency density indicates the concentration of observations in different classes of a frequency distribution table per unit of class width.

*Relative Frequency*: Relative frequency is defined as the proportion of observation in a particular class to a total number of observations. Thus, in Table 8.2, the relative frequency of the class 3.5-6.5 is 10/100 = 0.10. Sometimes, the relative frequency is expressed in percentage also.

Cumulative Frequency: Cumulative frequency of a class is defined as the number of observations up to a particular class (less than type) or above a particular class (greater than type). In our previous example, if we take the class 12.5–15.5, then the cumulative frequency (lesser than type) for the class is 63. This means that there are 63 varieties of rice which have less than 15.5 number of ETL per hill. Similarly, the cumulative frequency (greater than type) for the same class is 50. That means the number of varieties having 12.5 or more than 12.5 number of ETL per hill is 39. Cumulative frequency gives an instant idea about the distribution of frequencies among the classes and the cutoff points (Tables 8.7 and 8.8).

#### Presentation of Information 8.1.4

Edited/scrutinized data can either be used for the application of statistical methodologies and/or presented in a suitable form to present and concise the information from the recorded data. In the following sections, discussion has been made on different forms of data presentation so that some of the critical observations (without going for in-depth analysis) can be extracted meaningfully from the data as such.

Different forms of presentation of data are:

(1) Textual form, (2) Tabular form, (3) Diagrammatic form

- 1. *Textual Form*: In a textual form of data presentation, information is presented in a form of a paragraph. In many of the research papers or articles, while discussing the findings of the research outcome, this method is adopted for explanation.
- Tabular Form: It is the most widely used form of data presentation. A large number of data can be presented in a very efficient manner in a table. At the same time, it can bring out some of the essential features of the data. Frequency distribution tables presented in previous section are the example of efficient use of tables to present data. A table consists of the following parts: (1) title, (2) stub, (3) caption, (4) body, and (5) footnote.

*Title*: The title of a table gives a brief description of the content or the subject matter presented in a table. Generally, the title is written in short and concise form such that it becomes easily visible and eye-catching at a glance and through light to the content of the table.



Foot Note :

ا 🏹 للاستشارات

Fig. : Different parts of a table

*Stub*: A table is divided into a number of rows and columns. Stub is used to describe the contents of the rows of a table. Different

classes represent the rows of the table, and the heading "classes" at the top left corner of the table is the stub. With the help of this stub, one can extract the features of the rows in a table.

*Caption*: Caption describes the content of each and every column. Thus, "mid value," "frequency," etc., are the captions for the different columns in Tables 8.1 and 8.2. With the help of the "mid value" or "frequency," one can understand how the mid values or the frequencies are changing over different classes (stub).

*Body*: Relevant information is given in the body of a table.

*Footnote*: Footnotes are not compulsory but may be used to indicate the source of information or a special notation (if) used in the table. Though a tabular form is more appealing than a textual form of presentation, it is only applicable to literate and educated persons.

3. *Diagrammatic Form*: Keeping in mind the variety of users, this form of representation is more convincing and appealing than the other forms of data presentation. This form of presentation is easily understood by any person, layman as well as an educated person. Different diagrammatic forms of presentation are (a) *line diagram*, (b) *bar diagram*, (c) *histogram*, (d) *frequency polygon*, (e) *cumulative frequency curve or Ogive*, (f) *pie charts*, (g) *pictorial diagrams*, (h) *maps*, etc.; within each type, there may be variant types.

In the following section, taking the yield data, different forms of diagrammatic presentation as obtained by using MS Excel are presented below.

(a) A frequency line for discrete as well as for continuous distributions can be represented graphically by drawing ordinates equal to the frequency on a convenient scale at different values of the variable, *X*. For the example of yield, we shall have different yield classes on the horizontal *X*-axis and frequencies on the vertical *Y*-axis as shown in Fig. 8.1.







(b) Bar diagram: Instead of drawing a line joining the class frequencies, one represents the frequencies in the form of bars. In bar diagrams, equal bases on a horizontal (or vertical) line are selected, and rectangles are constructed with length proportional to the given frequencies on a suitably chosen scale. The bars should be drawn at equal distances from one another (Fig. 8.2).

A more complicated form of bar diagrams is the *clustered* column/bar, *stacked* column and bar, and *100% stacked* column/bar diagram. In clustered bar diagrams, values of the same item for different categories are compared. While in a stacked column, the proportions of the values across the categories are shown. In 100% stacked bar, a comparison of each category is made in such a way to make the following example. With the help of educational status data of five different blocks, let us demonstrate these graphs in Table 8.9, Figs. 8.3 and 8.4.

(c) Histogram: Histogram is almost similar to that of a bar diagram for discrete data; the only thing is that the reflection of nonexistence

**Table 8.9** Educational status data (%) of five different blocks

Block	Illiterate	School	Graduation	Post graduation
Block1	23.7	34.6	18.0	23.7
Block2	13.2	42.2	23.8	20.8
Block3	18.0	33.0	30.0	19.0
Block4	19.3	14.0	34.0	32.7
Block5	26.5	29.5	24.0	20.0

of any gap between two consecutive classes is also reflected by leaving no gap between two consecutive bars. Continuous grouped data are usually represented graphically by a histogram. The rectangles are drawn with bases corresponding to the true class intervals and with heights proportional to the frequencies. With all the class intervals equal, the areas of a rectangle also represent the corresponding frequencies. If the class intervals are not all equal, then the heights are to be suitably adjusted to make the area proportional to the frequencies (Fig. 8.5).

(d) Frequency Polygon: If the midpoints of the top of the bars in histogram are joined by straight lines, then a frequency polygon is







**Fig. 8.5** Yield frequency histogram of 130 varieties of paddy

obtained. To complete the polygon, it is customary to join the extreme points at each end of the frequency polygon to the midpoints of the next higher and lower class intervals on a horizontal line (class axis here). For the purpose, generally two hypothetical classes, one before the lowest actual class and another at the last of the highest actual class, are added with zero observation in both cases so that



the frequency line diagram completes a bounded area with horizontal X-axis as shown below (Fig. 8.6):

(e) Pie Chart: The basic idea behind the formation of a pie diagram is to take the whole frequencies in 100% and present it in a circle with 360° angle at the center. In the frequency distribution table, ordinary frequency or relative frequency can effectively be used

Fig. 8.3 Stacked bar

diagram of educational status of five blocks



in the form of a pie diagram. Thus, for example, the yield data following a pie chart is prepared with class frequencies (Fig. 8.7).

The advantage of pie diagram is that different characteristics measured in different units and or under different situations can be compared with the help of this diagram. Moreover, along with other diagrammatic data presentation, this method is also appealing to both illiterate and educated persons.

Taking the example of an expenditure pattern of two groups of people, pie diagram could be used for comparison (Table 8.10 and Fig. 8.8).

(f) Cumulative Frequency Curve (Ogive): Partitioning the whole data set can very well be made with the help of a cumulative frequency graph, also known as OGIVE. It is of two different types, that is, "less than type" and "more than equal to type." For "less than



 Table 8.10
 Expenditure pattern of two groups of people

Expenditure (Rs)	Group-1	Group-2
Food	1,800	1,600
Housing	6,500	4,500
Clothing	4,000	3,400
Education	1,250	1,650
Medical	800	500
Others	650	350
Total	15,000	12,000

type," one plots the points with the upper boundaries of the classes as abscissa and the corresponding cumulative frequency as ordinates. The points are joined by a freehand smooth curve. For "more than equal to type" one plots the points with the lower boundaries of the classes as abscissas and the corresponding cumulative frequencies as ordinates. Then, the points are joined by a freehand smooth curve (Fig. 8.9).



Fig. 8.8 Pie diagram showing the expenditure pattern of two groups of people



Fig. 8.9 Different forms of cumulative frequency graphs (Ogives)

Class	Frequency	Pictures
3.5 - 6.5	12	***
6.5 - 9.5	21	*****
9.5 -12.5	18	****
12.5-15.5	13	***
15.5-18.5	16	***
18.5-21.5	11	***
21.5-24.5	9	**

**Fig. 8.10** Pictorial presentation of a frequency distribution of the no. of insect per hill

- (g) Pictorial Diagram: To make the information lively and easy to understand by any user, sometimes information is presented in pictorial forms. Instead of a bar diagram or line diagram or pie chart, one can use pictures in the diagrams. Let us take the example of the no. of particular insects per hill of 100 varieties of paddy; the frequencies can be represented with suitably scaled figure. If we assume that each insect represents four similar insects, then the frequency distribution can be represented in the following forms (Fig. 8.10): This type of pictorial representation is easy to understand even by the layman and is more eye-catching. But the problem with this type of representation is that if the number of figures does not exactly match with the frequency, then some of the drawings are to be kept incomplete like classes 4–7 and 10–13.
- (h) Maps: Statistical maps are generally used to represent the distribution of particular parameters like a forest area in a country, paddy-producing zone, different mines located at different places in a country, rainfall pattern, population density, etc. The map shown in Fig. 8.11 gives the rainfall distribution during 1-6-12 to 25-7-12 for the whole of India. The essence of a pictorial diagram or map lies in their acceptability to a wide range of users including the illiterate people.

This type of data representation is easily conceived by any person, but utmost care should be taken to make the statistical map true to the sense and scale, etc.

It should clearly be noted that all types of presentation are not suitable for all types of data, at all situations, and to all users. The appropriate type of presentation is to be decided on the basis of the type of information, the objective of the presentation, and the person concerned for whom the presentation is basically meant.

# 8.2 Analysis of Data

Once after the processing and data presentation, it is now imperative for a researcher to explain and describe the nature of the research in a deeper sense. In the first attempt, the researcher tries to explain/describe the nature of the information through measures of central tendency, measures of dispersion, measures of asymmetry, etc., taking one variable at a time—known as univariate analysis. In his/her next endeavor, he/she tries to find out the association among the variables—which are coming under either bivariate (taking two variables at a time) or multivariate analysis (taking more than two variables at a time). Once after completion of the description (through univariate/bivariate/



**Fig. 8.11** Pictorial presentation of rainfall distribution in India (Source: India meteorological department; http://www.google.com.in, accessed on 18-8-12)



multivariate analysis), the researcher tries to infer or draw conclusion about the population characteristics from the sample behaviors studied so far through inferential statistics. In the following few sections, we shall discuss the descriptive statistics up to bivariate levels. Multivariate and inferential statistics will be taken up in the subsequent chapters.



In an attempt to summarize the information/ data, a researcher is always in search of certain value(s) that can represent a set of information given in a big table or otherwise. Thus, we are always in search of such a measure, which can describe the inherent characteristics of a given set of information. Generally, a researcher is in search of the two types of measures, one to find out the central value around which the observations are supposed to lie and another measure for the spread/dispersion/scatteredness of the observations.

# 8.2.1 Measures of Central Tendency and Locations

Given a set of data, we are in search of a typical value below and above which the observations tend to cluster around. Thus, the tendency of the observations to cluster around a central value is known as central tendency. Sometimes, researchers want to have an idea about specific locations below and above which there is a certain percentage of population.



For example, one may be interested in knowing the 50th percentile value, that is, the value below and above which there are half the population, or the 3rd quartile value, that is, the value below which there are 75% of the population and so on. That means we are in search of certain locational values.

According to Yule, a good measure should have the following characteristics:

- (a) It should be defined rigidly without any ambiguity
- (b) It should be based on all observations
- (c) It should be easy to calculate
- (d) It should be easy to understand
- (e) It should be readily acceptable to mathematical treatments
- (f) It should be the least influenced by sampling fluctuations

### The Different Measures of Central Tendency Are:

- (a) Mean
- (b) Median
- (c) Mode
- (d) Midpoint average, etc.

### 8.2.1.1 Mean

Means are of three different types: *arithmetic mean*, *geometric mean*, *and harmonic* mean.

### **Arithmetic Mean**

The arithmetic mean of a set of observations is their sum divided by a number of observations and is denoted by  $\bar{x}$  or  $\mu$ , that is,

$$\bar{x} = \mu = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i}{n}$$

where  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n$  are the values of the first, second, third, ..., *n*th observation.

The arithmetic mean for grouped/classified data is given by  $\overline{x} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{ix_i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f}$ ,  $\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i = N\right]$ , where  $x_i$ 's and  $f_i$ 's are the mid values and the frequencies of the *i*th (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n) class.

### Properties of Arithmetic Mean

- 1. It is readily defined.
- 2. It is easy to calculate.
- 3. It is easy to understand.
- 4. It is based on all observations.
- 5. It is readily acceptable for mathematical treatments.
- 6. The arithmetic mean of the "n" number of constants (say x = A) is also the constant.
- Arithmetic mean depends on the transformation of data. If Y = a + b X be the transformation of X data to Y; where a and b are constants and x̄ is the arithmetic mean of the variable X, then Ȳ = a + bx̄.

Let us suppose that variable *X* has an arithmetic mean of 57 and that this variable is related with another variable *Y* as Y = 15 + 2.5X. The arithmetic mean of *Y* then would be  $(15 + 2.5 \times 57)=157.5$ 

8. The overall mean of "k" number of arithmetic means from "k" number of samples with observations  $n_1, n_2, n_3, ..., n_k$  and the arithmetic means  $\bar{x}_1, \bar{x}_2, \bar{x}_3, ..., \bar{x}_k$  are the weighted average of the arithmetic means. Thus, for



$$\bar{x} = \frac{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{k} n_i \bar{x}_i}{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{k} n_i}.$$

*Example 8.3.* The following table gives the number of students and their average height (cm.) of the four different classes of undergraduate courses along with their respective means. Find the overall average age of the undergraduate students.

	1st	2nd	3rd	4th
Class	year	year	year	year
No. of students	135	132	140	135
Average height in cm.	166	175	188	190

The overall average age of the undergraduate students are given by

$$\bar{x} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i \bar{x}_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i}, \text{ here } k = 4,$$

so  $\bar{x} = [135 \times 166 + 132 \times 175 + 140 \times 188 + 135 \times 190]/542 = 179.85$  cm.

- 9. Arithmetic mean cannot be worked out simply by an inspection of data.
- Arithmetic mean is highly affected by the missing observations or a few large or small observations.
- 11. Arithmetic mean sometimes seems to be misleading, particularly in the presence of an outlier.
- 12. AM cannot be calculated if any of the observation is missing.
- 13. AM cannot be used for open-ended classes because in that case, it is difficult to get the mid value of the class.

### **Geometric Mean**

The geometric mean of a set of "n" observations is defined as the *n*th root of the product of all observations.

Let  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n$  be the "*n*" number of observations of variable "*X*"; the geometric mean then is given by

$$X_g = (x_1.x_2...x_n)^{1/n} = \left(\prod x_i\right)^{1/n}$$

Taking logarithm of both the sides, we have

$$\log(X_g) = \frac{1}{n} \log\left(\prod x_i\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{n} \cdot [\log x_1 + \log x_2 + \dots + \log x_n]$$
$$= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \log x_i = A(\operatorname{say})$$

so,  $X_g$  = Antilog(log  $x_g$ ) = Antilog(A).

Thus, the logarithm of a geometric mean is the arithmetic mean of logarithm of the observations.

For grouped/classified data on variable X having  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n$  as class mid values with the respective frequencies of  $f_1, f_2, f_3, \ldots, f_n$ , the geometric mean is given by

$$X_g = \left(x_1^{f_1} \cdot x_2^{f_2} \dots x_n^{f_n}\right)^{1/\sum_{i=1}^n f_i} = \left(\prod x_i^{f_i}\right)^{1/\sum_{i=1}^n f_i}.$$

For grouped frequency data,  $x_i$  is taken as the mid value of the *i*th class.

With the help of a log conversion or scientific calculator, one can easily find out the geometric mean.

*Example 8.4.* Find the geometric mean of the following observations: 20,24,28,32,36,40,44, and 48.

**Solution.** There are eight numbers of observations. If we denote the geometric mean by *G*, then  $G = (20 \times 24 \times 28 \times 32 \times 36 \times 40 \times 44 \times 48)^{1/8} = > \text{Log}(G) = 1/8[\text{Log}(20) + \text{Log}(24) + \text{Log}(28) + \text{Log}(32) + \text{Log}(36) + \text{Log}(40) + \text{Log}(44) + \text{Log}(48)]$ 

x	Log(x)
20	1.3010
24	1.3802
28	1.4472
32	1.5051
36	1.5563
40	1.6021
44	1.6435
48	1.6812

Thus,  $\log(G) = 1/8$  (12.1166) = 1.5146

So, the antilog of log(G) = G = antilog (1.5146) = 32.7039. So the geometric mean of the given numbers is 32.7039.

*Example 8.5.* Find the geometric mean from the following frequency distribution.

Variable values	15	20	20	25	30
Frequency	3	4	3	4	6

**Solution.** This is a simple frequency distribution and we have the geometric mean  $X_g = \left(x_1^{f_1} x_2^{f_2} \dots x_n^{f_n}\right)^{1/\sum_{i=1}^n f_i}.$  Taking the logarithm

of both sides, we have  $Log(x_g)$ 

$$\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i} \log\left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} x_1^{f_i}\right) = \frac{1}{20} [3\log(15) + 4\log(20) + 3\log(20) + 4\log(25) + 6\log(30)]$$
$$= \frac{1}{20} [3 \times 1.1760 + 4 \times 1.3010 + 3 \times 1.3010 + 4 \times 1.3979 + 6 \times 1.4771)]$$
$$= \frac{1}{20} [27.0892] = 1.35446.$$
$$X_g = A\log(1.35446) = 22.618.$$

Thus, the geometric mean of the above simple frequency distribution is 22.618.

*Example 8.6.* Find the geometric mean from the following frequency distribution of the stem borer.



No of insect	4.5-5.5	5.5-6.5	6.5–7.5	7.5-8.5	9.5-10.5	10.5-11.5	11.5-12.5
Frequency	14	18	23	16	11	19	4

**Solution.** From the given information, we make the following table:

$X_i$	Frequency( $f_i$ )	$Log(X_i)$	$f_i$ . Log $(x_i)$
5	14	0.69897	9.78558
6	18	0.77815	14.0067
7	23	0.84509	19.4370
8	16	0.90309	14.4494
9	11	0.95424	10.4966
10	19	1	19.0000
11	4	1.04139	4.16556

Thus, 
$$\log(G) = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i} f_1 \sum_{i=1}^{n} \log(x_i) = \frac{91.340}{105}$$
  
= 0.869

$$G = Alog(0.869) = 7.396.$$

### **Properties**

- 1. It is rigidly defined.
- It is not so easy to calculate or understand the physical significance.
- 3. It takes care of all observations.
- 4. Mathematical treatments are not as easy as in the case of arithmetic mean.

If  $G_1, G_2, \ldots, G_k$  are the geometric means of the samples having  $n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_k$  numbers of the observations, then the combined geometric mean is given by

$$G = (G_1^{n_1}.G_2^{n_2}...G_k^{n_k})^{1/\sum_{i=1}^k n_i} = \prod_{i=1}^k G_i^{1/\sum_{i=1}^k n_i}$$
  
or log  $G = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^l n_i} \sum_{i=1}^k n_i \log[G_i].$ 

- 5. If all observations are equal to a constant, say *A*, then the geometric mean is also equal to *A*.
- Geometric mean is not influenced very much by the inclusions of a few large or small observations unlike the arithmetic mean.

- 7. Geometric mean can't be calculated if any of the observation is zero.
- 8. GM is useful in the construction of index numbers.
- 9. As GM gives greater weights to smaller items, it is useful in economic and socioeconomic data.

### Harmonic Mean

The harmonic mean of a set of "n" observations is the reciprocal of the arithmetic mean of the reciprocals of the observations.

Let  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n$  be the *n* number of observations. So the arithmetic mean of the reciprocals of the observations is  $\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{x_i}}{n}$ . Hence, the harmonic mean,  $HM = \frac{n}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{x_i}}$ .

### For grouped data:

Let  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n$  be the mid values of the "*n*" number of classes with the respective frequencies of  $f_1, f_2, f_3, ..., f_n$ ; then, the harmonic mean is given by  $\frac{\sum_{i=1}^n f_i}{\sum_{i=1}^n f_i / x_i}$ .

*Example* 8.7. Find the harmonic mean of the following observations: 15,20,25,30,35,40,45, and 50.

**Solution.** Here, the number of observations is 8. So their harmonic mean is given by

$$HM = \frac{n}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{x_i}} = \frac{8}{\sum_{i=1}^{8} \frac{1}{x_i}}$$
$$= \frac{8}{\frac{1}{15} + \frac{1}{20} + \frac{1}{25} + \frac{1}{30} + \frac{1}{35} + \frac{1}{40} + \frac{1}{45} + \frac{1}{50}}$$
$$= \frac{8}{0.2857} = 28.00.$$

*Example 8.8.* Find the harmonic mean from the following frequency distribution.

$$HM = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i / x_i} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{5} f_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{5} f_i / x_i}$$
$$= \frac{5 + 4 + 3 + 4 + 4}{\frac{5}{15} + \frac{4}{20} + \frac{3}{18} + \frac{4}{12} + \frac{4}{16}} = \frac{20}{1.149} = 17.406.$$

Properties

- 1. It is rigidly defined.
- 2. It is easier to calculate than geometric mean.
- 3. It is easy to understand and calculate on the basis of all observations.
- 4. The harmonic mean of the "*n*" number of constants is the constant.
- 5. If any of the observation is zero, then the harmonic mean cannot be defined.

### Use of the Different Types of Means:

One has to be selective while choosing the type of means to be used in different situations.

Arithmetic mean is widely used in most of the situations where the data generally do not follow any definite pattern. Geometric mean is generally used in a series of observations, both discrete and continuous data, where the values are changing in geometric progression (observation changes in a definite ratio). The average rate of depreciation, compound rate of interest, etc. are some examples where geometric mean can effectively be used. GM is useful in the construction of index numbers. As GM gives greater weights to smaller items, it is useful in economic and socioeconomic data. The harmonic mean use is very restricted though it has ample uses in practical fields particularly under changing scenario.

*Example 8.9.* The price of petrol/diesel/kerosene oil changes frequently, particularly over the growing seasons, and let us assume that a farmer has a fixed amount of money on fuel expenses for running pumps, etc., from his/her monthly farm budget. So, the use of fuel is to be organized in such a way that the above two conditions are satisfied (the monthly expenditure on fuel remains constant and the prices of fuel changes over the months); that is, the objective is to get an average price of fuel per unit which suggests the amount of average consumption of fuel.

للاستشارات

**Solution.** Let the monthly expenditure on fuel be Rs "*F*" and the prices of fuel of "*K*" for the consecutive months be  $p_1, p_2, ..., p_k$ , respectively. Then, average monthly consumption of fuel is given by

$$= \frac{KF}{\frac{F}{p_1} + \frac{F}{p_2} + \dots + \frac{F}{p_K}}$$
$$= \frac{KF}{F\left(\frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} + \dots + \frac{1}{p_K}\right)}$$
$$= \frac{K}{\sum_{i=1}^{K} 1/p_i}$$
= Harmonic mean of price of fuel.

The relationship of Arithmetic Mean, Geometric Mean, and Harmonic Mean:

Let  $x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_n$  be the *n* positive values of variable "X"; then, for arithmetic mean,  $A = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i$ , geometric mean,  $G = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right)^{1/n}$ , and harmonic mean,  $H = \frac{n}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{x_i}}; A \ge G \ge H$ .

Thus, for a given set of data which is meant to be used must be decided based on the nature of the data and its purpose of use.

*Example 8.10.* Four different blends of teas at Rs 200, Rs 250, Rs 400, and Rs 150 per kilogram. He/she then mixed these four types of teas that are to be sold. What could be the minimum selling price (per kilogram) of tea?

**Solution.** Let a shopkeeper spend  $R_s(X)$  for each quality of tea; then, he has spent altogether 4x the amount of his/her money. In the process, he/she has bought X/200, X/250, X/400, and X/150 kg of tea, respectively, for four different qualities of tea. So the average purchasing price of tea is 4X/(X/200 + X/250 + X/400 + X/150); this is nothing but the harmonic mean of the individual prices. Thus, the average purchasing price is

= 4/(1/200 + 1/250 + 1/400 + 1/150)= 4/(0.005 + 0.004 + 0.0025 + 0.006)

= 4 / 0.0175 = 228.57 per kilogram of tea.

To meet the other charges and to have some profit by selling the same product, he/she should sell the tea mixture at more than Rs 228.57 per kilogram of tea.

# 8.2.1.2 Median

The median divides the whole set of data into two equal halves; below and above the median, there are equal numbers of observations. The median of a set of observations is defined as the value of the middle-most observation when the observations are arranged either in ascending or descending order.

Median

$$= \begin{cases} \frac{n+1}{2} \text{th observation when } n \text{ is odd} \\ \frac{1}{2} \left[ \frac{n}{2} \text{th observation} + \left( \frac{n}{2} + 1 \right) \text{th observation} \right] \\ \text{when } n \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$

Of course, at first, the observations should be arranged in increasing or decreasing order. Then, the median value is to be worked out.

For grouped data, the median is calculated as

$$\mathrm{Me} = x_{\mathrm{l}} + \frac{N/2 - F\mathrm{me} - 1}{f\mathrm{me}}.\mathrm{CI},$$

where  $x_1$  is the lower class boundary of the median class,

*N* is the total frequency,  $F_{me-1}$  is the cumulative frequency (less than type) of the class preceding the median class,  $f_{me}$  is the frequency of the median class, and CI is the width of the median class.

### Steps in Calculating the Median:

🏹 للاستشارات

- 1. Identify the median class, that is, the class having the N/2th observation from the cumulative frequency (less than the type) column.
- 2. Identify the lower class boundary  $(x_l)$ , the class width (CI), and the frequency  $(f_{me})$  values of the median class.
- 3. Identify the cumulative frequency (less than the type ) of the class preceding the median class  $(F_{me-1})$ .

- 4. Use the above values in the formula for median.
- 5. Median will be having the same unit as that of the variable.

*Example 8.11.* The number of insects per plant for the 10 plants of a particular variety of rose is given as follows: 17, 22, 21, 13, 29, 23, 15, 16, 25, 27. The objective is to find out the median value of the variable number of insect per plant.

**Solution.** Now if we arrange the data in ascending order, then it will become 13, 15, 16, 17, 21, 22, 23, 25, 27, and 29. The middle-most observations are the 5th and 6th observations; hence, the median value for the above data set is 21.5, that is, (21 + 22)/2 = 21.5.

*Example 8.12.* Find the median value of yield (q/ha) from the following frequency table.

Yield classes	Frequency $(f_i)$	Mid value $(x_i)$	Cumulative frequency (CF<)
10-20	16	15	16
20-30	54	25	70
30-40	14	35	84
40–50	11	45	95
50-60	10	55	105
60–70	10	65	115
70–80	8	75	123
80–90	7	85	130

- 1. The total number of observation is 130; N/2 = 65.
- 2. The median class is 20–30.
- 3. The lower boundary  $(x_1)$  is 20, the class width (CI) is 10, and the frequency  $(f_{me})$  is 54 of the median class.
- 4. The cumulative frequency (less than the type) of the class preceding the median class  $(F_{me-1})$  is 16.

So the median of the above frequency distribution is

$$Me = 20 + \frac{65 - 16}{54} \times 10 = 29.074 \text{ q/ha.}$$

*Alternatively*, the approximate median value can also be worked out from the intersection point of the two cumulative frequency (less than and more than that type) curves.

### Properties of Median:

- 1. Median is easy to calculate and understand.
- 2. For its calculation, it does not require to have all observations.
- 3. For qualitative data also, median can be worked out.
- 4. Median cannot be put under mathematical treatments like AM and GM.
- 5. Arrangements of data are necessary for the calculation of median.

*Uses of Median:* Median is a useful measure for both quantitative and qualitative characters. Using the measure in agriculture, socioeconomic and other field researchers divide the whole population into parts for any subsequent actionoriented research program.

# *Percentiles, Deciles, and Quartiles (Partition Values):*

By modifying the formula for median, different percentiles/deciles/quartiles can very well be worked out to divide the whole population into as many groups as one would like to have. Just by substituting N/2 in the median formula by "Np/100," "Nd/10," or "Nq/4" and the corresponding cumulative frequencies (less than the type), where "p," "d," and "q" denote the pth percentile, dth decile, and qth quartile, respectively, one can get different percentile/decile/ quartile values.

Thus, the formula for some percentiles, deciles, or quartiles is as follows:

50th percentile or  $P_{50}$ 

$$= x_{\rm I} + \frac{50N/100 - F_{p_{50-1}}}{f_{p_{50}}}.{\rm CI} = {\rm Median}$$

where  $x_1$  is the lower class boundary of the 40th percentile class,

N is the total frequency,  $F_{P_{50-1}}$  is the cumulative frequency (less than the type) of the class



preceding the 50th percentile class,  $f_{p_{50}}$  is the frequency of the 50th percentile class, and CI is the width of the 40th percentile class.

8th decile or 
$$D_8 = x_1 + \frac{8N/10 - F_{d_{8-1}}}{f_{d_8}}$$
.Cl

where  $x_1$  is the lower class boundary of the 8th decile class,

*N* is the total frequency,  $F_{d_{8-1}}$  is the cumulative frequency (less than the type) of the class preceding the 8th decile class,  $f_{d_8}$  is the frequency of the 8th decile class, and CI is the width of the 8th decile class.

3rd quartile or 
$$Q_3 = x_1 + \frac{3N/4 - F_{q_{3-1}}}{f_{q_3}}$$
.Cl

where  $x_1$  is the lower boundary of the 3rd quartile class,

*n* is the total frequency,  $Fq_{3-1}$  is the cumulative frequency, (less than the type) of the class preceding the 3rd quartile class,  $f_{q_3}$  is the frequency of the 3rd quartile class, and CI is the width of the 3rd quartile class.

*Example 8.13.* Find the  $P_{50}$ ,  $D_8$ , and  $Q_3$  values of yield (q/ha) from the following frequency table.

Yield	Frequency	Mid	Cumulative
classes	(ji)	value $(x_i)$	nequency (Cr<)
10–20	16	15	16
20-30	54	25	70
30–40	14	35	84
40–50	11	45	95
50-60	10	55	105
60–70	10	65	115
70–80	8	75	123
80–90	7	85	130

$$P_{50} = x_1 + \frac{50N/100 - F_{p_{50-1}}}{f_{p_{50}}}.CI$$
$$= 20 + \frac{50.130/100 - 16}{54} \times 10 = 29.074$$
$$D_8 = x_1 + \frac{8N/10 - F_{d_{8-1}}}{f_{d_8}}.CI$$
$$= 50 + \frac{8 \times 130/10 - 95}{10} \times 10 = 59$$

$$Q_3 = x_1 + \frac{3N/4 - F_{q_{3-1}}}{f_{q_3}}.CI$$
  
= 50 +  $\frac{3 \times 130/4 - 95}{10} \times 10 = 52.5$ 

Thus, from the above results, one can find that 50% ( $P_{50}$ ) plants have 29.074 q/ha or less yield, 75% ( $Q_3$ ) plants have 52.5 q/ha or less yield, and 80% ( $D_8$ ) plants 59 q/ha or less yield.

### 8.2.1.3 Mode

The mode of a variable is defined as the value of the observation having a maximum frequency.

*Example 8.14.* The number of accidents per day on a specific road is given below:

15, 8, 7, 15, 10, 12, 13, 9, 10, 15, 8, 9, 10, 13,9,12, 10, 8, 10, and 7. Find the mode of the number of accidents per day.

No. accidents per day	7	8	9	10	12	13	15
Frequency	2	3	3	5	2	2	3

From the above arrangement, it is found that the maximum frequency is for the 10 accidents per day. Hence, the mode is 10.

From a *grouped/classified frequency distribution*, the mode cannot be worked out as above. The mode from a grouped frequency distribution is calculated with the help of the following formula:

$$Mo = x_{l} + \frac{f_{mo} - f_{mo-1}}{(f_{mo} - f_{mo-1}) + (f_{mo} - f_{mo+1})} \cdot CI,$$

- where  $x_1$  is the lower class boundary of the modal class,
- $f_{\rm me-1}$  is the frequency of the class preceding the modal class,
- $f_{\rm mo}$  is frequency of the modal class,
- $f_{me+1}$  is the frequency of the class following the modal class, and
- CI is the width of the modal class.

المسلية للاستشارات

Steps in Calculating the Mode:

- 1. Identify the modal class, that is, the class having the maximum observation from the frequency column.
- 2. Identify the lower class boundary  $(x_1)$ , the class width (CI), and the frequency  $(f_{mo})$  values of the modal class.
- 3. Identify the frequency of the class preceding the modal class  $(f_{m-1})$  and also the frequency of the class following the modal class  $(f_{m+1})$ .
- 4. Use the above values in the formula for mode.
- 5. Mode will be having the same unit as that of the variable.

*Example 8.15.* Find the  $P_{50}$ ,  $D_{8}$ , and  $Q_{3}$  values of yield (q/ha) from the following frequency table.

Yield classes	Frequency $(f_i)$	Mid value $(x_i)$	Cumulative frequency (CF<)
10-20	16	15	16
20-30	54	25	70
30–40	14	35	84
40–50	11	45	95
50-60	10	55	105
60–70	10	65	115
70–80	8	75	123
80–90	7	85	130

- 1. The total number of observation is 130.
- 2. The modal class is 20–30.
- 3. The lower class boundary  $(x_1)$  is 20, the class width (CI) is 10, and the frequency  $(f_m)$  is 54 of the modal class.
- 4. The frequency of the class preceding the modal class  $(f_{m-1})$  is 16 and the frequency of the class following the modal class  $(f_{m+1})$  is 14.

So the mode of the above frequency distribution is

$$Mo = 20 + \frac{54 - 16}{(54 - 16) + (54 - 14)} \times 10$$
  
= 24.87 q/ha.

Properties of Mode:

- (a) Mode is easy to calculate and understand.
- (b) For its calculation, it does not require to have all observations.
- (c) Mode cannot be put under mathematical treatments like AM and GM.
- (d) It is least affected by the presence of extreme values.
- (e) A distribution may have one or more (when two or more values have same frequency) modes. If a distribution has more than two modes, it is said to be a multimodal distribution.

*Uses of Mode*: Mode is of little use unless the number of observations is very high. Mode can best be used in case of qualitative characters like a race of people, awareness pattern of people of certain locality, and types of crop or cropping pattern grown in a particular locality.

### 8.2.1.4 Midpoint Range

Midpoint range is simply the arithmetic mean of the lowest and highest value of a given set of data. If L and U are the lowest and highest values of a given set of data, respectively, the midpoint range (MDr) is (L + U)/2. As such, it is devoid of the many good properties of average mentioned in this section for different averages. It takes care of only the two extreme values and as such affected by these values. Even then it can provide some sort of information about the data.

Selection of Proper Measure of Central Tendency: All the measures of central tendency cannot be used everywhere. The selection of appropriate measure should be based on merits and demerits of the measures of central tendency. Qualitative data can be measured through median and mode, but these two measures are not based on all observations. Among the three means, the  $AM \ge GM \ge HM$ , the AM suffers from extreme value while the GM is suitable for data which changes in definite ratio or rate. Thus, the nature of data and the objective of the study along with the characteristics of the measures are the major point of consideration during the selection of appropriate measure of central tendency.

# 8.2.2 Measures of Dispersion, Skewness, and Kurtosis

The essence of analysis of research data is to unearth the otherwise hidden truth from a set of data. In this direction, if the measures of central tendency be the search for a value around which the observations have the tendency to center around, then dispersion is a search for a spread of the observations within a given data set. Thus, if central tendency is the thesis, then dispersion is the antithesis. The tendency of the observations of any variable to remain scattered/dispersed from a central value or any other value is known as dispersion of the variable. A researcher must have good knowledge about the central tendency and the dispersion of the research data he/she is handling to discover the truth that had remained hidden so long. This is more essential because neither the measure of central tendency nor the measure of dispersion in isolation can reveal the nature of the information.

Let us take the following example:

*Example 8.16.* To measure the innovation index, ten persons from each of the society were studied, and the following table gives the indices individually.

	Innovati	ion index								
Society 1	15.00	16.50	16.00	18.00	17.00	18.50	19.00	18.50	17.50	14.00
Society 2	10.50	21.50	22.50	9.00	24.50	11.50	23.00	20.00	17.00	10.50

From the above, one can have the arithmetic means,  $\bar{X}_1 = (15 + 16.5 + \dots + 14)/10 = 7$  and  $\bar{X}_2 = (10.50 + 21.50 + \dots + 10.50)/10 = 17$ . Thus,

the central tendency measured in terms of arithmetic mean for innovation index for the above two societies is same. But a critical examination



8 Processing and Analysis of Data

of the data reveals that in society 1, the innovation remains in between 14 and 19; on the other hand, in society 2 it remains between 9 and 24.5. Thus, the innovation indices are more dispersed in society 2 than in society 1, in spite of having the same average performance for both the societies. Thus, from the above results, two conclusions can be drawn: (a) the maximum innovation potentiality and innovation variability of society 1 is less than in society 2 and (b) given a better attention, people in society 2 can be better innovative by attaining its full potentiality.

*Measures of Dispersion*: Like the measures of central tendency, there is a need to have measures for dispersion also. In fact, different measures of

dispersions are available in the theory of statistics. Before going into the details on the discussion of the different measures of dispersion, let us try to examine the characteristics of a good measure of dispersion. There should not be any ambiguity in defining a measure; it should be clear and rigid in definition. Unless a measure is convincing, that is, easily understood and applicable by the user, it is of least importance. For further application of a measure, it should be put easily under mathematical treatments. In order to reflect the true nature of the data, a good measure should try to take care of all the observations, and it should lay equal importance to each and every observation without being affected by the extreme values.

Measures o	f dispersion
Absolute measure	Relative measures
a) Range	a) Coefficient of quartile deviation
b) Mean deviation	b) Coefficient mean deviation
c) Quartile deviation	c) Coefficient of variation
d) Standard deviation	
e) Moments	

### 8.2.2.1 Absolute Measures of Dispersion

The absolute measures of dispersion have the units according to those of variables, but relative measures are pure number; as such are *unit-free* measures. Thus, unit-free measures can be used to compare distributions of different variables measured in different units.

(a) *Range*: A range of a set of observations is the difference between the maximum value and the minimum value of a set of data. Thus,  $Rx = X_{max} - X_{min}$  is the range of variable "X" for a given set of observations. In the above example, the ranges for two societies are 19-14 = 5 and 24.5-9 = 15.5, respectively, for society 1 and society 2.

*Uses of Range*: Range can be used in any type of continuous or discrete variables. Range has its uses in the field of stock market (daily variation), in meteorological forecasting, in statistical quality control, etc.

### Advantages and Disadvantages of Range:

1. Range is rigidly defined and can be calculated easily.



- 2. Though range is not based on all the observations, it cannot be worked out if there are missing values.
- 3. Range is very much affected by sampling fluctuations.

In spite of all these drawbacks, range is being used in many occasions only because of its simplicity and of having a first-hand information on the variation of the data.

(b) *Mean Deviation*: The mean deviation of variable "X" (x<sub>1</sub>, x<sub>2</sub>, x<sub>3</sub>, · · ·, x<sub>n</sub>) about any arbitrary point "A" is defined as the mean of the absolute deviation of the different values of the variable from the arbitrary point "A" and

is denoted as 
$$MD_A = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n X_i - A$$
,  $\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^n f_i} \times \sum_{i=1}^n f_i |X_i - A|$  for grouped data.

Similarly, instead of taking the deviation from the arbitrary point "A," one can take the deviation from the arithmetic mean, median, or mode also. Actually, the mean deviation of variable "X" is defined as the mean of the absolute deviation of different values of the
variable from the arithmetic mean  $\bar{X}$  of the variable and is denoted as  $MD = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i - \bar{X}$ ,  $\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i |X_i - \bar{X}|$  for grouped data. Similarly, the mean deviation from median is denoted as  $MD_{Me} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i - Me$ ,  $\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i |X_i - Me|$  for grouped data, and mean deviation from mode is  $MD_{Mo} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i - Mo$ ,  $\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i |X_i - Mo|$ for grouped data For a grouped frequency distribution,  $x_i$  is taken as the mid value of the *i*th class.

- (c) *Quartile Deviation*: Quartile deviation is defined as half of the difference between the 3rd and 1st quartile values  $QD = \frac{Q_3 Q_1}{2}$ ; that is why, it is also called as semi–inter-quartile range.
- (d) *Standard Deviation*: Standard deviation is defined as the positive square root of the arithmetic mean of the square of the deviations of the observations from arithmetic mean and is written as  $\sigma_X =$

$$+\sqrt{\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^{n}(Xi-\bar{X})^2}$$
 for raw data and  $\sigma_X =$ 

 $+\sqrt{rac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^n f^i}}\sum_{i=1}^n f^i (X_i - ar{X})^2$  for grouped data,

where  $x_i$  (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n) are the mid values of the respective classes with the frequency of  $f_i$  (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n) and  $\overline{X}$  is the mean of the variable X. The squared quantity of the standard deviation is known as the *variance* of the variable.

Thus, *variance* is the mean squared deviation from the mean for a given set of data and is written as

$$\sigma_X^2 = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n (Xi - \bar{X})^2$$
$$= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n Xi^2 - \bar{X}^2 \text{ for raw data and}$$

كالمستشارات

$$\sigma_X^2 = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^n f_i} \sum_{i=1}^n f_i (X_i - \bar{X})^2$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^n f_i} \sum_{i=1}^n f_i X_i^2 - \bar{X}^2$$

for grouped/classified data.

Properties of Variance:

- 1. Variance is rigidly and clearly defined.
- Variance has the range between 0 to ∞; when all the observations are equal (i.e., the variable remains no longer a variable), then variance/standard deviation is 0.
- 3. Variance is based on all observations.
- Variance cannot be worked out for frequency distribution with open-ended classes.
- 5. Variance is amenable to mathematical treatments.
- Variance or standard deviation is least affected by the sampling fluctuations.
- 7. Variance does not depend on the change of origin but depends on the change of scale. That means, two variables "X" and "Y" are related in the form of Y = a + bX, where *a* and *b* are two constants known as the change of origin and scale, respectively; if the variance of "X" be  $\sigma_x^2$  then the variance of "Y" would be  $b^2 \sigma_x^2$

$$\sigma_y^2 = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^n f_i} \sum_{i=1}^n f_i (Y_i - \bar{Y})^2$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^n f_i} \sum_{i=1}^n f_i (a + bX_i - a - b\bar{X})^2$   
=  $\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^n f_i} \sum_{i=1}^n b^2 f_i (X_i - \bar{X})^2 = b^2 \sigma_X^2.$ 

Thus, the variance of *Y* depends only on the change of scale, not on the change of origin. Similarly,  $\sigma_y = s.d(y) = |b|\sigma_X = |b|s.d.(x)$ .

8. The combined variance of "k" number of samples with  $n_1, n_2, n_3, \ldots, n_k$  and  $\bar{X}1$ ,  $\bar{X}2, \bar{X}3, \cdots, \bar{X}k$  as number of observations and means, respectively, is given by  $\sigma^2 = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^k n_i} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^k n_i \sigma_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^k n_i d_i^2 \right],$ where  $\sigma_i^2$  is the variance of the *i*th sample with " $n_i$ " observations, and by

sample with " $n_i$ " observations, and by  $d_i = x_i - \bar{X}$ , where  $\bar{X}$  is the combined mean of all the samples.

*Example 8.17.* The following data gives the general features of plant height (ft) of maize plants for two different samples. Find the composite variance of the maize plants.

Characteristics	Sample 1	Sample 2
Sample size	65	35
Mean height (ft)	5.34	5.49
Sample variance (ft <sup>2</sup> )	3.89	2.25

**Solution.** Combined mean height is given by  $\bar{X} = [n_1 \bar{X}_1 + n_2 \bar{X}_2]/[n_1 + n_2] = 5.4$ , and combined variance is given by  $\sigma^2 = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^2 n_i} \left[\sum_{i=1}^2 n_i \sigma_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^2 n_i d_i^2\right] = 2.21$ . So one can conclude that the average height and the combined variance of the samples are 6.4 ft and 2.21 ft<sup>2</sup>, respectively.

*Example 8.18.* If the relation between two variables is given as Y = 25 + 4.5X and the  $\sigma_X^2 = 4.2$ , then find the standard deviation of *Y*.

**Solution.** We know that  $\sigma_Y^2 = b^2 \sigma_X^2$ , here b = 4.5, so  $\sigma_Y^2 = (4.5)^2 \times 4.2 = 85.05$ .

Standard deviation  $\sigma_Y = +\sqrt{(85.05)} = 9.22$ .

Thus, from the discussion of the above measures of dispersion, one can find that the standard deviation/variance follows almost all the qualities of a good measure. As a result of which, this is being extensively used as measure of dispersion.

(e) Moments

The *r*th raw moment about an arbitrary point "*A*" is the mean of the *r*th power of the deviation of the observations from the point "*A*" and is denoted as



$$\mu'_{r}(A) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (x_{i} - A)^{r}$$

for raw data and for grouped data

$$\mu'_{r}(A) = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(x_{i} - A)'$$

where variate *X* takes the values  $x_i$  (i = 1, 2, 3, 4, ..., N) for raw data and the mid value  $x_i$  (i = 1, 2, 3, 4, ..., n) with respective frequency of  $f_i$  (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n) for *n* classes/groups and  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i = N$ .

If we take A = 0, then we get the moment about the origin

$$v_r = \frac{1}{\sum\limits_{i=1}^n f_i} \sum_{i=1}^n f_i x_i^r \text{ and putting } A = \overline{x}, \text{ and}$$
$$m_r = \frac{1}{\sum\limits_{i=1}^n f_i} \sum_{i=1}^n f_i (x_i - \overline{x})^r,$$

the rth central moment.

It can be noted that

$$\mu'_0(A) = v_0 = m_0 = 1$$
 and  
 $v_1 = \bar{x}, \ m_1 = 0, \ m_2 = \sigma^2$ 

If y = (x-c)/d, then  $m_r(x) = d^r m_r(y)$ , where "c" and "d" are constants. Since  $x_i = c + dy_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, 4, ..., n, and  $\overline{x} = c + d\overline{y}$ , we have

$$m_{r}(x) = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(c + dy_{i} - c - d\bar{Y})^{r}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}d^{r}(y_{i} - \bar{Y})^{r} = d^{r}m_{r}(y)$$

#### 8.2.2.2 Relative Measures of Dispersion

Relative measures of dispersions are mainly coefficients based on the absolute measures, also known as coefficients of dispersion, are unit-free measures, and are mostly ratios or percentages.

1. Coefficient of dispersion based on range: It is defined as  $\frac{X_{\text{max}} - X_{\text{min}}}{X_{\text{max}} + X_{\text{min}}}$ ;  $X_{\text{max}}$  and  $X_{\text{min}}$  are the maximum and minimum values of variable "X."

- 2. Coefficient of dispersion based on quartile deviation: It is defined as  $\frac{Q_3-Q_1}{2} = \frac{Q_3-Q_1}{Q_3+Q_1}$
- Coefficient of dispersion based on mean deviation from mean / median / mode / arbitrary point: This measure is given by <u>MD mean/median/mode etc.</u> <u>Mean/Median/Mode</u>
- 4. Coefficient of dispersion based on standard deviation: It is defined as  $\frac{\sigma_X}{X}$ , where  $\sigma_X$  and  $\bar{X}$  are the standard deviation and arithmetic mean of variable "X," respectively. The more widely used and customary coefficient of dispersion based on standard deviation is the "coefficient of variation (CV)"  $\frac{\sigma_X}{X} \times 100$ .

#### 8.2.2.3 Skewness and Kurtosis

Neither the measure of central tendency nor the measure of dispersion alone is sufficient to extract the inherent characteristics of a given set of data. We need to combine both these measures together. We can come across with a situation where two frequency distributions have the same measures of central tendency as well as measure of dispersion but they differ widely in their nature.

*Example 8.20.* Given below are the two frequency distributions for a number of nuts per bunch with respective means as 12.62 and 12.11 and standard deviations as 3.77 and 3.484, respectively. Thus, both the distributions have almost the same measure of central tendency as well as measure of dispersion. But a close look at the graphs drawn for the two frequency distributions shows that they differ widely in nature (Fig. 8.12).

Along with the measures of dispersion and central tendency, there should be certain measures which can provide the exact picture of the given data set. *Skewness* and *kurtosis* talk about the nature of the frequency distribution.

The *skewness* of a frequency distribution is the departure of the frequency distribution from symmetricity.

A frequency distribution is either *symmetric* or *asymmetric/skewed*. Again an asymmetric/ skewed distribution may be *positively skewed* or *negatively skewed*.



*Example 8.21.* Let us take the example of the panicle length in three different varieties of paddy. The frequency distributions and the corresponding graphical representations are given in Figs. 8.13, 8.14, and 8.15.

Among the different measures, the measures based on moments are mostly used and are given as  $\sqrt{\beta_1} = \gamma_1 = \frac{m_3}{\sqrt{m_2^3}}$ , where  $m_3$  and  $m_2$  are the 3rd and 2nd central moments, respectively. It may be noted that all the measures of skewness have no units; these are pure numbers and equal to zero when the distribution is symmetric. Further, it is to be noted that  $\beta_1 = \frac{m_3^2}{m_2^3} \ge 0$ . The sign of  $\sqrt{\beta_1}$  depends on the sign of  $m_3$ .

김 للاستشارات

*Kurtosis* refers to the peakedness of a frequency distribution. While skewness refers to the horizontal property of the frequency distribution, kurtosis refers to the vertical nature of the frequency distribution. According to the nature of peak, a distribution is *leptokurtic*, *mesokurtic*, or *platykurtic* in nature. Kurtosis is measured in terms of  $\beta_2 = \frac{m_4}{m_2^2}$ , where  $m_4$  and  $m_2$  are the 4th and 2nd central moments, respectively. If  $\beta_2 > 3$ ,  $\beta_2 = 3$ , the distribution is platykurtic. In the case of a normal distribution is platykurtic. In the case of a normal distribution mentioned in Chap. 6, if this is taken as standard, the quantity  $\beta_2 - 3$  measures the what is known as excess of kurtosis. If  $\beta_2 > 3$ , the distribution is leptokurtic, and  $\beta_2 = 3$ , the

				Distrib	ution 1				
Class	Frequency				Dia	tributi	on 1		
3.5-6.5	11				Dis	sinbut	0111		
6.5-9.5	27		60			000000000000000000000000000000000000000			
9.5-12.5	45		50					L	
12.5-15.5	54	l or	40		/				
15.5-18.5	34	lanba	30						
18.5-21.5	8	Ĩ	20						
Mean	12.62		10						
			0						
SD	3.77			3.5-6.5	6.5-9.5	9.5-12.5	12.5-15.5	15.5-18.5	18.5-21.5
						Cla	sses		



**Fig. 8.12** (a) Graphical presentation of a no. of nuts per plant in 179 plants of coconut, (b) Graphical presentation of a no. of nuts per plant in 159 plants of coconut



Fig. 8.13 Graphical presentation of a symmetric distribution

		Positively Skewed Distribution
Class	Frequency	40 Positively skewed frequency distribution
2.5-7.5	14	35
7.5-12.5	24	30
12.5-17.5	34	> 25
17.5-22.5	28	
22.5-27.5	12	
27.5-32.5	9	<b>L</b> 15
32.5-37.5	7	
Mean	17.148	5
Median	16.32	
		2.5-7.5 7.5-12.5 12.5-17.5 17.5-22.5 22.5-27.5 27.5-32.5 32.5-37.5
Mode	15.6	Classes

Fig. 8.14 Graphical presentation of a positively skewed distribution



Fig. 8.15 Graphical presentation of a negatively skewed distribution

mesokurtic, and the distribution is platykurtic in nature. It can be shown that  $\beta_2 \ge 1 + \beta_1$ .

*Example 8.22.* The frequency distribution of the length of the leaflet of the three varieties of tube rose flower is given in Figs. 8.16, 8.17 and 8.18. It is clear from the corresponding figures that the three distributions vary widely with respect to the peakedness of the frequency graph.

A leptokurtic distribution means an aggregation of more observations (frequency) in a particular class or a couple of classes. Mesokurtic distribution follows the general norm that at the lower classes, there are a fewer number of frequencies, and as the class value increases, the number of observations (frequency) also increases then reaches to the peak, and as the class value increases further, the number of observations (frequency) decreases. On the other hand, in a platykurtic distribution, a good number of classes have almost the same higher observations and thereby, forming a platelike structure at the top of the frequency distribution.

Thus, to know the nature of the data, the measures of central tendency and measures of dispersion along with skewness and kurtosis of the frequency distribution are essential.

With the help of the following example, we shall demonstrate how these analyses could be taken up using SAS 9.3.

*Example 8.23.* The following table gives the yield attributing characters along with the yield for 37 varieties. We are to summarize the data in terms of the different measures of dispersion, central tendency, skewness, and kurtosis.

Class	Frequency	80 Leptokurtic frequency distribution
2.5-7.5	6	
7.5-12.5	8	60 -
12.5-17.5	13	2 50 -
17.5-22.5	72	ag 40 -
22.5-27.5	16	₽ 30 - / X · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
27.5-32.5	7	20 -
32.5-37.5	6	10 -
Mean	20.04	
μ2	38.48	2 5 7 5 7 5 1 2 5 1 2 5 1 7 5 1 7 5 2 5 2 7 5 2 7 5 2 7 5 2 7 5 2 7 5
μ4	6060.72	2.5-7.5 7.5-12.5 12.5-17.5 17.5-22.5 22.5-27.5 27.5-32.5 32.5-37.5
β2	4.0942	Class

Fig. 8.16 Graphical presentation of a leptokurtic distribution



Fig. 8.17 Graphical presentation of a mesokurtic distribution



Fig. 8.18 Graphical presentation of a platykurtic distribution



SL No	X1	X2	X3	<i>X</i> 4	X5	X6	LX	X8	6X	X10	X11	X12	X13	X14	X15	X16	X17	X18	X19	Y
_ 	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85
2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.41
ربہ ع	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12
M 4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39
5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82
9	35.02	132.90	128.79	18.47	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82
L	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14
∞	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87	143.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28
6	34.10	147.68	125.74	19.67	153.00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18
10	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78
н	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10.19	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41
12	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26
13	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56
14	33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73
15	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85
16	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94
17	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86
18	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7 <i>.</i> 77	502.73
19	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12
20	33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93
21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47
22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67
23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57
24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87
25	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53
26	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42
27	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74
28	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22
29	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62
30	36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00
31	37.34	157.67	151.84	21.63	195.33	102.57	24.90	33.50	10.90	161.70	8.42	2.20	232.85	1582.33	291.33	1.76	2.05	10.76	8.12	442.93
32	33.13	151.16	143.56	24.53	191.00	98.26	25.00	29.50	11.03	135.25	7.69	2.20	203.45	1588.33	250.95	2.15	1.80	9.63	7.10	331.91
33	30.20	144.68	133.70	21.73	176.00	95.76	22.50	35.83	10.50	140.91	6.96	1.94	154.35	1611.00	277.85	1.89	2.00	10.19	7.25	321.00
34	30.26	140.64	119.93	21.93	178.67	94.23	20.77	37.67	9.30	128.65	7.12	2.13	159.38	1601.00	286.54	1.89	1.99	10.35	7.28	283.70
35	31.27	141.59	123.96	19.37	180.67	105.51	18.00	35.33	8.93	133.87	6.65	1.91	205.68	1648.00	302.31	1.74	2.23	12.42	8.15	276.98
36	33.17	150.82	131.18	18.80	178.67	107.36	17.37	31.17	9.23	143.59	6.68	1.92	206.11	1634.00	306.61	2.08	2.12	11.87	9.09	300.94
37	32.15	151.23	137.13	22.37	179.67	112.17	20.13	30.83	8.90	143.36	6.83	1.81	203.41	1650.33	304.86	2.12	2.15	11.52	9.27	295.61

ت

 Analysis Through MS Excel If one wants to perform the above analyses using MS Excel software, then one should follow the following steps: Step 1: Go to Data Analysis submenu of Data in MS Excel. Select Descriptive Statistics as shown below.

6		- D(-)							al car and				and the Server								- A ×
8	3)					-			or sas ana			odej - Mic								-	
	Home	Insert	Page La	yout ro	rimutas	Data Re	view vie	rw.						00000					100		~
	2 3	13		16	0	Connection	15 21 <u>2</u>	X	G. Clear	. 2		=		- 12		1		how Detail	Data A	halysis	
Ft	on From	From Fro	m Other	Existing	Refresh	Properties	AL Se	ort Filter	Ve Adapp	Text	to Remove	Data	Consolid	late What-2	Group	Ungroup Su	ibtotal 2	ode Detail			
AD	tess Web	Get Extern	urces + + C		AB Con	nections		Sort & F	liter	COIU	nns Duplicat	es Validation Data To	ols	Analysis		Out	Ine	6	Anabr	1	
-	112		6	fr v				170100	1010			200340									×
	4	в	6	D	F	F	6	н	1		×	1	м	N	0	p	0	8	ç	Ť	
2	SL No	X1	X2	X3	X4	X5	X6	X7	XS	X9	X10	X11	X12	X13	X14	X15	X16	X17	X18	X19	v
3	1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.8
4	2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.8		-					1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.4
5	3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.0	ta Analysis				_	4	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.1
6	4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.7	narysis Tools	where totals are a	Deckration			к 2	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.3
7	5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.7	Correlation	SCION MILLIOUS	Repacation		- Co	ncel 6	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.8
8	6	35.02	132.90	128.79	18.47	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.0	Covariance Descriptive Sta	tistics				+	1.34	2,41	13.37	6.91	369.8
9	7	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.7	Exponential Sn	soothing sole for Varia	and and		6	10 2	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.1
10	8	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87	143.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.4	ourier Analysi	5	1,05			4	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.2
11	9	34.10	147.68	125,74	19.67	153.00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9.6	tistogram Noving Averag					p	1.95	2.74	15.22	\$.94	350.1
12	10	9 34.10 147,68 125.74 19.67 15 10 37.05 153.77 123.49 19.10 16 11 43.70 161.61 124.89 19.07 16						24.07	30.00	9.2	Random Numb	er Generation			<u>×</u>	8	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.7
13	11	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30		10.15			1/02/07	200.02	1.77	2,73	14.98	8.67	489.4
14	12	41.96	160.23	114,79	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237,48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.2
15	15	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	145.00	107.58	20.03	20.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.00	1009.00	2/0.24	1./4	2.4/	12.21	8.01	384.5
10	14	24.56	122.17	110.07	19.33	164.33	116.45	22.27	24.85	9.17	130.27	0 44	2.10	1/8.28	1490.00	294.98	1.07	2.29	11.52	6.69	363.5
18	16	32.46	146.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.45	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.40	8.35	2.25	202 79	1547 33	307.51	1.54	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.0
19	17	34.01	156.00	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9 10	151 50	10.06	2.54	216 33	1662.67	316 73	1.42	2.66	14 93	7.46	505.5
20	18	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.7
21	19	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.1
22	20	33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.9
23	21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.4
24	22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.6
25	23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.5
16.4	F H Sh	set1 /Sha	et2 / She	et3 / tJ									110								14
Rea	dy				_	_	_	_			_	_	Averag	pe: 160.64183	86 Count:	798 Sum:	124818.7086		100% (-	)0	۲
1	start	Doo too			PKS BOXY		1 8- Pr	ocessing (Re	pair E	15 aug. sa		Nicro	soft Excel - d	ist 🛅	Untitled - SP		in Outp		wer <table-cell></table-cell>	:	

Slide 8.5: Step 1 showing the entry or the transformation of data to Excel data sheet and Data Analysis menu selection

Step 2: Provide the input range and the output range (where the output is to be placed up

on analysis), and tick on to Summary Statistics as shown below.

6	1110																				
8	() (al -)	. (						data													
	Home	Insert	Page La	yout Fo	emulas	Data Re	view Vi	ew												<u>.</u>	. 0 X
Fit Act	om From Veb	From fro Text So	ni Other	Existing	C Refresh All -	Connection Properties Edit Links	* 21 <u>2</u> 31 s	oit Filter	K. Clear G. Reapp G. Advan	aly Te Col	to Remov	e Data tes Validatio	Consolid	ate What-W Analysis	Group Ur	aroib.	Subtotal	how Detail Ide Detail	Data A	natysis	
		Get Externi	al Data		Con	nections	1	Sold of F	iter			Data 10	loit		1	0	utine	18	Anaty	19	
	U2		C	Je y	_					-							_				¥
1	8	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	) Di	scriptive St	atistics					R	S	Т	U	V 🖌
2	X1	X2	X3	X4	X5	X6	X7	X8	X9	XI	rput			(21)	OK		X17	X18	X19	у	
3	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149	Input Range:		\$8\$2:\$0\$	99	Canad		1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85	
4	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144	Grouped By:		⊙ ⊆olumn	F	Canco	= 1	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.41	
5	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145			OBows		Help		244	15.45	9.33	358.12	
6	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141	Labels in firs	t row					2.30	15.63	7.93	341.39	
7	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133	adout options						2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82	
8	35.02	132.90	128.79	18.47	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145	Outruit Barn	-	\$8\$41				2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82	
9	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149	Manu Worket	und Div					2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14	
10	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87	143.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.47	133	New Workby	webs (City)					2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28	
11	34.10	147.68	125.74	19.67	153.00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9.67	132	Current House						2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18	
12	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137	Summary st	abstics		-			2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78	
13	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147	Coglidence	Level for Mea	n: 20	~			2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41	
14	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135	Kth Largest		1	_			2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26	
15	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129	Nth Smallest						2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56	
16	33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130							2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73	
17	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85	
18	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94	
19	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86	
20	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73	
21	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12	
22	33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93	
23	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47	
24	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67	
25	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57	
14.4	FH Sh	eet1 /She	et2 She	et3 . 22									114								
Rea	dy																		2001	у	•
-	start	1 2 boo		14	PKS BOXY (		1 8-Pro	cessing (Repa	i 🖬	15 aug. se	program	Mcroso	ft Excel - dat	🖬 u	titled - SPSS De	sta	In Output!			R.Q.S	2:33 PM

Slide 8.6: Step 2 showing the selection of appropriate menus in Descriptive Data Analysis menu of MS Excel

Step 3: Click OK to	get	the	win	dow	as g	given
below containing	the	out	tput	for	each	and
every character.						

0	1	(r - ) u						data of	sas analysis	[Compat	ibility Mode	) - Micros	oft Excel								. x
	Home	Insert	Page Layout	Formu	das Data	Review	v View													0 - 1	= x
Fro	From F SS Web 1	rom From O fext Source set External D	ther Exis	iting Ri	efresh an Ed Connecti	nnections perties t Links ons	21 2 X XI Sort	Fitter Sont & Fitter	(c Clear (s Reapply (r Advanced	Text to Columns	Remove Duplicates V	Data Jalidation * Data Tools	Consolidate	What-W Analysis -	Group Ung	roup Subto	9∃ Show −∃ Hide I	Detail Detail	g Data Analys Analysis	5	
	841	- (	f.	X1																	¥
	8	c	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	к	L	м	N	0	Р	Q	R	s	т	U	
34	33.13	151.16	143.56	24.53	191.00	98.26	25.00	29.50	11.03	135.25	7.69	2.20	203.45	1588.33	250.95	2.15	1.80	9.63	7.10	331.91	
35	30.20	144.68	133.70	21.73	176.00	95.76	22.50	35.83	10.50	140.91	6.96	1.94	154.35	1611.00	277.85	1.89	2.00	10.19	7.25	321.00	
36	30.26	140.64	119.93	21.93	178.67	94.23	20.77	37.67	9.30	128.65	7,12	2.13	159.38	1601.00	286.54	1.89	1.99	10.35	7.28	283.70	
37	31.27	141.59	123.96	19.37	180.67	105.51	18.00	35.33	8.93	133.87	6.65	1.91	205.68	1648.00	302.31	1.74	2.23	12.42	8.15	276.98	
38	33.17	150.82	131.18	18.80	178.67	107.36	17.37	31.17	9.23	143.59	6.68	1.92	206.11	1634.00	306.61	2.08	2.12	11.87	9.09	300.94	
39	32.15	151.23	137.13	22.37	179.67	112.17	20.13	30.83	8.90	143.36	6.83	1.81	203.41	1650.33	304.86	2.12	2.15	11.52	9.27	295.61	
40		1		Ê			( ) ( )														
41	X1		X2		X3		X4		X5		Xб		X7		X8		X9		X10		2
42																					
43 7	Aean	34.43414	Mean	150.7062	Mean	134.2626	Mean	20.72883	Mean	164.3514	Mean	104.3663	Mean	23.53514	Mean	31.33153	Mean	9.728829	Mean	138.7849	Me-
44 5	tandard Err	c 0.512985	Standard	1.603549	Standard I	1.89176	Standard I	0.305628	Standard I	2.902053	Standard I	1.165975	Standard	0.350263	Standard I	0.733278	Standard I	0.172622	Standard I	1.587662	Star
45 0	Aedian	34.09667	Median	151.23	Median	135.6167	Median	20.53333	Median	162.6667	Median	104.5133	Median	23.9	Median	30.83333	Median	9.333333	Median	137.2433	Me
40 1	tandard De	#IN/M	Standard	9 754005	Standard I	11 50712	Standard I	1 259065	Standard I	17 65 25	Standard I	7 092347	Standard I	2 120567	Standard I	4 460353	Standard I	1.050019	Standard I	9 657271	Star
48	amole Vari	a 9.736686	Sample V.	95.14061	Sample V	132,4139	Sample V	3.456121	Sample V.	311.6108	Samole V	50.30138	Samole V	4.539318	Sample V	19.89475	Samole V	1.102541	Samole V.	93,26481	San
49	urtosis	1.407592	Kurtosis	-1.16582	Kurtosis	-1.15593	Kurtosis	-0.63903	Kurtosis	-0.95787	Kurtosis	-0.54709	Kurtosis	1.732743	Kurtosis	-0.19312	Kurtosis	2.007288	Kurtosis	0.092423	Kur
50 5	kewness	0.963182	Skewness	-0.04707	Skewness	-0.13192	Skewness	0.034576	Skewness	0.212117	Skewness	-0.07245	Skewness	-1.01749	Skewness	0.195026	5 Skewness	1.529744	Skewness	0.056591	Ske
51	lange	14.34333	Range	35.46333	Range	39.45667	Range	7.866667	Range	65.33333	Range	27.58667	Range	10.2	Range	20	Range	4.366667	Range	43.92333	Ran
52 1	Ainimum	29.35667	Minimum	132.9	Minimum	114.7933	Minimum	16.66667	Minimum	130	Minimum	90.33	Minimum	17.36667	Minimum	22.5	5 Minimum	8.5	Minimum	117.78	Mir .
53 1	Maximum	43.7	Maximum	168.3633	Maximum	154.25	Maximum	24.53333	Maximum	195.3333	Maximum	117.9167	Maximum	27.56667	Maximum	42.5	6 Maximum	12.86667	Maximum	161.7033	Max
54 5	um	1274.063	Sum	5576.13	Sum	4967.717	Sum	766.9667	Sum	6081	Sum	3861.553	Sum	870.8	Sum	1159.267	7 Sum	359.9667	Sum	5135.04	Sun
55	Count	37	Count	37	Count	37	Count	37	Count	37	Count	37	Count	37	Count	37	Count	37	Count	37 (	Cou
56																					-
57																					- U
38	E H Shee	ti Sheat?	Chear?	197/																_	
Read	y Shee	CA											-			C	ount: 540		00%		•
-	start	book.		P	KS BOXY (J:)	1	a B- Process	ing (Repai	15 a	ug. sas prog	ram 💽	Mcrosoft E	xcel - dat	tratie	ed - SPSS Data		Output1 - SPS	S Viewer		2.5	FM

Slide 8.7: Step 3 showing the output in Descriptive data Analysis menu of MS Excel

#### 2. Analysis Through SPSS

Step 1: When these data are transferred to SPSS 11.5 Data Editor either copying

from the sources or importing, it looks like the following slide.

Untitle	d - SPSS D	ata Editor																					) <b>e</b> 🔀
File Edit	View Data	Transform	Analyze	Graph	s Utilitie	s Window	Help															_	
📽 🖬 d	B 🔍 🗠	01 164		4	1 m	10	F5 👒	0															
15:x1			34.56																				
1	sino	xt	x2	x3	x4	x5	36	×7	x8	x9	×10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18	x19	v I	Var	1 -
1	1	32.34	151.8	140.5	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313 38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85		
2	2	29.85	140.7	141.0	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675 33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.41		
3	3	32.38	138.8	144.3	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12		
4	4	38.33	138.3	140.1	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39		
5	5	37.81	140.2	135.6	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82		
6	6	35.02	132.9	128.8	18.47	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82		
7	7	32.25	136.1	123.4	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14		
8	8	32.56	137.1	116.2	18.87	143.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28		
9	9	34.10	147.7	125.7	19.67	153.00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18		_
10	10	37.05	153.8	123.5	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1,77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78		
11	11	43.70	161.6	124.9	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10.2	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41		
12	12	41.96	160.2	114.8	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26		
13	13	38.29	144.8	115.6	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56		
14	14	33.84	155.2	117.8	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73		
15	15	34.56	148.7	119.1	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85		
16	16	32.46	156.0	121.0	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94		
17	17	34.01	157.0	138.9	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.1	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86		
18	18	34.58	162.5	145.6	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.5	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73		
19	19	34.22	166.2	153.2	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.0	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12		
20	20	33.13	162.8	143.0	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93		
21	21	34.27	168.4	135.3	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47		
22	22	31.85	163.6	129.0	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67		
23	23	29.36	160.9	129.2	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57		
24	24	35.01	154.6	140.1	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87		
25	25	35.71	161.4	145.1	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53		
26	26	38.24	159.3	144.6	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42		
27	27	35.36	147.7	144.0	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.1	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74		
28	28	33.81	139.2	145.3	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.0	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22		
29	29	34.44	139.4	146.7	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62		
30	30	36.05	151.5	154.3	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00		-
	a View (V	ariable Vie	wT										- 14				1			* ***			
			-										1		SPSS F	hocessor is re	ady				1		
🏭 stal	start book		1	PKS D	OKV (J.)		1 8- Pro	ocessing (	Repai	15	aug. sa	s program	🔊	Microsoft Excel	- dat	Unkilled - SP	SS Data	Cutput I -	SPSS Viewer	8 ° C	0.2	2:24 PM	

Slide 8.8: Step 1 showing the entry or transferred data in SPSS Data Editor

Step 2: Go to Analysis menu followed by Descriptive Statistics and Descriptive as shown below.

🛅 Untitled	- SPSS Dat	a Editor	-																				6 🛛
File Edit V	iew Data	ransform	Analyz	Graph	s Ubliber	s Window	w Help																
1	0	CH INT	Rep	orts	atistics	. les	International	AL															
15 : x1			3 Tab	les	1005005		escriptives.																
	also I	-1	Con	ipare Mea	ans	• E	xplore	h			-10	-11	-12	-12	- u I	-15	-10		-10	-10	- I		1 1
-	sino	x1	Gen	eral Linea	ar Model		vosstabs		×18	X9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x1/	x18	x19	y are or	var	1-1
1	1	32.34	Mor	ed Models	÷	• R	atio	0	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85		
2	2	29.85	Con	relate		. 00	104:45	23 20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	16/5.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.41		-
3	3	32.38	Reg	ression		. 00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	16/2.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12		
4	4	38.33	Cla	inear		33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.5/	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	203.92	1.5/	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39		
0	5	37.81	Dat	a Darkuti	-	107	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	1.12	2.15	207.93	1621.00	2/7.00	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82		
Б	6	35.02	Scal	le	011	, 00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82		-
7	7	32.25	Non	parametri	ic Tests	, 00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	3/3.14		
8	8	32.56	Time	e Series		. 6/	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28		-
9	9	34.10	Sun	lavival		, 00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9,67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18		
10	10	37.05	MA	tiple Resp	onse	, 00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78		
11	11	43.70	Miss	sing Value	Analysis	. 33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10.2	2.73	239.65	1/85.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41		
12	12	41.96	160.2	114.8	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26		
13	13	38.29	144.8	115.6	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56		-
14	14	33.84	155.2	117.8	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73		
15	15	34.56	148.7	119.1	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85		-
16	16	32.46	156.0	121.0	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1,44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94		
17	17	34.01	157.0	138.9	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.1	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86		
18	18	34.58	162.5	145.6	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.5	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73		_
19	19	34.22	166.2	153.2	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.0	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12		
20	20	33.13	162.8	143.0	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93		
21	21	34.27	168.4	135.3	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47		
22	22	31.85	163.6	129.0	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67		
23	23	29.36	160.9	129.2	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57		
24	24	35.01	154.6	140.1	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87		
25	25	35.71	161.4	145.1	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53		
26	26	38.24	159.3	144.6	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42		
27	27	35.36	147.7	144.0	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.1	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74		
28	28	33.81	139.2	145.3	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.0	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22		
29	29	34.44	139.4	146.7	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62		
30	30	36.05	151.5	154.3	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1,79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00		-
() Data	View View	iable Vie	wT-										14				1						1
Descriptives	A		-												SPSS P	hocessor is n	Nady				1	1	-
14 star		book		1	PASE	007(0:)		1 8-Pm	ocessing (	Repai	11	840.59	s program		Microsoft Excel	i-dat	In unsteed - SP	SS Data	To Cutput 1 -	SPSS Viewer	8 . 6	05 2	26 PM

Slide 8.9: Step 2 showing the selection of appropriate Data Analysis menu in SPSS analysis

Step 3: Select the variable for which one wants the Descriptive Statistics and then click on to Option menu as shown below.

Untitled	I - SPSS Dat	a Editor	Anda	Careb	e Ibibio	e Weden	, Male																16 🛛
			1.10		STIC-I	minti		0															
15.1					and the	mar									_								
15: XI	Description		JA 56									1											1
	Descripti	mea							×8	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18	×19	у	Vär	-
1	🗼 sho		_	Vania	sble(s)		- 01	< 1 P	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85		
2					×1	1	-		33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14,50	9.45	354.41		
3				2	×2		Pa	Ae 3	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12		
4			5	- L 🏅	×3		Re	uet 3	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39		_
5			-	- 1	5		Can	cel L	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82		
6					*6				29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82		_
7					×7		e He	0 3	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373,14		_
8	E Courter	der dar de					Ontion	. 18	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28		+
9	1 Save stars	Garotzed v	auer ar	vanacies					30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18		
10		10.70	101.0	121.0	10.07	400.00		· X	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.2/	184.37	1/02.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78		_
11	11	43.70	161.6	124.9	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	X5.93	10.30	147.31	10.2	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14,98	8.67	489.41		
12	12	41.96	160.2	114.8	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	2483	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26		
13	13	38.29	144.8	115.6	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56	_	_
14	14	33.84	155.2	117.8	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	SV/	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73		_
15	15	34.56	148.7	119.1	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.35	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85		_
16	16	32.46	156.0	121.0	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	18.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1,44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94		_
17	17	34.01	157.0	138.9	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.60	10.1	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86		_
18	18	34.58	162.5	145.6	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.5	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73		_
19	19	34.22	166.2	153.2	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.0	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12		_
20	20	33.13	162.8	143.0	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93		_
21	21	34.27	168.4	135.3	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47		_
22	22	31.85	163.6	129.0	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67		
23	23	29.36	160.9	129.2	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57		_
24	24	35.01	154.6	140.1	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87		_
25	25	35.71	161.4	145.1	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53		
26	26	38.24	159.3	144.6	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42		
27	27	35.36	147.7	144.0	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.1	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74		_
28	28	33.81	139.2	145.3	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.0	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22		
29	29	34.44	139.4	146.7	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62		
30	30	36.05	151.5	154.3	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00		-
( ) Data	View Var	iable Vie	wT										1										2
1000			8										100		SPSS P	hocessor is re	ady						100
🐮 star		book.		1	PISE	DKV (J:)	1	18-P	ocessing	Repai	15	aug. se	s program	💽	Morosoft Excel	- dat	Untitled - SP	SS Data	Dutput1 -		8 2 4	0.0	2:46 PM

Slide 8.10: Step 3 showing the selection of appropriate variables for Analysis menu in SPSS

Step 4: From Options, select the required measures as shown below and click on to Continue.

📅 Untitlec	- SPSS Dat	a Editor	1	0.00																			ð 🗙
FRE LOC Y	and Loca	raracem	nonra	Grape	a Utility	s wrater	rep	-															
🗩 🖬 🚳	1	Cie Ing	1	A S	千亡		F 💊	0															
15: x1			34.56																				
	Descript	wes						X	x8	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18	x19	v I	var	-
1			-	Varia	() Juli			. 0	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85		-
2	📀 sino				x1		0		Descri	ations.	Ontines				1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.41		
3				- I -	×2		Pa	te 3	Deserr	prives.	options			<b>••</b>	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12		
4					×3		0.	3	₩ Me	ian	E s	um	Cor	tinue.	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2 59	15.63	7.93	341.39		
5				10	**			5	Dispe	rsion			-		1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82		
6			_	- 0	×5		Can	cel 3	IT Sh	1 deviatio		finimum		nce	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82		
7				1	x6		He	6 3	E Va	inne	E N	lavinum.	н	lelp	1867.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14		
8				1.00	×/	0	-	3	-						162167	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28		
9	Save star	dardized v	alues as	variables			Option	1. 3	1 16	nge	1× 5	.t. mear			1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18		
10								7	District	whiten					1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78		
11	11	43.70	161.6	124.9	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	₩ Ku	rtosis	I⊽ s	kevness			1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41		
12	12	41.96	160.2	114.8	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27		~ .					1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26		
13	13	38.29	144.8	115.6	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	Daple	ey Order					1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56		
14	14	33.84	155.2	117.8	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	• V4	stable list					1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73		
15	15	34.56	148.7	119.1	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	C AI	phabetic					1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85		
16	16	32.46	156.0	121.0	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	CA	icending	neans				1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94		
17	17	34.01	157.0	138.9	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	C D	escending	means				1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86		
18	18	34.58	162.5	145.6	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.07	9.20	144.00	10.5	2.00	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73		
19	19	34.22	166.2	153.2	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.0	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12		
20	20	33.13	162.8	143.0	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93		
21	21	34.27	168.4	135.3	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47		
22	22	31.85	163.6	129.0	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67		
23	23	29.36	160.9	129.2	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57		
24	24	35.01	154.6	140.1	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87		
25	25	35.71	161.4	145.1	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53		
26	26	38.24	159.3	144.6	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42		
27	27	35.36	147.7	144.0	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.1	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74		
28	28	33.81	139.2	145.3	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.0	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22		
29	29	34.44	139.4	146.7	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62		
30	30	36.05	151.5	154.3	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00		-
() Data	View View	iable Vie	WT										11				1						1
(ease	A														SPSS Pr	ocessor is re	ady				1 K	1	-
🐮 star		book		1	PKS B	DKV (J:)	1	1 8- Pri	ocessing (	Repai	15	aug. ser	s program	8	Microsoft Excel	dat	Untitled - SP	SS Data	Cutput1 -	SPSS Wewer	8 2 6	0 🖉 20	7 PM

Slide 8.11: Step 4 showing the selection of appropriate Analysis submenu of SPSS

Step 5: Click of	on to	OK	as	given	below	to	get
the output.							

🛗 Untitler	1 - SPSS Dat	ta Editor																				-	8 X
and the set	L ml int	and m	1 - 1 -	1 44		m +	rep Intel and	21															-
		C. 104	E	2 1	10		<b>D</b>	0															
15:x1			34.56																				
	Descript	ives							хß	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18	x19	у	var	
1	a des		_	Van	(s)elde		- [0		31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85		
2	4				×1	8			33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.41		
3					×2		Pas	te 3	\$3.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12		
4			-	- L	×3		Ret	et 3	34.58	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39		
5			2				Car	1	33.50	25	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82		
6					16			m B	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82		
7					×7		He	6 3	30.33	9.70	149,08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14		
8	-		1000				Onteres	. I B	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28		+
9	1 Save star	idardized v	values as	vanable			Option	<u> </u>	30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1,95	2.74	15.22	8.94	350,18		
10								7	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78		_
11	11	43.70	161.6	124.9	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10.2	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41		
12	12	41.96	160.2	114.8	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26		
13	13	38.29	144.8	115.6	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384,56		
14	14	33.84	155.2	117.8	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73		_
15	15	34.56	148.7	119,1	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85		_
16	16	32.46	156.0	121.0	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1,44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94		
17	17	34.01	157.0	138.9	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.1	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86		_
18	18	34.58	162.5	145.8	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.5	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73		_
19	19	34.22	166.2	153.2	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.0	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12		
20	20	33.13	162.8	143.0	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93		
21	21	34.27	168.4	135.3	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47		
22	22	31.85	163.6	129.0	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67		
23	23	29.36	160.9	129.2	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57		
24	24	35.01	154.6	140.1	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87		
25	25	35.71	161.4	145.1	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53		
26	26	38.24	159.3	144.8	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42		
27	27	35.36	147.7	144.0	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.1	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74		
28	28	33.81	139.2	145.3	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.0	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22		
29	29	34.44	139.4	146.7	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62		
30	30	36.05	151.5	154.3	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1,79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00		
() Dat	View View	riable Vie	wT										1										2
															SPSS P	hocessor is re	ady .						
🐮 star	E ) 🗈	book.			PKS B			1 8- Pr		Repai	15	aug. sa	s program	h 📧		I-dat	Untitled - SP	SS Data	Cutputi -		8 . 4	Q 🗊 2	28 PM

Slide 8.12: Step 4 showing the appropriate command to get the output in Analysis submenu of SPSS

Cutput1 - SPSS Viewer													- 62
File Edit View Insert Format Analyze Graph	s Utilities Window Help												
	() 🛃 !												
** *													
B- Gutput													
Descriptives	100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100												
- Notes	Descriptives												
Descriptive Statistics													
				D	escriptive St	atistics							
		N	Minimum	Maximum	Me	an	Skew	mess	Kurt	osis			
		Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Std. Error	Statistic	Std. Error	Statistic	Std. Error			
	X1	37	29.36	43.70	34.4341	.5129	.963	.388	1.408	.759			
	×2	37	132.90	168.36	150.7065	1.6036	047	.388	+1,166	.759			
	×3	37	114.79	154.25	134.2630	1.8918	132	.388	-1.156	.759			
	×5	37	10.07	105.33	164 2610	2 0020	.036	388	040	./59			
	X6	37	90.33	117.92	104.3519	1 1660	.072	200	. 647	759			
	X7	37	17 27	27.67	23 5354	3502	-1.015	200	1 727	759			
	X8	37	22.50	42.50	31.3311	7333	.195	388	- 193	759			
	×9	37	8.50	12.87	9.7289	.1727	1.529	388	2.010	759			
	×10	37	117.78	161.70	138,7843	1.5876	.056	.388	.093	.759			
	X11	37	6.65	10.46	8.3603	.1721	.440	.388	593	.759			
	X12	37	1.81	2.84	2.2551	.0417	.531	.388	438	.759			
	X13	37	117.85	263.96	198.6154	5.4331	539	.388	089	.759			
	X14	37	1496.00	1785.67	1650.1708	11.0345	245	.388	.004	.759			
	X15	37	211.97	333.34	281.6043	4.4983	542	.388	170	.759			
	X16	37	1.32	2.15	1.7568	.0374	197	.388	685	.759			
	X17	37	1.80	3.05	2.3465	.0488	.283	.388	558	.759			
	X18	37	9.63	17.96	12.7349	.3395	.365	.388	611	.759			
	×19	37	0.68	9.53	8.2078	.1302	.067	.388	952	./59			
	Valid N (Sebulea)	37	210.38	08.600	370,1989	10.0/4/	.000	.368	+.040				
	Tand is (national)	31											
							<b>!</b> s	PSS Processor	is ready		_		
🛃 start 📄 🖿 book	PHS BOXY (J:)	B- Process	ing (Repal	🖬 15 aug.	sas program	Micros	oft Excel - dat	🛅 Uni	itled - SPSS Da	ta 📅 Output	- SPSS Vewer	B ? ()	2:22 PM

The following output slide would be obtained.

Slide 8.13: Figure showing the output for selective descriptive statistics using SPSS

3. Analysis Using SAS 9.3

The above data, if entered/copied in SAS editor, will look like the one given below in two continued slides:

AS - [Editor - Untitled1 *]																0 <b>- X</b>
File Edit View Tools Ru	in Solutions Window H	Help														- 6
	• 🗋 🛸 🖬	60	3 Rb C	3 00 🕄	* 12 1	X 🛈 🖣	2									
its	C Edata D	5;														
Results	input	x1 x2 x3	x4 x5 x6	x7 x8 x	x9 x10 x1	1 x12 x1	3 x14 x1	5 x16 x	17 x18 x	19 yr						
A Means mean standard d	cards;															
a means: mean, scandaro o	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67 313.38	1.93	1.5
	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33 298.72	1.93	2.4
	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33 302.74	1.90	2.4
	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33 263.92	1.57	2.
	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00 277.86	1.53	2.
	35.02	132.90	128.79	18.47	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00 267.74	1.34	2.
	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33 264.72	1.72	2.
	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87	143.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67 241.44	1.74	2.
	34.10	147.68	125.74	19.67	153.00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33 253.30	1.95	2.
	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67 263.88	1.77	2.
	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10.19	2.73	239.65	1785.67 286.02	1.77	2.
	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00 284.65	1.86	2.
	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9,80	129.08	8,97	2.52	201.06	1609.00 276.24	1.74	2.
	33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00 294.98	1.67	2
	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67 288.41	1.32	2
	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33 307.51	1.44	2
	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67 316.73	1.42	- 2
	34 59	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33 313.12	1.49	
	34 22	166 22	153 17	22 73	155 67	108.22	24 67	33.83	9.07	150 81	10.01	2 56	208 66	1738 67 288 29	1.05	- 31
	54.22	160.22	100.17	22.73	100.07	100.22	24.00	33.03	3.07	100.01	10.01	2.00	200.00	1/30.0/ 200.27	1.00	
	33.13	162.00	193.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.00	0.93	131.19	0.01	4.04	100.35	1000.33 29/.09	1.00	- 11
	34.27	165.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	20.00	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1/11.33 239.02	2.07	- 51
	31.65	163.56	129.03	20.53	159.67	102.78	29.00	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00 234.97	1.81	- 51
	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67 211.97	2.13	2
	35.01	159.02	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	92.50	9.50	129.01	5.01	2.37	218.03	1692.00 244.12	1.00	- 51
	35.71	161.99	145.13	22.90	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00 289.06	1.87	- 21
	38.24	159.29	144.55	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.04	2.54	223.82	1744.67 312.47	1.96	- 21
	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33 289.87	1.71	2.
	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67 286.04	1.49	2.
	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00 333.34	1.39	2.
	36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33 306.56	1.79	2.
	< 27 3/	164 64	121 01		106.99	107 67	74 00	33 20	10.00	121 70		2.20	791 95		1 74	-
	,		10					_								
Results Splore	Output	- (Untitled)	Elog	g - (Untitled)	)	Editor -	Untitled1 *	💽 R	esults Viewe	r - SAS Ou						
44 Lines Submitted.											OC/U	Isers\CC			Ln 44, 0	ol 5
. 6 0	8 8 3		-												195	12.58

Slide 8.14: Step 1 showing the entered or transferred data in SAS Data Editor



👯 SAS - [Editor - Untitled1 *]															0	0 ×
File Edit View Tools Run Solution	s Window H	lelp														- 0 ×
· ·	🗋 🛸 🖬	6	X Rb C	10 3	* 12 1	XO	8									
Results	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00 276.2	1.74	2.47 *
A Results	33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00 294.95	1.67	2.29
A Means mean standard deviation or	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67 288.43	1.32	2.33
Means: mean, standard deviation, in	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33 307.53	1.44	2.05
a a meant mean, standard demator, if	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67 316.73	3 1.42	2.66
	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33 313.12	2 1.49	2.58
	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67 288.29	9 1.85	3.05
	33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33 247.84	4 1.55	2.40
	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33 239.03	2 2.07	2.19
	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00 234.9	7 1.81	2.02
	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67 211.9	7 2.13	2.38
	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00 244.1	2 1.66	2.60
	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00 289.00	6 1.87	2.88
	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67 312.4	1.96	2.65
	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	102.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33 289.8	1.71	2.53
	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.15	197.75	1698.67 286.04	1.49	2.02
	39.99	139.99	196.65	22.63	193.00	112.90	23.90	29.50	0.50	100.70	0.91	2.00	230.95	1629.00 333.3	1.39	2.01
	30.05	167 47	161 84	23.03	105 33	103.77	24.10	33.50	10.00	149.00	0.00	2.20	230.20	1592.33 300.50	1.79	2.01
	33.13	151 16	143 56	24 53	101.00	08 26	25.00	20 50	11 03	195 75	7 60	2 20	203.45	1688 33 250 01	2 3 5	1.00
	30.20	144 68	199.70	21.00	174.00	90.20	23.00	29.00	10.50	140.01	6.05	1.04	203.45	1611 00 227 8	1 1 80	2.00
	30.26	140 64	110 03	21.03	178 67	94 23	20.22	37 67	9 30	128 65	2 12	2 13	150 38	1601 00 286 5	1 1 00	1.00
	31.27	141.59	123.96	19.37	180.67	105.51	18.00	35.39	8.93	133.87	6.65	1.91	205.68	1648.00 302.3	1.74	2.23
	33.17	150 82	191 10	18.80	178 67	107.36	17 17	31 17	9.23	143 59	6 69	1.02	206 11	1634 00 306 6	2.08	2 12
	32.15	151.23	137.13	22.37	179.67	112.17	20.13	30.83	8.90	143.36	6.83	1.81	203.41	1650.33 304.8	6 2.12	2.15
		101110														
	Sproc m	ans stde	rr mean	mode med	iian min	max skey	meaa kus	tosis O	1 03 CV	p40 P50	P75 p9	2.2				
	var x1	x2 x3 x4	x5 x6 x	7 x8 x9	×10 ×11	×12 ×13	x14 x15	×16 ×17	x18 x19	92						
	run;															
	0.000															
														-		
x	191															
ma literation	En Output -	(Intitled)	Eller	- (Untitled		Editor -	Untitled1*	<b>A</b>	ecults Viewe	- cashtml						
P Results Splorer	- Suchar	(4.10060)	1 2 603	(annual)		and control -			the second	Julian						
											C/	Isers\CC			Ln 44, 0	Col 5
	-													-0		1/5/4
														😽 🖓 🗠 d	<b>4</b> (P 14	-08-2012

Slide 8.15: Step 2 showing the entered or transferred data and command for getting the required descriptive statistics using SAS Data Editor

We want to have the mean, standard error, median, mode, maximum-minimum values, skewness, kurtosis, 1st and 3rd quartiles, 40th, 50th, 75th, and 90th percentile values for each and every character. The commands for execution are provided in the last three lines of the above slide. Upon the execution of the said command, the following output as given below in two consecutive slides is obtained.

File Edit View Go Tools Solutions	Window	Help	V Do mit and	- m - +							-
• •			9 40 65 cm		* • • • · · · ·						
D combr			mean, sta	indard devi	ation, minim	ium and ma	ximum valu	es of all ch	naracters		
r nesurs B Means: mean, standard deviation, m B Means: mean, standard deviation, m					The M	EANS Proced	lure				
	ariable	Std Error	Mean	Mode	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Skewness	Kurtosis	Lower Quartile	Uppe Quartil
		0.5129164	34,4340541	33,1300000	34,1000000	29.3600000	43,7000000	0.9628614	1.4076939	32 3800000	35,710000
	2	1.6036131	150,7064865		151,2300000	132 9000000	168.3600000	-0.0470767	-1.1660895	140,7100000	159,290000
	8	1.8918374	134.2629730	140.0600000	135.6200000	114,7900000	154,2500000	-0.1319333	-1.1559467	123,9600000	144.010000
	1	0.3054509	20.7281081	21.9300000	20.5300000	16.6700000	24.5300000	0.0359866	-0.6398901	19.3300000	21.930000
	5	2.9020414	164.3518919	143.0000000	162.6700000	130.0000000	195.3300000	0.2120946	-0.9579188	150.0000000	178.670000
	5	1.1660251	104.3667568		104.5100000	90.3300000	117.9200000	-0.0724643	-0.5472076	99.5000000	108.250000
	1	0.3503303	23.5354054	23.2000000	23.9000000	17.3700000	27.5700000	-1.0153617	1.7266785	22.9300000	24.900000
	В	0.7332787	31.3310811	24.8300000	30.8300000	22.5000000	42.5000000	0.1949858	-0.1925469	29.0000000	34.500000
	9	0.1726575	9.7289189	8.7300000	9.3300000	8.5000000	12.8700000	1.5294562	2.0100446	9.0300000	10.230000
	0	1.5876367	138.7843243		137.2400000	117.7800000	161.7000000	0.0564698	0.0926501	132.1200000	145.200000
	1	0.1721152	8.3602703	7.7200000	7.9900000	6.6500000	10.4600000	0.4397693	-0.5928585	7.7200000	8.940000
	12	0.0416507	2.2551351	2.0800000	2.2000000	1.8100000	2.8400000	0.5312802	-0.4375526	2.0800000	2.430000
	13	5.4331260	198.6154054		203.4500000	117.8500000	263.9600000	-0.5392994	-0.0894959	178.2800000	220.730000
	14	11.0345191	1650.17		1653.00	1496.00	1785.67	-0.2445740	0.0036690	1611.00	1693.0
	15	4.4983260	281.6043243		286.5400000	211.9700000	333.3400000	-0.5422070	-0.1703587	263.9200000	302.740000
	16	0.0374187	1.7567568	1.7400000	1.7700000	1.3200000	2.1500000	-0.1972884	-0.6853376	1.5700000	1.900000
	7	0.0488028	2.3464865	2.0200000	2.3800000	1.8000000	3.0500000	0.2833958	-0.5575039	2.0500000	2.580000
	8	0.3394844	12.7348649	11.2900000	12.4200000	9.6300000	17.9600000	0.3651616	-0.6106472	10.7600000	14.500000
	19	0.1301772	8.2078378	8.6700000	8.1500000	6.6800000	9.5300000	0.0668697	-0.9521690	7.6500000	8.860000
		10.6746502	376.1989189		359.9300000	276.9800000	505.8600000	0.5564898	-0.6460063	327.7300000	420.000000
······································	Dom	at a filetaled)		-0 001	diam I latitud *	Results Vi	ever, cubt				
Results Spioner	Outp	ut - (Unoted)	E Log - (Unicity	eo) <u>N</u> E	onor - unbbied1 *	Kesuits Vi	ewer - sasht				

Slide 8.16a: Step 3 showing the output for required descriptive statistics using SAS

		-	
	۲	-	
	۰.		

112

						A 8					
					++00						
an dar	a ma	ximum valu	es of all cr	aracters							
Means: mean, standard deviation, rr	Proced	lure									
Means: mean, standard deviation, m											
					Lower	Upper	Coeff of				
	imum	Maximum	Skewness	Kurtosis	Quartile	Quartile	Variation	40th Pcti	50th Pctl	75th Pctl	90th Po
	b0000	43 7000000	0.0628614	1 4076030	32 3800000	35 7100000	0.0606400	33 1700000	34 1000000	35 7100000	38 200000
	00000	168 3600000	0.0470767	1 1660895	140 7100000	159 2000000	6 4724471	147 6900000	151 2300000	159 2000000	162,800000
	00000	154 2500000	.0 1319333	1 1559467	123 9600000	144 0100000	8 5709393	129 2400000	135 6200000	144 0100000	146 650000
	60000	24 5300000	0.0359866	.0 6398901	19 3300000	21 9300000	8 9636040	19 9300000	20 5300000	21 9300000	23 100000
	00000	195 3300000	0.2120946	-0.9579188	150 0000000	178 6700000	10 7406299	156 3300000	162 6700000	178 6700000	193 000000
	00000	117 9200000	-0.0724643	-0 5472076	99 5000000	108 2500000	6 7958937	102 7800000	104 5100000	108 2500000	115 470000
	00000	27 5700000	-10153617	1 7266785	22 9300000	24 9000000	9.0543417	23 2000000	23 9000000	24 9000000	25 870000
	00000	42 5000000	0 1949858	-0 1925469	29 0000000	34 5000000	14,2362163	30 0000000	30 8300000	34 5000000	37 500000
	00000	12 8700000	1 5294562	2 0100446	9.0300000	10 2300000	10 7949800	9 2000000	9 3300000	10 2300000	11 030000
	00000	161 7000000	0.0564698	0.0926501	132 1200000	145 2000000	6.9584351	135 2500000	137 2400000	145 2000000	150 810000
	00000	10.4600000	0.4397693	-0 5928585	7.7200000	8 9400000	12 5227527	7 8800000	7 9900000	8.9400000	10.060000
	00000	2 8400000	0.5312802	-0.4375526	2.0800000	2,4300000	11,2344094	2 1400000	2 2000000	2,4300000	2.620000
	00000	263,9600000	-0.5392994	-0.0894959	178,2800000	220,7300000	16.6394016	197,7500000	203,4500000	220,7300000	237,480000
	96.00	1785.67	-0.2445740	0.0036690	1611.00	1693.00	4.0674795	1634.00	1653.00	1693.00	1744.6
	00000	333.3400000	-0.5422070	-0.1703587	263.9200000	302.7400000	9.7165585	277.8600000	286.5400000	302.7400000	313.120000
	00000	2.1500000	-0.1972884	-0.6853376	1.5700000	1.9000000	12.9562045	1.7400000	1.7700000	1.9000000	2.080000
	00000	3.0500000	0.2833958	-0.5575039	2.0500000	2.5800000	12.6510806	2.2300000	2.3800000	2.5800000	2.740000
	00000	17.9600000	0.3651616	-0.6106472	10.7600000	14.5000000	16.2153496	11.8700000	12.4200000	14.5000000	15.420000
	00000	9.5300000	0.0668697	-0.9521690	7.6500000	8.8600000	9.6473312	7.9300000	8.1500000	8.8600000	9.330000
	00000	505.8600000	0.5564898	-0.6460063	327.7300000	420.0000000	17.2598482	353.2800000	359.9300000	420.0000000	489.410000
	1				Land						
Biplorer	00	tput - (Untitled)	E Log - (Unt	itled)	Editor - Untitled	· Result	ts Viewer - sasht				
								C-\User\C	c		

Slide 8.16b: Step 3 showing the output for the required descriptive statistics using SAS

Along with the values for different measures of different component characters, graphical representations can also be made.

From the above-described analysis, using three different software clearly reveals that there are limitations, specifications, and methods in order to get the desired output. But the user must have a clear idea about the information being analyzed, requirement, and knowledge about the statistical method to verify the results obtained and about the method of handling the appropriate software. Otherwise, there are few chances of mis-conclusion, vagueness, superfluousness, or unwarranted/incorrect conclusion.

#### 8.3 **Correlation Analysis**

While conducting research works, a researcher needs to deal with a number of factors/variables at a time, instead of a single variable/factor. And all these variables may not be independent of each other; rather they tend to vary side by side. Most of the growth/social/economic and other variables are found to follow the above characteristics. For example, while dealing with

yield component analysis of any crop, it is found that yield is an ultimate variable contributed/ influenced/affected by a number of other factors. If we consider the yield of paddy, then one can find that the factors like the number of hills per square meter, number of tillers per hill, number of effective/panicle-bearing tillers per hill, length of the panicle, number of grains per panicle, and test (1,000 grain) weight of grains are influencing the yield. Variation in one or more of the abovementioned factors results in variations of the yield. Thus, yield may vary because of variation in the number of hills per square meter or variations in the number of tillers per hill or so on. Again, yield may vary because of variation in the number of hill per square meter and/or in the number of tiller per hill and other factors. When we consider variations in one variable due to variations in any other variable, then it becomes a bivariate case. On the other hand, when the variations of more than two variables are considered at a time, it becomes a multivariate case. The problem of measuring the degree of association among the variables is considered through a correlation and regression analysis. In this section, we shall first study the correlation

and then go for the study of the form of the association, that is, the regression analysis.

The simplest and widely used measure of correlation is the measure of Karl Pearson's correlation coefficients. Correlation coefficient measures the degree of closeness of the linear association between any two variables and is given as

 $r_{xy} = \frac{\text{Cov}(x,y)}{s_x,s_y}$ , where  $(x_1,y_1), (x_2,y_2), (x_3,y_3), \dots, (x_n,y_n)$  are *n* pairs of observations and

(i) 
$$\operatorname{Cov}(x, y) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - \bar{x})(y_i - \bar{y}) = S_{xy}$$

(ii) 
$$s_x^2 = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n (x_i - \bar{x})^2$$
 and  
(iii)  $s_y^2 = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n (y_i - \bar{y})^2$ 

Thus, 
$$r_{xy} = \frac{\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i y_i - \bar{x} \bar{y}}{\sqrt{\left(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^2 - \bar{x}^2\right) \left(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i^2 - \bar{y}^2\right)}}$$

It may be noted that we have considered two variables x and y irrespective of their dependency.

#### Properties of Correlation Coefficient:

 The correlation coefficient between any two variables is independent of change of origin and scale in value but depends on the signs of scales.

Let us consider  $(x_1,y_1)$ ,  $(x_2,y_2)$ ,  $(x_3,y_3)$ ,...,  $(x_n,y_n)$ , the *n* pairs of observations for the two characters *x* and *y* having the means  $\bar{x}$  and  $\bar{y}$ and the variances  $S_x^2$  and  $S_y^2$ . We take another two variables such that,  $x_i = a + bu_i$  and  $y_i = c + dv_i \Rightarrow \overline{x} = a + b\overline{u}$  and  $\overline{y} = c + d\overline{v}$ , and  $S_x^2 = b^2 S_u^2$  and  $S_y^2 = d^2 S_v^2$ ; i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n and a, b, c, and d are constants, and a and c are changes of origin and b and d are changes of scale. So,

$$Cov(x, y) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i} (x_i - \bar{x})(y_i - \bar{y})$$
$$= bdCov(u, v).$$

Thus, the correlation coefficient between x and y becomes

$$r_{xy} = rac{\text{Cov}(x,y)}{\sqrt{S_x^2 \cdot S_y^2}} = rac{b.d}{|b|.|d|} \cdot r_{uv}.$$

Thus, the numerical value of  $r_{xy}$  and  $r_{uv}$  are the same. But, the sign of  $r_{uv}$  depends on the sign of *b* and *d*. If both *b* and *d* are of the same sign, then  $r_{xy} = r_{uv}$ ; on the other hand, if *b* and *d* are of the opposite signs, then  $r_{xy} = -r_{uv}$ .

- 2. The correlation coefficient  $r_{xy}$  lies between -1 and +1, that is,  $-1 \le r_{xy} \le +1$ .
- 3. The correlation coefficient between *x* and *y* is same as the correlation coefficient between *y* and *x*.
- 4. Being a ratio, a correlation coefficient is a unit-free measure. So, it can be used to compare the degree of the linear association between the different pairs of the variables.
- 5. The two independent variables are uncorrelated, but the converse may not be true. Let us consider the following two variables:

y       16       9       4       1       0       1       4       9       16 $\sum y = xy$ xy       -64       -27       -8       -1       0       1       8       27       64 $\sum xy$	x	-4	-3	-2	-1	0	1	2	3	4	$\sum x = 0$
$xy - 64 - 27 - 8 - 1 = 0 = 1 = 8 = 27 = 64 = \sum xy$	у	16	9	4	1	0	1	4	9	16	$\sum y = 60$
	ху	-64	-27	-8	-1	0	1	8	27	64	$\sum xy = 0$

Therefore, 
$$r_{xy} = \frac{\text{Cov}(x,y)}{S_x \cdot S_y} = \frac{\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i y_i) - \bar{x} \cdot \bar{y}}{S_x \cdot S_y} = \frac{\frac{1}{9} \cdot 0 - 0 \cdot \frac{60}{5}}{S_x \cdot S_y} = 0.$$

Clearly, the relationship is  $y = x^2$  between x and y. Thus, the zero correlation coefficient between the two variables does not necessarily mean that the variables are independent.

*Examples 8.24.* Given below are the plant height (cm) and the no. of fruits per plant in eight varieties

of lady fingers. Find out whether the height and the weight of the boys are correlated or not.

Height (X)	205	206	208	207	209	207	210	212
No of fruit ( <i>Y</i> )	70	71	75	68	75	71	72	74

At first, we calculate the following quantities:

$$\bar{x} = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{i=1}^{8} x_i = 208, \quad \bar{y} = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{i=1}^{8} y_i = 72.$$

We have

(i) 
$$\operatorname{Cov}(x, y) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - \bar{x})(y_i - \bar{y}) = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i y_i - \bar{x}\bar{y} = 3$$

(ii) 
$$s_x^2 = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n (x_i - \bar{x})^2 = \left(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2 - \bar{x}^2\right) = 5.143$$

(iii) 
$$s_y^2 = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n (y_i - \bar{y})^2 = \left(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n y_i^2 - \bar{y}^2\right) = 6.286$$

 $r_{xy} = \frac{\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i y_i - \bar{x}\bar{y}}{\sqrt{\left(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^2 - \bar{x}^2\right) \left(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i^2 - \bar{y}^2\right)}}$  $= \frac{3}{\sqrt{(5.143)(6.286)}} = 0.527.$ 

So the correlation coefficient between the height and weight of 8 boys of class nine is 0.603.

*Example 8.25.* Using the same problem given in Example 8.21, we shall try to get the correlation coefficients among the variables using MS Excel, SPSS, and SAS as shown in the following slides: (a) Using MS Excel software

6		· (1 - ) =																								- AX
8			- Contractor			Concernant and					s anarysi			(y Mode)		Excel									-	
	Home	Insert	Page Layo	ut For	mulas	Data	Review	View																	w -	O X
	3	12 1	2	2	0	Conne	ctions		IN	·	Clear	13	2	-	=		12	-	2			Show Deta	-	Data Analys		
FIO	n From	From From	n Other E	listing	Retresh	T Proper	ties	I Sort	Filt	1 2	Reapply	Ted	t to Re	move	Data Co	nsolidate	What-If	Group	Ungroi	up Sut	ototal	Hide Detail				
Acc	iss Web	Text So	urces - Con	nections	48 ·	see Edit Li	nks			9	Advanced	Colu	imins Dup	olicates Val	idation *		nalysis *	1000		~				Parabatis.		
		Get Externa	Cal			onnection			Sout or	ritter		1			ata room			1		Outil	ine		-	AUNIN		
-	858		(° )	K Corre	lations						1000									-				7.5.7		•
4	A	B	C	D	E	F	G	н	1	1	K	L	M	N	0	P	Q	R	S	T	U	V	W	x	Y	2 -
2	SL No	XI	X2	X3	X4	15	70	X7	78	X9	X10	X11	X12	X13	X14	X15	X16	X17	X18 2	X19	y					
3	1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96 5	9.49	345.85					
4	2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	35.17	8.87	144.04	De	ata Anal	ysis					2	32	354.41					U
5	3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.03	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	- 1	Analysis To	pols					~		358.12					
0		30.33	138.31	126.60	10.70	150.55	102.64	22.95	22.60	0.13	141.57	- 1	Anova: Si	ngle Factor						6	202 00					_
0	5	35.02	122.00	139.02	10.10	143.00	109.54	22.07	20.00	0.02	145 33	H	Anova: Tr Anova: Tr	no-Factor W no-Factor W	Ith Replicatio Ithout Replic	n stion			Cancel		260.92					
9	7	32.25	136 10	123.41	10.4/	130.00	108.00	23.13	30 33	9.03	149.08		Correlatio	2					Help	G	373 14					
10	8	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87	143.67	100.95	23 72	28.17	9.47	133.45	-	Descriptiv	e Statistics				-		5	353 28					
11	0	34 10	147.68	125.74	19.67	153.00	98.60	24 13	30 33	9.67	132.12		Exponent F-Test Tw	ial Smoothin io-Sample fo	g ir Variances					L.	350.18					
12	10	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8	Fourier An	nalysis						8	394.78					
13	11	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10	1			200.021			-	- 57	489.41					
14	12	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29 8	8.54	416.26					
15	13	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2,47	12.21 8	8.01	384.56					
16	14	33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73					
17	15	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52 (	6.68	363.85					
18	16	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94					
19	17	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.00	6 2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86					
20	18	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	6 2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73					
21	19	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12					
22	20	33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93					
23	21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33 8	8.40	325.47					
24	22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24,60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67					
25	23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65 8	\$.86	299.57					
14.4	F H She	et1 / She	et2 Sheet	3 . • 2 /																						×1
Read	Y	-			_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	A	verage: 12.7	0143836	Count	1303	Sum: 1	4987.6972	7	10	9% ( <del>-</del> )		•
1	start	booi 😂		PR:			CWSS			8-Pro	ocessing (R		🖬 15 au		- 🖬 d	ata of sas a			ied - SPS		in out	putt - SPSS		🛛 🕺 🔇	25 1	:39 PM

Slide 8.17: Step 1 showing the entered or transferred data and selection of Correlation Analysis menu in MS Excel work sheet



6	2	19	· (· · ·) ·							dat	a of sa	s analysis		patibili	y Mode)	- Microsof	t Excel									-	- 8 ×
6	2	Home	Insert	Page Layo	ut For	mulas	Data	Review	View																		. <del>.</del>
FI AL	an sea	From Web	From From Text So Get Externa	n Other urces * Con	aisting nections	Refresh All -	Proper See Edit Lin onnections	nks	1 2 3 1 Sort	Filte	r Ker	Clear Reapply Advanced	Ted	to Re	move plicates Va	Data Co Idation -	nsolidate ,	What-#	Grou	Ungr	oup Sul	btotal	Show De Hide Det	rtail tail	Bata Analy Analysis	•	
		858	•	(* .	fx Corre	lations																					¥
4		A	В	с	D	E	F	G	н	1	1	К	L	м	N	0	P	Q	R	s	T	U	V	W	X	Y	2
2	SL	No	X1	X2	X3	X4	X5	X6	X7	X8	X9	X10	X11	X12	X13	X14	X15	X16	X17	X18	X19	у					1
3		1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	I co	relatio						2	8 P	345.85					
4		2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04		out.							1	354,41					- U
5		3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.03	146.00	93.17	22.23	23.33	9.00	145.20		put Rang	per	\$81	12:\$U\$39	1		OK	2	241.20					
0		4	27.91	140.22	135.62	19 70	153.67	102.54	22.95	22.50	0.13	122.06	- 6	rouped B	y:	0	Columns		6	ancel	2	202 00					
8		6	35.02	132.90	128 79	18.47	143.00	108.60	23 33	29.00	9.03	145 32	н.			0	lows			jelp		369.82					
9		7	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08		Labels	in first row						4	373.14					
10		S	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87	143.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.47	133.45	1 0	stput opt	ions						8	353.28					
11		9	34.10	147.68	125.74	19.67	153.00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9.67	132.12	- (	Qutput	Range:	\$23	13	1			4	350.18					
12		10	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8 (	New W	orksheet B	n 🗌					8	394.78					
13		11	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	1	New W	orkbook						7	489.41					
14		12	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9	40		1072.00		1.00			04	416.26					
15		13	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2,47	12.21	8.01	384.56					
16		14	33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73					
17		15	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85					_
18		16	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94					_
19		17	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86					-
20		18	34.58	166.33	145.01	23.90	149.55	104.79	25.17	29.07	9.20	144.95	10.40	2.00	220.75	1085.55	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.75					_
21		20	22.12	162.80	123.17	22.73	132.07	108.22	24.07	20.60	9.07	130.81	2 61	2.20	169 35	1/58.07	288.29	1.62	2.40	12.12	7.69	495.12					
22		20	33.13	162.80	135 34	23.10	163 33	115 47	24.05	26.50	11 03	132.19	7.50	1.09	131 32	1711 33	230.02	2.07	2.40	12 33	9.40	329.93					
24		22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20 53	154 67	102.78	24 60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234 97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67					
25		23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57					
14		she	eti Sha	et2 Sheet	3 42 1	1								1													
Ent	er	- or n																_	_	_	_		(0)				
1	sta	art	<b>b</b> 00	C.	PKS	S BOKV (J	e) [	😂 cwss	6-2-11		1 8- Pr	ocessing (R		🖬 15 a.	ig. sas pro.	- 🖬 d	ata of sas a	nal	tres 🖬	tied - SP	55	1 C	Aput 1 - SP		8 : 6	25	1:40 PM

Slide 8.18: Step 2 showing the entered or transferred data and selection of data range and other commands in Correlation Analysis menu in MS Excel

	X1	X2	Х3	X4	X5	X6	X7	X8	X9	X10	X11	X12	X13	X14	X15	X16	X17	X18 2	<u>X19 Y</u>
X1	1																		
X2	0.22	1																	
X3	-0.03	0.18	1																
X4	-0.24	0.34	0.61	1															
X5	-0.13	0.11	0.38	0.43	1														
X6	0.07	0.19	-0.14	0.01	-0.14	1													
X7	0.55	0.28	-0.07	0.02	-0.33	0.24	1												
X8	-0.24	-0.14	0.47	0.25	0.39	-0.69	-0.54	1											
X9	-0.04	0.45	-0.06	0.13	0.22	-0.11	0.12	0.07	1										
X10	0.2	-0.15	0.49	0.15	0.04	0.26	0.11	-0.08	-0.43	1									
X11	0.52	0.36	0.3	0.27	-0.13	0.19	0.65	-0.08	0.03	0.21	1								
X12	0.58	0.33	0.2	0.12	-0.14	0.03	0.59	0.03	0.02	0.07	0.9	1							
X13	0.53	0.01	0.44	0.11	0.24	-0.01	0.12	0.14	-0.44	0.52	0.43	0.48	1						
X14	0.23	0.35	0.27	0.19	-0.07	-0.06	-0.05	0.37	0.28	0.00	0.45	0.44	0.18	1					
X15	0.12	-0.12	0.27	0.09	0.13	0.28	0.00	-0.11	-0.57	0.65	0.22	0.18	0.63	-0.09	1				
X16	-0.2	0.26	0.05	0.18	0.29	-0.34	-0.37	0.27	0.45	-0.17	-0.4	-0.31	-0.17	0.28	-0.24	1			
X17	0.36	0.22	0.07	-0.21	-0.4	-0.1	0.19	0.17	-0.19	0.01	0.48	0.58	0.27	0.53	-0.06	-0.12	1		
X18	0.26	0.11	0.17	-0.22	-0.44	-0.13	0.06	0.2	-0.24	0.12	0.36	0.43	0.26	0.53	-0.05	-0.05	0.95	1	
X19	0.07	0.2	0.29	0.01	0.02	-0.18	-0.26	0.34	0.02	0.19	0.04	0.05	0.29	0.58	0.16	0.62	0.37	0.42	1
Y	0.52	0.25	0.4	0.27	-0.1	0.27	0.61	-0.13	-0.13	0.56	0.92	0.76	0.52	0.36	0.42	-0.4	0.42	0.350	0.071

Slide 8.19: Step 3 showing the output in Correlation Analysis menu in MS Excel

### (b) Using SAS software, the same analysis could be done as follows:

SAS - [Editor - Untitled1 *]																	9 <b>X</b>
File Edit View Tools Run So	utions Window I	Help															- 0
~	• D 📽 🖬		X 40 C	S 10 1	× 12 (	X @ 4	2										
sults	32.15	151.23	137.13	22.37	179.67	112.17	20.13	30.83	8.90	143.36	6.83	1.81	203.41	1650.33	304.86	2.12	2.15
PResults Comparent Standard deviation Comparent Standard deviation Comparent Standard deviation Comparent Standard deviation,	, m , m , m nin run;	means data 'mean, st x2 x3 x4	-descrip andard d x5 x6 x	tive_st leviation 7 x8 x9	x10 x11	m and ma x12 x13	ximum v x14 x15	x16 x17	all char x18 x19	y;							
	input	x1 x2 x3	x4 x5 x6	x7 x8 :	x9 x10 x1	1 x12 x1	3 x14 x	15 x16 x	17 x18 x	19 y;							
	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93
	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45
	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44
	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59
	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40
	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.03	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45
	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87	143.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25
	34.10	147.68	125.74	19.67	153.00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74
	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74
	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10.19	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73
	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20
	38.29	144.75	115.55	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.97
	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.93	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33
	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05
	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66
	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58
	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05
	33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40
	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19
	20.36	160.86	129.03	21.17	103.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.97	1201.67	211.97	2.13	2.38
	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2,60
	1 25 71	1.61 .44	146 19	22.40	1.01 00	ne es	71 87	96 79	0 67	191 64	0 67	2 62	263.06	1764 00	non ne	1 07	
Randa QL Ferlow	· Output	(Untitled)	[ [] Log	g - (Untitled	. [	Editor -	Untitled1 *	💽 R	esults Viewe	r - sashtml							
tosave complete												kers\CC			_	Ln 89 (	ol S
n 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		3												ø	- 4	(7)	20-51

Slide 8.20: Step 1 showing the data input for correlation analysis using SAS

😽 SAS - [Editor - Untitled1 *]																0	3 ×
File Edit View Tools Run Solution	s Window He	elp					-										- 0 ×
· ·	🗋 🛸 🖪	60	X Ha C	s n 🗊	* 12 *	X (1) 4	8										
Results (D)	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05 *
Results	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66
Means: mean standard deviation. m	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58
Means: mean, standard deviation, m	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05
🗄 🍰 Corr: mean, standard deviation, min	33.13	162.80	195.02	23.10	169.99	115 47	29.03	30.60	0.93	131.19	7.60	1.08	105.35	1005.33	297.09	1.55	2.10
	31.85	163.56	129.01	20.53	164.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.01	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02
	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38
	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60
	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88
	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65
	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53
	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02
	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01
	36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04
	37.34	157.67	151.84	21.63	195.33	102.57	24.90	33.50	10.90	161.70	8.42	2.20	232.85	1582.33	291.33	1.76	2.05
	30.20	144 68	193.00	29.00	176.00	90.20	23.00	29.00	10.50	140.01	6.06	1.04	203.95	1611 00	200.90	1 80	2.00
	30.26	140.64	119.93	21.93	178.67	94.23	20.77	37.67	9.30	128.65	7.12	2.13	159.38	1601.00	286.54	1.89	1.99
	31.27	141.59	123.96	19.37	180.67	105.51	18.00	35.33	8,93	133.87	6.65	1.91	205.68	1648.00	302.31	1.74	2.23
	33.17	150.82	131.18	18.80	178.67	107.36	17.37	31.17	9.23	143.59	6.68	1.92	206.11	1634.00	306.61	2.08	2.12
	32.15	151.23	137.13	22.37	179.67	112.17	20.13	30.83	8.90	143.36	6.83	1.81	203.41	1650.33	304.86	2.12	2.15
	;																
	Sproc co	TTJ															
	var x1	x2 x3 x4	x5 x6 x	7 x8 x9	x10 x11	x12 x13	x14 x15	x16 x17	x18 x19	27							
	run;																
																	E
	100						-										
<pre></pre>							m										,
ma har	Dutout -	Untitled)	1EII~	a - (Untitle-f)	1	Editor -	Untitled <sup>1</sup>		esults Viewe	r - sashtml							
P Results Diplorer		(entropical)		( termental		AT canton	onnocor.										_
Autosave complete											C/L	Jsers\CC				Ln 89, C	ol 5
🚳 🖉 🖉 😥	6	3												6	- 4	(P) 10	

Slide 8.21: Step 2 showing the data and the command for correlation analysis using SAS



			•	े 🛸 🖬	8 Q.   X			1 + +	8 O A	212 (19	30000 30							
					1													
								Pe	arson Cor Prob >	relation C	oefficients H0: Rho=	, N = 37 0						
	x1	x2	x3	x4	x5	x6	x7	x8	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	
1	1.00000	0.21747	-0.02655 0.8760	-0.23750 0.1569	-0.12851 0.4485	0.06585	0.55137	-0.23881 0.1546	-0.04187 0.8056	0.20276	0.51995	0.57852	0.52796	0.22632	0.11695	-0.20149 0.2318	0.35742	F
2	0.21747 0.1960	1.00000	0.17809	0.33602	0.11023 0.5160	0.19166	0.28197	-0.13686 0.4192	0.44936 0.0053	-0.14505 0.3917	0.36041 0.0284	0.33115	0.01474 0.9310	0.34628	-0.11711 0.4900	0.26538	0.21848	
	-0.02655 0.8760	0.17809	1.00000	0.60966	0.37684	-0.13846 0.4138	-0.06698 0.6937	0.47101 0.0033	-0.05866 0.7302	0.48796	0.30314 0.0682	0.19361 0.2509	0.44487 0.0058	0.26734	0.27430 0.1004	0.05200	0.07427	I
	-0.23750 0.1569	0.33602	0.60966	1.00000	0.42930	0.01231 0.9424	0.01559	0.25274 0.1312	0.13452 0.4273	0.15034 0.3745	0.26811	0.12013	0.10925	0.19274 0.2531	0.08822	0.17794 0.2920	-0.20484 0.2239	
	-0.12851 0.4485	0.11023	0.37684	0.42930	1.00000	-0.14261 0.3998	-0.33442 0.0431	0.38970	0.22246 0.1857	0.04148	-0.12994 0.4434	-0.14126 0.4043	0.23563	-0.06917 0.6841	0.12648	0.28497	-0.40292 0.0134	
	0.06585 0.6986	0.19166	-0.13846 0.4138	0.01231 0.9424	-0.14261 0.3998	1.00000	0.23897 0.1543	-0.68882	-0.11392 0.5020	0.26451 0.1136	0.19384 0.2503	0.02823 0.8683	-0.01119 0.9476	-0.05787 0.7337	0.28011 0.0931	-0.33940 0.0399	-0.09929 0.5588	
	0.55137	0.28197	-0.06698 0.6937	0.01559 0.9270	-0.33442 0.0431	0.23897 0.1543	1.00000	-0.53757 0.0006	0.12502 0.4610	0.10863	0.65401	0.58948	0.12488 0.4615	-0.04732 0.7809	0.00198	-0.36786 0.0251	0.18839	
	-0.23881 0.1546	-0.13686 0.4192	0.47101 0.0033	0.25274	0.38970	-0.68882 <.0001	-0.53757 0.0006	1.00000	0.06799 0.6893	-0.08419 0.6203	-0.07657 0.6524	0.02676 0.8751	0.13844 0.4138	0.36596	-0.10991 0.5173	0.26560 0.1121	0.16658	
	-0.04187 0.8056	0.44936	-0.05866 0.7302	0.13452 0.4273	0.22246 0.1857	-0.11392 0.5020	0.12502 0.4610	0.06799 0.6893	1.00000	-0.43406 0.0073	0.02799 0.8694	0.01923 0.9101	-0.43566 0.0070	0.27628	-0.56545 0.0003	0.44608	-0.18411 0.2753	
i		. 10	in al al al a	10		antain I	2 Parata V		-									
20	tput - (Untitled	n <u>E</u>	Log - (Untitled)		all codes of a	analysis	Kesults V	ewer - SAS										

Slide 8.22: Step 3 showing the SAS output for correlation analysis

🚺 Exampl	le 8 - SPS	5 Data Edi	tor																				<b>B</b> X
File Edit	View Data	Transform	Analyz	e Graph	s Utilitie	s Window	Help																
📽 🖬 d	- 100 6	2 54 1	1	A	看亡	=	5 9	0															
1 ; sino	and house have		1	terrine fam	areasand a second		anneal anneal	-															
	elee	1	2		~4	-E	-6	-7	_0	-0	~10	-11	-12	-12	-14	-16	-10	-17	-10	~10		-	-
1	51010	32.34	151.8	140.5	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.65	2.01	195 77	1663.67	313 38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.95	191	
2	-	29.85	140.7	141.0	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2 11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.41		
3	-	32.38	138.8	144.3	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219 74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12		
4	4	38.33	138.3	140.1	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39		-
5	6	37.81	140.2	135.6	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82		-
6	E	35.02	132.9	128.8	18.47	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82		-
7	7	32.25	136.1	123.4	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14		
8	6	32.56	137.1	116.2	18.87	143.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28		
9	5	34.10	147.7	125.7	19.67	153.00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18		
10	10	37.05	153.8	123.5	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78		
11	11	43.70	161.6	124.9	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10.2	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41		
12	12	41.96	160.2	114.8	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26		
13	13	38.29	144.8	115.6	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384,56		
14	14	33.84	155.2	117.8	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73		
15	15	34.56	148.7	119.1	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85		
16	16	32.46	156.0	121.0	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94		-
17	17	34.01	157.0	138.9	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.1	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86		
18	18	34.58	162.5	145.6	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.5	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73		-
19	19	34.22	166.2	153.2	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.0	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12		
20	20	33.13	162.8	143.0	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93		
21	21	34.27	168.4	135.3	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47		
22	22	31.85	163.6	129.0	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117,91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67		
23	23	29.36	160.9	129.2	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57		
24	24	35.01	154.6	140.1	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87		
25	25	35.71	161.4	145.1	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53		
26	26	38.24	159.3	144.6	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42		
27	27	35.36	147.7	144.0	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.1	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74		
28	26	33.81	139.2	145.3	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.0	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22		
29	25	34.44	139.4	146.7	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62		
30	30	36.05	151.5	154.3	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00		-
( ) Dat	a View	/ariable Vi	W T										1										
10000000															SPSS P	rocessor is rea	ady						1000
🐉 star	1 1	Springer.	Book_Sal		Docu	ment2 - Mic	rosof	10	apter 8 (C	idtequo	😭	8- Proce	nssing (Re	ipair	Co book		Example	8 - SPSS Dat.		1	* * • •	Q 🖉 41	34 PM

Slide 8.23: Data imputed for correlation analysis through SPSS

The following is the output of the same analysis through SPSS.



	+	ł	
	5	5	
	ŧ	ï	
	5	5	
4	1	2	
4	1	2	
ļ		-	

المنسارات

101101	AUVIL																	İ			
5	Tanan Canal and	X1	X2	X3	X4	XS	X6 0.066	X7	X8 X8	C100	X10	X11 0 65.0	X12	X13 X13	X14 X	X15	X16 7	K17 5	K18 X	19 1	0 633
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.196	0.876	0.157	0.448	0.699	0.000	0.155	0.806	0.229	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.178	0.491	0.232	0.030	0.123	0.698	0.001
1	N N	7100	1000 +	01.70	15 0	2110	15.0	15.0	7 197	37	31.16	0 260	37	21016	1500	21.12	37 0	3710	31.00	37	37
ż	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.196		0.292	0.042	0.516	0.256	0.091	0.419	0.005	0.392	0.028	0.045	0.931	0.036	0.490	0.112	0.194	0.498	0.240	0.129
	N	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
ø	Pearson Correlation Size (2-tailed)	-0.027	0.178	1.000	0.610	0.377	-0.138	-0.067	0.471	0.730	0.488	0.303	0.194	0.445	0.267	0.274	0.052	0.074	0.303	0.287	0.403
	N	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
44	Pearson Correlation	-0.238	0.336	0.610	1.000	0.429	0.012	0.016	0.253	0.135	0.150	0.268	0.120	0.109	0.193	0.088	0.178	-0.205	-0.223	0.008	0.274
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.157	0.042	0.000	. 27	0.008	0.942	0.927	0.131	0.427	0.374	0.109	0.479	0.520	0.253	0.604	0.292	0.224	0.186	0.964	0.101
5	Pearson Correlation	-0.129	0.110	0.377	0.429	1.000	-0.143	-0.334	0.390	0.222	0.041	-0.130	-0.141	0.236	-0.069	0.126	0.285	-0.403	-0.442	0.022	0.099
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.448	0.516	0.022	0.008		0.400	0.043	0.017	0.186	0.807	0.443	0.404	0.160	0.684	0.456	0.087	0.013	0.006	0.896	0.560
	N	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
26	Pearson Correlation	0.066	0.192	-0.138	0.012	-0.143	1.000	0.239	-0.689	-0.114	0.265	0.194	0.028	-0.011	-0.058	0.280	-0.339	-0.099	-0.135	0.183	0.268
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.699	0.256	0.414	0.942	0.400		0.154	0.000	0.502	0.114	0.250	0.868	0.948	0.734	0.093	0.040	0.559	0.426	0.278	0.109
	Z	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
Ģ	Pearson Correlation	0.551	0.282	0.067	0.016	-0.334	0.239	1.000	-0.538	0.125	0.109	0.654	0.589	0.125	-0.047	0.002	-0.368	0.188	0.059	0.263	0.613
	NN	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
82	Pearson Correlation	-0.239	-0.137	0.471	0.253	0.390	-0.689	-0.538	1.000	0.068	-0.084	-0.077	0.027	0.138	0.366	-0.110	0.266	0.167	0.203	0.338	0.135
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.155	0.419	0.003	0.131	0.017	0.000	0.001		0.689	0.620	0.652	0.875	0.414	0.026	0.517	0.112	0.324	0.227	0.041	0.427
	Z	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
6	Pearson Correlation	-0.042	0.449	-0.059	0.135	0.222	-0.114	0.125	0.068	1.000	-0.434	0.028	0.019	-0.436	0.276	-0.565	0.446	-0.184	-0.237	0.018	0.126
	oig. (2-tatied)	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
610	Pearson Correlation	0.203	-0.145	0.488	0.150	0.041	0.265	0.109	-0.084	-0.434	1.000	0.215	0.064	0.522	0.003	0.647	-0.174	0.013	0.119	0.187	0.562
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.229	0.392	0.002	0.374	0.807	0.114	0.522	0.620	0.007		0.202	0.707	0.001	0.985	0.000	0.302	0.940	0.483	0.269	0.000
	N	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
11	Pearson Correlation	0.520	0.360	0.303	0.268	-0.130	0.194	0.654	-0.077	0.028	0.215	1.000	0.895	0.429	0.452	0.223	-0.400	0.484	0.360	0.038	0.920
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.001	0.028	0.068	0.109	0.443	0.250	0.000	0.652	0.869	0.202	5	0.000	0.008	0.005	0.185	0.014	0.002	0.029	0.826	0.000
212	Danna Cambrida	0 570	10 221	10.0	10010	10 141	0000	10000	2000	10100	1000	1000	10001	0.170	0 430	0110	215 0	1000	10.00	10100	10 763
717	Fearson Correlation Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.045	0.251	0.120	0.404	0.868	00000	0.875	0.910	0.707	0.000.0	1.000	0.003	0.007	0.288	0.057	0.000	0.009	0.775	0.000
	N	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	3.7	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
K13	Pearson Correlation	0.528	0.015	0.445	0.109	0.236	-0.011	0.125	0.138	-0.436	0.522	0.429	0.479	1.000	0.180	0.630	-0.171	0.271	0.259	0.293	0.525
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.001	0.931	0.006	0.520	0.160	0.948	0.461	0.414	0.007	100.0	0.008	0.003	27	0.286	0.000	0.312	0.105	0.122	0.078	0.001
414	Pearson Correlation	0.226	0.346	0.267	0.193	-0.069	-0.058	-0.047	0.366	0.276	0.003	0.452	0.439	0.180	1.000	-0.095	0.278	0.530	0.532	0.579	0.358
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.178	0.036	0.110	0.253	0.684	0.734	0.781	0.026	0.098	0.985	0.005	0.007	0.286		0.577	0.096	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.029
210	N	37	37	37.	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.491	0.490	0.100	0.604	0.456	0.093	0.991	0.517	0.000	0000.0	0.185	0.288	0000.0	0.577	1.000	0.151	0.712	0.756	0.339	0.011
	N	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	37.000	7.000 3	7.000
×16	Pearson Correlation	-0.201	0.265	0.052	0.178	0.285	-0.339	-0.368	0.266	0.446	-0.174	-0.400	-0.316	-0.171	0.278	-0.241	1.000	-0.116	-0.051	0.615	0.400
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.232	0.112	0.760	0.292	0.087	0.040	0.025	0.112	0.006	0.302	0.014	0.057	0.312	0.096	0.151	5	0.494	0.766	0.000	0.014
212	Pearson Correlation	0.357	0.218	0.074	-0.205	-0.403	-0.099	0.188	0.167	-0.184	0.013	0.484	0.580	0.271	0.530	-0.063	-0.116	1.000	0.945	0.369	0.416
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.030	0.194	0.662	0.224	0.013	0.559	0.264	0.324	0.275	0.940	0.002	0.000	0.105	0.001	0.712	0.494		0.000	0.025	0.010
	N	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
X18	Pearson Correlation	0.258	0.115	0.174	-0.223	-0.442	-0.135	0.059	0.203	-0.237	0.119	0.360	0.423	0.259	0.532	-0.053	-0.051	0.945	1.000	0.421	0.345
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.123	0.498	0.303	0.186	0.006	0.426	0.729	0.227	0.158	0.483	0.029	0.009	0.122	0.001	0.756	0.766	0.000	10	0.009	0.037
012	Daarson Correlation	10 046	0198	780 0	0.008	0 000	-0.183	10 263	0 338	0.018	0 187	0.038	0.049	10 203	0 570	0160	10 615	0 369	10421	1 000	0 074
	Sire. (2-tailed)	0.698	0.240	0.085	0.964	0.896	0.278	0.115	0.041	0.915	0.269	0.826	0.775	0.078	0.000	0.339	0.000	0.025	0.000	200.1	0.665
	N	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
2	Pearson Correlation	0.522	0.254	0.403	0.274	-0.099	0.268	0.613	-0.135	-0.126	0.562	0.920	0.763	0.525	0.358	0.415	-0.400	0.416	0.345	0.074	1.000
	Sig. (2-tailed)	100.0	471.0	C10.0	0.101	0900	0.105	0.000	0.427	0.458	0.000	0.000	0.000	100.0	0.029	0.011	0.014	0.010	0.037	0.665	
	Z	37	37	15	31	37	37	371	371	37	371	37	371	371	37	371	371	37	371	371	371



Fig. 8.19 Graphical presentation of different types of correlation coefficient

Mid value	Mid va	lue (y)					
( <i>x</i> )	<i>y</i> <sub>1</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>2</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>3</sub>	 $y_j$		$y_m$	Total
<i>x</i> <sub>1</sub>	$f_{11}$	$f_{12}$	$f_{13}$	 		$f_{1m}$	$f_{1.}$
<i>x</i> <sub>2</sub>	$f_{21}$	$f_{22}$	$f_{23}$	 		$f_{2m}$	$f_{2.}$
<i>x</i> <sub>3</sub>	$f_{31}$	$f_{32}$	$f_{33}$	 	•••	$f_{3m}$	<i>f</i> <sub>3.</sub>
x <sub>i</sub>				 $f_{ij}$		$f_{1m}$	$f_{1.}$
$x_n$	$f_{n1}$	$f_{n2}$	$f_{n3}$	 		$f_{nm}$	$f_{n.}$
Total	$f_{.1}$	<i>f</i> .2	<i>f</i> .3	 $f_{.j}$		f.m	$\sum_{i} \sum_{j} f_{ij} = N$

 Table 8.11
 Bivariate frequency distribution table

# Significance of the Values of Correlation Coefficients:

- 1. A positive correlation coefficient between any two variables means both the variables move in the same direction.
- A negative correlation between any two variables means if there is an increase or decrease in one variable, then there will be a decrease/increase, respectively, in the other variables.
- 3. As the numerical value of correlation coefficient approaches 1, the degree of linear association becomes more and more intense (Fig. 8.19).

اللاستشارات

# *Correlation Coefficient of Bivariate Frequency Distribution:*

Let the two variables *X* and *Y* have a joint frequency distribution as follows (Table 8.11):where

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} f_{ij} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i.} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} f_{.j} = N.$$

From the data given in Table 8.11, we shall calculate the means and variances using the marginal frequencies and the corresponding mid values of the classes. The covariance between the variables will be calculated by taking cell frequencies and the corresponding mid values of different class combinations of variables X and Y. Marginal frequency refers to the total frequencies of each and every class of the two variables under consideration. Thus, the marginal frequency corresponding to the mid value  $y_i$  is  $f_{.i}$  and that for  $x_i$  is  $f_{i.}$  So,

$$\overline{x} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (f_{i.} x_i), \overline{y} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{m} (f_{.j.} y_j).$$

Similarly,

$$S_{x}^{2} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i..} x_{i}^{2} - \bar{x}^{2}, S_{y}^{2} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{m} f_{j..} y_{j}^{2} - \bar{y}^{2}$$

and

$$\operatorname{Cov}(x,y) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i,j} f_{ij} x_i y_j - \bar{x}.\bar{y} = S_{xy}.$$

*Example 8.26.* The following table gives the bivariate frequency distribution of the plant height and the no. of insects per plant. Using the information, find the correlation coefficient between the plant height and the no. of insects per plant.

	No. o	f insects	s per pla	int		
Height	1–3	3–5	5–7	7–9	9–11	11–13
10–20	0	1	0	0	0	0
20-30	1	2	0	0	0	0
30-40	0	3	2	1	0	0
40–50	1	3	2	1	1	0
50-60	2	2	3	1	0	0
60–70	0	1	2	2	2	0
70–80	0	2	3	3	1	0
80–90	0	1	4	3	2	1

#### Solution.

	No. of insects pe	er plant									
		1-3	3–5	5–7	7–9	9–11	11-13				
		Mid v	value( $x_2$ )								$m \sum_{m=1}^{m} f_{m}$
Height	Mid value $(x_1)$	2	4	6	8	10	12	$f_i$ .	$f_i.x_i$	$f_i x_i^2$	$x_i \sum_{j=1} J_{ij} y_j$
10-20	15	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	15	225	60
20-30	25	1	2	0	0	0	0	3	75	1,875	250
30-40	35	0	3	2	1	0	0	6	210	7,350	1,120
40-50	45	1	3	2	1	1	0	8	360	16,200	1,980
50-60	55	2	2	3	1	0	0	8	440	24,200	2,090
60–70	65	0	1	2	2	2	0	7	455	29,575	3,380
70–80	75	0	2	3	3	1	0	9	675	50,625	4,500
80–90	85	0	1	4	3	2	1	11	935	79,475	7,140
Total (f.j)		4	15	16	11	6	1	53	3165	209,525	20,520
$f_{\cdot_j} y_j$		8	60	96	88	60	12	324	Check	/	<b>,</b>
$f_{ij}y_{j}^{2}$		16	240	576	704	600	144	2,280	_		
$y_j \sum_{i=1}^n f_{ij} x_i$		360	2,860	6,120	5,960	4,200	1,020	20,520			

$$\bar{x} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (f_{i..}x_i) = [15 + 75 + 210 + \dots + 935]/78 = 3165/53 = 59.716$$

Similarly,

$$\bar{y} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{m} (f_{.j} \cdot y_j) = [8 + 60 + \dots + 12]/78 = 324/53 = 6.113$$
$$S^2_x = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i..} x^2_i - \bar{x}^2 = 209525/53 - (59.716)^2 = 387.301$$



Similarly,

$$S_y^2 = \frac{1}{\sum\limits_{j=1}^m f_j} \sum\limits_{j=1}^m f_{j} \cdot y_j^2 - \bar{y}^2$$
  
= 2280/53 - (6.113)<sup>2</sup> = 5.405  
$$Cov(x, y) = S_{xy} = \frac{1}{N} \sum\limits_{i,j} f_{ij} x_i y_j - \bar{x} \cdot \bar{y}$$
  
= 20520/53 - 59.716 × 6.113  
= 22.126

$$\therefore r_{xy} = \frac{\text{Cov}(X,Y)}{S_X S_y} = \frac{22.126}{\sqrt{(387.301)(5.405)}}$$
$$= 0.484$$

Limitations:

- 1. Correlation coefficient assumes linear relationship between two variables.
- 2. High correlation coefficient does not mean high direct association between the variables under a multiple variables consideration problem. The high correlation coefficient between the two variables may be due to the influence of the third and/or fourth variable influencing both the variables. Unless and otherwise the effect of the third and/or fourth variable on the two variables is eliminated, the correlation between the variables may be misleading. To counter this problem, path coefficient analysis discussed in the 2nd volume of this book is useful.
- 3. If the data are not homogeneous to some extent, correlation coefficient may give rise to misleading conclusions.
- 4. For any two series of values, the correlation coefficient between the variables can be worked out, but there should be logical basis for any correlation coefficient; one should be sure about the significance of correlation coefficient; otherwise, the correlation is known as *nonsense correlation or spurious* correlation.

#### 8.4 Correlation Ratio

Generally, in a real-life situation, we come across a nonlinear type of relationships among the variables. For example, when the varying doses of nitrogenous fertilizer to respond nonlinearly with the yield, it will be unwise to assume that as we go on increasing the dose of nitrogen, the yield will increase linearly. The yield will increase initially as we go on increasing the doses of fertilizer, reaches to maximum and then decreases. So a curvilinear relationship will be appropriate, and the use of correlation coefficient (r) to measure the degree of association will be misleading.



-

"Correlation ratio" " $\eta$ " is the appropriate measure of degree of nonlinear relationship between two variables. Correlation ratio measures the concentration of points about the curve fitted to exhibit the nonlinear relationship between the two variables.

Correlation ratio ( $\eta$ ) of Y on X is defined as  $\eta_{yx}^2 = 1 - \frac{S_{ey}^2}{S^2}$ 

where

$$S_{ey}^{2} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i} \sum_{j} f_{ij} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i})^{2} \text{ and}$$
$$S_{y}^{2} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i} \sum_{j} f_{ij} (y_{ij} - \bar{y})^{2}$$

(Table 8.12).

Let the value  $y_{ij}$  occur with the frequency  $f_{ij}$ . Thus, the frequency distribution of two variables *X* and *Y* can be arranged as given in Table 8.11. Further,  $\bar{y}_i = \frac{T_i}{n_i}$  and  $\bar{y} = \frac{T}{N}$  are the means of *i*th array and the overall mean, respectively.



Xi					
<i>Y</i> <sub>ij</sub>	<i>x</i> <sub>1</sub>	<i>x</i> <sub>2</sub>	$\ldots x_i$	$\ldots x_n$	
<i>y</i> <sub><i>i</i>1</sub>	$f_{11}$	$f_{21}$	$\dots f_{i1}$	$\dots f_{n1}$	
yi2	$f_{12}$	$f_{22}$	$\dots f_{i2}$	$\dots f_{n2}$	
<i>y</i> <sub>i3</sub>	$f_{13}$	$f_{23}$	$\dots f_{i3}$	$\dots f_{n3}$	
<i>Y</i> <sub><i>i</i><sub><i>j</i></sub></sub>	$f_{1j}$		$\dots f_{ij}$	$\dots f_{nj}$	
<i>Y</i> <sub>im</sub>	$f_{1m}$	$f_{2m}$	$\dots f_{im}$	$\dots f_{nm}$	
$n_i = \sum_{j=1}^m f_{ij}$	$n_1$	$n_2$	$\dots n_i$	$\dots n_n$	$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} f_{ij} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} n_i = N$
$T_i = \sum_{j=1}^m f_{ij} y_{ij}$	$T_1$	$T_2$	$\dots T_i$	$\dots T_n$	$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} f_{ij} y_{ij} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} T_i = T$
$\sum_{j=1}^{m} f_{ij} y_{ij}^2$	$\sum_{j=1}^m f_{1j} y_{1j}^2$	$\sum_{j=1}^m f_{2j} y_{2j}^2$	$\dots \sum_{j=1}^m f_{ij} y_{ij}^2$	$\cdots \sum_{j=1}^m f_{nj} y_{nj}^2$	$\sum_{i}^{n}\sum_{j}^{m}f_{ij}y_{ij}^{2}$

 Table 8.12
 Bivariate frequency distribution table for correlation ratio analysis

We have

رات

$$\begin{split} S_{y}^{2} &= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i} \sum_{j} f_{ij} (y_{ij} - \bar{y})^{2} \\ &= S_{ey}^{2} + S_{my}^{2}; \text{ where, } S_{my}^{2} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i} n_{i} (\bar{y}_{i} - \bar{y})^{2} \\ &\Rightarrow S_{y}^{2} = S_{ey}^{2} + S_{my}^{2} \Rightarrow 1 = \frac{S_{ey}^{2}}{S_{y}^{2}} + \frac{S_{my}^{2}}{S_{y}^{2}} \Rightarrow \eta_{yx}^{2} \\ &= \frac{S_{my}^{2}}{S_{y}^{2}} = \frac{\left[\frac{1}{N} \sum n_{i} (\bar{y}_{i} - \bar{y})^{2}\right]}{S_{y}^{2}} = \frac{\left[\sum \frac{T_{i}^{2}}{n_{i}} - \frac{T^{2}}{N}\right]}{\sum \sum_{i} \sum_{j} f_{ij} y_{ij}^{2} - \frac{T^{2}}{N}}. \end{split}$$

One can substitute the values of the above quantities from the table to get  $\eta_{yx}^2$ .

*Example 8.27.* The following table gives the frequency distribution of milk yield (y) in kg/day and the age of the cows (x) in years. Find the correlation ratio of yield on the age of cows.

	Age	of cov	ws in	vear		
Yield (kg/day) y	3-4	5–6	7–8	9–10	11-12	13-14
4–7	2	3	3	-	-	-
8–11	-	6	7	8	-	-
12–15	-	6	10	15	12	2
16–19	-	1	5	10	19	4
20–23	-	-	-	10	15	10
24–27	-	-	-	-	5	4

**Solution.** From the given information, we frame the following table:

		Age o	f cows (ye	ears) $(x)$				
		3–4	5–6	7–8	9–10	11-12	13-14	
Milk yield		Mid v	alues (x)					
(kg/day) (y)	Mid values (y)	3.5	5.5	7.5	9.5	11.5	13.5	Total
4–7	5.5	2	3	3	0	0	0	8
8-11	9.5	0	3	7	8	0	0	21
12–15	13.5	0	6	10	15	12	2	45
16–19	17.5	0	1	5	10	19	4	39
20–23	21.5	0	0	0	10	15	10	35
24–27	25.5	0	0	0	0	5	4	9
$\overline{n_i = \sum_{j=1}^6 f_{ij}}$		2	16	25	43	51	20	157
$\overline{T_i = \sum_{j=1}^6 f_{ij} y_{ij}}$		11	172	305.5	668.5	944.5	414	2,515.5
$\frac{T_i^2}{n_i}$		60.5	1,849	3,733.21	10,392.84	17,491.769	8,569.8	42,097.122
$\sum_{j=1}^{6} f_{ij} y_{ij}^2$		60.5	2,032	4,076.25	11,140.75	18,190.75	8,813	44,313.25
الاستثنا	ÄL	i						



Fig 8.20 Graphical presentation of correlation coefficient and correlation ratio

One can get the  $\eta_{yx}^2 = 1 - \frac{S_{ey}^2}{S_y^2}$  or  $\eta_{yx}^2 = \frac{S_{my}^2}{S_y^2}$ . We have

$$NS_{y}^{2} = \sum_{i} \sum_{j} f_{ij} (y_{ij} - \bar{y})^{2} = \sum_{i} \sum_{j} f_{ij} y_{ij}^{2} - N \bar{y}^{2}$$
$$= \sum_{i} \sum_{j} f_{ij} y_{ij}^{2} - \frac{T^{2}}{N} = 44313.25 - \frac{(2515.5)^{2}}{157}$$
$$= 44,313.25 - 40,304.077 = 4,009.173.$$

Again,

$$NS_{my}^{2} = \sum_{i} n_{i} (\bar{y}_{i} - \bar{y})^{2} = \sum_{i} \frac{T_{i}^{2}}{n_{i}} - \frac{T^{2}}{N}$$
  
= 42,097.122 - 40,304.077 = 1,793.045.

So, 
$$\eta_{yx}^2 = \frac{S_{my}^2}{S_y^2} = \frac{1,793.045}{4,009.173} = 0.447.$$

#### Properties of Correlation Ratio:

1.  $r^2 \leq \eta_{yx}^2 \leq 1$ .

- 2.  $\eta_{yx}^2$  is independent of change of origin and scale.
- 3.  $r_{xy} = r_{yx}$ , but  $\eta_{yx}^2$  may or may not be equal to  $\eta_{xy}^2$ . 4.  $\eta_{yx}^2 = 1$ , if  $S_{ey}^2 = 0$  i.e.  $y_{ij} = \overline{y}_i$ .

That means all observations in any array coincide with their mean, and there is a functional



relationship between *y* and *x* which of course need not be linear.

- 5.  $\eta_{yx}^2 = r^2$  if  $\bar{y}_i = \hat{y}_{ij} = Y_i$ ; that is, array means lie on a straight line. Thus,  $\eta_{yx}^2 r^2$  is the departure of regression from linearity.
- 6. If  $r^2 = 1$ , that is, the relationship between y and is linear, then  $\eta_{yx}^2$  must be unity and the relationship is to be linear.
- 7.  $\eta_{yx} = 0$  if  $\bar{y}_i = \bar{y}$ ; that is, all the array means are equal to a constant, that is, the overall mean, then r must be zero and there is no relationship (Fig. 8.20).

#### 8.5 Association of Attributes

Qualitative characters like gender, religion, color, aroma, taste, education standard, and economic status cannot be measured as such in any numeric scale; rather, these could be grouped or categorized. Thus, the above-discussed measures of association may not be applicable. To have an association between the two attributes grouped into different categories, one can use Spearman's rank correlation coefficient and Yule's coefficient of attributes.

#### 8.5.1 Rank Correlation

As discussed above, there are other groups of variables, which are not arithmetically measurable, rather they can be grouped or ranked into different groups or ranks. Even sometimes some measurable characters cannot be measured appropriately because of constraints in time of measurement, cost involvement (may be in the form of the cost of the measuring instrument), etc. In all these cases, we can arrange the individuals according to their assigned ranks. For example, in case of tea, the aroma and taste of different teas can be ranked rather than measured. Similarly, the susceptibility of the different varieties of scented rice towards pest and diseases can be ranked; it is very difficult to measure the susceptibility exactly. Now, if we want to have a degree of association between aroma and susceptibility, then one can use the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient.

Suppose we have *n* individuals whose ranks according to a character *A* are  $x_1, x_2, x_3, \ldots, x_n$  and

according to character B are  $y_1, y_2, y_3, \ldots, y_n$ . Assuming that no two individuals are tied in either the classification mentioned, wherein both *x* and *y* are all integral values from 1 to *n*, then Spearman's rank correlation coefficient is defined as  $r_R = 1 - \frac{6\sum d_i^2}{n(n^2-1)}$ , where  $d_i(i = 1, 2, \ldots, n)$  are the difference between the ranks obtained in two different characters by the *i*th individual.

If more than one individual have the same rank, then the above formula is redefined as follows:

$$r_R = 1 - \frac{6\left\{\sum d^2_i + \frac{p(p^2 - 1)}{12} + \frac{q(q^2 - 1)}{12}\right\}}{n(n^2 - 1)}$$
, where

*p* and *q* are the number of individuals involved in tied ranks for characters *A* and *B*, respectively. *Range of rank correlation coefficient*:  $-1 \le r_R \le +1$ .

*Example 8.28.* Ten different types of teas were examined for aroma as well as for taste. The ranks are shown as follows. Find the association between aroma and pest susceptibility:

	Varie	Variety													
	$T_1$	$T_2$	$T_3$	$T_4$	$T_5$	$T_6$	$T_7$	$T_8$	$T_9$	T <sub>10</sub>					
Aroma:	3	1	6	7	8	4	2	5	9	10					
Susceptibility:	6	2	9	10	4	5	1	7	8	3					

The differences between the rankings in aroma and susceptibility are -3, -1, -3, -3, 4, -1, 1, -2, 1, and 7.

So,  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i^2 = 9 + 1 + 9 + 9 + 16 + 1 + 1 + 4 + 1 + 49 = 100$ 

$$\Rightarrow r_R = 1 - \frac{6 \sum_{i=1}^{10} d_i^2}{10(10-1)} = 1 - \frac{6.100}{10.99} = 1 - \frac{20}{33} = \frac{13}{33}.$$

Thus, there is a low association between the aroma and the pest susceptibility in scented rice.

*Example 8.29.* Farmers are ranked for their educational status and motivation index as follows. Find the association between the standard of education and the motivation index of the farmers:

	Farme	ers								
	$\overline{F_1}$	$F_2$	$F_3$	$F_4$	$F_5$	$F_6$	$F_7$	$F_8$	$F_9$	F <sub>10</sub>
Education	6	10	3.5	5	7	3.5	2	1	9	8
Motivation index	2	9	7	4.5	6	1	4.5	3	8	10

In education, there are two tied ranks 3.5 and in awareness, there are also two tied ranks 4.5. So the correction in education series is

 $\frac{2(4-1)}{12} = \frac{1}{2}$  and that in awareness series is also 1/2.

Now,

$$\begin{aligned} d_i &= 4, \ 1, -3.5, \ 0.5, \ 1, \ 2.5, -2.5, -2, \ 1, -2 \\ \Rightarrow \sum_{i=1}^{10} d_i^2 &= 4^2 + 1^2 + (-3.5)^2 + (0.5)^2 + 1^2 + (2.5)^2 + (-2.5)^2 + (-2)^2 + 1^2 + (-2)^2 \\ &= 16 + 1 + 12.25 + 0.25 + 1 + 6.25 + 6.25 + 4 + 1 + 4 = 52 \\ r_R &= 1 - \frac{6 \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{10} d_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{m(m^2 - 1)}{12} \right]}{n(n^2 - 1)} = 1 - \frac{6 \cdot \left[ 52 + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \right]}{10.99} = 1 - 0.3212 = 0.6788. \end{aligned}$$

So the education and motivation index of the farmers are substantially associated.

#### 8.5.2 Yule's Coefficient

The main idea of Yule's coefficient of association is that the two attributes are associated if they appear in greater number/frequency than what is expected if these are independent. Let there be two attributes A and B. The occurrence of A or B is denoted by (A) and (B), respectively, whereas the absence of these is denoted by (a)and (b), respectively. Thus, we have (Table 8.13)

According to Yule's formula of association, between the attributes A and B

$$Q_{AB} = \frac{(AB)(ab) - (Ab)(aB)}{(AB)(ab) + (Ab)(aB)}$$

where

- (*AB*) is the frequency of the class *AB*, that is, the class in which both *A* and *B* are present
- (*Ab*) is the frequency of the class *Ab*, that is, the class in which *A* is present but *B* is absent
- (*aB*) is the frequency of the class *aB*, that is, the class in which *A* is absent but *B* is present
- (*ab*) is the frequency of the class *ab*, that is, the class in which both *a* and *b* are absent
- The value of Yule's coefficient  $-1 \leq Q_{AB} \leq +1$ .

**Table 8.13**  $2 \times 2$  Distribution of two attributes



#### 8.5.3 Coefficient of Colligation

Using the same idea discussed above in the case of Yule coefficient, another coefficient of association between two attributes has been defined as coefficient of colligation using the following

formula: 
$$Q_{AB} = \frac{\left\{1 - \frac{(Ab)(aB)}{(AB)(ab)}\right\}}{\left\{1 + \frac{(Ab)(aB)}{(AB)(ab)}\right\}} \text{ when } Q = 0$$
$$\Rightarrow \gamma = 0, \ Q = -1 \Rightarrow \gamma = -1, \ Q = +1 \Rightarrow$$
$$\gamma = +1, \text{ and } Q = \frac{2\gamma}{1+\gamma^2}.$$

Besides the above types of correlation, intraclass correlation, grade correlation, Kendall's rank correlation, serial correlation, tetrachoric correlation, etc., are also used.

#### 8.6 Regression Analysis

Correlation coefficient measures the degree of linear association between any of the two given variables. Once after getting a good degree of association, our objective is to find out the actual relationship between or among the variables. The technique by which we can analyze the relationship among the correlated variable is known as regression analysis in the theory of statistics. In different agricultural and socioeconomic studies, different demographic, social, economical, educational, etc., parameters are studied to find out the dependence of the ultimate variables, say yield, adoption index, awareness, empowerment status, etc., on these parameters. Regression analysis is a technique by virtue of which one can study the relationship. Thus, the main objective of regression analysis is to estimate and/or predict the average value of the dependent variable given the values for independent/explanatory variables which can be represented in the form of  $Y = f(X_i, u_i)$ .

It should emphatically be noted that statistical regression analysis does not imply cause and effect relationship between the explanatory variables and the dependent variable. To know more about causation, one should consider Granger test of causality.

The regression equation can also be used as prediction equation under the assumption that the trend of change in Y (the dependent variables) corresponding to the change in X (or the  $X_is$ ) (the independent variables) remains the same. Once the constants are estimated from a given set of observations, the value of the dependent variable corresponds to any value of X (or a set of values of  $X_is$ ) within the range of X (or the  $X_is$  can be worked out). To some extent, the prediction can be made for Y for the value(s) of  $X(X_is)$  beyond the range but not too far beyond the values taken for calculation.

#### Type of Regression:

Regression analysis may be of two main types: (1) *linear regression* and (2) *nonlinear regression*.

Again depending upon the number of variables present in the regression equations both the above-mentioned two types of regressions can be categorized into (a) *simple regression* and (b) *multiple regression*.

If only two variables are present in the regression equation, then it is termed as simple regression equation, for example, Y = 12.5 + 1.25 X, where X is the independent variable and Y is the dependent variable. On the other hand, when a regression equation has more than two variables, then it is termed as multiple regression equation, for example,  $Y = 10.0 + 0.89 X_1 + 1.08 X_2 - 0.76 X_3 + \dots$ , where Xs are the independent variables and Y is the dependent variable.

#### Simple Linear Regression Analysis:

 $Y = \alpha + \beta X$ , where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are the parameters, known as the intercept constant and regression coefficient of Y on X. The intercept constant signifies the value of the dependent variable at initial stage, and the regression coefficient measures the change in a dependent variable to per unit change in the independent variable X.

$$\Rightarrow \beta = \frac{\operatorname{Cov}(X, Y)}{V(X)} = \frac{\rho \sigma_{xy}}{\sigma_x^2} = \rho \frac{\sigma_y}{\sigma_x} \text{ and}$$
$$\alpha = \mu_y - \rho \frac{\sigma_y}{\sigma_x} \mu_x$$

where  $\rho$  is the correlation coefficient between *X* and *Y*,  $\mu_x$  and  $\mu_y$  are the means of *X* and *Y*, respectively,

 $\sigma_{xy}$  is the convariance between X and Y, and  $\sigma_x^2$ and  $\sigma_y^2$  are the cariances of X and Y, respectively,

Using these expressions, the equation of the line may be written

$$(Y-\mu_y)=
ho \frac{\sigma_y}{\sigma_x}(X-\mu_x).$$

Properties of Regression Coefficient:

- 1.  $b.b_1 = r \frac{s_Y}{s_X} \cdot r \frac{s_X}{s_Y} = r^2$ , where  $b = \frac{s_{xy}}{s_X^2}$ ,  $b_1 = \frac{s_{xy}}{s_y^2}$ are the regression coefficient of *Y* on *X* and *X* on *Y*, respectively.
- 2. Regression coefficients are independent of change of origin but not of scale. Let X and Y be the two variables having the mean and variances  $\overline{X}$ ,  $\overline{Y}$  and  $s_X^2$ ,  $s_Y^2$ , respectively. Let us construct two more variables such that

$$U = \frac{X - A}{C} \Rightarrow X = A + CU$$

and

$$V = \frac{Y - B}{D} \Rightarrow Y = B + DV$$

where *A*, *B*, *C*, and *D* are constants. Now,

$$Cov(X,Y) = C.D.Cov(U,V)$$

and

$$s_X^2 = C^2 s_U^2.$$

Similarly,

$$s_Y^2 = D^2 s_v^2$$
  
 $b = \frac{\text{Cov}(X,Y)}{s_X^2} = \frac{C.D.\text{Cov}(U,V)}{C^2 s_U^2} = \frac{D}{C} b_{VU}.$ 

Similarly, it can be proved that  $b_1 = \frac{C}{D} b_{UV}$  $\beta_{XY} = \frac{D}{C} \beta_{UV}$ .

3. Let  $(x_1, y_1), (x_2, y_2), \dots, (x_n, y_n)$  be the *n* pair of observations.

Sl		
no.	Correlation coefficient	Regression coefficient
1	Correlation coefficient $(r_{XY})$ measures the degree of linear association between any two given variables	Regression coefficient $(b_{XY}, b_{YX})$ measures the change in dependent variable due to per unit change in independent variable when the relation is linear
2	Correlation coefficient does not consider the dependency between the variables	One variable is dependent on the other variable
3	Correlation coefficient is a unit-free measure	Regression coefficient $(b_{XY}, b_{YX})$ has the unit depending upon the units of the variables under consideration
4	Correlation coefficient is independent of the change of origin and scale	Regression coefficient $(b_{XY}, b_{YX})$ does not depend on the change of origin but depends on the change of scale
5	$-1 \le r_{XY} \le +1$	$b_{XY}, b_{YX}$ does not have any limit

**Table 8.14** Comparison between the correlation coefficient

 cient and the regression coefficient

Now, the total sum of squares (y)

$$TSS = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \bar{y})^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \bar{y} + \bar{y} - \bar{y})^2$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \bar{y})^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\bar{y} - \bar{y})^2,$$

where  $\hat{y}$  is the estimate of Y

= Residual sum of squares + Regression sum of squares $= RSS + R_gSS$ 

$$\therefore TSS = RSS + R_gSS \Rightarrow 1 = \frac{RSS}{TSS} + \frac{R_gSS}{TSS}$$
$$= \frac{RSS}{TSS} + r^2.$$

Now, we observe that  $\frac{R_gSS}{TSS} = r^2$  and  $\frac{RSS}{TSS} = 1 - r^2$ .

If we get the calculated value of  $r^2$  as 0.55, we mean that 55% variations are explained by the regression line, and the remaining 45% variations are unexplained (Table 8.14).

*Example 8.30.* The following table gives the panicle length (X in cm) and the corresponding yield (Y in q/ha) of paddy in ten different

varieties to find out the degree of linear association between the yield and the panicle length of paddy and to find out the linear relationship of yield on the panicle length of paddy.

X	18	20	20	22	22	25	26	28	35	40
Y	14	14	15	15	16	18	17	20	22	21

Solution. Let us make the following table:

	X	Y	$X^2$	$Y^2$	XY
	18	14	324	196	252
	20	14	400	196	280
	20	15	400	225	300
	22	15	484	225	330
	22	16	484	256	352
	25	18	625	324	450
	26	17	676	289	442
	28	20	784	400	560
	35	22	1,225	484	770
	40	21	1,600	441	840
Mean	25.6	17.2			
Variance	44.84	7.76			
Covariance	17.28				
Correlation co	oefficient	0.926			

We have a no. of observations "n" =10, and the mean and variances and covariance are calculated as per the formula given in Chap. 3. So the correlation coefficient between the yield and the panicle length is given by r = Cov(X,Y)/sd(X).sd(Y). Now, the regression equation of yield (Y) on the panicle length (X) is given by

$$(Y - \overline{Y}) = b_{yx}(X - \overline{X})$$
  

$$\Rightarrow (Y - 17.2) = \frac{\text{Cov}(X.Y)}{s_X^2}(X - 25.6)$$
  

$$= \frac{17.28}{44.84}(X - 25.6)$$
  

$$= 0.385(X - 25.6) = 0.385x - 9.865$$
  

$$\Rightarrow Y = 17.2 + 0.385X - 9.865$$
  

$$\Rightarrow Y = 7.335 + 0.385X.$$

*Example 8.31.* The following data give the number of insects per hill (X) and the corresponding yield (Y) of nine different varieties of rice. Work out the linear relationship between the yield and the number of insects per hill.

Variety	V1	V2	V3	V4	V5	V6	V7	V8	V9
Χ	16	16	22	23	24	24	25	28	29
Y	55	54	48	47	45	40	44	37	40

Variety	x	у	$(x - \overline{x})$	$(y - \overline{y})$	$(x-\bar{x})^2$	$(y - \overline{y})^2$	$(\mathbf{x} - \bar{x})(y - \bar{y})$
1	16	55	-7	9.44	49	89.2	-66.11
2	16	54	-7	8.44	49	71.31	-59.11
3	22	48	-1	2.44	1	5.98	-2.44
4	23	47	0	1.44	0	2.09	0
5	24	45	1	-0.56	1	0.31	-0.56
6	24	40	1	-5.56	1	30.86	-5.56
7	25	44	2	-1.56	4	2.42	-3.11
8	28	37	5	-8.56	25	73.2	-42.78
9	29	40	6	-5.56	36	30.86	-33.33
Mean	23	45.56					
Variance	18.44	34.02					
Covariance	-23.67						

Solution. Let us make the following table:

The regression equation of yield on the number of insects is given by  $(Y - \overline{Y}) = b_{yx}(X - \overline{X}) \Rightarrow (Y - 45.56) = \frac{\text{Cov}(X.Y)}{s_x^2}(X - 23) = -\frac{23.67}{18.44}(X - 23) = -1.284(X - 23) = -1.284X + 29.532 \Rightarrow Y = 75.092 - 1.284X.$  The above example can very well be worked out using MS Excel software as follows:

	B	) •	A.A.many	Company,	the stand	And No.	Book1	Microsoft Excel	-						- 0	x
	Home In	sert Page La	yout Formula:	Data	Review View	SAS									<del>0</del> -	σx
Get Ex Dat	ternal Data	ng lions All + Con	Connections Properties Edit Links Innections	24 2X XI Sort Fi Sort	Ker SAdvanced	Text to Columns	Remove Data Duplicates Validati Data 1	Consolidate	What-If Analysis *	Group Ung	roup Subto	9∃ Show Deta ™∃ Hide Deta tal	Data Anal	nis		
_	111	• (9	f.						-							¥
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1		J	K	L	M	N	C-
1	Variety	No. insect/ Hill	Yield(q/ ha)				ata Analysis Analysis Tools Descriptive Statistic Exponential Smooth	ng .			OK ancel					
2		X	Y				F-Test Two-Sample Fourier Analysis	for Variances			Help					
3	1	24	45				Moving Average Random Number Ge	neration		-						
4	2	23	47			-1	Rank and Percentle Recression				- 1					
5	3	16	55			L	Saubaud									-
6	4	25	44													
7	5	29	40													
8	6	24	40													
9	7	28	37													
10	8	22	48													
11	9	16	54													
12																
13																_
14																
Ready	H Sheet1	Sheet2 She	et3 🥠							•			-	140% (-	0	•
-	e	1			#		25.7	1000		C2 ^		1.5			• • • • •	AM

Slide 8.25: Step 1 showing data entry and the selection of the proper Analysis menu using MS Excel



0	12 9 · CI	) • =	1		-	Book1 - Microsoft Excel	= • ×
	Home In:	sert Page La	yout Formula	s Data	Review View	545	😺 - 🗢 X
Get Da	ternal Distin Connection Set External Data	g Refresh All - Cor	Connections Properties Edit Links nnections	21 A A	C Cear C Reapply Filter C Advanced C Filter	Tert in Remove Outs Consolidate What & Group Ungroup Sublets Regression State Consolidate State Sta	×
1	Δ	B	C	D	E	Input YRange: SCS2:SCS11 IN Council K I M	N C
	Variety	No. insect/	Yield(q/ ha)	0		Input I Range:         IERE 280511         Image:         Image: <thimage:< th="">         Image:         <thimage:< th=""></thimage:<></thimage:<>	
1		Hill				Output options	
2		X	Y			Qutput Range: 8E52     New Worksheet Phy:	
3	1	24	45			New Workbook	
4	2	23	4/			Residuals Residual Plots	
5	3	16	55			Standardzed Residuals Une Fit Plots	
6	4	25	44			Normal Probability	
7	5	29	40				
8	6	24	40				
9	7	28	37				
10	8	22	48				
11	9	16	54				
12							
13							
14							
Enter	H Sheet1	Sheet2 She	et3 🤇 😒				
	A			12	x		- 40 11:18 AM

Slide 8.26: Step 2 showing data and the selection of proper data range and other submenus in regression analysis using MS Excel

0	100				1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1		Book1 - M	icrosoft Excel		Constanting of the					x
	Home	Insert	Page Layout	Formul	as Data Review 1	View SAS									- = x
Pas	Cut La Copy Form Clipboard	at Painter	Calibri B I U - F	• 12 •	A' x'     ≡     ≡     ⊗       · Δ ·     ≡     ≡     ≡     ≡       /·     □     □     ↓	Wrap Text	General ster - % Ty Numb	• [54 -33] er 5	Conditional Formatting	Format Cell • as Table • Styles • Styles	Insert Delete Cells	Format → Clear	Sum * 27 Phi Sort & Find & Filter * Select * Editing		
	E1	-	n fr	SUMMAR	RY OUTPUT										3
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	К	L	м	N	0
1	Variety	No. insect/ Hill	Yield(q /ha)		SUMMARY OUTPUT										
2	_	X	Y												
3	1	24	45		Regression St	tatistics									
4	2	23	47		Multiple R	0.944728914									
5	3	16	55		R Square	0.892512721									
6	4	25	44		Adjusted R Square	0.877157396									
7	5	29	40		Standard Error	2.168442275									
8	6	24	40		Observations	9									1
9	7	28	37												
10	8	22	48		ANOVA										
11	9	16	54			df	SS	MS	F	Significance F					
12					Regression	1	273.307229	273.307	58.124	0.000123797					
13					Residual	7	32.9149933	4.70214							
14					Total	8	306.222222								
15															
16						Coefficients	Standard Error	t Stat	P-value	Lower 95%	Upper 95%	Lower 95.0%	Upper 95.0%		
17					Intercept	75.06760375	3.93789243	19.0629	2.7E-07	65.75596782	84.37924	65.7559678	84.37923967		
18					x	-1.28313253	0.16830376	-7.6239	0.00012	-1.68110769	-0.885157	-1.6811077	-0.88515737		
19															
16 -6	H She	et1 / Shee	t2 / Sheet3	/•2/	(				1	•					+1
Read	y							_	_	Average: 43.965432	97 Count: 57	Sum: 1362.928422	110% (	) 0	e
1	) (e			0					1			1	· 8	P () 11	24 AM

Slide 8.27: Step 3 showing the output generated in regression analysis using MS Excel



	No. of flowers per plant (Y)								
	Y	1–3	3–5	5–7	7–9	9–11	11-13		
Plant ht $(X)$	X	2	4	6	8	10	12	Total $(f_i)$	
25–35	30	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	
35-45	40	1	2	0	0	0	0	3	
45-55	50	0	3	2	1	0	0	6	
55-65	60	1	3	2	1	1	0	8	
65–75	70	2	2	3	1	0	0	8	
75–85	80	0	1	2	2	2	0	7	
85–95	90	0	2	3	3	1	0	9	
95–105	100	0	1	4	3	2	1	11	
105–115	110	0	0	5	4	3	1	13	
115–125	115	0	2	5	3	2	0	12	
	Total $(f_j)$	4	17	26	18	11	2	78	
$\overline{X} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{10} f_{i.} X_{i}$	$= 86.795$ and $\overline{Y}$	$=\frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^{10}f_{j}Y_{j}$	= 6.538						

$$s_{X}^{2} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{10} f_{i} X_{i}^{2} - \overline{X}^{2} = 574.343, s_{Y}^{2} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{6} f_{j} Y_{j}^{2} - \overline{Y}^{2} = 5.505$$
$$s_{XY} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{10} \sum_{j=1}^{6} f_{ij} X_{i} Y_{j} - \overline{XY} = 19.29 r_{XY} = 0.343.$$

Readers can verify whether the results in both cases are almost same. Additionally, some statistical properties of the coefficients as well as that of the whole regression exercise are also provided. While taking up multiple regression analysis during multivariate analysis, we would show how this analysis could also be performed using SPSS and SAS software.

*Example 8.32.* Given below are the data on plant height and the number of flowers per plant to find out the correlation coefficient and the relationship between the plant height and the number of flowers per plant

Now, the regression equation of the number of flowers per plant (Y) on plant height (X) is given by

$$Y - \overline{Y} = r \frac{s_Y}{s_X} (X - \overline{X})$$
  

$$\Rightarrow Y = \overline{Y} + r \frac{s_Y}{s_X} (X - \overline{X})$$
  

$$\Rightarrow Y = 6.538 + 0.343 \frac{2.346}{23.965} (X - 86.795)$$
  

$$= 6.538 + 0.034X - 2.915$$
  

$$\Rightarrow Y = 3.623 + 0.034X.$$

The above regression equation of the number of flowers per plant on plant height of okra indicates that for every centimeter change in plant height, the number of flowers per plant will increase by 0.034 numbers.



### Formulation and Testing of Hypothesis

9

The main objective of the researchers is to study the population behavior to draw the inferences about the population, and in doing so, in most of the cases the researcher uses sample observations. As samples are part of the population, there are possibilities of difference in sample behavior from that of population behavior. Thus, the process/technique is of knowing accurately and efficiently the unknown population behavior from the statistical analysis of the sample behavior—known as *statistical inference*.

Problems in statistical inference:

- (a) *Estimation*: Scientific assessment of the population characters from sample observations.
- (b) Testing of hypothesis: Some information or some hypothetical values about the population parameter may be known or available but it is required to be tested how far these information or hypothetical values are acceptable or not acceptable in the light of the information obtained from the sample supposed to have been drawn from the same population.

#### 9.1 Estimation

Let  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_n)$  be a random sample drawn from a population having density  $f(x|\theta)$  where  $\theta$ is an unknown parameter. Estimation is the problem of estimating the value  $\theta$  with the help of the sample observations. There are mainly two types of estimation, namely, *point estimation* and *interval estimation*.

#### 9.1.1 Point Estimation

Suppose  $x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_n$  is a random sample from a density  $f(x|\theta)$ , where  $\theta$  is an unknown parametric. Let *t* be a function of  $x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_n$  and is used to estimate  $\theta$ , then *t* is called a point estimator of  $\theta$ . Among the many estimators based on sample observations, a good estimator is one which is (a) *unbiased*, (b) *consistent*, and (c) *efficient and sufficient*.

The details of these properties and their estimation procedures are beyond the scope of this book.

#### 9.1.2 Interval Estimation

In contrast to the point estimation method, in interval estimation, we are always in search of a probability statement about the unknown parameter  $\theta$  of the population from which the sample has been drawn. If  $x_1, x_2, x_3, \ldots, x_n$  be a random sample drawn from a population, we shall be always in search of two functions  $u_1$  and  $u_2$ such that the probability of  $\theta$  remains in the interval  $(u_1, u_2)$  is given by a value say  $1 - \alpha$ . Thus,  $P(u_1 \le \theta \le u_2) = 1 - \alpha$ . This type of interval, if exists, is called confidence interval for the parameter  $\theta$ .  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  are known as confidence limits and  $1 - \alpha$  is called the confidence coefficient.

#### 9.2 Testing of Hypothesis

A statistical hypothesis is an assertion about the population distribution of one or more random variables belonging to a particular population. In other words statistical hypothesis is a statement about the probability distribution of population characteristics which are to be verified on the basis of sample information. On the basis of the amount of information provided by a hypothesis, a statistical hypothesis is either (1) simple or (2) composite. Given a random variable from a population, a simple hypothesis is a statistical hypothesis which specifies all the parameters of the probability distribution of the random variable; otherwise it is a composite hypothesis. For example, if we say that the height of the Indian population is distributed normally with mean 5.6' and variance 15.6, then it is a simple hypothesis. On the other hand, if we say that (1) the height of the Indian population is distributed normally with mean 5.6' or (2) the height of the Indian population is distributed normally with variance 15.6 is composite in nature. Because to specify the distribution of height which is distributed normally, we require two information on mean and variance of the population. Depending upon the involvement or noninvolvement of the population parameter in the statistical hypothesis, it is again divided into *parametric* or *nonparametric* hypothesis, and corresponding tests are either parametric test or nonparametric test. Thus, a statistical hypothesis  $\mu = \mu_0$  is a parametric hypothesis, but testing whether a time series data is random or not, that is, to test "the series is random," is a nonparametric hypothesis.

Any unbiased/unmotivated statistical assertion (hypothesis) whose validity is to be tested for possible rejection on the basis of sample observations is called *null hypothesis*. And the statistical hypothesis which contradicts the null hypothesis is called the *alternative hypothesis*. For example, against the null hypothesis



*H*<sub>0</sub>:  $\mu = \mu_0$ , (1)  $\mu \neq \mu_0$ , (2)  $\mu > \mu_0$ , and (3)  $\mu < \mu_0$  are the alternative hypotheses.

In testing of hypothesis, a *test statistic* is a function of sample observations whose computed value when compared with the probability distribution, it follows, leads us to take final decision with regard to acceptance or rejection of null hypothesis.

#### 9.2.1 Qualities of Good Hypothesis

- 1. Hypothesis should be clearly stated.
- 2. Hypothesis should be precise and stated in simple form as far as possible.
- 3. Hypothesis should state the relationships among the variables.
- 4. Hypothesis should be in the form of being tested.
- 5. Hypothesis should be such that it can be tested within the research area under purview.

*Critical region*: Let a random sample  $x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_n$  be represented by a point x in n-dimensional sample space  $\Omega$  and  $\omega$  being a subset of the sample space, defined according to a prescribed test such that it leads to the rejection of the null hypothesis on the basis of the given sample if the corresponding sample point x falls in the subset  $\omega$ ; the subset  $\omega$  is known as the *critical region* of the test. As it rejects the null hypothesis, it is also known as the *zone of rejection*. The complementary region to the critical region of the sample space, that is,  $\omega'$  or  $\overline{\omega}$ , is known as the *region of acceptance*. Two boundary values of the critical region of acceptance.

*Errors in decision*: In statistical inference, drawing inference about the population parameter based on sample observation may lead to the following situations, and out of the four situations in two situations, one can commit errors. (Table 9.1)

#### 9.2.2 Level of Significance

The probability of committing type I error ( $\alpha$ ) is called the level of significance. If the calculated

Null	Decision taken				
hypothesis $(H_0)$	Reject H <sub>0</sub>	Accept H <sub>0</sub>			
True	Incorrect decision (type I error)	Correct decision			
False	Correct decision	Incorrect decision (type II error)			

 Table 9.1 Table of types of decision in statistical inference

value of a test statistic lies in the critical region, the null hypothesis is said to be rejected at  $\alpha$  level of significance. Generally, the level of significance is taken as 5 or 1%. This depends on the objective of the study. Sometimes we may have to opt for 0.01 or 0.001% level of significance, particularly in relation to medical studies. The researcher has the freedom to select the appropriate level of significance depending upon the objective of the study. Nowadays in many statistical software, the actual level of significance is provided instead of saying whether a particular null hypothesis is rejected or accepted at a particular prefixed level of significance or not.

#### 9.2.3 Types of Test

Based on the nature of alternative hypothesis, a test is one sided (one tailed) or both sided (two tailed). For example, if we are to test  $H_0: \mu = 5.6'$ , then the test against alternative hypothesis (1)  $\mu \neq 50$  is a both-sided or twotailed test while the test  $H_1$ : against either  $H_1: \mu > 50$  or  $\mu < 50$  is a one-sided or onetailed test.

#### 9.2.4 Degrees of Freedom

Degree of freedom is actually the number of observations less the number of restrictions. Generally, the degrees of freedom are n - 1 for a sample with n number of observations, but it should be kept in mind that the degrees of freedom are not necessarily be n - 1 for n observations. Depending upon the restrictions, the degrees of freedom are worked out, for



example, in calculating  $\chi^2$  value from an  $r \times s$  table, the degrees of freedom will be (r-1) (s-1).

#### 9.2.5 Steps in Testing of Statistical Hypothesis

Holistic and meticulous approach is required in each and every step of testing of statistical hypothesis so as to draw fruitful and correct decision about the population parameter based on sample observations. Some of the important steps to be followed in testing of statistical hypothesis are as follows:

- (a) *Objective of the study*: There should not be any ambiguity in fixing the objective of the study, that is, to test whether the equality of two population means from two different samples drawn from the same parent population or from two different populations or to test whether population mean can be taken as μ<sub>0</sub> (a specified value) or not and so on.
- (b) *Knowledge about population*: Extensive information or knowledge about the population and its distribution for which the parameters under study have been taken is essential and useful.
- (c) Hypothesis: Commensurating with the objective of the study and the knowledge about the population under study selection or fixing of appropriate null hypothesis and alternative hypothesis will lead us to the type of test (i.e., one sided or two sided) to be performed.
- (d) Selection of test statistic: While deciding the appropriate sampling distribution vis-a-vis the suitable test statistic, one should be very careful to select such a statistic which can best reflect the probability of the null hypothesis and the alternative hypothesis based on available information under study. A faulty selection of test statistic may lead to the wrong conclusion about the population parameter under study. Similarly, instead of a small sample test, if we go for a large sample test in a case where the number of observations is low, we may lead to an erroneous conclusion.

- (e) Selection of level of significance: Depending upon the objective of the study, type of parameter, type of study object, precision required, etc., the appropriate level of significance is required to be decided. Selection of suitable level of significance (i.e., the region of rejection) is a must before the testing of hypothesis actually takes place.
- (f) Critical values: Depending upon the type of test (one sided or both sided), test statistic, and its distribution, level of significance values separating the zone of rejection and the zone of acceptance are to be worked out from the table of specific corresponding distribution. Critical region should be selected in such a way that its power be maximum. A test is significant (i.e., rejection of null hypothesis) or not significant (acceptance of null hypothesis) depending upon the values of the calculated value of the test statistic and the table value of the statistic at prefixed level of significance. Fault in selection of the critical values may lead to a wrong conclusion.
- (g) Calculation of test statistic: From the given information, one needs to accurately calculate the value of the test statistic under null hypothesis.
- (h) Comparison of calculated value of the statistic at prefixed level of significance with that of the corresponding table value.
- (i) *Decision* with respect to rejection or acceptance of null hypothesis.
- (j) *Drawing conclusion* in line with the questions put forward in the objective of the study.

### 9.3 Statistical Test Based on Normal Population

- 1. Test for specified value of population mean with known population variance
- 2. Test for specified value of population mean with unknown population variance
- 3. Test of significance for specified population variance with known population mean  $(\mu)$
- Test of significance for specified population variance with unknown population mean (μ)



- 5. Test of equality of two population variances from two normal populations with known population means
- 6. Test of equality of two population variances from two normal populations with unknown population means
- 7. Test for equality of two population means with known variances
- 8. Test for equality of two population means with equal but unknown variance
- Test for equality of two population means with unequal and unknown variances— Fisher–Berhans problem
- Test equality of two population means under the given condition of unknown population variances from a bivariate normal populationpaired *t*-test
- 11. Test for significance of population correlation coefficient, that is,  $H_0$ :  $\rho = 0$  against  $H_1$ :  $\rho \neq 0$
- 12. Test for equality of two population variances from a bivariate normal distribution
- 13. Test for specified values of intercept and regression coefficient in a simple linear regression
- 14. Test for significance of the population multiple correlation coefficient
- 15. Test for significance of population partial correlation coefficient

The above tests are few to maintain but are not exhaustive.

A. Tests Based on a Normal Population

Depending upon the type of test (i.e., one sided or both sided) and the level of significance, the limiting values of the critical regions (i.e., region of acceptance and region of rejection) under standard normal probability curve are given as follows (Table 9.2):

**Table 9.2** Critical values under standard normalprobability curve

Type of test	Level of significance $\alpha = 0.05$	Level of significance $\alpha = 0.01$
Both-sided test	1.960	2.576
One sided (left tailed)	-1.645	-2.330
One sided (right tailed)	1.645	2.330
1. Test for Specified Values of Population Mean with Known Population Variance from a Normal Population

To test  $H_0$ :  $\mu = \mu_0$  against the alternative hypotheses  $H_1$ :  $(1) \mu \neq \mu_0, (2) \mu > \mu_0$ , and  $(3) \mu < \mu_0$  with known population variance  $\sigma^2$ . The test statistic under the given null hypothesis is

$$\tau = \frac{\overline{x} - \mu_0}{\sigma / \sqrt{n}},$$

where  $\overline{x}$  is the sample mean and this  $\tau$  follows a standard normal distribution.

Conclusion:

- (a) For H<sub>1</sub>: μ ≠ μ<sub>0</sub>, reject H<sub>0</sub> if the calculated value of |τ| < τ<sub>α/2</sub>, where τ<sub>α/2</sub> is the table value of τ at upper α/2 level of significance (e.g., 1.96 or 2.576 at 5 or 1% level of significance, respectively); otherwise accept it.
- (b) For H<sub>1</sub>: μ > μ<sub>0</sub>, reject H<sub>0</sub> if the calculated value of τ > τ<sub>α</sub>, where τ<sub>α</sub> is the table value of τ at upper α level of significance (e.g., 1.645 or 2.33 at 5 or 1% level of significance, respectively); otherwise accept it.
- (c) For H<sub>1</sub>: μ < μ<sub>0</sub>, reject H<sub>0</sub> if the calculated value of τ > τ<sub>1-α</sub>, where τ<sub>1-α</sub> is the table value of τ at lower α level of significance (e.g., -1.645 or -2.33 at 5 or 1% level of significance, respectively); otherwise accept it.

*Example 9.1.* A random sample drawn from ten students of a college found that the average weight of the students is 45 kg. Test whether this average weight of the students be taken as 50 kg at 1% level of significance or not, given that the weight of the students follows a normal distribution with variance 9 kg<sup>2</sup>.

**Solution.** Given that (1) the population is normal with variance 9, (2) sample mean  $(\bar{x})$  is 45 and (3) population hypothetical mean is 50.

To test  $H_0$ : Population mean  $\mu = 50$  against  $H_1$ :  $\mu \neq 50$ .

This is a both-sided test. As the sample has been drawn from a normal population with

🐴 للاستشارات



$$\tau = \frac{\overline{x} - \mu_0}{\sigma_X / \sqrt{n}}$$

For this problem,

$$\tau = \frac{45 - 50}{\sqrt{9/10}} = \frac{-5}{0.949} = -5.269.$$

From the table of the standard normal variate, we have  $\tau_{0.01}(=2.576) \prec |\tau|_{cal} (=5.269)$ . So the test is significant at 1% level of significance. Hence, we reject the null hypothesis, that is,  $H_0: \mu = \mu_0$ . So the average student weight is not 50 kg.

2. Test for Specified Value of Population Mean with Unknown Population Variance from a Normal Population

To test  $H_0$ :  $\mu = \mu_0$  against the alternative hypotheses  $H_1$ : (1)  $\mu \neq \mu_0$ , (2)  $\mu > \mu_0$ , and (3)  $\mu < \mu_0$  with unknown population variance  $\sigma^2$ .

The test statistic under the given null hypothesis is  $t = \overline{x} - \mu_0/(s/\sqrt{n})$ , where (n - 1) is the degrees of freedom, and  $\overline{x}$  and  $s^2$  are the sample mean and sample mean square,  $s^2 = \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^n (xi - \overline{x})^2$  (an unbiased estimator

of population variance  $\sigma^2$ ).

Conclusion

- (a) For H<sub>1</sub>: μ ≠ μ<sub>0</sub>, reject H<sub>0</sub> if the calculated value of t > t<sub>α/2,n-1</sub> or cal t < t<sub>(1-α)/2,n-1</sub> = -t<sub>α/2,n-1</sub> i.e. cal |t| > t<sub>a/2,n-1</sub> where t<sub>α/2,n-1</sub> is the table value of t at upper α/2 level of significance with (n − 1) d.f.; otherwise accept it.
- (b) For H<sub>1</sub>: μ > μ<sub>0</sub>, reject H<sub>0</sub> if the calculated value of t > t<sub>α,n-1</sub>, where τ<sub>α,n-1</sub> is the table value of t at upper α level of significance with (n 1)d.f.; otherwise accept it.
- (c) For  $H_1$ :  $\mu < \mu_0$ , reject  $H_0$  if the calculated value of  $t < t_{1-\alpha,n-1}$ , where  $t_{1-\alpha,n-1}$  is the table value of *t* at lower  $\alpha$  level of significance with (n 1)d.f.; otherwise accept it.

Panicle length (inches): 10, 12, 6, 15, 14, 13, 13, 7, 14, 6

**Solution.** Given that the (1) length of panicle follows a normal distribution with unknown variance and (2) population hypothetical mean is 12 in.

To test  $H_0$ : Population mean  $\mu = 12$  against  $H_1$ :  $\mu \neq 12$ . The test statistic under the null hypothesis is  $t = \frac{\overline{x} - \mu}{s/\sqrt{n}}$  with (n - 1) d.f. and the test is a both-sided test. We have sample mean,

$$\overline{x} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i = \frac{1}{10} [10 + 12 + \dots + 6] = 11$$
 in.

and

$$s^{2} = \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_{i} - \overline{x})^{2} = \frac{1}{9} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{10} x_{i}^{2} - 10.(11)^{2} \right]$$
$$= 12.22 \text{ in}^{2}.$$

So

$$t = \frac{11 - 12}{\sqrt{\frac{12.22}{10}}} = \frac{-1}{1.106} = -0.904.$$

The table value of *t* at 9 d.f. at 2.5% level of significance is 2.262 which is greater than the absolute value of the calculated value of *t*, that is,  $|t| < t_{0.025,9}$ . So the test is nonsignificant and the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. That means that the length of panicle for the given wheat variety may be taken as 12 in.

3. Test for Significance for Specified Population Variance with Known Population Mean from a Normal Population

If  $x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_n$  be a random sample drawn from a normal population with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$ , that is,  $N(\mu, \sigma^2)$  to test  $H_0: \sigma^2 = \sigma_0^2$  where  $\sigma_0^2$ , is any specified value for the

population variance. Against the alternative hypotheses  $H_1$ :  $(1) \sigma^2 \neq \sigma_{\alpha}^2, (2) \sigma^2 > \sigma_{\alpha}^2$ , and

(3) 
$$\sigma^2 < \sigma_0^2$$
, the test statistic is

$$\chi_n^2 = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n (x_i - \mu)^2}{\sigma_0^2}$$

with n d.f.

- 1. For  $H_1: \sigma^2 \neq \sigma_0^2$ , the null hypothesis is rejected if the calculated value of  $\chi_n^2$  is greater than the table value of  $\chi_n^2$  at upper  $\alpha/2$  level of significance and at *n* degrees of freedom, that is, cal  $\chi_n^2 >$  tab  $\chi_{\alpha/2,n}^2$  or calculated  $\chi_n^2 <$  tabulated  $\chi_n^2$  (1 -  $\alpha$ )/2,*n*.
- 2. For  $H_1: \sigma^2 > \sigma_0^2$ , the null hypothesis is rejected if the calculated value of  $\chi_n^2$  is greater than the table value of  $\chi_n^2$  at upper  $\alpha$  level of significance and at *n* degrees of freedom, that is, cal  $\chi_n^2 >$  tab  $\chi^2_{\alpha,n}$ .
- 3. For  $H_1: \sigma^2 < \sigma_0^2$ , the null hypothesis is rejected if the calculated value of  $\chi_n^2$  is less than the table value of  $\chi_n^2$  at lower  $\alpha$ level of significance and at *n* degrees of freedom, that is, cal  $\chi_n^2 < \text{tab } \chi^2_{(1-\alpha),n}$ .

*Example 9.3.* From the following data on number of flowers per plant of rose, find out whether the variance of rose per plant can be taken as 6, given that the number of flowers per plant of rose follows a normal distribution with mean number of flowers per plant as 12.

No. of flowers per plant: 12,11,10,9,13,12, 8,15,16,13

**Solution.** Given that (1) the population mean is 12 (known), (2) the sample has been drawn from a normal population, (3) sample size is 10.

To test  $H_0$ :  $\sigma^2 = 6$  against  $H_1$ :  $\sigma^2 \neq 6$ .

Under the 
$$H_0$$
, the test statistics is  $\chi_{10}^2 = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - \mu)^2}{\sigma^2} = \frac{[0 + 1 + 4 + 9 + 1 + 0 + 16 + 9 + 16 + 1]}{6}$   
= 57/6 = 9.5

From the table, we have a value of  $\chi^2_{0.025,10} = 20.483$  and  $\chi^2_{0.975,10} = 3.25$ . The calculated value of  $\chi^2$ , that is, 9.5, lies between

these two values. So the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. That means we can conclude that the variance of no. of flowers per plant in rose can be taken as 6.

4. Test of Significance for Hypothetical Population Variance with Unknown Population Mean from a Normal Population

If  $x_1, x_2, x_3, \ldots, x_n$  be a random sample drawn from a normal population with unknown mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$  to test  $H_0: \sigma^2 = \sigma_0^2$ where  $\sigma_0^2$  is any specified value for the population variance. Against the alternative hypotheses  $H_1$ : (1)  $\sigma^2 \neq \sigma_0^2$ , (2)  $\sigma^2 > \sigma_0^2$ , and (3)  $\sigma^2 < \sigma_0^2$ , the test statistic,

$$\chi^{2}_{(n-1)} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_{i} - \overline{x})^{2}}{\sigma_{0}^{2}}$$

with (n - 1) degrees of freedom where  $\overline{x}$  is the sample mean  $= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i$ . The decision rule is as usual for the test mentioned in 3.

*Example 9.4.* A random sample of 25 trees of jackfruit gives average fruits per plant as 40 with variance 220 from a normal population. Test whether the variance of no. of fruits per plant of jackfruit can be taken as 200 given that the no. of fruits per plant follows a normal distribution.

**Solution.** Given that (1) sample size n = 25.

(2) Sample mean ( $\overline{x} = 40$ ).

(3) Sample variance = 220.

(4) The sample has been drawn from a normal population with unknown mean.

To test  $H_0$ :  $\sigma^2 = 200$  against  $H_1$ :  $\sigma^2 \neq 200$ , the test is a both-sided test, and under the null hypothesis, the test statistic is

$$\chi_{24}^{2} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_{i} - \overline{x})^{2}}{\sigma^{2}} = \frac{nS^{2}}{\sigma^{2}} = \frac{25 \times 220}{200} = 27.5,$$

where  $S^2$  is the sample variance.

From the table, we have  $\chi^2_{0.995,24} = 9.89$ and  $\chi^2_{0.005,24} = 45.558$ . Since 9.89 < cal  $\chi^2 < 45.56$ ,  $H_0$  cannot be rejected. That means



we can accept that the variance of number of fruits per tree may be 200.

5. Test of Equality of Two Population Variances from Two Normal Populations with Known Population Means

Let two independent random samples be drawn from two normal populations  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_{n_1})$  and  $(y_1, y_2, y_3, ..., y_{n_2})$ . To test  $H_0$ :  $\sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$  under the condition, we have the of known means test statistic

$$F = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n_1} (x_i - \mu_1)^2 / n_1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n_2} (y_i - \mu_2)^2 / n_2}$$

with  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  d.f.

- (a) When we are going to test  $H_0: \sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$ against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \sigma_1^2 \neq \sigma_2^2$ , we reject  $H_0$  if cal F > tab  $F_{\alpha/2,(n_1,n_2)}$  or cal  $F < F_{(1-\alpha/2),(n_1,n_2)}$ .
- (b) When we are going to test  $H_0: \sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$ against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \sigma_1^2 > \sigma_2^2$ , we reject  $H_0$  if cal F > tab  $F_{\alpha/2,(n_1,n_2)}$ .
- (c) When we are going to test  $H_0: \sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$ against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \sigma_1^2 < \sigma_2^2$ , we reject the  $H_0$  if cal  $F < F_{(1-\alpha/2),(n_1,n_2)}$ .

*Example 9.5.* The following figures are the weights of two batches of primary students assumed to follow a normal distribution with  $(N(\mu_1, \sigma_1^2) \text{ and } N(\mu_2, \sigma_2^2))$  with respective mean weights of 24 and 26 kg, respectively. Can we assume from the data that both the populations have the same variance?

Yield in t/ha	
Batch 1: 16,18,20,22,24,30	
Batch 2: 19,22,23,27,29,31,33	

**Solution.** Null hypothesis  $H_0: \sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$  against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \sigma_1^2 \neq \sigma_2^2$ , given that the populations are normal with mean 24 t/ha and 26 t/ha, respectively.

Under the given circumstances, the test statistic will be

$$F = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n_1} (x_i - \mu_1)^2 / n_1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n_2} (y_i - \mu_1)^2 / n_2}$$

with  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  d.f. the given alternative Under hypothesis, the test is a two-tailed test, given that  $n_1 = 6$ ,  $n_2 = 7$ ,  $\mu_1 = 24$  kg, and  $\mu_2 = 26$  kg.

From the given information, we have  $\sum_{i=1}^{6} (x_i - \mu_1)^2 / n_1 = 26$ 

$$\sum_{i=1}^{7} (y_i - \mu_1)^2 / n_2 = 22.57, \ F = 1.152.$$

From the table, we have  $F_{0.025;6,7} = 5.99$ and  $F_{0.975;6,7} = 1/F_{0.025;7,6} = 1/6.98 = 0.1754$ . Since 0.1754 < cal F < 5.12, so the null hypothesis cannot be rejected, that means we can conclude that both populations have the same variance.

6. Test of Equality of Two Population Variances from Two Normal Populations with Unknown Population Means

Let two independent random samples be drawn from two normal populations  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_{n_1})$  and  $(y_1, y_2, y_3, ..., y_{n_2})$ . To test  $H_0$ :  $\sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$  under the unknown means condition, we have the test statistic  $F = \frac{S_1^2}{S_2^2}$  with  $(n_1 - 1, n_2 - 1)$  d.f. where  $S_1^2 \& S_2^2$  are the sample mean square of the respective populations.

- (a) When we are going to test  $H_0: \sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$ against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \sigma_1^2 \neq \sigma_2^2$ , we reject  $H_0$  if cal F > tab  $F_{\alpha/2}, (n_1 - 1, n_2 - 1)$  or cal  $F < F_{(1-\alpha/2)}, (n_1 - 1, n_2 - 1)$ .
- (b) When we are going to test  $H_0: \sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$ against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \sigma_1^2 > \sigma_2^2$ , we reject  $H_0$  if cal F > tab  $F_{\alpha/2,(n_1-1,n_2-1)}$ .
- (c) When we are going to test  $H_0: \sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$ against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \sigma_1^2 < \sigma_2^2$ , we reject the  $H_0$  if cal  $F < F_{(1-\alpha/2),(n_1-1,n_2-1)}$ .

*Example 9.6.* The following figures are pertaining to lactation period (in months) for two random samples of cows, drawn from two normal populations fed with the same feed. Find whether the variability in lactation period of both the populations can be taken equal or not.

Lactation period (month)											
Sample	1	4.5	3	5	7	6.5	5.5	6	8	7.5	54
Sample	2	6	7	6.5	5.5	7.5	6.5	8	10	8.5	; 9

**Solution.** Given that (1) the populations are normal with unknown means.

(2) Sample sizes in each sample is 10, that is,  $n_1 = 10, n_2 = 10$ 

To test  $H_0$ :  $\sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$  against  $H_1$ :  $\sigma_1^2 \neq \sigma_2^2$ . Under the given conditions, the test statistic is  $F = \frac{s_1^2}{s_2^2}$  where  $s_1^2$  and  $s_2^2$  are the sample mean squares.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ . We have

$$s_{1}^{2} = \frac{1}{n_{1} - 1} \sum_{i=1}^{10} \left( x_{1i} - \underline{x}_{1} \right)^{2} \text{ and}$$

$$s_{2}^{2} = \frac{1}{n_{2} - 1} \sum_{i=1}^{10} \left( x_{2i} - \underline{x}_{2} \right)^{2} \text{ and}$$

$$\overline{x}_{1} = \frac{1}{n_{1}} \sum_{i=1}^{10} \left( x_{1i} \right), \ \overline{x}_{2} = \frac{1}{n_{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{10} \left( x_{2i} \right)$$

From the given data, we have

$$\overline{x}_1 = 5.70, \ \overline{x}_2 = 7.45$$
  
and  $s_1^2 = 2.638$  and  $s_2^2 = 2.025$ 

So, 
$$F = \frac{s_1^2}{s_2^2} = 1.302$$
. with (9,9) d.f.

From the table, we have  $F_{0.025;9,9} = 4.03$ and  $F_{0.975;9,9} = 1/F_{0.025;9,9} = 1/4.03 = 0.2481$ . Since 0.2481 < cal F < 4.03, so the test is nonsignificant and the null hypothesis cannot be rejected, that means we can conclude that both populations have the same variance.

7. Test for Equality of Two Population Means with Known Variances To test the  $H_0$ :  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  for  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_{n_1})$ and  $(y_1, y_2, y_3, ..., y_{n_2})$  two independent random samples drawn from two normal populations  $N(\mu_1, \sigma_1^2)$  and  $N(\mu_2, \sigma_2^2)$ , respectively, and under the condition of known variances  $\sigma_1^2$  and  $\sigma_2^2$ , the test statistic is

$$\tau = \frac{\overline{x} - \overline{y}}{\sqrt{\frac{\sigma_1^2}{n_1} + \frac{\sigma_2^2}{n_2}}},$$

when  $\tau$  is in a standard normal variate.

*Example 9.7.* The following data are pertaining to grain yield of two varieties of paddy under the same management. If the grain yield follows a normal distribution with known variances 36 and 64, respectively, for two varieties test whether these two varieties differ significantly with respect to grain yield (q/ha).

(Grain yield q/ha)	
Variety A: 25, 30, 31, 35, 24, 14, 32, 25, 29, 31, 30	
Variety B: 30, 32, 28, 36, 42, 18, 16, 20, 22, 40	

**Solution.** Assumption: grain yield follows a normal distribution. Population variances are known. Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

So the null hypothesis is  $H_0: \mu_A = \mu_B$  (under known population variances) against alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \mu_A \neq \mu_B$ .

Under the given condition, the test statistic is  $\tau = \frac{\overline{A} - \overline{B}}{\sqrt{\frac{\sigma_A^2}{n_1} + \frac{\sigma_B^2}{n_2}}}$  which follows as a standard

normal variate.

From the sample observations, we have  $n_A = 11$ and  $n_B = 10$  and  $\overline{A} = 27.82$  and  $\overline{B} = 28.4$ 

$$\tau = \frac{27.82 - 28.4}{\sqrt{\frac{36}{11} + \frac{64}{10}}} = \frac{-0.58}{\sqrt{3.277 + 6.4}} = \frac{-0.58}{\sqrt{9.677}}$$
$$= \frac{-0.58}{3.109} = -0.186.$$

We know that at  $\alpha = 0.05$ , the value of  $\tau_{\alpha/2} = 1.96$ , as the calculated  $|\tau| < 1.96$ . So we cannot reject the null hypothesis. We conclude

that the varieties do not differ significantly with respect to grain yield.

- 8. Test for Equality of Two Population Means with Equal but Unknown Variance
  - To test the  $H_0$ :  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  against  $H_1 : \mu_1 \neq \mu_2$ for  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_{n_1})$  and  $(y_1, y_2, y_3, ..., y_{n_2})$ two independent random samples drawn from two normal populations  $N(\mu_1, \sigma_1^2)$  and  $N(\mu_2, \sigma_2^2)$ , respectively, under the condition that  $\sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2 = \sigma^2$  (unknown). The test statistic under the given  $H_0$  is

$$t = \frac{\overline{x} - \overline{y}}{s\sqrt{\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}}}$$

with  $(n_1 + n_2 - 2)$  degrees of freedom where  $s^2 = \frac{(n_1 - 1)s_x^2 + (n_2 - 1)s_y^2}{n_1 + n_2 - 2}$  and  $s_x^2$  and  $s_y^2$  are the sample mean squares for two samples, respectively.

If the calculated absolute value of *t* is greater than the table value of *t* at upper  $\alpha/2$  level of significance and at  $(n_1 + n_2 - 2)$  d.f., then the test is significant and the null hypothesis is rejected; that means the two population means are unequal.

*Note*: This test statistic is known as twosample *t* statistic or Fisher's *t* statistic. Before performing the test we are to test first  $H_0: \sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2$  by *F*-test as already discussed. If it is accepted, then we perform *t*-test statistic; otherwise not. In that situation we perform the following test.

*Example 9.8.* Given below are the two samples about the vase life of two varieties of tuberose. Is it possible to draw inference that the vase life of variety A is more than that of the variety B, assuming that vase life behaves like a normal population?

	Sample size	Sample mean	Sample mean square
Variety A	7	72 h	36 h <sup>2</sup>
Variety B	8	64 h	25 h <sup>2</sup>

**Solution.**  $H_0$ : Both the varieties of tuberose have the same vase life, that is,  $H_0$ :  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  against the alternative hypothesis,  $H_1$ : Variety

A has more vase life than variety *B*, that is,  $H_1: \mu_1 > \mu_2$ . Let us select the level of significance,  $\alpha = 0.05$ . According to  $H_1$ , the test is a one-sided test. We assume that  $\sigma_A^2 = \sigma_B^2 = \sigma^2$  (unknown). The test statistic, under the given null hypothesis and unknown variance but equal, is

$$t = \frac{\overline{x} - \overline{y}}{s\sqrt{\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}}},$$

with  $(n_1 + n_2 - 2)$  d.f. where  $\overline{x}, \overline{y}$  are the sample mean vase life of two varieties and  $s^2$  is the composite sample mean square and given by

$$s^{2} = \frac{(n_{1} - 1)s_{x}^{2} + (n_{2} - 1)s_{y}^{2}}{n_{1} + n_{2} - 2},$$

 $s_x^2$  and  $s_y^2$  by the sample mean squares.

First we test  $H_0: \sigma_A^2 = \sigma_B^2$  by  $F = \frac{s_x^2}{s_y^2}$  with  $(n_1 - 1, n_2 - 1)$  d.f. against the  $H_1: \sigma_A^2 \neq \sigma_B^2$ . Thus, F = 36/25 = 1.44 with (6,7) d.f.

From the table, we have  $F_{0.025;6,7} = 5.12$  and  $F_{0.975;6,7} = 1/F_{0.025;7,6} = 1/5.70 = 0.18$ . Since 0.18 < cal F < 5.12,  $H_0: \sigma_A^2 = \sigma_B^2$  cannot be rejected. So we can perform the *t*-test.

$$s^{2} = \frac{(n_{1} - 1)s_{1}^{2} + (n_{2} - 1)s_{2}^{2}}{n_{1} + n_{2} - 2} = \frac{(7 - 1)6^{2} + (8 - 1)5^{2}}{7 + 8 - 2} = \frac{216 + 175}{13} = 391/13 = 30.07$$
$$t = \frac{72 - 64}{\sqrt{30.07\left(\frac{1}{7} + \frac{1}{8}\right)}} = \frac{8}{\sqrt{\left(30.07 \times \frac{15}{56}\right)}} = 2.82.$$

From the table, we have  $t_{0.05,13} = 1.771$ . Since cal t > 1.771, the test is significant and we reject the null hypothesis, that is, we accept  $\mu_1 > \mu_2$ . That means the vase life of variety A is more than that of the vase life of variety B.

9. Test for Equality of Two Population Means with Unequal and Unknown Variances

The problem for test of significance of equality of two population means under unknown and unequal population variances (i.e.,  $\sigma_1^2 \neq \sigma_2^2$ ) is known as *Fisher–Berhans problem*. Under the null hypothesis  $H_0$ :  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$ against  $H_1: \mu_1 > \mu_2$ , the test statistic

$$t = \frac{\overline{x} - \overline{y}}{\sqrt{\frac{s_1^2}{n_1} + \frac{s_2^2}{n_2}}}$$

does not follow t distribution, and as such ordinary t-table will not be sufficient for comparing. According to Cochran's approximation, the calculated value of above t statistic is compared with

$$t^* = \frac{t_1 s_1^2 / n_1 + t_2 s_2^2 / n_2}{s_1^2 / n + s_2^2 / n_2},$$

where  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  are the table values of *t* distribution at  $(n_1 - 1)$  and  $(n_2 - 1)$  degrees of freedom, respectively, with upper  $\alpha$  level of significance for acceptance or rejection of  $H_0$ .

*Example 9.9.* Given below are the two samples about the body weight (kg) of two breeds of cows. Is it possible to draw inference that the body weight of breed A is greater than that of breed B, assuming that body weight behaves like a normal population?

Variety	Sample size	Sample mean	Sample mean square
Breed A	7	185	100
Breed B	8	175	64

**Solution.** We are to test the null hypothesis  $H_0$ :  $\mu_A = \mu_B$  (under unknown and unequal population variances) against alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \mu_A > \mu_B$ .

Let the level of significance  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

Under the given conditions we apply Cochran's approximation to Fisher–Berhans problem. Thus, the test statistic is given by

$$t = \frac{\overline{x} - \overline{y}}{\sqrt{\frac{s_1^2}{n_1} + \frac{s_2^2}{n_2}}}$$

which is then compared with the value of

$$t^* = \frac{t_1 s_1^2 / n_1 + t_2 s_2^2 / n_2}{s_1^2 / n_1 + s_2^2 / n_2}$$

and appropriate decision is taken.

We have

$$t = \frac{\overline{x} - \overline{y}}{\sqrt{\frac{s_1^2}{n_1} + \frac{s_2^2}{n_2}}} = \frac{185 - 175}{\sqrt{\frac{100}{7} + \frac{64}{8}}} = \frac{10}{4.721} = 2.118$$

The table values of *t* at upper 5% level of significance with  $(n_1 - 1=)6$  d.f. and  $(n_2 - 1=)$  7 d.f. are 1.943 and 1.895, respectively. So

$$t^* = \frac{1.943 \times 100/7 + 1.895 \times 64/8}{100/7 + 64/8} = \frac{42.917}{22.286}$$
$$= 1.926.$$

Now the  $t_{cal} > t^*$ , hence we can reject the null hypothesis, that is,  $H_1$  is accepted. That means we conclude that the body weight of breed A is greater than that of breed B.

10. To Test Equality of Two Population Means Under the Given Condition of Unknown Population Variances from a Bivariate Normal Population

Let  $(x_1,y_1)$ ,  $(x_2,y_2)$ ,  $(x_3,y_3)$ , ...,  $(x_n,y_n)$  be *n* pairs of observations in a random sample drawn from a bivariate normal distribution with parameters  $\mu_X, \mu_y, \sigma_X^2, \sigma_y^2$  and  $\rho$  where  $\mu_X$  and  $\mu_y$  are the means and  $\sigma_X^2, \sigma_y^2$  are the variances and  $\rho$  is the population correlation coefficient between *X* and *Y*.

So to test the null hypothesis  $H_0: \mu_X = \mu_y$ i.e.  $H_0: \mu_X - \mu_y = \mu_d = 0$ , we have the test statistic

$$t = \frac{\overline{d}}{\frac{s_d}{\sqrt{n}}} \text{ with } (n-1)\text{d.f., where } \overline{d} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n d_i$$
$$= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n (x_i - y_i) \text{ and } s_d^2$$
$$= \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^n (d_i - \overline{d})^2.$$

This *t* is known as *paired t*-test statistic and the test is known as *paired t*-test.

The table value of t at (n - 1) d.f. for  $\alpha$  level of significance will be compared with the calculated value of t for arriving at definite conclusion according to the nature of alternative hypothesis.

*Example 9.10.* To test whether a specific artificial hormonal spray has effect on fruit weight of papaya, initial and final weights from a sample of eight plants of a particular variety of papaya were taken at an interval of 15 days of spray.

Initial	114	113	119	116	119	116	117	118
wt (g)								
Final	220	217	226	221	223	221	218	224
wt(g)								

**Solution.** Let *x* represent the initial weight and *y* the final weight. So x - y = d. Assuming that *X* and *Y* follow a bivariate normal distribution with parameters  $\mu_x$ ,  $\mu_y$ ,  $\sigma_x$ ,  $\sigma_y$ , and  $\rho_{xy}$ , we want to test

$$H_0: \mu_x = \mu_y \text{ against}$$
  

$$H_1: \mu_x < \mu_y. \text{ The test statistic under } H_0 \text{ is } t$$
  

$$= \frac{\overline{d}}{\mathrm{sd}/\sqrt{n}} \text{ with } (n-1)\mathrm{d.f.}$$

So  $\bar{d} = -104.75$  and

Initial wt (g) X	114	113	119	116	119	116	117	118
Final wt (g) Y	220	217	226	221	223	221	218	224
X - Y(d)	-106	-104	-107	-105	-104	-105	-101	-106

141

$$S_d = \sqrt{\frac{1}{(8-1)} \left[ \sum d_i^2 - 8.\bar{d}^2 \right]}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{1}{(7)} [87804.0 - 87780.5]}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{1}{7} \times 23.5} = \sqrt{33.571} = 1.832$$

So 
$$t = \frac{d}{\mathrm{sd}/\sqrt{n}} = \frac{-104.75}{1.832/\sqrt{8}} = \frac{-104.75}{0.648}$$
  
= -161.651.

From the table value, we have  $t_{0.95,7} = -1.895$  and  $t_{.99,7} = -2.998$ . The calculated value of *t* is less than the table value at both the level of significance. Hence, the test is significant at 1% level of significance. So we reject the null hypothesis  $H_0: \mu_x = \mu_y$  and accept  $H_1: \mu_x < \mu_y$ . That is, there was significant effect of hormone spray on fruit weight of papaya.

11. To Test for Significance of Population Correlation Coefficient, That Is,  $H_0: \rho = 0$ Against  $H_1: \rho \neq 0$ 

The test statistic under  $H_0$  will be  $t = r\sqrt{n-2}/\sqrt{1-r^2}$  at (n-2) d.f. where *r* is the sample correlation coefficient between *X* and *Y*, the two variables considered.

If the calculated value of |t| is less than the tabulated value of t at (n - 2) d.f. for upper  $\alpha/2$  level of significance, we cannot reject the null hypothesis; that is, sample correlation coefficient is not significantly different from zero or the variables are uncorrelated. Otherwise we reject the null hypothesis, and sample correlation coefficient is significant to the population correlation coefficient *b* not zero and the variables have significant correlation between them.

*Example 9.11.* The correlation coefficient between the age and lactation duration of 20 breeds of Indian cows is found to be 0.850. Test for the existence of correlation between these two characters in Indian cows using 1% level of significance.

**Solution.** Under the given information, we want to test  $H_0: \rho = 0$  against  $H_1: \rho \neq 0$ . The test statistic is given by

$$t = \frac{r\sqrt{n-2}}{\sqrt{1-r^2}} \quad \text{with } (n-2)\text{d.f.}$$

Given that r = 0.850, n = 20, so

$$t = \frac{0.85\sqrt{(20-2)}}{\sqrt{1-(0.85)^2}} = \frac{0.85 \times \sqrt{18}}{\sqrt{0.2775}} = 6.846.$$

The table value of  $t_{0.005,18} = 2.878$ . Since |t| >table  $t_{0.005,18}$ , that is, 6.846 > 2.878, so the null hypothesis  $H_0 : \rho = 0$  is rejected, we accept  $H_1 : \rho \neq 0$ . So we can conclude that the age and lactation period in Indian cows are correlated.

12. Test for Equality of Two Population Variances from a Bivariate Normal Distribution The null hypothesis for testing the equality of two variances is  $H_0: \sigma_X^2 = \sigma_y^2$ .

Let us derive two new variables U and Vsuch that U = X + Y and V = X - Y. So the Cov(U,V) = Cov(X + Y, X - Y) = $\sigma_X^2 - \sigma_y^2$ . Under the null hypothesis  $H_0: \sigma_X^2 = \sigma_y^2$ , Cov(U,V) = 0, and thus Uand V are two normal variates with correlation coefficient  $\rho_{UV} = 0$  when  $H_0$  is true. Hence,  $H_0: \sigma_X^2 = \sigma_y^2$  is equivalent to test  $H_0$ :

$$\rho_{UV} = 0.$$
As usual the test statistic is given by
 $t = r_{uv}\sqrt{(n-2)}/\sqrt{1-r_{uv}^2}$  with  $(n-2)$  d.f,
where  $r_{uv}$  is the sample correlation coeffi-

*Example 9.12.* To test whether a specific artificial hormonal spray has effect on variability of fruit weight of papaya, initial and final weights from a sample of eight plants of a particular variety of papaya were taken at an interval of 15 days of spray.

Initial wt (g)	114 113	119 11	6 1 1 9	116	117 11	8
Final wt (g)	220 217	226 22	1 223	221	218 22	4

cient between *u* and *v*.

**Solution.** To work out the significant differences in variability of fruit weights before and after

spraying, the null hypothesis would be  $H_0: \sigma_x = \sigma_y$  against  $H_0: \sigma_x \neq \sigma_y$ . This is equivalent to test  $\rho_{uv} = 0$  where *u* and *v* are x + y and x - y, respectively. The test statistic for the same will be

$$t = \frac{r_{uv}}{\sqrt{1 - r_{uv}^2}} \sqrt{n - 2}$$
 with  $(n - 2)$  d.f.

We have

<i>X</i> :	114	113	119	116	119	116	117	118
<i>Y</i> :	220	217	226	221	223	221	218	224
U = (X + Y):	334	330	345	337	342	337	335	342
V = (X - Y):	-106	-104	-107	-105	-104	-105	-101	-106

$$\therefore r_{uv} = \frac{\sum uv - n\overline{u}\overline{v}}{\sqrt{\left(\sum u^2 - n\overline{u}^2\right)\left(\sum v^2 - n\overline{v}^2\right)}} = -0.4647$$

Thus, 
$$t = \frac{-0.4647\sqrt{8-2}}{\sqrt{1 - (-0.4647)^2}} = -1.2855$$
 at 6 d.f.

From the table we get  $t_{0.025,6} = 2.447$ . Thus, the observed value of |t| is less than the table value. That is,  $|t_{cal}| < t_{tab}$ . So we cannot reject the null hypothesis of equality of variances.

13. Test for Significance and Regression Coefficient in a Simple Linear Regression.

To test the  $H_0$ : b = 0, we have the test statistic t = b/SE(b) with n - 1 d.f.: if the calculated value of  $H \le tab_{(n-1)}$  d.f. at  $\frac{\alpha}{2}$  level of significance, then it cannot be rejected; otherwise *t* is rejected.

*Example 9.13.* The relation between yield and expenditure on plant protection measure was found to be Y = 15.6 + 0.8 PP with standard error estimates for the intercept and the regression coefficients being 6.2 and 0.625, respectively, from ten varieties of paddy. Test for significance of regression coefficient of plant protection.

**Solution.** To rest the  $H_0$ : b = 0 the test statistic is t = b/SE(b) = 0.8/0.625 = 1.28. The table value of *t* statistic at 5% level of significance is greater than the table value. Hence, the test is nonsignificant and the null hypothesis cannot

الألم للاستشارات

be rejected. We conclude that population regression coefficient may be zero.

14. Test for Significance of the Population Multiple Correlation Coefficients Let there be p variables  $(x_1, x_2, ..., x_p)$ following a p-variate normal distribution and the multiple correlation of  $x_1$  on  $x_2, x_3, ..., x_p$ be given by  $\rho_{12,34,...p}$  and the corresponding sample multiple correlation coefficient being  $R_{1,2,3,...p}$  based on a random sample of size n. The problem is to test whether the population multiple correlation is zero or not, that is, to test  $H_0: \rho_{1,2,3,...,p} = 0$  against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \rho_{1,2,3,...,p} > 0$ . Under  $H_0$  the test statistic is

$$F = \frac{R^2_{1.23\dots p}/(p-1)}{(1-R^2_{1.23\dots p})/(n-p)}$$
  
with  $(p-1, n-p)$ d.f.

If cal  $F > F_{\alpha; p-1,n-p}$ , then H<sub>0</sub> is rejected, else it is accepted }.

It is noted that in this problem, alternative hypothesis is always one sided (right) because  $\rho_{12.3,4,\ldots,p}$  cannot be negative.

*Example 9.14.* In a yield component analysis, the relationship of yield with five-yield component was worked out for 20 plants. The multiple correlation coefficients were found to be 0.98. Test for significance of multiple correlation coefficients.

**Solution.** Under the given situation, we are to test  $H_0: \rho_{1,2,3,\dots,p} = 0$  against  $H_1: \rho_{1,2,3,\dots,p} > 0$ .

Given that n = 20 and p = 6, so the appropriate test statistic would be

$$F = \frac{R^2_{1.23...p}/(p-1)}{(1-R^2_{1.23...p})/(n-p)} = \frac{0.98^2/(6-1)}{(1-0.98^2)/(20-6)}$$
  
= 67.2 with (6-1,20-6)d.f.

Cal  $F > F_{0.05; 5,14}$ ,  $H_0$  is rejected.

15. Test for Significance of Population Partial Correlation Coefficient

With the above variable consideration of multiple correlations, let  $\rho_{21.34...p}$  be the partial correlation coefficient of  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  after eliminating the effect of  $x_3, x_4, \ldots x_p$ , and the corresponding sample partial correlation coefficient from a random sample of size *n* is given by  $r_{12.34...p}$ .

The test statistic for  $H_0: \rho_{12,34\dots p} = 0$  is

$$t = \frac{r_{12.34...p}\sqrt{n-p}}{\sqrt{1-r^2}_{12.34...p}} \text{ with } (n-p) \text{d.f.}$$

Decision on rejection/acceptance of null hypothesis is taken on the basis of comparison of the calculated value of *t* with that of table value of *t* at (n - p) d.f. for  $\alpha$  level of significance.

*Example 9.15.* During yield component analysis in ginger, the partial correlation coefficient of yield  $(X_1)$  with the weight of primary finger  $(X_3)$  was found to be 0.609, eliminating the effects of no. of tillers  $(X_2)$ , no. of secondary finger  $(X_4)$ , and finger  $(X_5)$ . Again the multiple correlation coefficient of yield  $(X_1)$  on all other four components was found to be 0.85 from a sample of 40 plants drawn at random. Test for significant difference for both partial correlation coefficients and multiple correlation coefficient and multiple correlation coefficients from zero.

**Solution.** Given that n = 40, number of variables (p) = 5,  $r_{13.245} = 0.609$ , and  $R_{1.2345} = 0.85$ . Let us take  $\alpha = 0.01$ .

- (a) The test statistic for  $H_0: \rho_{13,245} = 0$ against  $H_0: \rho_{13,245} \neq 0$  is  $t = \frac{r_{13,245}\sqrt{n-p}}{\sqrt{1-r^2}} = \frac{0.609\sqrt{35}}{\sqrt{1-0.609^2}} = 4.543$  with (40 - 5=) 35 d.f. From the table, we have  $t_{0.005,35} = 2.725$ . Since the calculated |t| > 2.725, so the null hypothesis of zero partial correlation coefficient between yield and weight of primary figure is rejected.
- (b) The test statistic under  $H_0: \rho_{1.2345} = 0$ against  $H_0: \rho_{1.2345} > 0$  is given by

$$F = \frac{R^2_{1.2345}/(p-1)}{(1-R^2_{1.2345})/(n-p)}$$
$$= \frac{(0.85)^2/4}{(1-0.85^2)/35} = \frac{0.181}{0.00793} = 22.8247.$$

The calculated value of *F* is greater than the table value of  $F_{0.01;4,35}$ , so the test is significant and the null hypothesis of zero multiple correlation coefficient is rejected. That means the population multiple correlation coefficient differs significantly from zero.

# 9.4 Large Sample Test

Large sample tests are based on the followings facets:

- 1. Any sample having sample size more than 30 is treated as large.
- 2. If a random sample of size *n* is drawn from an arbitrary population with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$  and any statistic be *t* with mean E(t)and variance V(t), then *t* is asymptotically normally distributed with mean E(t) and variance V(t) as *n* gets larger and larger, that is,  $t \sim N(E(t),V(t))$  as  $n \to \infty$ . The standard normal variate is

$$\tau = \frac{t - E(t)}{\sqrt{V(t)}} \sim N(0, 1).$$

Let us now discuss some of the important and mostly used tests under this large sample test.



- 1. Test for specified value of population mean
- 2. Test of significance between two means:
  - (a) Under the given condition  $\sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2 =$  $\sigma^2(\text{unknown}).$
  - (b) Under the given condition of  $\sigma_1^2 \neq \sigma_2^2$ and both being unknown.
- 3. Test for significance of specified population standard deviation
- 4. Test of significant difference between two standard deviations
- 5. Test for significance of specified population proportion
- 6. Test for equality of two population proportions
- 7.  $\chi^2$  test
- 1. Test for Specified Value of Population Mean Let a sample  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n$  be drawn at random from a population with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$  such that the size of the sample is  $n \ge 30$ . To test that whether the population mean  $\mu = \mu_0$ , a specified value under (1) the population variance  $\sigma^2$  known and (2) the unknown population variance  $\sigma^2$  is the test statistics are

(a) 
$$\tau = \frac{x-\mu_0}{\sigma/\sqrt{n}}$$
, when  $\sigma^2$  is known and

(b) 
$$\tau = \frac{x - \mu_0}{s_{\pi}/\sqrt{n}}$$
, when  $\sigma^2$  is unknown,

(b)  $\tau = \frac{1}{s_n/\sqrt{n}}$ , where  $s_n^2 = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n (x_i - \overline{x})^2$  is the sample variance.

For acceptance or rejection of  $H_0$ , we have to compare the calculated value of  $\tau$  with the appropriate table value, keeping in view the alternative hypotheses.

*Example* 9.16. A manufacturing company claims that the average monthly salary of the company is \$3,000. To test this claim, a sample of 64 employees were examined and found that the average monthly salary was \$2,890 with variance 256 h. Test whether the claim is justified or not using 5% level of significance.

Solution. Given that (1) the sample is large n (= 64 > 30).

(2) Sample mean  $(\bar{x}) = 2,890$  and sample variance = 256.

(3) Population variance is unknown.



We want to test

$$H_0$$
:  $\mu = 3,000$  h against

$$H_1: \mu \neq 3,000$$
 h.

The approximate test statistic under the given condition is

$$\tau = \frac{\overline{x} - \mu_0}{\frac{s_n}{\sqrt{n}}} = \frac{2,890 - 3,000}{\frac{16}{\sqrt{64}}} = \frac{-110}{16/8} = -55.00.$$

Thus, the calculated value of  $|\tau|$ , that is, 55.00, is greater than the table value of  $\tau_{0.025} = 1.96$ ; the test is significant and the null hypothesis is rejected. So we conclude that the claim of the manufacturer is not justified.

Example 9.17. The manufacturer of certain brand of water pump claims that the pump manufactured by this company will fill a 1,000-1 water tank within 8 min with a variance of 9 min<sup>2</sup>. To test the claim, 36 pumps were examined and found that the average time taken to fill tank is 10 min with s.d. 2.5 min. Conclude whether the claim is justified or not.

**Solution.** Given that (1) population mean  $(\mu) =$ 8 min and variance  $(\sigma^2) = 9 \text{ min}^2$ .

(2) Sample size (n) = 36,  $\overline{x} = 10$  min, and  $s_n = 2.5 \text{ min.}$ 

Thus, under the given condition, the null hypothesis is

 $H_0: \mu = 8 \text{ min against}$ 

 $H_1: \mu > 8 \text{ min.}$ 

The test statistic is

$$\tau = \frac{\overline{x} - \mu_0}{\sigma / \sqrt{n}}$$

which follows a standard normal distribution. The calculated value of

$$\tau = \frac{10 - 8}{3/\sqrt{36}} = \frac{2}{3/6} = 4.$$

The calculated value of  $|\tau| = 4.00$  is greater than  $\tau_{0.025} = 1.96$ . So the test is significant and the null hypothesis is rejected. Thus, we reject the claim that the pumps manufactured by the company fill a 1,000-1 water tank in 8 min.

2. Test of Significance Between Two Means

Two large samples  $(x_{11}, x_{12}, ..., x_{1n_1})$  and  $(x_{21}, x_{22}, ..., x_{2n_2})$  of sizes  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  with means  $\overline{x}_1$  and  $\overline{x}_2$  and variances  $s_{n_1}^2$  and  $s_{n_2}^2$  are drawn independently at random from two populations with means  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  and variances  $\sigma_1^2$  and  $\sigma_2^2$ , respectively.

As two large samples are drawn independently from two population so  $\overline{x}_1 \sim N\left(\mu_1, \frac{\sigma_1^2}{n_1}\right)$  and  $\overline{x}_2 \sim N\left(\mu_2, \frac{\sigma_2^2}{n_2}\right)$ .

So to test  $H_0: \mu_1 = \mu_2$ , the test statistic is

$$\tau = \frac{(\overline{x}_1 - \overline{x}_2)}{\sqrt{\frac{{\sigma_1}^2}{n_1} + \frac{{\sigma_2}^2}{n_2}}},$$

which follows the distribution of a standard normal variate with mean zero and unit variance.

When population variance are unknown, then these are replaced by respective sample variances  $s_{n1}^2$  and  $s_{n2}^2$ . If both the population variances are equal and unknown, then estimate of common population variance is given by

$$\hat{\sigma}^2 = \frac{n_1 {s_{n_1}}^2 + n_2 {s_{n_2}}^2}{n_1 + n_2}$$

Thus, the test statistic under  $\sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2 = \sigma^2$  (unknown) comes out to be

$$\tau = \frac{\overline{x}_1 - \overline{x}_2}{\sqrt{\hat{\sigma}^2 \left(\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}\right)}}$$

which follows N(0, 1).

김 للاستشارات

*Example 9.18.* A flower exporter is to select large quantity of cut flowers from two lots of flowers type A and B. To test the vase life of

cut flowers he took 100 flower sticks from each type and found that the average vase life of two types of flowers sticks were 72 and 68 h with 8 and 9 h standard deviations, respectively. Assuming that (1) both the types of flowers have the same variability and (2) different variabilities, test whether the vase life of type A is better than type B or not.

Solution. Given that:

Туре	Mean	S.D.	Sample size
А	72 h	8 h	100
В	68 h	9 h	100

(a) Under the given condition  $\sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2 = \sigma^2(\text{unknown})$  and the null hypothesis  $H_0$ : vase life of two type of flowers are equal against  $H_1$ : vase life of type A > vase life of type B. So the test statistic under  $H_0$  is

$$\tau = \frac{\overline{x}_1 - \overline{x}_2}{\sqrt{\stackrel{\wedge}{\sigma^2}} \left(\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}\right)} \sim N(0, 1)$$

where

$$\sigma^{\wedge} = \frac{n_1 s_{n_1}^2 + n_2 s_{n_2}^2}{n_1 + n_2} = \frac{100 \times 8^2 + 100 \times 9^2}{100 + 100}$$
$$= \frac{100(64 + 81)}{200} = \frac{145}{2}.$$

So,

$$\tau = \frac{72 - 68}{\sqrt{\frac{145}{2} \left(\frac{1}{100} + \frac{1}{100}\right)}} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{1.45}} = 3.322.$$

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ . This is a one-tailed test. Since the cal  $\tau > \tau_{0.05} = 1.645$ , the test is significant, we reject the null hypothesis and accept the alternative hypothesis  $H_1$ : Vase life of type A is more than that of type B.

(b) Under the given condition of σ<sub>1</sub><sup>2</sup> ≠ σ<sub>2</sub><sup>2</sup> and both being unknown. The null hypothesis and

the alternative hypothesis remain the same, that is,

- $H_0$ : Vase life of two types of flowers are same.  $H_1$ : Vase life of type A > vase life of type B,
  - that is,  $H_0: \mu_1 = \mu_2$

 $H_1:\mu_1>\mu_2.$ 

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ ; being a one-sided test, the critical value is 1.645 for standard normal variate  $\tau$ . The test statistic is

$$\tau = \frac{\bar{x}_1 - \bar{x}_2}{\sqrt{\frac{s_{n_1}^2}{n_1} + \frac{s_{n_2}^2}{n_2}}} \sim N(0, 1).$$

Thus,

$$\tau = \frac{72 - 68}{\sqrt{\frac{64}{100} + \frac{81}{100}}} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{\frac{145}{100}}} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{1.45}}$$
$$= \frac{4}{1.204} = 3.322.$$

Since the cal  $\tau > 1.645$ , so the test is significant, we reject the null hypothesis and accept the alternative hypothesis  $H_1$ : vase life of type A is more than that of type B.

3. Test for Significance of Specified Population Standard Deviation

Let  $(x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)$  be a large sample of size *n* drawn randomly from a population with variance  $\sigma^2$ . The sampling distribution of the sample s.d.  $s_n$  follows an approximately normal distribution with mean  $E(s_n) = \sigma$  and variance  $V(s_n) = \frac{\sigma^2}{2n}$  as the sample size *n* tends to infinity. Thus, as  $n \to \infty$ ,  $s_n \sim N\left(\sigma, \frac{\sigma^2}{2n}\right)$ .

Our objective is to test  $H_0: \sigma = \sigma_0$ .

To test the above null hypothesis, we have the following approximate test statistic



which is a standard normal variate with mean zero and variance unity.

For acceptance or rejection of  $H_0$ , we have to compare the calculated value of  $\tau$  with the appropriate table value keeping in view the alternative hypotheses.

*Example 9.19.* To test the variability in vase life of a cut flower, a sample of 100 cut flowers gives s.d. 8.5 h. Can we conclude that the vase life of the cut flower has the variability of  $65 h^2$ ?

**Solution.** Given that the sample is large of size (*n*) 100. The population variance is assumed to be 65 h<sup>2</sup>, and s.d. of the sample is 8.5 h. Under the given condition, the null hypothesis is the population s.d. =  $\sqrt{65}$  h.

That is,  $H_0: \sigma = 8.06$  against  $H_1: \sigma' \neq 8.06$ . The test statistic for the above null hypothesis is

$$\tau = \frac{s_n - \sigma_0}{\sqrt{\frac{\sigma_0^2}{2n}}} = \frac{8.5 - 8.06}{\sqrt{\frac{65}{(2 \times 100)}}} = \frac{0.44}{0.57} = 0.77.$$

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ , and the corresponding critical value of  $\tau$  (standard normal variate) is 1.96. So the calculated value of  $|\tau| <$  tabulated value of  $\tau$  (1.96). The test is nonsignificant and the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. Hence, the population variance of vase life of the cut flower under consideration can be taken as 65 h<sup>2</sup>.

4. Test of Significant Difference Between Two Standard Deviations

Let us draw two independent samples  $(x_{11}, x_{12}, \ldots, x_{1n_1})$  and  $(x_{21}, x_{22}, \ldots, x_{2n_2})$  of sizes  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  with means  $\overline{x}_1, \overline{x}_2$  and variance  $s_{n_1}^2$ ,  $s_{n_2}^2$  from two populations with variances  $\sigma_1^2$  and  $\sigma_2^2$ , respectively.

For a large sample, both  $s_{n_1}$  and  $s_{n_2}$  are distributed as  $s_{n_1} \sim N\left(\sigma_1, \frac{\sigma_1^2}{2n_1}\right)$  and  $s_{n_2} \sim N\left(\sigma_2, \frac{\sigma_2^2}{2n_2}\right)$ . Now,  $E(s_{n_1} - s_{n_2}) = E(s_{n_1}) - E(s_{n_2}) = \sigma_1 - \sigma_2$  and

$$SE(s_{n_1} - s_{n_2}) = \sqrt{V(s_{n_1} - s_{n_2})} = \sqrt{\frac{\sigma_1^2}{2n_1} + \frac{\sigma_2^2}{2n_2}}$$

As the samples are large, so  $(s_{n_1} - s_{n_2}) \sim N$  $\left(\sigma_1 - \sigma_2, \frac{\sigma_1^2}{2n_1} + \frac{\sigma_2^2}{2n_2}\right).$ 

To test the equality of two standard deviations  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$ , that is, for null hypothesis  $H_0: \sigma_1 = \sigma_2$ .

The test statistic is

$$\tau = \frac{(s_{n_1} - s_{n_2})}{\sqrt{\frac{{\sigma_1}^2}{2n_1} + \frac{{\sigma_2}^2}{2n_2}}}.$$

In practice,  $\sigma_1^2$  and  $\sigma_2^2$  are unknown, and for large samples,  $\sigma_1^2$  and  $\sigma_2^2$  are replaced by the corresponding sample variances. Hence, the test statistic becomes

$$\tau = \frac{(s_{n1} - s_{n2})}{\sqrt{\left(\frac{s_{n_1}^2}{2n_1} + \frac{s_{n_2}^2}{2n_2}\right)}},$$

which is a standard normal variate.

*Example 9.20.* The following table gives the features of two independent random samples drawn from two populations. Test whether the variability of the two are the same or not.

Sample	Size	Mean yield (q\ha)	S.D.
1	56	25.6	5.3
2	45	20.2	4.6

**Solution.** Let the variability be measured in terms of standard deviation. So under the given condition we are to test

 $H_0$ : The standard deviations are equal against  $H_1$ : The standard deviations are not equal, that is,  $H_0: \sigma_1 = \sigma_2$  against  $H_1: \sigma_1 \neq \sigma_2$ . Let the level of significance be $\alpha = 0.05$ .

Under the above null hypothesis, the test statistic is

$$\tau = \frac{s_{n_1} - s_{n_2}}{\sqrt{\frac{s_{n_1}^2}{2n_1} + \frac{s_{n_2}^2}{2n_2}}} \sim N(0, 1), = \frac{5.3 - 4.6}{\sqrt{\frac{5.3^2}{112} + \frac{4.6^2}{90}}}$$
$$= \frac{0.7}{0.6971} = 1.004.$$

So the test is nonsignificant and the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. We conclude that the variabilities (measured in terms of s.d.) in two populations are the same.

5. Test for Significance of Specified Population Proportion

To test the hypothesis  $H_0: P = P_0$  (where  $P_0$  is the specified population proportion value with respect to a particular character), the test statistics would be

$$\tau = \frac{P - P_0}{\sqrt{\frac{P_0(1 - P_0)}{n}}} \sim N(0, 1)$$

*Example 9.21.* Assumed that 10% of the students fail in mathematics. To test the assumption, randomly selected sample of 50 students were examined and found that 44 of them are good. Test whether the assumption is justified or not at 5% level of significance.

**Solution.** The null hypothesis will be that the proportion of passed students is 0.9, that is,  $H_0: P = 0.9$ , against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: P \neq 0.9$ . The test statistic is

$$\tau = \frac{P - P_0}{\sqrt{\frac{P_0(1 - P_0)}{n}}} = \frac{0.88 - 0.90}{\sqrt{\frac{0.90 \times 0.10}{50}}} = -0.41716.$$

The calculated value of  $|\tau|$  is less than the tabulated value of  $\tau$  at upper 2.5% level of significance. So the test is nonsignificant and we cannot reject the null hypothesis. That means we conclude that the 10% of the students failed in mathematics.

6. Test for Equality of Two Population Proportions

To test the equality of two population proportions, that is,  $H_0: P_1 = P_2 = P$  (known), the appropriate test statistic is

$$\tau = \frac{(p_1 - p_2)}{\sqrt{\frac{P(1 - P)}{n_1} + \frac{P(1 - P)}{n_2}}}$$

If the value of *P* is unknown, we replace *P* by its unbiased estimator  $\stackrel{\wedge}{P} = \frac{n_1 p_1 + n_2 p_2}{n_1 + n_2}$ based on both the samples. Thus,

$$\tau = \frac{(p_1 - p_2)}{\sqrt{\stackrel{\wedge}{P} \left(1 - \stackrel{\wedge}{P}\right) \left(\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}\right)}}.$$

*Example 9.22.* From two large samples of 500 and 600 of electric bulbs, 30 and 25%, respectively, are found to be defective. Can we conclude that the proportions of defective bulbs are equal in both the lots?

**Solution.** Under the given condition, the null hypothesis is  $H_0: P_1 = P_2$  against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: P_1 \neq P_2$ .

That means there exists no significant difference between the two proportions against the existence of significant difference.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ , and the test statistic for the above null hypothesis is

$$\tau = \frac{(p_1 - p_2)}{\sqrt{\hat{P}(1 - \hat{P})\left(\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}\right)}}, \text{ where } \hat{P} = \frac{n_1 p_1 + n_2 p_2}{n_1 + n_2} = \frac{500 \times 0.3 + 600 \times 0.25}{500 + 600} = \frac{3}{11}$$
$$\setminus \tau = \frac{(0.3 - 0.25)}{\sqrt{\frac{3}{11} \times \frac{8}{11}\left(\frac{1}{500} + \frac{1}{600}\right)}} = \frac{0.05}{0.02697} = 1.8539.$$

Since the calculated value of  $|\tau|$  is less than the tabulated value of  $\tau$  (1.96), we have to accept the null hypothesis and conclude that proportions of damaged bulbs are equal in both the lots.

7.  $\chi^2$  Test

The  $\chi^2$  test is one of the most important and widely used tests in testing of hypothesis. It is used both in parametric and in nonparametric tests. Some of the important uses of  $\chi^2$  test are testing equality of proportions, testing homogeneity or significance of population variance, test for goodness of fit, tests for association between attributes, etc.

(a)  $\chi^2$  Test for Equality of  $k(\geq 2)$  Population Proportions

Let  $X_1, X_2, X_3, \ldots, X_k$  be independent random variables with  $X_i \sim B(n_i, P_i), i = 1, 2, 3, \ldots, k; k \ge 2$ . The random variable

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left\{ \frac{X_i - n_i P_i}{\sqrt{n_i P_i (1 - P_i)}} \right\}^2$$

is distributed as  $\chi^2$  with k d.f. as  $n_1, n_2, n_3, \dots, n_k \to \infty$ .

To test  $H_0: P_1 = P_2 = P_3 = \cdots = P_k = P$  (known) against all alternatives, the test statistic is

$$\chi^2 = \sum_{i=1}^k \left\{ \frac{x_i - n_i P}{\sqrt{n_i P (1 - P)}} \right\}^2 \text{ with } k \text{ d.f.},$$
  
and if cal  $\chi^2 > \chi^2_{\alpha,k}$ , we reject  $H_o$ .

In practice P will be unknown. The unbiased estimate of P is

$$\hat{P} = \frac{x_1 + x_2 + \dots + x_k}{n_1 + n_2 + \dots + nk}.$$
 Then the statistic  
$$\chi^2 = \sum_{i=1}^k \left( \frac{x_i - n_i \hat{P}}{\sqrt{n_i \hat{P}(1 - \hat{P})}} \right)^2$$

is asymptotically  $\chi^2$  with (k - 1) d.f. If cal  $\chi^2 > \chi^2_{\alpha,k-1}$ , we reject  $H_0: P_1 = P_2 = P_3 = \cdots = P_k = P$  (unknown).

In particular when 
$$k = 2$$
,  $\chi^2 = \frac{(x_1 - n_1 \hat{P})^2}{n_1 \hat{P} (1 - \hat{P})} + \frac{(x_2 - n_2 \hat{P})^2}{n_2 \hat{P} (1 - \hat{P})}$ .  
Since  $\hat{P} = \frac{x_1 + x_2}{n_1 + n_2}$ , on simplification, we get  
 $\chi^2 = \frac{(p_1 - p_2)^2}{\hat{P} (1 - \hat{P}) (\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2})}$  with 1 d.f. which is equivalent to  
 $\tau = \frac{p_1 - p_2}{\sqrt{\hat{P} (1 - \hat{P}) (\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2})}}$  for testing  $H_0 : P_1 = P_2 = P$  (unknown) provided in test 6.

(b)  $\chi^2$  Bartlett's Test for Homogeneity of Variances

Proposed by Bartlett also known as Bartlett's test for homogeneity of variances. When experiments are repeated in several seasons/places/years, pooling the data becomes necessary; test for homogeneity of variance is necessary before pooling the data of such experiments. When more than two sets of experimental data are required to be pooled, then homogeneity of variance test through F statistic as mentioned earlier does not serve the purpose. Bartlett's test for homogeneity of variances is

essentially a  $\chi^2$  test. We suppose that we have *k* samples (k > 2) and that for the *i*th sample of size  $n_i$ , the observed values are  $x_{ij}$  ( $j = 1, 2, 3, 4, ..., n_i$ ; i = 1, 2, 3, ..., k). We also assume that all the samples are independent and come from the normal populations with means  $\mu_1, \mu_1, \mu_1, ..., \mu_k$  and variances  $\sigma_1^2, \sigma_2^2, \sigma_3^2, ..., \sigma_k^2$ . To test the null hypothesis  $H_0: \sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2^2 =$  $\dots = \sigma_k^2 (= \sigma^2, \text{ say})$  against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1$  is that these variances are not all equal, the approximate test statistic is

$$\chi^{2}_{k-1} = \frac{\left[\sum_{i=1}^{k} (n_{i}-1)\log_{e} \frac{s^{2}}{s_{i}^{2}}\right]}{\left[1 + \frac{1}{3(k-1)} \left\{\sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{1}{(n_{i}-1)} - \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{k} (n_{i}-1)}\right\}\right]} \text{ where}$$

$$s_{i}^{2} = \frac{1}{n_{i}-1} \sum_{j=1}^{n_{i}} (x_{ij} - \overline{x_{i}})^{2} = \text{ sample mean square for the } i\text{ th sample } (i = 1, 2, 3, \dots k),$$
and  $s^{2} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{k} (n_{i}-1)(s_{i})^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{k} (n_{i}-1)}.$ 

If cal  $\chi^2 > \chi^2_{\alpha,k-1}$ ,  $H_0$  is rejected.

*Example 9.23.* An experiment with the same protocol was practiced in three consecutive seasons for a particular variety of wheat. The following table gives the error mean squares along with degrees of freedom for three seasons. Test whether pooling of data from the three experiments can be done or not.

Seasond.f.Error mean squareSeason 115380Season 212320Season 312412

**Solution.** The error mean squares are the estimates of the variances. So the null hypothesis for the present problem is  $H_0$ : Variances of the three experiments conducted in three seasons are homogeneous in nature, against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1$ : Variances of the three experiments conducted in three seasons are not homogeneous in nature.

The test statistic is

$$\overline{\chi^2_{k-1}} = \frac{\left[\sum_{i=1}^k (n_i - 1) \log \frac{s^2}{s_i^2}\right]}{\left[1 + \frac{1}{3(k-1)} \left\{\sum_{i=1}^k \frac{1}{(n_i - 1)} - \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^k (n_i - 1)}\right\}} = \frac{\left[\sum_{i=1}^3 (n_i - 1) \log \frac{s^2}{s_i^2}\right]}{\left[1 + \frac{1}{3(3-1)} \left\{\sum_{i=1}^3 \frac{1}{(n_i - 1)} - \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^3 (n_i - 1)}\right\}}\right]} \text{ at 2 d.f.}$$

Let the level of significance  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

$n_i - 1$	$s_i^2$	$(n_i-1) s_i^2$	$(n_i - 1) \log_e \frac{s^2}{s_i^2}$	$\frac{1}{n_i-1}$
15	380	5,700	-0.3440	0.0667
12	320	3,840	1.7870	0.0833
12	412	4,944	-1.2454	0.0833
Total		14,484	0.1976	0.2333

Now 
$$s^2 = \frac{1}{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{3} (n_i - 1)} \sum\limits_{i=1}^{3} (n_i - 1)(s_i)^2 = \frac{14484}{39} = 371.385.$$
  
 $\chi_2^2 = \frac{0.1976}{1 + \frac{1}{6} [0.2333 - \frac{1}{39}]} = \frac{0.1976}{1.0346} = 0.1910$  with 2 d.f.

From the table, we have  $\chi^2_{0.05,2} = 5.99$ .

The calculated value of  $\chi^2$  (0.1910) is less than the table value of  $\chi^2_{0.05,2}$ , hence we cannot reject the null hypothesis. That means the variances are homogeneous in nature. So we can pool the information of three experiments.

(c)  $\chi^2$  Test for Heterogeneity

When a null hypothesis is to be tested for a large amount of test materials (treatments), it becomes sometimes difficult to accommodate all the treatments



(testing materials) in one experiment. For example, when we test hundreds of germplasms to test a particular null hypothesis, then it becomes almost impossible to accommodate all these materials in one experiment even in one experimental station. So we are forced to lay down the experiment in different plots, sometimes in different experimental stations having different environmental conditions and sometimes being tested over different seasons. For example, we may be interested to test the Mendel's monohybrid cross ratio (1:2:1) of  $F_1$  generation under different experiments using  $\chi^2$  test. Now the question is whether all these information from different experiments testing the same null hypothesis can be pooled/added to test for the theoretical ratio.  $\chi^2$  test for heterogeneity of variances based on additive property of  $\chi^2$  variates can be used here.

Let us suppose we have *p* experimental setup providing  $\chi_1^2, \chi_2^2, \chi_3^2, \dots, \chi_p^2$  each with (k - 1) d.f. The individual  $\chi^2$  values from *p* setup are added to get  $\chi_s^2$  with p(k - 1) d.f. Then a  $\chi^2$  value known as  $\chi_p^2$  is calculated from the pooled sample of all the *p* experiments with (k - 1) d.f. Now the heterogeneity  $\chi^2$  is calculated as  $\chi_h^2 = \chi_s^2 - \chi_p^2$  with  $\{p(k - 1) - (k - 1)\} = (p - 1)(k - 1)$  d.f.

Decisions are taken by comparing the calculated value of  $\chi^2$  with table value of  $\chi^2$ at upper level of significance with (p - 1)(k - 1) degrees of freedom.

*Example 9.24.* Three sets of experiments were conducted at three different places, and the following information are collected to check whether the data follow Mendel's monohybrid cross ratio of 1:2:1 or not.

Places	Fruit shape				
	Long	Medium	Small		
Place A	70	120	60		
Place B	45	70	30		
Place C	15	25	20		

**Solution.** Under the given conditions, we are to test (1) the validity of monohybrid cross ratio with respect to fruit shape in all the three places separately and (2) whether we can pool the  $\chi^2$  values from different location to judge the validity of monohybrid cross ratio for fruit shape for the given population.

1. The null hypothesis for the first problem is  $H_0$ : The ratio of different fruit shape in  $F_1$  generation follow 1:2:1 ratio in each



location against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1$ : The ratio of different fruit shape in  $F_1$  generation does not follow 1:2:1 ratio in each location.

Under the given null hypothesis, the test statistic is

$$\chi_2^2 = \sum_{i=1}^3 \frac{(\text{Obs} - \text{Exp})^2}{\text{Exp}}$$
 for each place.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ . The  $\chi^2_2$  value for each place are:

Place	$\chi^2$ value	d.f.
Place A	1.2	2
Place B	3.276	2
Place C	1.666	2

The  $\chi_2^2$  table value at 5% level of significance is 5.991. In all the places, the  $\chi^2$  value obtained is less than the table value of  $\chi_{0.05,2}^2$ , so we can conclude that in all the places, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. That means the experimental  $F_1$  generation data follow the theoretical ratio 1:2:1.

2. Our next objective is to work out the  $\chi^2$  value for pooled data, that is, 130:215:110 :: long:medium:small and to test whether homogeneity of variances is true for the whole experiment or not. Thus, the null hypothesis is that  $H_0$ : Homogeneity of variance exists against the alternative hypothesis that homogeneity of variance does not exist.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ . The calculated value of  $\chi_p^2$  for whole data is 3.426, and the sum of all the  $\chi^2$  values obtained in different places is 6.142. Thus,

$$\chi_h^2 = \chi_s^2 - \chi_p^2$$
 with  $(p-1)(k-1)$  d.f.  
= 6.142 - 3.426 with  $2 \times 2 = 4$  d.f.  
= 2.715.

At 0.05 level of significance, the tabulated  $\chi^2$  value at 4 d.f. is 9.488. So the calculated

value of  $\chi^2$  is less than the tabulated value of  $\chi^2_{0.05,4}$ , hence the test is nonsignificant and the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. We conclude that the results obtained in different places are homogeneous in nature.

(d)  $\chi^2$  Test for Goodness of Fit

In biological, agricultural, and other applied sciences, there are several laws; verification of these theoretical laws is taken up in practical field.  $\chi^2$  test for goodness of fit is a most widely used test. It is to test the agreement between the theory and practical. Now the agreement or disagreement between the theoretical values (expected) and observed values is being judged through  $\chi^2$  test for goodness of fit. For example, to test whether the different types of frequencies are in agreement with Mendel's respective theoretical frequencies or not, different observed frequencies are in agreement with the expected frequencies in accordance with different probability distributions or not. Suppose a population is classified into kmutually exclusive nominal like "male" or "female" or may be interval of the domain of some measured variable like height groups. To test whether the cell frequencies are in agreement with the expected frequencies or not. In all these cases,  $\chi^2$  known as frequency  $\chi^2$  or Pearsonian chi-square is most useful.

1.  $\chi^2$  Test for Goodness of Fit when Population Is Completely Specified The problem is to test  $H_0: P_1 = P_1^0$ ,  $P_2 = P_2^0, P_3 = P_3^0, \dots, P_k = P_k^0$ , where  $P_i^0 (i = 1, 2, 3, \dots, k)$  are specified values. The test statistic under  $H_0$  is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{(O_i - nP_i^0)^2}{nP_i^0} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{(O_i - e_i)^2}{e_i}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{(O_i)^2}{nP_i^0} - n$$

where  $e_i = \text{expected frequency of the}$  *i*th class =  $nP_i^0(i = 1, 2, 3, ..., k)$  and which is (in the limiting for as  $n \to \infty$ ) distributed as  $\chi^2$  with (k - 1) d.f. If  $\alpha$  be the level of significance, then we reject  $H_0$  if cal  $\chi^2 \ge \chi^2_{\alpha,k-1}$ ; otherwise we accept it.

*Example 9.25.* Two different types of tomato (red and yellow) varieties were crossed, and in  $F_1$  generation, 35, red; 40, yellow; and 70, mixed (neither red nor yellow) types of plants are obtained. Do the data agree with the theoretical expectation of 1:2:1 ratio at 5% level of significance?

**Solution.** Total frequency 35 + 40 + 70 = 145. The expected frequency for both red and yellow  $\frac{145}{4} \times 1 = 36.2536$ , and mixed  $\frac{145}{4} \times 2 = 72.573$ .

 $H_0$ : The observed frequencies support the theoretical frequencies, that is,  $P_1 = \frac{1}{4}$ ,  $P_2 = \frac{2}{4}$ ,  $P_3 = \frac{1}{4}$  against

 $H_1$ : The observed frequencies do not follow the theoretical frequencies, that is,  $P'_1 \neq \frac{1}{4}$ ,  $P'_2 \neq \frac{2}{4}$ ,

$$P'_{3} \neq \frac{1}{4}.$$

Under  $H_0$  the test statistic is

$$\chi^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{(O_{i} - e_{i})^{2}}{e_{i}} \text{ with } k - 1 \text{ d.f.}$$
$$= \frac{(35 - 36)^{2}}{36} + \frac{(70 - 73)^{2}}{73} + \frac{(40 - 36)^{2}}{36}$$
$$= \frac{1}{36} + \frac{9}{73} + \frac{16}{36} = 0.596 \text{ with } 2 \text{ d.f.}$$

From the table, we have  $\chi^2_{0.05,2} = 5.991$ . So the calculated value of  $\chi^2$  is less than the table value of  $\chi^2$ . Hence, we cannot reject the null hypothesis. That means the data agree with the theoretical ratio.

 χ<sup>2</sup> Test for Goodness of Fit When Some Parameters of the Hypothetical Population Are Unspecified An observed frequency distribution in a sample may often be supposed to arise from a true binomial, Poisson, normal, or some other known type of distribution in the population. In most cases in practice, the hypothesis that we want to test is  $H_0$ : The sample has been drawn from a parent population of certain type.

This hypothesis may be tested by comparing the observed frequencies in various classes with those which would be given by the assumed theoretical distribution. Usually the parameters of this distribution may not be known but will have to be estimated from the sample. The test statistic under  $H_0$  is

$$\chi^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{(O_{i} - e_{i})^{2}}{e_{i}} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{(O_{i} - n\hat{P}_{i})^{2}}{n\hat{P}_{0}}$$

which is  $\chi^2$  distribution with (k - s - 1)d.f. where  $s(\langle k - 1 \rangle)$  is the number of parameters of this distribution to be estimated from the sample and  $\hat{P}_i$  is the estimated probability that a single item in the sample falls in the *i*th class which is a function of the estimated parameters. We reject  $H_0$  if cal  $\chi^2 > \chi^2_{\alpha,k-s-1}$ , and otherwise we accept it.

*Example 9.26.* While analyzing a set of data following frequency (observed and expected) are obtained by a group of students. Test whether the data fitted well with the expected distribution or not.

Class	Observed frequency	Expected frequency
2–4	2	1
4–6	4	7
6–8	26	28
8-10	60	56
10-12	62	58
12–14	29	31
14–16	4	9
16–18	4	1

اکم للاستشارات

#### Solution.

- H<sub>0</sub>: The data fit well with the theoretical expectation against
- H<sub>1</sub>: The data do not fit well with the theoretical expectation.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ . The test statistic is given by

$$\chi^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(O_{i} - E_{i})^{2}}{E_{i}} \text{ at } (k - 2 - 1) \text{ d.f.}$$
  
= 14.896 at 5 d.f.

Class	Obs.	Exp.	$(Obs exp.)^2/exp.$
1	2	1	1
2	4	7	1.285714
3	26	28	0.142857
4	60	56	0.285714
5	62	58	0.275862
6	29	31	0.129032
7	4	9	2.777778
8	4	1	9

From the table, we have  $\chi^2_{0.05,5} = 11.07$ , that is, the calculated value of  $\chi^2$  is greater than the table value of  $\chi^2$ . So the test is significant and the data do not fit well with the expected distribution.

(e)  $\chi^2$  Test for Independence of Attributes

A large number of statistical theories are available which deal with quantitative characters.  $\chi^2$  test is one of the few available statistical tools dealing with qualitative characters (attributes).  $\chi^2$  test for independence of attributes work out the association or independence between the qualitative characters like color, shape, and texture which cannot be measured but grouped.  $\chi^2$  test for independence of attributes helps in finding the dependence or independence between such qualitative characters from their joint frequency distribution.

Let us suppose two attributes A and B grouped into r ( $A_1$ ,  $A_2$ , ...,  $A_r$ ) and

В					
A	$B_1$	$B_2$	 $B_j$	 $B_s$	Total
$A_1$	$(A_1B_1)$	$(A_1B_2)$	$(A_1B_j)$	$(A_1B_s)$	$(A_1)$
$A_2$	$(A_2B_1)$	$(A_2B_2)$	$(A_2B_j)$	$(A_2B_s)$	$(A_2)$
$A_i$	$(A_iB_1)$	$(A_iB_2)$	$(A_i B_j)$	$(A_iB_s)$	$(A_i)$
•••					
$A_r$	$(A_r B_1)$	$(A_r B_2)$	$(A_r B_j)$	$(A_r B_s)$	$(A_r)$
Total	( <i>B</i> <sub>1</sub> )	( <i>B</i> <sub>2</sub> )	$(B_j)$	$(B_s)$	Ν

**Table 9.3** " $r \times s$ " contingency table

*s* classes  $(B_1, B_2, ..., B_s)$ . The various cell frequencies are expressed according to the following table format known as " $r \times s$ " manifold contingency table where  $(A_i)$  is the frequency of the individual units possessing the attribute  $A_i$ , (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., r),  $(B_j)$  is the frequency of the individual units units possessing the attribute  $B_j$  (j = 1, 2, 3, ..., s), and  $(A_iB_j)$  is the frequency of the individual units possessing the individual units possessing the attribute  $B_j$  (j = 1, 2, 3, ..., s), and  $(A_iB_j)$  is the frequency of the individual units possessing the attribute  $B_j$  (j = 1, 2, 3, ..., s), and  $(A_iB_j)$  is the frequency of the individual units possessing

both the attributes  $A_i$  and  $B_j$  with  $\sum_{i=1}^{r} (A_i) = \sum_{j=1}^{s} (B_j) = N$ , where *N* is the total frequency.

## 1. Table 9.3

The problem is to test if the two attributes A and B under consideration are independent or not. Under the null hypothesis  $H_0$ : The attributes are independent, the theoretical cell frequencies are calculated as follows:

 $P[A_i]$  = probability that an individual unit possesses the attribute  $A_i = \frac{(A_i)}{N}$ ; i = 1, 2, ..., r;  $P[B_j]$  = probability that an individual unit possesses the attribute  $B_j = \frac{(B_j)}{N}$ ; j = 1, 2, ..., s.

Since the attributes  $A_i$  and  $B_j$  are independent, under null hypothesis, using

the theorem of compound probability (Chap. 6), we get

 $P[A_iB_j] = \text{probability that an individual unit possesses both the attributes } A_i \text{ and } B_j$  $= P[A_i] P[B_j] = \frac{(A_i)}{N} \cdot \frac{(B_j)}{N}; i = 1, 2, 3, \dots, r; j = 1, 2, 3, \dots, s \text{ and}$  $(A_iB_j)_e = \text{expected number of individual units possessing both the attributes } A_i \text{ and } B_j$  $= N. P[A_iB_j] = \frac{(A_i)(B_j)}{N}$ 

$$(A_i B_j)_e = \frac{(A_i)(B_j)}{N}, (i = 1, 2, 3, \dots, r; j = 1, 2, 3, \dots, s)$$

By using this formula, we can find out the expected frequencies for each of the cell frequencies  $(A_iB_j)$  (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., r; j = 1, 2, 3, ..., s), under the null hypothesis of independence of attributes. The approximate test statistic for the test of independence of attributes is derived from the  $\chi^2$  test for goodness of fit as given below:

$$\chi^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j=1}^{s} \left[ \frac{\left\{ \left( A_{i}B_{j} \right)_{o} - \left( A_{i}B_{j} \right)_{e} \right\}^{2}}{\left( A_{i}B_{j} \right)_{e}} \right]$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j=1}^{s} \frac{\left( f_{ij} - e_{ij} \right)^{2}}{e_{ij}} : \chi^{2}_{(r-1)(s-1)}$$

where

 $f_{ij}$  = observed cell frequency of *i*th row and *j*th column combination and  $e_{ij}$  = expected cell frequency of *i*th row and *j*th column combination.

2. "2 × 2" 
$$\chi^2$$
 Test

Under the special case, the  $r \times s$  contingency table becomes a 2 × 2 contingency table, in which both the attributes are classified into two groups each. The test of independence of attributes can be performed in the similar way as in the case of  $r \times s$  contingency table. Moreover, the value of  $\chi^2$  can also be calculated directly from the observed frequency table. Let us suppose we have the following 2 × 2 contingency Table 9.4 as given below: The formula for calculating  $\chi^2$  value is

$$\chi^{2} = \frac{N(ad - bc)^{2}}{(a + c)(b + d)(a + b)(c + d)}$$
$$\sim \chi^{2}_{(2-1)(2-1)} \sim \chi^{2}_{1}.$$

Now comparing the table value of  $\chi^2$  at 1 degree of freedom at a prefixed  $\alpha$  level of significance with the calculated value of  $\chi^2$ , one can arrive at a definite conclusion about the independence of the two attributes.

Table	9.4	"2	Х	2"	contingency	table
-------	-----	----	---	----	-------------	-------

للاستشارات

	Attribut	e B	
Attribute A	$B_1$	$B_2$	Total
$\overline{A_1}$	а	b	a + b
$\overline{A_2}$	С	d	c + d
Total	a + c	b + d	a + b + c + d = N

# Yates's Correction

Validity of the  $\chi^2$  depends on the condition that the expected frequency in each cell should be sufficiently large; generally the expected frequency is required to be at least five. One can overcome the problem of lower cell frequency by coalescing or merging consecutive rows or columns. In doing so, one has to compromise with the basic concept of the classification of the particular subject on hand. In a  $2 \times 2$  table, the possibility of merging cell frequencies is ruled out, rather we adopt Yates's corrected formula for  $\chi^2$  as given below:

$$\chi_1^2 = \frac{\left(|ad - bc| - \frac{N}{2}\right)^2 N}{(a+b)(c+d)(a+c)(b+d)}$$

where *N* is the total frequency and *a*, *b*, *c*, and *d* are as usual.

*Example 9.27.* The following table gives the frequency distribution of education standard and type occupation for 280 persons. Test whether the type of occupation is independent of education standard or not.

			Govt.	
	Cultivation	Teaching	service	Others
HS	65	5	12	8
Graduation	35	25	15	10
Postgraduation	25	40	25	15

Solution. Under the given condition

- $H_0$ : Educational standard and occupation are independent against
- $H_1$ : Educational standard and occupation are not independent.

Under the given  $H_0$ , the test statistic is

$$\chi^{2}_{(3-1)(3-1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j=1}^{s} \left[ \frac{\left\{ \left( A_{i}B_{j} \right)_{o} - \left( A_{i}B_{j} \right)_{e} \right\}^{2}}{\left( A_{i}B_{j} \right)_{e}} \right]$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j=1}^{s} \frac{\left( f_{ij} - e_{ij} \right)^{2}}{e_{ij}}.$$

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ We calculate the expected frequencies as follows:

> $P[A_iB_j] = \text{probability that an individual unit possesses both the attributes } A_i \text{ and } B_j$ =  $P[A_i] P[B_j]$ =  $\frac{(A_i)}{N} \cdot \frac{(B_j)}{N}; i = 1, 2, 3, \dots, r; j = 1, 2, 3, \dots, s, \text{ and}$  $(A_iB_j)_e = \text{expected number of individual units possessing both the attributes } A_i \text{ and } B_j$ =  $N. P[A_iB_j] = \frac{(A_i)(B_j)}{N}.$

As follows:

Total	125	70	52	33	280
Postgraduation	$= 105 \times 125/280$	$= 105 \times 70/282$	$= 105 \times 52/282$	$= 105 \times 33/282$	105
Graduation	$= 85 \times 125/280$	$= 85 \times 70/281$	$= 85 \times 52/281$	$= 85 \times 33/281$	85
HS	$= 90 \times 125/280$	$=90 \times 70/280$	$=90 \times 52/280$	$= 90 \times 33/280$	90
Groups	Cultivation	Teaching	Govt. service	Others	Total

			Govt.	
	Cultivation	Teaching	service	Others
HS	40.1786	22.50	16.7143	10.6071
Graduation	37.9464	21.25	15.7857	10.0178
Postgraduation	46.8750	26.25	19.500	12.3750

So,

$$\chi_6^2 = \sum_{i=1}^r \sum_{j=1}^s \frac{(f_{ij} - e_{ij})^2}{e_{ij}} = \frac{(65 - 40.1786)^2}{401786} + \frac{(5 - 22.5)^2}{22.5} + \dots + \frac{(15 - 12.375)^2}{12.375} = 51.3642.$$

The table value of  $\chi^2_{0.05,6} = 12.592$  is less than the calculated value of  $\chi^2$ . Hence, the test is significant and the null hypothesis is rejected. We can conclude that the two attributes, educational standard and the type of occupation, are not independent of each other.

*Example 9.28.* The following table is pertaining to classification of rice varieties classified into grain shape and aroma. Test whether the taste and aroma are independent of each other or not.

	Grain shape		
Aroma	Long	Dwarf	
Aromatic	40	50	
Nonaromatic	45	65	

**Solution.** To test  $H_0$ : Taste and aroma are independent of each other against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1$ : Grain shape and aroma are not independent of each other. The test statistic follows a  $\chi^2$  distribution with 1 d.f. Let the level of significance be 0.05.

So

$$\chi^{2} = \frac{(ad - bc)^{2}N}{(a+b)(c+d)(a+c)(b+d)}$$

We don't have to go for Yates's correction. From the above given information, we have

$$\chi^2 = \frac{(40 \times 65 - 50 \times 45)^2 200}{90 \times 110 \times 85 \times 115} = 0.2532.$$

The calculated value of  $\chi^2$  is less than the tabulated value of  $\chi^2_{0.05,1}$  (3.84). So the test is

nonsignificant and the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. That means the two attributes, namely, the grain shape and aroma are independent of each other.

*Example 9.29.* The following  $2 \times 2$  table gives the frequency distribution of rice varieties based on two attributes, namely, shape of grain and the aroma of rice. Test whether the two attributes are independent or not.

	Rice aroma	
Grain type	Scented	Non-scented
Elongated	15	30
Short	3	42

**Solution.** Under the given condition, we are to test whether the two attributes, namely, "aroma" and "grain shape" in rice are independent of each other or not.

So  $H_0$ : Aroma and grain shape in rice are independent of each other, against

 $H_1$ : Aroma and grain shape in rice are not independent of each other.

The test statistic for the problem will be  $\chi^2$  with 1 d.f. Seeing the data that a cell frequency will be less than five, so we are to adopt the formula for  $\chi^2$  with Yates's correction. Thus,

$$\chi_{\text{corr.}}^{2} = \frac{\left(|ad - bc| - \frac{N}{2}\right)^{2} N}{(a+b)(c+d)(a+c)(b+d)}$$
$$= \frac{\left(|15 \times 42 - 30 \times 3| - \frac{90}{2}\right)^{2} 90}{(30+15)(15+3)(3+42)(30+42)}$$
$$= 8.402.$$

Let the level of significance be 0.05 and the corresponding table value at 1 d.f. is 3.84. So the calculated value of  $\chi_{corr.}^2$  is more than the table value of  $\chi^2$  at 1 d.f. at 5% level of significance. Hence, the test is significant and the null hypothesis is rejected. We can conclude that the two attributes, aroma and grain shape in rice, are not independent of each other.

## 9.5 Nonparametric Tests

In parametric tests discussed so far, there is one or more assumption about the population behavior which is supposed to be valid under the specific situation. In nonparametric tests instead of the normality assumption, one assumes the continuity of the distribution function and the probability density function of the variable and independence of the sample observations.

Nonparametric methods are synonymously used as "distribution-free" methods, etc., as mentioned above but is nonparametric if the parent distribution is dependent on some general assumption like continuity. A distribution-free method depends neither on the form nor on the parameters of the parent distribution.

Merits nonparametric methods are as follows:

- 1. Nonparametric statistical tests are exact irrespective of the nature of the population distribution.
- 2. For unknown population distribution and for very small (say, 6) sample size, then tests are useful.
- Nonparametric tests are also available for a sample made up of observations from different populations.
- Nonparametric tests are useful both for inherent by ranked/qualified data and for the data which are potential to be ranked from numerical figure.
- Data measured in nominal scales, mostly in socioeconomic studies can also be put under nonparametric tests.

Demerits of nonparametric methods:

- 1. Probability of type II error is more in nonparametric method. If all the assumptions of the parametric model are valid, then a parametric test is superior.
- 2. Suitable non parametric method corresponding to interaction effect estimation through ANOVA is lacking.
- 3. Estimation of population parameters cannot be done by non-parametric method.
- 4. Disregard the actual scale of measurement.

We discuss below some of the nonparametric tests widely used in agriculture and allied field.

## 9.5.1 One-Sample Tests

### 1. Sign Test

For a random sample  $x_1, x_2, x_3, \ldots, x_n$  of size *n* from a distribution with unknown

median  $\theta$ , we are to test  $H_0$ :  $\theta = \theta_0$  against the alternative hypotheses (1)  $\theta \neq \theta_0$ , (2)  $\theta > \theta_0$ , and (3) $\theta < \theta_0$ .

If  $\theta_0$  be the median, then there will be equal number of observations below and above the value  $\theta_0$ . We denote the observations greater than the  $\theta_0$  with plus (+) signs and the observations smaller than  $\theta_0$  with minus (–) signs and ignore the sample values equal to the median. Let item be r plus (+) sign and minus signs. Such that  $r + s = m \le n$ . Distribution of r given r + s = m is binomial with probability 1/2. Thus, the above null hypothesis becomes equivalent to testing  $H_0$ : P = 1/2, where  $P = P(x > \theta_0)$ . One-tailed cumulative binomial probabilities are given in Table A.9. For H<sub>1</sub>:  $\theta \neq \theta_0$  the critical region for  $\alpha$ level of significance is given by  $r \leq r'_{\alpha/2}$  and  $r \ge r_{\alpha/2}$  where  $r'_{\alpha/2}$  and  $r_{\alpha/2}$  are the largest and smallest integer such that  $\sum_{r=0}^{r_{\alpha/2}}$  $\binom{m}{r}^{m} \leq \alpha/2 \text{ and } \sum_{r=\alpha/2}^{m} \binom{m}{r} \binom{1}{2}$  $\alpha/2$ . For  $H_1$ :  $\theta > \theta_0$ , the critical region for  $\alpha$  level of significance is given by  $r \ge r_{\alpha}$ , where  $r_{\alpha}$  is the smallest integer such that  $\sum_{r=r_{\alpha}}^{m} \binom{m}{r} (\frac{1}{2})^{m} \leq \alpha$ . For  $H_{1}$ :  $\theta < \theta_{0}$ , the critical region for  $\alpha$  level of significance is given by  $r \leq r'_{a}$  where  $r'_{a}$  is the larger integer such that  $\sum_{r=0}^{m} \binom{m}{r} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right) \leq \alpha$ .

*Example 9.30.* Test whether the median long jump ( $\theta$ ) of a group of students is 10 ft or not at 5% level of significance from the following data on long jumps.

Long jumps (feet): 11.2, 12.2, 10.0, 9, 13, 12.3, 9.3, 9.8, 10.8, 11, 11.6, 10.6, 8.5, 9.5, 9.8, 11.6, 9.7, 10.9, 9.2, 9.8

**Solution.** Let us first assign the signs to each of the given observations as follows:

There are 10 (= r) plus (+) signs and 9 (= s) minus (-) signs, and one observation is equal to the median value and discarded. This r is a binomial variate with parameter (m = r + s = 20 - 1 = 19) and P(= 1/2). Thus, testing of  $H0: \theta = 10$  ft against  $H_1: \theta \neq 10$  ft is equivalent to testing of  $H_0: P = \frac{1}{2}$  against  $H_1: P \neq 1/2$ .

The critical region for  $\alpha = 0.05$  (two-sided test) is  $r \ge r_{\alpha/2}$  and  $r \le r'_{\alpha/2}$  where *r* is the number of plus signs and  $r_{\alpha/2}$  and  $r'_{\alpha/2}$  are the smallest and largest integer, respectively, such that  $\sum_{r_{\alpha/2}}^{19} {\binom{19}{x}} {\binom{1}{2}}^{19} \le \alpha/2$  and  $\sum_{0}^{r'_{\alpha/2}} {\binom{19}{x}} {\binom{1}{2}}^{19} \le \alpha/2$ .

From the table we get  $r_{0.025} = 14$  and  $r'_{0.025} = 4$  for 19 distinct observations at p = 1/2. For this example we have 4/r = 10 < 14, which lies between 4 and 14, so we cannot reject the null hypothesis at 5% level of significance, that is, we conclude that the median of the long jump can be taken as 10 ft.

[If total number of signs, that is, plus (+) signs plus the minus (-) signs (i.e., r + s = m), is greater than 25, that is, m = r + s > 25, then normal approximation to binomial may be used, and accordingly the probability of r or fewer success will be tested with the statistic  $\tau = \frac{r - \frac{r+s}{2}}{\sqrt{\frac{r+s}{4}}} = \frac{\frac{r-s}{2}}{\frac{\sqrt{r+s}}{2}} = \frac{r-s}{\sqrt{r+s}}$ .]

2. Test of Randomness

(a) One Sample Run Test

In socioeconomic or time series analysis, the researchers often wants to know whether the data point or observations have changed following a definite pattern or in a haphazard manner. One-sample run test is used to test the hypothesis that a sample is random. In other form, run test is used to test the hypothesis that the given sequence/arrangement is random.

A run is a sequence of letters (signs) of the same kind bounded by letters (signs) of



other kind. Let  $n_1$  = the number of elements of one kind and  $n_2$  be the number of element of other kind. That is,  $n_1$  might be the number of heads and  $n_2$  be the number of tails, or  $n_1$  might be the number of pluses and  $n_2$  might be the number of minuses. n = total number of observed events, that is,  $n = n_1 + n_2$ . To use the one-sample run test, first we observe the  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  events in the sequence in which they occurred and determine the value of r, the number of runs.

Let  $x_1, x_2, x_3, \ldots x_n$  be a sample drawn from a single population. At first we find the median of the sample and we denote observations below the median by a minus sign and observations above the median by plus signs. We discard the value equal to the median. Then we count the number of runs (r) of plus and minus signs. If both  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  are equal to or less than 20, then Table A.12 gives the critical value of runder  $H_0$  for  $\alpha = 0.05$ . These are critical values from the sampling distribution of runder  $H_0$ . If the observed value of r falls between the critical values, we accept  $H_0$ . For large  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  or both the number of runs below and above, the sample median value is a random variable with mean

$$E(r) = \frac{n}{2} + 1 \text{ and variance Var}(r)$$
$$= \frac{n(n-2)}{4(n-1)}.$$

This formula is exact when the *n* is even and the *r* is normally distributed as the number of observations *n* increases. That means  $\tau = \frac{r-E(r)}{\sqrt{Var(r)}} N(0, 1)$  and we can conclude accordingly.

*Example 9.31.* In an admission counter, the boys (B) and girls (G) were queued as follows:

B, G, B, G, B, B, B, G, G, B, G, B, B, G, B, B, B.

Test the hypothesis that the order of males and females in the queue was random.

**Solution.**  $H_0$ : The order of boys and girls in the queue was random against

 $H_1$ : The order of boys and girls in the queue was not random.

In this problem there are  $n_1 = 11$  boys and  $n_2 = 6$  girls. The data is <u>B G B G B B B G G B G</u> <u>B B G B B B.</u>

There are 11 runs in this series, that is, r = 11. Table A.12 given in the Appendix shows that for  $n_1 = 11$  and  $n_2 = 6$ , a random sample would be expected to contain more than 4 runs but less than 13. The observed < r = 11 < r = 13 fall in the region of acceptance for  $\alpha = 0.05$ . So we accept  $H_0$ , that is, the order of boys and girls in the queue was random.

*Example 9.32a.* The following figures give the production (million tons) of rice in certain state of India. To test whether the production of rice has changed randomly or followed a definite pattern.

Year	1971	1972	1973	1974	1975	1976	1977	1978	1979	1980
Production	13.12	13	13.3	14.36	10.01	12.22	13.99	8.98	13.99	11.86
Year	1981	1982	1983	1984	1985	1986	1987	1988	1989	1990
Production	13.55	13.28	15.8	12.69	14.45	14.18	13.03	13.81	13.48	13.1
Year	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000
Production	15.91	15.52	15.44	14.6	18.2	17.22	15.45	19.64	21.12	19.78
Year	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
Production	20	19.51	21.1	21.03	19.79	21.79	21.18	21.18	22.27	21.81

**Solution.** We are to test the null hypothesis  $H_0$ : The series is random against the alternative hypothesis that  $H_1$ : The series is not random.

Let us first calculate the median and put plus signs to those values which are greater than the median value and minus signs to those values which are less than the median value; the information are provided in the table given below. Median = 15.02(m.t).

Year	1971	1972	1973	1974	1975	1976	1977	1978	1979	1980
Production (m.t)	13.12	13.00	13.30	14.36	10.01	12.22	13.99	8.98	13.99	11.86
Signs	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Year	1981	1982	1983	1984	1985	1986	1987	1988	1989	1990
Production (m.t)	13.55	13.28	15.80	12.69	14.45	14.18	13.03	13.81	13.48	13.10
Signs	_	_	+	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Year	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000
Production (m.t)	15.91	15.52	15.44	14.60	18.20	17.22	15.45	19.64	21.12	19.78
Signs	+	+	+	_	+	+	+	+	+	+
Year	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
Production (m.t)	20.00	19.51	21.10	21.03	19.79	21.79	21.18	21.18	22.27	21.81
Signs	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

As the sample size is large, one should apply randomness test through normality test of the number of runs, r. Here r = 6, so the number of runs is found to be 6.

$$E(r) = \frac{n}{2} + 1 = 40/2 + 1 = 21 \text{ and } \operatorname{Var}(r)$$
$$= \frac{n(n-2)}{4(n-1)} = \frac{40(40-2)}{4(40-1)} = \frac{380}{39} = 9.744$$
$$\tau = \frac{6 - E(r)}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(r)}} = \frac{6 - 21}{\sqrt{9.744}} = \frac{-15}{3.122} = -4.806.$$

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ . Thus,  $|\tau| = 4.806 > 1.96$  (the critical value at  $\alpha = 0.05$ ; hence, the null hypothesis of randomness is rejected. We conclude that the production of the state has not changed in random manner.

#### (b) Test of Turning Points

الألم للاستشارات

In the test of turning points to test the randomness of a set of observations, count peaks and troughs in the series. A "peak" is a value greater than the two neighboring values, and a "trough" is a value which is lower than of its two neighbors. Both the peaks and troughs are treated as turning points of the series. At least three consecutive observations are required to find a turning point, let  $U_1, U_2$ , and  $U_3$ . If the series is random then these three values could have occurred in any order,

namely, in six ways. But in only four of these ways would there be a turning point. Hence, the probability of turning points in a set of three values is 4/6 = 2/3.

Let  $U_1$ ,  $U_2$ ,  $U_3$ ,...,  $U_n$  be a set of observations and let us define a marker variable  $X_i$  by

$$X_i = 1$$
 when  $U_i < U_{i+1} > U_{i+2}$  and  
 $U_i > U_{i+1} < U_{i+2}$   
= 0 otherwise  $\forall$ ,  $I = 1, 2, 3, ..., (n-2)$ .

Hence, the number of turning points p is then  $p = \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} x_i,$ then we have  $E(p) = \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} E(x_i) = \frac{2}{3}(n-2)$ and  $E(p^2) = E\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n-2} (x_i)\right)^2 = \frac{40n^2 - 144n + 131}{90}$ Var  $(p) = E(p^2) - (E(p))^2 = \frac{(16n-29)}{90}$ . As *n*, the number of observations, increases the distribution of p tends to normality. Thus, for testing the null hypothesis  $H_0$ : Series is random the test statistic,  $\tau = \frac{p - E(p)}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(p)}} \sim N$ 

(0,1) and we can conclude accordingly.

*Example 9.32b.* The area ('000ha) under cotton crop in a particular state of India since 1971 is given below. Test whether the area under jute has changed randomly or not.



Year	1971	1972	1973	1974	1975	1976	1977	1978	1979	1980
Area	326	435	446	457	404	423	496	269	437	407
Year	1981	1982	1983	1984	1985	1986	1987	1988	1989	1990
Area	461	367	419	370	335	441	479	538	504	610
Year	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000
Area	506	439	464	534	731	518	424	415	427	500
Year	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	200	2010
Area	573	493	475	508	516	620	642	642	614	613

From the given information, one has (1) number of observations = 40 and (2) number of turning points p = 20. The null hypothesis is given as  $H_0$ : The series is random.

We have the expectation of turning point (*p*),  $E(p) = \frac{2}{3}(n-2) = \frac{2}{3}(40-2) = \frac{76}{3} = 25.33$  and the variance

$$\operatorname{var}(p) = \frac{16n - 29}{90} = \frac{16 \times 40 - 29}{90} = \frac{611}{90} = 6.789$$

Thus, the test statistic

$$\tau = \frac{p - E(p)}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(p)}} = \frac{20 - 25.33}{\sqrt{6.789}} = \frac{-5.33}{2.606} = -2.045.$$

We know that the  $\tau$  is standard normal variate, and the value of standard normal variate at P = 0.05 is 1.96. As the calculated value of  $|\tau| > 1.96$ , so the test is significant, we reject the null hypothesis. We conclude that at 5% level of significance, there is no reason to take that the area under jute in West Bengal has changed randomly since 1961.

*Note*: Data for the above two examples have been taken from the various issues of the economic review published by the Government of West Bengal.

3. Kolmogorov-Smirnov One Sample Test

 $\chi^2$  test for goodness of fit is valid under certain assumptions like large sample size. The parallel test to the  $\chi^2$  tests which can also be used under small sample conditions is Kolmogorov– Smirnov one-sample test. We test the null hypothesis that the sample of observations  $x_1$ ,  $x_2, x_3, \ldots x_n$  has come from a specified population distribution against the alternative hypothesis that the sample has come from other distribution. Let  $x_1, x_2, x_3, \ldots, x_n$  be a random sample from a population of distribution function F(x), and the sample cumulative distribution function is given as  $F_n(x)$  where  $F_n(x)$  is defined as  $F_n(x) = k/n$  where k is the number of observations equal to or less than x. Now for fixed value of x,  $F_n(x)$  is a statistic since it depends on the sample, and it follows a binomial distribution with parameter (n, F(x)). To test both-sided goodness of fit for  $H_0$ :  $F(x) = F_0(x)$  for all x against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1$ :  $F(x) \neq F_0(x)$ , the test statistic is  $D_n = \operatorname{Sup}_x[|F_n(x) - F_0(x)|]$ . The distribution of  $D_n$  does not depend on  $F_0$  so long  $F_0$  is continuous. Now if  $F_0$  represents the actual distribution function of x, then one would expect very small value of  $D_n$ ; on the other hand, a large value of  $D_n$  is an indication of the deviation of distribution function from  $F_0$ . The decision is taken with the help of *Table A.10*.

*Example 9.33.* The following data presents a random sample of the proportion of insects killed by an insecticide in ten different jars. Assuming the proportion of insect killing varying between (0,1), test whether the proportion of insect killed follow rectangular distribution or not.

Proportion of insect killed: 0.404, 0.524, 0.217, 0.942, 0.089, 0.486, 0.394, 0.358, 0.278, 0.572

**Solution.** If  $F_0(x)$  be the distribution function of a rectangular distribution over the range [0,1], then  $H_0$ :  $F(x) = F_0(x)$ . We know that

$$F_0(x) = 0 \text{ if } x < 0$$
  
= x if  $0 \le x \le 1$   
= 1 if  $x > 1$ 

for a rectangular distribution. We make the following table:

x	$F_0(x)$	$F_n(x)$	$ F_n(x) - F_0(x) $
0.089	0.089	0.1	0.011
0.217	0.217	0.2	0.017
0.278	0.278	0.3	0.022
0.358	0.358	0.4	0.042
0.394	0.394	0.5	0.106
0.404	0.404	0.6	0.196
0.486	0.486	0.7	0.214
0.524	0.524	0.8	0.276
0.572	0.572	0.9	0.328
0.942	0.942	1.0	0.058

Let the level of significance  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

From the table we get for n = 10 the critical value of K–S statistic  $D_n$  at 5% level of significance is 0.409. Thus, the calculated value of  $D_n = \sup_x [|F_n(x) - F_0(x)|] = 0.328 <$  the table value 0.409, so we cannot reject the null hypothesis. That means we conclude that the given sample is from the rectangular parent distribution. This example is due to Sahu (2007).

4. The Median Test

as follows:

Synonymous to that of the parametric test to test whether two samples have been taken from the same population or not, the median test is also used to test whether two groups have been taken from the same population or not. Actually in the median test, the null hypothesis tested is that whether two sets of scores differ significantly between them or not. Generally it is used to test whether there exists any significant difference between the experimental group and the control group or not. If the two groups have been drawn at random from the same population, it is quite obvious that half of the frequencies will lie above and below the median. The whole process is given stepwise:

- (a) Arrange the ranks/scores of both the group units taken together.
- (b) A common median is worked out.
- (c) Scores of each group are then divided into two subgroups: (a) those above the common median and (b) those below the common median; generally the ranks equal to the medians are ignored.
- (d) These frequencies are then put into  $2 \times 2$  contingency table.
- (e)  $\chi^2$  value is obtained using the usual norms.
- (f) The decision rule is the same as that was for  $\chi^2$  test.

*Example 9.34.* The following table gives the scores of two groups of students. Test whether the two groups could be taken as one or not.

	Stud	ents										
Group	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Group 1	9	8	12	6	8	9	5	10	9	7	11	10
Group2	8	11	4	9	7	3	10	9	5	6	12	8

**Solution.** Under the given condition, we can go for median test to test the equality of two groups with respect to their scores.

Taking both the groups as one can have the following arrangement:

<b>5</b> 4 <b>5</b> 5 <b>6</b> 6 7 7 <b>8</b> 8 <b>8 9</b> 9 9 9 9 10 10 10 11 11 12	3	4	5	5	6	6	7	7	8	8	8	8	9	9	9	9	9	10	10	10	11	11	12	12
--	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	----	----	----	----	----	----	----

From the above arrangements, we have the median score as the average of the 12th and 13th ordered observation, that is, (8 + 9)/2 = 8.5.

Now a  $2 \times 2$  contingency table is prepared

	Below	Above
Group1	(a) 5	(b) 7
Group2	(c) 7	(d) 5

$$X_1^2 = \frac{(ad - bc)^2 N}{(a+b)(a+c)(b+d)(c+d)}$$
$$= \frac{24 \times 24}{12 \times 12 \times 12} = 0.66.$$

From this 2 × 2 contingency table using the formula, the calculated value of  $\chi^2 = 0.66 <$  the table value of  $\chi^2 = 3.841$  at 5% level of significance. So we have no reason to reject the null hypothesis that the two groups have come from the same population, that is, the two groups do not differ.

5. The Mann-Whitney U-Test

Analogous to the parametric t-test, the Mann–Whitney U-test is aimed at determining whether two independent samples have been drawn from the same population or not. This test does not require any assumption except that the continuity. Steps involved in the process are given below:

- (a) Rank the data of both the samples taking them as one sample from low to high (generally low ranking is given to low value and so on).
- (b) For tied ranks take the average of the ranks for each of the tied values (e.g.,

if 4th, 5th, 6th, and 7th places are having the same value, then each of these identical values would be assigned ((4 + 5 + 6 + 7)/4=) 5.5 rank).

- (c) Find the sum of the ranks of both the samples separately (say,  $R_1$  and  $R_2$ , respectively, for 1st and 2nd sample).
- (d) Calculate  $U = n_1 \cdot n_2 + \frac{n_1(n_1+1)}{2} R_1$ , where  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  are the sizes of the 1st and 2nd sample, respectively.
- (e) If both  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  are sufficiently large (>8), the sampling distribution of U can be approximated to a normal distribution and usual critical values could be used to arrive at the conclusion. On the other hand, if the sample sizes are small, then the significance test can be worked out as per the table values of the Wilcoxon's unpaired distribution.

*Example 9.35.* The following table gives the scores in mathematics of two groups of students. Using Mann–Whitney *U*-test, can you say that these two groups of students are the same at 5% level of significance, that is, they have come from the same population?

	Stude	ents										
Group	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Group A	59	48	52	45	32	56	98	78	70	85	43	80
Group B	39	45	55	87	36	67	96	75	65	38		

**Solution.** Using the above information we get the following table:

Given that 
$$n_1 = 12$$
 and  $n_2 = 10$ , so

$$U = n_1 \cdot n_2 + \frac{n_1(n_1 + 1)}{2} - R_1$$
  
= 12.10 +  $\frac{12(12 + 1)}{2}$  - 143.5  
= 120 + 78 - 143.5 = 54.5.

Since both  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  are greater than 8, so normal approximation can be used with mean  $(\mu_U = n_1 \cdot n_2/2 = 60)$  and variance

$$\sigma_U^2 = n_1 \cdot n_2 + \frac{n_1(n_1 + n_2 + 1)}{12}$$
  
= 12.10 +  $\frac{12(12 + 10 + 1)}{12}$  = 120 + 23  
= 143 and  $\sigma_U = 11.958$ .

Original sco	ore	Ordered sco	ore		Rank	
Group	Score	Group	Score	Unified rank	Group A	Group B
A	59	А	32	1	1	
A	48	В	36	2		2
A	52	В	38	3		3
A	45	В	39	4		4
A	32	А	43	5	5	
A	56	А	45	6.5	6.5	
A	98	В	45	6.5		6.5
A	78	А	48	8	8	
A	70	А	52	9	9	
A	85	В	55	10		10
A	43	А	56	11	11	
A	80	А	59	12	12	
В	39	В	65	13		13
В	45	В	67	14		14
В	55	А	70	15	15	
В	87	В	75	16		16
В	36	А	78	17	17	
В	67	А	80	18	18	
В	96	А	85	19	19	
В	75	В	87	20		20
В	65	В	96	21		21
В	38	А	98	22	22	
Total				253	143.5	109.5

At 5% level of significance, the critical value of Z the standard normal variate is 1.96.

So the upper and lower confidential limits are

$$\mu_U + 1.96\sigma_U = 60 + 1.96 \times 11.958$$
  
= 83.438 and  $\mu_U - 1.96\sigma_U$   
= 60 - 1.96 × 11.958 = 36.562.

As the observed value is within the acceptance zone, one can accept the null hypothesis to conclude that the two groups of students have come from the same population.

By calculating U using  $R_2$ , one get the value of U as

$$U = n_1 \cdot n_2 + \frac{n_2(n_2 + 1)}{2} - R_2$$
  
= 12.10 +  $\frac{10(10 + 1)}{2}$  - 109.5  
= 120 + 55 - 109.5 = 65.5

which is also within the zone of acceptance. So it does not matter how we are calculating the U value, the inference remains the same.



The Kruskal–Wallis test is used to compare the average performance of many groups, analogous to the one-way analysis of variance in parametric method. But unlike the parametric method, it does not require the assumption that the samples have come from normal populations. This test is mostly an extension of the Mann–Whitney *U*-test; difference is that here more than two groups are compared, and the test statistic is approximated to  $\chi^2$  with the stipulation that none of the groups should have less than five observations. The steps for this test are given below:

- (a) Rank the data of all the samples taking them as one sample from low to high (generally low ranking is given to low value and so on).
- (b) For tied ranks take the average of the ranks for each of the tied values (e.g., if 4th, 5th, 6th, and 7th places are having the same value then each of these identical values would be assigned (4 + 5 + 6 + 7)/4 = 5.5 rank).

- (c) Find the sum of the ranks of all the samples separately (say, R<sub>1</sub>, R<sub>2</sub>... R<sub>j</sub>, respectively, for 1st and 2nd ... and *j*th sample).
- (d) The test statistic *H* is calculated as follows:  $H = \frac{12}{n(n+1)} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \frac{R_j^2}{n_j} - 3(n+1)$ where  $n = n_1 + n_2 + n_3 + \dots + n_j + \dots$  $n_k$  and  $n_j$  being the no. of observations in *j*th sample.
- (e) Under the null hypothesis  $H_0$ : There is no differences among the sample means, the sampling distribution of H can be approximated with  $\chi^2$  distribution with (k-1) degrees of freedom provided none of the sample has got observation less than five. Based on the calculated

value of *H* and corresponding table value of  $\chi^2$  at required level of significance, appropriate conclusion could be made.

*Example 9.36.* The following table gives the yield of paddy corresponding to five groups of farmers. Using Kruskal–Wallis test, test whether five groups could be taken as one or not.

Farmers group	Yiel	d (q/h	a)				
Group A	15	17	37	25	24	32	42
Group B	25	28	26	33	30	38	
Group C	35	37	28	36	44		
Group D	42	45	52	18	24	29	41
Group E	23	28	19	51	46	37	

Solution.

Original	Scores	Ordered	score		Rank				
Group	Score	Group	Score	Unified rank	Group A	Group B	Group C	Group D	Group E
A	15	А	15	1	1				
A	17	А	17	2	2				
A	37	D	18	3				3	
A	25	Е	19	4					4
A	24	Е	23	5					5
A	32	А	24	6.5	6.5				
A	42	D	24	6.5				6.5	
В	25	А	25	8.5	8.5				
В	28	В	25	8.5		8.5			
В	26	В	26	10		10			
В	33	В	28	12		12			
В	30	С	28	12			12		
В	38	Е	28	12					12
С	35	D	29	14				14	
С	37	В	30	15		15			
С	28	А	32	16	16				
С	36	В	33	17		17			
С	44	С	35	18			18		
D	42	С	36	19			19		
D	45	А	37	21	21				
D	52	С	37	21			21		
D	18	Е	37	21					21
D	24	В	38	23		23			
D	29	D	41	24				24	
D	41	А	42	25.5	25.5				
Е	23	D	42	25.5				25.5	
Е	28	С	44	27			27		
E	19	D	45	28				28	

(continued)

166

Original Scores		Ordered score			Rank							
Group	Score	Group	Score	Unified rank	Group A	Group B	Group C	Group D	Group E			
Е	51	Е	46	29					29			
E	46	Е	51	30					30			
E	37	D	52	31				31				
$R_j$					80.5	85.5	97	132	101			
$n_i$					7	6	5	7	6			
$R_j^2$					925.75	1218.375	1881.8	2489.143	1700.167			
nj												

(continued)

$$H = \frac{12}{n(n+1)} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \frac{R_j^2}{n_j} - 3(n+1)$$
  
=  $\frac{12}{31(31+1)} [925.75 + 1218.375 + 1881.8 + 2489.143 + 1700.167] - 3(31+1)$   
=  $\frac{12}{31 \times 32} [8215.235] - 3(32) = 99.378 - 96 = 3.378.$ 

As all the groups have five or more observations, so H is distributed as  $\chi^2$  with (5 - 1 =)4 d.f. The table value of  $\chi^2$  at 5% level of significance and 4 d.f. is 9.488 which is greater than the calculated value, so we cannot reject the null hypothesis of equality of means of five farmers groups.

- 2

7. The McNemar Test

Just like to that of paired *t*-test, McNemar test is applicable for related samples, particularly concerned with nominal data. Initially when the subjects are categorized into two groups, treatment is applied and again the responses are recorded and subjects are grouped. This test is used to record whether there has been any significant change in grouping due to treatment or not.

	After treatme	nt
Before treatment	Disliked	Liked
Liked	а	b
Disliked	С	d

normal situation one can expect equal probathat

District
$$c$$
 $d$ app $(a - b, c)$  $(a - b, c)$  $(a - b, c)$  $(a - b, c)$ Where  $a, b, c$ , and  $d$  are the respective cell $(a - b, c)$  $(a - b, c)$ frequencies. Clearly  $a + d$  is the change in $(a - b, c)$  $(a - b, c)$ response due to treatment whereas  $b + c$  $(a - b, c)$  $(a - b, c)$ does not indicate any change. Thus, under $(a - b, c)$ 

means one should go for testing  $H_0$ : P (a) = P(d) against the alternative  $H_1$ : P  $(a) \neq P(b)$ , and the appropriate test statistic is  $\chi_1^2 = (|a-d|-1)^2/(a+d)$ .

Example 9.37. Eight hundred farmers were asked about the effectiveness of SRI (system rice intensification); then these farmers were demonstrated the practice. The following table gives the responses before and after the demonstration. Examine whether the demonstration has got any impact on farmers' attitude towards SRI or not.

	After demonstration					
Before demonstration	Disliked	Liked				
Liked	125	225				
Disliked	75	375				

Solution. Under the given condition, we are to test  $H_0$ : P(like, dislike) = P(dislike, like) against  $H_1$ :  $P(\text{like, dislike}) \neq P(\text{dislike, like})$ . The appropriate test statistic is  $\chi_1^2 = (|a - d| - 1)^2 / (|a - d|$ (+ d); here a = 125, d = 375, so the

$$\chi_1^2 = \frac{(|a-d|-1)^2}{(a+d)} = \frac{(|125-375|-1)^2}{(125+375)}$$
$$= \frac{(249)^2}{(500)} = 124.002.$$

	Individuals/objects										
Judges	1	2	2jj		N						
Judge1	2	4		1	3						
Judge2	N - 2	Ν		4	2						
:	:	:		•	:						
:	:	:		•	:						
Judge $(K - 1)$	•	:		:	:						
Judge K	:	:		:	:						
Total rank $(R_j)$	$R_1$	$R_2$	R <sub>j</sub>	$R_{N-1}$	$R_N$						
$\left(R_j - \overline{R}_j\right)^2$	$\left(R_1 - \overline{R}_j\right)^2$	$\left(R_2 - \overline{R}_j\right)^2$	$\dots (R_j - \overline{R}_j)^2 \dots$	$\left(R_{N-1}-\overline{R}_{j}\right)^{2}$	$\left(R_N-\overline{R}_j\right)^2$						

**Table 9.5**  $N \times K$  table for Kendall's coefficient of concordance test

The calculated value of  $\chi^2 > \chi_1^2 = 3.84$ , so the test is significant and the null hypothesis of equality of probabilities is rejected. So one can conclude safely that there has been significant change in the attitude of the farmers towards SRI after demonstration.

8. The Kendall's Coefficient of Concordance

In social/sports or other branches of sciences, frequently a set of objects are required to be assessed by a group of experts based on both quantitative and qualitative characters. In these cases, for unbiased judgment, it is assumed that there is no association among several sets of ranking and the individuals or objects under consideration. In this aspect, Kendall's coefficient of concordance plays vital role, the special case of this test is being the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient already discussed in Chap. 8.

Let us suppose N no. of individuals has been ranked by K no. of judges. Thus, these rankings can be put into  $N \times K$  matrix form as follows (Table 9.5):

$$\overline{R}_{j} = \frac{R_{1} + R_{2} + \dots + R_{j} + \dots + R_{N}}{N}$$

$$= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} R_{j}, \text{ and}$$

$$S = (R_{1} - \overline{R}_{j})^{2} + (R_{2} - \overline{R}_{j})^{2} + \dots + (R_{j} - \overline{R}_{j})^{2} + \dots + (R_{N} - \overline{R}_{j})^{2}$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{N} (R_{j} - \overline{R}_{j})^{2}.$$

Kendall' coefficient of concordance is given by

$$W = \frac{S}{\frac{1}{12}K^2N(N^2 - 1)}$$

where  $R_j$  is the total rank of *j*th object/individual.

For Tied Ranks

Just like to that of Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, in Kendall's coefficient of concordance, if there exists tied ranks, then a correction factor is computed for each of the *K*. Judges as follows:

$$T = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} \left( t_j^3 - t_j \right)}{12}$$
 where *t* is no of ties in *j*th object/individual,  $0 \le t < N$ .

Next totals of all Ts from each of the judges are obtained, and the Kendall's coefficient of concordance W is calculated as follows:

$$W = \frac{S}{\frac{1}{12}K^2N(N^2 - 1) - K\sum T}.$$

This correction is generally used when there are large number of ties.

To test the null hypothesis that Kendall's coefficient of concordance *W* is equal to zero or not, the no. of objects/individuals (*N*) plays a vital role. If N > 7, then W is distributed as

$$\chi^2 = K(N-1) \cdot W \text{ with } (N-1) \text{d.f.},$$

and the conclusion is drawn accordingly. But if the  $N \le 7$ , then a table has been prepared for different critical values of *S* associated with *W*. If the observed  $S \ge$  the value shown in table, then  $H_0$ : *K* sets of ranking are independent may be rejected at the particular level of significance.

*Example 9.38.* In a heptathlon event, eight athletes were judged by six judges, and the following table shows the rank provided by each judge to all the athletes. Test whether the judges independently worked or not.

	Athletes												
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8					
Judges	Ranks												
Judge 1	2	4	3	5	7	8	1	6					
Judge 2	3	2	4	5	6	7	1	8					
Judge 3	4	3	5	6	7	8	2	1					
Judge 4	5	4	3	7	6	8	2	1					
Judge 5	4	5	6	8	7	3	2	1					
Judge 6	6	4	8	7	5	1	3	2					

**Solution.** There are six sets of ranking for eight objects. Kendall's coefficient of concordance can very well be worked out followed by the test of  $H_0$ : W = 0. For this purpose we make the following table:

	Athletes								
Judges	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Judge 1	2	4	3	5	7	8	1	6	
Judge 2	3	2	4	5	6	7	1	8	
Judge 3	4	3	5	6	7	8	2	1	
Judge 4	5	4	3	7	6	8	2	1	
Judge 5	4	5	6	8	7	3	2	1	
Judge 6	6	4	8	7	5	1	3	2	
Total rank $(R_j)$	24	22	29	38	38	35	11	19	
$\left(R_j - \overline{R}_j\right)^2$	9	25	4	121	121	64	256	64	

$$\overline{R}_j = \frac{R_1 + R_2 + \dots + R_8}{8} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N R_j = 27.$$

ف ك للاستشارات

$$S = (R_1 - \overline{R}_j)^2 + (R_2 - \overline{R}_j)^2 + \dots + (R_8 - \overline{R}_j)^2$$
  
= (24 - 24)<sup>2</sup> + (22 - 27)<sup>2</sup> + \dots + (19 - 27)<sup>2</sup>  
= 664.

$$W = \frac{S}{\frac{1}{12}K^2N(N^2 - 1)} = \frac{664}{\frac{1}{12} \times 6^2 \times 8(8^2 - 1)} = 0.439.$$

As N > 7, we can use the approximate  $\chi^2 = K(N-1) \cdot W$  with (N-1)d.f. Here N = 8, K = 6, and W = 0.439,  $\chi^2 = K(N-1) \cdot W = 6 \times (8-1) \times 0.439 = 18.438$ ; table value of  $\chi^2_{0.05,9} = 16.919 < \chi^2_{cal}$ . Thus, the null hypothesis of independence of judgment is rejected, and we conclude that W is significant at 5% level of significance.

### 9.5.2 Two-Sample Test

## 1. Paired-Sample Sign Test

The sign test for one sample mentioned above can be easily modified to apply to sampling from a bivariate population. Let a random sample of *n* pairs  $(x_1, y_1), (x_2, y_2), (x_3, y_3), \ldots$  $(x_n, y_n)$  be drawn from a bivariate population. Let  $d_i = x_i - y_i$  (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n). It is assumed that the distribution function of difference,  $d_i$ , is also continuous. We want to test  $H_0$ : Med(D) = 0, that is, P(D > 0) = P(D< 0 = 1/2. It is to be noted that Med(D) is not necessarily equal to Med(X) - Med(Y), so that  $H_0$  is not that Med(X) = Med(Y), but the Med(D) = 0. Like the one-sample sign test, we assign plus (+) and minus (-) signs to the difference values which are greater and lesser than zero, respectively. We perform the onesample sign test as given in the previous section and conclude accordingly.

*Example 9.39.* Ten students were subjected to physical training. Their body weights before and after the training were recorded as given below. Test whether there is any significant effect of training on body weight or not.

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Body weight (kg)	Before	55	48	45	62	48	59	37	40	48	52
	After	56	51	48	60	52	57	45	46	49	55

**Solution.** Let  $d_i$  (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., 10) be the gain in weight of ten students due to training. The null hypothesis under the given condition is  $H_0: \theta = 0$  against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1: \theta > 0$  where  $\theta$  is the median of the distribution of the differences.

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Body weight (kg)	Before (y)	55	48	45	62	48	59	37	40	48	52
	After (x)	56	51	48	60	52	57	45	46	49	55
Difference in weight	(x - y)	1	3	3	-2	4	-2	8	6	1	3
		+	+	+	—	+	—	+	+	+	+

We have 8 plus signs and 2 minus signs, and we know that under the null hypothesis, the number of plus signs follow a binomial distribution with

parameter *n* and *p*. In this case the parameters are n = 10 and  $p = \frac{1}{2}$ . The critical region  $\omega$  is given by

 $r \ge r_{\alpha}$ , where  $r_{\alpha}$  is the smallest integer value such that

$$P(r \ge r_{\alpha}/H_0) = \sum_{x=0}^{10} {\binom{10}{x}} {\binom{1}{2}}^{10} \le \alpha = 0.05, \text{ that is, } 1 - \sum_{x=r_0}^{r_{\alpha}-1} {\binom{10}{x}} {\binom{1}{2}}^{10} \le 0.05$$
$$\Rightarrow \sum_{x=0}^{r_{\alpha}-1} {\binom{10}{x}} {\binom{1}{2}}^{10} \ge 1 - 0.05 = 0.95.$$

From the table we have  $r \alpha = 9$ , corresponding to n = 10 at 5% level of significance, but for this example, we got r = 8 which is less than the table value. So we cannot reject the null hypothesis.

Alternatively, we can calculate the probability of getting  $r \ge 8$ , from the fact that r follows binomial distribution under the given null hypothesis. Thus,  $P(r \ge 8/H_0)$  is given by

$$P(r = 8) + P(r = 9) + P(r = 10), \text{ that is,}$$

$$\binom{10}{8} \binom{1}{2}^{10} + \binom{10}{9} \binom{1}{2}^{10} + \binom{10}{10} \binom{1}{2}^{10}$$

$$= \frac{10.9}{2} + 10 + 1$$

$$= \frac{56}{2^{10}} = \frac{7}{128}$$

$$= 0.056 > 0.05.$$

Thus, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected.

#### 2. Two-Sample Run Test

Sometimes we want to test the null hypothesis that whether two samples drawn at random and independently have come from the same population distribution. In testing the above hypothesis, we assume that the population distributions are continuous. The procedure is as follows.

We have two random and independent samples  $x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_{n_1}$  and  $y_1, y_2, y_3, ..., y_{n_1}$  of sizes  $n_1$  and  $n_2$ , respectively. This  $n_1 + n_2 = N$  number of values are then arranged either in ascending or descending order which (may) give rise to the following sequence: x x y x x x y y x x y y y ... Now we count the "runs." A run is a sequence of values coming from one sample surrounded by the values from the other sample. Let the number
of runs in total  $n_1 + n_2 = N$  arranged observations be r. Number of runs r is expected to be very high if the two samples are thoroughly mixed; that means the two samples are coming from the identical distributions, otherwise the number of runs will be very small. Table for critical values of r for given values of  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  are provided in Table A.10 (Appendix) for both  $n_1$  and  $n_2$ less than 20. If the calculated r value is greater than the critical value of run for a given set of  $n_1$  and  $n_2$ , then we cannot reject the null hypothesis; otherwise any value of calculated r is less than or equal to the critical value of rfor a given set  $n_1$  and  $n_2$ , the test is significant and the null hypothesis is rejected.

For large  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  (say, >10) or any one of them is greater than 20, the distribution of *r* is asymptotically normal with

$$E(r) = \frac{2n_1n_2}{N} + 1 \text{ and } \operatorname{Var}(r)$$
$$= \frac{2n_1n_2(2n_1n_2 - N)}{N^2(N - 1)},$$

and we can perform an approximate test statistic as

$$\tau = \frac{r - E(r)}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(r)}} \sim N(0, 1).$$

*Example 9.40.* Two independent samples of 9 and 8 plants of coconuts were selected randomly, and the number of nuts per plant was recorded. On the basis of nut characters, we are to decide whether the two samples came from the same coconut population or not.

Sample	Plant 1	Plant 2	Plant 3	Plant 4	Plant 5	Plant 6	Plant 7	Plant 8	Plant 9
Sample 1	140	135	85	90	75	110	112	95	100
Sample 2	80	125	95	100	112	90	105	108	

**Solution.** Null hypothesis is  $H_0$ : Samples have come from identical distribution against the

alternative hypothesis that they have come from different populations.

We arrange the observations as follows:

Nut/plant	105	108	110	112	112	125	135	140	2
Sample	2	2	1	1	2	2	1	1	

The value of r counted from the above table is 11 and the table value of r corresponding to 9 and 8 is 5. Thus, we cannot reject the null hypothesis of equality of distributions. Hence, we conclude that the two samples have been drawn from the same population.

#### 3. Two-Sample Median Test

The test parallel to equality of two means test in parametric procedure is the two-sample median tests in nonparametric method. The objective of this test is to test that the two independent samples drawn at random having

المتساركة للاستشارات

the same or different sample sizes are from identical distributions against the alternative hypotheses that they have different location parameters (medians).

Let us draw two random independent samples of sizes  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  from two populations. Make an ordered combined sample of size  $n_1 + n_2 = N$  and get the median ( $\hat{\theta}$ ) of the combined sample. Next, we count the number of observations below and above the estimated median value  $\hat{\theta}$  for all the two samples, which can be presented as follows (Table 9.6):

	Number of		
	$<\hat{ heta}$	$\geq \hat{ heta}$	Total
Sample 1	<i>n</i> <sub>11</sub>	n <sub>12</sub>	$n_1$
Sample 2	n <sub>21</sub>	n <sub>22</sub>	<i>n</i> <sub>2</sub>
Total	$n_1$	<i>n</i> <sub>2</sub>	Ν

**Table 9.6** Frequency distribution table for two-sample median test

If  $n_1$ ,  $n_2$ ,  $n_1$ , and  $n_2$  are small, we can get the exact probability of the above *table* with fixed marginal frequencies as follows:

$$P = \frac{n_1! n_2! n_1! n_2!}{n_{11}! n_{12}! n_{21}! n_{22}! N!}.$$

On the other hand, if the fixed marginal frequencies are moderately large, we can use the  $\chi^2$  statistic for a 2 × 2 contingency table using the formula

$$\chi^2 = \frac{(n_{11}n_{22} - n_{12}n_{21})^2 N}{n_1 \times n_2 \times n_1 \times n_2}.$$

*Example 9.41.* The following table gives the distribution of nuts per palm for two different samples of coconut. Test whether the samples have been drawn from the same coconut population or not.

Sample1	80	85	90	110	78	86	92	115	120	118
Sample2	110	82	89	114	122	128	130	126	128	

**Solution.** 78, 80, 82, 85, 86, 89, 90, 110, 110, 114, 115, 118, 120, 122, 126, 128, 128, 130

From the arranged data, we get the median of combined samples as 110 and we construct the following table:

Sample	<110	$\geq 110$	Tota
1	6	4	10
2	2	7	9
Total	8	11	19

The exact probability of getting likely distribution of the above table is given by

$$P = \frac{n_1! n_2! n_1! n_2!}{n_{11}! n_{12}! n_{21}! n_{22}! N!} = \frac{10! 9! 8! 11!}{6! 4! 2! 7! 19!} = 0.3.$$

The probability of getting less likely distribution than the observed one is obtained from the following table:

Sample	<112	≥112	Total
1	8	2	10
2	1	8	9
Total	9	10	19

#### Probability = 0.00438

Thus, the probability of getting the observed table or more extreme table in one direction is = 0.3 + 0.00438 = 0.30438.

By symmetry, we have the exact probability of getting the observed distribution or less likely ones in either direction is  $2 \times 0.05108 =$  0.10216. As 0.10216 > 0.05, we cannot reject the null hypothesis that the two distributions are identical against both-sided alternatives that they are not identical.

#### 4. Kolmogorov-Smirnov Two-Sample Test

In  $\chi^2$  test, we have come across with the test procedure to test the homogeneity of two distributions in the previous sections of this chapter. But we know that  $\chi^2$  test is valid under certain assumptions like a large sample size. The parallel test to the above-mentioned  $\chi^2$  tests which can also be used under small sample conditions is Kolmogorov-Smirnov two-sample test. Kolmogorov-Smirnov twosample test is the test for homogeneity of two populations. We draw two random independent samples  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, \ldots, x_m)$  and  $(y_1, y_2, y_3, \ldots, y_m)$  $y_3, \ldots, y_n$ ) from two continuous cumulative distribution functions F and G, respectively. The empirical distribution functions of the variable are given by

$$F_m(x) = 0 \text{ if } x < x_{(1)} \\ = i/m \text{ if } x_{(i)} \le x < x_{(i+1)} \\ = 1 \text{ if } x \ge x_{(m)} \text{ and} \\ G_n(x) = 0 \text{ if } x < y_{(1)} \\ = i/m \text{ if } y_{(i)} \le x < y_{(i+1)} \\ = 1 \text{ if } x \ge y_{(n)} \end{cases}$$

where  $x_{(i)}$  and  $y_{(i)}$  are the ordered values of the two samples, respectively. In a combined ordered arrangements of m x's and n y's,  $F_m$ and  $G_n$  represent the respective proportions of x and y values that do not exceed x. Thus, we are interested to test whether the two distribution functions are identical or not, that is, to test  $H_0$ : F(x) = G(x) against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1$ :  $F(x) \neq G(x)$ ; the test statistic is  $D_{m,n} = \sup_x [|F_m(x) - G_n(x)|]$ . Now if the null hypothesis is true, then one would expect very small value of  $D_{m,n}$ ; on the other hand, a large value of  $D_{m,n}$  is an indication that the parent distributions are not identical. Table A.11 given in the Appendix gives the critical values of *D* for different sample sizes  $(n_1,n_2)$  at different level of significance. If the calculated value of D < critical value  $D_{m,n}$ ;  $\alpha$  we accept  $H_0$ , that is, the parent distributions are identical.

173

*Example 9.42.* Two samples of ten each are taken independently at random for the number of grains per panicle in wheat. Test whether the two samples belong to the identical parent population distribution or not.

Sample	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
S1	70	80	75	85	100	110	90	115	120	95
S2	73	82	78	83	98	102	97	114	118	116

**Solution.** Here the problem is to test whether the two samples have come from the same parent population or not, that is,  $H_0$ : Fm = Gn against the alternative hypothesis  $H_1$ :  $Fm \neq Gn$  where Fm and Gn are the two distributions from which the above two samples have been drawn independently at random. For this example, m = n. Under the given null hypothesis, we apply K-S two-sample test having the statistic  $D_{m,n} = \operatorname{Sup}_{x}[|F_{m}(x) - G_{n}(x)|].$  Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ . We make the following table:

We make a cumulative frequency distribution for each sample of observations using the same intervals for both distributions.

	Frequency	
Class interval	Sample 1	Sample 2
70–75	2	1
76–81	1	1
82–87	1	2
88–93	1	0
94–99	1	2
100–105	1	1
106–111	1	0
112–117	1	2
118–123	1	1

For the calculation of  $D_{m,n}$ , we make the following table:

	70–75	76-81	82-87	88–93	94–99	100-105	106-111	112-117	118-123
$F_{10}(x)$	2/10	3/10	4/10	5/10	6/10	7/10	8/10	9/10	10/10
$F_{10}(x)$	1/10	2/10	4/10	4/10	6/10	7/10	7/10	9/10	10/10
$F_{10}(x) - F_{10}(x)$	1/10	1/10	0	1/10	0	0	1/10	0	0



## Appendix

Table A.1 Table of random numbers

	00–04	05-09	10-14	15-19	20-24	25-29	30-34	35–39	40-44	45-49
00	54463	22662	65905	70639	79365	67382	29085	69831	47058	08186
01	15389	85205	18850	39226	42249	90669	96325	23248	60933	26927
02	85941	40756	82414	02015	13858	78030	16269	65978	01385	15345
03	61149	69440	11286	88218	58925	03638	52862	62733	33451	77455
04	05219	81619	10651	67079	92511	59888	84502	72095	83463	75577
05	41417	98326	87719	92294	46614	50948	64886	20002	97365	30976
06	28357	94070	20652	35774	16249	75019	21145	05217	47286	76305
07	17783	00015	10806	83091	91530	36466	39981	62481	49177	75779
08	40950	84820	29881	85966	62800	70326	84740	62660	77379	90279
09	82995	64157	66164	41180	10089	41757	78258	96488	88629	37231
10	96754	17676	55659	44105	47361	34833	86679	23930	53249	27083
11	34357	88040	53364	71726	45690	66334	60332	22554	90600	71113
12	06318	37403	49927	57715	50423	67372	63116	48888	21505	80182
13	62111	52820	07243	79931	89292	84767	85693	73947	22278	11551
14	47534	09243	67879	00544	23410	12740	02540	54440	32949	13491
15	98614	75993	84460	62846	59844	14922	48730	73443	48167	34770
16	24856	03648	44898	09351	98795	18644	39765	71058	90368	44104
17	96887	12479	80621	66223	86085	78285	02432	53342	42846	94771
18	90801	21472	42815	77408	37390	76766	52615	32141	30268	18106
19	55165	77312	83666	36028	28420	70219	81369	41843	41366	41067
20	75884	12952	84318	95108	72305	64620	91318	89872	45375	85436
21	16777	37116	58550	42958	21460	43910	01175	87894	81378	10620
22	46230	43877	80207	88877	89380	32992	91380	03164	98656	59337
23	42902	66892	46134	01432	94710	23474	20423	60137	60609	13119
24	81007	00333	39693	28039	10154	95425	39220	19774	31782	49037
25	68089	01122	51111	72373	06902	74373	96199	97017	41273	21546
26	20411	67081	89950	16944	93054	87687	96693	87236	77054	33848
27	58212	13160	06468	15718	82627	76999	05999	58680	96739	63700
$\frac{27}{28}$	70577	42866	24969	61210	76046	67699	42054	12696	93758	03283
$\frac{20}{29}$	94522	74358	71659	62038	79643	79769	44741	05437	39038	13163
30	42626	86819	85651	88678	17401	03252	99547	32404	17918	62880
31	16051	33763	57104	16752	54450	10031	58580	47620	5/132	60631
32	08244	27647	33851	44705	0/211	46716	11738	55784	05374	72655
32	59497	04392	09419	89964	51211	04894	72882	17805	21896	83864
34	97155	13428	40293	09985	58434	01412	69124	82171	59058	82859
35	08/00	66162	95763	47420	20702	61527	20441	30/35	11850	41567
36	45476	8/882	65100	96597	25030	66790	65706	61203	53634	225571
37	80300	69700	50741	30320	11658	23166	05400	66660	48708	03887
38	50051	05137	01631	66315	01/28	12275	2/816	6800	71710	33258
30	31753	85178	31310	89642	08364	02306	24617	0000	830/2	22716
40	70152	53820	77250	20100	56535	18760	60042	77448	22278	48805
40	44560	38750	83750	56540	64000	42012	12052	70140	18710	68618
41	44300	02270	63750	71291	20564	42912	13935	64550	07501	65747
42	46020	29690	59625	08242	20450	05015	20791	04339	26222	01777
45	40939 92544	96141	15707	06256	22069	12792	08467	80460	20555	55240
44	01621	00141	04000	54224	46177	55200	17950	07409	80/15	22166
4.5	01006	67106	04900	02705	50077	11040	17832	08275	52049	23400
40	55751	62515	21109	03/93	02262	20202	12030	983/3	32008	00142
4/	55/51 95150	02515	21108	80830	02203	29303	57204	90920	30300	09808
48	85156	8/689	95493	88842	20102	55017	12020	1///1	110448	8/530
49	07321	30898	12230	00277	39102	02313	12239	07105	11844	0111/



	.00	.3989423	.5039894						
	.01	.3989223	.5039894	.51	.3502919	.6949743	1.01	.2395511	.8437524
	.02	.3988625	.5079783	.52	.3484925	.6984682	1.02	.2371320	.8461358
	.03	.3987628	.5119665	.53	.3466677	.7019440	1.03	.2307138	.8484950
	.04	.3986233	.515%34,	.54	.3448080	.7054015	1.04	.2322970	.8508300
	.05	.3984439	.5199388	.55	.3429439	.7088403	1.05	.2298821	.8531409
	.06	.3982248	.5239222	.56	.3410458	.7122603	1.06	.22746%	.8554277
	.07	.3979661	.5279032	.57	.3391243	.7156612	1.07	.2250599	.8576903
	.08	.3976677	.5318814	.58	.3371799	.7190427	1.08	.2226535	.8599289
	.09	.3973298	.5358564	.59	.3352132	.7224047	1.09	.2202508	.8621434
	.10	.3%9525	.5398278	.60	.5332246	.7257469	1.10	.2178522	.8643339
	.11	.3%5360	.5437853	.61	.3312147	.7290691	1.11	.2154582	.8665005
	.12	.3960802	.5477584	.62	.3291840	.7323711	1.12	.2130691	.8686431
	13	3955854	5517168	63	3271330	7356527	1.13	2106856	8707619
	14	3950517	5556700	64	3250623	7389137	1 14	2083078	8727568
	15	3944793	5596177	65	3229724	7421539	1.15	2059363	8749281
	16	3938684	5635595	66	3208638	7453731	1.15	2035714	8769756
	17	3932190	5"674949	67	3187371	7485711	1.10	2012135	8789995
	18	3025315	5714227	.07	3165020	7517478	1.17	1088631	8800000
	10	2018060	5752454	.00	2144217	7540020	1.10	1065205	.8809999
	.19	2010427	5702507	.09	2122520	7580262	1.19	1041861	.8829708
	.20	3910427	5821662	.70	3122339	7611470	1.20	1018602	.8849303
	.21	.3902419	5970644	./1	.3100003	./0114/9	1.21	.1918002	.8808003
	.22	.3893038	.5870644	.12	.3078313	./0423/3	1.22	.1893432	.888/0/0
	.23	.3885286	.5909541	./3	.3056274	./6/3049	1.23	.18/2354	.8906514
	.24	.38/6166	.5948349	./4	.3033893	.//03500	1.24	.1849373	.8925123
	.25	.3866681	.5987063	./5	.3011374	.//33/20	1.25	.1826491	.8943502
	.26	.3856834	.6025681	./6	.2988724	.//63/2/	1.26	.1803/12	.8%1653
	.27	.3846627	.6064199	.77	.2965948	.7793501	1.27	.1781038	.8979577
	.28	.3836063	.6102612	.78	.2943050	.7823046	1.28	.175lW74	.8997274
	.29	.3625146	.6140919	.79	.2920038	.7852361	1.29	.1736022	.9014747
	.30	.3813878	.6178114	.80	.2896916	.7881446	1.30	.1713686	.9031995
	.31	.3802264	.6217195	.81	.2873689	.7910299	1.31	.1691468	.9049021
	.32	.3790305	.6255158	.82	.2850364	.7938919	1.32	.1669370	.9065825
	.33	.3778007	.6293000	.83	.2826945	.7967306	1.33	.1647397	.9082409
	.34	.3765372	.6330717	.84	.2803438	.7995458	1.34	.1625551	.9098773
	.35	.3752403	.6368307	.85	.2779849	.8023375	1.35	.1603833	.9114920
	.36	.3739106	.6405764	.86	.2755182	.805155	1.36	.1582248	.9130850
	.37	.3725483	.7443088	.87	.2732444	.8078498	1.37	.1560797	.9146565
	.38	.3711539	.6480273	.88	.2708640	.8105703	1.38	.1539483	.9162067
	.39	.3692277	.6517317	.89	.2684774	.8132671	1.39	.1518308	.9177356
	.40	.3682701	.6554217	.90	.2660852	.8159399	1.40	.1497227	.9192433
	.41	.3667817	.6590970	.91	.2636880	.8185887	1.41	.1476385	.9207302
	.42	.3652627	.6627573	.92	.2612863	.8212136	1.42	.1455741	.9221962
	.43	.3637136	.6664022	.93	.2588805	.8238145	1.43	.1435046	.9236415
	.44	.3621346	.6700314	.94	.2564713	.8263912	1.44	.1414600	.9250663
	.45	.3605270	.6736448	.95	.2540591	.8289439	1.45	.1394306	.9264707
	.46	.3588903	.6772419	.96	.2516443	.8314724	1.46	.1374165	.9278550
	.47	.3572253	.6808225	.97	.2492277	.8339768	1.47	.1354181	.9292191
	.48	.3555325	.6843863	.98	.2468095	.8364568	1.48	.1334353	.9305634
	.49	.3538124	.6879331	.99	.2443095	.8389129	1.49	.1314684	.9318879
	.50	.3520653	.6914625	1.00	.2419707	.8413447	1.50	.1295176	.9331928
	1.51	.1275830	.9344783	2.01	.0529192	.9777844	2.51	.0170947	.9939634
	1.52	.1256646	.9357445	2.02	.0518636	.9783083	2.52	.0166701	.9941323
	1.53	.1237628	.9369916	2.03	.0508239	.9788217	2.53	.0162545	.9942969
	1.54	.1218775	.9382198	2.04	.0498001	.9793248	2.54	.0158476	.9944574
رات	تشا	ك للاس	Li						(continued)

 Table A.2
 Table of area under standard normal curve

175

1.55	.1200090	.9394292	2.05	.0487920	.9798178	2.55	.0154493	.9946139
1.56	.1181573	.9406201	2.06	0477996	.9803007	2.56	.0150596	.9947664
1.57	.1163225	.9417924	2.07	.0468226	.9807738	2.57	~0146782	.9949151
1.58	.1145048	.9429466	2.08	.0458611	.9812372	2.58	.0143051	.9950600
1.59	.1127042	.9440826	2.09	.0449148	.9816911	2.59	.0139401	.9952012
1.60	.1109208	.9452007	2.10	.0439836	.9821356	2.60	.0135830	.9953388
1.61	.1091548	.9463011	2.11	.0430674	.9825708	2.61	.0132337	.9954729
1.62	.1074061	.9473839	2.12	.0421661	.9829970	2.62	.0128921	.9956035
1.63	.1056748	.9484493	2.13	.0412795	.9834142	2.63	.0125581	.9957308
1.64	.1039611	.9494974	2.14	.0404076	.9838226	2.64	.0122315	.9958547
1.65	.1022649	.9505285	2.15	.0395500	.9842224	2.65	.0119122	.9959754
1.66	.1005864	.9515428	2.16	.0387069	.9846137	2.66	.0116001	.9960930
1.67	.0989255	9525403	2.17	.0378779	.9849966	2.67	.0112951	.9962074
1.68	.0972823	.9535213	2.18	.0370629	.9853713	2.68	.0109969	.9963189
1.69	.0956568	.9544860	2.19	.0362619	.9857379	2.69	.0107056	.9964274
1.70	.0940491	.9554345	2.20	.0354746	.9860966	2.70	.0104209	.9965330
1.71	.0924591	.9563671	2.21	.0347009	.9864474	2.71	.0101428	.9966358
1.72	.0908870	.9572838	2.22	.0339408	.9867906	2.72	.0098712	.9967359
1.73	.0893326	.9581849	2.23	.0331939	.9871263	2.73	.0096058	.9968333
1.74	.0877961	.9590705	2.24	.0324603	.9874545	2.74	.0093466	.9969280
1.75	.0862773	.9599408	2.25	.0317397	.9877755	2.75	.0090936	.9970202
1.76	.0847764	.9607961	2.26	.0310319	.9880894	2.76	.0068465	.9971099
1.77	.0832932	.9616364	2.27	.0303370	.9883962	2.77	.0086052	.9971972
1.78	.0818278	.9624620	2.28	.02%546	.9886962	2.78	.0083697	.9972821
1.79	.0803801	.9632730	2.29	.0289647	.9889893	2.79	.0081398	.9973646
1.80	.0789502	.9640697	2.30	.0283270	.9892759	2.80	.0079155	.9974449
1.41	.0775379	.9648521	2.31	.0276816	.9895559	2.81	.0076965	.9975229
1.82	.0761433	.9656205	2.32	.0270481	.98982%	2.82	.0074829	.9975983
1.83	.0741663	.9663750	2.33	.0264265	.9900969	2.83	.0072744	.9976726
1.84	.()1.34068	.9671159	2.34	.0258166	.9903581	2.84	.0070711	.9977443
1.85	.0720649	4678432	2.35	.0252182	.9906153	2.85	.0068728	.9978140
1.86	.0707404	.9685572	2.36	.0246313	.9908625	2.86	.0066793	.9978818
1.87	.0694333	.9692581	2.37	.0240556	.9911060	2.87	.0064907	.9979476
1.83	.0681436	.9699460	2.38	.4234910	.9913437	2.88	.0063067	.9980116
1.89	.0668711	.9706210	2.39	.0229374	.9915758	2.89	.0061274	.998073J~
1.90	.0656158	9712834	2.40	.0223945	.9918025	2.90	.0059525	.9981342
1.91	.0643777	.9719334	2.41	.0218624	.9920237	2.91	.0057821	.9981929
1.92	.0631566	.9725711	2.42	.0213407	.9922397	2.92	.0056160	.9982498
1.93	.0619524	.9731966	2.43	.0208294	.9924506	2.93	.0054541	.9983052
1.94	.0607652	.9738102	2.44	.0203284	.9926564	2.94	.0052963	.9983589
1.95	4595947	.9744119	2.45	4198374	9928572	2.95	.0051426	.9984111
1.%	.0584409	.9750021	2.46	.0193563	.9930531	2. %	.0049929	.9984618
1.97	.0573038	.9755808	2.47	.0188850	.9932443	2.97	.0048470	.9985110
1.98	.0561831	.9761482	2.48	.0184233	.9934309	2.98	.0047050	.9985583
1.99	.0550789	9767045	2.49	.0179711	.9936128	2.99	.0045666	.9986051
	0520010	0772400	2 50	0175283	9937903	3 00	0044318	9986501

 Table A.2 (continued)

Table A.3	Table of t statistics
-----------	-----------------------

	Probabili	ity of a large	r value, sig	n ignored					
Degree of freedom	0.500	0.400	0.200	0.100	0.050	0.025	0.010	0.005	0.001
1	1.000	1.376	3.078	6.314	12.706	25.452	63.657		
2	0.816	1.061	1.886	2.920	4.303	6.205	9.925	14.089	31.598
3	.765	0.978	1.638	2.535	3.182	4.176	5.841	7.453	12.941
4	.741	.941	1.533	2.132	2.776	3.495	4.604	5.598	8.610
5	.727	.920	1.476	2.015	2.571	3.163	4.032	4.773	6.859
6	.718	.906	1.440	1.943	2.447	2.969	3.707	4.317	5.956
7	.711	.896	1.415	1.895	2.365	2.841	3.499	4.029	5.405
8	.706	.889	1.397	1.860	2.306	2.752	3.355	3.832	5.041
9	.703	.883	1.383	1.833	2.262	2.685	3.250	3.690	4.781
10	.700	.879	1.372	1.812	2.228	2.634	3.199	3.581	4.587
11	.697	.876	1.363	1.796	2.201	2.593	3.106	3.497	4.437
12	.695	.873	1.356	1.782	2.179	2.560	3.055	3.428	4.318
13	.694	.870	1.350	1.771	2.160	2.533	3.012	3.372	4.221
14	.692	.868	1.345	1.761	2.145	2.510	2.977	3.326	4.410
15	.691	.866	1.341	1.753	2.131	2.490	2.947	3.286	4.073
16	.690	.865	1.337	1.746	2.120	2.473	2.921	3.252	4.015
17	.689	.863	1.333	1.740	2.110	2.458	2.898	3.222	3.965
18	.688	.862	1.330	1.734	2.101	2.445	2.878	3.197	3.922
19	.688	.861	1.328	1.729	2.093	2.433	2.861	3.174	3.883
20	.687	.860	1.325	1.725	2.086	2.423	2.845	3.153	3.850
21	.686	.859	1.323	1.721	2.080	2.414	2.831	3.135	3.819
22	.686	.858	1.321	1.717	2.074	2.406	2.819	3.119	3.792
23	.685	.858	1.319	1.714	2.069	2.398	2.807	3.104	3.767
24	.685	.857	1.318	1.711	2.064	2.391	2.797	3.090	3.745
25	.684	.856	1.316	1.708	2.060	2.385	2.787	3.078	3.725
26	.684	.856	1.315	1.706	2.056	2.379	2.779	3.067	3.707
27	.684	.855	1.314	1.703	2.052	2.373	2.771	3.056	3.690
28	.683	.855	1.313	1.701	2.048	2.368	2.763	3.047	3.674
29	.683	.854	1.311	1.699	2.045	2.364	2.756	3038	3.659
30	.683	.854	1.310	1.697	2.042	2.360	2.750	3.030	3.646
35	.682	.852	1.306	1.690	2.030	2.342	2.724	2.996	3.591
40	.681	.851	1.303	1.684	2.021	2.329	2.704	2.971	3.551
45	.680	.850	1.301	1.680	2.014	2.319	2.690	2.952	3.520
50	.680	.849	1.299	1.676	2.008	2.310	2.678	2.937	3.486
55	.679	.849	1.297	1.673	2.004	2.304	2.669	2.925	3.476
60	.679	.848	1.296	1.661	2.000	2.299	2.660	2.915	3.460
70	.678	.847	1.294	1.667	1.994	2.290	2.648	2.899	3.435
80	.678	.847	1.293	1.665	1.989	2.284	2.638	2.887	3.416
90	.678	.846	1.291	1.662	1.986	2.279	2.631	2.878	3.402
100	.677	.846	1.290	1.661	1.982	2.276	2.625	2.871	3.390
120	.677	.845	1.289	1.658	1.980	2.270	2.617	2.860	3.373
$\infty$	.6745	.8416	1.2816	1.6448	1.9600	2.2414	2.5758	2.8070	3.2905



$n_1$										
$n_2$	1	2	3	4	5	6	8	12	24	$\infty$
1	161.40	199.50	215.70	224.60	230.20	234.00	238.90	243.90	249.00	254.30
2	18.51	19.00	19.16	19.25	19.30	19.33	19.37	19.41	19.45	19.50
3	10.13	9.55	9.28	9.12	9.01	8.94	8.84	8.74	8.64	8.53
4	7.71	6.94	6.59	6.39	6.26	6.16	6.04	5.91	5.77	5.63
5	6.61	5.79	5.41	5.19	5.05	4.95	4.82	4.68	4.53	4.36
6	5.99	5.14	4.76	4.53	4.39	4.28	4.15	4.00	3.84	3.67
7	5.59	4.74	4.35	4.12	3.97	3.87	3.73	3.57	3.41	3.23
8	5.32	4.46	4.07	3.84	3.69	3.58	3.44	3.28	3.12	2.93
9	5.12	4.26	3.86	3.63	3.48	3.37	3.23	3.07	2.90	2.71
10	4.96	4.10	3.71	3.48	3.33	3.22	3.07	2.91	2.74	2.54
11	4.84	3.98	3.59	3.86	3.20	3.09	2.95	2.79	2.61	2.40
12	4.75	3.88	3.49	3.26	3.11	3.00	2.85	2.69	2.50	2.30
13	4.67	3.80	3.41	3.18	3.02	2.92	2.77	2.60	2.42	2.21
14	4.60	3.74	3.34	3.11	2.96	2.85	2.70	2.53	2.35	2.13
15	4.54	3.68	3.29	3.06	2.90	2.79	2.64	2.48	2.29	2.07
16	4.49	3.63	3.24	3.01	2.85	2.74	2.59	2.42	2.24	2.01
17	4.45	3.59	3.20	2.96	2.81	2.70	2.55	2.38	2.19	1.96
18	4.41	3.55	3.16	2.93	2.77	2.66	2.51	2.34	2.15	1.92
19	4.38	3.52	3.13	2.90	2.74	2.63	2.48	2.31	2.11	1.88
20	4.35	3.49	3.10	2.87	2.71	2.60	2.45	2.28	2.08	1.84
21	4.32	3.47	3.07	2.84	2.68	2.57	2.42	2.25	2.05	1.81
22	4.30	3.44	3.05	2.82	2.66	2.55	2.40	2.23	2.03	1.78
23	4.28	3.42	3.03	2.80	2.64	2.53	2.38	2.20	2.00	1.76
24	4.26	3.40	3.01	2.78	2.62	2.51	2.36	2.18	1.98	1.73
25	4.24	3.38	2.99	2.76	2.60	2.49	2.34	2.16	1.96	1.71
26	4.22	3.37	2.98	2.74	2.59	2.47	2.32	2.15	1.95	1.69
27	4.21	3.35	2.96	2.73	2.57	2.46	2.30	2.13	1.93	1.67
28	4.20	3.34	2.95	2.71	2.56	2.44	2.29	2.12	1.91	1.65
29	4.18	3.33	2.93	2.70	2.54	2.43	2.28	2.10	1.90	1.64
30	4.17	3.32	2.92	2.69	2.53	2.42	2.27	2.09	1.89	1.62
40	4.03	3.23	2.84	2.61	2.45	2.34	2.18	2.00	1.79	1.51
60	4.00	3.16	2.76	2.52	2.37	2.25	2.10	1.92	1.70	1.39
120	3.92	3.07	2.68	2.45	2.29	2.17	2.02	1.83	1.61	1.25
$\infty$	3.84	2.99	2.60	2.37	2.21	2.09	1.94	1.75	1.52	1.00

**Table A.4** Table of F statistic (5% level of significance)



<i>n</i> <sub>1</sub>										
<i>n</i> <sub>2</sub>	1	2	3	4	5	6	8	12	24	$\infty$
1	4052	4999	5403	5625	5764	5859	5981	6106	6234	6366
2	98.49	99.01	99.17	99.25	99.30	99.33	99.36	99.42	99.46	99.50
3	34.12	30.81	29.46	28.71	28.24	27.91	27.49	27.05	26.60	26.12
4	21.20	18.00	16.69	15.98	15.52	15.21	14.80	14.37	13.93	13.46
5	16.26	13.27	12.06	11.39	10.97	10.67	10.27	9.89	9.47	9.02
6	13.74	10.92	9.78	9.15	8.75	8.47	8.10	7.72	7.31	6.88
7	12.25	9.55	8.45	7.85	7.46	7.19	6.84	6.47	6.07	5.65
8	11.26	8.65	7.59	7.01	6.63	6.37	6.03	5.67	5.28	4.86
9	10.56	8.02	6.99	6.42	6.06	5.80	5.47	5.11	4.73	4.31
10	10.04	7.56	6.55	5.99	5.64	5.39	5.06	4.71	4.33	3.91
11	9.65	7.20	6.22	5.67	5.32	5.07	4.74	4.40	4.02	3.60
12	9.33	6.93	5.95	5.41	5.06	4.82	4.50	4.16	3.78	3.36
13	9.07	6.70	5.74	5.20	4.86	4.62	4.30	3.96	3.59	3.16
14	8.86	6.51	5.56	5.03	4.69	4.46	4.14	3.80	3.43	3.00
15	8.68	6.36	5.42	4.89	4.56	4.32	4.00	3.67	3.29	2.87
16	8.53	6.23	5.29	4.77	4.44	4.20	3.89	3.55	3.18	2.75
17	8.40	6.11	5.18	4.67	4.34	4.10	3.79	3.45	3.08	2.65
18	8.28	6.01	5.09	4.58	4.25	4.01	3.71	3.37	3.00	2.57
19	8.18	5.93	5.01	4.50	4.17	3.94	3.63	3.30	2.92	2.49
20	8.10	5.85	4.94	4.43	4.10	3.87	3.56	3.23	2.86	2.42
21	8.02	5.78	4.87	4.37	4.04	3.81	3.51	3.17	2.80	2.36
22	7.94	5.72	4.82	4.31	3.99	3.76	3.45	3.12	2.75	2.31
23	7.88	5.66	4.76	4.26	3.94	3.71	3.41	3.07	2.70	2.26
24	7.82	5.61	4.72	4.22	3.90	3.67	3.36	3.03	2.66	2.21
25	7.77	5.57	4.68	4.18	3.86	3.63	3.32	2.99	2.62	2.17
26	7.72	5.53	4.64	4.14	3.82	3.59	3.29	2.96	2.58	2.13
27	7.68	5.49	4.60	4.11	3.78	3.56	3.26	2.93	2.55	2.10
28	7.64	5.45	4.57	4.07	3.75	3.53	3.23	2.90	2.52	2.06
29	7.60	5.42	4.54	4.04	3.73	3.50	3.20	2.87	2.49	2.03
30	7.56	5.39	4.51	4.02	3.70	3.47	3.17	2.84	2.47	2.01
40	7.31	5.18	4.31	3.83	3.51	3.29	2.99	2.66	2.29	1.80
60	7.08	4.98	4.13	3.65	3.34	3.12	2.82	2.50	2.12	1.60
120	6.85	4.79	3.95	3.48	3.17	2.96	2.66	2.34	1.95	1.38
$\infty$	6.64	4.60	3.78	3.32	3.02	2.80	2.51	2.18	1.79	1.00

**Table A.5** Table of F statistic (1% level of significance)



De orre e	Probabilit	v of greater val	ne										
of freedom	0.995	0.990	0.975	0.950	0.900	0.750	0.500	0.250	0.100	0.050	0.025	0.010	0.0
-	:	:	:	:	0.02	0.10	0.45	1.32	2.71	3.84	5.02	6.63	
6	0.01	0.02	0.05	0.10	0.21	0.58	1.39	2.77	4.61	5.99	7.38	9.21	-
ω	0.07	0.11	0.22	0.35	0.58	1.21	2.37	4.11	6.25	7.81	9.35	11.34	-
4	0.21	0.30	0.48	0.71	1.06	1.92	3.36	5.39	7.78	9.49	11.14	13.28	È
v	0.41	0.55	0.83	1.15	1.61	2.67	4.35	6.63	9.24	11.07	12.83	15.09	Ĩ
6	0.68	0.87	1.24	1.64	2.20	3.45	5.35	7.84	10.64	12.59	14.45	16.81	=
7	0.99	1.24	1.69	2.17	2.83	4.25	6.35	9.04	12.02	14.07	16.01	18.48	5
∞	1.34	1.65	2.18	2.73	3.49	5.07	7.14	10.22	13.36	15.51	17.53	20.09	5
6	1.73	2.09	2.70	3.33	4.17	5.90	8.34	11.39	14.68	16.92	19.02	21.67	0
10	2.16	2.56	3.25	3.94	4.87	6.74	9.34	12.55	15.99	18.31	20.48	23.21	0
11	2.60	3.05	3.82	4.57	5.58	7.58	10.34	13.70	17.28	19.68	21.92	24.72	0
12	3.07	3.57	4.40	5.23	6.30	8.44	11.34	14.85	18.55	21.03	23.34	26.22	6
13	3.57	4.11	5.01	5.89	7.04	9.30	12.34	15.98	19.81	22.36	24.74	27.69	10
14	4.07	4.66	5.63	6.57	9 <i>T.</i> 7	10.17	13.34	17.12	21.06	23.68	26.12	29.14	m
15	4.60	5.23	6.27	7.26	8.55	11.04	14.34	18.25	22.31	25.00	27.49	30.58	60
16	5.14	5.81	6.91	7.96	9.31	11.91	15.34	19.37	23.54	26.30	28.85	32.00	ŝ
17	5.70	6.41	7.56	8.67	I0.09	12.79	16.34	20.49	24.77	27.59	30.19	33.41	3
18	6.26	7.01	8.23	9.39	10.86	13.68	17.34	21.60	25.99	28.87	31.53	34.81	3
19	6.84	7.63	8.91	10.12	11.65	14.56	18.34	22.72	27.20	30.14	32.85	36.19	3
20	7.43	8.26	9.59	10.85	12.44	15.45	19.34	23.83	28.41	31.41	34.17	37.57	4
21	8.03	8.90	10.28	11.59	13.24	16.34	20.34	24.93	29.62	32.67	35.48	38.93	4
22	8.64	9.54	10.98	12.34	14.04	17.24	21.34	26.04	30.11	33.92	36.78	40.29	4
23	9.26	10.20	11.69	13.09	14.85	18.14	22.34	27.14	32.01	35.17	38.08	41.64	4
24	9.89	10.86	12.40	13.85	15.66	19.04	23.34	28.24	33.20	36.42	39.36	42.98	4
25	10.52	11.52	13.12	14.61	16.47	19.94	24.34	29.34	34.38	37.65	40.65	44.31	4
26	11.16	12.20	13.84	15.38	17.29	20.84	25.34	30.43	35.56	38.89	41.92	45.64	4
27	11.81	12.88	14.57	16.15	18.11	21.75	26.34	31.53	36.74	40.11	43.19	46.96	4
28	12.46	13.56	15.31	16.93	18.94	22.66	27.34	32.62	37.92	41.34	44.46	48.28	5
29	13.12	14.26	16.05	17.71	19.77	2.1.57	28.34	33.71	39.09	42.56	45.72	49.59	S
30	13.79	14.95	16.79	18.49	20.60	24.48	29.34	34.80	40.26	43.77	46.98	50.89	ν.
40	20.71	22.16	24.43	26.51	29.05	33.66	39.34	45.62	51.80	55.76	59.34	63.69	9
50	27.99	29.71	32.36	34.76	37.69	42.94	49.33	56.33	63.17	67.50	71.42	76.15	7
60	35.53	37.48	40.48	43.19	46.46	52.29	59.33	66.98	74.40	79.08	83.30	88.38	6
70	43.28	43.44	48.76	51.74	55.33	61.70	69.33	77.58	85.53	90.53	95.02	100.42	10
80	51.17	53.54	57.15	60.39	64.28	71.14	79.33	88.13	96.58	101.88	106.63	112.33	11
90	59.20	61.75	65.65	69.13	73.29	80.62	89.33	98.64	107.56	113.14	118.14	124.12	1
000													

180

	Two-sided		
d.f	5%	1%	0.1%
1	.969	.988	.988
2	.960	.900	.900
3	.878	.959	.911
4	.811	.917	.974
5	.754	.875	.951
6	.707	.834	.925
7	.606	.798	.898
8	.632	.765	.872
9	.602	.735	.847
10	.576	.708	.823
11	.553	.684	.801
12	532	.661	.780
13	.514	.041	.760
14	.497	.623	.742
15	.482	.606	.725
16	468	.590	.708
17	.456	.575	.093
18	.444	.561	.679
19	.433	.549	.065
20	.423	.537	.652
21	.413	.526	.640
22	.404	.615	.629
23	.396	.505	.618
24	.388	.496	.607
25	.381	.487	.697
26	.374	.478	.588
27	.367	.470	.578
28	.361	.463	.570
29	.355	.456	.562
30	.349	.449	.654
40	.304	.393	.490
50	.273	.354	.443
60	.250	.325	.408
70	.232	.302	.380
80	.117	.283	.357
100	.196	.254	.321
160	.159	.208	.263
200	.138	.181	.230
260	.124	.162	.206
300	.113	.146	.188

 Table A.7
 Table of critical values of simple and partial correlation coefficients



One side	d test:										
$\alpha =$	.10	.05	.025	.01	.005	$\alpha =$	.10	.05	.025	.01	.005
Two side	d test:										
α =	.20	.10	.05	.02	.01	$\alpha =$	.20	.10	.05	.02	.01
n = 1	.900	.950	.975	.990	.995	n = 21	.226	.59	.297	.321	.344
2	.684	.776	.842	.900	.929	22	.221	.253	.281	.314	.337
3	.565	.636	.708	.785	.829	23	.216	.247	.275	.307	.330
4	.493	.565	.624	.689	.734	24	.212	.242	.269	.301	.323
5	.447	.509	.563	.627	.669	25	.208	.238	.264	.295	.317
6	.410	.468	.519	.577	.617	26	.204	.233	.259	.291	.311
7	.381	.436	.483	.538	.576	27	.200	.229	.254	.284	.305
8	.358	.410	.454	.507	.542	28	.197	.225	.250	.27?	.300
9	.339	.387	.430	.480	.513	29	.193	.221	.246	.275	.295
10	.323	.369	.409	.457	.489	30	.190	.218	.242	.270	.290
11	.308	.352	.391	.437	.468	31	.187	.214	.238	.266	.285
12	.296	.338	.375	.419	.44	32	.184	.211	.234	.262	.281
13	.285	.325	.361	.404	.432	33	.182	.208	.231	.258	.277
14	.275	.314	.349	.390	.418	34	.179	.205	.227	.254	.273
15	.266	.304	.338	.377	.404	35	.177	.202	.224	.251	.269
16	.258	.295	.327	.366	.392	36	.174	.199	.221	.247	.265
17	.250	.286	.318	.355	.381	37	.172	.196	.218	.244	.262
18	.244	.279	.309	.346	.371	38	.170	.194	.215	.241	.258
19	.237	.271	.301	.337	.361	39	.168	.191	.213	.238	.255
20	.232	.265	.294	.329	.352	40	.165	.189	.210	.235	.252
			Approxi	mation for <i>i</i>	i > 40		1.07	1.22	1.36	1.52	1.63
							V <sup>n</sup>	v <sup>n</sup>	v <sup>n</sup>	v <sup>n</sup>	$\sqrt{n}$

Table A.8 Table for one-sided and both-sided K-S one sample statistic



## Table A.9 Critical values for K-S two-sample test statistic

This table gives the values of  $D_{m,n,a}^+$  and  $D_{m,n,a}$  for which  $\alpha \ge P \left\{ D_{m,n}^+ D_{m,n,a}^+ \right\}$  for some selected values of  $N_1$  = smaller sample size,  $N_2$  = larger sample size, and  $\alpha$ 

One sided test: Two sided test:	$\begin{array}{c} \alpha = \ \alpha = \end{array}$	.10 .20	.05 .10	.025 .05	.01 .02	.005 .01
$N_1 = 1$	$N_2 = 9$	17/18				
	10	9/10				
$N_1 = 2$	$N_2 = 3$	5/6				
	4	3/4				
	5	4/5	4/5			
	6	5/6	5/6			
	7	5/7	6/7			
	8	3/4	7/4	7/8		
	9	7/9	8/9	8/9		
	10	7/10	4/5	9/10		
$N_1 = 3$	$N_2 = 4$	3/4	3/4			
	5	2/3	4/5	4/5		
	6	2/3	2/3	5/6		
	7	2/3	5/7	6/7	6/7	
	8	5/8	3/4	3/4	7/8	
	9	2/3	2/3	7/9	8/9	8/9
	10	3/5	7/10	4/5	9/10	9/10
	12	7/12	2/3	3/4	5/6	11/12
$N_1 = 4$	$N_2 = 5$	3/5	3/4	4/5	4/5	
-	6	7/12	2/3	3/4	5/6	5/6
	7	17/28	5/7	3/4	6/7	6/7
	8	5/8	5/8	3/4	7/8	7/8
	9	5/9	2/3	3/4	7/9	8/9
	10	11/20	13/20	7/10	4/5	4/5
	12	7/12	2/3	2/3	3/4	5/6
	16	9/1	5/8	11/16	3/4	13/16
$N_1 = 5$	$N_2 = 6$	3/5	2/3	2/3	5/6	5/6
	7	4/7	23/35	5/7	29/35	6/7
	8	11/20	5/8	27/40	4/5	4/5
	9	5/9	3/5	31/45	7/9	4/5
	10	1/2	3/5	7/10	7/10	4/5
	15	8/15	3/5	2/3	77/15	11/15
	20	1/2	11/20	3/5	7/10	3/4
$N_1 = 6$	$N_1 = 7$	23/42	4/7	29/42	5/7	5/6
	8	1/2	7/12	2/3	3/4	3/4
	9	1/2	5/9	2/3	13/18	7/9
	10	1/2	17/30	19/30	7/10	1/15
	12	1/2	7/12	7/12	2/3	3/4
	18	4/9	5/9	11/18	2/3	2/3

(continued)



One sided test: Two sided test:	$\begin{array}{l} \alpha = \ \alpha = \ \alpha = \end{array}$	.10 .20	.05 .10	.025 .05	.01 .02	.005 .01
	24	11/24	1/2	7/12	5/8	2/3
$N_1 = 7$	$N_2 = 8$	27/56	33/56	5/8	41/56	3/4
	9	31/63	5/9	40/63	5/7	47/63
	10	33/70	39/70	43/70	7/10	5/7
	14	3/7	1/2	4/7	9/14	5/7
	28	3/7	13/28	15/28	17/28	9/14
$N_1 = 8$	$N_2 = 9$	4/9	13/24	5/8	2/3	3/4
	10	19/40	21/40	13/40	17/40	7/10
	12	11/24	1/2	7/12	5/8	2/3
	16	7/16	1/2	9/16	5/8	5/8
	32	13/32	7/16	1/2	9/16	19/32
$N_1 = 9$	$N_2 = 10$	7/15	1/2	26/45	2/3	31/45
	12	4/9	1/2	5/9	11/18	2/3
	15	19/45	22/45	8/15	3/5	29/45
	18	7/18	4/9	1/2	5/9	11/18
	36	13/36	5/12	17/36	19/36	5/9
$N_1 = 10$	$N_2 = 15$	2/5	7/15	1/2	17/30	19/30
	20	2/5	9/20	1/2	11/20	3/5
	40	7/20	2/5	9/20	1/2	
$N_1 = 12$	$N_2 = 15$	23/60	9/20	1/2	11/20	7/12
	16	3/8	7/16	23/48	13/24	7/12
	18	13/36	5/12	17/36	19/36	5/9
	20	11/30	5/12	7/15	31/60	17/30
$N_1 = 15$	$N_2 = 20$	7/20	2/5	13/30	29/60	31/60
$N_1 = 16$	$N_2 = 20$	27/80	31/80	17/40	19/40	41/40
Large-sample approximation		$1.07\sqrt{\frac{m+n}{mn}}$	$1.22\sqrt{\frac{m+n}{mn}}$	$1.36\sqrt{\frac{m+n}{mn}}$	$1.52\sqrt{\frac{m+n}{mn}}$	$1.63\sqrt{\frac{m+n}{mn}}$

#### Table A.9 (continued)



$n_2$																			
$n_1$	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
2											2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
3					2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	3	3
4				2	2	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	4	4	4	4
5				2	2	3	3	3	3	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	5	5	5
6		2	2	3	3	3	3	4	4	4	4	5	5	5	5	5	5	6	6
7		2	2	3	3	3	4	4	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6
8		2	3	3	3	4	4	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7
9		2	3	3	4	4	5	5	5	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	8	8	8
10		2	3	3	4	5	5	5	6	6	7	7	7	7	8	8	8	8	9
11		2	3	4	4	6	5	6	6	7	7	7	8	8	8	9	9	9	9
12	2	2	3	4	4	5	6	6	7	7	7	8	8	8	9	9	9	10	10
13	2	2	3	4	5	5	6	6	7	7	8	8	9	9	9	10	10	10	10
14	2	2	3	4	5	5	6	7	7	8	8	9	9	9	10	10	10	11	11
15	2	3	3	4	5	6	6	7	7	8	8	9	9	10	10	11	11	11	12
16	2	3	4	4	5	6	6	7	8	8	9	9	10	10	11	11	11	12	12
17	2	3	4	4	5	6	7	7	8	9	9	10	10	11	11	11	12	12	13
18	2	3	4	6	5	6	7	8	8	9	9	10	10	11	11	12	12	13	13
19	2	3	4	5	6	6	7	8	8	9	10	10	11	11	12	12	13	13	13
20	2	3	4	5	6	6	7	8	9	9	10	10	11	12	12	13	13	13	14
$n_2$																			
$n_1$	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1	0 1	1 1	2 13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
2																			
3																			
4				9	9														
5			9	10	10	11	11												
6		9	10	11	12	12	13	1.	3 1	3 1	3								
7			11	12	13	13	14	14	4 1	4 1	4 1	5 15	15						
8			11	12	13	14	14	1:	5 1	5 1	6 1	6 16	16	17	17	17	17	17	
9				13	14	14	15	1	5 1	6 1	6 1	7 17	18	18	18	18	18	18	
10				13	14	15	16	1	5 1	7 1	7 1	8 18	18	19	19	19	20	20	
11				13	14	15	16	1′	7 1	7 1	8 1	9 19	19	20	20	20	21	21	
12				13	14	16	16	1′	7 1	8 1	9 1	9 20	20	21	21	21	22	22	
13					15	16	17	1	8 1	9 1	9 2	0 20	21	21	22	22	23	23	
14					15	16	17	1	3 1	9 2	0 2	0 21	22	22	23	23	23	24	
15					15	16	18	1	3 1	9 2	0 2	1 22	22	23	23	24	24	25	
16						17	18	19	9 2	0 2	1 2	1 22	23	23	24	25	25	25	
17						17	18	19	9 2	0 2	1 2	2 23	23	24	25	25	26	26	
18						17	18	19	9 2	0 2	1 2	2 23	24	25	25	26	26	27	
19						17	18	20	) 2	1 2	2 2	3 23	24	25	26	26	27	27	
20						17	18	20	) 2	1 2	, ,	3 24	25	25	26	27	27	28	

**Table A.10** Table for critical values of *r* in run test

For one sample and two sample run test any value of r equal to or smaller than the value shown in Table A.12 is significant at 0.05 level. For one sample run test, any value of r greater than or equals to the values shown in Table A.12A is also significant at 0.05 level



	14 15																															
	13																															
	12																											_				
	11																											5 .11				0
	10																											.08				0 .12
	6																					70				23	74 .10	90. 71			23	60. 00
	∞																				15	77 .10				89 .12	53 .07	33 .04			89 .12	47 .06
	7														39					29	82 .1	55 .0′			11	63 .08	37 .0:	23 .00		29 <sup>a</sup>	63 .0	32 .0
	9													33	97 .1				43	86 .1	55 .0	36 .0		43	75 .1	41 .0	24 .0	15 .0		86 .1	41 .0	21 .0
	5												31	92 .1	67 .0				95 .1	157 .0	36 .0	0. 24		95 .1	.0	0.0	015 .0	0. 60		57 .0	0. 0	13 .0
	4							133				125	183 .1	)58 .(	)42 .(			100	)56 .(	)3.3 .(	021 .0	. (0	125 <sup>a</sup>	)56 .(	)28 .(	)15 .(	). 900	05 .0		)33 .(	015 .0	). 800
	6)				190	143	111	. 680			114	071 .	048 .	033 .	024 .		114	057 .	032 .	019	012	. 800	071 .	032 .	016 .	. 600	005 .	003	_	0.19	. 600	004
	1			.134	.095	.071	.056	.044		.100	.057	.036	.024	.017	.012	в	.057	.029	.016	.010	.006	.004	.036	.016	.008	.004	.003	.002	.024	.010	.004	002
	0		.100	.067	.048	.086	.028	.022	.100	.050	.029	.018	.012	.008	.006	.007	.029	.014	.008	.005	.003	.002	.018	.008	.004	.002	.001	.001	.012	.005	.002	.001
$W_l - W_l$	ax $W_l$																															
or [Max	V <sub>s</sub> M:	7	12	18	25	33	42	52	6	15	22	30	39	49	60	11	18	26	35	45	56	68	21	30	40	51	63	76	24	34	45	57
$\operatorname{Iin} W_s$	Min V	ю	ю	e	e	e	ю	e	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	15	15	15	15	15	15	21	21	21	21
$\sqrt{-s}$	1	7	ŝ	4	S	9	2	∞	6	ŝ	4	S	9	2	∞	6	ŝ	4	S	9	٢	~	3	4	5	9	2	∞	ŝ	4	S	9

										.117		
										760.		
										.080		
					.116				.116	.065		
					.095				0.95	0.52		
					.076				.076	.041		
				.104	.060			.114	.060	.032	iis row)	
				.082	.047			.091	.047	.025	d / in th	
			.117	.064	.036			.071	.036	.019	of s and	
			060.	.049	.027			.054	.027	.014	values	
			690.	.036	.020		a	.041	.020	.010	e given	
		.101	.051	.027	.014		.064	.030	.014	.007	e for th	
		.074	.037	.019	.010		.047	.021	.010	.005	possibl	
		.053	.026	.013	.007		.033	.015	.007	.003	are not	
	e	.037	.017	600.	.005		.023	.010	.005	.002	e larger	
	.055	.024	.011	.006	.003		.015	.006	.003	.001	that are	
	.036	.015	.007	.003	.002	a	600.	.004	.002	.001	values	
	.021	600.	.004	.002	.001	.014	.005	.002	.001	.001	d those	
	.012	.005	.002	.001	.001	.008	.003	.001	.001	.000	mn (an	
	.006	.003	.001	.001	000.	.004	.002	.001	000.	.000	his colu	
	.003	.001	.001	000.	000.	.002	.001	.000	000.	.000	ead of th	
	8	0	3	7	2	2	5	6	4	00	ulue at he	
	35	5(	9	7.	9,	4,	5:	6	8	I	t the va	
	28	28	28	28	28	36	36	36	36	36	ates tha	
	4	5	9	7	∞	4	5	9	7	∞	ndic	
	7					∞					$^{\mathrm{a}}\mathrm{I}$	
ن ارات			N	1	2	i	1				ì	
<i>س</i> رو			1				J					1

	Ν					Some addition	nal values for $N = 3$
k	3	4	5	6	7	k	S
Values	at 5% level of	significance					
3			64.4	103.9	157.3	9	54.0
4		49.5	88.4	143.3	217.0	12	71.9
5		62.6	112.3	182.4	276.2	14	83.8
6		75.7	136.1	221.4	335.2	16	95.8
8	48.1	101.7	183.7	299.0	453.1	18	107.7
10	60.0	127.8	231.2	376.7	571.0		
15	89.8	192.9	349.8	570.5	864.9		
20	119.7	258.0	468.5	764.4	1158.7		
Values	at 1% level of	significance					
3			75.6	122.8	185.6	9	75.9
4		61.4	109.3	176.2	265.0	12	103.5
5		80.5	142.8	229.4	343.8	14	121.9
5		99.5	176.1	282.4	422.6	16	140.2
8	66.8	137.4	242.7	383.3	579.9	18	158.6
10	85.1	175.3	309.1	494.0	737.0		
15	131.0	269.8	475.2	758.2	1129.5		
20	177.0	364.2	641.2	1022.2	1521.9		

 Table A.12
 Values of the Kendall's coefficient of concordance

**Table A.13** One-tailed cumulative binomial probabilities under  $H_0$ : P = Q = 0.5

х																
Ν	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
5	031	188	500	812	969	†										
6	016	109	344	656	891	984	t									
7	008	062	227	500	773	938	992	t								
8	004	035	145	363	637	855	965	996	t							
9	002	020	090	254	500	746	910	980	998	†						
10	001	011	055	172	377	623	828	945	989	999	†					
11		006	033	113	274	500	726	887	967	994	†	ţ				
12		003	019	073	194	387	613	806	927	981	997	ţ	t			
13		002	011	046	133	291	500	709	867	954	989	998	t	t		
14		001	006	029	090	212	395	605	788	910	971	994	999	t	†	
15			004	018	059	151	304	500	696	849	941	982	996	t	†	t
16			002	011	038	105	227	402	598	773	895	962	989	998	†	t
17			001	006	025	072	166	315	500	685	834	928	975	994	999	t
18			001	004	015	048	119	240	407	593	760	881	952	985	996	999
19				002	010	032	084	180	324	500	676	820	916	968	990	998
20				001	006	021	058	132	252	412	588	748	868	942	979	994
21				001	004	013	039	095	192	332	500	668	808	905	961	987
22					002	008	026	067	143	262	416	584	738	857	933	974
23					001	005	017	047	105	202	339	500	661	798	895	953
24					001	003	011	032	076	154	271	419	581	729	846	924
25						002	007	022	054	115	212	345	500	655	788	885

Note: Probability values are in decimal points

† Values are almost unity



# Analysis of Variance and Experimental Designs

10

In Chap. 9, a discussion has been made as to how two sample means can be compared using  $\tau$  or *t*-test. Problem arises when one wants to compare more than two populations at a time. One of the possible solutions to this problem is to take <sup>m</sup>C<sub>2</sub> no. of pairs of samples and test these using the  $\tau$  or *t*-test as applicable. Another important procedure is to use the analysis of variance technique. The analysis of variance technique, in short ANOVA, is a powerful technique used in the field of agriculture, social science, business, education, medicine, and several other fields. Using this tool the researcher can draw inference about the samples whether these have been drawn from the same population or they belong to different populations. Using this technique the researcher can establish whether a no. of varieties differ significantly among themselves with respect to their different characteristics like yield, susceptibility to diseases and pests, nutrient acceptability, and stress tolerance and efficiency of different salesmen; for example, one can compare different plant protection chemicals, different groups of people with respect to their innovativeness, and different drugs against a particular disease, different programs of poverty reduction, performances of different business houses, and so on.

In statistical studies variability and measures of variability are the major focal points of attention. The essence of ANOVA lies in partitioning the variance of a set of data into a number of components associated with the type, classification, and nature of data. *Analysis of variance is a*  systematic approach of partitioning the variance of a variable into assignable and non-assignable parts. Through ANOVA one can investigate one or more factors (variety, type of irrigation, fertilizer doses, social groups, business houses, etc.) with varying levels (e.g., five or six varieties at a time; three or more irrigation types; different levels of NPK; social groups like innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority, and laggards; more than one business house) that are hypothesized to influence the dependent variable. Depending upon the nature, type, and classification of data, the analysis of variance is developed for one-way classified data, two-way classified data with one observation per cell, two-way classified data with more than one observation per cell, etc. Before taking up the analysis of variance in detail, let us discuss about linear model, which is mostly being used in the analysis of variance.

## 10.1 Linear Models

Taken observation on any dependent variable *Y*,  $y_i$  can be assumed as  $y_i = \alpha_i + e_i$ , where  $\alpha_i$  is its true value and  $e_i$  is the error part, which may be because of chance factor. This  $\alpha_i$  again may be the linear combination of *m* unknown quantities  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \ldots, \gamma_m$  as  $\alpha_i = a_{i1}\gamma_1 + a_{i2}\gamma_2 + \cdots + a_{im}\gamma_m$ , where  $a_{ij}$  (j = 1, 2, ..., m) is the constant and take the values 0 or 1.

Thus,  $y_i = a_{i1}\gamma_1 + a_{i2}\gamma_2 + \cdots + a_{im}\gamma_m + e_i$ .

www.m

189

If  $a_{ij} = 1$  for a particular value of *j* and for all *i*, then  $\gamma_j$  is termed general mean or general effect. A linear model in which all the  $\gamma_j$ 's are unknown constants (known as parameters) is termed *fixed effect model*. On the other hand, a linear model in which  $\gamma_j$ 's are random variables excepting the general mean or general effect is known as *variance component model* or *random effect model*. A linear model in which at least one  $\gamma_j$  is a random variable and at least one  $\gamma_j$  is a constant (other than general effect or general mean) is called a *mixed effect model*.

Assumptions in Analysis Variance

The analysis of variance is based on following assumptions:

- 1. The effects are additive in nature.
- 2. The observations are independent.
- The variable concerned must be normally distributed.
- 4. Variances of all populations from which samples have been drawn must be the same. In other words, all samples should be drawn from normal populations having common variance with the same or different means.

The interpretation of analysis of variance is valid only when the assumptions are met. A larger deviation from these assumptions affects the level of significance and the sensitivity of *F*- and *t*-test. Two independent factors are said to be additive in nature if the effect of one factor remains constant over the levels of the other factor. On the contrary when the effects of one factor remain constant by a certain percentage over the levels of other factors, then the factors are multiplicative or nonadditive in nature. The models for additive and multiplicative effects may be presented as follows:

 $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + e_{ij} \text{ (additive model)}$  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + (\alpha\beta)_{ij} + e_{ij} \text{ (multiplicative model)}$ 

The second assumption is related to the error associated with the model. Precisely, this assumption means that the errors should be independently and identically distributed with mean 0 and constant ( $\sigma^2$ ) variance.

Several normality test procedures are available in the literature. However, the nature of the



functional relationship between the mean and the variance may help us in identifying whether a distribution is normal or non-normal. Homogeneity of error variance is one of the important assumptions in the analysis of variance. In practice we may not get exactly equal (homoscedastic) variances. The variances can be tested for homogeneity through *Hartley's test* or *Bartlett's* test.

## 10.2 One-Way ANOVA

In one-way analysis of variance, different samples for only one factor are considered. That means the whole data set comprised several groups with many observations based on one factor as shown below:

Let  $y_{i1}, y_{i2}, y_{i3}, \dots y_{in_i}$  be a random sample from an  $N(\mu_i, \sigma^2)$  population and i = 1, 2, 3, 4, $\dots, k$ . The random samples are independent. Suppose there are  $n = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i$  observations  $y_{ij}$  $(i = 1, 2, 3, \dots, k; j = 1, 2, 3, 4, \dots, n_i)$ , which are grouped into *k* classes in the following way (Table 10.1):

If we consider the fixed effect model, then it can be written as  $y_{ij} = \mu_i + e_{ij}$ , where  $\mu_i$  is a fixed effect due to *i*th class and  $e_{ij}s$  are independently  $N(0, \sigma^2)$ . This  $\mu_i$  can be regarded as the sum of two components, namely,  $\mu$ , the overall mean, and a component due to the specific class. Thus, we can write

 $\mu_i = \mu + \alpha_i.$ Thus, the mathematical model will be  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + e_{ij},$ 

Table 10.1	One-way	classification	of data
------------	---------	----------------	---------

1	2	<i>i</i>	k
<i>y</i> <sub>11</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>21</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub><i>i</i>1</sub>	$y_{k1}$
<i>y</i> <sub>12</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>22</sub>	y <sub>i2</sub>	<i>Yk</i> 2
:	:	:	:
j	:	y <sub>ij</sub>	$y_{jk}$
:	:	:	:
$y_1n_1$	$y_2 n_2$	$y_i n_i$	$y_k n_k$

where

- $y_{ij}$  = response due to  $j^{th}$  observation of  $i^{th}$  group,
- $\mu$  = general mean effect,
- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to i<sup>th</sup> class group,
- $e_{ij}$  = errors component associated with j<sup>th</sup> observation of i<sup>th</sup> class group and are i.i.d.N  $(0,\sigma^2)$ ,

$$\sum_{i=1}^k n_i \alpha_i = 0.$$

We want to test the equality of the population means, that is,

 $H_0: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \cdots = \alpha_k = 0$  against the alternative hypothesis

$$H_1$$
: All  $\alpha$ 's are not equal.

Let the level of significance chosen be equal to 0.05.

$$y_{ij} = \bar{y}_{00} + (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00}) + (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0}),$$
  
where  $\bar{y}_{i0}$  = mean of the *i*th group/class,  
 $\bar{y}_{00}$  = grand mean,  
 $\therefore y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{00} = (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00}) + (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0}).$ 

Squaring and taking sum for both the sides over i and j, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{00})^{2} &= \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \left[ (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00}) + (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0}) \right]^{2} \\ &= \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00})^{2} + \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0})^{2} + 2 \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00})(y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0}) \\ &= \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00})^{2} + \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0})^{2} + 2 \sum_{i} (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00}) \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0}) \\ &= \sum_{i} n_{i} (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00})^{2} + \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0})^{2} \left[ \because \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0}) = 0 \right] \\ &\text{SS(Total)} = \text{SS(class/group)} + \text{SS(error)}, \end{split}$$

TSS = CSS + ErSS.

Thus, the total sum of squares is partitioned into sum of squares due to classes/groups and sum of squares due to error.

n-1 d.f. is attributed to SS(total) or TSS because it is computed from the *n* quantities of the form  $(y_{ij} - \bar{y})$  which is subjected to one linear constraint  $\sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_i) = 0, i = 1, 2, 3, ..., k.$ Similarly, (k - 1) d.f. is attributed to CSS since  $\sum_{i} n_i(\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00}) = 0$ . Finally ErSS will have (n - k) d.f. since it is based on quantities which are subjected to k linear constraints  $\sum_{j} (\bar{y}_{ij} - \bar{y}_i) = 0, i = 1, 2, 3, \dots, k$ . It is to be noted that CSS and ErSS add up to TSS and the

corresponding d.f. is also additive. Dividing SS by their respective d.f., we will get the respective mean sum of squares, that is, MSS due to class and error. Thus,

 $CMS = \frac{CSS}{k-1} = \text{mean sum of squares due to class/group,}$  $ErMS = \frac{ErSS}{n-k} = \text{mean sum of squares due to error.}$ 

191

Sources of variation (SOV)	d.f.	SS	MS	F-ratio
Class/group	k - 1	CSS	MSC	MSC/ ErMS
Error	n - k	ErSS	ErMS	
Total	n - 1	TSS		

 Table 10.2
 ANOVA table for one-way classification of data

Since  $e_{ij}$  are independently and normally distributed with zero mean and common variance  $\sigma^2$ , the test statistic under  $H_0$  is given by

$$F = \left(\frac{\text{CSS}}{\sigma^2} \cdot \frac{1}{k-1}\right) \div \left(\frac{\text{ErSS}}{\sigma^2} \cdot \frac{1}{n-k}\right) = \frac{\text{CMS}}{\text{ErMS}}$$

which has an *F* distribution with (k - 1) and (n - k) d.f. If the calculated value of  $F > F_{\alpha;k-1,n-k}$ , then  $H_0$  is rejected; otherwise, it is accepted.

So we have Table 10.2 as the following ANOVA table.

For all practical purposes, the various sums of squares are calculated using the following shortcut formulae:

$$G = \text{Grand total} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{n_i} y_{ij};$$

Correction factor (CF) =  $n\bar{y}^2 = \frac{G^2}{n}$ , where  $n = \sum_{i=1}^k n_i$ ;

Total sum of squares (TSS)  $= \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y})^{2}$   $= \sum_{i} \sum_{j} y_{ij}^{2} - n\bar{y}^{2} = \sum_{i} \sum_{j} y_{ij}^{2} - CF$ Class sum of squares (CSS)  $= \sum_{i} n_{i} \hat{\alpha}_{i}^{2} = \sum n_{i} (\bar{y}_{i} - \bar{y})^{2} = \sum_{i} n_{i} \bar{y}_{i}^{2} - n\bar{y}^{2}$   $= \sum_{i} n_{i} \left(\frac{\sum y_{ij}}{n_{i}}\right)^{2} - CF = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{y_{i0}^{2}}{n_{i}} - CF$ where  $y_{i0} = \sum y_{ij}$  is the sum of observations

for *i*th class;

 $\therefore$  Error sum of squares (ErSS) = TSS - CSS.

*Example 10.1.* The following figures give panicle lengths (cm) of 30 hills of 4 local cultivars of rice. Test (1) whether the panicle lengths of all the four varieties are equal or not and (2) the variety having the best panicle length.



**Solution.** We are to test whether all the varieties are equal or not w.r.t. the panicle length, that is, to test the null hypothesis

 $H_0: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = 0$  against the  $H_1: \alpha'$ s are not all equal,

where  $\alpha_i$  is the effect of *i*th (*i* = 1,2,3,4) variety.

This is a fixed effect model and can be written as

$$y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + e_{ij}$$

From the above information, we calculate the following quantities:

Variety	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4
$Total(y_{i0})$	113.8	80.2	97.2	102.6

$$GT = 12.5 + 13.4 + 12.6 + \dots + 15.2 + 15.6 + 15.5 = 393.8$$

$$CF = GT^{2}/n = 393.8^{2}/30 = 5169.281$$

$$TSS = 12.5^{2} + 13.4^{2} + 12.6^{2} + \dots + 15.2^{2} + 15.6^{2} + 15.5^{2} - CF = 43.9387$$

$$SS(Variety) = \frac{113.80^{2}}{9} + \frac{80.20^{2}}{6} + \frac{97.2^{2}}{8} + \frac{118.1^{2}}{7} - CF = 26.46597$$

$$ErSS = TSS - SS(Variety) = 5.2686$$
  
ANOVA for one-way analysis of varianc

Source of variation	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Variety (between)	3	26.4659	8.8219	13.1274
Error (within)	26	17.4728	0.6720	
Total	29	43.9387		

The table value of  $F_{0.05;3,26} = 2.975$ , that is,  $F_{cal} > F_{tab.}$  So the test is significant at 5% level of significance and we reject the null hypothesis. Thus, we can conclude that the panicle lengths of all the four varieties are not equal. The next task is to find out which pair of variety differs significantly and which is the best or worst variety. To compare the schools, we calculate the means  $(\bar{y}_i)$  of the observations of four schools and the means are arranged in decreasing order. Thus, we get

Variety	V4	V2	V1	V3
Mean $(\bar{y}_i)$	14.66	13.37	12.64	12.15

Now we find the critical difference (CD) (also known as the least significant difference (LSD)) value at  $\alpha/2$  level of significance, which is calculated as

$$\sqrt{\text{MSE}\left(\frac{1}{r_i} + \frac{1}{r_j}\right)} \times t_{0.025,\text{err.df.}}$$
$$= \sqrt{0.672\left(\frac{1}{r_i} + \frac{1}{r_j}\right)} \times t_{0.025,26.}$$
$$= \sqrt{0.672\left(\frac{1}{r_i} + \frac{1}{r_j}\right)} \times 2.056$$

where  $r_i$  and  $r_j$  are the number of observations of the two schools in comparison. Thus, for comparing the schools, we have the following critical difference and mean difference values among the schools:

CD/LSD values		Mean difference	
CD(0.05) (variety 1-variety 2)	0.888	Difference between variety 1 and variety 2	0.72
CD(0.05) (variety 1-variety 3)	0.818	Difference between variety 1 and variety 3	0.494
CD(0.05) (variety 1-variety 4)	0.849	Difference between variety 1 and variety 4	2.012
CD(0.05) (variety 2-variety 3)	0.910	Difference between variety 2 and variety 3	1.467
CD(0.05) (variety 2-variety 4)	0.938	Difference between variety 2 and variety 4	1.29
CD(0.05) (variety 3-variety 4)	0.872	Difference between variety 3 and variety 4	2.507

It is found from the above table that not all the values of the mean differences are greater than the respective critical difference values, except the first two pairs. Among the four varieties, variety 4 has significantly the best panicle length (14.657 cm).

The above analysis could be done using the data analysis module of MS Excel, as given below in a stepwise manner.

**Step 1**: Arrange the data in Ms Excel workout as shown below:

	H	0	-	-		Descriptive	Compatibili	ty Mode] - Microsoft Ex	cel	-			-	đ ×
	Home Ins	ert Page Layou	at Formulas	Data Revie	w View	SAS			1				v	
Get D	ternal Existing	Refresh and	Connections 2 Properties 2 Edit Links 2	Sort Filter	& Clean & Reapply & Advanced	Text to Remove Columns Duplicates	Data Validation	Consolidate What-If Analysis *	Group Ungrou	p Subtotal	ide Detail	Data Analysis		
	F38	- (a )	Choins .	Sort & Pil	Ler		Data 100	6	1	Outline		Analysis		
1	A	В	с	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	К	L	M	N
33	Variety1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4				Data Analysis			2 -x-)			
34	12.50	13.20	11.50	14.50				Analysis Tools		_	OK			
35	13.40	13.20	11.60	14.20			_	Anova: Two-Factor W Anova: Two-Factor W	Ith Replication Ithout Replication	- Ô	Cancel			
36	12.60	13.40	11.70	14.30				Correlation Covariance		1	Heb			
37	12.80	12.90	11.80	14.20				Exponential Smoothin F-Test Two-Sample for	y Variances					
38	12.90	13.70	12.20	14.60			_	Fourier Analysis Histogram		-				
39	12.00	13.80	11.00	15.20										
40	12.20		11.90	15.60										
41	13.00		15.50											
42	12.40													
43														
44														
45														
46														
4/														
***	H Sheet1	Sheet2 2-way	ANOVA / 2		1				11			1000 (FR. 110)		
Keb0j		-					-				-		150% (=)	5:43 PM



**Step 2**: Go to Data menu and then Data Analysis add-in and select ANOVA: Single Factor as shown above.

0	a	10	-		2	Descriptive	[Compatibil	ty Mode] - Microsoft Exce	)				e ×
	Home Ins	ert Page Layor	ut Formulas	Data Revie	w View	SAS							
Get Ext Dat	ernal Existing Connector et External Data	Refresh All - Conne	Connections 2 Properties 2 Edit Links 4	Soit Soit & Fil	K Clear & Reapply D Advanced ter	Text to Remove Columns Duplicates	Data Validation Data Too	Consolidate What a Analysis	Group Ungroup Subt	e Show Detail	Data Analysis Analysis		
	A33	• (* )	Gr and a state of the state of	-		-		Annua: Single Factor		0 -2			1
4	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	Input	-	-	L	M	N -
33	Variety1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4				Input Range:	\$4\$33:\$0\$42	Cascal			_
34	12.50	13.20	11.50	14.50				Grouped By:	Columns	Help	5		
35	13.40	13.20	11.60	14.20				Labels in first row		Cub.	-		
36	12.60	13.40	11.70	14.30				Alpha: 0.05					
37	12.80	12.90	11.80	14.20				Output options		-			
38	12.90	13.70	12.20	14.60				Qutput Range:     New Worksheet Plus	\$*\$33				_
39	12.00	13.80	11.00	15.20				○ New Workbook					
40	12.20		11.90	15.60					_	_			
41	13.00		15.50										
42	12.40												
43													
44													
45													
46													
47													
48													
Point	n sneet1	sneetz 2-way	ANOVA						•			1 130Y 🕤	
	A	1 D				C. Yes						8 - 8 0	5:44 PM

Slide 10.2: Selection of data range and other appropriate fields in analysis of one-way classified data using MS Excel

**Step 3**: Select the input range and click the appropriate boxes as shown above. Also select a get the following output:

6	H 19 - P -	3	-		-	Descriptive [Compatibility	Mode] - Microsof	t Excel				-	- 0 - ×
	Home Ins	ert Page Layou	t Formulas	Data Review	v View	SAS							• - • ×
P	X Cut	Calibri	• 11 • A	* = = =	-≪-	hap Text General			📑 🎫	P 📰 🗄	E AutoSum - A	A T	
Paste	J Format Paint	BIU	· · · ·		** **	terge & Center - \$ - % •	14 48 Cond	tional Format	Cell Insert	Delete Format	2 Clear · Fitt	t & Find &	
	Clipboard	9	Font	6	Alignment	5 Number	74	Styles		Cells	Editing		
-	J47	• (* 1					17.9%	1	1			1 /2	3
4	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	К	L	M -
33	Variety1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4		Anova: Single Facto	or						
34	12.50	13.20	11.50	14.50		SUMMARY							
35	13.40	13.20	11.60	14.20		Groups	Count	Sum	Average	Variance			
36	12.60	13.40	11.70	14.30		Variety1	9	113.8	12.64444	0.185278			
37	12.80	12.90	11.80	14.20		Variety 2	6	80.2	13.36667	0.114667			
38	12.90	13.70	12.20	14.60		Variety 3	8	97.2	12.15	1.951429			
39	12.00	13.80	11.00	15.20		Variety 4	7	102.6	14.65714	0.292857			
40	12.20		11.90	15.60		ANOVA							
41	13.00		15.50			Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit	
42	12.40					Between Groups	26.46597	3	8.821989	13.12744	2.07E-05	2.975154	
43						Within Groups	17.4727	26	0.672027				
44						Total	43.93867	29					
45													1
46													
47													
48	H Sheet1	Sheet2 2-way			_								
Ready											00	150% 🕤	0 0
3	6	iii 🖸	0						3.4			• 🛛 🛪 🍽 🖲	5:45 PM 8/15/2012

Slide 10.3: Data along with output of analysis of one-way classified data using MS Excel



Now comparing the critical values with *F*-value, we are to decide whether the varieties differ significantly or not, that is, whether to accept or reject the null hypothesis. On rejection of the null hypothesis, CD/LSD value is required to be calculated to compare the treatment mean differences among the pairs of means, as discussed above.

## 10.3 Two-Way ANOVA

Two-way analysis of variance is the most powerful tool used in agriculture, social, educational, business, economics, medical, and other fields of research. In this analysis, instead of considering one factor at a time, one can consider two factors in the same experiment. Two-way analysis of variance is of two types: (1) *two-way analysis of variance with one observation per cell* and (2) *two-way analysis of variance with more than one observation per cell*. In the former case the interaction effect is not possible to be worked out.

Two-Way Analysis of Variance with One Observation per Cell

In two-way analysis of variance with one observation per cell, for each factor there will be the same or different number of classes/ groups or levels. Considering the fixed effect model, if there are two factors A and B having m and n groups, respectively, then this can be represented in accordance with Table 10.3.

If we consider the fixed effect model and follow the same procedure of one-way classified data to test the null hypotheses  $H_{01}: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \cdots$  $\alpha_m = 0$  and  $H_{02}: \beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = \cdots \beta_n = 0$  for the equality of the effects of different levels of A and of different levels of B, respectively, the appropriate model is

$$y_{ij} = \mu_{ij} + e_{ij}$$
$$= \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + e_{ij}$$
$$= \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + e_{ij},$$
where  $i = 1, 2, \dots, m; \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n$ 

- $y_{ij}$  = value of the observation corresponding to the *i*th class/group or level of factor A and *j*th class/group or level of factor B
- $\mu$  = general mean effect
- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to *i*th class/group or level of factor A
- $\beta_j$  = additional effect due to *j*th class/group of factor B
- $e_{ij}$  = errors associated with *i*th class/group or level of factor A and *j*th class/group or level of factor B and are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i = 0$

	$B_1$	$B_2$	 $\mathbf{B}_{j}$	 $\mathbf{B}_n$	Total	Mean
$A_1$	<i>y</i> <sub>11</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>12</sub>	 $y_{1j}$	 $y_{1n}$	<i>y</i> <sub>10</sub>	$\overline{y}_{10}$
$A_2$	<i>y</i> <sub>21</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>22</sub>	 $y_{2j}$	 $y_{2n}$	<i>y</i> <sub>20</sub>	$\bar{y}_{20}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:
:	:	:	:	:	:	:
A <sub>i</sub>	y <sub>i1</sub>	y <sub>i2</sub>	 <i>y<sub>ij</sub></i>	 Yin	<i>Yi</i> 0	$\overline{y}_{i0}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:
:	:	:	:	:	:	:
A <sub>m</sub>	$y_{m1}$	$y_{m2}$	 $y_{mj}$	 <i>Ymn</i>	<i>Ym</i> 0	$\bar{y}_{m0}$
Total	<i>y</i> 01	<i>y</i> 02	 Y0j	 y <sub>0n</sub>	Уоо	
Mean	$\overline{y}_{01}$	$\overline{y}_{02}$	 $\overline{y}_{0j}$	 $\overline{y}_{0n}$		$\overline{y}_{00}$

Table 10.3 Two-way classification of data

 $y_{ij}$  is the observation due to *i*th group of factor A and *j*th group of factor B.



and

196

$$\hat{\mu} = \bar{y}_{00}, \\ \hat{\alpha}_i = \bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00}, \\ \hat{\beta}_j = \bar{y}_{0j} - \bar{y}_{00}, \\ \text{with } \bar{y}_{00} = \frac{1}{mn} \sum_{i,j} y_{ij}, \bar{y}_{i0} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_j y_{ij}, \bar{y}_{0j} = \frac{1}{m} \sum_i y_{ij}.$$

Thus,  $y_{ij} = \bar{y}_{00} + (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00}) + (\bar{y}_{0j} - \bar{y}_{00}) + (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{0j} + \bar{y}_{00})$ . (The product terms vanish because of assumption of independence.)

$$\sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{00})^{2} = n \sum_{i} (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00})^{2} + m \sum_{j} (\bar{y}_{0j} - \bar{y}_{00}) + \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{0j} + \bar{y}_{00})^{2}$$

$$\label{eq:ss} \begin{split} & \text{or } SS(total) = SS(factor \; A) + SS(factor \; B) + SS(error) \\ & \text{or } TSS = SS(A) + SS(B) + ErSS. \end{split}$$

The corresponding partitioning of the total d.f. is as follows:

$$mn - 1 = (m - 1) + (n - 1) + (m - 1)(n - 1).$$

Hence, the test statistic under  $H_{01}$  is given by

$$F = \left[\frac{\mathrm{SS}(\mathrm{A})}{\sigma^2} \cdot \frac{1}{m-1}\right] \div \left[\frac{\mathrm{ErSS}}{\sigma^2} \cdot \frac{1}{(m-1)(n-1)}\right]$$
$$= \frac{\mathrm{MS}(\mathrm{A})}{\mathrm{ErMS}}$$

which follows F distribution with [(m - 1), (m - 1)(n - 1)] d.f.

Thus, the null hypothesis  $H_{01}$  is rejected at  $\alpha$  level of significance if

$$F = \frac{\mathrm{MS}(\mathrm{A})}{\mathrm{Er}\mathrm{MS}} > F_{\alpha;\,(m-1),\,(m-1)(n-1)}\mathrm{d.f.}$$

Similarly the test statistics under  $H_{02}$  is given by

$$F = \frac{\text{MS(B)}}{\text{ErMS}}$$
 with  $\alpha$ ;  $(m-1), (m-1)(n-1)$  d.f.

For practical purposes the various sums of squares are calculated using the following formulae:

$$G = \text{grand total} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} y_{ij};$$
  
Correction factor (CF) =  $\frac{G^2}{mn};$   
Total sum of squares (TSS) =  $\sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{00})^2$   
=  $\sum_{i} \sum_{j} y_{ij}^2 - \text{CF};$   
Sum of squares (A) = SS (A)  
=  $n \sum_{i} (\bar{y}_{i0} - \bar{y}_{00})^2 = n \left[ \sum_{i} \bar{y}_{i0}^2 - m \bar{y}_{00}^2 \right]$   
=  $n \sum_{i} \left( \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \bar{y}_{ij}}{n} \right)^2 - nm \bar{y}_{00}^2 = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i} y_{i0}^2 - \text{CF},$ 

where,  $y_{i0} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} y_{ij}$  is the sum of observations

for *i*th level of factor A.

Sum of squares (B) = SS (B)  
= 
$$m \sum_{j} \left( \bar{y}_{0j} - \bar{y}_{00} \right)^2 = \frac{1}{m} \sum_{j} y_{0j}^2 - CF$$
,  
where  $y_{0j} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} y_{ij}$  is the sum of observations  
for  $j^{\text{th}}$  level of factor B;  
ErSS = TSS - SS (A) - SS (B)

Dividing this SSs by their respective degrees of freedom, we will get the corresponding mean sum of squares, that is, mean sum of squares due to classes and error mean sum of squares.

We have Table 10.4 as the ANOVA table for two-way classification with one observation per cell.

SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Factor A	m - 1	SS(A)	AMS = SS(A)/(m-1)	AMS/ErMS
Factor B	n - 1	SS(B)	BMS = SS(B)/(n-1)	BMS/ErMS
Error	(m-1)(n-1)	ErSS	$\operatorname{ErMS} = \operatorname{ErSS}/(m-1)(n-1)$	
Total	mn - 1	TSS		

Table 10.4 ANOVA table for two-way classification of data

*Example 10.2.* The following table gives the milk produced (liter/day) by four breeds of cows under five different feeds. Analyze the data to find out the best feed and best breed of cow with respect to production of milk.

	Breed			
Feed	Breed A	Breed B	Breed C	Breed D
Feed 1	17	10.6	47	30
Feed 2	19	10.8	46	28
Feed 3	21	10.9	45.5	29
Feed 4	23	11.2	48	25
Feed 5	25	11.3	45	26

**Solution.** Under the given condition we are to analyze the data per the two-way ANOVA with one observation per cell to test the null hypotheses:

💪 للاستشار

 $H_{01}: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = \alpha_5 = 0$  against  $H_{11}: \alpha$ 's are not all equal and  $H_{02}: \beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = \beta_4 = 0$  against  $H_{12}: \beta$ 's are not all equal.

The appropriate model to test the above is  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + e_{ij}$ , where i = 5, j = 4

 $y_{ij}$  = value of the observation corresponding to the *i*th feed and *j*th breed

 $\mu$  = general mean effect

 $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th feed

 $\beta_i$  = additional effect due to the *j*th breed

 $e_{ij}$  = errors associated with the *i*th feed and *j*th breed

For the purpose let us frame the following table:

Total number of observations = N = mn = 20,

	Breed					
Feed	Breed A	Breed B	Breed C	Breed D	Total	Mean
Feed 1	17	10.6	47	30	104.6	26.15
Feed 2	19	10.8	46	28	103.8	25.95
Feed 3	21	10.9	45.5	29	106.4	26.6
Feed 4	23	11.2	48	25	107.2	26.8
Feed 5	25	11.3	45	26	107.3	26.825
Total (y <sub>0j</sub> )	105	54.8	231.5	138	529.3	26.465
Mean $(\bar{y}_{0i})$	21	10.96	46.3	27.6		

$$G = 17.0 + 10.6 + 47.0 + \dots + 11.3 + 45 + 26 = 529.3$$
  

$$CF = G^{2}/N = 529.3^{2}/20 = 14007.92$$
  

$$TSS = 17.0^{2} + 10.6^{2} + 47.0^{2} + \dots + 11.3^{2} + 45^{2} + 26^{2} - CF = 3388.27$$
  

$$FSS = SS(Feed) = \frac{104.6^{2}}{4} + \frac{103.8^{2}}{4} + \frac{106.4^{2}}{4} + \frac{107.2^{2}}{4} + \frac{107.3^{2}}{4} - 14007.92 = 2.498$$
  

$$BrSS = SS(Breed) = \frac{105^{2}}{5} + \frac{54.8^{2}}{5} + \frac{231.5^{2}}{5} + \frac{138^{2}}{5} - 14007.92 = 3324.934$$
  

$$ErSS = TSS - FSS - BrSS = 60.834$$

ANOVA table									
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F					
Feed	4	2.498	0.625	0.123					
Breed	3	3324.934	1108.311	218.623					
Error	12	60.834	5.069						
Total	19	3388.27							

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

The table value of  $F_{0.05;4,12} = 3.26$ , that is,  $F_{cal} < F_{tab}$ . Therefore, the test is nonsignificant and we cannot reject the null hypothesis  $H_{01}$ . We conclude that there exists no significant difference among the effects of feeds with respect to milk production.

Next, let us check whether there exists any significant difference between milk production and different breeds of cows. The table value of  $F_{0.05;3,12} = 3.49$ , that is,  $F_{cal} > F_{tab}$ . Therefore, the test is significant and we reject the null hypothesis  $H_{02}$ , meaning there exists a significant difference among the breeds of cows w.r.t and milk production. Now our task is to find out which breed is significantly different from other and which breed is the best or worst with respect to milk production. To compare the breeds we

calculate the critical difference (least significant difference) value, which is given as

$$CD/LSD = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{m}} \times t_{0.025, \text{ err.df.}}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 5.07}{5}} \times t_{0.05, 12.}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 5.07}{5}} \times 2.179 = 3.103.$$

Arrangement of the breeds according to their milk production is given below:

$$\bar{A} \quad \bar{B} \quad \bar{C} \quad \bar{D} \Rightarrow \bar{C} > \bar{D} > \bar{A} > \bar{B}$$

$$21 \quad 10.96 \quad 46.3 \quad 27.6$$

The difference between pairs of means is greater than the CD/LSD value. So we conclude that all the breeds are significantly different from each other and that breed C has the highest milk production. Hence, breed C is the best breed with respect to milk production per day.

Using MS Excel program, in the following slides, the above calculation has been presented:

**Step 1**: Select "Anova: Two-Factor Without Replication," as shown below.

0			_	_	-	Dete	intia (Compa		in Model - N	Second Even	-	and the second se			-	- 0 >	6
	Home Insert	Page Layout	Formulas	Data Re	view View	SAS	ubute Icomba	001	ny model - n	increasent Exce							×
Get I	External Existing Connections Get External Data	Refresh All	nnections 21 perties 21 t Links ons	Sort & Filte	V. Clear So Reapply So Advanced Filter	Text to R Columns Du	emove Dat plicates Validat Data	a ion Too	Consolidate	What-8 Analysis -	Group Ungro	up Subtotal	how Detail	Data Analysis Analysis			
_	G28 •	9 fx		1	11							11 12				7.57 T	¥
_	A	B	C	D	E	F	G	h	Н	1	J	K	L	M	N	0	
13		Breed A	Breed B	Breed C	Breed D	Total	Mean	μ	Data Analys	is .			8 8	1			
14	Feed 1	17	10.6	47	30	104.6	26.15	H	Analysis To	ols			OK				
15	Feed 2	19	10.8	46	28	103.8	25.95	Ц	Anova: Si Anova: Ti	vo-Factor Wit	Replication	î	Cancel				
16	Feed 3	21	10.9	45.5	29	106.4	26.6	Ш	Correlatio	n	out neoscation	1	Help				
17	Feed 4	23	11.2	48	25	107.2	26.8	Ш	Descriptiv	e Statistics							
18	Feed 5	25	11.3	45	26	107.3	26.825		F-Test Tu Fourier Ar	o-Sample for I	ariances						
19 20	Total	105	54.8	231.5	138	529.3	26.465		Histogram		-	•					
21 22	Mean	21	10.96	46.3	27.6												
23								1									
24																	
25																	
26																	
27								÷									
28								1									1
29																	
30	-							-				_					
Read	H Sheet1 Sheet	t2 2-way A	NOVA 201								-			(0)(2)	III 130% (=)		•
9	) e 📄		0			3.000						ev.			- 8 - N 4	5:27 PM	

Slide 10.4: Arrangement of two-way classified data in MS Excel work sheet



**Step 2**: Select the input range and output range shown above. Click on other appropriate boxes

followed by OK to get the following output, as shown below:

6	120-0-0		-			Desc	riptive [Compa	bility Mode] - Microsoft Excel	= 6 ×
	Home Insert	Page Layout	Formulas	Data Re	view View	SAS			9 x
Get	External Data	Refresh All - Se Ed Connect	innections. 21 operties. 21 it Links ions	Sort Sort &	F & Clear & Reapply & Advances Filter	Text to R Columns Du	emove Dat plicates Validat Data	Consolidate What # Consolidate What # Sets	
-	A13 •	e fu		1	1				8
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Anova: Two-Factor Without Replication	0 -
13		Breed A	Breed B	Breed C	Breed D	Total	Mean	Input	
14	Feed 1	17	10.6	47	30	104.6	26.15	Input Range: SA\$13:8E\$18 (%)	
15	Feed 2	19	10.8	46	28	103.8	25.95	V jabels	
16	Feed 3	21	10.9	45.5	29	106.4	26.6	Bhue: 0:02	
17	Feed 4	23	11.2	48	25	107.2	26.8	Output options	
18	Feed 5	25	11.3	45	26	107.3	26.825	New Worksheet By:	
19 20	Total	105	54.8	231.5	138	529.3	26.465	O New Workbook	
21	Mean	21	10.96	46.3	27.6				
23									
24									
25									
26									
27									
28							<u> </u>		
30									
30	N. Charles (Charl	2 2			1				
Poin	t sneet1 / sneet	2 2 Way A	NUVA / UZ						•
0	) 🥝 📋		0			Sec.		• 8 «P	40 5-28 PM 8/15/2012

Slide 10.5: Step 2 showing the selection of data range and other appropriate fields in the analysis of two-way classified data using MS Excel

	19.42	10		1			1	Descriptive [C	ompatibility I	Mode] - Micri	osoft Excel							Service Sub-
2	Home Ins	ert Page	Layout Fo	ormulas C	Jata Rev	iew Viev	w SAS											<u>v</u> - 1
	& Cut	Calibri	- 14	· A *	= = ;	<b>*</b>	📑 Wrap Tex	t G	eneral					P 🗊	Σ Auto	Sum * 27	8	
Paste	Format Pain	ter B I	<u>u</u> • 🖽 •	<u>A · A</u> ·		= ir ir	Merge &	Center -	· % ·	34 48 0	matting - as	remat Cel	Insert I	Delete Format	2 Clear	- Sort &	Find &	
	Clipboard	<b>G</b>	Font	6		Alignm	ient	14	Number	15	SDI	es		Cells		Editing		
	H13	• (*	fr Ano	wa: Two-Fac	tor Withou	t Replicatio	on											
3	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	К	L	M	N	0	Р	Q	R
8		Breed A	Breed B	Breed C	Breed D	Total	Mean	Anova:	Two-Fac	tor With	out Repl	ication						
H	Feed 1	17	10.6	47	30	104.6	26.15	SUMMA	Count	Sum	Average	ariance	1					
5 F	Feed 2	19	10.8	46	28	103.8	25.95	Feed 1	4	104.6	26.15	258.4						
5 F	Feed 3	21	10.9	45.5	29	106.4	26.6	Feed 2	4	103.8	25.95	228						
7 F	Feed 4	23	11.2	48	25	107.2	26.8	Feed 3	4	106.4	26.6	213.6						
8 F	Feed 5	25	11.3	45	26	107.3	26.825	Feed 4	4	107.2	26.8	236.8						
9 7	Fotal	105	54.8	231.5	138	529.3	26.465	Feed 5	4	107.3	26.83	191.8						
1	Mean	21	10.96	46.3	27.6			Breed A Breed B	5 5	105 54.8	21 10.96	10 0.083						
3								Breed C	5	231.5	46.3	1.45						
1								Breed D	5	138	27.6	4.3						
5								ANOVA	8									
5								Source	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit				
7								Rows	2.498	4	0.625	0.123	0.971	3.259				
в								Column	3325	3	1108	218.6	1E-10	3.49				
9								Error	60.83	12	5.069							
D								Total	3388	19								
	H Sheatt	Sheet2 2	Way ANOVA		_						1.4							
ady	1										Au	erage: 200.68	32213 Cour	t: 80 Sum: 1	636.21073	000	110% 🕤	0

Slide 10.6: Step 3 showing the data along with output of analysis of two-way classified data using MS Excel



From the above calculation we are to take decision and calculate CD/LSD values required using the formula discussed during manual calculation. There are certain packages like SPSS where the pairwise mean comparison also comes out as output.

Two-Way Analysis of Variance with More Than One Observations per Cell

Working out the interaction effects of more than one factor from a single experiment is one of the major objectives of the two-way analysis of variance with more than one observation per cell. To test

$$H_{01}: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \cdots \alpha_m = 0,$$
  

$$H_{02}: \beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = \cdots \beta_n = 0,$$
  

$$H_{03}: \gamma_{ii} = 0 \text{ for all } i \text{ and } j,$$

the appropriate model for the purpose would be

$$y_{ijk} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + \gamma_{ij} + e_{ijk},$$

where i = 1, 2, ..., m; j = 1, 2, ..., n; k = 1, 2, ..., l

- $\mu$  = general effect
- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th group of factor A
- $\beta_j$  = additional effect due to the *j*th group of factor B
- $\gamma_{ij}$  = interaction effect due to the *i*th group of factor A and the *j*th group of factor B
- $e_{ijk}$  = errors that are associated with the *k*th observation of the *i*th class of factor A and the *j*th class of factor B and are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$ ;  $\sum_{i} \alpha_i = \sum_{j} \beta_j = \sum_{i} \gamma_{ij} = 0$ , where  $\hat{\mu} = \bar{\gamma}_{000}$ ,  $\hat{\alpha}_i = \bar{\gamma}_{000} - \bar{\gamma}_{000}$ ,  $\hat{\beta}_i$

ere 
$$\mu = y_{000}, \alpha_i = y_{i00} - y_{000}, \beta_j$$
  
=  $\bar{y}_{0j0} - \bar{y}_{000}, \text{ and } \hat{\gamma}_{ij}$   
=  $\bar{y}_{ij0} - \bar{y}_{i00} - \bar{y}_{0j0} + \bar{y}_{000}.$ 

Thus, the linear model becomes

$$y_{ijk} = \bar{y}_{000} + (\bar{y}_{i00} - \bar{y}_{000}) + (\bar{y}_{0j0} - \bar{y}_{000}) + (\bar{y}_{ij0} - \bar{y}_{i00} - \bar{y}_{0j0} + \bar{y}_{000}) + (y_{ijk} - y_{ij0})$$

Transferring  $y_{000}$  to the left, squaring both the sides, and summing over *i*, *j*, *k*, we get

$$\sum_{i}^{m} \sum_{j}^{n} \sum_{k}^{l} \left( y_{ijk} - \bar{y}_{000} \right)^{2} = nl \sum_{i} \left( \bar{y}_{i00} - \bar{y}_{000} \right)^{2} + ml \sum_{j} \left( \bar{y}_{0j0} - \bar{y}_{000} \right)^{2} + l \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \left( \bar{y}_{ij0} - \bar{y}_{i00} - \bar{y}_{0j0} + \bar{y}_{000} \right)^{2} + \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \sum_{k} \left( y_{ijk} - \bar{y}_{ij0} \right)^{2}$$

(Other product terms vanish because of the assumptions as usual.)

or SS(total) = SS(factor A) + SS(factor B) + SS(factor AB) + SS(error)

or TSS = SS(A) + SS(B) + SS(AB) + ErSS.

The corresponding partitioning of the total d.f. is as follows:

$$Lmn - 1 = (m - 1) + (n - 1) + (m - 1) \times (n - 1) + mn(l - 1),$$

where 
$$\bar{y}_{000} = \frac{1}{mnl} \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \sum_{k} y_{ijk}$$
 = mean of all

observations,

$$\bar{y}_{i00} = \frac{1}{nl} \sum_{j} \sum_{k} y_{ijk} = \text{mean of } i\text{th level of A},$$
$$\bar{y}_{0j0} = \frac{1}{ml} \sum_{i} \sum_{k} y_{ijk} = \text{mean of } j\text{th level of B},$$
$$\bar{y}_{ij0} = \frac{1}{l} \sum_{k} y_{ijk} = \text{mean of the observations for}$$

ith level of A and jth level of B.

Dividing the sum of squares by their corresponding d.f., we have the following:

Mean sum of squares due to factor 
$$A = \frac{SS(A)}{m-1}$$
  
= MS(A).

Mean sum of squares due to factor  $B = \frac{SS(B)}{n-1}$ = MS(B),

Mean sum of squares due to factor AB

$$=\frac{\mathrm{SS(AB)}}{(m-1)(n-1)}=\mathrm{MS(AB)},$$

Mean sum of squares due to error  $=\frac{\text{ErSS}}{mn(1-1)}$ 

$$=$$
 ErMS

SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Factor A	m - 1	SS(A)	AMS = SS(A)/(m-1)	AMS/ErMS
Factor B	n - 1	SS(B)	BMS = SS(B)/(n-1)	BMS/ErMS
Interaction $(A \times B)$	(m-1)(n-1)	SS(AB)	ABMS = SS(AB)/(m-1)(n-1)	ABMS/ErMS
Error	By subtraction $= mn(l - 1)$	ErSS	$\operatorname{ErMS} = \operatorname{ErSS}/mn(l-1)$	
Total	mnl - 1	TSS		

**Table 10.5** ANOVA table for two-way classified data with m l(>1) observations per cell

The mean sum of squares due to error (ErMS) always provides an unbiased estimate of  $\sigma^2$ , but MS(A), MS(B), and MS(AB) provide unbiased estimates of  $\sigma^2$  under  $H_{01}$ ,  $H_{02}$ , and  $H_{03}$ , respectively. They are also independent. The test statistics under  $H_{01}$ ,  $H_{02}$ , and  $H_{03}$  are given by

$$\begin{split} F_{\rm A} &= \frac{{\rm MS}({\rm A})}{{\rm Er}{\rm MS}} \sim F_{m-1,mn(l-1)}, \\ F_{\rm B} &= \frac{{\rm MS}({\rm B})}{{\rm Er}{\rm MS}} \sim F_{n-1,mn(l-1)}, \\ F_{\rm AB} &= \frac{{\rm MS}({\rm AB})}{{\rm Er}{\rm MS}} \sim F_{(m-1)(n-1),mn(l-1)}, \text{ respectively.} \end{split}$$

Thus,  $H_{03}$  is rejected at  $\alpha$  level of significance if  $F_{AB} > F_{\alpha;(m-1)(n-1),mn(l-1)}$ ; otherwise, it is accepted. If  $H_{03}$  is accepted, that is, interaction is absent, the tests for  $H_{01}$  and  $H_{02}$  can be performed.  $H_{01}$  is rejected

if  $F_A > F_{\alpha;m-1,mn(l-1)}$ . Similarly  $H_{02}$  is rejected if  $F_B > F_{\alpha;n-1,mn(l-1)}$ .

If  $H_{03}$  is rejected, that is, interaction is present, then we shall have to compare for each level of B at the different levels of A and for each level of A at the different levels of B (Table 10.5).

For practical purposes, different sums of squares are calculated using the following formulae:

Grand total = 
$$G = \sum_{i}^{m} \sum_{j}^{n} \sum_{k}^{l} y_{ijk};$$
  
Correction factor =  $CF = \frac{G^2}{mnl};$   
Treatment sum of squares = TrSS  

$$= \sum_{i}^{m} \sum_{j}^{n} \sum_{k}^{l} (y_{ijk} - \bar{y}_{000})^2$$

$$= \sum_{i}^{m} \sum_{j}^{n} \sum_{k}^{l} (y_{ijk})^2 - CF;$$

Sum of squares due to A = SS(A)

$$= nl \sum_{i} (\bar{y}_{i00} - \bar{y}_{000})^{2} = nl \left[ \sum_{i} \bar{y}_{i00}^{2} - m\bar{y}_{000}^{2} \right]$$
$$= nl \sum_{i} \left( \frac{\sum_{i} \sum_{k} y_{ijk}}{nl} \right)^{2} - CF = \frac{1}{nl} \sum_{i} y_{i00}^{2} - CF;$$

Sum of squares due to B = SS(B)

$$= ml \sum_{j} (\bar{y}_{0j0} - \bar{y}_{000})^2 = \frac{1}{ml} \sum_{i} y_{0j0}^2 - CF;$$

Sum of squares due to (AB)

$$=\sum_{i}^{m}\sum_{j}^{n}\frac{y_{ij0}^{2}}{1}-CF-SS(A)-SS(B);$$

$$T. ErSS = TSS - SS(A) - SS(B) - SS(AB),$$

where  $y_{i00} =$  sum of the observations for *i*th level of A,

- $y_{0j0} =$  sum of the observations for *j*th level of B,
- $y_{ij0} =$  sum of the observations for *i*th level of A and *j*th level of B.

*Example 10.3.* The following table gives the yield (q/ha) of four different varieties of paddy in response to three different doses of nitrogen. Analyze the data to show whether:

- (a) There exist significant differences in yield of four rice varieties.
- (b) Three doses of nitrogen are significantly different with respect to production.
- (c) The varieties have performed equally under different doses of nitrogen or not.

Doses of N	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4
N1	13.0	17.0	15.5	20.5
	13.4	17.5	15.6	20.8
	13.5	17.4	15.5	20.4
N2	14.0	18.0	16.2	24.5
	14.2	18.5	16.1	25.6
	14.6	18.9	16.3	25.0
N3	25.0	22.0	18.5	32.0
	24.8	22.5	18.6	32.5
	24.3	22.3	18.7	32.0

**Solution.** The problem can be visualized as the problem of two-way analysis of variance with three observations per cell. The linear model is

$$y_{ijk} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + \gamma_{ij} + e_{ijk},$$

where

 $\alpha_i$  is the effect of *i*th level of nitrogen, i = 3;

 $\beta_j$  is the effect of *j*th level of variety, j = 4;  $\gamma_{ij}$  is the interaction effect of *i*th level of nitrogen and *j*th level of variety.

We want to test the following null hypotheses:

- $H_{01}: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = 0$  against  $H_{11}: \alpha$ 's are not all equal,
- $H_{02}: \beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = \beta_4 = 0 \text{ against } H_{12}: \beta\text{'s}$ are not all equal,
- $H_{03}: \gamma_{ij}$ 's = 0 for all i, j against  $H_{13}: \gamma_{ij}$ 's are not all equal.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ . Let us construct the following table of totals  $(y_{ij})$ :

Nitrogen	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4	Total (y <sub>i00</sub> )	Mean
N <sub>1</sub>	39.90	51.90	46.60	61.70	200.10	16.675
N <sub>2</sub>	42.80	55.40	48.60	75.10	221.90	18.492
N <sub>3</sub>	74.10	66.80	55.80	96.50	293.20	24.433
$Total(y_{0j0})$	156.800	174.100	151.000	233.300	715.200	
Mean	17.422	19.344	16.778	25.922		19.867

Total number of observations =  $mnl = 3 \times 4 \times 3 = 36 = N$   $G = 13.0 + 17 + 15.5 + \dots + 22.3 + 18.7 + 32. = 715.2,$   $CF = GT^2/N = 715.2^2/36 = 14208.64,$   $TSS = 13.0^2 + 17^2 + 15.5^2 + \dots + 22.3^2 + 18.7^2 + 32^2 - CF = 975.52,$   $NSS = \frac{200.1^2}{12} + \frac{221.9^2}{12} + \frac{293.20^2}{12} - CF = 395.182,$   $VSS = \frac{156.8^2}{9} + \frac{174.10^2}{9} + \frac{151.00^2}{9} - CF = 472.131,$   $SS (N \times V) = 1/3[39.9^2 + 51.9^2 + 46.6^2 + \dots + 66.80^2 + 55.80^2 + 96.5^2] - CF - NSS - VSS = 106.04,$  $ErSS = TSS - NSS - VSS - SS (N \times V) = 975.52 - 395.182 - 472.131 - 106.04 = 2.17.$ 



SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Variety	3	472.131	157.377	1743.253
Nitrogen	2	395.182	197.591	2188.698
Interaction $(V \times N)$	4	106.041	17.673	195.767
Error	24	2.167	0.090	
Total	26	975.520		

ANOVA table for two-way analysis of variance with three observations per cell

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

The table value of  $F_{0.05;2,24} = 3.40$ ,  $F_{0.05;3,24} = 3.01$ , and  $F_{0.05;6,24} = 2.51$ , that is,  $F_{cal} > F_{tab}$ , in all the cases, that is, nitrogen, variety, and nitrogen × variety interaction. So the tests are significant and we reject the null hypotheses and conclude that there exists significant difference among the effects of doses of nitrogen, varieties, and their interactions with respect to the yield of paddy.

Now, we are interested in identifying the best nitrogen, the best variety, and the nitrogen  $\times$  variety combination providing the best yield.

To accomplish this task, we calculate the critical difference (CD)/LSD values for nitrogen, variety, and interaction separately as follows:

$$CD_{0.05}(Nitrogen) = \sqrt{\frac{2MSE}{l \times v}} \times t_{0.025, err.d.f.}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.073}{3 \times 4}} \times t_{0.025, 18.}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.090}{3 \times 4}} \times 2.064 = 0.252.$$

$$CD_{0.05}(Variety) = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.01}{r \times t}} \times t_{0.025,err.d.f.}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.09}{3 \times 3}} \times t_{0.025,18.}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.09}{3 \times 3}} \times 2.064 = 0.292,$$

$$CD_{0.05}(Tr. \times V) = \sqrt{\frac{2MSE}{r}} \times t_{0.025, \text{ err.d.f.}}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.090}{3}} \times t_{0.025, 18.}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.090}{3}} \times 2.064 = 0.505$$

Comparing the three nitrogen means provided in the table of treatment totals, one can find that the difference between any two nitrogen means is greater than the corresponding critical difference value 0.252. So we can conclude that nitrogen doses significantly differ among themselves with respect to yield of paddy and the nitrogen dose giving significantly the highest yield (24.433q/ha) is treatment  $N_3$ .

As far as the response of four varieties of paddy is concerned, it is found that the difference between any two variety means is greater than the critical difference value 0.292. Thus, the varieties differ significantly among themselves with respect to yield. Among the varieties, variety 4 has produced significantly the highest yield, so this is the best variety.

After identifying the best variety and the best treatment separately, our task is now to identify the best nitrogen  $\times$  variety combination for yield of paddy from the above information. Let us construct the following table of average interaction values of nitrogen and variety.

Mean table of N  $\times$  V

Nitrogen	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4
N1	13.300	17.300	15.533	20.567
N2	14.267	18.467	16.200	25.033
N3	24.700	22.267	18.600	32.167

From the above table, it can be seen that the difference between any two combinations is more than the corresponding critical difference value for nitrogen  $\times$  variety interaction (0.505), so all the combinations produce significantly different yields of paddy. Among the nitrogen  $\times$  variety combinations, it is noticed that variety 4–nitrogen 3 combination produced the highest yield; hence, this is the best combination, followed by V<sub>4</sub>N<sub>2</sub>, which is at par with V1N3. Thus, from the analysis we draw the following conclusions:

- 1. The treatments differ significantly among themselves and the best treatment is treatment T<sub>3</sub>.
- 2. The varieties differ significantly among themselves and the best variety is  $V_2$ .
- 3. Treatment  $T_3$  along with variety  $V_1$ , produces significantly higher yield than any other combination.

Let us try to know how the above analysis of variance could be done with MS Excel program

available in majority of computers having MS Office.

**Step 2**: Select Anova: Two-Factor with Replication.

Ch	14 9.00		-		Descriptive [Com	npatibility Mode] - Microsoft E	cel			-	• • ×
-	Home Insert	Page Layout	Formulas Data	Review View	SAS						• - • ×
Get E	stemal Disting ta - Connections Get External Data	Refresh All - Edit Lin Connections	tions 21 21 ies ži Sort ks Sort So	Filter	Text to Remove Columns Duplicates Vali	Data Idation - Consolidate What # Analysis -	Group Ungroup	Subtotal #3 Show De	tail Data Analysis all Analysis		
	G65 •	( <i>fr</i>									*
4	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1 1	К	L .
48	Doses of N	Variety1	Variety2	Variety3	Variety4	Data Analysis		-9-	× )		
49	N1	13.0	17.0	15.5	20.5	Analysis Tools					
50		13.4	17.5	15.6	20.8	Anova: Single Factor	With Replication	- Cr	vel l		
51		13.5	17.4	15.5	20.4	Anova: Two-Factor V Correlation	Without Replication				
52	N2	14.0	18.0	16.2	24.5	Covariance Descriptive Statistics			10		
53		14.2	18.5	16.1	25.6	Exponential Smoothin F-Test Two-Sample for	or Variances				
54		14.6	18.9	16.3	25.0	Fourier Analysis Histogram		-			
55	N3	25.0	22.0	18.5	32.0			-			
56		24.8	22.5	18.6	32.5						
57		24.3	22.3	18.7	32.0						
58											
59											_
60											
61											
62											_
63											_
64											
65											
14 4 1	H Sheet1 She	et2 2-way ANOV	A . 😏 /								
Actao)									(LIL)		8-07 PM
	) 🤁 🛄	. 0 (	<u> </u>	21 N 6						• • • • • •	8/15/2012

Step 1: Go to Data Analysis of Tool menu.

Slide 10.7: Arrangement of two-way classified data, with more than one observation per cell in MS Excel work sheet

Step 3: Select the options as shown below.

6	1200)		-		Descriptive [Comp	atibility Mode] - Microsoft Excel	the design of the local data			-	0 ×
	Home Insert	Page Layout	Formulas Data	Review View	SAS						x
Get E	Deternal Existing Set External Data	Refresh All - See Edit Lin Connections	ctions. ties sks \$1 \$1 \$2 \$2 \$0 \$1 \$0 \$1 \$1 \$1 \$2 \$1 \$1 \$1 \$2 \$1 \$1 \$1 \$1 \$2 \$1 \$5 \$5 \$5 \$5 \$5 \$5 \$5 \$5 \$5 \$5	Filter & Clear Filter & Reapply Advanced Advanced	Text to Remove D Columns Duplicates Valid Dat	ata Consolidate What at Analysis - Consolidate	Creup Ungroup Subto Outline	a Show Detail a Hide Detail (a)	Data Analysis Analysis		
_	A48 •	(° fr									\$
4	A	В	С	D	E	Anova: Two-Factor With R	Replication	2 2	J	K	L -
48	Doses of N	Variety1	Variety2	Variety3	Variety4	Input					_
49	N1	13.0	17.0	15.5	20.5	Input Range:	\$A\$48:\$E\$57	is ox			
50		13.4	17.5	15.6	20.8	Bows per sample:	3	Cances			
51		13.5	17.4	15.5	20.4	Alpha:	0.05	Help			
52	N2	14.0	18.0	16.2	24.5	Output options					
53		14.2	18.5	16.1	25.6	Qutput Range:	\$A\$75	1			_
54		14.6	18.9	16.3	25.0	New Worksheet By:					
55	N3	25.0	22.0	18.5	32.0	O New Workbook					
56		24.8	22.5	18.6	32.5						
57		24.3	22.3	18.7	32.0						1
58											
59											
60											
61											
62											
63											
64											
65											
14 4	H Sheet1 She	et2 2-way ANOV	IA / 92/			0.4	0				-
Point									000	ANNY 🕤	•
1	) 🤅 🚺	] 🖸 🗍	o 📖 🛛	XI 2 2						0 at 14 0	8:08 PM 8/15/2012

Slide 10.8: Step 2, showing the selection of data range and other appropriate fields in the analysis of two-way classified data, with more than one observation per cell using MS Excel



Anova: two-factor with	replication					
Summary	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4	Total	
N1						
Count	3	3	3	3	12	
Sum	39.900	51.900	46.600	61.700	200.100	
Average	13.300	17.300	15.533	20.567	16.675	
Variance	0.070	0.070	0.003	0.043	7.733	
N2						
Count	3	3	3	3	12	
Sum	42.800	55.400	48.600	75.100	221.900	
Average	14.267	18.467	16.200	25.033	18.492	
Variance	0.093	0.203	0.010	0.303	18.083	
N3						
Count	3	3	3	3	12	
Sum	74.100	66.800	55.800	96.500	293.200	
Average	24.700	22.267	18.600	32.167	24.433	
Variance	0.130	0.063	0.010	0.083	26.942	
Total						
Count	9	9	9	9		
Sum	156.800	174.100	151.000	233.300		
Average	17.422	19.344	16.778	25.922		
Variance	30.042	5.143	1.957	25.782		
ANOVA						
Source of variation	SS	d.f.	MS	F	P value	F crit
Sample(nitrogen)	395.182	2	197.591	2188.698	0.000	3.403
Columns (variety)	472.131	3	157.377	1743.253	0.000	3.009
Interaction (V $\times$ N)	106.041	6	17.673	195.767	0.000	2.508
Within	2.167	24	0.090			
Total	975.520	35				

**Table 10.6** Output of two-way classified data with m l(>1) observations per cell using MS Excel

The ultimate output will be as follows (Table 10.6):

**Step 4**: Get the result as given above. Here samples are the nitrogen, and columns are the varieties.

**Step 5**: From the above table we see that both the factors and their interaction effects are significant at p = 0.05. So we need to calculate the CD/LSD values to identify the pair of nitrogen means and pair of variety means which are significantly different from each other and also to identify the best type and the best combination of nitrogen and variety to produce the highest yield. Corresponding CD values are calculated per formulae given above.

الألم للاستشارات

## 10.4 Violation of Assumptions in ANOVA

Analysis of variance works under the assumption that the effects (treatments and the environmental) are additive in nature and experimental errors are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$ ; failures to meet these assumptions adversely affect both the sensitivity of *F*- and *t*-tests and the level of significance. Thus, the data which are found to be drastically deviated from one or more of the assumptions are required to be corrected before taking up the analysis of variance. Data transformation is by far the most widely used procedure for data violating the assumptions of analysis of variance.

## 10.4.1 Data Transformation

Among the different types of transformation generally used to make the data corrected for analysis of variance, *logarithmic transformation*, *square root transformation*, *and angular transformation* are widely used.

### 10.4.1.1 Logarithmic Transformation

The number of plant insects, number of egg mass per unit area, number of larvae per unit area, etc., are typical examples wherein variance is proportional to the mean and logarithmic transformation can be used effectively. The procedure is to take simply the logarithm of each and every observation and carry out the analysis of variance following the usual procedure with the transformed data. However, if in the data set small values (less than 10) are recorded, then instead of taking log(x), it will be better to take log(x + 1). The final results or inference should

be drawn on the basis of transformed mean values and on the basis of calculations made through transformed data. However, while presenting the mean table, it will be appropriate to recalculate the means by taking the antilog of the transformed data. In practice, the treatment means are calculated from the original data because of simplicity of calculations, but statistically the procedure of converting transformed mean to original form is more appropriate. If there is a mismatch in the two procedures, then the procedure of converting the transformed mean with the help of the antilog is preferred over the other procedure.

*Example 10.4.* The following data give the number of fruit set after the application of eight different hormonal treatments in jackfruit. Use suitable transformation and analyze the data using the suitable model.

Hormone	Replication 1	Replication 2	Replication 3	Replication 4
H1	2	9	8	2
H2	4	5	6	3
H3	5	7	12	6
H4	3	11	8	13
H5	19	26	15	22
H6	24	34	24	27
H7	3	1	1	5
H8	15	11	13	15

**Solution.** Because this experiment is related with count data, violation of the assumption of ANOVA is suspected and the analysis of the data is required to be made on the basis of the transformed data. The appropriate transformation would be logarithmic transformation.

The following table presents the transformed data. It may be noted that as some of the observations are below 10, we apply log(X + 1) transformation instead of log(X).

Hormone	H1	H2	H3	H4	H5	H6	H7	H8
Replication 1	0.4771	0.6990	0.7782	0.6021	1.3010	1.3979	0.6021	1.2041
Replication 2	1.0000	0.7782	0.9031	1.0792	1.4314	1.5441	0.3010	1.0792
Replication 3	0.9542	0.8451	1.1139	0.9542	1.2041	1.3979	0.3010	1.1461
Replication 4	0.4771	0.6021	0.8451	1.1461	1.3617	1.4472	0.7782	1.2041
Average	0.7271	0.7311	0.9101	0.9454	1.3246	1.4468	0.4956	1.1584
Using MS Excel program with the transformed data, we analyze the above data to get the following ANOVA table:

ANOVA with transform	med data					
Summary	Count		Sum	Average		Variance
Replication 1	8		7.061452	0.882681	56	0.130069
Replication 2	8		8.116066	1.014508	192	0.148587
Replication 3	8		7.916744	0.989593	054	0.107176
Replication 4	8		7.861564	0.982695	553	0.128056
H1	4		2.908485	0.727121	255	0.083682
H2	4		2.924279	0.731069	822	0.010964
Н3	4		3.640283	0.910070	657	0.021079
H4	4		3.781612	0.945402	946	0.058717
H5	4		5.298242	1.324560	395	0.009283
H6	4		5.787106	1.446776	523	0.004745
H7	4		1.982271	0.495567	808	0.055628
H8	4		4.633549	1.158387	312	0.003536
ANOVA						
Source of variation	SS	d.f.	MS	F	P value	F crit
Replication	0.080983	3	0.026994341	0.856422	0.478938	3.072467
Hormone	2.935294	7	0.419327722	13.30358	0.000	2.487578
Error	0.661918	21	0.031519908			
Total	3.678195	31				

The LSD value at 5% level of significance is given by

$$LSD_{(0.05)} = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r}} \times t_{0.025,21}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.0315}{4}} \times 2.08 = 0.261.$$

By arranging the treatment means in descending order, we find that hormone 6 is the best treatment, recording the highest number of fruit set per plant, and hormone 5 is statistically at par with it.

Hormone	Transformed mean	
H6	1.4468	1
H5	1.3246	4
H8	1.1584	
H4	0.9454	
H3	0.9101	
H2	0.7311	
H1	0.7271	
H7	0.4956	



Let us examine the analysis of the above problem without transforming the data using MS Excel and following the steps discussed above.

ANOVA with original	data					
Summary	Count		Sum	Average		Variance
H1	4		21	5.2500		14.2500
H2	4		18	4.5000		1.6667
H3	4		30	7.5000		9.6667
H4	4		35	8.7500		18.9167
H5	4		82	20.5000		21.6667
H6	4		109	27.2500		22.2500
H7	4		10	2.5000		3.6667
H8	4		54	13.5000		3.6667
Replication 1	8		75	9.3750		74.5536
Replication 2	8		104	13.0000		125.4286
Replication 3	8		87	10.8750		47.5536
Replication 4	8		93	11.6250		85.6964
ANOVA						
Source of variation	SS	d.f.	MS	F	P value	F crit
Hormone	2100.21875	7	300.0313	27.1105	0.0000	2.4876
Replication	54.84375	3	18.2813	1.6519	0.2078	3.0725
Error	232.40625	21	11.0670			
Total	2387.46875	31				

The LSD value at 5% level of significance with original data is given by

$$LSD_{(0.05)} = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r}} \times t_{0.025,21}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 11.067}{4}} \times 2.08 = 4.893.$$

By arranging the treatment means in descending order, we find that hormone 6 is the best treatment, recording the highest number of fruit set per plant, and all other hormonal effects are statistically different with it. *Thus, the conclusion on the basis of original data clearly differs from that of transformed data*.

Hormone	Original average			
H6	27.25			
H5	20.5			
H8	13.5			
H4	8.75	1		
Н3	7.5			ī
H1	5.25		I	
H2	4.5			
Н7	2.5			
م للاستشا				

### 10.4.1.2 Square Root Transformation

For count data consisting of small whole numbers and percentage data where the data ranges either between 0 and 30% or between 70 and to 100%, that is, the data in which the variance tends to be proportional to the mean, the square root transformation is used. Data obtained from counting rare events like the number of death per unit time, the number of infested leaf per plant, the number of call received in a telephone exchange, or the percentage of infestation (disease or pest) in a plot (either 0-30% or 70-100%) are examples where square root transformation can be useful before taking up analysis of variance to draw a meaningful conclusion or inference. If most of the values in a data set are small (<10) coupled with the presence of 0 values, instead of using  $\sqrt{x}$  transformation, it is better to use  $\sqrt{(x+0.5)}$ . Then analysis of variance to be conducted with the transformed data and the mean table should be made from the transformed data instead of taking the mean from the original data because of the facts stated earlier.

*Example 10.5.* The following information pertains to the number of insects per 20 insects that remained alive after the application of six

different insecticides. Analyze the data to work out the most efficient insecticide.

Insecticides	Replication 3	Replication 2	Replication 1	Replication 4
I1	3	5	1	3
I2	6	3	2	3
I3	6	7	5	5
I4	3	4	4	5
15	9	8	7	8
I6	10	9	12	11

**Solution.** Information given in this problem is in the form of small whole numbers, so violation of assumption of ANOVA is suspected.

Replication 1	Replication 2	Replication 3	Replication 4	Average
1	2	3	2	2
2	5	4	4	3.75
2	7	6	6	5.25
1	5	4	6	4
4	12	9	8	8.25
12	6	10	11	9.75
	Replication 1           1           2           2           1           4           12	Replication 1         Replication 2           1         2           2         5           2         7           1         5           4         12           12         6	Replication 1         Replication 2         Replication 3           1         2         3           2         5         4           2         7         6           1         5         4           4         12         9           12         6         10	Replication 1         Replication 2         Replication 3         Replication 4           1         2         3         2           2         5         4         4           2         7         6         6           1         5         4         6           4         12         9         8           12         6         10         11

Hence, a square root transformation will be appropriate before taking up the analysis of variance. given observations. It may be noted that the data set contains small whole number (<10); instead of  $\sqrt{X}$ , we have taken  $\sqrt{(X+0.5)}$ .

So from the given data table, we first make the following table by taking the square roots of the

Insecticides	Replication 1	Replication 2	Replication 3	Replication 4
I1	1.22474487	1.58113883	1.87083	1.58114
I2	1.58113883	2.34520788	2.12132	2.12132
I3	1.58113883	2.738612788	2.54951	2.54951
I4	1.22474487	2.34520788	2.12132	2.54951
15	2.12132034	3.535533906	3.08221	2.91548
I6	3.53553391	2.549509757	3.24037	3.39116

Using MS Excel (as described in the previous example) with the transformed data, we analyze

the above data to get the following ANOVA table:



Source of variation	d.f.	SS	MS	F	P value	F crit
Replication	3	1.8011	0.6004	4.1221	0.0256	3.2874
Insecticides	5	7.2037	1.4407	9.8917	0.0002	2.9013
Error	15	2.1848	0.1457			
Total	23	11.1896				

The LSD value at 5% level of significance is given by

$$LSD_{(0.05)} = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r}} \times t_{0.025,21}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.1457}{4}} \times 2.131 = 0.5751.$$

Insecticides	Transformed means		
I1	1.5645		
I2	2.0422		
I3	2.0602		
I4	2.3547	1	
15	2.9136		T
I6	3.1791		Ι

Arranging the treatment means in ascending order, we find that insecticide 1 is the best treatment, recording the lowest number of insects per 20 insects, and insecticides 2 and 3 are at par with insecticide 1. On the other hand, insecticide 6 has produced maximum input per 20 insects.

$$LSD_{(0.05)} = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r}} \times t_{0.025,21}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 1.686}{4}} \times 2.131 = 1.957.$$

ANOVA with original	data					
Summary	Count		Sum	Average		Variance
I1	4		12	3.0000		2.6667
I2	4		14	3.5000		3.0000
I3	4		23	5.7500		0.9167
I4	4		16	4.0000		0.6667
15	4		32	8.0000		0.6667
I6	4		42	10.5000		1.6667
Replication 1	6		31	5.1667		15.7667
Replication 2	6		36	6.0000		5.6000
Replication 3	6		37	6.1667		8.5667
Replication 4	6		35	5.8333		9.7667
ANOVA						
Source of variation	SS	d.f.	MS	F	P value	F crit
Rows	173.208	5.000	34.642	20.545	0.000	2.901
Columns	3.458	3.000	1.153	0.684	0.576	3.287
Error	25.292	15.000	1.686			
Total	201.958	23.000				



Arranging the treatment means in ascending order, we find that insecticide 1 is the best insecticide treatment, recording the lowest number of insects per 20 insects, and insecticides 2 and 4 are at par with insecticide 1. On the other hand, insecticide 6 has retained insect weeds per 20 insects. But with transformed data I1, I2, and I3 are at par.

Insecticide	Average
I1	3.0000
I2	3.5000
I4	4.0000
13	5.7500
15	8.0000
I6	10.5000

#### 10.4.1.3 Angular Transformation

Data on proportions/percentages arising out of count data require angular transformation or the arcsine transformation. It may be noted emphatically that the percentage data (e.g., percentage of carbohydrate, protein, and sugar; percentage of marks; and percentage of infections) which are not arising out of count data  $(\frac{m}{n} \times 100)$  should not be put under arcsine transformation. Moreover, all the percentage data arising out of count data reaction before analysis of variance:

- (a) For percentage data ranging either between 0 and 30% or 70 and 100% but not both, the square root transformation should be used.
- (b) For percentage data ranging between 30 and 70%, no transformation is required.
- (c) Percentage data which overlaps the above two situations should only be put under arcsine transformation.

Thus, a data set having 0 to more than 30%, less than 70-100%, and 0-100% should be put under arcsine transformation.

The values of 0% should be substituted by  $\frac{1}{4n}$  and the values of 100% by 100  $-\frac{1}{4n}$ , where *n* is the number of counts on which percentages are worked out before transformation of data following arcsine rule of transformation. The essence of arcsine transformation is to convert the

percentage data into angles measured in degrees, that is, to transform 0–100% data into 0–90° angles. The actual procedure is to convert the percentage data into proportions and transform it into  $\sin^{-1}\sqrt{p}$ , where *p* is the percentage data measured in proportions. Ready-made tables are available for different percentage values with their corresponding transformed values. However, in MS Excel with the following functional form, a percentage data can be directly converted to arcsine transformed data.

= degrees (asin(sqrt(p/100))), where p is the percentage value.

Analysis of variance is taken up on the transformed data and inferences are made accordingly with the transformed means. However, to get original means retransformation of transformed means is preferred over the means from original data because of the fact stated earlier.

*Example 10.6.* The following table gives the germination percentage of eight varieties of wheat in a field trial with three replications. Analyze the data to find out the best variety w.r.t. germination.

Variety	Replication 3	Replication 1	Replication 2
V1	62	55	48
V2	28	23	32
V3	70	75	72
V4	85	86	88
V5	92	90	95
V6	18	15	17
V7	20	16	18
V8	68	65	66

**Solution.** From the given information it is clear that (a) the data can be analyzed per the analysis of two-way classified data and (b) the data relates to percentage data arising out of count data and the percentage ranges from 15 to 95%. Thus, there is a chance of heterogeneous variance.

So we opt for arcsine transformation before taking up the analysis of variance.





The analysis of variance with transformed

data per the analysis of two classified data given in the analysis of variance table at 5%

Variety	Replication	n 2	Replication 3	Replication 1	level	of significance w	vill be as follo	ws.
V1	43.85		51.94	47.87	10,01,	si signineanee v		
V2	34.45		31.95	28.66				
V3	58.05		56.79	60.00				
V4	69.73		67.21	68.03				
V5	77.08		73.57	71.57				
V6	24.35		25.10	22.79				
V7	25.10		26.57	23.58				
V8	54.33		55.55	53.73				
					_			
ANOVA	1							
SOV	(	1.f.	SS	MS	5	F	P value	F critical
Replicat	ion	2	11.40	88	5.7044	1.1204	0.3537	3.7389
Variety		7	7814.27	33 11	16.3248	219.2512	0.0000	2.7642
Error	-	14	71.28	15	5.0915			
Total	,	23	7896.96	35				

The transformed data are presented in the following table:

Thus, as the calculated value of F (219.2512) exceeds the critical value (2.7642) of F-statistic at 5% level of significance, the test is significant and the null hypothesis of equality of varietal effects w.r.t. germination percentage is rejected. That means the varieties differ significantly among themselves w.r.t. germination percent.

To identify the best variety w.r.t. germination percentage, the LSD (CD) value at 5% level of significance is worked out as given below:

$$LSD_{(0.05)} = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r}} \times t_{0.025,21}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 5.0915}{3}} \times 2.069 = 3.812.$$

We arrange the varietal means in descending order and compare them in relation to the above CD value:

Variety	Mean germination %					
V5	74.071					
V4	68.324					
V3	58.280					
V8	54.537					
V1	47.889					
V2	31.685					
V7	25.082	1				
V6	24.080					

Thus, from the above table, it is clear that variety 5 is the best variety, having maximum germination percentage, followed by variety 4, variety 3, and so on. On the other hand, the lowest germination percentage is recorded in variety 6, which is at par with variety 7. Hence, variety 5 is the best and varieties 6 and 7 are the worst varieties w.r.t. germination percent.

Let us see how this analysis differs from the analysis with original data. The following is the result of analysis of data without transforming the same.

ANOVA, without transforming the data

www.m

ANOVA						
Source of variation	SS	d.f.	MS	F	P value	F crit
Rows	19159.333	7	2737.0476	231.6494	0.0000	2.7642
Columns	20.583	2	10.2917	0.8710	0.4400	3.7389
Error	165.417	14	11.8155			
Total	19345.333	23				
الاستىت						

Variety	y Average germination %				
V5	92.333				
V4	86.333				
V3	72.333				
V8	66.333				
V1	55.000				
V2	27.667				
V7	18.000	1			
V6	16.667				

It is found from the above two analyses that there is no difference in results and conclusion.

Thus, from the above three analyses based on transformation principle, it can be inferred that results and conclusion may or may not remain the same. But it is always wise to take care of necessary transformation, wherever required.

*Effect of Change in Origin and Scale in Analysis of Variance*:

Sometimes in real-life situation, we come across with data which are very large or very small in nature, thereby posing difficulty in taking up statistical analysis further. Analysis of variance, as has been mentioned earlier, is nothing but the partitioning of variance due to assignable causes and non-assignable causes. Thus, it is essentially an exercise with variance. We know that variance does not depend on the change of origin but depends on the change of scale. So if we add or subtract a constant quantity to each and every observation of the data set to be subjected under analysis of variance, there should not be any effect of such mathematical manipulation (change of origin). But definitely there will be effect of change of scale on analysis of variance. The following examples demonstrate the above two factors.

- 1. Analysis of variance with change of origin
- 2. Analysis of variance with change of scale
- 3. Analysis of variance with change of both origin and scale

Let us take the following example to demonstrate the above.

*Example 10.7.* The following table gives the yield (kg/plot) of four different varieties of onion in three different irrigation treatments. Analyze the data (a) with change of origin to 100 kg/plot and (b) with change of origin to 100 kg/plot and scale to 8 kg/plot, and comment on the effect of change of origin and scale on the results of ANOVA.

(A) Analysis	s with original data				
	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4	
I 1	181	195	185	110	
	184	197	184	125	
	182	198	187	115	
I 2	224	245	228	145	
	225	240	227	135	
	223	247	229	142	
I 3	200	210	205	130	
	201	208	202	132	
	202	207	204	131	
Summary					
	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4	Total
11	182.333	196.667	185.333	116.667	170.250
<i>I2</i>	224.000	244.000	228.000	140.667	209.167
I3	201.000	208.333	203.667	131.000	186.000
Average	202.444	216.333	205.667	129.444	



(continued)

# (continued)

(A) Analysis with o	riginal data				
	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4	
ANOVA					
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F	P value
Irrigation	2	9197.056	4598.528	486.903	0.000
Variety	3	42762.528	14254.176	1509.266	0.000
Interaction (IxV)	6	688.722	114.787	12.154	0.000
Error	24	226.667	9.444		
Total	35	52874.972			
(B) Analysis of data	with origin shift	ed to 100, that is, obs	ervation -100		
Var	riety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4	
I 1 81		95	85	10	
84	<u> </u>	97	84	25	
	2	98	87	15	
I 2 124	<u> </u>	145	128	45	
125	5	140	127	35	
123	3	147	129	42	
I 3 100	)	110	105	30	
101		108	102	32	
102	2	107	104	31	
Summary					
	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4	Total
11	82.333	96.667	85.333	16.667	70.250
12	124.000	144.000	128.000	40.667	109.167
13	101.000	108.333	103.667	31.000	86.000
Average	102.444	116.333	105.667	29.444	
ANOVA					
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F	P value
Irrigation	2	9197.056	4598.528	486.903	0.000
Variety	3	42762.528	14254,176	1509.266	0.000
Interaction $(I \times V)$	6	688.722	114.787	12.154	0.000
Error	24	226.667	9.444		
Total	35	52874.972			
(C) ANOVA with c	hange of origin				
(0)	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4	
I1	10.1	11.9	10.6	1.3	
	10.5	12.1	10.5	3.1	
	10.3	12.3	10.9	1.9	
I 2	15.5	18.1	16.0	5.6	
	15.6	17.5	15.9	4.4	
	15.4	18.4	16.1	5.3	
I 3	12.5	13.8	13.1	3.8	
	12.6	13.5	12.8	4.0	
	12.8	13.4	13.0	3.9	
Summary					
	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4	Total
I 1	10.292	12.083	10.667	2.083	8.781
I 2	15.500	18.000	16.000	5.083	13.646
I 3	12.625	13.542	12.958	3.875	10.750
Average	12.806	14.542	13.208	3.681	

المتسارات

(continued)

(C) ANOVA with change of origin									
	Variety 1	Variety 2	Variety 3	Variety 4					
ANOVA									
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F	P value				
Irrigation	2	143.704	71.852	486.903	0.000				
Variety	3	668.164	222.721	1509.266	0.000				
Interaction $(I \times V)$	6	10.761	1.794	12.154	0.000				
Error	24	3.542	0.148						
Total	35	826.171							

#### (continued)

From the above analyses the following points may be noted:

- 1. *F*-ratios and the significance level do not change under the above three cases.
- 2. Mean values change in the second and third cases.
- 3. Sum of squares and mean sum of squares values do not change in the first and second cases.
- 4. As error mean square remains the same in the first and second cases, critical difference values also remain the same.

Thus, with the change of origin and/or scale, the basic conclusion from ANOVA does not change, but while comparing the means, care should be taken to adjust the mean values and the critical difference values accordingly.

## 10.5 Experimental Reliability

Reliability of experimental procedure, in its simplest form, can be verified with the help of coefficient of variations. The coefficient of variation is defined as

$$CV = \frac{S.D}{Grand Mean} \times 100.$$

Here the positive square root of error mean square in analysis of variance is taken as an estimate of the standard deviation. Thus, from the table of analysis of variance, one can work out the CV% as follows:

$$CV = \frac{\sqrt{ErMS}}{Grand Mean} \times 100.$$

Now the question is, what should be the range or the value of CV% for the information from an experiment to be taken reliable? There is no hard and fast rule to determine the cutoff value of CV % for an experiment is reliable; it depends on the condition of the experiment (laboratory condition, field condition, etc.), type of materials/ treatments tested in the experiment, desired precision from the experiment, etc. Generally the CV% should be less in experiments conducted under laboratory conditions compared to field experiments. Similarly CV% also depends on the type of field crop, size and shape of experimental units, etc. However, by and large, a CV% less than 20% is regarded as an indication for the reliability of the experiments. If the CV value is more than 20%, there is a need to verify the experimental procedure and need for emphasis on the reduction of experimental error.

## 10.6 Comparison of Means

The F-test in analysis of variance indicates the acceptance or the rejection of the null hypothesis. The F-test in analysis of variance can be significant even if only one pair of means among several pairs of means is significant. If the null hypothesis is rejected, we need to find out the means which are significantly different from each other and resulting the significance of F-test. Thus, comparison of treatment means becomes essential. The comparison of treatment means can be done either through pair comparison or through group comparison. In group comparison, two or more than two treatment means are involved in the process. Under the group comparison there are between-group comparison, within-group comparison, trend comparison, and factorial comparison. Pair comparison is the simplest and most commonly used method.

In the following section we will discuss pair comparison.

## 10.6.1 Pair Comparison

Quite a good number of test procedures are available for the purpose of comprising pair of treatment means. Among the methods *the least* significant difference test (LSD), also known as critical difference (CD) test; student Newman– Keuls test, Duncan multiple range test (DMRT), and Tukey's honestly significant difference test are commonly used. Again, among the four test procedures, the CD and the DMRT are mostly used.

## 10.6.1.1 CD/LSD Test

The essence of LSD test is to provide a single value at specified level of significance which serves as the limiting value of significant or nonsignificant difference between two treatment means. Thus, two treatment means are declared significantly different at the specified level of significance if the difference between the treatment means exceeds the LSD/CD value; otherwise they are not.

## **Calculation of LSD Values**

LSD = standard error of difference between two treatment means under comparison multiplied by the table value of *t* distribution at error degrees of freedom with specific level of significance.

Thus, for both-sided tests  $LSD_{\alpha}/CD_{\alpha} = SE(difference) \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2},error d.f.}$ 

The standard error of difference is calculated as

$$\mathrm{SE}_d = \sqrt{\mathrm{ErMS}\left(rac{1}{r_i} + rac{1}{r_{i'}}
ight)},$$

where  $r_i$  and  $r_{i'}$  are the replications/number of observations for the *i*th and the *i*'th treatment under comparison. For  $r_i = r_{i'}$  (in case of designs like RBD LSD), the CD values are calculated as



The LSD/CD test is most appropriate for comparing planned pair; in fact it is not advisable to use LSD for comparing all possible pairs of means. When the number of treatment is large, the number of possible pair of treatment means increases rapidly, and thereby, increasing the probability of significance of at least one pair of means will have the difference exceeding the LSD value. As a result LSD test is used only when the *F*-test for treatment effects is significant and the number of treatments is not too many, preferably less than six. LSD test is best used in comparing the control treatment with that of the other treatments.

#### 10.6.1.2 Duncan Multiple Range Test

In the experiment, very large numbers of treatment means are compared in number, as has been mentioned already, and thus, the LSD test is not suitable. The fact that LSD can be used only when the *F*-test is significant in the analysis of variance has prompted the use of Duncan multiple range test. Duncan multiple range test can be used irrespective of the significance or nonsignificance of the F-test in the analysis of *variance*. The essence of Duncan multiple range test calculation is that instead of using standard error of difference between the two means, we use standard error of mean in this case. The standard error of mean is multiplied by  $r_p$  values for different values of p (the number of treatment means involved in the comparison) from the statistical tables for significant studentized ranges at  $p = 2, 3, \ldots, t$  treatments with different error degrees of freedom.

Thus, if  $SE_m = \sqrt{\frac{ErMS}{r}}$ , then  $r_p \times SE_m$  gives us  $R_p$  value. This  $R_p$  is subtracted from the largest mean arranged in either ascending or descending order. All the means less than the above subtracted values are declared as significantly different from the largest mean. Other treatments whose values are larger than the above difference, these are compared with appropriate  $R_p$ values depending upon the number of treatment means to be compared. That means for three means to be compared with  $R_3$ , two means remain to be compared with  $R_2$  and so on. Let us demonstrate the procedure with the help of the following example. *Example 10.8.* Five treatments were used to test the superiority measured in terms of harvest index. The following information is noted. Find out the best treatment using DMRT.

Treatment means are as follows: 2.6, 2.1, 2.5, 1.0, and 1.2

ErMS = 0.925, error d.f. = 21, no. of observations per mean is 5.

**Solution.** Five treatment means are 2.6, 2.1, 2.5, 1.0, and 1.2 with error mean square = 0.925; replication, 5; and error degrees of freedom = 21.

At the first instance, arrange the mean in descending order, that is, 2.6, 2.5, 2.1, 1.2, and 1.0.

So the SE<sub>m</sub> = 
$$\sqrt{\frac{\text{ErMS}}{5}} = \sqrt{\frac{0.925}{5}} = 0.43$$
.

The  $R_p$  values for different p values at error degrees of freedom = 21 are read from the studentized range table and are as follows:

р	$R_p$ (0.05)	$R_p$
2	2.94	$2.94 \times 0.43 = 1.26$
3	3.09	$3.09 \times 0.43 = 1.329$
4	3.18	$3.18 \times 0.43 = 1.367$
5	3.24	$3.24 \times 0.43 = 1.39$

From the largest mean  $(t_1)$  2.6, we subtract the  $R_p$  value for the largest p = 5, that is, 1.39, to get 2.6 - 1.39 = 1.21.

Declare all the mean values which are less than this difference value as significantly different from the largest mean. In this case  $t_4$  and  $t_5$ are significantly different from  $t_1$ .

The difference between treatments  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  is 2.6 – 2.1 = 0.5. Since there are three treatment means not declared significantly different from  $t_1$ , we are to compare the above difference with  $R_3$  value, that is,  $R_3 = 1.329$ . The difference is less than the  $R_3$  value. So these treatments are not different significantly. Thus, the conclusion is that  $t_1$ ,  $t_2$ , and  $t_3$  are statistically at par while  $t_4$  and  $t_5$  are also statistically at par. The largest treatment mean is for treatment  $t_1$ . In the next few sections, some basic and complex experimental designs have been discussed.

# المنارات فكالإستشارات

## 10.7 Completely Randomized Design (CRD)

Among all experimental designs, completely randomized design (CRD) is the simplest one where only two principles of design of experiments, that is, replication and randomization, have been used. The principle of local control is not used in this design. CRD is being analyzed as per the model of one-way ANOVA. The basic characteristic of this design is that the whole experimental area (1) should be homogeneous in nature and (2) should be divided into as many numbers of experimental units as the sum of the number of replications of all the treatments. Let us suppose there are five treatments A, B, C, D, and E replicated 5, 4, 3, 3, and 5 times, respectively, then according to this design, we require the whole experimental area to be divided into 20 experimental units of equal size. Under laboratory condition, completely randomized design is the most accepted and widely used design.

Analysis

Let there be *t* number of treatments with  $r_1, r_2$ ,  $r_3, ..., r_t$  number of replications, respectively, in a completely randomized design. So the model for the experiment will be  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + e_{ij}$ ,  $i = 1, 2, 3, ..., t; j = 1, 2, ..., r_i$ ,

where

- $y_{ij}$  = response corresponding to the *j*th observation of the *i*th treatment
- $\mu = \text{general effect}$
- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th treatment and  $\sum r_i \alpha_i = 0$
- $e_{ij}$  = errors that are associated with the *j*th observation of the *i*th treatment and are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$ Assumption of the Model

The above model is based on the assumptions that the effects are additive in nature and the error components are identically, independently distributed as normal variate with mean zero and constant variance.

Hypothesis to Be Tested

 $H_0: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \dots = \alpha_i = \dots = \alpha_t = 0$ against the alternative hypothesis

 $H_1$ : All  $\alpha's$  are not equal

	Treatment									
Observations	1	2		i		t				
1	<i>y</i> <sub>11</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>21</sub>		<i>Yi</i> 1		$y_{t1}$				
2	<i>y</i> <sub>12</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>22</sub>		yi2		$y_{t2}$				
:	:	:		:		:				
:	:	:		:		:				
:	:	<i>y</i> <sub>2<i>r</i>2</sub>		:		:				
				:		:				
r <sub>i</sub>				<i>Yiri</i>		:				
:	<i>y</i> <sub>1<i>r</i>1</sub>					:				
:						$y_{tr_t}$				
Total	<i>Y1</i> 0	<i>y</i> <sub>20</sub>		<i>Yi</i> 0		$y_{t0}$				
Mean	$\overline{y}_{10}$	$\bar{y}_{20}$		$\bar{y}_{i0}$		$\bar{y}_{t0}$				

Table 10.7 Treatment structure of CRD

Table 10.8 ANOVA table for completely randomized design

Sources of variation	d.f.	SS	MS	F-ratio
Treatment	t - 1	TrSS	TrMS _ TrSS	TrMS
			$11M3 = \frac{t}{t-1}$	ErMS
Error	n-t	ErSS	E-MS ErSS	
			$EIMS = \frac{1}{n-t}$	
Total	n - 1	TSS		

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha$ . Let the observations of the total  $n = \sum_{i=1}^{t} r_i$  experimental units be as follows (Table 10.7):

The analysis for this type of data is the same as that of one-way classified data discussed in Chap. 1, Sect. 1.2. From the above table we calculate the following quantities (Table 10.8):

Grand total = 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{t} \sum_{j=1}^{r_i} (\text{observation}) = y_{11} + y_{21} + y_{31} + \dots + y_{trt} = \sum_{i=1}^{t} \sum_{j=1}^{r_i} y_{ij} = G.$$
  
Correction factor =  $\frac{G^2}{n} = CF.$   
Total sum of squares(TSS) =  $\sum_{i=1}^{t} \sum_{j=1}^{r_i} (\text{observation})^2 - CF = \sum_{i=1}^{t} \sum_{j=1}^{r_i} y_{ij}^2 - CF.$   
 $= y_{11}^2 + y_{21}^2 + y_{31}^2 + \dots + y_{tr_i}^2 - CF.$   
Treatment sum of squares(TrSS) =  $\sum_{i=1}^{t} \frac{y_{i0}^2}{r_i} - CF$ , where  $y_{i0} = \sum_{j=1}^{r_i} y_{ij}$ 

= sum of the observations for the *i*th treatment.

$$=\frac{y_{10}^2}{r_1}+\frac{y_{20}^2}{r_2}+\frac{y_{30}^2}{r_3}+\cdots\frac{y_{i0}^2}{r_i}+\cdots\frac{y_{i0}^2}{r_t}-CF$$

Error sum of squares(by subtraction) = TSS - TrSS = Erss.

If the calculated value of *F*-ratio corresponding to treatment is greater than the table value at  $\alpha$ level of significance with (t - 1), (n - t) degrees of freedom, that is,  $F_{\text{cal}} > F_{\text{tab}} \alpha; (t-1), (n-t)$ , the null hypothesis is rejected; otherwise, one cannot reject the null hypothesis. When the test is significant, one should find out which pair of treatments is significantly different and which treatment is either the best or the worst with respect to the particular characters under consideration. This is accomplished with the help of the least significant difference (critical difference) value per the given formula below:

$$\text{LSD}_{\alpha} = \sqrt{\text{ErMS}\left(\frac{1}{r_i} + \frac{1}{r_{i'}}\right)} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2},(n-t)}, \text{ where } i \text{ and}$$

*i'* refer to the treatments involved in comparison and *t* is the table value of *t* distribution at  $\alpha$  level of significance with (n - t) d.f. and

 $\sqrt{\text{ErMS}\left(\frac{1}{r_i} + \frac{1}{r_{i'}}\right)}$  is the standard error of difference (SE<sub>d</sub>) between the means for treatments *i* 

and i'. Thus, if the absolute value of the difference between the treatment means exceeds the corresponding CD value, then the two treatments are significantly different and the better treatment is adjudged based on the mean values commensurate with the nature of the character under study.

*Example 10.9.* An experiment was conducted with five varieties of wheat. The following data gives the weight of grains per hill (g) recorded from different varieties:

Varieties	Grai	n weig	ght(gn	1)/hill				
А	150		148		145		145	140
В	162		158		150	155	148	146
С	140	142	144	146	149	140	152	150
D	130		134		135		132	
Е	145		135	134	140	142	137	138

Analyze the data and draw the necessary conclusion.

This is a problem of completely randomized design with unequal replications. The fixed effect model for the purpose would be  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + e_{ij}$ , where  $\alpha_i$  is the effect of the *i*th variety, i = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5. That means the problem is to test

$$H_0: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = \alpha_5$$
 against  
 $H_1: \alpha_i$ 's are not all equal.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

Varieties					
	А	В	С	D	Е
	150	162	140	130	145
	148	158	142	134	135
	145	150	144	135	134
	145	155	146	132	140
	140	148	149		142
		146	140		137
			152		138
			150		
Sum $(y_{i0})$	728	919	1,163	531	971
Average $(\bar{y}_{i0})$	145.6	153.167	145.375	132.75	138.714

Grand total(GT) = 
$$150 + 148 + 145 + \dots + 142 + 137 + 138 = 4312$$
  
Correction factor(CF) =  $\frac{\text{GT}^2}{n} = \frac{4312^2}{30} = 619778.1$   
Total sum of squares(TSS) =  $150^2 + 148^2 + 145^2 + \dots + 142^2 + 137^2 + 138^2 - \text{CF} = 1737.867$   
Variety sum of squares(VSS) =  $\frac{728^2}{5} + \frac{919^2}{6} + \frac{1163^2}{8} + \frac{531^2}{4} + \frac{971^2}{7} - \text{CF} = 1231.78$   
Error sum of squares(ErSS) = TSS - VSS =  $1737.867 - 1231.78 = 506.087$ 

ANOVA				
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Variety	4	1231.780	307.945	15.212
Error	25	506.087	20.243	
Total	29	1737.867		

The table value of  $F_{0.05;4,25} = 4.18$ .

Thus,  $F(\text{cal}) > F(\text{tab})_{0.05;4,25}$ , so the test is significant and reject the null hypothesis of equality of grain weight per hill. We conclude that there exist significant differences among the five varieties of wheat with respect to grain weight per hill.

So, the next objective is to find out the varieties which differ significantly among themselves and the variety/varieties having significantly the highest weight per hill.

To compare the varieties we calculate the critical difference value, which is given as

$$\sqrt{\text{MSE}\left(\frac{1}{r_{i}} + \frac{1}{r_{i'}}\right) \times t_{0.025, \text{ err.d.f.}}}$$

$$= \sqrt{20.243 \left(\frac{1}{r_{i}} + \frac{1}{r_{i'}}\right)} \times t_{0.025, 25.}$$

$$= \sqrt{20.243 \left(\frac{1}{r_{i}} + \frac{1}{r_{i'}}\right)} \times 2.06,$$

where  $r_i$  and  $r_{i'}$  are the number of observations of the two varieties under comparison. Thus, for comparing the varieties, we have the following critical difference and mean difference values among the varieties:

	CD (0.05)	Mean difference	
Comparison	values	$ y_{i0} - y_{i'0} $	Conclusion
(Variety A–variety B)	5.612	7.567	Varieties are different
(Variety A–variety C)	5.284	0.225	Varieties are the same
(Variety A–variety D)	6.217	12.85	Varieties are different
(Variety A–variety E)	5.427	6.886	Varieties are different
(Variety B–variety C)	5.006	7.792	Varieties are different
(Variety B–variety D)	5.983	20.417	Varieties are different
(Variety B–variety E)	5.156	14.452	Varieties are different
(Variety C–variety D)	5.676	12.625	Varieties are different
(Variety C–variety E)	4.797	6.661	Varieties are different
(Variety D–variety E)	5.809	5.964	Varieties are different

Thus, variety B is the variety giving significantly the highest grain weight per hill followed by variety A and variety C, which are statistically at par.



Slide 10.9: Step 1 showing the data input for analysis of CRD using SAS



Slide 10.10: Step 2 showing the data input along with commands for analysis of CRD using SAS

🗱 SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]								- 0 <b>- X</b>
File Edit View Go Tools Solutions	Nindow Help D 😅 🔲 🌆 🕼 🐰 🗞 🛝 🕬	an 40 èn l + ⇒ 2	0					_ <i>θ</i> ×
Results						_		
Results				The SAS Sy	/stem			
B B ULM: The SHS System				The GLM Proc	cedure			1
				Class Level Info	ormation			
				Class Levels	Values			
				trt 5	12345			
			Numt	ber of Observati	ons Read 30			
			Numt	ber of Observati	ons Used 30			
	Dependent Variable: vid			The SAS Sy The GLM Proc	/stem cedure			
	Dependent vanable, ylu	Pauras	-	um of Courses	Mann Course	EValue	Dex E	
		Model	A	1231 770762	307 044040	15.21	< 0001	
		Error	25	506.086905	20.243476	10.21		
		Corrected Total	29	1737.866007	lot for yld by trt			
Presuta Spicrer	🖸 Output - (Untitled) 📄 Log - (Untitle	rd) Crd with	uneq repl	• P Results V	fiewer - SAS			
Done						C:\Users\	CC\Downloads\Desktop	\desktop matter\SAS
👩 🔹 🗔 💌								😵 - 🐗 🖻 16:17

Slide 10.11: Step 3 showing the portion of output for analysis of CRD using SAS



SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]								c	- 0 - X
File Edit View Go Tools Solution	Window Help	x Ro ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )		A 8					= 0 ×
Results				t Tests (	LSD) for y	d			
Results  GLM: The SAS System		Note: This tes	t controls the Type	I comparisor	wise error	rate, not the exp	erimentv	rise error rate.	
			Alph	a		0.05			
			Erro	r Degrees o	f Freedom	25			
			Erro	r Mean Squa	are	20.24348			
			Critic	cal Value of	t	2.05954			
			Comp	arisons sign are indi	ificant at ti cated by **	ne 0.05 level			
			trt Comparison	Difference Between Means	95% Con	fidence Limits			
			2 - 1	7.567	1.95	56 13.178	•••		1
			2 - 3	7.792	2.78	12.796	***		
			2 - 5	14.452	9.29	19.608	••••		
			2 - 4	20.417	14.43	26.398			
			1 - 2	-7.567	-13.17	-1.956	***		
			1 - 3	0.225	-5.05	58 5.508			
			1 - 5	6.886	1,46	12.312			
			1-4	12.850	6.63	19.066			-
Results	Output - (Untitled)	Log - (Untitled)	crd with uneq r	epli * P 💽 R	esults Viewer	- SAS _			
Done						C/	Users\CC\0	Jownloads\Desktop\desktop matter\SAS	
👩 🔹 😨 💌								🤣 - 🐗 🕅	16:17 11-09-2012

Slide 10.12: Step 3 showing the portion of output for analysis of CRD using SAS

File Edit View Go Tools Solutions Window Help						- 0
<ul> <li>D # 2 # 0.</li> </ul>	🐇 🗈 🕾 🕫 🖪 🗒 😨 🚉   🕈 🕸 8 Ö 🗛	1				
lesults D	2-4	20.417	14,435	26.398		
Results	1-2	-7.567	-13.178	-1.956	***	
	1-3	0.225	-5.058	5.508		
	1-5	6.886	1.460	12.312	***	
	1-4	12.850	6.634	19.066	***	
	3 - 2	-7.792	-12.796	-2.787		
	3 - 1	-0.225	-5.508	5.058		
	3 - 5	6.661	1.865	11.457	***	
	3 - 4	12.625	6.950	18.300	***	
	5 - 2	-14.452	-19.608	-9.297		
	5 - 1	-6.886	-12.312	-1.460	***	
	5 - 3	-6.661	-11.457	-1.865	***	
	5 - 4	5.964	0.156	11.772	***	
	4 - 2	-20.417	-26.398	-14.435		
	4 - 1	-12.850	-19.066	-6.634		
	4 - 3	-12.625	-18.300	-6.950		
	4 - 5	-5.964	-11.772	-0.156		
		The SAS	Svstem			
Results	Output - (Untitled) [ed)	P Res	ults Viewer - SAS .	-		
lone					sers\CC\Downloads\Desktop\desktop matter\SAS	

Slide 10.13: Step 3 showing the portion of output for analysis of CRD using SAS



👯 SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]									00	x
File Edit View Go Tools Soluti	ions Window Help								-	# ×
Results		9 40 63 Y 1 99 199		0 0 0 m   4						
Results				The G	LM Pr	ocedure				
GLM: The SAS System     GLM: The SAS System				Duncan's Mult	iple R	ange Te	st for y	ld		
		Note: This te	est controls	the Type I comparis	sonwise	e error ra	te, not	the exp	erimentwise error rate.	
				Alpha			(	.05		
				Error Degrees of	of Free	dom		25		
				Error Mean Squ	are		20.24	348		
				Harmonic Mean	of Ce	II Sizes	5.652	759		
				Note: Cell	sizes a	are not e	qual.			
				Number of Means	2	3	4	5		
				Critical Range	5.512	5.790	5.969	6.095		
		Distribution	of yid by trt	Means wi are not sig	ith the inifical	same le ntly diffe	tter rent.	1		
				Duncan Grou	ping	Mean	Ntr	t		1
				A		153.167	6 2			
				_						
	Dutout - (Untitled)	E Log - (Untitled)	Gerd and	with uneo repli * P	Result	Viewer -	SAS_			
P Hesuts Spore				]u				20	Iren CO Downloads Desiton desiton matter SAS	
👩 🔹 😨 R	X								🚱 - 🐗 🕅 11-09-2	112

Slide 10.14a: Step 3 showing the portion of output for analysis of CRD using SAS

File Edit View Go Tools Solutions Window Help	
· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
tesuits (0)	348
Results     Age GLM: The SAS System	759
	5
	6.095
	t
Results G Explorer Output - (Untitled)	
lone	C:\Users\CC\Downloads\Desktop\desktop matter\SAS

Slide 10.14b: Step 3 showing the portion of output for analysis of CRD using SAS



WWW.	n
------	---

*Example 10.10.* Seven varieties of wheat were tested for yield using CRD with 5 plots per variety. The following table gives the yields of

grain in quintal per acre. Test whether the 7 varieties differ significantly with respect to yield or not.

Variety A	Variety B	Variety C	Variety D	Variety E	Variety F	Variety G
18	19	17	18	21	20	19
14	19.5	15	14	21.5	16	13
16	20	14	19	22	17	17
17	22	20	21	23	19	18
15	18	16	14	22	15	14

**Solution.** The statement shows that the experiment was laid out in completely randomized design with seven varieties each replicated five times.

The model for the purpose is  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + e_{ij}$ , i = 7, j = 5 where

- $y_{ij} = j$ th observation for the *i*th variety
- $\mu$  = general effect
- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th variety

 $e_{ij}$  = errors that are associated with *j*th observation in the *i*th variety and are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$ So the problem is to test

 $H_0: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = \alpha_5 = \alpha_6 = \alpha_7$  against  $H_1: \alpha_i$ 's are not all equal.

Grand total(GT) =  $18 + 14 + 16 + \dots + 17 + 18 + 14 = 624.00$ Correction factor(CF) =  $\frac{\text{GT}^2}{n} = \frac{624^2}{35} = 11125.03$ Total sum of squares(TSS) =  $18^2 + 14^2 + 16^2 + \dots + 17^2 + 18^2 + 14^2 - \text{CF} = 268.471$ Variety sum of squares(VSS) =  $\frac{80^2}{5} + \frac{98.5^2}{5} + \frac{82^2}{5} + \frac{86^2}{5} + \frac{109.5^2}{5} + \frac{87.00^2}{5} + \frac{81.00^2}{5} - \text{CF} = 143.471$ Error sum of squares(ErSS) = TSS - VSS = 268.471 - 143.471 = 125.00

ANOVA				
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Variety	6	143.471	23.912	5.356
Error	28	125.000	4.464	
Total	34	268.471		

The table value of  $F_{0.05;6,28} = 2.45$ .

Thus,  $F(\text{cal}) > F(\text{tab})_{0.05;6,28}$ , so the test is significant and we reject the null hypothesis of equality of yields.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ . Let us construct the following table:

	А	В	С	D	Е	F	G
	18	19	17	18	21	20	19
	14	19.5	15	14	21.5	16	13
	16	20	14	19	22	17	17
	17	22	20	21	23	19	18
	15	18	16	14	22	15	14
Total $(y_{i0})$	80	98.5	82	86	109.5	87	81
Average $(\bar{y}_{i0})$	16	19.7	16.4	17.2	21.9	17.4	16.2

So, the next objective is to find out the varieties which differ significantly among themselves and the variety/varieties having significantly highest yield.

To compare the varieties we calculate the critical difference value, which is given as



where  $r_i$  and  $r_{i'}$  are the number of observations of the two varieties under comparison and for this problem all are equal to 5.

We arrange the mean values corresponding to different varieties in descending order and

Variety	Avg. yield (	q/acre)
Variety E	21.9	1
Variety B	19.7	
Variety F	17.4	1
Variety D	17.2	
Variety C	16.4	
Variety G	16.2	
Variety A	16	

compare the differences with CD value as

follows:

Varieties joined by the same line are statistically at par; that is, they are not significantly different among themselves. Thus, varieties E and B; varieties B, F, and D; and varieties F, D, C, G, and A are statistically at par. From the above, it is clear that variety E is by far the best variety giving highest yield followed by variety B, which are statistically at par, and variety A is the lowest yielder.



Slide 10.15: Step 1 showing the data for analysis of CRD using SAS





Slide 10.15A: Step 2 showing the portion of data and commands for analysis of CRD using SAS

🗱 SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]								- 0 - X
File Edit View Go Tools Solutions	Window Help							- 8 3
•		이 딸 의 🔹 🔹 8	0	An   🤣				
Results				The SAS S	ystem			i i
. GLM: The SAS System				The CLM Pro	cedure			1
		The GLin Procedure						
				Class Level In	formation			
				Class Levels	/alues			
				trt 7	234567			
			Nu	mber of Observa	tions Read 35			
			Nu	mber of Observa	tions Used 35			
					1			
Dep				The SAS S	system ocedure			
	Dependent Variable: yld							
		Source	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F	
		Model	6	143.4714286	23.9119048	5.36	0.0009	
		Error	28	125.0000000	4.4642857			
		Corrected Total	34	268.4714286	3			
Results	Output - (Untitled)	ed) 🖉 Editor - U	Intitle	2 * PR_ Results	Viewer - SAS			
Done						C:\Users\	CC\Downloads\Deskto	p\desktop matter\SAS
👩 🔹 😨 📧	*							🚱 - 🐗 🖗 16-09 11-09-2012

Slide 10.16: Step 3 showing the portion of output for analysis of CRD using SAS





Slide 10.17: Step 3 showing the portion of output for analysis of CRD using SAS

File Edit View Go Tools Solutions Window Help	- 6
<ul> <li>D 📽 🖬 🖨</li> </ul>	
asuits (D)	
P Results	
B-G GLM: The SAS system	
Results Q Epslorer	
ine	adr) Decision) decision matter) SAS

Slide 10.18: Step 3 showing the portion of output for analysis of CRD using SAS



## 10.8 Randomized Block Design (RBD)

Randomized block design uses all the three basic principles of experimental design, namely, (1) replication, (2) randomization, and (3) local control. Randomized complete block design (RCBD) or simply randomized block design (RBD) takes into account the variability among the experimental units in one direction. The whole experimental area is divided into a number of homogeneous blocks, each having a number of experimental units as the number of treatments. Blocking is done in such a way that the variations among the experimental units within the block are minimum (homogeneous). In doing so, blocking is done perpendicular to the direction of the variability of the experimental area. Thus, if the variability (may be fertility gradient) is in east–west direction, then blocking should be done in north–west direction.



Let there be *t* number of treatments, each to be replicated *r* number of times. So according to randomized block design, we should have *r* number of blocks each having *t* number of experimental units as follows (Table 10.9):

Thus, the total number of experimental units (plots) in randomized block design is "number of treatments (*t*)" multiplied by "number of replications (*r*)," that is, rt = n.

Analysis

Let us suppose that we have t number of treatments, each being replicated r number of times. The appropriate statistical model for RBD will be

$$y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + e_{ij}, i = 1, 2, 3, \cdots, t;$$
  
 $i = 1, 2, \cdots, r$ 

where

الألم للاستشارات

Table 10.9	Treatments a	and blocks	in RBD
------------	--------------	------------	--------

- $y_{ij}$  = response corresponding to *j*th replication/ block of the *i*th treatment
- $\mu$  = general effect
- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th treatment and  $\sum \alpha_i = 0$
- $\beta_j$  = additional effect due to the *j*th replication/ block and  $\sum \beta_j = 0$
- $e_{ij}$  = errors associated with *j*th replication/block of *i*th treatment and are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$

The above model is based on the assumptions that the effects are additive in nature and the error components are identically, independently distributed as normal variate with mean zero and constant variance.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha$ . *Hypothesis to Be Tested* The null hypotheses to be tested are

Replication/blocks				
Experimental unit	1	2	 r - 1	r
	1	<i>t</i> + 1	 (r-2)t + 1	(r-1)t+1
	2	<i>t</i> + 2	 (r-2)t+2	(r-1)t+2
	:	:	 :	:
	:	:	 :	:
	t	2t	 (r - 1)t	rt

Replications/blo	ocks							
Treatments	1	2		j		r	Total	Mean
1	<i>y</i> <sub>11</sub>	y <sub>12</sub>		$y_{1j}$		$y_{1r}$	<i>y</i> <sub>10</sub>	$\overline{y}_{10}$
2	<i>y</i> <sub>21</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>22</sub>		$y_{2j}$		y <sub>2r</sub>	<i>Y</i> 20	$\overline{y}_{20}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
i	$y_{i1}$	yi2		y <sub>ij</sub>		<i>y</i> <sub>ir</sub>	<i>Yi</i> 0	$\overline{y}_{i0}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
t	$y_{t1}$	$y_{t2}$		<i>Y</i> tj		<i>y</i> <sub>tr</sub>	y <sub>t</sub> 0	$\overline{y}_{t0}$
Total	<i>Y</i> 01	y <sub>02</sub>		$y_{0j}$		y <sub>0r</sub>	Уоо	
Mean	$\overline{y}_{01}$	$\overline{y}_{02}$		$\overline{y}_{0j}$		$\overline{y}_{0r}$		

Table 10.10 Summary of observations from RBD

Table 10.11 ANOVA table for RBD

SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F-ratio	Tabulated $F$ (0.05)	Tabulated $F(0.01)$
Treatment	t - 1	TrSS	$TrMS = \frac{TrSS}{t-1}$	TrMS ErMS		
Replication (block)	<i>r</i> – 1	RSS	$RMS = \frac{RSS}{r-1}$	RMS ErMS		
Error	$\begin{array}{l}(t-1)\\(r-1)\end{array}$	ErSS	$\mathrm{ErMS} = \frac{\mathrm{ErSS}}{(t-1)(r-1)}$			
Total	rt - 1	TSS				

$$H_0:(1) \ \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \cdots = \alpha_i = \cdots = \alpha_t = 0,$$
  
(2) 
$$\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \cdots = \beta_j = \cdots = \beta_r = 0$$

against the alternative hypotheses

$$H_1$$
:(1)  $\alpha$ 's are not equal,  
(2)  $\beta$ 's are not equal.

Let the observations of these n = rt units be as follows (Table 10.10):

The analysis of this design is the same as that of two-way classified data with one observation per cell discussed in Chap. 1, Sect. 4.2.3.2.

From the above table, we calculate the following quantities (Table 10.11):

Grand total = 
$$\sum_{i,j} y_{ij} = y_{11} + y_{21} + y_{31} + \dots + y_{tr} = G$$
  
Correction factor =  $\frac{G^2}{rt} = CF$   
Total sum of squares(TSS) =  $\sum_{i,j} y_{ij}^2 - CF = y_{11}^2 + y_{21}^2 + y_{31}^2 + \dots + y_{tr}^2 - CF$   
Treatment sum of squares(TrSS) =  $\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{t} y_{i0}^2}{r} - CF = \frac{y_{10}^2}{r} + \frac{y_{20}^2}{r} + \frac{y_{30}^2}{r} + \dots + \frac{y_{i0}^2}{r} + \dots + \frac{y_{i0}^2}{r} - CF$   
Replication sum of squares(RSS) =  $\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{t} y_{0j}^2}{t} - CF = \frac{y_{01}^2}{t} + \frac{y_{02}^2}{t} + \frac{y_{03}^2}{t} + \dots + \frac{y_{0j}^2}{t} + \dots + \frac{y_{0r}^2}{t} - CF$   
Error sum of squares(by subtraction) = TSS - TrSS - RSS

values If F-ratio the calculated of corresponding to treatment and replication is greater than the corresponding table value at the  $\alpha$  level of significance with (t-1), (t-1)(r-1) and (r-1), (t-1)(r-1) degrees of freedom, respectively, then the corresponding null hypothesis is rejected. Otherwise, we conclude that there exist no significant differences among the treatments/replications with respect to the particular character under consideration; all treatments/replications are statistically at par.

Upon rejection of the null hypothesis, corresponding LSD/CD is calculated using the following formula:

Replication:

$$\mathrm{LSD}_{\alpha}/(\mathrm{CD}_{\alpha}) = \sqrt{\frac{2\mathrm{ErMS}}{t}} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2};(t-1)(r-1)}$$
 and

Treatment:

$$LSD_{\alpha}(CD_{\alpha}) = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r}} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2};(t-1)(r-1);}$$

where t is the number of treatments and  $t_{\frac{\alpha}{2}:(t-1)(r-1)}$  is the table value of t at  $\alpha$  level of significance and (t-1)(r-1) degrees of freedom.

By comparing the mean difference among the replication/treatment mean with corresponding LSD/CD value, appropriate decisions are taken.

*Example 10.11*. An experiment was conducted with six varieties of paddy. The following table gives the layout and corresponding yield (q/ha).

Analyze the data and find out the best variety of paddy.

Rep-1	Rep-2	Rep-3	Rep-4
V2 28.8	V4 14.5	V3 34.9	V1 27.8
V3 22.7	V6 23.5	V5 17.7	V5 16.2
V5 17.0	V3 36.8	V2 31.5	V2 30.6
V6 22.5	V2 40.0	V4 15.0	V4 16.2
V4 16	V5 15.4	V1 28.5	V6 22.3
V1 27.3	V1 38.5	V6 22.8	V3 27.7

**Solution.** From the layout of the experiment, it is clear that the experiment has been laid out in randomized block design with six varieties in four replications.

So the model for RBD is given by  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + e_{ij}, i = 6, j = 4$  where,

 $y_{ij}$  = effect due to the *i*th variety in jth replicates  $\mu$  = general effect

 $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th variety

 $\beta_i$  = additional effect due to the *j*th replicate

 $e_{ij}$  = errors associated with *i*th variety in *j*th replicate and are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$ 

The hypotheses to be tested are

$$H_0: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = \alpha_5 = \alpha_6$$
 against  
 $H_1: \alpha_i$ 's are not all equal and  
 $H_0: \beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = \beta_4$  against  
 $H_1: \text{All } \beta_j$ 's are not all equal.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

We shall analyze the data in the following steps:

Make the following table from the given information.

Replication	V1	V2	V3	V4	V5	V6	Total (y <sub>0j</sub> )	Mean $\left(\bar{y}_{0j}\right)$
R1	27.30	28.80	22.70	16.00	17.00	22.50	134.30	22.38
R2	38.50	40.00	36.80	14.50	15.40	23.50	168.70	28.12
R3	28.50	31.50	34.90	15.00	17.70	22.80	150.40	25.07
R4	27.80	30.60	27.70	16.20	16.20	22.30	140.80	23.47
Total y <sub>i0</sub>	122.10	130.90	122.10	61.70	66.30	91.10	594.20	
Mean $\bar{y}_{i0}$	30.53	32.73	30.53	15.43	16.58	22.78		

Calculate the following quantities:

$$CF = \frac{G^2}{n} = \frac{594.20^2}{6 \times 4} = 14711.40167;$$
  

$$TSS = \sum Obs.^2 - CF = 27.3^2 + 28.8^2 + \dots + 16.2^2 + 22.3^2 - 14711.40167$$
  

$$= 16156.72 - 14711.40167 = 1445.318;$$
  

$$RSS = \frac{1}{6} \sum_{j=1}^{4} y_{0j}^2 - CF = \frac{1}{6} [134.3^2 + 168.7^2 + 150.4^2 + 140.8^2] - 14711.40167$$
  

$$= \frac{88940.98}{6} - 14711.40167 = 112.095;$$
  

$$TrSS = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^{6} y_{i0}^2 - CF = \frac{1}{4} [122.1^2 + 130.9^2 + 122.1^2 + 61.7^2 + 66.3^2 + 91.1^2] - 14711.40167$$
  

$$= \frac{63453.42}{4} - 14711.40167 = 1151.953;$$
  

$$ErSS = TSS - RSS - TrSS = 1445.318 - 112.095 - 1151.953 = 181.27,$$

where TSS, RSS, TrSS, and ErSS are the total, replication, treatment, and error sum of squares, respectively.

Construct the ANOVA table as given below.

ANOVA				
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Replication	3	112.095	37.365	3.091935
Variety	5	1151.953	230.3907	19.06471
Error	15	181.270	12.08467	
Total	23	1445.318		

The table value of  $F_{0.05;3,15} = 3.29$  and  $F_{0.05;5,15} = 2.90$ . Thus, we find that the test corresponding to replication is not significant, but the test corresponding to the effect of varieties is significant. So the null hypothesis of equality of replication effects cannot be rejected; that means there is no significant difference among the effects of the replications; they are statistically at par. On the other hand, the null hypothesis of equality of varieties. So we are to identify the varieties, which varieties are significant difference among the varieties, which varieties are significant differences among the varieties. So we are to identify the varieties, which varieties are significantly different from each other, and the best variety.

Calculate critical difference value at  $\alpha = 0.05$  using the following formula:

$$CD_{0.05}(Variety) = \sqrt{\frac{2MSE}{r}} \times t_{0.025,err.d.f.}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 12.085}{4}} \times t_{0.025,15}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 12.085}{4}} \times 2.131 = 5.238$$

Arrange the varietal mean values in descending order and compare the difference between any two treatment mean differences with that of the critical difference value. If the critical difference value be greater than the difference of two varietal means, then the treatments are statistically at par; there exists no significant difference among the means under comparison.

Variety	Mean yield	(bushe	els/acre)
V2	32.725		
V1	30.525		difference $< CD(0.05)$
V3	30.525	I	
V6	22.775		
V5	16.575		
V4	15.425		difference $< CD(0.05)$

Variety 2 is the best variety having highest yield, but variety 1 and variety 3 are also at par with that of variety 2. Variety 6 is significantly different from all other varieties. Variety 5 and variety 4 are statistically at par and are the lowest yielders among the varieties.

K SAS - [rbd * PROC ANOVA running]		0	x
File Edit View Tools Run Solutions	Window Help	(B)	8 ×
· ·	🗅 📽 🖬 🌆 🔃 🐇 🐜 🛍 🕫 🎒 🔐 🗚 X 🛈 🛷		
Results	ods rtf file="C:\Users\user\Desktop\BCKV\training data\dkp";		
₽ ReuNs	Bloata rbdj //*one can enter any other name for Data*/; Input TRNH REP YILD ; Cards; 1 1 27.3 2 1 28.6 3 1 22.7 4 1 26 5 1 17 6 1 22.5 1 2 36.5 2 2 40 5 2 35.5 2 2 40 5 2 35.5 2 3 34.9 4 3 25.5 3 3 34.9 4 3 15 3 3 34.9 4 3 15 5 3 15 5 3 15 5 3 17.7 4 4 16.2 5 5 15 5 15 5 15 5 15 5 15 5 15 5 15 5		B
	Class REP TRIN; Model YIELD - REP TRIN; Run;		
Results Splorer	Output - (Untitled)     Output - (Untitled)     I Log - (Untitled)     Results Viewer - SAS Ou.		
Autosave complete		C:\Users\CC\Downloads\Desktop\SAS design Ln 30, Col 1 Ln	
🚳 🔹 🛪 🖻	0	🤣 - 🐗 🖲 1703	12

Slide 10.19: Step 1 showing data input and commands for RBD analysis using SAS

The SAS System The SA	( lels
Peruits (I) Previt:	= 0 3
Class       Levels       Values         REP       4       1234         TRTN       6       123456         Number of Observations Read       24         Number of Observations Used       24	
REP       4       1234         TRTN       6       123456         Number of Observations Read       24         Number of Observations Used       24	
Number of Observations Read 24 Number of Observations Used 24 The SAS System	
Number of Observations Used  24 The SAS System The ANV/A Procedure	1
The SAS System	
Dependent Variable: YIELD	
Source DF Sum of Squares Mean Square F Value Pr > F	
Model 8 1264.048333 158.006042 13.07 <0001	
Error 15 181.270000 12.084667	
Corrected Lotal 23 1445.318333	
Cl/Users/CC/Downloads/Desistop/SAS design	17:03

Slide 10.20: Step 2 showing a portion of output for RBD analysis using SAS



😽 SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]												- 0 - X
File Edit View Go Tools Solution	s Window Help											- @ ×
-		이 딸 의	+ =	8 C	) An 🤣							
Results 0				N	umber of Obs	ervati	ons Read	24				^
ANOVA: The SAS System				N	umber of Obs	ervati	ons Used	24				
					The S/	AS Sy	stem					
					The ANO	VA Pro	ocedure					
	Dependent Variable: YIELD											
		Source		DF	Sum of Sa	lares	Mean So	uare F	Value	Pr > F		
		Model		8	1264.04	8333	158.000	5042	13.07	<.0001		
		Error		15	181.2	70000	12.084	1667				
		Correc	ted Tot	tal 23	1445.3	8333						
			R	-Squa	re Coeff Var	Root	MSE YIE	LD Mea	in			
			0	.87458	14.04093	3.4	76301	24.7583	33			
			Source	DF	Anova SS	Mean	Square I	F Value	Pr>I	E.		
			REP	3	112.095000	37	365000	3.09	0.059	D		
			TRTN	5	151.953333	230	390667	19.06	<.000	1		
Presults	Dutput - (Untitled)	ed)	rbd *	PROC	ANOVA ru	Results V	iewer - SAS .	-				
Done									C:\Users\(	C\Downloads\De	esktop\SAS design	
🚳 🔹 🛪 🖻	6										🕜 🕹 - 🐗	B 17:03 11:09-2012

Slide 10.21: Step 2 showing a portion of output for RBD analysis using SAS



Slide 10.22: Step 2 showing a portion of output for RBD analysis using SAS



🛠 SAS - [Results Viewer	- SAS Output]										x
File Edit View	Go Tools Soluti	ons Window Help								-	8)
			2 Ma (2) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		*						_
A Results				Error De	grees of	Freedom	1	15			1
ANOVA: The S	AS System			Error M	an Squar	re	1:	2.08467			
iii 👸 ANOVA: The S	AS System			Number of Mea	ns 2	3	1	4 5	6		
				Critical Range	5.239	5.492 5	5.64	9 5.756	5.833		
				Means with the same letter are not significantly differen							
				Duncar	Grouping	Grouping Mean N TR		TRTN			
				A		32.725	4	2			
				A		00.505					
				A		30.525	4	3			
				A		30.525	4	1			
						00.775		0			
				В		22.115	4	0			
				С		16.575	4	5			
				С							
				С		15.425	4	4			1
		I	La	1 -	100						
Results	Explorer	Output - (Untitled)	Log - (Untitled)	rbd * PROC ANOV	ru_ Re	sults Viewer	1-5/	<b>u</b> _			
Done								6	C:\Users\CC\Downlo	loads\Desktop\SAS design	
🚱 🛛 🖉 🖉	द्ध 💽 💈									🚱 - 🐗 🕅 1740 11-09-2	

Slide 10.23: Step 2 showing a portion of output for RBD analysis using SAS

## 10.9 Latin Square Design (LSD)

LSD is a design in which known sources of variation in two perpendicular directions, that is, north to south and east to west or south to north and west to east, could be taken into consideration. In this type of field, we require framing of blocks into perpendicular directions which take care of the heterogeneity in both directions. A Latin square is an arrangement of treatments in such a way that each treatment occurs once and only once in each row and each column. If t is the number of treatments, then the total number of experimental units needed for this design is  $t \times t$ . These  $t^2$  units are arranged in t rows and t columns. This type of experiments is rare in laboratory condition but can be conducted or useful in field conditions or greenhouse conditions. The two perpendicular sources of variations in greenhouse may be the difference among the rows of the plot and their distances from the greenhouses.

So while selecting an LSD design, an experimenter faces two problems: how to maintain the minimum replication and how to accommodate the maximum number of treatments in the



experiment. This makes the LSD design's applicability limited in field experimentations. The number of treatments in LSD design should generally lie in between four and eight. All these limitations have resulted in the limited use of Latin square design in spite of its high potentiality for controlling experimental errors.

#### Analysis

Let there be *t* treatments, so there should be *t* rows and *t* columns. So we need a field of  $t \times t$  experimental units. The appropriate statistical model for the analysis of the information from a  $t \times t$  LSD can be given as follows:

$$y_{ijk} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_i + v_k + e_{ijk}, i = j = k = t$$

Where

 $\mu$  = general effect

- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th treatment and  $\sum \alpha_i = 0$
- $\beta_j$  = additional effect due to the *j*th row and  $\sum r_i = 0$
- $v_k$  = additional effect due to the *k*th treatment and  $\sum c_k = 0$
- $e_{ijk}$  = errors that are associated with the *i*th treatment in the *j*th row and the *k*th column and are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$

<b>0 1 1 1</b>	1.6	00	140	E
Sources of variation	d.f.	22	MS	F-ratio
Treatment	t - 1	TrSS	TrMS - TrSS	TrMS
			$\frac{11}{t-1}$	ErMS
Row	t - 1	RSS	BMS – RSS	RMS
			$\operatorname{RMS} = \frac{t-1}{t-1}$	ErMS
Column	t - 1	CSS	PMS - CSS	CMS
			$\frac{1}{t-1}$	ErMS
Error	(t-1)(t-2)	ErSS	ErSS	
			$ErMS = \frac{1}{(t-1)(t-2)}$	
Total	$t^2 - 1$	TSS		

against

Table 10.12 ANOVA table for LSD

Hypothesis to Be Tested

$$H_0: (1) \ \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \dots = \alpha_i = \dots = \alpha_t = 0, \qquad H_1: (1) \ \alpha's \text{ are not equal}, (2) \ \beta_1 = \beta_2 = \dots = \beta_j = \dots = \beta_t = 0, \qquad (2) \ \beta's \text{ are not equal}, (3) \ \gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \dots = \gamma_k = \dots = \gamma_t = 0 \qquad (3) \ \gamma's \text{ are not equal}.$$

Analysis

From least square estimates, we have

$$\sum_{i, j, k} \sum_{k} (y_{ijk} - \bar{y}_{000})^2 = t \sum_{i} (\bar{y}_{i00} - \bar{y}_{000})^2 + t \sum_{j} (\bar{y}_{0j0} - \bar{y}_{000})^2 + t \sum_{k} (\bar{y}_{00k} - \bar{y}_{000})^2 + \sum_{i, j, k} (y_{ijk} - \bar{y}_{i00} - \bar{y}_{0j0} - \bar{y}_{00k} + 2\bar{y}_{000})^2,$$
  
TSS = Tr SS + RSS + CSS + ErSS,

where

اکم للاستشارات

$$\hat{\mu} = \bar{y}_{000}, \ \hat{\alpha}_i = \bar{y}_{i00} - \bar{y}_{000}, \\ \hat{\beta}_j = \bar{y}_{0j0} - \bar{y}_{000}, \\ \hat{\gamma}_k = \bar{y}_{00k} - \bar{y}_{000}, \\ \bar{y}_{000} = \text{mean of all } t^2 \text{ observations,}$$

 $\bar{y}_{i00}$  = mean of *t* observations from *i*th treatment,  $\bar{y}_{0j0}$  = mean of *t* observations from *j*th row,  $\bar{y}_{00k}$  = mean of *t* observations from *k*th column.

Various sums of squares are calculated using the following formulae (Table 10.12):

Grand total = 
$$\sum_{(i,j,k)\in D} y_{ijk} = G$$
  
Correction factor =  $\frac{(G)^2}{t^2} = CF$   
Total sum of squares(TSS) =  $\sum_{(i,j,k)\in D} y_{ijk}^2 - CF$ 

Treatment sum of squares(TrSS) =  $\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{t} y_{i00}^2}{t} - CF$ 

$$=\frac{y_{100}^2}{t}+\frac{y_{200}^2}{t}+\frac{y_{300}^2}{t}+\cdots+\frac{y_{300}^2}{t}+\cdots+\frac{y_{400}^2}{t}-CF$$

Row sum of squares(RSS) =  $\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{2} y_{0j0}^2}{t} - CF$ 

$$=\frac{y_{010}^2}{t}+\frac{y_{020}^2}{t}+\frac{y_{030}^2}{t}+\cdots+\frac{y_{030}^2}{t}+\cdots+\frac{y_{00}^2}{t}-CF$$

Column sum of squares(CSS) = 
$$\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{t} y_{00k}^2}{t} - CF$$
  
=  $\frac{y_{001}^2}{t} + \frac{y_{002}^2}{t} + \frac{y_{003}^2}{t} + \dots + \frac{y_{00k}^2}{t} + \dots + \frac{y_{00r}^2}{t} - CF$ 

Error sum of squares(by subtraction )

= TSS - TrSS - RSS - CSS

The null hypotheses are rejected at  $\alpha$  level of significance if the calculated values of *F*-ratio corresponding to treatment or row or column are greater than the corresponding table values at the same level of significance with the same (t - 1), (t - 1)(t - 2) degrees of freedom, respectively. When any one of the three null hypotheses is rejected, then LSD for treatments/ rows/columns is calculated  $\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS}}{t}} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2}(t-1)(t-2)}$ , where  $t_{\frac{\alpha}{2}(t-1)(t-2)}$  is the table value of *t* at  $\alpha$  level of significance with (t - 1)(t - 2) degrees of freedom.

If the absolute value of the difference between any pair of means of row/column/treatment is more than the critical difference value, as calculated above, then the row/column/treatment means are significantly different from each other; otherwise, they are not.

*Example 10.12.* Five varieties of wheat were tested using the Latin square design. The following information pertains to the yield data (q/ha) along with the layout of the above experiment. Analyze the data and find out the best variety.

Layout al	ong with yie	eld data (q/h	a)	
D 34.0	A 19.1	E 21.1	B 32.0	C 37.2
E 16.2	B 33.1	A 19.0	C 34.3	D 28.1
C 30.6	E 28.5	B 33.1	D 35.8	A 19.2
A 25.8	C 26.1	D 41.7	E 23.7	B 39.9
B 39.3	D 24.6	C 36.1	A 21.3	E 19.4

**Solution.** The model for LSD is  $y_{ijk} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + \gamma_k + e_{ijk}, i = j = k = 5$  where

- $y_{ijk}$  = effect due to the *i*th variety in the *j*th row and the *k*th column
- $\mu$  = general effect
- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th variety,  $\sum \alpha_i = 0$
- $\beta_j = \text{additional effect due to the } j\text{th row},$  $\sum \beta_j = 0$
- $\gamma_k = ext{additional effect due to the } k ext{th column}, \ \sum \gamma_k = 0$
- $e_{ijk}$  = errors that are associated with the *i*th variety in the *j*th row and *k*th column and are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$

The hypotheses to be tested are

$$H_0: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = \alpha_5, \\ \beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = \beta_4 = \beta_5, \\ \gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \gamma_3 = \gamma_4 = \gamma_5$$

against

 $H_1: \alpha_i$ 's are not all equal,

 $\beta_j$ 's are not all equal,  $\gamma_k$ 's are not all equal.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

Make the following two tables from the given information:

	C1	C2	C3	C4	C5	Total $(y_{0j0})$	Average $(\bar{y}_{0j0})$
R1	34	19.1	21.1	32	37.2	143.4	28.68
R2	16.2	33.1	19	34.3	28.1	130.7	26.14
R3	30.6	28.5	33.1	35.8	19.2	147.2	29.44
R4	25.8	26.1	41.7	23.7	39.9	157.2	31.44
R5	39.3	24.6	36.1	21.3	19.4	140.7	28.14
Total $(y_{00k})$	145.9	131.4	151	147.1	143.8	719.2	
Average $(\bar{y}_{00k})$	29.18	26.28	30.2	29.42	28.76		

	Varieties								
	А	В	С	D	Е				
	25.8	39.3	30.6	34	16.2				
	19.1	33.1	26.1	24.6	28.5				
	19	33.1	36.1	41.7	21.1				
	21.3	32	34.3	35.8	23.7				
	19.2	39.9	37.2	28.1	19.4				
Total (y <sub>ioo</sub> )	104.4	177.4	164.3	164.2	108.9				
Average $(\bar{y}_{ioo})$	20.88	35.48	32.86	32.84	21.78				

Calculate the following quantities:

$$CF = \frac{G^2}{t \times t} = \frac{719.20^2}{5 \times 5} = 20689.9;$$
  

$$TSS = \sum Obs.^2 - CF = 34.0^2 + 19.1^2 + \dots + 21.3^2 + 19.4^2 - 20689.9 = 1385.91;$$
  

$$RSS = \frac{1}{5} \sum_{j=1}^{5} y_{0j0}^2 - CF = \frac{1}{5} [143.4^2 + 130.7^2 + \dots + 140.7^2] - 20689.9456 = 74.498;$$
  

$$CSS = \frac{1}{5} \sum_{k=1}^{5} y_{00k}^2 - CF = \frac{1}{5} [145.9^2 + 131.4^2 + \dots + 143.80^2] - 20689.9456 = 44.178;$$
  

$$VSS = \frac{1}{5} \sum_{i=1}^{5} y_{i00}^2 - CF = \frac{1}{5} [104.4^2 + 177.4^2 + \dots + 108.9^2] - 20689.9456 = 947.146;$$
  

$$ErSS = TSS - RSS - CSS - VSS = 1385.914 - 74.498 - 44.178 - 947.146 = 320.091,$$

where TSS, RSS, CSS, VSS, and ErSS are the total, row, column, variety, and error sum of squares, respectively.

Construct the ANOVA table as given below.

ANOVA				
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Row	4	74.498	18.625	0.698
Column	4	44.178	11.045	0.414
Variety	4	947.146	236.787	8.877
Error	12	320.091	26.674	
Total	24	1385.914		

The table value of  $F_{0.05;4,12} = 3.26$ . Thus, we find that the calculated values of F are less, except for variety, than the corresponding table value. So the tests for row and columns are non-significant. We conclude that neither the row effects nor the column effects are significant. But the effects of varieties are significant. So we are to identify the best variety.

Calculate CD(0.05) using the following formula:

$$CD_{0.05}(Variety) = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times MSE}{t}} \times t_{0.025, \text{ err. d.f.}}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 26.674}{5}} \times t_{0.025, 12}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 26.674}{5}} \times 2.179$$
$$= 7.118.$$

Arrange the varietal mean values in descending order and compare the difference between any two treatment mean differences with that of the critical difference value. If the critical difference value is greater than the difference of two varietal means, then the treatments are statistically at par; there exists no significant difference among the means under comparison.

Variety	Avg. yield (q/h	a)
В	35.48	1
С	32.86	
D	32.84	I
Е	21.78	1
А	20.88	

Variety B is the best variety having the highest yield but variety C and variety D are also at par with that of variety B. Variety A and E are significantly different from the other three varieties and are also statistically at par with variety A as the lowest yielders among the varieties.

SAS - [Editor - Untitled1 * PRO	C GLM running	
File Edit View Tools Ru	n Solutions Window Help	- 0
~	• D 📽 🖬 🎯 Q 🙏 🐘 🖄 🕫 😫 😣 🗚 🛈 🛷	
suits	0 Edata latin;	
B Results	input row col trt yield;	
A GLAA The SAS Sustem	cards;	
Gotte The sec system	1.0 1.0 4.0 34.0	
	1.0 2.0 1.0 19.1	
	1.0 3.0 5.0 21.1	
	1.0 4.0 2.0 32.0	
	1.0 5.0 3.0 37.2	
	2.0 1.0 5.0 16.2	
	2.0 2.0 2.0 33.1	
	2.0 3.0 1.0 19.0	
	2.0 4.0 3.0 34.3	
	2.0 5.0 4.0 28.1	
	3.0 1.0 3.0 30.6	
	3.0 2.0 5.0 28.5	
	4 0 3 0 4 0 43 7	
	4.0 4.0 5.0 23.7	
	4.0 5.0 2.0 39.9	
	5.0 1.0 2.0 39.3	
	5.0 2.0 4.0 24.6	
	5.0 3.0 3.0 36.1	
	5.0 4.0 1.0 21.3	
	5.0 5.0 5.0 19.4	
	1	
	Sprog glas:	
	class row col trt;	
	model yield = row col trt;	
	means trt/tukey:	
	1	
Results	Output - (Untitled) 🗐 Log - (Untitled) 🕼 Editor - Untitled 1 * P 🐼 Results Viewer - SAS Ou	
E: 35 Lines Submitted.	C\\User\CC	Ln 35, Col 5
		- 1415
		💕 - 🐗 🕅 11-09-2012

Slide 10.24: Step 1 showing data entry and portion of commands for LSD analysis using SAS



Slide 10.25: Step 2 showing portion of data entry and commands for LSD analysis using SAS



The above analysis can also be done using SAS statistical software. The following few slides

present the data entry, command syntax, and the output for the same.

K SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]								- 0 ×
File Edit View Go Tools Solution	s Window Help							_ @ ×
· ·	🗋 🗗 🖬 🖉 🔃 🐇 🖻 🖏 🕫	🗊 🖞 🚉 🔶 🕷	8 O A	0				
Results (1)			T Cla Cla row col trt Number Number	he SAS S he GLM Pro ss Levels 5 5 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	vstem vocadure values 12345 12345 12345 12345 voors Read 25 voors Used 25			
Preula () Eptore	Dependent Variable: yield	Source Model Error	T T 12 12 tor - Untitled1 * PR	he SAS S he GLM Pro of Squares 065.823200 320.091200 _] @ Results	ystem cedure Mean Square 88.818600 26.674267 Viewer - SAS _	F Value 3.33	Pr > F 0.0236	
👩 🔹 🕫 💿								😍 - 🐗 🖗 1435 11-09-2012

Slide 10.26: Step 3 showing portion of output for LSD analysis using SAS

/	• D 📽 🖬 🖉 🗋 🐇 🗞 🕾 🗠	1 <b>3</b> 99 91 + 1	8 0	) An 🧶					
ults P Results	Dependent Variable: yield								
B GLM: The SAS System		Source	DE	Sum of Sau	ares Mea	n Square	E Value	Pr > F	
		Model	12	1065.82	3200 8	8.818600	3.33	0.0236	
		Error	12	320.09	1200 2	6.674267			
		Corrected To	tal 24	1385.91	4400				
					1				
			R-Squa	are Coeff Var	Root MS	E yield M	ean		
			0.7690	40 17.95298	5.16471	4 28.76	800		
		Source	DF	Type I SS	Mean Squ	are F Val	ue Pr>	F	
		row	4	74.4984000	18.6246	000 00.	70 0.607	7	
		col	4	44.1784000	11.04460	000 00.	41 0.795	i4	
		trt	4	947.1464000	236.7866	8.	88 0.001	4	
		Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Squ	are F Val	ue Pr>	F	
		row	4	74.4984000	18.6246	000 0.	70 0.607	7	
		col	4	44.1784000	11.0446	000 00.	41 0.795	4	
		trt	4	947.1464000	236.7866	8.	88 0.001	4	
esuita 9.1 Explorer	Output - (Untitled)	ntitled) 🔣 Edit	or - Untit	ed1 * PR	esults Viewer	SAS			
						1	C (Users)		

Slide 10.27: Step 3 showing portion of output for LSD analysis using SAS





Slide 10.28: Step 3 showing portion of output for LSD analysis using SAS

File Edit View Go Tools Solutions Wir	ndow Help				-		(0)	- 0
· • •			0 m @					
lesuits 0	Note: This test controls the	Type I experim	entwise error rate, I	but it gen	eral	y has a hi	gher Type II error rate than REGWQ.	
GLM: The SAS System		Alpha				0.0	5	
		Error D	egrees of Freedo	m		1	2	
		Error N	Error Mean Square 2				7	
		Critical	Value of Student	ized Ra	nge	4.5076	õ	
		Minimu	m Significant Diff	erence		10.41	1	
		Means with the same letter are not significantly different.			etter	t.		
			Tukey Grouping	Mean	Ν	trt		
			A	35.480	5	2		
			A					
			A	32.860	5	3		
			A .	22.040				
			0	52.040	5	*		
			В	21.780	5	5		
			В					
			В	20.880	5	1		
								-
Al Fan de De la Fanisser	Output - (Untitled)	Editor - Unt	tied1 * PR_ Result	ts Viewer -	SAS			
Aessage Line					_		\Usen\CC	
👧 🛛 🗿 🧊 🖸 🐼 📟							a 🛛 🛛 🖓	14:36

Slide 10.29: Step 3 showing portion of output for LSD analysis using SAS



## 10.10 Missing Plot Technique

In many of the experiments, it is found that the information from an experimental unit is missing because of some reasons or otherwise. Responses from a particular experimental unit may be lost. Crops of a particular experimental unit may be destroyed, animals under a particular treatment may die because of some reason, fruits/flowers from a particular experimental unit may be stolen, errors on the part of the data recorder during recording time, etc., may result in missing data. In this connection, the difference between the missing observation and the zero observation should be clearly understood. For example, if because of an insecticide treatment, the number of insects count per plant is zero or if because of a treatment in studying the pest control measure the yield of any experimental units is zero, then these should be entered zero, not to be treated as missing values. If the information from the whole experiments is to be discarded because of one or two missing values, it will be a great loss of time, resources, and other factors. In order to avoid and overcome the situations, missing plot technique has been developed. Missing observation can, however, be estimated following the least square technique, and application of analysis of variance with some modification can be used for practical purposes to provide reasonably correct result.

In CRD, the above technique is of little use because of the fact that in CRD, analysis of variance is possible with variable number of replications for different treatments. Thus, if one observation from a treatment is missing, then analysis of variance is to be taken up with (r-1) replication for the corresponding treatment and total (n-1) number of observations instead of *n* observation for the whole experiment. But the effect of missing observations on the surrounding experimental units should be noted carefully.

#### 10.10.1 Missing Plot Technique in RBD

Let the following table provide the observations of an RBD with a missing observation  $y_{ij}$  (Table 10.13):

With reference to the above table, the observation  $y_{ij}$  is missing. This missing value  $y_{ij} = y$  (say) is estimated by minimizing error sum of squares, and the corresponding estimate would be

$$y = \frac{ty'_{i0} + ry'_{0j} - y'_{00}}{(r-1)(t-1)}$$

where

- $y'_{i0}$  is the total of known observations in the *i*th treatment
- $y'_{0j}$  is the total of known observations in *j*th replication (block)

 $y'_{00}$  is the total of all known observations

Once the estimated value for the missing observation is worked out, the usual analysis of variance is taken up with the estimated value of the missing observation. The treatment sum of squares is corrected by subtracting the upward bias

	Replications (blocks)						
Treatments	1	2		j		r	Total
1	<i>y</i> <sub>11</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>12</sub>		$y_{1j}$		$y_{1r}$	y <sub>10</sub>
2	<i>y</i> <sub>21</sub>	<i>Y</i> 22		$y_{2j}$		y <sub>2</sub> r	<i>y</i> <sub>20</sub>
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
i	<i>Yi</i> 1	y <sub>i2</sub>	••••	_		<i>Yir</i>	<i>y</i> ′ <i>i</i> 0
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
t	y <sub>t1</sub>	y <sub>t2</sub>	••••	$y_{tj}$		<i>y</i> <sub>tr</sub>	$y_{t0}$
Total	<i>y</i> <sub>01</sub>	<i>Y</i> 02		y'oj		Yor	y'00

Table 10.13 Observations from RBD with one missing value

الألم للاستشارات

$$B = \frac{\left[y'_{0j} - (t-1)y\right]^2}{t(t-1)}.$$

The degrees of freedom for both total and error sum of squares are reduced by one in each case. The treatment means are compared with the mean having missing value and no missing value using the formula for standard error of difference as

$$SE_d = \sqrt{\frac{ErMS}{r}} \left[ 2 + \frac{t}{(r-1)(t-1)} \right]$$

*Example 10.13.* An experiment with six varieties of onion was conducted using RBD with four replications. The following table gives the layout and data pertaining to yield (t/ha) from the experiment. Analyze the data and find out the best variety of onion.

Rep-1	Rep-2	Rep-3	Rep-4
V1 17.8	V2 23.8	V3 27.9	V4 15.5
V5 19.2	V3 26.7	V5 19.7	V6 23.5
V2 23.6	V5	V2 23.5	V3 26.8
V4 16.2	V6 22.5	V4 15.0	V2 24.0
V6 22.3	V4 16	V1 18.5	V5 19.4
V3 27.7	V1 17.3	V6 22.8	V1 18.5

As per the given information, the appropriate model is given by  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + e_{ij}$ 

where i = 6, j = 4

 $y_{ij}$  = effect due to the *i*th variety in *j*th replicates  $\mu$  = general effect

 $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th variety

 $\beta_i$  = additional effect due to the *j*th replicate

 $e_{ij}$  = errors that are associated with the *i*th variety in the *j*th replicate and are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$ The hypotheses to be tested are

> $H_0: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = \alpha_5 = \alpha_6,$  $\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = \beta_4$

against

 $H_1: \alpha_i$ 's are not all equal,

 $\beta_i$ 's are not all equal.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

We shall analyze the data in the following steps: Make the following table from the given



Variety	Rep-1	Rep-2	Rep-3	Rep-4	Total
V1	17.8	17.3	18.5	18.5	72.10
V2	23.6	23.8	23.5	24	94.90
V3	27.7	26.7	27.9	26.8	109.10
V4	16.2	16	15	15.5	62.70
V5	19.2	X	19.7	19.4	58.30
V6	22.3	22.5	22.8	23.5	91.10
Total	126.80	106.30	127.40	127.70	488.20

The estimate of the missing value is given by

$$\hat{y}_{ij} = X = \frac{rR' + tT' - G'}{(r-1)(t-1)}$$

where

- X = estimate of the missing value
- R' = total of available entries of the replication having the missing observation
- T' = total of available entries of the treatment having the missing observation
- G' = total of available entries in the whole design

For this problem 
$$X = \frac{rR' + tT' - G'}{(r-1)(t-1)} = \frac{4 \times 106.3 + 6 \times 58.3 - 488.2}{(4-1)(6-1)} = 19.12.$$

Now, G = G' + X = 488.2 + 19.12 = 507.32Total of variety five = 58.30 + X = 77.42Total of replication four = 106.30 + X = 125.42

Now we proceed for usual analysis of variance is taken up with the estimated values of the missing observation.

$$CF = \frac{GT^2}{n} = \frac{507.32^2}{6 \times 4} = 10723.90,$$
  

$$TSS = \sum Obs.^2 - CF = 18.5^2 + 19.7^2 + \cdots + 19.12^2 + 17.3^2 - 10723.90 = 363.20,$$
  

$$RSS = \frac{1}{6} \sum_{j=1}^{4} R_j^2 - CF = \frac{1}{6} [127.4^2 + 127.7^2 + 126.8^2 + 106.3^2] - 10723.90 = 0.51,$$
  

$$TrSS = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^{6} V_i^2 - CF = \frac{1}{4} [72.1^2 + 94.9^2 + 109.1^2 + 62.7^2 + 77.42^2 + 91.1^2] - 10723.90 = 359.00.$$

The TrSS is an overestimate and has to be corrected by subtracting from a quantity (bias)
$$B = \frac{[R' - (t - 1)X]^2}{t(t - 1)}$$
$$= \frac{[106.30 - (6 - 1)19.12]^2}{6(6 - 1)} = 3.816$$

Corrected TrSS = TrSS -B= 359.00 - 3.816 = 355.18;

$$ErSS = TSS - RSS - TrSS(corrected)$$
  
= 363.20 - 0.51 - 355.18 = 7.50.

where TSS, RSS, TrSS, and ErSS are the total, replication, treatment, and error sum of squares, respectively.

Construct the ANOVA table as given below with the help of the above sum of squares values.

ANOVA				
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Replication	3	0.51	0.17	0.31733
Variety	5	359.00	71.80	272.38
Error	14	3.69	0.2636	
Total	22	363.20		
Variety (corrected)	5	355.18	71.036	132.51
Error	14	7.506	0.5361	

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

Thus, one can find that the varietal effects differ significantly among themselves. So we are to calculate the CD values for comparing the treatment means.

The treatment means having no missing value are compared by usual CD value given as

$$CD_{0.05} = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r}} \times t_{0.025, \text{ error df}}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.5361}{4}} \times t_{0.025, 14}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.5361}{4}} \times 2.145 = 1.110.$$

The treatment means are compared with the mean having missing values using the formula for standard error of difference as



$$SE_d = \sqrt{\frac{ErMS}{r} \left[2 + \frac{t}{(r-1)(t-1)}\right]}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{0.2636}{4} \left[2 + \frac{6}{(4-1)(6-1)}\right]} = 0.398.$$

Thus, to compare the variety having missing value (V5) with the other varieties having no missing value,  $SE_d \times t_{0.025,14} = 0.398 \times 2.145 = 0.854$ .

Variety	Average yield
V3	27.28
V2	23.73
V6	22.78
V5	19.36
V1	18.03
V4	15.68

From the table of means it is clear that variety V3 is the highest yielder followed by V2, V6, and so on.

## 10.10.2 Missing Plot Technique in LSD

For a missing observation in  $t \times t$  Latin square, let it be denoted by  $y_{ijk}$  and let T', R', C', and G'be the total of available observations (excluding the missing value) of *i*th treatment, *j*th row, *k*th column, and all available observations, respectively; then the least square estimate for the missing value is given by

$$\hat{y} = \frac{t(T' + R' + C') - 2G'}{(t-1)(t-2)}$$

Once the estimated value for the missing observation is worked out, the usual analysis of variance is taken up with the estimated value of the missing observation. The treatment sum of squares is to be corrected by subtracting the upward biased

$$B = \frac{\left[(t-1)T' + R' + C' - G'\right]^2}{\left[(t-1)(t-2)\right]^2}$$

The degrees of freedom for both total and error sum of squares is reduced by one in each case. The treatment means are compared with the mean having missing value using the formula for standard error of difference as

$$SE_d = \sqrt{\frac{ErMS}{t} \left[2 + \frac{t}{(t-1)(t-2)}\right]}$$

*Example 10.14.* Five varieties of paddy were tested in LSD for yield. The following is the layout and responses due to different treatments with a missing value in variety 3. Estimate the missing yield and find out which variety is the best yielder among the varieties of paddy.

V1 10.5	V4 9.5	V5 13.0	V3 14.5	V2 17.5
V4 10.0	V2 16.5	V1 11.0	V5 12.5	V3 13.5
V5 13.5	V3	V4 9.0	V2 17.0	V1 12.0
V3 14.0	V5 12.75	V2 17.6	V1 10.0	V4 10.0
V2 17.9	V1 11.5	V3 14.5	V4 10.5	V5 12.25

**Solution.** The model for LSD is  $y_{ijk} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + \gamma_k + e_{ijk}$ where i = j = k = 5

 $y_{ijk}$  = effect due to the *i*th variety in the *j*th row and the *k*th column

 $\mu$  = general effect

- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th variety  $\sum_i \alpha_i = 0$
- $\beta_j = \text{additional effect due to the } j\text{th row}$  $\sum_j \beta_j = 0$
- $\gamma_k = \text{additional effect due to the } k\text{th column}$  $\sum_k \gamma_k = 0$
- $e_{ijk}$  = errors that are associated with the *i*th variety in the *j*th row and the *k*th column and are i.i.d.  $N(0, \sigma^2)$ .

The hypotheses to be tested are

$$H_0: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = \alpha_5 ,$$
  

$$\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = \beta_4 = \beta_5,$$
  

$$\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \gamma_3 = \gamma_4 = \gamma_5$$
  
against

 $H_1$ :  $\alpha_i$ 's are not all equal,

 $\beta_i$ 's are not all equal,

 $\gamma_k$ 's are not all equal.

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

We shall analyze the data in the following steps: Make the following two tables from the given information.

	C1	C2	C3	C4	C5	Total $(y_{0j0})$	Average $(\bar{y}_{0j0})$
R1	10.5	9.5	13.0	14.5	17.5	65.0	13.0
R2	10.0	16.5	11.0	12.5	13.5	63.5	12.7
R3	13.5	V3	9.0	17.0	12.0	51.5	12.9
R4	14.0	12.75	17.6	10.0	10.0	64.35	12.9
R5	17.9	11.5	14.5	10.5	12.25	66.65	13.3
Total $(y_{00k})$	65.9	50.25	65.1	64.5	65.25	311	
Average $(\bar{y}_{00k})$	13.18	12.563	13.02	12.9	13.05		
		Varieties					
		V1	V2		V3	V4	V5
		10.5	17.5		14.5	9.5	13
		11	16.5		13.5	10	12.5
		12	17		у	9	13.5
		10	17.6		14	10	12.75
		11.5	17.9		14.5	10.5	12.25
Total $(y_{i00})$		55	86.5		56.5	49	64
Average $(\bar{y}_{i00})$		11	17.3		14.125	9.8	12.8



$$\hat{y} = X = \frac{t(R' + C' + T') - 2G'}{(t - 1)(t - 2)}$$
$$= \frac{5(51.5 + 50.25 + 56.5) - 2 \times 311}{(5 - 1)(5 - 2)} = 14.104$$

where

X = estimate of the missing value

R' = total of available entries of the row having the missing observation

- T' = total of available entries of the variety V3 having the missing observation
- C' = total of available entries of the column having the missing observation

G' = total of available entries in the whole design Now, G = G' + X = 311 + 14.104 = 325.104Total of variety three = 56.5 + X = 70.604Total of row three = 51.5 + X = 65.604Total of column two = 50.25 + X = 64.354Calculate the following quantities:

$$CF = \frac{G^2}{t \times t} = \frac{325.104^2}{5 \times 5} = 4227.704,$$
  

$$TSS = \sum Obs.^2 - CF = 10.5^2 + 9.5^2 + \dots + 10.5^2 + 12.25^2 - 4227.704 = 176.7634,$$
  

$$RSS = \frac{1}{5} \sum_{j=1}^5 y_{0,0}^2 - CF = \frac{1}{5} \left[ 65^2 + 63.5^2 + \dots + 66.65^2 \right] - 4227.704 = 1.151531,$$
  

$$CSS = \frac{1}{5} \sum_{k=1}^5 y_{0,0k}^2 - CF = \frac{1}{5} \left[ 65.9^2 + 64.354^2 + \dots + 65.25^2 \right] - 4227.704 = 0.309531,$$
  

$$VSS = \frac{1}{5} \sum_{i=1}^5 y_{i,00}^2 - CF = \frac{1}{5} \left[ 55^2 + 86.5^2 + 70.604^2 + 49^2 + 64^2 \right] - 4227.704 = 170.1305,$$
  

$$ErSS = TSS - RSS - CSS - VSS = 176.7634 - 1.151531 - 0.309531 - 170.1305 = 5.171792$$

where TSS, RSS, CSS, VSS, and ErSS are the total, row, column, variety, and error sum of squares, respectively.

The upward bias is calculated as follows:

$$B = \frac{(G' - R' - C' - (t - 1)T')^2}{[(t - 1)(t - 2)]^2}$$
$$= \frac{(311 - 51.5 - 50.25 - (5 - 1)56.3)^2}{[(5 - 1)(5 - 2)]^2} = 1.948$$

Construct the ANOVA table as given below using the above values:

ANOVA				
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Row	4	1.152	0.288	<1
Column	4	0.309	0.077	<1
Variety	4	170.131		
Error	11	5.172		
Total	23	176.763		
Variety		168.182	42.046	<mark>6</mark> 4.957
(corrected)				
Error		7.120	0.647	
للاستش				

The table value of  $F_{0.05;4,11} = 3.36$ . Thus, we find that the calculated values of *F* are less than the corresponding table value, except for variety. So the tests for row and columns are nonsignificant. We conclude that neither the row effects nor the column effects are significant. But the effects of varieties are significant. So we are to identify the best variety.

To compare the varietal means involving no missing value, the CD(0.05) is calculated using the following formula:

$$CD_{0.05}(Variety) = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times MSE}{t}} \times t_{0.025, \text{ err.df.}}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times MSE}{5}} \times t_{0.025, 11}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.647286}{5}} \times 2.201 = 1.12$$

and

to compare the varietal means with variety 3, involving missing value, the CD(0.05) is calculated using the following formula:

$$CD_{0.05}(Variety) = \sqrt{\frac{MSE}{t} \left(2 + \frac{t}{(t-1)(t-2)}\right)} \times t_{0.025, \text{ err.df.}} = \sqrt{\frac{MSE}{t} \left(2 + \frac{t}{(t-1)(t-2)}\right)} \times t_{0.025, 11}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{0.647286}{5} \left(2 + \frac{5}{4 \times 3}\right)} \times 2.201 = 1.231.$$

Variety	Mean yield
V2	17.30
V3	14.12
V5	12.80
V1	11.00
V4	9.80

Comparing the varietal differences with appropriate CD values, it can be inferred that all the varieties are significantly different from each other. Variety V2 is the best yielder, while variety V4 is the lowest yielder.

# 10.11 Factorial Experiment

Instead of conducting many single-factor experiments to fulfill the objectives, a researcher is always in search of experimental method in which more than one set of treatments could be tested or compared. Moreover, if the experimenter not only wants to know the level or the doses of individual factor giving better result but also wants to know the combination/interaction of the levels of different factors which is producing the best result, factorial experiment is the answer. For example, an experimenter may be interested to know not only the best dose of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium but also the best dose combination of these three essential plant nutrients to get the best result in guava. This can be done by designing his experiment in such a way that the best levels of all these three factors, N, P, and K, can be identified along with the combination of N, P, and K to get the best result. Factorial experiments are the methods for inclusions of more than one factor to be compared for their individual effects as well as interaction effects in a single experiment. The essential analysis of factorial experiments is accomplished through two-way analysis of variance, as already discussed and other methods.



# Factors

A factor is a group of treatments. In a factorial experiment different varieties may form a factor and different doses of nitrogen or different irrigation methods may form other factors in the same experiment. Here variety, nitrogen (irrespective dose), and irrigation schedule (irrespective of types) are the factors of the experiment.

## Levels of Factors

Different components of a factor are known as the levels of the factor. Different varieties under the factor variety form the level of the factor variety; similarly doses of nitrogen, types of irrigation, etc., are the levels of the factors nitrogen, irrigation, etc., respectively.

# **10.11.1** *m* × *n* Factorial Experiment

The dimension of a factorial experiment is indicated by the number of factors and the number of levels of each factor. Thus, a  $3 \times 4$  factorial experiment means an experiment with 2 factors, one with 3 levels and another with 4 levels.

Let us assume that an  $m \times n$  experiment is conducted in a randomized block design with *r* replication. So there would be two factors: the first factor is having *m* levels and the second factor is having *n* levels and, all together,  $m \times n$ treatment combinations in each replication. Thus, the model for the design can be presented as  $y_{ijk} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + (\alpha\beta)_{ij} + \gamma_k + e_{ijk}$ 

where i = 1, 2, ..., m; j = 1, 2, ..., n; k = 1, 2, ..., r

- $y_{ijk}$  = response in the *k*th observation due to the *i*th level of the first factor A and the *j*th level of the second factor B
- $\mu$  = general effect
- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th level of first factor A,  $\sum \alpha_i = 0$

В	Repli	cation 1			Replic	Replication 2				Repli	Replication r		
А	$b_1$	$b_2$	b <sub>j</sub>	b <sub>n</sub>	<b>b</b> <sub>1</sub>	$b_2$	b <sub>j</sub>	b <sub>n</sub>		$b_1$	<b>b</b> <sub>2</sub>	b <sub>j</sub>	b <sub>n</sub>
a <sub>1</sub>	y <sub>111</sub>	y <sub>121</sub>	y <sub>1j1</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>1<i>n</i>1</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>112</sub>	y <sub>122</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>1<i>j</i>2</sub>	$y_{1n2}$		<i>y</i> <sub>11<i>r</i></sub>	$y_{12r}$	y <sub>1jr</sub>	$y_{1nr}$
a <sub>2</sub>	<i>y</i> 211	<i>Y</i> 221	<i>Y</i> 2 <i>j</i> 1	<i>y</i> <sub>2<i>n</i>1</sub>	<i>y</i> 212	<i>Y</i> 222	<i>Y</i> 2 <i>j</i> 2	<i>Y</i> 2 <i>n</i> 2		<i>y</i> <sub>21</sub> <i>r</i>	<i>y</i> <sub>22</sub> <i>r</i>	y <sub>2jr</sub>	$y_{2nr}$
:	:	:											
:	:	:											
a <sub>i</sub>	<i>Yi</i> 11	<i>Yi</i> 21	y <sub>ij1</sub>	yin1	<i>Yi</i> 12	<i>Yi</i> 22	y <sub>ij2</sub>	yin2		$y_{i1r}$	y <sub>i2r</sub>	<i>Y</i> <sub>ijr</sub>	<i>y</i> inr
:	:	:	:										
:	:	:	:										
a <sub>m</sub>	$y_{m11}$	<i>Y</i> <sub>m21</sub>	y <sub>mj1</sub>	$y_{mn1}$	<i>Y</i> <sub>m12</sub>	<i>Y</i> <sub>m22</sub>	$y_{mj2}$	Y <sub>mn2</sub>		$y_{m1r}$	$y_{m2r}$	<i>Y</i> <sub>mjr</sub>	y <sub>mnr</sub>

Table 10.14 Plot-wise observations from factorial RBD experiment

- $\beta_j =$  additional effect due to the *j*th level of B,  $\sum \beta_j = 0$
- $(\alpha\beta)_{ij}$  = interaction effect of the *i*th level of the first factor and the *j*th level of B,  $\sum_{i} (\alpha\beta)_{ij} = \sum_{i} (\alpha\beta)_{ij} = 0$
- $\gamma_k$  = additional effect due to the *k*th replicate,  $\sum \gamma_k = 0$
- $e_{ijk}$  = error component associated with the *i*th level of the first factor and the *j*th level of B in *k*th replicate and  $e_{ijk} \sim \text{i.i.d. } N(0, \sigma^2)$

We have the following hypotheses for  $m \times n$  factorial experiment in RBD to be tested:

 $H_{01}: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \dots = \alpha_i = \dots = \alpha_m = 0,$   $H_{02}: \beta_1 = \beta_2 = \dots = \beta_j = \dots = \beta_n = 0,$   $H_{03}: \gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \dots = \gamma_k = \dots = \gamma_r = 0,$  $H_{04}: \text{All } (\alpha\beta)_{ij} \text{s are equal}$ 

against the alternative hypotheses

 $H_{11}$ : All  $\alpha$ 's are not equal,  $H_{12}$ : All  $\beta$ 's are not equal,  $H_{13}$ : All  $\gamma$ 's are not equal,  $H_{14}$ : All  $(\alpha\beta)$ 's are not equal.

Let the level of significance be 0.05.

الأكم للاستشارات

We calculate the following quantities from the table:

Grand total 
$$(G) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{ijk}$$
  
Correction factor(CF)  $= \frac{G^2}{mnr}$   
TSS  $= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{ijk}^2 - CF$   
RSS  $= \frac{1}{mn} \sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{ook}^2 - CF$ ,  
where  $y_{00k} = \sum_{i}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} y_{ijk} = k$ th replication total.

Let us make the following table for calculating other sums of squares (Tables 10.15 and 10.16).

$$TrSS = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} y_{ij0}^{2} - CF,$$
  
where  $y_{ij0} = \sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{ijk}$   
ErSS = TSS - RSS - TrSS;  
$$SS(A) = \frac{1}{nr} \sum_{i=1}^{m} y_{i00}^{2} - CF$$
  
$$SS(B) = \frac{1}{mr} \sum_{j=1}^{n} y_{0j0}^{2} - CF;$$
  
$$SS(AB) = TrSS - SS(A) - SS(B)$$

If the cal. F (for A) >  $F_{0.05;(m-1), (r-1)(mn-1)}$ then  $H_{01}$  is rejected. This means the main effects



	b <sub>1</sub>	b <sub>2</sub>		b <sub>n</sub>	Total
a <sub>1</sub>	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{11k}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{12k}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{1jk}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{1nk}$	<i>Y</i> 100
a <sub>2</sub>	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{21k}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{22k}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{2jk}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{2nk}$	<i>Y</i> 200
•	•	•			
:	:	:			
:	:	:			
a <sub>i</sub>	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{i1k}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{i2k}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{2jk}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{2nk}$	<i>Yi</i> 00
:	:	:	:	:	
:	:	:	:	:	
a <sub>m</sub>	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} \mathcal{Y}_{m1k}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} y_{m2k}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} \mathcal{Y}_{mjk}$	$\sum_{k=1}^{r} \mathcal{Y}_{mnk}$	<i>Ym</i> 00
Total	Y010	Y020	Уојо	<i>Y</i> 0 <i>n</i> 0	<i>Y</i> 000

**Table 10.15** Table of  $A \times B$  treatment totals over the replications

Table 10.16 Analysis of variance table for FRBD with two factors The structure of analysis of variance table is as follows:

SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F
Replication	r - 1	RSS	RMS = RSS/(r-1)	RMS/ErMS
Factor A	m - 1	ASS	AMS = ASS/(m - 1)	AMS/ErMS
Factor B	n - 1	BSS	BMS = BSS/(n-1)	BMS/ErMS
Interaction $(A \times B)$	(m-1)(n-1)	ABSS	ABMS = ABSS/(m-1)(n-1)	ABMS/ErMS
Error	(r-1)(mn-1)	ErSS	ErMS = ErSS/(r-1)(mn-1)	
Total	mnr - 1	TSS		

due to factor A are not all equal to zero. Similarly  $H_{02}$ ,  $H_{03}$ , and  $H_{04}$  are rejected if the calculated value of F > table value of  $F_{0.05}$  with corresponding d.f. If the main effects and/or the interaction effects are significant, then we calculate the critical difference (CD)/least significant difference (LSD):

$$LSD(A) = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r \times n}} \times t_{\alpha/2, \text{ err.d.f}}$$
$$LSD(B) = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r \times m}} \times t_{\alpha/2, \text{ err.d.f}}$$

$$LSD(AB) = \sqrt{\frac{ErMS}{r}} \times t_{\alpha/2, \text{ err.d.f.}}$$

*Note*: The  $m \times n$  factorial experiment can also be conducted in a basic CRD or LSD if situation permits.

Example 10.15. The following table gives the yield (q/ha) of rice from an experiment conducted with four doses of nitrogen under three spacing treatments using RBD with three replications. Find out the best dose of nitrogen, spacing, and interaction of these two factors to yield maximum.

	R1			R2			R3	R3		
Nitrogen	S1	S2	<b>S</b> 3	S1	S2	<b>S</b> 3	S1	S2	<b>S</b> 3	
N1	13.50	16.00	15.20	14.00	16.00	15.00	14.50	15.50	14.80	
N2	14.80	16.50	15.80	15.20	16.80	15.20	16.00	16.20	15.50	
N3	14.00	15.20	14.80	13.80	15.50	14.30	13.50	14.80	14.50	
N4	13.70	15.80	15.00	14.50	15.70	14.80	15.00	15.20	14.70	
للاستشا	ZI									

**Solution.** From the given information it is clear that the experiment is an asymmetrical  $(4 \times 3)$  factorial experiment conducted in randomized block design, so the appropriate statistical model for the analysis will be

$$y_{ijk} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + \gamma_k + (\alpha\beta)_{ij} + e_{ijk}, \quad \text{where}$$
  
$$i = 4; j = 3; k = 3$$

- $y_{ijk}$  = response in the *k*th replicate due to the *i*th level of the first factor (variety) and the *j*th level of the second factor (seed rate)
- $\mu$  = general effect
- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th level of the first factor (nitrogen),  $\sum \alpha_i = 0$
- $\beta_j$  = additional effect due to the *j*th level of the second factor (spacing),  $\sum \beta_j = 0$
- $\gamma_k = additional effect due to the$ *k*th replicate, $<math>\sum \gamma_k = 0$
- $(\alpha\beta)_{ij}$  = interaction effect of the *i*th level of the first factor (nitrogen) and the *j*th level of the second factor (spacing),  $\sum_{i} (\alpha\beta)_{ij} =$

$$\sum_{j} \left( \alpha \beta \right)_{ij} = 0$$

 $e_{ijk}$  = error component associated with the *i*th level of the first factor (nitrogen), the *j*th level of the second factor (spacing), and the *k*th replicates and  $e_{ijk} \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$ *Hypothesis to Be Tested* 

$$H_0: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = 0,$$
  

$$\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = 0,$$
  

$$\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \gamma_3 = 0,$$
  
All $(\alpha\beta)_{ii}$ 's are equal

against

Table of totals

 $\alpha$ 's are not all equal,  $\beta_j$ 's are not all equal,  $\gamma$ 's are not all equal,  $All(\alpha\beta)_{ii}$ 's are not equal.

Let the level of significance be 0.05.

From the given data table, let us calculate the following quantities:

Grand total (GT) = 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{4} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{k=1}^{3} y_{ijk} = 541.300$$

Correction factor (CF)  $= \frac{\text{GT}^2}{4.3.3} = \frac{541.3^2}{36} = 8139.047$ 

$$TSS = \sum_{i=1}^{4} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{k=1}^{3} y_{ijk}^{2} - CF$$
$$= 8162.810 - 8139.047 = 23.763$$

RSS = 
$$\frac{1}{v.s} \sum_{k=1}^{3} y_{ijk}^2 - CF$$
  
=  $\frac{180.3^2 + 180.8^2 + 180.2^2}{12} - 8139.047$   
= 0.017

From the above table first let us form the following table and from the table get the following quantities:

$$TrSS = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{4} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{ij0}^{2} - CF$$
$$= \frac{42^{2} + 47.5^{2} + 45.0^{2} + \dots + 45.5^{2} + 43.6^{2}}{3}$$
$$= \frac{-8139.047}{20.296}$$

Nitrogen					
N1	N2	N3	N4	Total	Average
42.0	46.0	41.3	43.2	172.5	14.4
47.5	49.5	45.5	46.7	189.2	15.8
45.0	46.5	43.6	44.5	179.6	15.0
134.5	142.0	130.4	134.4		
14.9	15.8	14.5	14.9		
	Nitrogen           N1           42.0           47.5           45.0           134.5           14.9	Nitrogen           N1         N2           42.0         46.0           47.5         49.5           45.0         46.5           134.5         142.0           14.9         15.8	Nitrogen           N1         N2         N3           42.0         46.0         41.3           47.5         49.5         45.5           45.0         46.5         43.6           134.5         142.0         130.4           14.9         15.8         14.5	Nitrogen           N1         N2         N3         N4           42.0         46.0         41.3         43.2           47.5         49.5         45.5         46.7           45.0         46.5         43.6         44.5           134.5         142.0         130.4         134.4           14.9         15.8         14.5         14.9	Nitrogen           N1         N2         N3         N4         Total           42.0         46.0         41.3         43.2         172.5           47.5         49.5         45.5         46.7         189.2           45.0         46.5         43.6         44.5         179.6           134.5         142.0         130.4         134.4           14.9         15.8         14.5         14.9



$$ErSS = TSS - TrSS - RSS = 23.763 - 20.296 - 0.017 = 3.449$$

SS (Nitrogen) = 
$$\frac{1}{3.3} \sum_{i=1}^{4} y_{i00}^2 - CF = \frac{134.5^2 + 142.0^2 + 130.4^2 + 134.4^2}{9} - 8139.047 = 7.816$$

SS (Spacing) = 
$$\frac{1}{4.3} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{0j0}^2 - CF = \frac{172.5^2 + 189.2^2 + 179.6^2}{12} - 8139.047 = 11.70$$

$$SS(NS) = TrSS - SS(Nitrogen) - SS(Spacing) = 20.296 - 7.816 - 11.706 = 0.773$$

Now we make the following analysis of variance table with the help of the above quantities:

ANOVA						
SOV	d.f.	MS	MS	F-ratio	Table value of F	
Replication	3 - 1 = 2	0.017	0.009	0.055	$F_{0.05;2,22} = 3.44$	$F_{0.01;2,22} = 5.72$
Treatment	12 - 1 = 11	20.296	1.845	11.768	$F_{0.05;11,22} = 2.27$	$F_{0.01;11,22} = 3.19$
Nitrogen	4 - 1 = 3	7.816	2.605	16.617	$F_{0.05;3,22} = 3.05$	$F_{0.01;3,22} = 4.82$
Spacing	3 - 1 = 2	11.707	5.854	37.333	$F_{0.05;2,22} = 3.44$	$F_{0.01;2,22} = 5.72$
NS	$3 \times 2 = 6$	0.773	0.129	0.821	$F_{0.05;6,22} = 2.55$	$F_{0.01;6,22} = 3.76$
Error	35 - 2 - 11 = 22	3.449	0.157			
Total	36 - 1 = 35	23.763				
10141	30 - 1 = 33	25.705				

It is clear from the above table that all the effects of variety as well as the spacing are significant at 1% level of significance. But the replication interaction effects of nitrogen and spacing are not significant even at 5% (desired level of significance) level of significance.

To find out which dose of nitrogen and which spacing have maximum yield potentiality, we are to calculate the critical difference values for nitrogen and spacing effects separately using the following formulae:

$$CD_{0.01}(Nitrogen) = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r.s}} t_{0.005, err.d.f}$$
  
=  $\sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.157}{3 \times 3}} 2.819 = 0.527$   
$$CD_{0.01}(Spacing) = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS}{r.n}} t_{0.005, err.d.f}$$
  
=  $\sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.157}{3 \times 4}} 2.819 = 0.456$ 

المتسارات

### Table of averages

	Yield (q/ha)
Variety	
N2	15.78
N1	14.94
N4	14.93
N3	14.49
Seed rate	
S2	15.77
<b>S</b> 3	14.97
S1	14.38

Nitrogen N2 has recorded significantly the highest yield compared to other doses of nitrogen. The difference of means between any two varieties for the rest three varieties (N1, N3, N4) is not greater than the critical difference value; they are statistically at par. There exists no significant difference among the nitrogen doses N1, N3, and N4. On the other hand, spacing S2 is the best plant density for getting maximum yield of paddy followed by S3 and S1. So far about the interaction effect of nitrogen and spacing is concerned, no significant difference is recorded among the different treatment combinations. The above analysis can also be done using SAS statistical software. The following few slides present the data entry, the command syntax, and the output for the same:

SAS - [FRBD PROC GLM running]		
E File Edit View Tools Run Solu	tions Window Help	- <i>B</i> 3
~	· D @ M @ 0, 3 % 03 % 9 9 4 × V 0 4	
sult:	Image: Second	,
월 Pesuks ( 🛐 Explorer	15.2       3       2         16.3       3       2         16.4       3       2         16.5       3       1         16.5       3       1         15.5       3       3         15.5       3       3         15.5       3       3         15.5       2       3         16.2       2       3         16.2       3       2         16.4       2       3         16.5       2       3         16.4       2       3         16.4       2       3         16.4       2       3         16.4       2       3         16.4       2       3         16.4       2       3         16.4       2       3         16.4       2       3         16.4       3       4         17.4       5       5         16.4       10.4       10.4         16.4       10.4       10.4         17.4       10.4       10.4         16.4       10.4       10.4         17.4	
IOTE: 45 Lines Submitted.	90	Users\CC\Downloads\Desktop\SAS design Ln 45, Col 5
		A (5) 1520

Slide 10.30: Step 1 showing data entry for two-factor factorial RBD analysis using SAS



Slide 10.31: Step 2 showing portion of data entry and commands for two-factor factorial RBD analysis using SAS



K SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]								- 0 <b>- ×</b>
File Edit View Go Tools Solution	ons Window Help							- 8 ×
~		3 Y SI + *	8 O A   @					
Results (			The	SAS S	vstem			ń
GLM: The SAS System								
			Ine	GLM Pro	cedure			
			Class	Level Infe	ormation			
			Class	Levels	Values			
			s	3	123			
			rep	3	123			
			n	4	1234			
			Mumber of		and Dead 20			
			Number of C	Observat	ions Read 30			
			Number of G	Joservat	ions Used 30			
		The SAS System						
			Ine	GLM Pro	cedure			
	Dependent Variable: y							
		Source	DF Sum of	Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr>F	
		Model	13 20.3	1361111	1.56258547	9.97	<.0001	
		Error	22 3.4	4944444	0.15679293			
m. (8)	Doutrest - Olation Dian - Ola		PROC GLM num	Results )	SAS		1	
Results SJ Explorer			Priore deminantial	(W) resource (	newel - Jrd			
				-	-	Cr(Users)	(CC\Downloads\De	sktop\SAS design
								💕 · 🐗 🕅 11-09-2012

Slide 10.32: Step 3 showing portion of output for two-factor factorial RBD analysis using SAS

SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]	ons Window Help									- 0 - X
~	- 🗋 🖨 🖬 🖉 🖬 👘 🗠 🕫	🔿 🖞 😟 🔶 🔹	80	A 🖉						
Results										
Results     B GLM: The SAS System				The SAS	System					1
	Dependent Variable: y			0				D-1 5		
		Source	DF	Sum of Squa	res Mean S	iquare I	- Value	Pr>F		
		Model	13	20.313611	111 1.562	58547	9.97	<.0001		
		Error	22	3.449444	144 0.156	79293				
		Corrected Tot	al 35	23.763055	556					
		F	R-Squa	are Coeff Var	Root MSE	y Mea	n			
			0.8548	2.633466	0.395971	15.0361	1			
		Source	DF	Type III SS M	ean Square	F Valu	e Pr>	F		
		rep	2 (	0.01722222	0.00861111	0.0	5 0.946	7		
		s	2 1	1.70722222	5.85361111	37.3	3 <.000	1		
		n	3	7.81638889	2.60546296	16.6	2 <.000	1		
		s*n	6 (	0.77277778	0.12879630	0.8	2 0.565	3		
	1			The SAS	Svetem					
Results	Output - (Untitled)	titled)	PROC	GLM run	ults Viewer - SA	s_				
Done						6	C:\Users\	C\Downloads\Desk	top\SAS design	
👩 🔹 🔁 🖻									🛛 🤣 - 🐗 🕻	15:20 11-09-2012

Slide 10.33: Step 3 showing portion of output for two-factor factorial RBD analysis using SAS





Slide 10.34: Step 3 showing portion of output for two-factor Factorial RBD analysis using SAS

# 10.11.2 $m \times n \times p$ Factorial Experiment

In an  $m \times n \times p$  three-factor factorial experiment, three factors are tested of which the first, second, and third factors are at *m*, *n*, and *p* levels, respectively; the efficacy of levels of different factors separately and the interactions of the levels of different factors are worked out. A three-factor factorial experiment can be designed in a CRD, RBD, or LSD fashion. But the problem with LSD is that even at the lowest level of threefactor factorial experiment, that is,  $2^3$  factorial experiment, we require to get a plot of  $8 \times 8$ experimental area, and any factor having a level more than two in a three-factor factorial experiment requires at least a plot of  $12 \times 12$  number of experimental units. In reality most of the times, it becomes difficult to get such a plot and impossible when the levels of any factor increase beyond this three-level limit. Thus, three-factor and more-than-three-factor factorial experiments are generally conducted in CRD or RBD design.

المتسارات المستشارات

Let us take the following examples of  $2 \times 3 \times 4$  FRBD.

*Example 10.16.* The following table gives the yield (q/ha) from a field experiment of paddy with three doses of phosphate fertilizer and four doses of nitrogen in two types of irrigation in a randomized block design. Analyze the data to find out the best dose of phosphate, the best dose of nitrogen, the best irrigation, and the best interaction effects among the factors.

**Solution.** The experiment is an asymmetrical  $(2 \times 3 \times 4)$  factorial experiment conducted in randomized block design, so the appropriate statistical model for the analysis will be

$$y_{ijkl} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + (\alpha\beta)_{ij} + \gamma_k + (\alpha\gamma)_{ik} + (\beta\gamma)_{jk} + (\alpha\beta\gamma)_{ijk} + \delta_l + e_{ijkl}, \text{ where } i = 2;$$
  
$$j = 3; k = 4; l = 3$$

 $y_{ijkl}$  = response in the *l*th replicate due to the *i*th level of irrigation, the *j*th level of phosphate, and the *k*th level of nitrogen

 $\mu$  = general effect

	- N		1 N.
	<b>**</b>	•	
للاستشارات			

Irrigation	Ξ												12											
Phosphate	P1				P2				P3				Pl				P2				P3			
Nitrogen	N0	N1	N2	N3	0N	N1	N2	N3	NO	NI	N2	N3	NO	NI	N2	N3	N0	N1	N2	N3	N0	N1	N2	N3
RI	19.5	21.0	22.7	16.8	15.5	16.7	17.5	16.0	17.2	13.2	17.0	16.5	21.5	23.0	24.7	20.2	17.5	18.7	19.0	18.0	19.7	15.2	19.0	20.5
R2	20.0	20.5	22.5	16.5	16.2	16.0	17.0	15.5	16.7	14.0	16.5	16.2	22.0	22.5	24.5	19.2	18.2	18.9	18.8	17.5	19.2	16.0	18.7	19.5
R3	19.2	20.8	21.9	17.0	16.0	16.5	16.9	15.2	16.5	15.0	16.7	16.2	21.4	22.8	24.2	19.5	18.0	18.5	18.2	17.2	19.5	17.0	18.8	19.2

- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th level of irrigation,  $\sum \alpha_i = 0$
- $\beta_j$  = additional effect due to the *j*th level of phosphate,  $\sum \beta_i = 0$
- $\gamma_k$  = additional effect due to the *k*th level of nitrogen,  $\sum \gamma_k = 0$
- $(\alpha\beta)_{ij}$  = interaction effect of the *i*th level of irrigation and the *j*th level of phosphate,  $\sum_{i} (\alpha\beta)_{ij} = \sum_{j} (\alpha\beta)_{ij} = 0$
- $(\alpha \gamma)_{ik}$  = interaction effect of the *i*th level of irrigation and the *k*th level of nitrogen,  $\sum_{i} (\alpha \gamma)_{ik} = \sum_{k} (\alpha \gamma)_{ik} = 0$
- $(\beta \gamma)_{jk}$  = interaction effect of the *j*th level of phosphate and the *l*th level of nitrogen,  $\sum_{i} (\beta \gamma)_{jk} = \sum_{k} (\beta \gamma)_{jk} = 0;$
- $(\alpha\beta\lambda)_{ijk}$  = interaction effect of the *i*th level of irrigation, the *j*th level of phosphate, and the *k*th level of nitrogen,  $\sum (\alpha\beta\lambda)_{ijk} =$

$$\sum_{j} (lpha eta \lambda)_{ijk} = \sum_{k} (lpha eta \lambda)_{ijk} = 0$$

 $\delta_l$  = additional effect due to the *l*th replication,  $\sum \delta_l = 0$ 

 $e_{ijkl}$  = error component associated with the *l*th replicate due to the *i*th level of irrigation and the *j*th level of phosphate and the *k*th level of nitrogen and  $e_{ijkl} \sim \text{i.i.d. } N(0, \sigma^2)$ Hypothesis to Be Tested

$$H_{0}: \alpha_{1} = \alpha_{2} = 0,$$
  

$$\beta_{1} = \beta_{2} = \beta_{3} = 0,$$
  

$$\gamma_{1} = \gamma_{2} = \gamma_{3} = \gamma_{4} = 0,$$
  

$$\delta_{1} = \delta_{2} = \delta_{3} = 0,$$

All interaction effects = 0 against

 $H_1$ : All  $\alpha$ 's are not equal, All  $\beta$ 's are not equal, All  $\gamma$ 's are not equal, All  $\delta$ 's are not equal,

All interaction effects are not equal. Let the level of significance be 0.05.

From the given data table, let us calculate the following quantities:



Grand total (GT) = 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{k=1}^{4} \sum_{l=1}^{3} y_{ijkl} = 1331.4$$

Correction factor (CF) = 
$$\frac{\text{GT}^2}{2.3.4.3} = \frac{1331.4^2}{72}$$
  
= 24619.805  
TSS =  $\sum_{i=1}^2 \sum_{j=1}^3 \sum_{k=1}^4 \sum_{l=1}^3 y_{ijkl}^2 - \text{CF} = 461.767$   
RSS =  $\frac{1}{m.n.p} \sum_{l=1}^3 y_{000l}^2 - \text{CF}$   
=  $\frac{446.6^2 + 442.2^2 + 442.2^2}{24} - 24619.805$   
= 0.500.

From the above table first let us form the following tables and from the table get the following quantities:

### Table of totals for irrigation $\times$ nitrogen

	Irrigation			
Nitrogen	I1	I2	Total	Average
N0	156.800	177.000	333.800	18.544
N1	153.650	172.600	326.250	18.125
N2	168.700	185.900	354.600	19.700
N3	145.900	170.800	316.700	17.594
Total	625.050	706.300		
Average	17.363	19.619		

### Table of totals for irrigation $\times$ phosphate

	Irrigation			
Phosphate	I1	I2	Total	Average
P1	238.350	265.500	503.850	20.994
P2	195.000	218.500	413.500	17.229
P3	191.700	222.300	414.000	17.250
Total	625.050	706.300		
Average	17.363	19.619		

SS (Irrigation) = 
$$\frac{1}{n.p.r} \sum_{i=1}^{2} y_{iooo}^2 - CF$$
  
=  $\frac{625.05^2 + 706.3^2}{3.4.3}$   
=  $\frac{-24619.805}{91.688}$ 

SS (Phosphate) = 
$$\frac{1}{m.p.r} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{ojoo}^2 - CF = \frac{503.85^2 + 413.5^2 + 414.0^2}{2.4.3} - 24619.805 = 225.505$$

SS 
$$(I \times P) = \frac{1}{n.r} \sum \sum y_{ij00}^2 - CF - SS(V) - SS(S)$$
  
=  $\frac{238.35^2 + 265.5^2 + 195.0^2 + 218.5^2 + 191.7^2 + 222.3^2}{4.3} - 24619.805 - 225.505 - 91.688 = 1.050.$ 

# Table of totals for phosphate $\times$ nitrogen

	Phosphate				
Nitrogen	P1	P2	P3	Total	Average
N0	123.600	101.400	108.800	333.800	18.544
N1	130.550	105.300	90.400	326.250	18.125
N2	140.500	107.400	106.700	354.600	19.700
N3	109.200	99.400	108.100	316.700	17.594
Total	503.850	413.500	414.000		
Average	20.994	17.229	17.250		

Table totals for irrigation  $\times$  phosphate  $\times$  nitrogen (treatments)

	I1			I2				
	P1	P2	P3	P1	P2	P3	Total	Average
N0	58.700	47.700	50.400	64.900	53.700	58.400	333.800	18.544
N1	62.250	49.200	42.200	68.300	56.100	48.200	326.250	18.125
N2	67.100	51.400	50.200	73.400	56.000	56.500	354.600	19.700
N3	50.300	46.700	48.900	58.900	52.700	59.200	316.700	17.594
Total	238.350	195.000	191.700	265.500	218.500	222.300		
Average	19.863	16.250	15.975	22.125	18.208	18.525		

SS (Nitrogen) = 
$$\frac{1}{m.n.r} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{00k0}^2 - CF = \frac{333.80^2 + 326.25^2 + 354.60^2 + 316.70^2}{2.3.3} - 24619.805 = 43.241$$
  
SS (I × N) =  $\frac{1}{n.r} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{r0k0}^2 - CF - SS$  (I) - SS (N)  
=  $\frac{156.8^2 + 177.0^2 + 153.65^2 + \dots + 145.9^2 + 170.8^2}{3.3} - 24619.805 - 91.688 - 43.241 = 1.811$ 

$$SS(P \times N) = \frac{1}{m.r} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{0jk0}^{2} - CF - SS(P) - SS(N)$$

$$= \frac{123.6^{2} + 101.4^{2} + 108.8^{2} + \dots + 99.4^{2} + 108.1^{2}}{2.3} - 24619.805 - 225.505 - 43.241 = 88.368.$$

$$SS(I \times P \times N) = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{0jk0}^{2} - CF - SS(I) - SS(P) - SS(N) - SS(IP) - SS(IN) - SS(PN)$$

$$= \frac{58.7^{2} + 47.7^{2} + 50.4^{2} + \dots + 52.7^{2} + 59.2^{2}}{3} - 24619.805 - 91.688 - 225.505 - 43.241$$

$$- 1.05 - 1.81 - 88.368 = 1.324,$$

$$SS(Error): TSS - RSS - SS(I) - SS(P) - SS(N) - SS(IP) - SS(IN) - SS(IPN)$$

$$= 461.767 - 0.500 - 91.688 - 225.505 - 43.241 - 1.050 - 1.811 - 88.368 - 1.324 = 8.278.$$

= 461.767 - 0.500 - 91.688 - 225.505 - 43.241 - 1.050 - 1.811 - 88.368 - 1.324 = 8.278.

					Table value o	f F at
SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F-ratio	p = 0.05	p = 0.01
Replication	2	0.500	0.250	1.389	3.21	5.12
Irrigation	1	91.688	91.688	509.487	4.07	7.25
Phosphate	2	225.505	112.753	626.536	3.21	5.12
$I \times P$	2	1.050	0.525	2.919	3.21	5.12
Nitrogen	3	43.241	14.414	80.094	2.83	4.26
$I \times N$	3	1.811	0.604	3.355	2.83	4.26
$P \times N$	6	88.368	14.728	81.839	2.22	3.23
$I \times P \times N$	6	1.324	0.221	1.226	2.22	3.23
Error	46	8.278	0.180			
Total	71	461.767				

Now using the above values, we frame the following ANOVA table:

From the above table we have all the effects except for replication, irrigation  $\times$  phosphate, and irrigation  $\times$  phosphate  $\times$  nitrogen interaction significant at 5% level of significance. Moreover, the main effects of all the factors and the interaction effect of phosphate and nitrogen are significant even at 1% level of significance. Now, we are to find out the levels of different factors which are significantly different from others and also the best level of each factor. For the purpose we are to calculate the critical difference values for irrigation, phosphate, nitrogen, and interaction effects of irrigation  $\times$  nitrogen and phosphate  $\times$  nitrogen using the following formulae:

$$LSD_{(0.05)} \text{ for irrigation} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times ErMS}{npr}} \times t_{\frac{3}{2}, \text{error d.f.}} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{3.4.3}} \times t_{0.025;46.}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{3.4.3}} 2.016 = 0.2016$$

$$LSD_{(0.05)} \text{ for phosphate} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times ErMS}{mpr}} \times t_{\frac{3}{2}, \text{error d.f.}} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{2.4.3}} \times t_{0.025;46.}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{2.4.3}} 2.016 = 0.247$$

$$LSD_{(0.05)} \text{ for nitrogen} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times ErMS}{mnr}} \times t_{\frac{3}{2}, \text{error d.f.}} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{2.3.3}} \times t_{0.025;46.}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{2.4.3}} 2.016 = 0.247$$

$$LSD_{(0.05)} \text{ for nitrogen} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times ErMS}{mnr}} \times t_{\frac{3}{2}, \text{error d.f.}} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{2.3.3}} \times t_{0.025;46.}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{2.3.3}} 2.016 = 0.2851$$

$$LSD_{(0.05)} \text{ for irrigation} \times \text{nitrogen} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times ErMS}{nr}} \times t_{\frac{3}{2}, \text{error d.f.}} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{3.3}} \times t_{0.025;46.}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{2.3.3}} 2.016 = 0.403$$

$$LSD_{(0.05)} \text{ for phosphate} \times \text{nitrogen} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times ErMS}{nr}} \times t_{\frac{3}{2}, \text{error d.f.}} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{3.3}} \times t_{0.025;46.}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{3.3}} 2.016 = 0.403$$

$$LSD_{(0.05)} \text{ for phosphate} \times \text{nitrogen} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times ErMS}{nr}} \times t_{\frac{3}{2}, \text{error d.f.}} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{3.3}} \times t_{0.025;46.}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{3.3}} 2.016 = 0.403$$

$$LSD_{(0.05)} \text{ for phosphate} \times \text{nitrogen} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times ErMS}{nr}} \times t_{\frac{3}{2}, \text{error d.f.}} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{2.3}} \times t_{0.025;46.}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.180}{3.3}} 2.016 = 0.403$$

	7 7 3	1	C		
1	abl	e	OŤ.	means	'
_		-	~,		

	Yield (q/ha	ι)	LSD(0.05)
Irrigation			
I2	19.619		0.2016
I1	17.363		
Phosphate	2		
P1	20.994		0.247
P3	17.250		
P2	17.229		
Nitrogen			
N2	19.700		0.2851
N0	18.544		
N1	18.125		
N3	17.594		
Irrigation	$\times$ nitrogen(I $\times$	N)	
I2N2	20.656		0.403
I2N0	19.667		
I2N1	19.178		
I2N3	18.978	1	
I1N2	18.744		
I1N0	17.422		
I1N1	17.072		
I1N3	16.211		
Phosphate	$e \times nitrogen$ (P	$\times N$ )	
P1N2	23.417		0.494
P1N1	21.758		
P1N0	20.600		
P1N3	18.200		
P3N0	18.133		
P3N3	18.017		
P2N2	17.900		
P3N2	17.783		
P2N1	17.550		
P2N0	16.900		
P2N3	16.567	I	
P3N1	15.067		

From the above table we have the following conclusions:

- 1. I2 irrigation is significantly better than the I1 irrigation.
- 2. Phosphate P1 is the best one and P2 and P3 are statistically at par.
- 3. All the doses of nitrogen are significantly different from each other and the best dose of nitrogen is N2.
- 4. Among the interaction effects of irrigation and nitrogen, I2N2 is the best followed by I2N0 and so on.
- Among the interaction effects of variety and nitrogen, P1N2 is the best followed by P1N1, P1N0, and so on.

# 10.12 Incomplete Block Design

As the number of factors or levels of factors or both increase, the number of treatment combination increases, and it becomes very difficult to accommodate all the treatments in a single block. As a result the idea of incomplete blocks comes under consideration. Each replication is now being constituted of a number of blocks which can accommodate a part of the total treatments. Thus, the blocks are incomplete in the sense that they do not contain/accommodate all the treatments in each of them. In the process a complete block equivalent to a complete replication changes to a replication of number of incomplete blocks. Thus, in an incomplete block design, blocks are no longer equivalent to replication.

# 10.12.1 Split Plot Design

The simplest of all incomplete block designs involving two factors is the split plot design. In field experiment certain factors like type of irrigation, tillage, drainage, and weed management require comparatively larger size of plots for convenience of the treatments compared to the other factors. Thus, factorial experiments involving these factors along with other factors require different sizes of experimental plots in the same experiment. In split plot design, each and every replication is divided into the number of blocks as the number of levels of the factors requiring higher plot size and lesser precision, the main plot factor. Each and every block is constituted of as many numbers of experimental units as the levels of the other factors which require lesser plot size compared to the main plot factor and higher precision. The subplot effects and the interaction effects of subplot factors are more precisely estimated in split plot design compared to the main plot effects.



### Layout and Randomization

The step-by-step procedure for layout of an  $m \times n$  factorial experiment conducted in split plot design with *r* replication is given as follows:

**Step 1**: Divide the whole experimental area into *r* replications considering the field condition and local situation.

**Step 2**: Divide each and every replication into *m* number of blocks (main plot) of equal size and homogeneity.

**Step 3**: Divide each and every main plot into *n* number of experimental units of equal size.

**Step 4**: Randomly allocate the *m* levels of main plot factor into *m* main plots of each and every replication separately.

**Step 5**: The *n* levels of subplot factor is randomly allocated to *n* subplots of each and every *m* main plot factor.

**Step 6**: Continue the procedure in step 2 to step 5 for *r* replications separately.



Analysis

The appropriate model split plot experiment with *m* levels of main plot factors and *n* levels of subplot factors in *r* replications is  $y_{ijk} =$  $\mu + \gamma_i + \alpha_j + e_{ij} + \beta_k + v_{jk} + e'_{iik}$ 

where 
$$i = 1, 2, ..., r; j = 1, 2, ..., m; k = 1$$
  
2, ..., n

- $\mu$  = general effect
- $\gamma_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th replication
- $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *j*th level of main

plot factor A and 
$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j = 0$$

 $\beta_k$  = additional effect due to the *k*th level of subplot factor B and  $\sum_{k=1}^{n} \beta_k = 0$ 

 $v_{jk}$  = interaction effect due to the *j*th level of main plot factor A and the *k*th level of subplot

$$\sum_j v_{jk} = \sum_k v_{jk} = 0$$

for all k for all j

- $e_{ij}$  (error I) = associated with the *i*th replication and the *j*th level of main plot factor and  $e_{ij} \sim i$ . i.d.  $N(0, \sigma_m^2)$
- $e'_{ijk}$  (error II) = error associated with the *i*th replication, the *j*th level of main plot factor, and the *k*th level of subplot factor and  $e'_{ijk} \sim i.i.d.$  $N(0, \sigma_s^2)$

Hypothesis to Be Tested

factor B and

$$H_0: \gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \dots = \gamma_i = \dots = \gamma_r = 0,$$
  

$$\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \dots = \alpha_j = \dots = \alpha_m = 0,$$
  

$$\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \dots = \beta_k = \dots = \beta_n = 0,$$
  

$$v_{11} = v_{12} = \dots = v_{ik} = \dots = v_{mn} = 0$$

SOV	d.f.	MS	MS	F-ratio	Table value of F
Replication	r - 1	RMS	RMS	RMS/Er.MS I	
Main plot factor(A)	m - 1	MS(A)	MS(A)	MS(A)/Er.MS I	
Error I	(r-1)(m-1)	Er.MS(I)	Er.MS I		
Subplot factor(B)	(n - 1)	MS(B)	MS(B)	MS(B)/Er.MS II	
Interaction $(A \times B)$	(m-1)(n-1)	MS(AB)	MS(AB)	MS(AB)/Er.MS II	
Error II	m(n-1)(r-1)	Er.MS II	Er.MS II		
Total	mnr - 1				

Table 10.17 ANOVA for split plot design

**Table 10.18** Table totals for main plot  $\times$  replication

	$a_1$	a <sub>2</sub>		a <sub>j</sub>		a <sub>m</sub>	Total	Mean
R <sub>1</sub>	<i>y</i> 110	y <sub>120</sub>		У1 <i>ј</i> 0		<i>Y</i> 1 <i>m</i> 0	y100	$\bar{y}_{100}$
R <sub>2</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>210</sub>	y <sub>220</sub>		<i>Y</i> 2 <i>j</i> 0		<i>Y</i> <sub>2m0</sub>	<i>Y</i> 200	$\bar{y}_{200}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
R <sub>i</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>i10</sub>	<i>Yi</i> 20		y <sub>ij0</sub>		y <sub>im0</sub>	<i>Yi</i> 00	$\overline{y}_{i00}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
R <sub>r</sub>	$y_{r10}$	<i>y</i> <sub>r20</sub>		y <sub>rj0</sub>		y <sub>rm0</sub>	<i>Yr</i> 00	$\overline{y}_{r00}$
Total	<i>y</i> 010	y <sub>020</sub>		<i>Y</i> 0j0		<i>Y</i> 0 <i>m</i> 0	<b>Y</b> 000	$\bar{y}_{000}$
Mean	$\bar{y}_{010}$	$\bar{y}_{020}$		$\overline{y}_{0j0}$		$\overline{y}_{0m0}$		

 $H_1: \gamma$ 's are not all equal,  $\alpha$ 's are not all equal,  $\beta$ 's are not all equal, v's are not all equal.

Let the level of significance be 0.05 (Table 10.17).

The step-by-step procedure for the computation of different sums of squares and mean sum of squares is given as follows:

1. Grand total = 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{ijk} = GT$$

2. Correction factor (CF) =  $\frac{\text{GT}^2}{mw}$ .

3. Total MS = 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{ijk}^2 - CF$$

4. Work out the sum of squares due to the main plot factor and the replication. For the purpose, the following table of totals is required to be framed (Table 10.18):

where 
$$y_{ij0} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{ijk}$$

TSS (Table 10.18) = 
$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i}^{r} \sum_{j}^{m} y_{ij0}^{2} - CF$$

Replication SS = 
$$\frac{1}{mn} \sum_{i=1}^{r} y_{i00}^2 - CF$$
,  
SS(A) =  $\frac{1}{nr} \sum_{j=1}^{m} y_{0j0}^2 - CF$ , SS Error I = TSS  
(Table 10.18) - RSS - SS(A).

5. Work out the sum of squares due to the subplot factor and interaction. For the purpose, the following table of totals is required to the formed (Table 10.19):

*Note*: In both tables the totals for main factor A at different levels will be the same.

TSS (Table 10.19) 
$$= \frac{1}{r} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{0jk}^2 - CF,$$
  
SS (B)  $= \frac{1}{mr} \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{00k}^2 - CF$ 

$$SS(AB) = TSS (Table 10.19) - SS (A) - SS (B), SS(Error II) = TSS - RSS - SS(A) - SS(Error I) - SS(B) - SS(AB)$$

Mean sum of squares is calculated by dividing the sum of squares by the corresponding degrees of freedom.

	$b_1$	<b>b</b> <sub>2</sub>		$\mathbf{b}_k$		b <sub>n</sub>	Total	Mean
a <sub>1</sub>	<i>Y</i> 011	<i>Y</i> 012		<i>Y</i> 01 <i>k</i>		<i>Y</i> 01 <i>n</i>	<i>y</i> 010	$\bar{y}_{010}$
a <sub>2</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>021</sub>	y <sub>022</sub>		$y_{02k}$		<i>y</i> <sub>02<i>n</i></sub>	<i>Y</i> 020	$\bar{y}_{020}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
a <sub>j</sub>	$y_{0j1}$	<i>Y</i> 0 <i>j</i> 2		$y_{0jk}$		$y_{0jn}$	yojo	$\overline{y}_{0j0}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
a <sub>m</sub>	<i>Y</i> 0 <i>m</i> 1	<i>Y</i> 0 <i>m</i> 2		Y0mk		Y <sub>0mn</sub>	<i>Y</i> 0 <i>m</i> 0	$\overline{y}_{0m0}$
Total	<i>Y</i> 001	<i>Y</i> 002		Yook		<i>Y</i> 00 <i>n</i>	<i>У</i> 000	$\overline{y}_{000}$
Mean	$\bar{y}_{001}$	$\bar{y}_{002}$		$\bar{y}_{00k}$		$\overline{y}_{00n}$		

**Table 10.19** Table totals for main plot  $\times$  subplot

- 6. *F*-ratio for replication and main plot factors are obtained by comparing the respective mean sum of squares against mean sum of squares due to error I. On the other hand, the *F*-ratios corresponding to subplot factor and the interaction effects are worked out by comparing the respective mean sum of squares against the mean sum of squares due to error II.
- 7. Calculated *F*-ratios are compared with tabulated value of *F* at appropriate level of significance and degrees of freedom.
- Once the *F*-test becomes significant, the next task will be to estimate the standard errors (SE) for different types of comparison as given below:
  - (a) LSD for difference between two replication means =  $\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-I}}{mn}} \times t_{\frac{a}{2};\text{error}-\text{I d.f.}}$ .
  - (b) LSD for difference between two main plot treatment

means = 
$$\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-I}}{rn}} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2};\text{error}-\text{I d.f.}}$$
.

(c) LSD for difference between two subplot treatment

means = 
$$\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-II}}{rm}} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2};\text{error}-\text{II d.f.}}$$

المتسارات

(d) LSD for difference between two subplot treatment means at the same level of main plot treatment =  $\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMSII}}{r}} \times t_{q;\text{errorII d.f.}}$ .

(e) SE for difference between two main plot

- treatment means at the same or different levels of subplot treatment =  $\sqrt{\frac{2[(n-1)\text{ErMS-II}+\text{ErMS-II}]}{m}}$ , but the ratio of the treatment mean difference and the above SE does not follow t distribution. An approximate value of t is given by  $t = \frac{t_1\text{ErMS-I}+t_2(n-1)\text{ErMS-II}}{\text{ErMS-I}+(n-1)\text{ErMS-II}}$ , where  $t_1$  and  $t_2$ are tabulated values at error I and error II degrees of freedom, respectively, at the chosen significance level and the
  - corresponding CD value could be  $CD_{\alpha} = SE_d \times t(cal).$

*Example 10.17.* Three different methods of tillage and four varieties were tested in a field experiment using split plot design with tillage as main plot factor and variety as subplot factor. Yield (t/ha) are recorded from the individual plots and given below. Analyze the data and draw your conclusion.

Tillage	Tillag	e 1			Tillag	je 2			Tillag	ge 3		
Variety	$V_1$	$V_2$	V <sub>3</sub>	$V_4$	$V_1$	V <sub>2</sub>	V <sub>3</sub>	$V_4$	$V_1$	$V_2$	V <sub>3</sub>	$V_4$
Rep -1	8.7	9.1	7.8	7.2	9.5	12.6	11.2	9.8	7.5	9.5	8.2	7.9
Rep -2	8.6	9.2	7.9	7.3	9.4	12.5	11	9.6	7.6	9.8	8.4	8
Rep -3	8.5	9.3	8.2	7.4	9.6	12.3	10.9	10	7.4	9.7	8.5	8.1

For the above experiment, the appropriate model is

 $y_{ijk} = \mu + \gamma_i + \alpha_j + e_{ij} + \beta_k + v_{jk} + e_{ijk}, i = 3,$ j = 3, k = 4,where $<math display="block">\mu = \text{general effect}$  $\gamma_i = \text{additional effect due to the$ *i* $th replication}$ 

 $\alpha_i$  = additional effect due to the *j*th level of main

plot factor, tillage, and  $\sum_{j=1}^{3} \alpha_j = 0$ 

 $\beta_k$  = additional effect due to the *k*th level of subplot factor, variety, and  $\sum_{k=1}^{4} \beta_k = 0$ 

 $v_{jk}$  = interaction effect due to the *j*th level of main plot factor (tillage) and the *k*th level of subplot factor (variety) and  $\sum_{j=1}^{3} v_{jk} =$ 

$$\sum_{k=1}^4 v_{jk} = 0$$

- $e_{ij}$  (error I) = error associated with the *i*th replication and the *j*th level of tillage and  $e_{ij} \sim \text{i.i.d. } N(0, \sigma_m^2)$
- $e'_{ijk}$  (error II) = error associated with the *i*th replication, the *j*th level of tillage, and the *k*th level of subplot factor (variety) and  $e_{ijk} \sim i.i.d. N(0, \sigma_s^2)$ Hypothesis to Be Tested

$$H_0: \gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \gamma_3 = 0,$$
  

$$\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = 0,$$
  

$$\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = \beta_4 = 0,$$
  

$$v's \text{ are all equal to zero}$$

 $H_1$ :  $\alpha$ 's are not all equal,  $\gamma$ 's are not all equal,  $\beta$ 's are not all equal, v's are not all equal.

Let the level of significance be 0.05.

Grand total = 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{ijk} = GT = 8.7 + 9.1 + \dots + 8.5 + 8.1 = 328.20$$
  
Correction factor (CF) =  $\frac{GT^2}{mnr} = \frac{328.20^2}{3.4.3} = 2992.09$   
Total SS =  $\sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{ijk}^2 - CF = 8.7^2 + 9.1^2 + \dots + 8.5^2 + 8.1^2 - 2992.09 = 75.87$ 

Table I 🗇	Table of	totals for	r tillage	×	replication
-----------	----------	------------	-----------	---	-------------

	Replication	1		
Tillage	R <sub>1</sub>	R <sub>2</sub>	R <sub>3</sub>	Total
T <sub>1</sub>	32.800	33.000	33.400	99.20
T <sub>2</sub>	43.100	42.500	42.800	128.40
T <sub>3</sub>	33.100	33.800	33.700	100.60
Total	109.000	109.300	109.900	328.20
Average	36.3333	36.43333	36.6333	

TSS (Table 1) =  $\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j=1}^{m} y_{ij0}^{2} - CF$ = 45.37

SS (Error I) = TSS (Table I) - RSS - SS (P) = 45.37 - 45.207 - 0.035 = 0.128. Replication SS  $= \frac{1}{mn} \sum_{i=1}^{r} y_{i00}^2 - CF$  $= \frac{1}{3.4} \sum_{i=1}^{3} y_{i00}^2 - CF$  $= \frac{109^2 + 109.3^2 + 109.9^2}{12} - 2992.09$ = 0.035

SS (tillage) = 
$$\frac{1}{nr} \sum_{j=1}^{m} y_{0j0}^2 - CF$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{4.3} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{0j0}^2 - CF$   
=  $\frac{99.2^2 + 128.4^2 + 100.6^2}{12} - 2992.09$   
= 45.207

	Variety					
Tillage	$\mathbf{V}_1$	V <sub>2</sub>	V <sub>3</sub>	$V_4$	Total	Average
$T_1$	25.80	27.60	23.90	21.90	99.20	8.267
T <sub>2</sub>	28.50	37.40	33.10	29.40	128.40	10.700
T <sub>3</sub>	22.50	29.00	25.10	24.00	100.60	8.383
Total	76.80	94.00	82.10	75.30		
Average	8.533	10.444	9.122	8.367		

**Table II** Table of totals for tillage  $\times$  variety

TSS (Table II) 
$$= \frac{1}{3} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{0jk} - CF = \frac{1}{3} [25.80^2 + \dots + 24.00^2] - CF$$
  
= 75.397

SS (variety) = 
$$\frac{1}{mr} \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{00k}^2 - CF = \frac{1}{3.3} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{00k}^2 - CF$$
  
=  $\frac{76.8^2 + 94.0^2 + 82.10^2 + 75.30^2}{3.3} - 2992.09 = 23.992$ 

 $SS (T \times V) = TSS (Table II) - SS(T) - SS(V)$ = 75.397 - 45.207 - 23.992 = 6.198,

$$\begin{split} \text{ErSS II} &= \text{TSS} - \text{RSS} - \text{SS}(\text{T}) - \text{Er.SS I} - \text{SS}(\text{V}) - \text{SS}(\text{T} \times \text{V}) \\ &= 75.87 - 0.035 - 45.207 - 23.992 - 6.198 - 0.128 = 0.310. \end{split}$$

*F*-ratios for replication and tillage are obtained by comparing the respective mean sum of squares against mean sum of squares due to error I. On the other hand, the *F*-ratios corresponding to subplot factor and the interaction effects are worked out by comparing the respective mean sum of squares against the mean sum of squares due to error II.

It is found that the effects of tillage, variety and their interaction are significant at both 5% and 1% level of significance.

So the next task will be to estimate the SEs for different types of comparison as given below:

1. Standard error for difference between two till-

المسلك للاستشارات

age means 
$$=\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-I}}{rn}} = \sqrt{\frac{2(0.032)}{3\times 4}}$$
 and the corresponding LSD value could be

$$LSD_{(0.05)} = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS-I}{rn}} t_{(0.025); \text{ error}-I \text{ d.f.}}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2(0.032)}{3 \times 4}} \times 2.776 = 0.2027$$

2. Standard error for difference between two subplot treatment means =  $\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-II}}{r.m}} = \sqrt{\frac{2(0.017)}{3\times3}}$  and the corresponding LSD value could be

$$LSD_{(0.05)} = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS-II}{r.m}} t_{0.025; \text{ error}-II \text{ d.f.}}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2(0.017)}{3x3}} \times 2.101 = 0.129$$

ANOVA table for 3 $\times$	4 split plot experiment				Table value	of F
SOV	d.f.	MS	MS	F-ratio	p = 0.05	p = 0.01
Replication	3 - 1 = 2	0.035	0.018	0.545	6.94	18.00
Main Plot Factor(P)	3 - 1 = 2	45.207	22.603	704.519	6.94	18.00
Error I	(3-1)(3-1) = 4	0.128	0.032			
Subplot factor(V)	(4 - 1) = 3	23.992	7.997	464.366	3.16	5.09
Interaction (P $\times$ V)	(3-1)(4-1) = 6	6.198	1.033	59.978	2.66	4.01
Error II	3(4-1)(3-1) = 18	0.310	0.017			
Total	3.3.4 - 1 = 35	75.87				

3. Standard error for difference between two tillage means at the same or different level of subplot

treatment $-\sqrt{2[(n-1) \text{ ErMS-II} + \text{ ErMS-I}]}$ –
1 $rn$ $rn$ $rn$
$\sqrt{\frac{2[(4-1)\ 0.017+0.032]}{2}} = 0.1386$ but the
V 3.4 = 0.1500, but the
ratio of the treatment mean difference and the
above SE does not follow $t$ distribution, and the
approximate value of t is given by
$t_1$ ErMS-I + $t_2(n-1)$ ErMS-II
l =  ErMS-I + $(n - 1)$ ErMS-II =
(2.776) (0.032) + (2.101) (4 - 1) 0.017
(0.032) + (4 - 1) (0.017)

2.361, where  $t_1 = t_{0.025,4}$  value and  $t_2 =$  $t_{0.025,18}$  value and the corresponding CD value could be  $LSD_{(0.05)} = SE_d \times$  $t(cal) = 0.1386 \times 2.361 = 0.327.$ 

Table of mean comparison

	Average			LSD(0.05)
Tillage				
$T_2$	10.700			0.2027
$T_3$	8.383			
$T_1$	8.267			
Variety				
$V_2$	10.444			0.129
$V_3$	9.122			
$V_1$	8.533			
$V_4$	8.367			
$T \times V$				
$T_2V_2$	12.467			0.227
$T_2V_3$	11.033			and 0.324
$T_2V_4$	9.800			
$T_3V_2$	9.667	· '		
$T_2V_1$	9.500	11		
$T_1V_2$	9.200	I		
$T_1V_1$	8.600		1	
$T_3V_3$	8.367			
$T_3V_4$	8.000		1	
$T_1V_3$	7.967			
$T_3V_1$	7.500	N		N
$T_1V_4$	7.300		•	
للمسلم				

Thus, second tillage is the best, which is significantly superior to the other two tillages. The two methods of tillage, namely,  $T_3$  and  $T_1$ , are statistically at par. So far as the effect of variety is concerned, maximum yield of ginger is obtained from variety  $V_2$  followed by  $V_3$ ,  $V_1$ , and  $V_4$ . All the varieties are significantly different from each other with respect to yield of ginger. The interaction of the method of tillage and the varieties has significantly different effects from each other; the interaction effects which are not significantly different have been put under the same lines. Variety in combination with tillage T2V<sub>2</sub> has produced significantly higher yield than any other combination, followed by  $P_2V_3$ ,  $P_2V_4$ , and so on.

The above analysis can also be done using SAS statistical software. The following few slides present the data entry, command syntax, and the output for the same:

# 10.12.2 Strip Plot Design

In split plot design, if both the factors require a large plot like that in the main plot factor, then it may not be possible in split plot design. Strip plot design is the solution. In agricultural field experimentation with factors like different methods of irrigation, different methods of pest control, different methods of mulching, different methods of plowing, etc., require larger plot size for convenience of management. In experiments involving these factors, strip plot design may become very useful. In strip plot design each replication is divided into the number of horizontal rows and the number of vertical columns equals to the number of levels of factor 1 and factor 2, respectively, or vice versa.

The factor assigned to the horizontal rows is called *horizontal factor* and the factor assigned to the vertical column is called the *vertical factor*. Thus, horizontal factor and vertical factor always remain perpendicular to each other.

This does not necessarily mean that the shape and/or size of horizontal strips and vertical strips will be the same. The smallest plot in strip plot design is the intersection plot and in strip plot design, the interaction effects

SAS - [Editor - Untitled2 * PROC GLM n	inning]	- 0 <b>- ×</b>
File Edit View Tools Run Solu	tions Window Help	- 0
~	· □ ☞ ■   ⊕ 0,  ↓ = 0, ∽   1) 9,  ★ X 0 @	
suits ∰ Repuits ∰ GLM: The SAS System	B         Weaks splitplot; input till Variety repl yield; cards;           1         1         6.7           1         1         7.0           1         1         7.0           1         1         7.0           2         1         12.6           2         1         12.6           2         1         12.6           2         1         12.6           3         1         7.5           3         1         2.5           2         1         2.6           1         2         5.6           3         1         2.5           2         1         2.6           1         2         5.6           3         1         2.7.5           2         2         2.5           2         2         2.5           2         2         2.6           3         2         1.6           2         2         2.6           3         2         1.6           3         2         2.6           3         2         2.6           3         2         <	
Results Splorer	Cutput - (Untitled)     Cog - (Untitled)     C	1
osave complete	C(User)(CC)Downloa	ds\Desktop\desktop matter\SAS Ln 44, Col 36
👧 I 0 🙄 🕞 6	a a	<b>4</b> . <b>4</b> . 1567

Slide 10.35: Step 1 showing data entry for split plot data analysis using SAS



Slide 10.36: Step 2 showing a portion of data entry and commands for split plot data analysis using SAS



K SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]									
File Edit View Go Tools Solution	ins Window Help								- 8 ×
× .	• D 📽 🖬 🚳 🔍	* 🖻 🖏 🕫 🔕	9 🔁 🖭 🔶 🕸	80	An 🤣				
Results	0								*
Results     B GLM: The SAS System	Dependent Variabl	e: yield			The SAS	S System Procedure			
			Source	DF	Sum of Squa	res Mean Sq	uare F Va	lue Pr>F	
			Model	19	75.52777	778 3.9751	4620 18	5.85 <.0001	
			Error	16	0.34222	0.0213	8889		
			Corrected Tot	<b>al</b> 35	75.87000	000			
			R	-Squar	e Coeff Var	Root MSE vi	eld Mean		
			(	99548	9 1.604198	0.146249	9.116667		
			Source	DF	Type I SS	Mean Square	e F Value	Pr > F	
			tiill	2	45.20666667	22.60333333	3 1056.78	<.0001	
			Variety	3	23.99222222	7.9974074	1 373.90	<.0001	
			tiill*Variety	6	6.19777778	1.03296296	6 48.29	<.0001	
			repl	2	0.03500000	0.01750000	0 0.82	0.4589	
			Variety*re	pl 6	0.09611111	0.01601853	2 0.75	0.6191	
			Source	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	e F Value	Pr > F	
Presuits	Output - (Untitled)	E Log - (Untitled)	) 🗹 split j	plot *	Edit	tor - Untitled2 * PR	Result	s Viewer - SAS .	
Done							@ C1	Users\CC\Downle	oads\Desktop\desktop matter\SAS
🚳 🔹 🖾 🖸	3								🤣 - 🐗 🕅 15-59 11-09-2012

Slide 10.37: Step 3 showing a portion of output for split plot data analysis using SAS

File Edit View Go Tools Solutions Window Help								20
· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	* Ba (St 🕫 👩 🕎 💁	+ + +	. 0	A 🔗				
Results D			-	7		E Malua		7
Results     B B GLM: The SAS System	50	urce	DF	Type I SS	Mean Square	F Value	PT>F	-
	Va	riety	3	23 99222222	7 99740741	373.90	< 0001	
	tiil	I'Variety	6	6.19777778	1.03296296	48.29	<.0001	
	re	pl	2	0.03500000	0.01750000	0.82	0.4589	•
	Va	riety*repl	6	0.09611111	0.01601852	0.75	0.6191	
	Sc	ource	DF	Type III SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr>F	
	tiil	I	2	45.20666667	22.60333333	1056.78	<.0001	
	Va	riety	3	23.99222222	7.99740741	373.90	<.0001	
	tiil	I*Variety	6	6.19777778	1.03296296	48.29	<.0001	
	rej	pl	2	0.03500000	0.01750000	0.82	0.4589	•
	Va	riety*repl	6	0.09611111	0.01601852	0.75	0.6191	
	Tests of	Hypothes	es U	sing the Type	III MS for tiill*V	ariety as	an Erro	r Term
	Source	DF		Type III SS	Mean Square	e F Va	lue	Pr > F
	Variety	3	23	3.99222222	7.9974074	1 1	7.74	0.0174
				The SAS	S System			
Presuts	Log - (Untitled)	🕼 split plo	e.	Edit	tor - Untitled2 * PR	Result	s Viewer -	SAS
Done						C()	Jsers\CC\D	Downloads\Desktop\desktop matter\SAS

Slide 10.38: Step 3 showing a portion of output for split plot data analysis using SAS



SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]								00	×
File Edit View Go Tools Solutions	Window Help	* Do mo o l 🗃 60 1	01 <b>4</b>	2 () A   A				-	7 ×
Results (E) CLM: The SAS System		Note: This tes	st controls th	t Test	s (LSD) for y	yield	I le, not th	e experimentwise error rate.	^
				Alpha			0.0	5	
				Error Degrees	of Freedon	n	0.01601	6	
				Critical Value	oft		2.4469	1	ľ
				Least Signific	ant Differen	ce	0.14	8	
				Means v are not si	with the sam gnificantly o	differ	ter rent.		
				t Grouping	Mean	N V	ariety		
				A	10.44444	9 2			
				в	9.12222	9 3			
				С	8.53333	9 1			
				D	8.36667	9 4			
Presuits	Output - (Untitled)	Log - (Untitled)	🖍 split pl	lot *	Editor - Untit	led2 *	PR	Results Viewer - SAS	
Done								C:\Users\CC\Downloads\Desktop\desktop matter\SAS	
🗿 🔹 🖘 🖻 📧								🚱 - 🐗 🕅 11-09-20	

Slide 10.39: Step 3 showing a portion of output for split plot data analysis using SAS

Image: Participation       Window       Hep         Image: Participation       Image: Participation       Image: Participation       Image: Participation         Image: Participation       Image: Participation       Image: Participation       Image: Participation       Image: Participation         Image: Participation       Image: Participation       Image: Participation       Image: Participation       Image: Participation       Image: Participation         Image: Participation	yield           Mean         Std Dev           5666667         1.00664459           533333         0.90184995           5000000         1.9000000           4000000         1.91572441           5000000         1.75783958           433333         1.62890556	(_ ( <i>d</i> )
Level of Q GUA: The 545 System         Level of N         Level of N         Level of N         Level of N         N           1         1         3         8           1         2         3         8           2         1         3         10           2         3         3         10           3         1         3         9	yield           Mean         Std Dev           35666667         1.00664459           15333333         0.90184995           15000000         1.10000000           14000000         1.91572441           1500000         1.75783958           14333333         1.62890556	
The state         Level of         Level of         N           1         1         3         8           1         3         3         8           1         3         3         8           1         3         3         8           1         3         3         8           1         3         3         8           1         3         3         8           1         3         3         8           2         1         3         3           2         3         3         10           3         1         3         9	Viet           Mean         Std Dev           1.5666667         1.00664459           1.5000000         1.0000000           1.4000000         1.91572441           1.5000000         1.75783958           4.4333333         1.62890556	
ka g GLM: The SAS System N 2000 C 100 C 1	yiel           Mean         Std Dev           15060667         1.00664459           1533333         0.90184995           15000000         1.91052041           15000000         1.75783958           4333333         1.62890556	
Variety         rep1         N           1         1         3         8           1         2         3         8           1         3         3         8           1         3         3         8           1         3         3         3           2         1         3         3         10           2         2         3         10         3         10           2         3         3         10         3         10	Mean         Std Dev           15666667         100664459           1533333         0.90184995           15000000         1.9000000           14000000         1.91572441           15000000         1.75783958           1433333         1.62890556	
1         1         3         8           1         2         3         8           1         3         3         8           2         1         3         10           2         2         3         10           2         3         3         10           3         1         3         9	5666667         1.00664459           5.533333         0.90184995           5.000000         1.0000000           4.000000         1.91572441           5.000000         1.75783958           4.33333         1.62890556	
1         2         3         8           1         3         3         8           2         1         3         10           2         2         3         10           2         3         3         10           3         1         3         9	1.533333         0.90184995           1.5000000         1.1000000           1.4000000         1.91572441           1.5000000         1.75783958           1.4333333         1.62690556	
1 3 3 8 2 1 3 10 2 2 3 10 2 3 3 10 3 1 3 9	.5000000 1.10000000 1.4000000 1.91572441 1.5000000 1.75783958 1.4333333 1.62890556	
2 1 3 10 2 2 3 10 2 3 3 10 3 1 3 9	.4000000 1.91572441 .5000000 1.75783958 .4333333 1.62890556	
2 2 3 10 2 3 3 10 3 1 3 9	.5000000 1.75783958 .4333333 1.62890556	
2 3 3 10 3 1 3 9	4333333 1.62890556	
3 1 3 9		
	.06666667 1.85831465	
3 2 3 9	1000000 1.66433170	
3 3 3 9	2000000 147986486	
4 1 3 8	3000000 1 34536240	-
4 2 3 8	3000000 117898261	3
Pictibution of vield by Valebored 8	5000000 1.34536240	
	1.54550240	
The SAS (	System	
The GLM Pr	rocedure res Means	
Presults 🕲 Explorer 🖾 Output - (Untitled) 🖾 Log - (Untitled) 🕷 split plot *	olot design PRO	
lone	C:\Users\CC\Downloads\Des	sktop\desktop matter\SAS

Slide 10.40: Step 3 showing a portion of output for split plot data analysis using SAS



between the two factors are measured with higher precision than either of the two factors.

## Randomization and Layout

Like split plot design, the randomization and allocation of the two factors in strip plot design is done in two steps. First, *n* horizontal factors are randomly allocated to *n* horizontal strips. Next the *m* levels of factor B are distributed among the *m* vertical strips independently and randomly. The procedure of randomization is repeated for each and every replication independently. The ultimate layout of an  $m \times n$  strip plot design in *r* replication is given in (Table 10.20):

## Analysis

🐴 للاستشارات

The analysis of strip plot design is performed in three steps: (a) analysis of horizontal factor effects, (b) analysis of vertical factor effects, and (c) analysis of interaction factor effects. *Statistical Model* 

$$y_{ijk} = \mu + \gamma_i + \alpha_j + e_{ij} + \beta_k + e'_{ik} + (\alpha\beta)_{jk}$$
$$+ e''_{ijk}$$

where i = 1, 2, ..., r; j = 1, 2, ..., m; k = 1, 2, ..., n

- $\mu$  = general effect
- $\gamma_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th replication
- $\alpha_j$  = additional effect due to the *j*th level of vertical factor A and  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j = 0$
- $\beta_k$  = additional effect due to the *k*th level of horizontal factor B and  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_k = 0$
- $(\alpha\beta)_{jk}$  = interaction effect due to the *j*th level of factor A and the *k*th level of factor B and  $\sum_{j} (\alpha\beta)_{jk} = \sum_{k} (\alpha\beta)_{jk} = 0 r$
- $e_{ij}$  (error I) = error associated with the *i*th replication and the *j*th level of vertical factor A and  $\sim e_{ik} \sim i.i.d. N(0, \sigma_1^2)$

#### **Table 10.20** Layout of $m \times n$ strip plot design



	a <sub>1</sub>	a <sub>2</sub>		$\mathbf{a}_j$		a <sub>m</sub>	Total	Mean
R <sub>1</sub>	<i>y</i> 110	<i>y</i> <sub>120</sub>		<i>y</i> 1 <i>j</i> 0		<i>Y</i> 1 <i>m</i> 0	<i>y</i> 100	$\overline{y}_{100}$
<b>R</b> <sub>2</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>210</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>220</sub>		<i>Y</i> 2 <i>j</i> 0		<i>Y</i> <sub>2m0</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>200</sub>	$\bar{y}_{200}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
R <sub>i</sub>	<i>Yi</i> 10	<i>Y</i> <sub><i>i</i>20</sub>		y <sub>ij0</sub>		y <sub>im0</sub>	<i>Yi</i> 00	$\overline{y}_{i00}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
R <sub>r</sub>	$y_{r10}$	<i>Yr</i> 20		y <sub>rj0</sub>		$y_{rm0}$	<i>Yr</i> 00	$\overline{y}_{r00}$
Total	<i>Y</i> 010	<i>Y</i> 020		<i>Y</i> 0 <i>j</i> 0		<i>Y</i> 0 <i>m</i> 0	<i>Y</i> 000	$\overline{y}_{000}$
Mean	$\overline{y}_{010}$	$\bar{y}_{020}$		$\bar{y}_{0j0}$		$\bar{y}_{0m0}$		

**Table 10.21**Table of totals for replication  $\times$  vertical factor A

- $e'_{ik}$  (error II) = error associated with the *i*th level of replication and the *k*th level of horizontal factor B and  $e'_{ii} \sim i.i.d. N(0, \sigma_2^2)$
- $e''_{ijk}$  (error III) = error associated with the *i*th replication, the *j*th level of vertical factor A, and the *k*th level of horizontal factor B and  $e_{ijk} \sim \text{i.i.d. } N(0, \sigma_3^2)$

Hypothesis to Be Tested

$$H_0: \gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \cdots = \gamma_i = \cdots = \gamma_r = 0,$$
  

$$\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \cdots = \alpha_j = \cdots = \alpha_m = 0,$$
  

$$\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \cdots = \beta_k = \cdots = \beta_n = 0,$$
  

$$(\alpha\beta)_{11} = (\alpha\beta)_{12} = \cdots = (\alpha\beta)_{jk} = \cdots$$
  

$$= (\alpha\beta)_{mn} = 0.$$

 $H_1$ :  $\gamma$ 's are not all equal,  $\alpha$ 's are not all equal,  $\beta$ 's are not all equal,  $(\alpha\beta)$ 's are not all equal.

Let the level of significance be 0.05.

First we construct the three two-way tables of totals for (a) replication  $\times$  horizontal factor, (b) replication  $\times$  vertical factor, and (c) horizontal  $\times$  vertical factor. The step-by-step procedure for computation of different sums of squares and mean sums of squares is given as follows:

1. Grand total  $=\sum_{i=1}^{r}\sum_{j=1}^{m}\sum_{k=1}^{n}y_{ijk} = G.$ 2. Correction factor (CF)  $=\frac{G^2}{mnr}.$ 3. Total MS  $=\sum_{i=1}^{r}\sum_{j=1}^{m}\sum_{k=1}^{n}y_{ijk}^2 - CF.$  4. Work out the sum of squares due to the vertical factor A and the replication. Table 10.21 (table of totals) is required to be framed. where

$$y_{ij0} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{ijk}$$

TSS (Table I) = 
$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j=1}^{m} y_{ij0}^2 - CF$$

Replication SS = 
$$\frac{1}{mn} \sum_{i=1}^{r} y_{i00}^2 - CF$$

$$SS(A) = \frac{1}{nr} \sum_{j=1}^{m} y_{0j0}^2 - CF$$

SS(Error I) = TSS(Table I) - RSS - SS(A)

5. Work out the sum of squares due to the horizontal factor B and the replication. Table 10.22 (table of totals) is required to be framed.

TSS (Table II) 
$$= \frac{1}{m} \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{i0k}^{2} - CF$$
  
SS(B)  $= \frac{1}{mr} \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{00k}^{2} - CF$ 

SS(Error II) = TSS(Table II) - RSS - SS(B)

	$b_1$	<b>b</b> <sub>2</sub>		$\mathbf{b}_k$		b <sub>n</sub>	Total	Mean
R <sub>1</sub>	<i>y</i> 101	<i>y</i> <sub>102</sub>		<i>Y</i> 10 <i>k</i>		<i>y</i> 10 <i>n</i>	<i>y</i> 100	$\bar{y}_{100}$
R <sub>2</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>201</sub>	y <sub>202</sub>		<i>Y</i> <sub>20<i>k</i></sub>		<i>Y</i> 20 <i>n</i>	<i>Y</i> 200	$\bar{y}_{200}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
R <sub>i</sub>	<i>Yi</i> 01	<i>y</i> <sub>i02</sub>		y <sub>i0k</sub>		y <sub>i0n</sub>	<i>Yi</i> 00	$\overline{y}_{i00}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
$\mathbf{R}_r$	<i>Y</i> <sub>r01</sub>	$Y_{r02}$		$y_{r0k}$		<i>Yr</i> 0 <i>n</i>	<i>Yr</i> 00	$\overline{y}_{r00}$
Total	<i>Y</i> 001	<i>Y</i> 002		y <sub>00kj</sub>		Y00nm	<i>Y</i> 000	$\bar{y}_{000}$
Mean	$\bar{y}_{001}$	$\bar{y}_{002}$		$\overline{y}_{00k}$		$\bar{y}_{00n}$		

**Table 10.22** Table of totals for replication  $\times$  horizontal factor B

**Table 10.23** Table of totals for vertical factor  $A \times$  horizontal factor B

	b <sub>1</sub>	<b>b</b> <sub>2</sub>		$\mathbf{b}_k$		b <sub>n</sub>	Total	Mean
a <sub>1</sub>	<i>y</i> <sub>011</sub>	<i>Y</i> 012		$y_{01k}$		<i>Y</i> 01 <i>n</i>	<i>Y</i> 010	$\bar{y}_{010}$
a <sub>2</sub>	y <sub>021</sub>	<i>Y</i> 022		$y_{02k}$		<i>y</i> <sub>02<i>n</i></sub>	<i>Y</i> 020	$\overline{y}_{020}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
a <sub>j</sub>	<i>Y</i> 0 <i>j</i> 1	<i>Y</i> 0 <i>j</i> 2		$y_{0jk}$		<i>Y</i> 0 <i>jn</i>	Уојо	$\overline{y}_{0j0}$
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
a <sub>m</sub>	$y_{0m1}$	<i>Y</i> 0 <i>m</i> 2		$y_{0mk}$		y <sub>0mn</sub>	<i>Y</i> 0m0	$\bar{y}_{0m0}$
Total	<i>Y</i> 001	<i>Y</i> 002		Yook		<i>Y</i> 00 <i>n</i>	<i>Y</i> 000	$\overline{y}_{000}$
Mean	$\overline{y}_{001}$	$\bar{y}_{002}$		$\overline{y}_{00k}$		$\overline{y}_{00n}$		

 Work out the sum of squares due to vertical factor A and horizontal factor B interaction. Table 10.23 (table of totals) is required to be formed.

TSS(Table III) 
$$= \frac{1}{r} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{0jk}^{2} - CF$$

$$SS(AB) = TSS(Table III) - SS(A) - SS(B)$$

$$\begin{split} SS(Error \ III) &= TSS - RSS - SS(A) \\ &- SS(B) - SS(AB) - ErSS \ I \\ &- ErSS \ II \end{split}$$

Mean sum of squares is calculated by dividing the sum of squares by the corresponding degrees of freedom (Table 10.24).

7. *F*-ratios for replication and vertical factor effects are obtained by comparing the replication mean sum of squares against the mean sum of squares due to error I. On the other hand, the *F*-ratios corresponding to horizontal factor and interaction between horizontal and

الألم للاستشارات

vertical factors are worked out by comparing the respective mean sum of squares against the mean sum of squares due to error II and error III, respectively.

- 8. Calculated *F*-ratios are compared with tabulated value of *F* at appropriate level of significance and degrees of freedom.
- 9. Once the *F*-test becomes significant, our next task will be to estimate the SEs for different types of comparison as given below:
  - (a) Standard error for difference between two replication means =  $\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-I}}{mn}}$  and the corresponding LSD value will be  $\text{LSD}_{\alpha} = \sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-I}}{mn}} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2};\text{error-I d.f.}}$ .
  - (b) Standard error for difference between two vertical plot treatment means =  $\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-I}}{rn}}$  and the corresponding LSD value will be  $\text{LSD}_{\alpha} = \sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-I}}{rn}} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2}\text{error-I d.f.}}$ .
  - (c) Standard error for difference between two horizontal plot treatment

SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	F-ratio
Replication	r - 1	RSS	RMS	RMS/ErMSI
Vertical plot factor (A)	m - 1	SS(A)	MS(A)	MS(A)/ErMSI
Error I	(r-1)(m-1)	ErSSI	ErMSI	
Horizontal plot factor (B)	(n - 1)	SS(B)	MS(B)	MS(B)/ErMSII
Error II	(r-1)(n-1)	ErSSII	ErMSII	
Interaction (A $\times$ B)	(m-1)(n-1)	SS(AB)	MS(AB)	MS(AB)/ErMSII
Error III	(m-1)(n-1)(r-1)	ErSSIII	ErMSIII	
Total	mnr - 1	TSS		

**Table 10.24** ANOVA table for  $m \times n$  strip plot design in *r* replication

means =  $\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-II}}{rm}}$  and the corresponding LSD value will be  $\text{LSD}_{\alpha} = \sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-II}}{rm}} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2}; \text{ error-II d.f.}}$ 

- (d) Standard error for difference between two vertical plot treatment means at the same level of horizontal plot treatment =  $\sqrt{\frac{2[(n-1) \text{ ErMS-III} + \text{ErMS-I}]}{rn}}$  and the corresponding LSD value will be LSD<sub>a</sub>  $= \sqrt{\frac{2[(n-1) \text{ ErMS-III} + \text{ErMS-I}]}{rn}}$ 
  - $\times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2}; \text{errorII d.f.}}$
- (e) Standard error for difference between two horizontal plot treatment means at the same level of vertical plot treatment =

$$\sqrt{\frac{2[(m-1) \text{ ErMS-III} + \text{ErMS-III}]}{rm}}.$$

But the ratio of the treatment difference and the above SE in (d) and (e) does not follow the t distribution, and the approximate weighted t is calculated as follows:

$$\frac{\{(n-1) \text{ ErMS-III} \times t_{\text{III}} + (\text{ErMS-I} \times t_{\text{I}})\}}{\{(n-1) \text{ ErMS-III} + \text{ErMS-I}\}} \text{ and }$$

$$\frac{[(m-1) \text{ ErMS-III} \times t_{\text{III}} + \text{ErMS-II} \times t_{\text{II}}]}{(m-1) \text{ ErMS-III} + \text{ErM-SII}}, \text{ respectively},$$

where  $t_{I} = t$  value at error I degrees of freedom,  $t_{II} = t$  value at error II degrees of freedom, and  $t_{III} = t$  value at error III d.f. with specified level of significance. Corresponding LSD values will be LSD<sub> $\alpha$ </sub> = SE<sub>d</sub> × t(cal).



*Example 10.18.* To find the efficacy of three different sources of organic manure and four irrigation schedules, an experiment was conducted in strip plot design with three replications. Given below are the yield (t/ha) data for different treatments. Analyze the information to identify the best organic manure and irrigation schedule along with their combination.

# Statistical Model

$$y_{ijk} = \mu + \gamma_i + \alpha_j + e_{ij} + \beta_k + e'_{jk} + (\alpha\beta)_{jk} + e''_{ijk}$$
  
where  $i = 3; j = 3; k = 4;$ 

 $\mu$  = general effect

 $r_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th replication

- $\alpha_j$  = additional effect due to the *j*th level of vertical factor, manure, and  $\sum_{i=1}^{3} \alpha_i = 0$
- $\beta_k$  = additional effect due to the *k*th level of horizontal factor, irrigation, and  $\sum_{k=1}^{4} \beta_k = 0$
- $(\alpha\beta)_{jk}$  = interaction effect due to the *j*th level of manure and the *k*th level of irrigation and  $\sum_{i} (\alpha\beta)_{jk} = \sum_{k} (\alpha\beta)_{jk} = 0$
- $e_{ij}$  (error I) = error associated with the *i*th replication and the *j*th level of vertical factor A and  $e_{ij} \sim \text{i.i.d. } N(0, \sigma_1^2)$
- $e_{jk}^2$  (error II) = error associated with the *j*th level of vertical factor A (manure) and the *k*th level of horizontal factor B (irrigation) and  $e_{jk} \sim i.i.$ d.  $N(0, \sigma_2^2)$
- $e_{ijk}^{"}$  (error III) = error associated with the *i*th replication, the *j*th level of vertical factor A and the *k*th level of horizontal factor B and  $e_{ijk} \sim i$ . i.d.  $N(0, \sigma_3^2)$

Vertic	al plot	(manure	e)								
M1				M2				M3			
I1	I2	I3	I4	I1	I2	I3	I4	I1	I2	13	I4
11.2	10.2	14.5	12.3	11.8	10.9	16.2	13.5	11	9.5	12.5	10.6
11.3	10.5	14.6	12.5	11.9	10.8	16.5	13.8	10.9	9.8	12	10.8
11.5	10.4	14.2	12.8	11.6	10.7	16.6	13.9	10.5	9.7	12.4	10.7
	Vertic M1 I1 11.2 11.3 11.5	Vertical plot           M1           I1         I2           11.2         10.2           11.3         10.5           11.5         10.4	M1         II         I2         I3           11.2         10.2         14.5         11.3         10.5         14.6           11.5         10.4         14.2         14.2         14.5	M1           I1         I2         I3         I4           11.2         10.2         14.5         12.3           11.3         10.5         14.6         12.5           11.5         10.4         14.2         12.8	M1         M2           11         12         13         14         11           11.2         10.2         14.5         12.3         11.8           11.3         10.5         14.6         12.5         11.9           11.5         10.4         14.2         12.8         11.6	Vertical plot (manure)           M1         M2           I1         I2         I3         I4         I1         I2           11.2         10.2         14.5         12.3         11.8         10.9           11.3         10.5         14.6         12.5         11.9         10.8           11.5         10.4         14.2         12.8         11.6         10.7	Vertical plot (manure)           M1         M2           I1         I2         I3         I4         I1         I2         I3           11.2         10.2         14.5         12.3         11.8         10.9         16.2           11.3         10.5         14.6         12.5         11.9         10.8         16.5           11.5         10.4         14.2         12.8         11.6         10.7         16.6	Vertical plot (manure)           M1         M2           I1         I2         I3         I4         I1         I2         I3         I4           11.2         10.2         14.5         12.3         11.8         10.9         16.2         13.5           11.3         10.5         14.6         12.5         11.9         10.8         16.5         13.8           11.5         10.4         14.2         12.8         11.6         10.7         16.6         13.9	Vertical plot (manure)           M1         M2         M3           I1         I2         I3         I4         I1         I2         I3         I4           11.2         10.2         14.5         12.3         11.8         10.9         16.2         13.5         11           11.3         10.5         14.6         12.5         11.9         10.8         16.5         13.8         10.9           11.5         10.4         14.2         12.8         11.6         10.7         16.6         13.9         10.5	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

Hypothesis to Be Tested

$$H_{0}: \gamma_{1} = \gamma_{2} = \gamma_{3} = 0,$$
  

$$\alpha_{1} = \alpha_{2} = \alpha_{3} = 0,$$
  

$$\beta_{1} = \beta_{2} = \beta_{3} = \beta_{4} = 0,$$
  

$$(\alpha\beta)_{11} = (\alpha\beta)_{12} = \dots = (\alpha\beta)_{jk} = \dots$$
  

$$= (\alpha\beta)_{34} = 0.$$

 $H_1$ :  $\gamma$ 's are not all equal,  $\alpha$ 's are not all equal,  $\beta$ 's are not all equa,  $(\alpha\beta)$ 's are not all equal.

Let the level of significance be 0.05.

First we construct three two-way tables of totals for replication  $\times$  manure, replication  $\times$  irrigation, and manure  $\times$  irrigation. The stepby-step procedure for computation of different sums of squares and mean sum of squares is given as follows:

- 1. Grand total  $=\sum_{i=1}^{3}\sum_{j=1}^{3}\sum_{k=1}^{4}y_{ijk} = GT = 11.2 + 10.2 + \dots + 12.4 + 10.7 = 434.6.$ 2. Correction factor (CF) =
- $\frac{\text{GT}^2}{3.4.3} = \frac{434.6^2}{36} = 5246.488.$

3. Work out the sum of squares due to vertical factor A and replication. The following table of totals is required to be framed:

TSS(Table I) = 
$$\frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{ij0}^{2} - CF$$
  
= 5279.09 - 5246.588 = 32.502  
Replication SS =  $\frac{1}{3.4} \sum_{i=1}^{3} y_{i00}^{2} - CF$   
=  $\frac{144.2^{2} + 145.4^{2} + 145^{2}}{12}$   
- 5246.588  
= 0.062

$$SS(A) = \frac{1}{4.3} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{0j0}^2 - CF$$
$$= \frac{146^2 + 158.2^2 + 130.4^2}{12} - 5246.588$$
$$= 32.362$$

SS(Error I) = TSS (Table I) - RSS - SS (A)= 32.502 - 0.062 - 32.362= 0.078

4. Work out the sum of squares due to horizontal factor B and replication. The following table of totals is required to be framed:

	M1	M2	M3	Total	Average
R1	48.200	52.400	43.600	144.200	12.017
R2	48.900	53.000	43.500	145.400	12.117
R3	48.900	52.800	43.300	145.000	12.083
Total	146.000	158.200	130.400		
Average	12.167	13.183	10.867		

**Table I** Table of totals for replication  $\times$  manure



	I1	I2	13	I4	Total	Average
R1	34.000	30.600	43.200	36.400	144.200	12.017
R2	34.100	31.100	43.100	37.100	145.400	12.117
R3	33.600	30.800	43.200	37.400	145.000	12.083
Total	101.700	92.500	129.500	110.900		
Average	11.300	10.278	14.389	12.322		

**Table 2** Table of totals for replication  $\times$  irrigation

(Table II) ErSS II = 
$$\frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{i0k}^2 - CF$$
  
=  $\frac{34^2 + 30.6^2 + \dots + 43.2^2 + 37.4^2}{3} - 5246.588$ 

= 83.416

$$SS(B) = \frac{1}{3.3} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{00k}^2 - CF$$
  
=  $\frac{101.7^2 + 92.5^2 + 129.5^2 + 110.9^2}{9}$   
=  $\frac{-5246.588}{83.212}$ 

**Table 3** Table of totals for irrigation  $\times$  manure

ErSS II = 
$$\frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{k=1}^{4} y_{i0k}^2 - CF - SS$$
 (Irrg.)  
=  $\frac{34^2 + 30.6^2 + \dots + 43.2^2 + 37.4^2}{3}$   
-5246.588 - 83.212 = 0.204.

5. Work out the sum of squares due to vertical factor and horizontal factor interaction. The following table of totals is required to be framed:

	0				
	M1	M2	M3	Total	Average
I1	34.0	35.3	32.4	101.700	11.300
I2	31.1	32.4	29.0	92.500	10.280
I3	43.3	49.3	36.9	129.500	14.389
I4	37.6	41.2	32.1	110.900	12.322
Total	146.000	158.200	130.400		
Average	12.167	13.183	10.867		

$$SS(M \times I) = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{0jk}^{2} - CF - SS(A) - SS(B)$$
  
=  $\frac{34^{2} + 35.3^{2} + 32.4^{2} + \dots + 41.2^{2} + 32.1^{2}}{3} - 5246.588 - 32.362 - 83.212 = 10.644$ 

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{Error III} = \text{TMS} - \text{RMS} - \text{MS}(\text{A}) - \text{MS}(\text{B}) - \text{MS}(\text{AB}) - \text{ErMS-I} - \text{ErMS-II} \\ = 127.112 - 0.062 - 32.362 - 83.212 - 10.644 - 0.078 - 0.204 \\ = 0.549. \end{array}$ 



Mean sum of squares is calculated by dividing the sum of squares by the corresponding degrees of freedom.

# ANOVA table for $3 \times 4$ strip plot design with 3 replications

- 6. *F*-ratios for replication and vertical factor effects are obtained by comparing the respective mean sum of squares against the mean sum of squares due to error I. On the other hand, the *F*-ratios corresponding to horizontal factor and interaction between horizontal and vertical factors are worked out by comparing the respective mean sum of squares against the mean sum of squares due to error II and error III, respectively.
- 7. Calculated F-ratios are compared with tabulated value of F at appropriate level of significance and degrees of freedom. It is found from the above table that except for replication effect, all other effects are

(b) Standard error for difference between two horizontal plot treatment means =  $\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS-II}}{rm}}$  and the corresponding CD value could be

$$CD_{(0.05)} = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS-II}{3.3}} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2};error-II \, d.f.}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.034}{3.3}} \times 2.447 = 0.213.$$

- (c) Standard error for difference between two vertical plot treatment means at the same level of horizontal plot treatment  $= \sqrt{\frac{2[(n-1)\text{ErMS-III+ErMS-I]}}{rn}}$  $= \sqrt{\frac{2(4-1)0.046+0.019}{3.4}} = 0.162.$
- (d) Standard error for difference between two horizontal plot treatment means at the same level of vertical plot treatment

SOV	d.f.	SS	MS	<i>F</i> -value	Table value o $(p = 0.05)$	f $F$ ( $p = 0.01$ )
Replication	2	0.062	0.031	1.6	6.94	18.00
Vertical factor (manure)	2	32.362	16.181	832.1702	6.94	18.00
Error I	4	0.078	0.019			
Horizontal factor (irrig.)	3	83.212	27.737	814.0336	4.76	9.78
Error II	6	0.204	0.034			
M  imes I	6	10.644	1.774	38.7855	3.00	4.82
Error III	12	0.549	0.046			
Total	35	127.112				

significant at both 5 and 1% level of significance.

- 8. Once the *F*-test becomes significant, our next task is to estimate the SEs for different types of comparison as given below:
  - (a) Standard error for difference between two vertical plot treatment means =  $\sqrt{\frac{2\text{ErMS}-I}{rn}}$ and the corresponding CD value could be

$$CD_{\alpha} = \sqrt{\frac{2ErMS-I}{rn}} \times t_{\frac{\alpha}{2}; error-I \, d.f.}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2 \times 0.019}{3.4}} \times 2.776 = 0.1562.$$

المنسارات فلاستشارات

$$= \sqrt{\frac{2[(m-1)\text{ErMSIII}+\text{ErMSII}]}{rm}}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{2[(3-1)0.046+0.034]}{3\times 3}} = 0.167$$

But the ratio of the treatment difference and the above SE in (c) and (d) does not follow the *t* distribution, and the approximate weighted *t* is calculated as follows:

$$\frac{\{(n-1)\text{ErMS-III} \times t_{\text{III}}\} + (\text{ErMS-I} \times t_{\text{I}})}{\{(n-1)\text{ErMS-III} + \text{ErMS-I}\}}$$
$$= \frac{\{(4-1)0.046 \times 2.179\} + (0.019 \times 2.776)}{\{(4-1) \times 0.046 + 0.019\}} = 2.248$$

and

$$\frac{[(m-1)\text{ErMS-III} \times t_{\text{III}} + \text{ErMS-II} \times t_{\text{II}}]}{(m-1)\text{ErMS-III} + \text{ErMS-II}}$$
$$= \frac{[(3-1) \times 0.046 \times 2.179 + 0.034 \times 2.447]}{(3-1) \times 0.046 + 0.034}$$
$$= 2.251,$$

where  $t_{\rm I} = t_{0.025,4} = 2.776$ ,  $t_{\rm II} = t_{0.025,6} = 2.447$ , and  $t_{\rm III} = t_{0.025,12} = 2.179$ . Corresponding CD values could be CD (0.05) = SE<sub>d</sub> × t<sub>cal</sub>.

Thus, the critical difference value to compare two vertical plot treatment means at the same level of horizontal plot treatment is  $CD(0.05) = SE_d \times t_{cal} = 0.162$  $\times 2.248 = 0.364$ , and the critical difference value to compare two horizontal

plot treatment means at the same level of vertical plot treatment is  $CD(0.05) = SE_d \times t_{cal} = 0.167 \times 2.251 = 0.376$ .

Manure	Yield (t/ha)	Irrigation	Yield (t/ha)
M2	13.183	13	14.389
M1	12.167	I4	12.322
M3	10,867	I1	11.300
		I2	10.280

Comparing the treatment means it can be concluded that manure 2 is the best among the manures and irrigation schedule 3 is the best irrigation schedule. Similarly by using appropriate critical difference values as mentioned above, one can find out the best manure at a particular irrigation level and vice versa (Table 10.25).



Percent (%)									
	Transformed	Percent $(\%)$	Transformed	Percent (%)	Transformed	Percent (%)	Transformed	Percent (%)	Transf
0.0	0.00	4.1	11.68	8.2	16.64	12.3	20.53	16.4	23.89
0.1	1.81	4.2	11.83	8.3	16.74	12.4	20.62	16.5	23.97
0.2	2.56	4.3	11.97	8.4	16.85	12.5	20.70	16.6	24.04
0.3	3.14	4.4	12.11	8.5	16.95	12.6	20.79	16.7	24.12
0.4	3.63	4.5	12.25	8.6	17.05	12.7	20.88	16.8	24.20
0.5	4.05	4.6	12.38	8.7	17.15	12.8	20.96	16.9	24.27
0.6	4.44	4.7	12.52	8.8	17.26	12.9	21.05	17.0	24.35
0.7	4.80	4.8	12.66	8.9	17.36	13	21.13	17.1	24.43
0.8	5.13	4.9	12.79	9.0	17.46	13.1	21.22	17.2	24.50
0.9	5.44	5.0	12.92	9.1	17.56	13.2	21.30	17.3	24.58
1.0	5.74	5.1	13.05	9.2	17.66	13.3	21.39	17.4	24.65
1.1	6.02	5.2	13.18	9.3	17.76	13.4	21.47	17.5	24.73
1.2	6.29	5.3	13.31	9.4	17.85	13.5	21.56	17.6	24.80
1.3	6.55	5.4	13.44	9.5	17.95	13.6	21.64	17.7	24.88
1.4	6.80	5.5	13.56	9.6	18.05	13.7	21.72	17.8	24.95
1.5	7.03	5.6	13.69	9.7	18.15	13.8	21.81	17.9	25.03
1.6	7.27	5.7	13.81	9.8	18.24	13.9	21.89	18	25.10
1.7	7.49	5.8	13.94	9.9	18.34	14	21.97	18.1	25.18
1.8	7.71	5.9	14.06	10.0	18.43	14.1	22.06	18.2	25.25
1.9	7.92	6.0	14.18	10.1	18.53	14.2	22.14	18.3	25.33
2.0	8.13	6.1	14.30	10.2	18.63	14.3	22.22	18.4	25.40
2.1	8.33	6.2	14.42	10.3	18.72	14.4	22.30	18.5	25.47
2.2	8.53	6.3	14.54	10.4	18.81	14.5	22.38	18.6	25.55
2.3	8.72	6.4	14.65	10.5	18.91	14.6	22.46	18.7	25.62
2.4	8.91	6.5	14.77	10.6	19.00	14.7	22.54	18.8	25.70
2.5	9.10	6.6	14.89	10.7	19.09	14.8	22.63	18.9	25.77
2.6	9.28	6.7	15.00	10.8	19.19	14.9	22.71	19.0	25.84
2.7	9.46	6.8	15.12	10.9	19.28	15.0	22.79	19.1	25.91
2.8	9.63	6.9	15.23	11.0	19.37	15.1	22.87	19.2	25.99
2.9	9.80	7.0	15.34	11.1	19.46	15.2	22.95	19.3	26.06
3.0	9.97	7.1	15.45	11.2	19.55	15.3	23.03	19.4	26.13

276

www.m

26.21	26.28	26.35	26.42	26.49	26.57	26.64	26.71	26.78	26.85	37.41	37.46	37.52	37.58	37.64	37.70	37.76	37.82	37.88	37.94	38.00	38.06	38.12	38.17	38.23	38.29	38.35	38.41	38.47	38.53	38.59	38.65
19.5	19.6	19.7	19.8	19.9	20.0	20.1	20.2	20.3	20.4	36.9	37.0	37.1	37.2	37.3	37.4	37.5	37.6	37.7	37.8	37.9	38.0	38.1	38.2	38.3	38.4	38.5	38.6	38.7	38.8	38.9	39.0
23.11	23.18	23.26	23.34	23.42	23.50	23.58	23.66	23.73	23.81	34.94	35.00	35.06	35.12	35.18	35.24	35.30	35.37	35.43	35.49	35.55	35.61	35.67	35.73	35.79	35.85	35.91	35.97	36.03	36.09	36.15	36.21
15.4	15.5	15.6	15.7	15.8	15.9	16.0	16.1	16.2	16.3	32.8	32.9	33.0	33.1	33.2	33.3	33.4	33.5	33.6	33.7	33.8	33.9	34.0	34.1	34.2	34.3	34.4	34.5	34.6	34.7	34.8	34.9
19.64	19.73	19.82	19.91	20.00	20.09	20.18	20.27	20.36	20.44	32.39	32.46	32.52	32.58	32.65	32.71	32.77	32.83	32.90	32.96	33.02	33.09	33.15	33.21	33.27	33.34	33.40	33.46	33.52	33.58	33.65	33.71
11.3	11.4	11.5	11.6	11.7	11.8	11.9	12.0	12.1	12.2	28.7	28.8	28.9	29.0	29.1	29.2	29.3	29.4	29.5	29.6	29.7	29.8	29.9	30.0	30.1	30.2	30.3	30.4	30.5	30.6	30.7	30.8
15.56	15.68	15.79	15.89	16.00	16.11	16.22	16.32	16.43	16.54	29.73	29.80	29.87	29.93	30.00	30.07	30.13	30.20	30.26	30.33	30.40	30.46	30.53	30.59	30.66	30.72	30.79	30.85	30.92	30.98	31.05	31.11
7.2	7.3	7.4	7.5	7.6	7.7	7.8	7.9	8.0	8.1	24.6	24.7	24.8	24.9	25.0	25.1	25.2	25.3	25.4	25.5	25.6	25.7	25.8	25.9	26.0	26.1	26.2	26.3	26.4	26.5	26.6	26.7
10.14	10.30	10.47	10.63	10.78	10.94	11.09	11.24	11.39	11.54	26.92	26.99	27.06	27.13	27.20	27.27	27.35	27.42	27.49	27.56	27.62	27.69	27.76	27.83	27.90	27.97	28.04	28.11	28.18	28.25	28.32	28.39
3.1	3.2	3.3	3.4	3.5	3.6	3.7	3.8	3.9	4.0	20.5	20.6	20.7	20.8	20.9	21.0	21.1	21.2	21.3	21.4	21.5	22.0	21.7	21.8	21.9	22.0	22.1	22.2	22.3	22.4	22.5	22.6

277

Percent (%)	Transformed	Percent (%)	Transformed	Percent (%)	Transformed	Percent (%)	Transformed	Percent (%)																							
<b>2</b> 2.8	28.52	26.9	31.24	31.0	33.83	35.1	36.33	39.2																							
22.9	28.59	27.0	31.31	31.1	33.90	35.2	36.39	39.3																							
23.0	28.66	27.1	31.37	31.2	33.96	35.3	36.45	39.4																							
23.1	28.73	27.2	31.44	31.3	34.02	35.4	36.51	39.5																							
23.2	28.79	27.3	31.50	31.4	34.08	35.5	36.57	39.6																							
<b>2</b> 3.3	28.86	27.4	31.56	31.5	34.14	35.6	36.63	39.7																							
23.4	28.93	27.5	31.63	31.6	34.20	35.7	36.69	39.8																							
23.5	29.00	27.6	31.69	31.7	34.27	35.8	36.75	39.9																							
23.6	29.06	27.7	31.76	31.8	34.33	35.9	36.81	40.0																							
23.7	29.13	27.8	31.82	31.9	34.39	36.0	36.87	40.1																							
23.8	29.20	27.9	31.88	32.0	34.45	36.1	36.93	40.2																							
<b>2</b> 3.9	29.27	28.0	31.95	32.1	34.51	36.2	36.99	40.3																							
24.0	29.33	28.1	32.01	32.2	34.57	36.3	37.05	40.4																							
24.1	29.40	28.2	32.08	32.3	34.63	36.4	37.11	40.5																							
24.2	29.47	28.3	32.14	32.4	34.70	36.5	37.17	40.6																							
24.3	29.53	28.4	32.20	32.5	34.76	36.6	37.23	40.7																							
24.4	29.60	28.5	32.27	32.6	34.82	36.7	37.29	40.8																							
24.5	29.67	28.6	32.33	32.7	34.88	36.8	37.35	40.9																							
41.0	39.82	45.1	42.19	49.2	44.54	53.3	46.89	57.4																							
41.1	39.87	45.2	42.25	49.3	44.60	53.4	46.95	57.5																							
41.2	39.93	45.3	42.30	49.4	44.66	53.5	47.01	57.6																							
41.3	39.99	45.4	42.36	49.5	44.71	53.6	47.06	57.7																							
41.4	40.05	45.5	42.42	49.6	44.77	53.7	47.12	57.8																							
41.5	40.11	45.6	42.48	49.7	44.83	53.8	47.18	57.9																							
41.6	40.16	45.7	42.53	49.8	44.89	53.9	47.24	58.0																							
41.7	40.22	45.8	42.59	49.9	44.94	54.0	47.29	58.1																							
41.8	40.28	45.9	42.65	50.0	45.00	54.1	47.35	58.2																							
41.9	40.34	46.0	42.71	50.1	45.06	54.2	47.41	58.3																							
42.0	40.40	46.1	42.76	50.2	45.11	54.3	47.47	58.4																							
42.1	40.45	46.2	42.82	50.3	45.17	54.4	47.52	58.5																							
42.2	40.51	46.3	42.88	50.4	45.23	54.5	47.58	58.6																							
50.01	50.07	50.13	50.18	50.24	50.30	50.36	50.42	50.48	50.53	50.59	50.65	50.71	50.77	50.83	50.89	50.94	51.00	51.06	51.12	51.18	51.24	51.30	51.35	51.41	51.47	51.53	51.59	61.96	62.03	62.10	62.17
-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------
58.7	58.8	58.9	59.0	59.1	59.2	59.3	59.4	59.5	59.6	59.7	59.8	59.9	60.0	60.1	60.2	60.3	60.4	60.5	60.6	60.7	60.8	6.09	61.0	61.1	61.2	61.3	61.4	9.77	78.0	78.1	78.2
47.64	47.70	47.75	47.81	47.87	47.93	47.98	48.04	48.10	48.16	48.22	48.27	48.33	48.39	48.45	48.50	48.56	48.62	48.68	48.73	48.79	48.85	48.91	48.97	49.02	49.08	49.14	49.20	59.21	59.28	59.34	59.41
54.6	54.7	54.8	54.9	55.0	55.1	55.2	55.3	55.4	55.5	55.6	55.7	55.8	55.9	56.0	56.1	56.2	56.3	56.4	56.5	56.6	56.7	56.8	56.9	57.0	57.1	57.2	57.3	73.8	73.9	74.0	74.1
45.29	45.34	45.40	45.46	45.52	45.57	45.63	45.69	45.74	45.80	45.86	45.92	45.97	46.03	46.09	46.15	46.20	46.26	46.32	46.38	46.43	46.49	46.55	46.61	46.66	46.72	46.78	46.83	56.60	56.66	56.73	56.79
50.5	50.6	50.7	50.8	50.9	51.0	51.1	51.2	51.3	51.4	51.5	51.6	51.7	51.8	51.9	52.0	52.1	52.2	52.3	52.4	52.5	52.6	52.7	52.8	52.9	53.0	53.1	53.2	69.7	69.8	6.69	70.0
42.94	42.99	43.05	43.11	43.17	43.22	43.28	43.34	43.39	43.45	43.51	43.57	43.62	43.68	43.74	43.80	43.85	43.91	43.97	44.03	44.08	44.14	44.20	44.26	44.31	44.37	44.43	44.48	54.09	54.15	54.21	54.27
46.4	46.5	46.6	46.7	46.8	46.9	47.0	47.1	47.2	47.3	47.4	47.5	47.6	47.7	47.8	47.9	48.0	48.1	48.2	48.3	48.4	48.5	48.6	48.7	48.8	48.9	49.0	49.1	65.6	65.7	65.8	65.9
40.57	40.63	40.69	40.74	40.80	40.86	40.92	40.98	41.03	41.09	41.15	41.21	41.27	41.32	41.38	41.44	41.50	41.55	41.61	41.67	41.73	41.78	41.84	41.90	41.96	42.02	42.07	42.13	51.65	51.71	51.77	51.83
42.3	42.4	42.5	42.6	42.7	42.8	42.9	43.0	43.1	43.2	43.3	43.4	43.5	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.9	44.0	44.1	44.2	44.3	44.4	44.5	44.6	44.7	44.8	44.9	45.0	61.5	61.6	61.7	61.8

279

Percent (%) 62.0 62.1 62.1 62.2 62.4 62.5 62.6 62.6 62.8 62.8 62.8 62.8 62.9 62.9	- - -								
62.0 62.1 62.2 62.3 62.4 62.5 62.6 62.8 62.8 62.8 62.9 62.9	Iranstormed	Percent (%)	Transformed	Percent (%)	Transformed	Percent (%)	Transformed	Percent (%)	Transforme
62.1 62.2 62.3 62.4 62.4 62.6 62.6 62.8 62.8 62.9 62.9	51.94	66.1	54.39	70.2	56.91	74.3	59.54	78.4	62.31
62.2 62.3 62.4 62.4 62.6 62.6 62.8 62.8 62.9 62.9	52.00	66.2	54.45	70.3	56.98	74.4	59.60	78.5	62.38
62.3 62.4 62.5 62.6 62.7 62.8 62.9 63.0	52.06	66.3	54.51	70.4	57.04	74.5	59.67	78.6	62.44
62.4 62.5 62.6 62.6 62.7 62.8 62.9 63.0	52.12	66.4	54.57	70.5	57.10	74.6	59.74	78.7	62.51
62.5 62.6 62.7 62.7 62.9 63.0	52.18	66.5	54.63	70.6	57.17	74.7	59.80	78.8	62.58
62.6 62.7 62.8 62.9 63.0	52.24	66.6	54.70	70.7	57.23	74.8	59.87	78.9	62.65
62.7 62.8 62.9 63.0	52.30	66.7	54.76	70.8	57.29	74.9	59.93	0.67	62.73
62.8 62.9 63.0	52.36	66.8	54.82	70.9	57.35	75.0	60.00	79.1	62.80
62.9 63.0	52.42	60.9	54.88	71.0	57.42	75.1	60.07	79.2	62.87
63.0	52.48	67.0	54.94	71.1	57.48	75.2	60.13	79.3	62.94
	52.54	67.1	55.00	71.2	57.54	75.3	60.20	79.4	63.01
63.1	52.59	67.2	55.06	71.3	57.61	75.4	60.27	79.5	63.08
63.2	52.65	67.3	55.12	71.4	57.67	75.5	60.33	79.6	63.15
63.3	52.71	67.4	55.18	71.5	57.73	75.6	60.40	79.7	63.22
63.4	52.77	67.5	55.24	71.6	57.80	75.7	60.47	79.8	63.29
63.5	52.83	67.6	55.30	71.7	57.86	75.8	60.53	9.97	63.36
63.6	52.89	67.7	55.37	71.8	57.92	75.9	60.60	80.0	63.43
63.7	52.95	67.8	55.43	71.9	57.99	76.0	60.67	80.1	63.51
63.8	53.01	67.9	55.49	72.0	58.05	76.1	60.73	80.2	63.58
63.9	53.07	68.0	55.55	72.1	58.12	76.2	60.80	80.3	63.65
64.0	53.13	68.1	55.61	72.2	58.18	76.3	60.87	80.4	63.72
64.1	53.19	68.2	55.67	72.3	58.24	76.4	60.94	80.5	63.79
64.2	53.25	68.3	55.73	72.4	58.31	76.5	61.00	80.6	63.87
64.3	53.31	68.4	55.80	72.5	58.37	76.6	61.07	80.7	63.94
64.4	53.37	68.5	55.86	72.6	58.44	76.7	61.14	80.8	64.01
64.5	53.43	68.6	55.92	72.7	58.50	76.8	61.21	80.9	64.09
64.6	53.49	68.7	55.98	72.8	58.56	76.9	61.27	81.0	64.16
64.7	53.55	68.8	56.04	72.9	58.63	77.0	61.34	81.1	64.23
64.8	53.61	68.9	56.10	73.0	58.69	77.1	61.41	81.2	64.30
64.9	53.67	69.0	56.17	73.1	58.76	77.2	61.48	81.3	64.38
65.0	53.73	69.1	56.23	73.2	58.82	77.3	61.55	81.4	64.45

	26.70	73.2	50 00	V LL	61.61	915	61
1 7	56.35	73.4	58.95	77.5	61.68	81.6	5 79
9.6	56.42	73.5	59.02	77.6	61.75	81.7	64.6
5.6	56.48	73.6	59.08	7.77	61.82	81.8	64.75
69.6	56.54	73.7	59.15	77.8	61.89	81.9	64.82
86.1	68.11	90.2	71.76	94.3	76.19	98.4	82.73
86.2	68.19	90.3	71.85	94.4	76.31	98.5	82.97
36.5	68.28	90.4	71.95	94.5	76.44	98.6	83.20
14	68.36	90.5			76.56	98.7	83.4
1.2	68.44	90.6	72.15	94.7	72.05	94.6	83.71
5.6	68.53	90.7	72.24	94.8	76.82	98.9	83.98
1.	68.61	90.8	72.34	94.9	76.95	66	84.2
ŝ,	68.70	90.9	72.44	95.0	77.08	99.1	84.50
	68.78	91.0	72.54	95.1	77.21	99.2	84.
	68.87	91.1	72.64	95.2	77.34	99.3	85.2
_	68.95	91.2	72.74	95.3	77.48	99.4	85.5
<b>C</b> · · ·	69.04	91.3	72.85	95.4	77.62	99.5	85.9
	69.12	91.4	72.95	95.5	77.75	9.66	86.3
1	69.21	91.5	73.05	95.6	77.89	7.00	80.80
41	69.30	91.6	73.15	95.7	78.03	99.8	87.4
<u> </u>	69.38	91.7	73.26	95.8	78.17	9.99	88.1
1	69.47	91.8	73.36	95.9	78.32	100	90.0
Ś	69.56	91.9	73.46	96.0	78.46		
5	69.64	92.0	73.57	96.1	78.61		
$\sim$	69.73	92.1	73.68	96.2	78.76		
<u> </u>	69.82	92.2	73.78	96.3	78.91		
~	69.91	92.3	73.89	96.4	79.06		
8	70.00	92.4	74.00	96.5	79.22		
1	70.09	92.5	74.11	96.6	79.37		
	70.18	92.6	74.21	96.7	79.53		
<u>~</u>	70.27	92.7	74.32	96.8	79.70		
12	70.36	92.8	74.44	96.9	79.86		
0							

www.m

Table 10.25	(continued)	Domont (01.)	Twoseformed	Domont (07.)	Tworeformed	Domont (07.)	Two of conned	Domont (07.)	Twoseform
84.8	67.05	88.9	70.54	93.0	74.66	97.1	80.20		IO ICHIPIT I
84.9	67.13	89.0	70.63	93.1	74.77	97.2	80.37		
85.0	67.21	89.1	70.72	93.2	74.88	97.3	80.54		
85.1	67.29	89.2	70.81	93.3	75.00	97.4	80.72		
85.2	67.37	89.3	70.91	93.4	75.11	97.5	80.90		
85.3	67.46	89.4	71.00	93.5	75.23	97.6	81.09		
85.4	67.54	89.5	71.09	93.6	75.35	97.7	81.28		
85.5	67.62	89.6	71.19	93.7	75.46	97.8	81.47		
85.6	67.70	89.7	71.28	93.8	75.58	97.9	81.67		
85.7	67.78	89.8	71.37	93.9	75.70	98.0	81.87		
85.8	67.86	89.9	71.47	94.0	75.82	98.1	82.08		
85.9	67.94	90.0	71.57	94.1	75.94	98.2	82.29		
86.0	68.03	90.1	71.66	94.2	76.06	98.3	82.51		

### Analysis Related to Breeding Researches

11

Variability is one of the major concerns of any research. In a real-life situation, we are to deal with a number of variables at a time, so covariability plays an important role. In social, agricultural, and other fields, the biophysical features in any experiment rarely behave independently; rather these are found to be functionally related to each other. There are several examples where the analysis of covariance can be used effectively in augmenting the precession of the experimental results. For example, in yield component analysis of paddy, the yield components, namely, the number of hills per unit area, the number of effective tillers per hill, and the number of grains per panicles, can be used as covariates or concomitant variables. In a study of health drinks on the growth and physique of school-going children, initial body weight, height, age, physical agility, etc., can be taken as concomitant variables during the analysis of covariance. In the analysis of covariance, there are two types of variables: the characteristic of the main interest and the information on the secondary or auxiliary interest or the covariates. In the analysis of covariance, the expected (true) value of the response is the resultant of two components, one because of the linear combination of the values of the concomitant variables which are functionally related with the response and another one already obtained in the analysis of variance. Thus, the analysis of covariance is the synthesis of the analysis of variance and the regression. Similar to that of the partitioning of variances into different components, one can also partition the covariance among the variables into different components like genotypic and environmental.

### 11.1 Analysis of Covariance

The analysis of covariance can be taken up for one-way and two-way layouts and other specific types of experimental design. In the analysis of covariance, there is one dependent variable (y)and one or more concomitant variables. The basic difference between the analysis of variance and the analysis of covariance models is that in the former, each response (y) is partitioned into two components, one because of its true value and the error part. The model in its simplest form may be written as

$$y_i = \sum_j \alpha_{ij} \tau_j + \sum_k \beta_k x_{ik} + e_i$$
, where  $\alpha_{ij}$  are known,

- $x_{ik}$  is the value of the *k*th concomitant variable corresponding to  $y_i$ ,
- $\beta_k$ 's are the regression coefficients of y on the covariates  $x_k$ 's,
- $\tau_j$ 's are the effects (main, interaction, blocks, etc.),
- $e_i$  is the random component in the model.

P.K. Sahu, Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields, DOI 10.1007/978-81-322-1020-7\_11, © Springer India 2013

283

### 11.1.1 Analysis of Covariance for One-Way Classified Data with One Covariate

Let the criterion variate be denoted by y and the covariate by x. Thus, for each experimental unit, there is a pair of observations (x,y).

Let  $y_{ij}$  and  $x_{ij}$  denote the *j*th observation of the variate and covariate, respectively, for the *i*th treatment in a one-way classified data. Then the linear model is given by

$$y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta x_{ij} + e_{ij}; \quad i = 1, 2, 3 \dots t$$
  
 $j = 1, 2, 3, \dots n_i$ 

where

 $\mu = \text{general effect},$   $\alpha_i = \text{effect due to$ *i* $th treatment},$   $\beta = \text{regression coefficient of } y \text{ on } x,$   $e_{ij} = \text{independent normal variate with mean}$  $\text{zero}(0) \text{ and variance}, \sigma^2.$ 

The above model is based on the following assumptions:

1. The regression of *y* on *x* is linear and independent of the treatment so that the treatment and regression effects are additive.

- 2. The residuals are independently and normally distributed with mean 0 and the common variance.
- 3. The covariate x is fixed and is measured without error.

The model is often written in the form

$$y_{ij} = \mu^* + \alpha_i + \beta (x_{ij} - \bar{x}) + e_{ij}; \quad i = 1, 2, 3 \dots t$$
  
 $j = 1, 2, 3, \dots n_i$ 

where

$$\mu^* = \mu + \beta \bar{x}$$

The least square estimates of  $\mu$ ,  $\alpha_i$ , and  $\beta$  are obtained by minimizing  $L = \sum_i \sum_j (y_{ij} - \mu -$ 

 $\alpha_i - \beta x_{ij}$ <sup>2</sup>. The normal equations are

$$\sum \sum_{j} y_{ij} = n\mu + \sum_{i} n_i \alpha_i + \beta \sum_{j} \sum_{x_{ij}} x_{ij},$$
  

$$\sum_{j} y_{ij} = n_i \mu + n_i \alpha_i + \beta \sum_{j} x_{ij},$$
  

$$\sum \sum_{i} x_{ij} y_{ij} = \mu \sum_{i} \sum_{x_{ij}} x_{ij} + \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \alpha_i x_{ij} + \beta \sum_{j} x_{ij}^2.$$
  
Since  $\sum_{i} n_i \alpha_i = 0, \quad \hat{\mu} = \bar{y} - \hat{\beta} \bar{x};$   
 $\hat{\alpha}_i = \bar{y}_i - \bar{y} - \hat{\beta} (\bar{x}_i - \bar{x})$ 

$$\begin{split} \sum \sum x_{ij} y_{ij} &= \left(\bar{y} - \hat{\beta}\bar{x}\right) n\bar{x} + \sum_{i} \left[\bar{y}_{i} - \bar{y} - \hat{\beta}(\bar{x}_{i} - \bar{x})\right] n_{i}\bar{x}_{i} + \hat{\beta} \sum \sum x_{ij}^{2} \\ &= n\bar{y}\,\bar{x} - n\hat{\beta}\bar{x}^{2} + \sum n_{i}\bar{x}_{i}\bar{y}_{i} - n\bar{y}\,\bar{x} - \hat{\beta} \sum (\bar{x}_{i} - \bar{x})n_{i}\bar{x}_{i} + \hat{\beta} \sum \sum x_{ij}^{2} \\ \text{or } \hat{\beta} \left[\sum \sum x_{ij}^{2} - \sum n_{i}\bar{x}_{i}^{2}\right] = \sum \sum x_{ij}y_{ij} - \sum n_{i}\bar{x}_{i}\bar{y}_{i} \\ \text{or } \hat{\beta} = \frac{\sum \sum (x_{ij} - \bar{x}_{i})(y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i})}{\sum \sum (x_{ij} - \bar{x}_{i})^{2}}. \end{split}$$

From the analysis of variance, we know that  $\hat{\alpha}_i = \bar{y}_i - \bar{y}$ , whereas from the analysis of covariance,  $\hat{\alpha}_i = \bar{y}_i - \bar{y} - \hat{\beta}(\bar{x}_i - \bar{x})$ . The factor  $\hat{\beta}(\bar{x}_i - \bar{x})$  is called the adjustment factor which is the amount of the linear effect of *x* on the *i*th treatment effect. The adjustment is zero for the treatment for which  $\bar{x}_i$  is equal to  $\bar{x}$ . We want to test  $H_{01}: \beta = 0,$  $H_{02}: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \dots = \alpha_t = 0.$ 

To test the above, we are to find out the residual sum of squares for the full model. The residual or the minimum error sum of squares under the full model  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta x_{ij} + e_{ij}$  is given by

$$R = \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \mu - \alpha_i - \beta x_{ij})^2 \quad \text{minimum for } \mu, \alpha_i, \beta$$
  
=  $\sum_{i} \sum_{j} [y_{ij} - \bar{y} + \hat{\beta}\bar{x} - \bar{y}_i + \bar{y} + \hat{\beta}(\bar{x}_i - \bar{x}) - \hat{\beta}x_{ij}]^2$   
=  $\sum_{i} \sum_{j} [y_{ij} - \bar{y}_i - \hat{\beta}(x_{ij} - \bar{x}_i)]^2 = \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_i)^2 - \hat{\beta}^2 \sum \sum (x_{ij} - \bar{x}_i)^2$   
=  $E_{yy} - \frac{E_{xy}^2}{E_{xx}}$ , since  $\hat{\beta} = \frac{E_{xy}}{E_{xx}}$  with  $(n - t - 1)$  d.f.

The residual sum of squares under the restricted model when  $H_{01}$  holds good, that is,  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + e_{ij}$ , is

$$R_{2} = \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \mu - \alpha_{i})^{2} \quad \text{minimum } \mu, \alpha_{i}$$
$$= \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y} - \bar{y}_{i} + \bar{y})^{2} = \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \bar{y}_{i})^{2}$$
$$= E_{yy} \text{with } (n - t) \text{ d.f.}$$

Hence, the regression sum of squares will be  $R_0 = R_2 - R = \frac{E_{xy}^2}{E_{xx}}$  with 1 d.f. For testing  $H_{01}$ :  $\beta = 0$ , we have the test statistic  $F = \frac{R_0/1}{R/(n-t-1)}$  with (1, n-t-1) d.f.

If the hypothesis is not rejected, we may not go for working out the adjusted treatment sum of squares because in that case, the assumed model will turn out to be  $y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + e_{ij}$ , the model of one-way classified data. If the regression coefficient proves to be significant, we will proceed to test  $H_{02}$ .

The residual sum of squares under the restricted model when  $H_{02}$  holds good, that is,  $y_{ij} = \mu + \beta x_{ij} + e_{ij}$ , is

$$R_{1} = \sum_{i} \sum_{j} (y_{ij} - \mu - \beta x_{ij})^{2} \text{ minimum } \mu, \beta$$

$$= \sum \sum \left( y_{ij} - \bar{y} + \hat{\beta} \bar{x} - \hat{\beta} x_{ij} \right)^{2}$$

$$= \sum \sum \left[ y_{ij} - \bar{y} - \hat{\beta} (x_{ij} - \bar{x}) \right]^{2}, \text{ where } \hat{\beta} = \frac{\sum \sum (x_{ij} - \bar{x}) (y_{ij} - \bar{y})}{\sum \sum (x_{ij} - \bar{x})^{2}} = \frac{S_{xy}}{S_{xx}}$$

$$= \sum \sum \left[ y_{ij} - \bar{y} \right]^{2} - \hat{\beta}^{2} \sum \sum (x_{ij} - \bar{x})^{2}$$

$$= S_{yy} - \frac{S_{xy}^{2}}{S_{xx}} \text{ with } (n-2) \text{d.f.}$$

Hence, the adjusted treatment sum of squares will be  $R_{00} = R_1 - R = \left(S_{yy} - \frac{S_{xy}^2}{S_{xx}}\right)$  $-\left(E_{yy} - \frac{E_{xy}^2}{E_{xy}}\right)$  with t - 1 d.f. For testing  $H_{02}$ , we have  $F = \frac{R_{00}/(t-1)}{R/(n-t-1)}$  with (t-1, n-t-1) d.f. In case F is significant, we conclude that the treatment means after they are adjusted for x differ significantly.

The analysis of covariance table is as follows (Table 11.1):

Let  $\bar{y}'_i$  be the mean of the *i*th treatment adjusted for the linear regression of *y* on *x*. Then,

SOV	d.f.	SS(x)	SP(xy)	SS(y)	SS(Reg.)	SS(y)adj.	d.f.(adj.)
Treatment	t - 1	$T_{xx}$	$T_{xy}$	$T_{yy}$			
Error	n-t	$E_{xx}$	$E_{xy}$	$E_{yy}$	$\frac{E_{xy}^2}{E_{xx}} = R_0$	$E_{yy} - \frac{E_{xy}^2}{E_{xx}} = R$	n - t - 1
Treatment + error	n - 1	$T_{xx} + E_{xx} = S_{xx}$	$T_{xy} + E_{xy} = S_{xy}$	$T_{yy} + E_{yy} = S_{yy}$	$\frac{S_{xy}^2}{S_{xx}}$	$S_{yy} - \frac{S_{xy}^2}{S_{xx}} = R_1$	<i>n</i> – 2
Treatment (adjusted)						$R_1 - R = R_{00}$	t - 1

Table 11.1 Analysis of covariance table

$$\vec{y}'_{i} = \vec{y}_{i} - \beta(\vec{x}_{i} - \vec{x}),$$

$$V(\vec{y}'_{i}) = V(\vec{y}_{i}) + (\vec{x}_{i} - \vec{x})^{2}V(\hat{\beta}) = \sigma^{2} \left[\frac{1}{n_{i}} + \frac{(\vec{x}_{i} - \vec{x})^{2}}{E_{xx}}\right]$$

$$V\left(\vec{y}'_{i} - \vec{y}'_{j}\right) = \sigma^{2} \left[\frac{1}{n_{i}} + \frac{1}{n_{j}} + \frac{(\vec{x}_{i} - \vec{x}_{j})^{2}}{E_{xx}}\right].$$

This requires a separate calculation of  $(\bar{x}_i - \bar{x}_j)^2$  for each *i* and *j*. D. J. Finney (1946) has, however, suggested to use  $\frac{2\sigma^2}{n'}\left[1 + \frac{T_{xx}/(t-1)}{E_{xx}}\right]$  as an average value of  $V\left(\bar{y}'_i - \bar{y}'_j\right)$  averaged over all t(t-1) pairs when  $n_i = n_j = n'$ . The estimated variances are given by the corresponding expressions with  $\sigma^2$  substituted by

$$s_{y.x}^2 = \frac{\left(E_{yy} - \frac{E_{xy}^2}{E_{xx}}\right)}{(n-t-1)}.$$

For testing the hypothesis  $H_0: \alpha_i = \alpha_j$ , we have the test statistic:

$$F = \frac{\left(\bar{y}'_{i} - \bar{y}'_{j}\right)^{2}}{\frac{2s_{y,x}^{2}}{n'}\left[1 + \frac{T_{xx}/(t-1)}{E_{xx}}\right]} \quad \text{with } (1, n-t-1) \text{ d.f.}$$

It may be noted that the denominator remains unchanged for any *i* and *j*. Below, we present an example by Sahu and Das (2010).

*Example 11.1.* Four different feeds are given to four calves each; initial age in months (x) and average weekly gain (y) in body weight of the calves over a period of 8 weeks are recorded. Analyze the data of gain in body weight using the

information on character *x*. Give the standard error of the difference between average effects of two feeds after adjusting the means for variation in *x*.

Feed	l						
F1		F2		F3		F4	
x	у	x	у	x	у	x	у
11	120	12	145	9	123	10	132
10	135	11	152	11	110	12	130
13	121	9	160	10	120	9	140
10	130	13	142	12	112	10	128

**Solution.** From the above analysis, it is clear that the response variable here is the average weekly gain in body weight (y) and the covariate is the initial body weight (x). The appropriate covariance model is

$$y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta x_{ij} + e_{ij}; \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4;$$
  
 $j = 1, 2, 3, 4;$ 

where

- $y_{ij} =$  gain in body weight for *j*th calves fed with *i*th feed,
- $\mu$  = general effect,
- $\alpha_i$  = effect due to *i*th feed,
- $\beta$  = regression coefficient of y on x,
- $e_{ij}$  = independent normal variate with mean zero(0) and variance,  $\sigma^2$ .

We want to test

$$H_{01}: \beta = 0,$$
  
 $H_{02}: \alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = 0$ 

Feed							
F1		F2		F3		F4	
x	у	x	у	x	у	x	у
11	120	12	145	9	123	10	132
10	135	11	152	11	110	12	130
13	121	9	160	10	120	9	140
10	130	13	142	12	112	10	128
Total: 44	506	45	599	42	465	41	530

From the given information, we first calculate the following quantities:

$$\sum x = 172 = G_x; \ \sum y = 2,100 = G_y; \ \sum x^2 = 1,876; \ \sum y^2 = 278,540; \ \sum xy = 22,522$$
$$CF(x) = \frac{G_x^2}{4 \times 4} = 1,849; \ CF(y) = \frac{G_y^2}{4 \times 4} = 275,625; CF(x,y) = \frac{G_x G_y}{4 \times 4} = 22,575.$$

$$TSS(x) = \sum_{x} x^{2} - CF(x) = 11^{2} + 10^{2} + \dots + 9^{2} + 10^{2} - 1,849 = 27,$$
  

$$TrSS(x) = \frac{44^{2} + 45^{2} + 42^{2} + 41^{2}}{4} - CF(x) = 2.50,$$
  

$$ErSS(x) = TSS(x) - TrSS(X) = 27 - 2.5 = 24.5.$$

Similarly,

$$TSS(y) = \sum y^2 - CF(y) = 120^2 + 135^2 + \dots + 140^2 + 128^2 - 275,625 = 2,915,$$
  

$$TrSS(y) = \frac{506^2 + 599^2 + 465^2 + 530^2}{4} - 275,625 = 2365.50,$$
  

$$ErSS(y) = TSS(y) - TrSS(y) = 2,915 - 2365.50 = 549.50,$$

 $TSP(xy) = \sum_{xy \to CF(x, y)} xy - CF(x, y) = 11 \times 120 + 10 \times 135 + \dots + 9 \times 140 + 10 \times 128 - 22,575 = -53.00,$  $TrSP(xy) = \frac{44 \times 506 + 45 \times 599 + 42 \times 465 + 41 \times 530}{4} - 22,575 = 44.75.$ ErSP(xy) = TSS(xy) - TrSS(xy) = -53.00 - 44.75 = -97.75.

SOV	d.f.	SS(x)	SS(y)	SP(x,y)	β	SS(Reg.)	$SS(y)_{adi}$	d.f. <sub>adi</sub>	
Treatment	3	2.50	2365.50	44.75	,	( 2)	¢ / auj.	auj.	
Error	12	24.54	549.50	-97.75	-3.9898	390.0026	159.4974	11	$s_{v,x}^2 = 14.499$
Treatment + Error	15	27.00	2915.00	-53.00	-1.9630	104.0370	2810.963	14	
Treatment (adjusted)							2651.4656	3	

Thus, the analysis of covariance table can be written as follows:

For testing  $H_{01}$ :  $\beta = 0$ , we have test statistic

$$F = \frac{\text{SS(Reg.)}/1}{\text{SS}(y)_{\text{adj.}}/11} = \frac{390.0026/1}{159.4974/11}$$
  
= 26.40 with (1,11) d.f.

The table value of  $F_{0.05;1,11} = 4.84$ ; hence, the test is significant, and the null hypothesis is rejected.

For testing  $H_{02}$ :  $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = 0$ , we have the test statistic  $F = \frac{\text{Tr.SS}(y)_{adj.}/3}{\text{SS}(y)_{adj.}/11} = \frac{2651.4656/3}{159.4974/11} = 60.95$  with (3,11) d.f.

The table value of  $F_{0.05;3,11} = 3.59$ ; hence, the test is significant, and the null hypothesis is rejected. Thus, we can infer that the gain in body weight due to different feeds varies and also depends on the initial body weight of the calves. As both null hypotheses are rejected, we are to work out the adjusted treatment means and also the estimated adjusted variances for different pairs of adjusted treatment means. We have  $\hat{\beta} = -3.9898, \bar{x} = 10.75, E_{xx} = 24.5$ , and  $s_{y,x}^2 = 14.4998$ .

We make the following table:

				$\hat{V}\left(\bar{y}'_i - \bar{y}'_j\right) =$	$s_{y.x}^2 \left[ \frac{1}{n_i} + \frac{1}{n_j} + \frac{\left(\bar{x}_i - \bar{x}_j\right)^2}{E_{xx}} \right]$
$\overline{x}_i$	$\bar{y}_i$	$\bar{x}_i - \bar{x}$	$\bar{y}'_i = \bar{y}_i - \hat{\beta}(\bar{x}_i - \bar{x})$	$\left(\bar{y'}_i-\bar{y'}_j\right)$	$s_{y.x}^2 \left[ \frac{1}{n_i} + \frac{1}{n_j} + \frac{\left(\bar{x}_i - \bar{x}_j\right)^2}{E_{xx}} \right]$
11.00	126.50	0.25	127.4975	$\bar{y'}_{1} - \bar{y'}_{2}$	7.2869
11.25	149.75	0.50	151.7449	$\bar{y'}_{1} - \bar{y'}_{3}$	7.3979
10.50	116.25	-0.25	115.2526	$\bar{y'}_1 - \bar{y'}_4$	7.5828
10.25	132.50	-0.50	130.5051	$\bar{y'}_2 - \bar{y'}_3$	7.5828
				$\bar{y'}_{2} - \bar{y'}_{4}$	7.8417
				$\bar{y'}_{3} - \bar{y'}_{4}$	7.2869

للاستشارات

On the other hand, if we go for the method given by Finney, then we shall have

$$\hat{V}\left(\vec{y'}_{i} - \vec{y'}_{j}\right) = \frac{2s_{y,x}^{2}}{4} \left[1 + \frac{T_{xx}/(t-1)}{E_{xx}}\right]$$

$$= 7.4965.$$

$$H_{0}: \alpha_{1} = \alpha_{2}$$

$$F = \frac{(127.49745 - 151.7449)^{2}}{7.4965}$$

$$= 78.43 \text{ with } (1,11) \text{ d.f.}$$

$$H_{0}: \alpha_{2} = \alpha_{4}$$

$$F = \frac{(151.7449 - 130.5051)^{2}}{7.4965}$$

$$= 60.18 \text{ with } (1,11) \text{ d.f.}$$

 $CD_{0.05} = \sqrt{7.4965} \times t_{0.025,11} = 2.7379 \times 2.201$ = 6.0263.

If we arrange the adjusted treatment means, we have the following:

Treatment means: $\bar{y}'_i$	Value
$\overline{y'}_2$	151.74
$\overline{y'}_4$	130.51
$\overline{y'}_1$	127.5
<i>ӯ</i> ′ <sub>3</sub>	115.25

Feed two is significantly producing higher gain in body weight compared to the other feeds, and feed three provides the lowest gain in body weight among all feeds. On the other hand, feed four and feed one are the same; they are statistically at par.

### 11.2 Partitioning of Variance and Covariance

Phenotypic characters which we measure on individuals are the manifestation of the interaction between the genetic architecture and the environment around them. The environmental factors mainly include all the nonheritable components. The variation in phenotypic values is therefore governed by the variances attributed to genotypic values and environmental deviations. Thus, the partitioning of phenotypic variations into different



components is of utmost importance. Relative magnitude or proportions of these variations actually govern the genetic properties of the population. Again, covariability of different characters is measured in terms of covariance. Covariability measured between two characters is the phenotypic value. Similar to that of phenotypic variability, phenotypic covariability can also be partitioned into genotypic and environmental (nonheritable) components. The partitioning of variances and covariances will facilitate the estimation of various genetic/breeding parameters like heritability, coheritability, and genotypic correlations which can help breeders tremendously.

### 11.2.1 Components of Variance

During the analysis of variance, the mean sum of squares obtained due to the treatments consists of two components: (1) genotypic differences among the treatments and (2) environmental variations. Thus,  $E(MS_G) = \sigma_e^2 + r\sigma_g^2$ , where  $E(MSE) = \sigma_e^2$ , and MS<sub>G</sub> and MSE are the mean sum of square due to genotype and error, respectively, in ANOVA table. It can be seen that  $\sigma_a^2 = \frac{E(MS_G) - E(MSE)}{2}$ .

that  $\sigma_{g}^{2} = \frac{E(MS_{G})-E(MSE)}{r}$ . Thus,  $\sigma_{g}^{2}$  is estimated by  $\hat{\sigma}_{g}^{2} = \frac{MS_{G}-MSE}{r}$ , and  $\sigma_{e}^{2}$  is estimated by  $\hat{\sigma}_{e}^{2} = MSE$ .

Hence,  $\sigma_p^2 = \sigma_g^2 + \sigma_e^2$  where  $\sigma_p^2, \sigma_g^2$ , and  $\sigma_e^2$  are the phenotypic, genotypic, and environmental variances, respectively. From the given data, one can estimate  $\hat{\sigma}_p^2 = \hat{\sigma}_g^2 + \hat{\sigma}_e^2$ .

To test  $H_0$ :  $\sigma_g^2 = 0$  means the genotypes do not differ significantly among themselves. The test statistic under  $H_0$  is  $F = \frac{MSg}{MSE}$  with (t-1), (r-1)(t-1) d.f. If *F* is significant, we can say that the genotypes differ among themselves.

### 11.2.2 Components of Covariance

The covariances can also be partitioned due to environmental and genotypic factors in a similar way as that of the partitioning of treatment variances from the analysis of variance table. Thus, the phenotypic covariance between any

11.2	Table of variance.	covariance.	and correlation	

Level	Variance	Covariance	Correlation coefficients
Phenotypic	$\hat{\sigma}_{\mathrm{p}i}^2$ and $\hat{\sigma}_{\mathrm{p}i'}^2$	$\hat{\pmb{\sigma}}_{\mathrm{p}ii'}$	r <sub>pii'</sub>
Genotypic	$\hat{\sigma}_{g_i}^2$ and $\hat{\sigma}_{g_{i'}}^2$	$\hat{\sigma}_{g_{ii'}}$	r <sub>g<sub>ii'</sub></sub>
Environmental	$\hat{\sigma}_{\mathrm{e}i}^2$ and $\hat{\sigma}_{\mathrm{e}i'}^2$	$\hat{\sigma}_{\mathrm{e}_{ii'}}$	r <sub>eii'</sub>

two characters can be written as a combination of genotypic and environmental covariances, that is,  $\sigma_{p_{12}} = \sigma_{g_{12}} + \sigma_{e_{12}}$ . One can have the correlation coefficients at the genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental levels by using the variance and covariance of appropriate level in the formula for the correlation coefficient. The significance of the correlation coefficients can usually be tested using *t*-test described already in Chap. 9 with (n - 2) degrees of freedom where *n* is the number of genotypes under consideration.

We can write for any two characters i and i' (Table 11.2):

From the above variances and covariances at the genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental levels, one can work out different genetic parameters like (a) *phenotypic coefficient of variiation (PCV)*, (b) *genotypic coefficient of variation (GCV)*, (c) *broad sense heritability, and* (d) *co-heritability*, which are of paramount importance in the selection process of breeding experiments:

- (a) Phenotypic coefficient of variation (PCV%): =  $\frac{\sigma_p}{X} \times 100.$
- (b) Genotypic coefficient of variation (GCV): =  $\frac{\sigma_g}{X} \times 100$ .
- (c) *Heritability (broad sense)*: Another parameter, heritability (broad sense), for any character, is expressed as the ratio of the genotypic variance to the phenotypic variance  $h^2 = \frac{\hat{\sigma}_g^2}{\hat{\sigma}_p^2}$ . This gives an abstract idea about the amount of variability for a particular character due to its genotypic feature.
- (d) *Co-heritability*: Co-heritability between two characters is defined as the ratio of the genotypic and the phenotypic covariances between the two characters under consideration and is given as  $\frac{\sigma_{g_{12}}}{\sigma_{p_{22}}}$ , where  $\sigma_{g_{12}}$  and  $\sigma_{p_{12}}$

المنسارة للاستشارات

are the genotypic and phenotypic covariances between characters 1 and 2 as obtained from the partitioning of the mean sum of products in the analysis of covariance.

- (e) *Genetic* advance/gain: The difference between the mean of the selected individuals  $(\overline{X}_{s})$  and the mean of the population from which the selection has been made  $(\bar{X}_p)$  is known as genetic gain or advance. But for all practical purposes, the genetic gain or advance is worked out as  $GA = k.h^2.\hat{\sigma}_p$ , where k is the standardized selection differential having constant values at different selection intensities (e.g., the values of standardized selection differentials at 1, 5, 10, and 20 % selection intensities are, respectively, 2.64, 2.06, 1.40, and 1.16) and  $h^2$  and  $\sigma_{\rm p}$  have their usual meanings.
- (f) *Genotypic and environmental correlation*: The correlation coefficient between two characters at the genotypic and environmental levels is worked out using the variances and covariances due to the genotype and nonheritable factors.

The association between two characters is measured in terms of the correlation coefficient which is based on the phenotypic values of the variances and the covariances between the characters. Since the phenotypic values are determined by the genotype and the environmental interactions, the phenotypic correlation is also governed by these factors.

*Example 11.2.* The following table gives the information on four yield components and the yield of ten genotypes of mulberry. Analyze the data with respect to the variability and covariabilities to work out the correlation coefficients and the path of correlation

Table

coefficients of yield with other characters at the genotypic and phenotypic levels. Also find out the genetic parameters, phenotypic coefficient of variation (PCV), genotypic coefficient of variation (GCV), broad sense heritability, and coheritability of the characters under study.

Genotype	Rep	Yield	Shoot length	100 leaf wt	Leaf area	Leaf wt/m <sup>2</sup>
1	1	158.89	344.00	94.11	57.96	148.91
1	2	164.57	352.20	95.65	57.00	150.20
1	3	152.54	345.00	93.36	55.45	148.70
2	1	192.59	629.66	188.22	106.73	162.89
2	2	193.24	638.25	190.00	107.00	160.40
2	3	191.45	647.00	192.20	106.00	165.40
3	1	195.18	453.22	87.44	61.25	131.59
3	2	190.24	455.32	85.25	62.32	132.20
3	3	201.45	465.32	86.56	60.74	130.60
4	1	211.11	363.11	225.56	106.13	360.94
4	2	209.12	385.00	229.00	107.58	364.50
4	3	213.45	345.32	226.32	105.45	358.40
5	1	202.22	557.87	169.22	95.15	160.55
5	2	200.12	552.45	172.25	99.69	162.50
5	3	204.52	563.00	168.58	94.47	160.30
6	1	205.56	431.22	211.22	109.23	174.96
6	2	207.42	452.21	215.30	110.23	175.40
6	3	203.28	414.56	223.00	108.78	176.40
7	1	217.78	687.78	159.33	93.73	157.30
7	2	215.65	693.56	162.30	94.25	160.20
7	3	219.45	705.45	156.20	90.21	158.70
8	1	170.00	253.89	158.44	93.93	154.60
8	2	165.25	258.32	165.30	95.56	155.60
8	3	175.59	264.47	160.00	92.32	153.70
9	1	117.93	383.56	49.56	35.96	116.64
9	2	116.39	389.21	50.23	35.65	116.40
9	3	118.42	375.41	47.58	34.47	115.40
10	1	175.33	414.78	109.00	71.29	134.12
10	2	177.45	425.36	110.20	72.45	135.40
10	3	175.21	458.33	105.25	73.65	140.20

So as to get the path coefficients at the genotypic and phenotypic levels, one needs to have the correlation coefficients at the genotypic and phenotypic levels. The genotypic and phenotypic correlations could be obtained by partitioning the sum of squares and products due to the treatments into genotypic and phenotypic components.

We demonstrate the whole process in a stepwise manner as provided in Sahu and Das (2009) **Step 1**: Analysis of Variance for the Characters Under Study

The analysis of variance for all the characters is taken up one by one. In the following steps, we demonstrate the analysis of variance procedure for a single character, that is, leaf yield per plant in details, and only the results of the analysis of variance for the rest of the characters are presented.



Analysis of Variance for Leaf Yield

The appropriate statistical model for RBD will be

$$y_{ij} = \mu + g_i + b_j + e_{ij}$$

where

 $y_{ij}$  = response corresponding to the *j*th replication of the *i*th genotype

 $\mu$  = general effect

 $g_i$  = additional effect due to the *i*th genotype  $b_j$  = additional effect due to the *j*th replication  $e_{ii}$  = error associated with *j*th replication of the

*ith* genotype

Let the level of significance be  $\alpha = 0.05$ . Let us make the following table:

	Leaf yield			
Genotype	R1	R2	R3	Total
G1	158.89	164.57	152.54	476.00
G2	192.59	193.24	191.45	577.28
G3	195.18	190.24	201.45	586.87
G4	211.11	209.12	213.45	633.68
G5	202.22	200.12	204.52	606.86
G6	205.56	207.42	203.28	616.26
G7	217.78	215.65	219.45	652.88
G8	170.00	165.25	175.59	510.84
G9	117.93	116.39	118.42	352.74
G10	175.33	177.45	175.21	527.99
Total	1846.59	1839.45	1855.36	5541.4

From the above table, the following quantities are calculated:

Grand total = 
$$G = \sum_{i=1}^{10} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{ij}$$
  
= 158.89 + 164.57  
+ ..... + 175.21  
= 5541.4

Correction factor = CF =  $\frac{G^2}{r \times t} = \frac{5541.4^2}{3 \times 10}$ = 1,023,570

المتسارات

Total sum of squares 
$$=$$
 TSS

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{10} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{ij}^{2} - CF$$
  
= 158.89<sup>2</sup> + 164.57<sup>2</sup>  
+ ..... + 175.21<sup>2</sup>  
- CF = 24747.19

Replication sum of squares

$$= \text{RSS} = \frac{1}{t} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{0j}^{2} - \text{CF}$$
$$= \frac{1}{10} \left[ 1846.59^{2} + 1839.45^{2} + 1855.36^{2} \right]$$
$$- \text{CF} = 12.75$$

Treatment sum of squares

$$= \text{TrSS} = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^{10} y_{i0}^2 - \text{CF}$$
$$= \frac{1}{3} \left[ 476^2 + 577.28^2 + \dots + 527.99^2 \right]$$
$$- \text{CF} = 24515.98$$

Error sum of squares = TSS - RSS - TrSS= 24747.19 - 12.75 - 24515.98 = 218.46

With the help of the above quantities, we now make the following ANOVA table for leaf yield per plant:

ANOVA	table for	yield/plant (y)		
SOV	d.f.	S.S	M.S	F-ratio
REP	2	12.75	6.38	0.53
GEN.	9	24515.98	2724.00	224.44
EROR	18	218.459	12.14	
Total	29	24747.19		

Similarly, following the same procedures, we can also perform the analysis of variance for other characters and make the following ANOVA tables:

ANOVA	table for	total shoot ler	igth $(x_1)$	
SOV	d.f.	S.S	M.S	F-ratio
REP	2	379.00	189.50	1.22
GEN.	9	499621.8	55513.54	356.98
EROR	18	2799.156	155.51	
Total	29	502800		

ANOVA	table for	r fresh wt of 10	00 leaves $(x_2)$	
SOV	d.f.	S.S	M.S	F-ratio
REP	2	28.8125	14.41	1.97
GEN.	9	94476.82	10497.42	1433.50
EROR	18	131.8125	7.32	
Total	29	94637.44		
ANOVA	table for	r unit leaf area	( <i>x</i> <sub>3</sub> )	
SOV	d.f.	S.S	M.S	F-ratio
REP	2	20.39062	10.20	7.91
GEN.	9	17180.62	1908.96	1480.51
EROR	18	23.20898	1.29	
Total	29	17224.22		
ANOVA	table for	r leaf weight/m	$n^{2}(x_{4})$	
SOV	d.f.	S.S	M.S	F-ratio
REP	2	5.25	2.63	0.79
GEN.	9	129114.3	14346.04	4292.08
EROR	18	60.16406	3.34	
Total	29	129179.7		

The results of the analysis of variance show

that genotypes have different effects from one another for all characters y,  $x_1$ ,  $x_2$ ,  $x_3$ , and  $x_4$ . using the formula for genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental variances discussed in Sect. (), one can work out the estimated variances of the different characters due to genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental effects. Thus, the genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental variances for leaf yield per plant can be estimated as follows:

From the above analysis of variance tables

$$\hat{\sigma}_{g}^{2} = \frac{(MS_{G}) - (MSE)}{r} = \frac{2724.00 - 12.14}{3}$$
  
= 903.95  
and  $\hat{\sigma}_{p}^{2} = \hat{\sigma}_{g}^{2} + \hat{\sigma}_{e}^{2} = 903.95 + 12.14 = 916.09$   
and  $\hat{\sigma}_{e}^{2} = MSE = 12.14.$ 

Similarly, these components for other characters can also be worked out. The following table gives the genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental variances of different characters under study.

Variance component	Yield/plant	Shoot length	Fresh weight of leaf	Leaf area	Leaf weight/m <sup>2</sup>
Genotypic $(\hat{\sigma}_g^2)$	903.95	18452.68	3496.70	635.89	4780.90
Phenotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{p}^{2}\right)$	916.09	18608.19	3504.02	637.18	4784.24
Environmental $(\hat{\sigma}_{e}^{2})$	12.14	155.51	7.32	1.29	3.34

**Step 2**: Analysis of Covariance Among the Characters Under Study

We first take up the analysis of covariance of leaf yield per plant with the total shoot length.

To facilitate the analysis, we make the following table:

	R1		R2		R3		Total	
Genotype	Y	$X_1$	Y	$X_1$	Y	$X_1$	Y	$X_1$
1	158.89	344.00	164.57	352.20	152.54	345.00	476.00	1041.20
2	192.59	629.66	193.24	638.25	191.45	647.00	577.28	1914.91
3	195.18	453.22	190.24	455.32	201.45	465.32	586.87	1373.86
4	211.11	363.11	209.12	385.00	213.45	345.32	633.68	1093.43
5	202.22	557.87	200.12	552.45	204.52	563.00	606.86	1673.32
6	205.56	431.22	207.42	452.21	203.28	414.56	616.26	1297.99
7	217.78	687.78	215.65	693.56	219.45	705.45	652.88	2086.79
8	170.00	253.89	165.25	258.32	175.59	264.47	510.84	776.68
9	117.93	383.56	116.39	389.21	118.42	375.41	352.74	1148.18
10	175.33	414.78	177.45	425.36	175.21	458.33	527.99	1298.47
	1846 50	4519.09	1839.45	4601.88	1855.36	4583.86	5541.40	13704.83

From the above table, the following quantities are worked out:

Correction factor  $(YX_1)$ 

$$= CF_{YX_1} = \frac{G_{X_1} \times G_Y}{r \times t}$$
$$= \frac{13704.83 \times 5541.40}{3 \times 10} = 2531464.83$$

Total sum of products  $(YX_1)$ 

$$= \text{TSP}_{YX_1}$$
  
=  $\sum_{i=1}^{10} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{ij} x_{1ij} - \text{CF}_{YX_1}$   
=  $(158.89 \times 344) + (164.57 \times 352.2)$   
+  $\cdots \cdots + (175.21 \times 458.33)$   
-  $\text{CF}_{YX_1} = 57115.75,$ 

Replication sum of products  $(YX_1)$ 

$$= \text{RSP}_{YX_1} = \frac{1}{t} \sum_{j=1}^{3} y_{0j} x 1_{0j} - \text{CF}_{YX_1}$$
$$= \frac{1}{10} [(1846.59 \times 4519.09) + (1839.45 \times 4601.88) + (1855.36 \times 4583.86)] - \text{CF}_{YX_1}$$
$$= -10.25,$$

Treatment sum of products  $(YX_1)$ 

$$= \operatorname{Tr} \operatorname{SP}_{YX_{1}} = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^{10} y_{i0} x 1_{i0} - \operatorname{CF}_{YX_{1}}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{3} \left[ (476 \times 1041.20) + (577.28 \times 1914.91) + \dots + (527.99 \times 1298.47) \right] - \operatorname{CF}_{YX_{1}}$   
= 56986.42,

Error sum of products  $(YX_1)$ = TSP<sub>YX1</sub> - RSP<sub>YX1</sub> - TrSP<sub>YX1</sub> = 57115.75 + 10.25 - 56986.42 = 139.58

### A. Analysis of Covariance of Leaf Yield with Other Characters

With the help of the above quantities, we make the following analysis of covariance table  $(1 \times 2)$ :

SOV	d.f.	S.P	M.S.P
REP	2	-10.25	-5.13
GEN.	9	56986.42	6331.82
EROR	18	139.58	7.75
Total	29	57115.75	
	••	•	

Similarly using the same method, one can frame the other analysis of covariance tables as given below:

1. Analysis of covariance table of yield/plant with fresh weight of leaf  $(1 \times 3)$ 

SOV	d.f.	S.P	M.S.P
REP	2	-12.19	-6.09
GEN.	9	36342.36	4038.04
EROR	18	-36.04	-2.00
Total	29	36294.13	

2. Analysis of covariance table of yield/plant with leaf area  $(1 \times 4)$ 

SOV	d.f.	S.P	M.S.P
REP	2	-16.06	-8.03
GEN.	9	16453.56	1828.17
EROR	18	-20.22	-1.12
Total	29	16417.28	

3. Analysis of covariance table of yield/plant with leaf weight per square meter  $(1 \times 5)$ 

SOV	d.f.	S.P	M.S.P
REP	2	-3.63	-1.81
GEN.	9	26560.38	2951.15
EROR	18	-37.88	-2.10
Total	29	26518.88	

### **B.** Analysis of Covariance of Total Shoot Length with Other Characters

1. Analysis of covariance table of total shoot length with fresh weight of leaf  $(2 \times 3)$ 

SOV	d.f.	S.P	M.S.P
REP	2	89.25	44.63
GEN.	9	45279.50	5031.06
EROR	18	-260.88	-14.49
Total	29	45107.88	

2. Analysis of covariance table of total shoot length with leaf area  $(2 \times 4)$ 

SOV	d.f.	S.P	M.S.P
REP	2	19.50	9.75
GEN.	9	28888.83	3209.87
EROR	18	25.29	1.41
Total	29	28933.62	

3. Analysis of covariance table of total shoot length with leaf weight per square meter  $(2 \times 5)$ 

SOV	d.f.	S.P	M.S.P
REP	2	42.75	21.38
GEN.	9	-37827.92	-4203.10
EROR	18	224.92	12.50
Total	29	-37560.25	

### C. Analysis of Covariance of Fresh Leaf Weight with Other Characters

1. Analysis of covariance table of fresh leaf weight with leaf area  $(3 \times 4)$ 

SOV	d.f.	S.P	M.S.P
REP	2	16.88	8.44
GEN.	9	39197.84	4355.32
EROR	18	10.53	0.59
Total	29	39225.25	

$$\sigma_{g_{ij}} = \frac{E(MSP_{G_{ij}}) - E(MSP_{e_{ij}})}{r}$$

where  $\sigma_{g_{ij}}^2$  = genotypic covariance between the *i*th and *j*th character,

 $E(MSP_{G_{ii}}) = the expected treatment (genotype)$ 

mean sum of product value of *i*th and *j*th character,

 $E(MSP_{e_{ij}})$  = the expected error mean sum of product value of *i*th and *j*th character,

r = number of replications.

Thus, the genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental covariances between leaf yield per plant and total shoot length are

$$\hat{\sigma}_{g_{yx_1}} = \frac{MSP_{G_{yx_1}} - MSP_{e_{yx_1}}}{r} = \frac{6331.82 - 7.75}{3} = 2108.02, \text{ and}$$
$$\hat{\sigma}_{p_{yx_1}} = \hat{\sigma}_{G_{yx_1}} + \hat{\sigma}_{e_{yx_1}} = 2108.02 + 7.75 = 2115.77,$$
where  $\hat{\sigma}_{e_{yx_1}} = 7.75$  is the environmental covariance between y and  $x_1$ .

Similarly, the covariances among the characters under study at the genotypic, pheno-typic, and environmental levels can also be

worked out from the respective analysis of covariance tables as given below:

Step 3: Calculation of Correlation Coefficients



2. Analysis of covariance table of fresh leaf weight with leaf weight per square meter  $(3 \times 5)$ 

SOV	d.f.	S.P	M.S.P
REP	2	11.94	5.97
GEN.	9	74448.35	8272.04
EROR	18	13.40	0.74
Total	29	74473.69	

<b>D.</b> Analysis of Covariance of Leaf Area	with
Leaf Weight per Square Meter $(4 \times 5)$	

SOV	d.f.	S.P	M.S.P
REP	2	5.16	2.58
GEN.	9	25041.16	2782.35
EROR	18	19.19	1.07
Total	29	25065.50	

Using the same procedure of partitioning variances into genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental components, the covariances between the characters can also be partitioned. Thus,

	C	V. 11/11 and (V)	Obsections the (V)	Fresh wt	L f (V )
	Covariance component	$\mathbf{Y}$ leid/plant ( $\mathbf{Y}$ )	Shoot length $(X_1)$	of leaf $(X_2)$	Leaf area $(X_3)$
Shoot length $(X_1)$	Genotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{g_{ij}}\right)$	2108.02			
	Phenotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{p_{ij}}\right)$	2115.78			
	Environmental $(\hat{\sigma}_{e_{ij}})$	7.75			
Fresh weight of leaf $(X_2)$	Genotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{g_{ij}}\right)$	1346.68	1681.85		
	Phenotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{p_{ij}}\right)$	1344.68	1667.36		
	Environmental $(\hat{\sigma}_{\mathbf{e}_{ij}})$	-2.00	-14.49		
Leaf area $(X_3)$	Genotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{g_{ij}}\right)$	609.77	1069.49	1451.58	
	Phenotypic $(\hat{\sigma}_{p_{ij}})$	608.64	1070.89	1452.16	
	Environmental $(\hat{\sigma}_{\mathbf{e}_{ij}})$	-1.12	1.41	0.59	
Leaf weight/m <sup>2</sup> ( $X_4$ )	Genotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{g_{ij}}\right)$	984.42	-1405.20	2757.10	927.09
	Phenotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{p_{ij}}\right)$	982.31	-1392.70	2757.84	928.16
	Environmental $(\hat{\sigma}_{e_{ii}})$	-2.10	12.50	0.74	1.07

After partitioning the variances and the covariances into genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental components, the next task is to calculate the correlation coefficients among the variables at the genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental levels, which will be used in path analysis. The usual formula for the correlation coefficients as described in Chap. 9, Sect. 9.1.1 of Sahu (2007) is also used for obtaining the correlation coefficients at different levels:

 $r_{yx_1} = \frac{\text{Cov}(Y, X_1)_{\text{gen}}}{\sqrt{V(Y)_{\text{gen}} \times V(X_1)_{\text{gen}}}},$ where  $\text{Cov}(Y, X_1)_{\text{gen}} = \text{covariance between } Y$  and  $X_1$  at genotypic level,  $V(Y)_{\text{gen}} = \text{variance of the character } Y$  at genotypic level,  $V(X_1)_{\text{gen}} = \text{variance of the character } X_1$  at genotypic level.

Similarly, the correlation coefficients at the phenotypic and environmental levels can be worked out by using the covariance and variances at the phenotypic and environmental levels, respectively. Thus, the correlation coefficient at the genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental levels for the characters leaf yield and total shoot length can be worked out as follows:

المسلحة للاستشارات

Correlation coefficients between leaf yield and total shoot length

Genotypic level: 
$$r_{yx_1} = \frac{\text{Cov}(Y, X_1)_{\text{gen}}}{\sqrt{V(Y)_{\text{gen}} \times V(X_1)_{\text{gen}}}}$$
  
$$= \frac{2108.02}{\sqrt{903.95 \times 18452.68}}$$
$$= 0.516,$$

Phenotypic level:

$$r_{yx_1} = \frac{\text{Cov}(Y, X_1)_{\text{phen}}}{\sqrt{V(Y)_{\text{phen}} \times V(X_1)_{\text{phen}}}}$$
$$= \frac{2115.78}{\sqrt{916.09 \times 18608.19}}$$
$$= 0.512,$$

Environmental level:

$$r_{yx_1} = \frac{\text{Cov}(Y, X_1)_{\text{env}}}{\sqrt{V(Y)_{\text{env}} \times V(X_1)_{\text{env}}}}$$
$$= \frac{7.75}{\sqrt{12.14 \times 155.51}}$$
$$= 0.178.$$

Similarly, other correlation coefficients can also be worked out as per the above formula and are presented below:

Gen	otypic corr	elation			
	Y	$X_1$	$X_2$	$X_3$	$X_4$
Y	1.000	0.516	0.757	0.804	0.474
$X_1$	0.516	1.000	0.209	0.312	-0.15
$X_2$	0.757	0.209	1.000	0.973	0.674
<i>X</i> <sub>3</sub>	0.804	0.312	0.973	1.000	0.532
$X_4$	0.474	-0.15	0.674	0.532	1.000
Pher	notypic cor	relation			
	Y	$X_1$	$X_2$	$X_3$	$X_4$
Y	1.000	0.512	0.751	0.797	0.469
$X_1$	0.512	1.000	0.206	0.311	-0.148
$X_2$	0.751	0.206	1.000	0.972	0.674
<i>X</i> <sub>3</sub>	0.797	0.311	0.972	1.000	0.532
$X_4$	0.469	-0.148	0.674	0.532	1.000
Envi	ironmental	correlatio	n		
	Y Z	X <sub>1</sub>	$X_2$	$X_3$	$X_4$
Y	1.000	0.178	-0.212	-0.284	-0.330
$X_1$	0.178	1.000	-0.429	0.099	0.548
$X_2$	-0.212	-0.429	1.000	0.190	0.150
<i>X</i> <sub>3</sub>	-0.284	0.099	0.190	1.000	0.513
X.	-0.330	0 548	0.150	0.513	1 000

ف لظ للاستشارات

#### Step 4: Path Coefficients Analysis

Using the above correlation matrices, path coefficients at the genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental levels can be worked out as per the method described in Chap. 10. We present below the tables for the direct and indirect effects of path coefficient analyses at the genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental levels (details are provided in chapter path analysis):

Direct and indirect effects of the yield components on leaf yield of mulberry

Genotypic path				
Shoot length $(X_1)$	0.323	-0.314	0.587	-0.080
Fresh weight of leaf $(X_2)$	0.068	-1.501	1.831	0.360
Leaf area $(X_3)$	0.101	-1.462	1.881	0.284
Leaf weight/m <sup>2</sup> $(X_4)$	-0.048	-1.012	1	0.534
	Residual	= 0.2048		
Phenotypic path				
Shoot length $(X_1)$	0.330	-0.241	0.492	-0.068
Fresh weight of leaf $(X_2)$	0.068	-1.166	1.537	0.312
Leaf area (X <sub>3</sub> )	0.103	-1.133	1.581	0.246
Leaf weight/ $m^2$ ( $X_4$ )	-0.049	-0.785	0.841	0.463
	Residual	= 0.2293		

The direct and indirect effects are the diagonal and offdiagonal elements, respectively.

#### **Step 5**: Calculation of Genetic Parameters

With the help of the variance–covariance values of the characters under considerations at the genotypic and phenotypic levels, we can work out the genetic parameters like PCV, GCV, broad sense heritability, and coheritability. From the above calculation of analyses of variance and covariances, we have the following:

### A. Variance components of different characters of mulberry

Variance component	Yield/plant	Shoot length	Fresh weight of leaf	Leaf area	Leaf weight/m <sup>2</sup>
Genotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{g}^{2}\right)$	903.95	18452.68	3496.70	635.89	4780.90
Phenotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{p}^{2}\right)$	916.09	18608.19	3504.02	637.18	4784.24

phenotypic variance is	
	www.m

	Covariance			Fresh weight	
	component	Yield/plant (Y)	Shoot length $(X_1)$	of leaf $(X_2)$	Leaf area $(X_3)$
Shoot length $(X_1)$	Genotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{g_{ij}}\right)$	2108.02			
	Phenotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{P_{ij}}\right)$	2115.78			
Fresh weight of leaf $(X_2)$	Genotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{g_{ij}}\right)$	1346.68	1681.85		
	Phenotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{\mathbf{p}_{ij}}\right)$	1344.68	1667.36		
Leaf area $(X_3)$	Genotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{g_{ij}}\right)$	609.77	1069.49	1451.58	
	Phenotypic $(\hat{\sigma}_{\mathbf{P}_{ij}})$	608.64	1070.89	1452.16	
Leaf weight/m <sup>2</sup> ( $X_4$ )	Genotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{g_{ij}}\right)$	984.42	-1405.20	2757.10	927.09
	Phenotypic $\left(\hat{\sigma}_{P_{ij}}\right)$	982.31	-1392.70	2757.84	928.16

## **B.** Covariance components among the different characters of mulberry

# C. Average performance with respect to different characters in ten genotypes of mulberry

Genotype	Leaf yield/plant	Total shoot length	Fresh wt of 100 leaves	Unit leaf area	Leaf weight/m <sup>2</sup>
1	158.67	347.07	94.37	56.80	149.27
2	192.43	638.30	190.14	106.58	162.90
3	195.62	457.95	86.42	61.44	131.46
4	211.23	364.48	226.96	106.39	361.28
5	202.29	557.77	170.02	96.44	161.12
6	205.42	432.66	216.51	109.41	175.59
7	217.63	695.60	159.28	92.73	158.73
8	170.28	258.89	161.25	93.94	154.63
9	117.58	382.73	49.12	35.36	116.15
10	176.00	432.82	108.15	72.46	136.57
Mean	184.71	456.83	146.22	83.15	170.77

- (a) *Phenotypic Coefficient of Variation (PCV)* Phenotypic coefficient of variation of any character is given by  $PCV = \frac{\hat{\sigma}_p}{\bar{x}} \times 100$ , where  $\hat{\sigma}_p^2$  is the estimated phenotypic variance and  $\bar{x}$  is the arithmetic mean of the character (*X*) under consideration. Thus, the PCV for leaf yield per plant is  $PCV = \frac{\hat{\sigma}_p}{\bar{x}} \times 100 = \frac{\sqrt{916.09}}{184.71} \times 100 = 16.39$ ; similarly the phenotypic coefficient of variation for other characters also worked out and is presented in the table of genetic parameters.
- (b) Genotypic Coefficient of Variation (GCV) Genotypic coefficient of variation is given by GCV = <sup>∂</sup><sub>g</sub>/<sub>x</sub> × 100, where <sup>∂</sup><sub>g</sub>/<sub>g</sub> is the genotypic variance and x̄ is the arithmetic mean of the character (X) under consideration. Thus, the GCV for leaf yield per plant is GCV = <sup>∂</sup><sub>g</sub>/<sub>x̄</sub> × 100 = <sup>√903.95</sup>/<sub>184.71</sub> × 100 = 16.28; similarly the genotypic coefficient of variation for other characters also worked out.
  (c) Broad Sense Heritability
  - Heritability in broad sense is given as  $h^2 = \frac{\hat{\sigma}_g^2}{\hat{\sigma}_p^2}$ , where the estimate of genotypic variance is  $\hat{\sigma}_g^2$  and that of phenotypic variance is

 $\hat{\sigma}_{\rm p}^2$ . Thus, the broad sense heritability for leaf yield is  $h^2 = \frac{\hat{\sigma}_{\rm g}^2}{\hat{\sigma}_{\rm p}^2} = \frac{903.95}{916.09} = 0.987$ ; similarly the broad sense heritability values for other characters also worked out.

(d) Co-heritability

Co-heritability between two characters 1 and 2 is given as  $\frac{\hat{\sigma}_{B12}}{\hat{\sigma}_{P12}}$ , where  $\hat{\sigma}_{g_{12}}$  and  $\hat{\sigma}_{P_{12}}$  are the estimates of genotypic and phenotypic covariances between the characters 1 and 2, respectively. Thus, the co-heritability between the leaf yield and the total shoot length is  $\frac{\hat{\sigma}_{B12}}{\hat{\sigma}_{P12}} = \frac{2108.02}{2115.78} = 0.996$ ; similarly the co-heritability values among the other characters also worked out.

(e) Genetic Advance/Gain

Genetic gain or advance is  $GA = k.h^2.\hat{\sigma}_p$ , where k is the standardized selection differential,  $h^2$  is the broad sense heritability, and  $\hat{\sigma}_{\rm p}$  is the estimated phenotypic standard deviation of the character concerned. Thus, at 5% (say) selection intensity, the genetic advance for the character leaf yield per plant is GA =  $k.h^2.\hat{\sigma}_{\rm p} = 2.06 \times 0.987$  $\times 30.267 = 61.54$ ; similarly the genetic advance orgain values for the other characters also worked out.

Sometimes it is customary to present the genetic gain or advance values as percentage over mean. As such the genetic advance of leaf yield per plant at percentage over mean is  $\frac{61.54}{184.71} \times 100 = 33.32$ .

All the above genetic parameters, namely, phenotypic and genotypic coefficients of variation, broad sense heritability, and genetic advance, for the characters are presented in the following table.

Table of genetic parameters

Genetic parameter	Yield/plant	Shoot length	Fresh weight of leaf	Leaf area	Leaf weight/m <sup>2</sup>
Phenotypic coefficient of variation	16.39	29.86	40.48	30.36	40.50
Genotypic coefficient of variation	16.28	29.74	40.44	30.33	40.49
Broad sense heritability	0.99	0.99	1.00	1.00	1.00
G. A./gain	61.54	278.66	121.69	51.89	142.39
G.A. as percent over mean	33.32	61.00	83.22	62.40	83.38
			Fresh weight		
Co-heritability	Yield/plant	Shoot length	of leaf	Leaf area	
Shoot length	0.999				
Fresh weight of leaf	0.999	0.991			
Leaf area	0.998	1.00	0.999		
Leaf weight/m <sup>2</sup>	0.998	0.991	0.999	0.998	

The above analysis can be made using the SPAR1 software, and the output is as follows:

### ANALYSIS OF VAR COV Source D.F. MEAN SUM OF SQ F-VALUE CHARACTERS 1 1 REP 2. 0.63750000E+01 0.52527020E+00 TRET 9. 0.27239976E+04 0.22444470E+03 EROR 18. 0.12136610E+02 0.10000000E+01 CHAR 1 TREATMENT MEANS 158.67 192.43 195.62 211.23 202.29 205.42 217.63 170.28 117.58 176.00 S.E. OF DIFF BET TWO MEANS= 0.28444810E+01 GRAND MEAN= 184.7133 COEFF. OF VARIATION= 1.8860

(continued)

	CHARACTERS 1 2		
	REP 20.51250000E+01 -0	0.66090170E+00	
	TRET 9. 0.63318242E+04 (	0.81652940E+03	
	EROR 18. 0.77545573E+01 (	0.1000000E+01	
	CHARACTERS 1 3		
	REP 20.60937500E+01		
	TRET 9. 0.40380395E+04 -	0.20166130E+04	
	EROR 18 -0.20023872E+01	0.1000000E+01	
	CHARACTERS 1 4		
	$REP = 2 = 0.80312500E\pm01$	0.71499230E±01	
	TRET 0 0.18281736E $\pm 0.0$	0.16275550E±04	
	EROP 18 $0.11232630E\pm01$	0.10275550E+04 0.10000000E+01	
	$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$	0.1000000000000000000000000000000000000	
	DED 2 0.19125000E+01	0.96129610E+00	
	REP 20.18123000E+01	0.14025280E+04	
	IREI 9. 0.29511528E+04	-0.14025280E+04	
	EROR 180.2104166/E+01	0.1000000E+01	
	CHARACTERS 2 2		
	REP 2. 0.18950000E+03 0.1	12185810E+01	
	TRET 9. 0.55513538E+05 0.3	35698030E+03	
	EROR 18. 0.15550868E+03 0.1	10000000E+01	
	CHAR 2 TREATMENT MEANS	S	
	347.07 638.30 457.95 364.48 557	7.77 432.66 695.60 258.89 382.73 432.82	
	S.E. OF DIFF BET TWO MEAN	NS = 0.10181970E + 02	
	GRAND MEAN = $456.8277$	COEFF. OF VARIATION = $2.7298$	
	CHARACIERS 2 3	20500(105.01	
	REP 2. 0.44625000E+02 -0.	0.30/90610E+01	
	TRET 9. 0.50310556E+04 -0	0.34713560E+03	
	EROR 180.14493056E+02 0	0.1000000E+01	
	CHARACTERS 2 4		
	REP 2. 0.97500000E+01 0	).69392230E+01	
	TRET 9. 0.32098704E+04 0	0.22845140E+04	
	EROR 18. 0.14050564E+01 0	).1000000E+01	
	CHARACTERS 2 5		
	REP 2. 0.21375000E+02 0	0.17106240E+01	
	TRET 90.42031020E+04 -0	0.33637080E+03	
	EROR 18. 0.12495443E+02 0	0.1000000E+01	
	CHARACTERS 3 3		
	REP = 2 = 0.14406250E+02 = 0	19672830F+01	
	RET 9 0 10/07/2/E+05 0	1/335030E+0/	
	EPOP 18 $0.73220167E\pm01$ 0	1000000E+01	
	CUAD 2 TDEATMENT MEANS	S	
	04 27 100 14 86 42 226 06 170 0	5 02 216 51 150 22 161 25 70 12 102 15	
	94.57 190.14 80.42 220.90 170.0	$52 \times 210.51 \times 109.20 \times 101.25 \times 49.12 \times 100.15$	
	CDAND MEAN 146 2210	$NS = 0.22093120E \pm 01$	
	$\frac{140.2210}{1}$	COEFF. OF VARIATION = 1.8307	
	CHARACTERS 3 4		
	REP 2. 0.84375000E+01 0.	.14421360E+02	
	TRET 9. 0.43553160E+04 0.	.74441010E+04	
	EROR 18. 0.58506944E+00 0.	.1000000E+01	
	CHARACTERS 3 5		
	DED $2 = 0.506975000 \pm 0.1 = 0.1$	80186500E+01	
	TEF 2. 0.3908/300E+01 0.	.00100J7UE+UI	
	TKE1 9. 0.82720391E+04 0.	10000000E + 01	
	EROR 18. 0.74435764E+00 0.	.1000000E+01	
	<b>**</b>		(continued)
	AT 11		
، ات	ا ا ا ا ا ا		
~ )			
	-		

www.m

ا 🏹 للاستشارات

CHARACTERS 4 4 REP 2. 0.10195312E+02 0.79070940E+01 TRET 9. 0.19089577E+04 0.14805140E+04 EROR 18. 0.12893880E+01 0.1000000E+01 CHAR 4 TREATMENT MEANS 56.80 106.58 61.44 106.39 96.44 109.41 92.73 93.94 35.36 72.46 S.E. OF DIFF BET TWO MEANS= 0.9271418 GRAND MEAN= 83.1543 COEFF. OF VARIATION= 1.3655 CHARACTERS 4 5 REP 2. 0.25781250E+01 0.24185670E+01 TRET 9. 0.27823507E+04 0.26101530E+04 EROR 18. 0.10659722E+01 0.1000000E+01 CHARACTERS 5 5 REP 2. 0.26250000E+01 0.78535250E+00 TRET 9. 0.14346037E+05 0.42920750E+04 EROR 18. 0.33424479E+01 0.1000000E+01 CHAR 5 TREATMENT MEANS 149.27 162.90 131.46 361.28 161.12 175.59 158.73 154.63 116.15 136.57 S.E. OF DIFF BET TWO MEANS= 0.14927490E+01 GRAND MEAN= 170.7700 COEFF. OF VARIATION= 1.0706 ENVIRONMENTAL CORR 1.000 0.178 -0.212 -0.284 -0.330 1 2 0.178 1.000 - 0.4290.099 0.548 0.150 3 -0.212 -0.429 1.000 0.190 4 -0.284 0.099 0.190 1.000 0.513 5 -0.330 0.548 0.150 0.513 1.000 GENOTYPIC CORRELATIONS 1 1.000 0.516 0.757 0.804 0.474 1.000 0.209 0.312 -0.150 2 0.516 3 0.757 0.209 1.000 0.973 0.674 4 0.804 0.312 0.973 1.000 0.532 5 0.474 -0.150 0.674 0.532 1.000PHENOTYPIC CORRELATIONS 1 1.000 0.512 0.751 0.797 0.469 2 0.512 1.000 0.206 0.311 -0.148 3 0.751 0.206 1.000 0.972 0.674 4 0.797 0.311 0.972 1.000 0.5325 0.469 - 0.1480.674 0.532 1.000 HERITABILITY VALUES 0.987 0.992 0.998 0.998 0.999 GENETIC ADVANCE VALUES (K=2.06) 61.52 278.66 121.69 51.89 142.39 COEFF. OF VARIATION (GENO) 16.28 29.74 40.44 30.33 40.49 COEFF. OF VARIATION (PHENO) 16.39 29.86 40.48 30.36 40.50

(continued)

### 11.3 Path Analysis

In agriculture and allied fields, including social sciences, the researchers come across with a number of variables at a time, in which different variables are not only related with response variables but also related among themselves. As such, the degree of association which we measured through the correlation coefficient may not provide the actual intensity of relationship because other variables might have influenced both variables under consideration. For example, the paddy yield is governed by different yield components like the number of hills per square meter, the number of tillers per hill, the number of panicle bearing tillers per hill, the length of panicle, and the number of grains per panicle. All these components are influencing the yield. The yield components are not only individually correlated with yield but also correlated among themselves. Similarly, while studying the physical fitness of human being, one considers the body characteristics like height and body weight of body, leg length, and BMR. In socioeconomic studies, the social status of a person is influenced by his/her age, education, family size, income, expenditure, involvement in social program, etc.

As the variables/characters are correlated not only with the response variable but also among themselves, the question arises on how to work out the direct influence of a particular variable/ character on the response variable/character and the effects of the variable/character through other variables/characters because of their interrelationship. Path coefficient analysis is one of the possible answers. In a path coefficient analysis, there are at least two groups of variables: the independent or exogenous variables and the dependent or endogenous variables. Path coefficients indicate the direct and indirect effects of the variables on another variable. A path diagram is a flowchart to represent the direction of effects of different variables on the dependent variables (Fig. 11.1).

In the above diagram,  $X_1$ ,  $X_2$ , and  $X_3$  are the exogenous independent variables, and  $X_4$  and  $X_5$ are the endogenous dependent variables. Here the variable  $X_5$  is dependent not only on  $X_4$  but also on the independent variables  $X_1, X_2$ , and  $X_3$ . Similarly, the dependent variable  $X_4$  is dependent on  $X_1$ ,  $X_2$ , and  $X_3$ . The direction of arrows indicates the response variable by the causal variables. It may be noted that there may be both-way arrows among the exogenous independent variables, but there are one-way arrows from the exogenous independent variables to the endogenous variables. Thus, for  $X_5$ , the variable  $X_4$  is independent but it is not exogenous. The both-way arrows mean the variables are related among themselves.



Fig. 11.1 Path diagram with two dependent and three independent variables



Fig. 11.2 Path diagram of one dependent and three correlated causal variables along with the residual part

The correlation between the response variable and any component variable (causal variable) can be looked upon as the additive effect of the direct and indirect effects of the causal variables. If  $a_i$  and  $b_{i'}$  ( $i \neq i' = 1, 2, ..., k$ ) are the direct and indirect effects of the *i*th variable in a system of (k+1), variables, then  $a + \sum_{i=1}^{k} b_{i}$ , a = 1

of (k + 1) variables, then  $a_i + \sum_{i \neq i'=1}^{k} b_{i'} = r_{x_iy}$ , where  $a_i$  is the direct effect of the *i*th causal variable on the response variable *y* and  $b_{i'}$ s are the indirect effects of the *i*th causal variable on the response variable via the *i*'th causal variable (other than the *i*th variable).

In this fashion, each of the k number of individual correlation coefficients of causal variables with the response variable can be partitioned into the additive effect of the direct effect of the respective variables and the sum of the indirect effects of the other variables:

Path analysis is the method of studying the direct and indirect effects of the variables on the response variables. But it is not directed towards discovering the causes of a response.

### 11.3.1 Calculation of Path Coefficient

Generally the path coefficients are denoted by  $p_{ij}$ (*a*, in our earlier notation), where *i* denotes for the dependent/response variable and *j* for the independent/causal variable and is defined as the ratio of the standard deviations due to a given cause to the total standard deviation of the response, that is,  $p_{ij} = \frac{\sigma_j}{\sigma_i}$ .

Let us have four variables situation in which  $X_1$ ,  $X_2$ , and  $X_3$  are the independent variables and  $X_4$  is the dependent variable. So the variation  $X_4$  is supposed to be explained by  $X_1$ ,  $X_2$ , and  $X_3$  and an unexplained portion *R* (Fig. 11.2).

Thus, we have  $X_4 = X_1 + X_2 + X_3 + R$ . So the correlation coefficients of  $X_4$  with that of  $X_1, X_2, X_3$ , and *R* are given as

$$\begin{split} r_{14} &= \frac{\operatorname{Cov}(x_1, x_4)}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_4)}} = \frac{\operatorname{Cov}(x_1, x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + R)}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_4)}} \\ &= \frac{\operatorname{Cov}(x_1, x_1)}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_4)}} + \frac{\operatorname{Cov}(x_1, x_2)}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_4)}} + \frac{\operatorname{Cov}(x_1, x_3)}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_4)}} + \frac{\operatorname{Cov}(x_1, R)}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_4)}} \\ &= \frac{V(x_1)}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_4)}} + \frac{r_{12}\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_2)}}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_4)}} + \frac{r_{13}\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_3)}}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_4)}} + 0 \\ &= \frac{\sigma_1}{\sigma_4} + \frac{r_{12}\sigma_2}{\sigma_4} + \frac{r_{13}\sigma_3}{\sigma_4} = p_{41} + r_{12}p_{42} + r_{13}p_{43}. \end{split}$$

*Note*: Cov $(x_1, R)$  is assumed to be zero, and  $p_{41}$ ,  $p_{42}$ , and  $p_{43}$  are the path coefficients of  $X_1, X_2$ , and  $X_3$ , respectively.

Following the same procedure, we have

$$r_{24} = \frac{\text{Cov}(x_2, x_4)}{\sqrt{V(x_2)V(x_4)}} = \frac{\text{Cov}(x_2, x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + R)}{\sqrt{V(x_2)V(x_4)}} = p_{41}r_{12} + p_{42} + p_{43}r_{23},$$

$$r_{34} = \frac{\text{Cov}(x_3, x_4)}{\sqrt{V(x_3)V(x_4)}} = \frac{\text{Cov}(x_3, x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + R)}{\sqrt{V(x_3)V(x_4)}} = p_{41}r_{13} + p_{42}r_{23} + p_{43},$$
and
$$r_{R4} = \frac{\text{Cov}(R, x_4)}{\sqrt{V(R)V(x_4)}} = \frac{\text{Cov}(R, x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + R)}{\sqrt{V(R)V(x_4)}}$$

$$= \frac{\text{Cov}(R, x_1)}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(R)}} + \frac{\text{Cov}(R, x_2)}{\sqrt{V(R)V(x_4)}} + \frac{\text{Cov}(R, x_3)}{\sqrt{V(R)V(x_4)}} + \frac{\text{Cov}(R, R)}{\sqrt{V(R)V(x_4)}}$$

$$= \frac{0}{\sqrt{V(R)V(x_4)}} + \frac{0}{\sqrt{V(R)V(x_4)}} + \frac{0}{\sqrt{V(x_1)V(x_4)}} + \frac{V(R)}{\sqrt{V(R)V(x_4)}}$$

$$= 0 + 0 + 0 + C$$

$$= C(\text{say}) \text{ (since covariance between the variables and the residual R is assumed to be zero).}$$

Thus, the three correlation coefficients of the three independent variables  $X_1$ ,  $X_2$ , and  $X_3$  with  $X_4$  are

$$r_{14} = p_{41} + r_{12}p_{42} + r_{13}p_{43},$$

In matrix notation, the above three simultaneous equations can be written as

 $r_{24} = p_{41}r_{12} + p_{42} + p_{43}r_{23},$ 

 $r_{34} = p_{41}r_{13} + p_{42}r_{23} + p_{43}.$ 

$$\begin{pmatrix} r_{14} \\ r_{24} \\ r_{34} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} r_{11} & r_{12} & r_{13} \\ r_{21} & r_{22} & r_{23} \\ r_{31} & r_{32} & r_{33} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p_{41} \\ p_{42} \\ p_{43} \end{pmatrix}$$
Thus,  $\underline{A} = \underline{B} \times \underline{P}$   
or  $\underline{B}^{-1} \times \underline{A} = \underline{B}^{-1} \times \underline{B} \times \underline{P}$   
 $\underline{A} \qquad \underline{B} \qquad \underline{P}$  (say) or  $\underline{P} = \underline{B}^{-1} \times \underline{A}$ .

Given a set of observations for a number of independent variables and a dependent variable,

the matrices A and B can be framed with the correlation coefficients among the variables.

The inverse matrix  $B^{-1}$  can be worked out following the method of matrix inversion. The inversion of matrix is available in the commonly used MS Excel subprogram of the MS Office software also. In Example 1, we shall demonstrate how, with the help of the MS Excel software, path analysis can be done.

### 11.3.2 Calculation of Residual

Once the path coefficient values corresponding to different independent variables are worked out, the next problem lies in estimating the residual (R), that is, the unexplained part of the model. We have assumed that  $X_4 = X_1 + X_2 + X_3 + R$ 

or  $\sigma_4^2 = \sigma^2(X_1 + X_2 + X_3 + R)$ =  $\sigma_1^2 + \sigma_2^2 + \sigma_3^2 + \sigma_R^2 + 2\sigma_{12} + 2\sigma_{13} + 2\sigma_{23}$ , where,  $\sigma_1^2$ ,  $\sigma_2^2$ ,  $\sigma_3^2$ , and  $\sigma_R^2$  are the variance of the  $X_1, X_2, X_3$  variables and residual and  $\sigma_{ij}$  ( $i \neq j = 1, 2, 3$ ) is the covariance between  $X_i$  and  $X_j$  (covariances between the variables and the residual are assumed to be zero)

$$= \sigma_{1}^{-} + \sigma_{2}^{-} + \sigma_{3}^{-} + \sigma_{R}^{-} + 2r_{12}\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2} + 2r_{13}\sigma_{1}\sigma_{3} + 2r_{23}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{3};$$
  
or  $\sigma_{4}^{2} = \sigma_{1}^{2} + \sigma_{2}^{2} + \sigma_{3}^{2} + \sigma_{R}^{2} + 2r_{12}\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2} + 2r_{13}\sigma_{1}\sigma_{3} + 2r_{23}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{3},$   
$$\frac{\sigma_{4}^{2}}{\sigma_{4}^{2}} = \frac{\sigma_{1}^{2} + \sigma_{2}^{2} + \sigma_{3}^{2} + \sigma_{R}^{2} + 2r_{12}\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2} + 2r_{13}\sigma_{1}\sigma_{3} + 2r_{23}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{3}}{\sigma_{4}^{2}},$$
  
$$1 = \frac{\sigma_{1}^{2}}{\sigma_{4}^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{2}^{2}}{\sigma_{4}^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{R}^{2}}{\sigma_{4}^{2}} + \frac{2r_{12}\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2}}{\sigma_{4}^{2}} + \frac{2r_{13}\sigma_{1}\sigma_{3}}{\sigma_{4}^{2}} + \frac{2r_{23}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{3}}{\sigma_{4}^{2}},$$
  
$$= p_{41}^{2} + p_{42}^{2} + p_{43}^{2} + p_{4R}^{2} + 2r_{12}p_{41}p_{42} + 2r_{13}p_{41}p_{43} + 2r_{23}p_{24}p_{34};$$
  
$$\therefore p_{4R}^{2} = 1 - \left[p_{41}^{2} + p_{42}^{2} + p_{43}^{2} + 2r_{12}p_{41}p_{42} + 2r_{13}p_{41}p_{43} + 2r_{23}p_{42}p_{43}\right].$$

For the *k* number of independent variables, the generalized formula for getting residual will be

$$p_{yR}^2 = 1 - \sum_{j=1}^k p_{yj}^2 - 2 \sum_{j < j'}^k \sum_{j < j'}^k r_{jj'} p_{yj} \mathbf{p}_{yj'},$$

where  $p_{yj}, p_{yj'}$  are the path coefficients of *j*th and *j'*th variables, respectively, and  $r_{ij'}$ 's are the correlation coefficients among the independent variables.

### 11.3.3 Types of Path Coefficients

Using the variances and covariances at the phenotypic, genotypic, and environmental levels, the correlation coefficients among the variables at the respective levels can also be worked out. From the correlation coefficients, one can work out the path coefficients at the phenotypic, genotypic, and environmental levels also. The analysis of correlation and path coefficients at the



phenotypic, genotypic, and environmental levels gives an indication about the genetic architecture and their interrelationships among the characters.

Interpretation of Path Coefficients

 Value of the residual: If the value of the residual is substantial, then the question is whether or not the variables/characters under consideration are sufficient to explain the variations in the dependent variable/character. If one gets a residual of 0.40, then it is quite clear that only 60% variation in the response variable can be explained by the variables/ characters under consideration and 40% variation in the response variable/character will remain unexplained. Are we satisfied? It is very difficult to answer such. Actually the decision norm is governed by several factors like the type of experiment and material being handled and the situation of the experimentation. In agronomic field trials, one may be satisfied with 0.30 residual value; in laboratory experiment, one may be satisfied with a residual less than 0.10; on the other hand, in medical research, one may be satisfied with a residual less than 0.001 or so.

2. When the path coefficient value, that is, the direct effect of the causal character/variable, is almost equal to that of the correlation coefficients between them, the correlation coefficient presents the true picture of linear association between the response variable/ character and the independent causal character.

- 3. When the direct effect is negligible or negative but the correlation coefficient between the causal variable/character is positive and significant, then the indirect effects are the cause of such correlation coefficients. In this situation, it is better to consider the other causal variables/characters rather than this variable/ character.
- 4. When the direct effect is high and positive but the correlation coefficient is negative or negligible, then the indirect effects are the cause of such correlation. It is better to restrict the undesirable characters.
- 5. When both the direct effect and the correlation coefficient are negligible or negative, then one should discard such characters or variables.

*Example 11.3.* The following data give the yield (*Y*) corresponding to four yield components ( $X_1$ ,  $X_2$ ,  $X_3$ ,  $X_4$ ) for a certain agricultural crop. Work out the path of correlations of yield with the yield components.

Y	$X_1$	$X_2$	<i>X</i> <sub>3</sub>	$X_4$	Y	$X_1$	$X_2$	<i>X</i> <sub>3</sub>	$X_4$
99.56	6.60	4.07	8.20	8.20	121.87	6.40	6.62	7.40	8.60
89.23	7.20	3.82	4.80	5.20	102.06	6.20	6.52	6.60	7.20
98.76	8.00	3.63	7.20	7.40	119.68	6.60	6.01	10.20	6.60
136.33	4.20	5.83	8.80	7.40	133.12	5.80	6.22	9.40	8.00
153.12	5.20	5.42	8.20	7.20	129.70	6.20	6.14	9.60	6.80
135.05	4.40	5.62	10.20	6.20	64.84	3.20	5.73	8.20	5.20
93.86	6.20	6.44	6.20	7.20	65.37	3.20	5.04	7.80	4.40
98.08	5.80	5.40	8.60	5.40	61.28	2.80	5.40	9.20	5.20
102.06	5.80	5.50	6.60	5.20	81.32	2.80	7.08	7.20	5.40
82.31	4.20	6.90	8.20	4.00	73.59	2.60	6.32	10.20	5.00
65.37	4.60	6.69	7.40	6.60	71.89	3.60	6.27	7.40	7.40
69.37	4.40	7.12	9.20	5.00	58.33	2.80	7.08	9.20	8.20
69.17	3.60	5.78	9.40	6.00	60.25	3.00	6.43	8.40	6.20
59.24	3.20	5.35	8.60	6.20	49.72	3.20	6.20	6.80	5.20
63.59	3.20	5.45	8.80	4.40	80.94	3.40	6.51	8.40	4.20
61.11	4.20	5.97	8.20	7.20	78.64	2.60	8.32	9.20	4.00
59.69	3.80	7.32	7.40	6.20	83.21	3.00	7.29	6.60	3.60
53.20	4.00	7.19	6.80	5.80	57.38	2.80	5.88	9.60	4.40
83.53	5.20	5.49	10.20	4.40	60.12	2.80	5.38	8.20	4.20
79.11	5.40	4.72	8.40	5.20	61.09	3.40	5.49	9.20	3.20
70.13	4.60	4.82	7.60	4.20	49.86	3.80	7.04	8.80	5.20
129.21	8.00	3.12	9.20	5.20	57.15	3.20	6.88	7.40	3.40

المسلوك للاستشارات

(continued)

Y	$X_1$	$X_2$	$X_3$	$X_4$	Y	$X_1$	$X_2$	$X_3$	$X_4$
117.29	8.20	4.16	8.80	6.20	52.98	3.40	6.26	7.20	5.00
121.30	7.80	3.63	10.20	5.40	97.58	4.60	7.42	8.20	4.00
121.38	5.60	6.76	8.20	10.20	93.69	3.80	6.43	7.40	5.00

**Solution.** From the given data, we calculate the following correlation coefficient and prepare the correlation table.

	Y	$X_1$	$X_2$	$X_3$	$X_4$
Y	1.0000	0.6861	-0.2977	0.1929	0.4559
$\overline{X_1}$	0.6861	1.0000	-0.5945	-0.0580	0.4085
$\overline{X_2}$	-0.2977	-0.5945	1.0000	-0.0826	-0.0447
$\overline{X_3}$	0.1929	-0.0580	-0.0826	1.0000	-0.0360
$X_4$	0.4559	0.4085	-0.0447	-0.0360	1.0000

From the above correlation table, we have the following correlation matrices:

$$\begin{split} & \underset{B}{\overset{1.0000}{\overset{-0.5945}{}}} \left( \begin{array}{c} 1.0000 & -0.5945 & -0.0580 & 0.4085 \\ -0.5945 & 1.0000 & -0.0826 & -0.0447 \\ -0.0580 & -0.0826 & 1.0000 & -0.0360 \\ 0.4085 & -0.0447 & -0.0360 & 1.0000 \end{array} \right) \left( \begin{array}{c} 0.6861 \\ -0.2977 \\ 0.1929 \\ 0.4559 \end{array} \right) \\ & \underset{A}{\overset{2.0328612}{}} 1.1896280 & 0.1884937 & -0.7704334 \\ 1.1896280 & 1.7053523 & 0.1954023 & -0.4026777 \\ 0.1884937 & 0.1954023 & 1.0259480 & -0.0313676 \\ -0.7704334 & -0.4026777 & -0.0313676 & 1.2955812 \end{array} \right) \end{split}$$

The inverse matrix of *B*, that is,  $B^{-1}$ .

So 
$$\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{-1}$$
 is given by 
$$\begin{pmatrix} 0.725755792\\ 0.162659179\\ 0.254770092\\ 0.175887089 \end{pmatrix}$$

Now the direct and indirect effects of different yield components are given as follows: *Table of path coefficients* 

r <sub>yx</sub>	$X_1$	<i>X</i> <sub>2</sub>	<i>X</i> <sub>3</sub>	$X_4$
$r_{y1} = 0.6861$	0.72575579	-0.09669818	-0.014779644	0.071848
$r_{y2} = -0.2977$	-0.431449783	0.16265918	-0.021045259	-0.007860
$r_{y3} = 0.1929$	-0.042102321	-0.01343644	0.254770090	-0.006320
$r_{y4} = 0.4559$	0.296462008	-0.00727221	-0.009161656	0.175890

Note: Diagonal elements are the direct effects and the off-diagonal elements are the indirect effects.



The indirect path coefficients are obtained by multiplying each element of the row concerned in matrix *B* (correlation matrix) by the respective elements of the *P* matrix. Thus, the indirect effect of  $X_1$  through  $X_2$  on *Y* is  $-0.5945 \times 0.1626 = -0.096698$ .

The diagonal elements of the table are the direct effects, whereas the off-diagonal elements are the indirect effects. It may be noted that the sum of the direct and indirect effects of any character is equal to its correlation coefficients with the response variables.

The residual is worked with the help of the formula

$$R^{2} = 1 - \left[p_{y1}^{2} + p_{y2}^{2} + p_{y3}^{2} + p_{y4}^{2} + 2r_{12}p_{y1}p_{y2} + 2r_{13}p_{y1}p_{y3} + 2r_{14}p_{y1}p_{y4} + 2r_{23}p_{y2}p_{y3} + 2r_{24}p_{y2}p_{y4} + 2r_{34}p_{y3}p_{y4}\right] = 0.42113.$$

Thus, from the above analysis, it is clear that the yield-contributing characters considered in the example are efficient enough to explain as much as 58% variation in the response variable. Character one  $(X_1)$  has high positive direct effect commensurating with high positive correlation coefficient; hence, this character may be utilized for direct selection. On the other hand, the negative correlation and positive direct effect of the character two  $X_2$  are mainly attributed by the indirect effect of  $X_2$  via  $X_1$ . The other characters though have low positive correlation coefficients but are associated with positive direct effects; hence, these cannot be ignored during selection.

With the help of the MS Excel program, how one can work out the path coefficients is presented in the following example.

*Example 11.4.* Data given in the example are pertaining to the yield and three yield components per plant in six different varieties. We are to find out the path coefficients for yield per plant on other characters.

		Yield	Branch no	Test wt	Pod/plant
Var no	Replication	Ch1	Ch2	Ch3	Ch4
1	1	14.5	1.8	34	27.2
	2	13.8	2.6	32.8	29.2
	3	14.8	2.8	35.1	18.6
2	1	14.9	2.9	38.3	24.8
	2	15.8	2.3	38.5	23.6
	3	17.3	3.2	40.2	17.4
3	1	15.1	2.8	48.5	25.2
	2	15.2	3.1	45.3	28.8
	3	16.3	3.3	45.2	25.6
4	1	15.7	2	36.2	29.2
	2	16.5	2.5	38.1	18.4
	3	17.5	3.1	44.2	24.8
5	1	17.6	3.3	46.1	24.8
	2	17.1	3.5	55.3	22.2
	3	18.3	3	58.6	20.2
6	1	17.2	3.7	60.8	20.8
	2	17.3	3.4	62	20.2
	3	18.5	4.1	59.4	28

**Solution.** We are provided with replicated data of four characters, including yield per plant for six varieties. One can use the variance–covariance analysis to get the correlation at the phenotypic, genotypic, and environmental levels. But for this particular example, we shall consider the path

coefficient from simple correlations considering that there is  $6 \times 3 = 18$  number of observations per character. In a stepwise manner, we shall demonstrate how path analysis can be done using the MS Excel program in the MS Office software. Step 1: Calculation of Correlation Coefficients

- 1. Go to Tools menu and click Data Analysis submenu.
- 2. From Data Analysis submenu, select Correlation.

0	H 7-0	):	-	-		Chapter 11 [Com	patibi	lity Mode] -	Microsoft Exc	el ·······			-	and the owner of the	- 0 ×
	Home In	sert Page Layout	Formulas	Data Review	View SAS										0 - 0 X
Get E	ternal Exister ta * Connect	Refresh So Ed Connections	nnections 21 operties 21 t Links ons	Sort & Filter	Clear Reapply Advanced Colu	to Remove Common Duplicates Valid	lata lation ta To	Consolida	te What-If Analysis -	Group Ungroup	Subtotal Outline	tow Detail	Data Analysis Analysis		
	A1	• (? f.	Var No		2010		_	-		I x		1 200	L S		¥
- 1	A	В	C	D	E	F		G	н	1	J	K	L	M	N -
1	Var No	Replication	Yield	Branch No	Test wt	Pod/plant		Data Ana	ysis			- <u>8</u> -x-			
2			Ch1	Ch2	Ch3	Ch4		Analysis	Tools Single Factor		121	OK			
3	1	1	14.5	1.8	34	27.2		Anova: Anova:	Two-Factor W Two-Factor W	th Replication thout Replication	Ű.	Cancel			
4		2	13.8	2.6	32.8	29.2		Covaria	nce		- 1	Help	L		
5		3	14.8	2.8	35.1	18.6		Expone	tive Statistics nitial Smoothing	Martinesee					
6	2	1	14.9	2.9	38.3	24.8		Fourier	Analysis	ranarces	-		L		
7		2	15.8	2.3	38.5	23.6		L		_	_				
8		3	17.3	3.2	40.2	17.4		_							
9	3	1	15.1	2.8	48.5	25.2									
10		2	15.2	3.1	45.3	28.8									
11		3	16.3	3.3	45.2	25.6									
12	4	1	15.7	2	36.2	29.2									
13		2	16.5	2.5	38.1	18.4									
14		3	17.5	3.1	44.2	24.8									
15	5	1	17.6	3.3	46.1	24.8									
16		2	17.1	3.5	55.3	22.2									
17		3	18.3	3	58.6	20.2									· ·
Ready	H Sheet1	Sheet2 Sheet3								Average: 1	7.20208333 Co	unt 106 Sum 1	651.4	140% (-)	
-	e	Image:	0		201	100	l.		1.4	\$2.1		1 de		8411	10:59 PM 8/20/2012

Slide 11.1: Step 1, showing the data and selection of Correlation from Data Analysis submenu using MS Excel

3. Select the input–output ranges, label, etc., as shown in the figure below:

0	29-0				-	Chapter 11 [Com	patibility Mode] - Microsoft Excel	1.000		Contraction of the local division of the		- 0 ×
	Home In	sert Page Layout	Formulas	Data Review	View SAS							🖌 – 🖉 🗴
Get Da	ternal Exister ta • Connect Get External Data	ng hons Refresh All - wo Ed Connection	nnections perties t Links ons	Sort & Filter	Clear Reapply Advanced Colu	tto Remove I mns Duplicates Vali	Data dation - Consolidate What If Analysis - ata Tools	P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	off and a second secon	Data Analysis     Analysis		
	C2	• (? fr	Var No									¥
	Α	В	С	D	E	F	Correlation		2	x L	M	N 🔺
1	Var No	Replication	Yield	Branch No	Test wt	Pod/plant	Input					
2			Ch1	Ch2	Ch3	Ch4	Input Range:	\$C\$2:\$F\$20	Carcel			
3	1	1	14.5	1.8	34	27.2	Grouped By:	Columns Rows	Help	5 1		
4		2	13.8	2.6	32.8	29.2	U Labels in first row		0.0	-		
5		3	14.8	2.8	35.1	18.6	Output options		-			
6	2	1	14.9	2.9	38.3	24.8	Qutput Range:     New Worksheat Else	\$2\$3				
7		2	15.8	2.3	38.5	23.6	New Workbook		_			
8		3	17.3	3.2	40.2	17.4			_			
9	3	1	15.1	2.8	48.5	25.2						
10		2	15.2	3.1	45.3	28.8						
11		3	16.3	3.3	45.2	25.6						
12	4	1	15.7	2	36.2	29.2						
13		2	16.5	2.5	38.1	18.4						
14		3	17.5	3.1	44.2	24.8						
15	5	1	17.6	3.3	46.1	24.8						
16		2	17.1	3.5	55.3	22.2						
17		3	18.3	3	58.6	20.2						
14 4 3	H Sheet1	Sheet2 / Sheet3	12/					(				
Funt										100,021		11-01 PM
									X			8/20/2012

Slide 11.2: Step 2, showing the data and selection of input range and other options from Correlation of Data Analysis submenu using MS Excel

4. Click OK, then correlation table will appear as shown below:

	10-0				-	Chapter 11 [Com	patibility Mode)	- Microsoft Exc	el a suat				Contraction of the local division of the loc	- 0 -X
	Home In	sert Page Layout	Formulas	Data Review	View SAS		Construction of Descention of							😧 – 🖛 X
Get Ex Dat	ternal Existin a * Connect iet External Data	ng Refresh and Edit	perties 21 t Links ons	Sort & Filter	Clear Reapply Advanced	to Remove Common Duplicates Valid	Data Consoli dation - ita Tools	date What J Analysis -	Group Ungro	op Subtotal	ow Detail La D	ata Analysis Analysis		
	A	B	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	1	К	1	м	N
1	Var No	Replication	Yield	Branch No	Test wt	Pod/plant								
2			Chl	Ch2	Ch3	Ch4								
3	1	1	14.5	1.8	34	27.2				Ch1	Ch2	Ch3	Ch4	
4		2	13.8	2.6	32.8	29.2			Ch1	1				
5		3	14.8	2.8	35.1	18.6			Ch2	0.66885	1			
6	2	1	14.9	2.9	38.3	24.8			Ch3	0.73998	0.77282	1		
7		2	15.8	2.3	38.5	23.6			Ch4	-0.37432	-0.20024	-0.22109		1
8		3	17.3	3.2	40.2	17.4								
9	3	1	15.1	2.8	48.5	25.2								
10		2	15.2	3.1	45.3	28.8								
11		3	16.3	3.3	45.2	25.6								
12	4	1	15.7	2	36.2	29.2								
13		2	16.5	2.5	38.1	18.4								
14		3	17.5	3.1	44.2	24.8								
15	5	1	17.6	3.3	46.1	24.8								
16		2	17.1	3.5	55.3	22.2								
17	H Sheet1	Sheet2 Sheet3	18.3	3	58.6	20.2			1		-		-	
Ready	- Sheer 1	Sincer , Sincers ,							Average: 0.53	8599833 Count 1	8 Sum: 5.38599	8335 🔟 🖾 🛄	140% 🕤	0 0
-	e		0		14	- Notes				C.K.		- 1	R -4 P	11:02 PM 8/20/2012

Slide 11.3: Step 3, showing output from Correlation of Data Analysis submenu using MS Excel



Arrange the above correlation table as given below:

Y	Ch1	Ch2	Ch3
0.669	1.000	0.773	-0.200
0.740	0.773	1.000	-0.221
-0.374	-0.200	-0.221	1.000
<u>A</u>		B	

**Step 2**: Invert the Correlation Coefficients Matrix *B* 

1. Go to insert menu and click function button.

•	10-0	).=			-	Chapter 11 [Comp	ublity Mode) - Microsoft Excel	- 0 ×
	Home In	sert Page Layout	Formulas	Data Review	View SAS			🕹 – 🔿 X
f.x Inse Funct	t AutoSum R	ecently Financial Logic Jied Fund	al Text Date	& Lookup & Math • Reference • & Trig	More Functions • N	Name Isnager III Create for Defined Name	e - SP Tace Precedents S Show Formulas - Calculate Now - Calculate Openedents - Fire Checking - Statust Formula - Calculate Sheet Insert Function - Statust Formula - Laborate Formula - Laborate Sheet - Laborate Sheet - Laborate Formula - Laborate Formula - Laborate Sheet - Laborate Formula - Laborate Sheet -	
	J15	• (* × ✓ fr					Search for a function:	3
	А	В	С	D	E	F	Type a brief description of what you want to do and then click Go L M	N
1	Var No	Replication	Yield	Branch No	Test wt	Pod/plant	Or select a gategory: Math & Trig	
2			Ch1	Ch2	Ch3	Ch4	Select a functory:	
3	1	1	14.5	1.8	34	27.2	MINIERSE Ch3 Ch4	
4		2	13.8	2.6	32.8	29.2	MOD MOD CONTRACTOR	
5		3	14.8	2.8	35.1	18.6	000 Pl	
6	2	1	14.9	2.9	38.3	24.8	HDWERSE(array)	
7		2	15.8	2.3	38.5	23.6	-0.22109	1
8		3	17.3	3.2	40.2	17.4		
9	3	1	15.1	2.8	48.5	25.2	Helpen the function	
10		2	15.2	3.1	45.3	28.8		
11		3	16.3	3.3	45.2	25.6	0.669 1.000 0.773 -0.200	
12	4	1	15.7	2	36.2	29.2	0.740 0.773 1.000 -0.221	
13		2	16.5	2.5	38.1	18.4	-0.374 -0.200 -0.221 1.000	
14		3	17.5	3.1	44.2	24.8		
15	5	1	17.6	3.3	46.1	24.8	=	
16		2	17.1	3.5	55.3	22.2		-
17		3	18.3	3	58.6	20.2		
Edit	H Sheet1	Sheet2 / Sheet3 /	·••					
-	) (2		0		N g	2001	- # d I	• • • 11:16 PM

Slide 11.4: Step 4, showing the selection of matrix inverse option from function submenu of MS Excel

- 2. Select MINVERSE option from the list.
- 3. Select the range of the matrix to be inverted, that is, B here.



	M				-	Chapter	11 [Compatibility Mode] -	Microsoft Exce	el 4 martin				and the local division of the local division	- 0 ×
	Home In	sert Page Layout	Formulas	Data Review	View SAS									🖌 – 🗸
f.x Inser Functi	AutoSum P	ecently Financial Logic Used	al Test Date Time tion Library	A Lookup & Math Reference - & Trig	More Functions *	Name Manager III Di	Define Name - 5 Ote in Formula - 4 Preate from Selection efined Names	→ Trace Precede	ents 🔮 Show F dents 🍲 Error O ws * @ Evaluat Formula Auditi	ermulas hecking - te Formula Minde	catculation Options*	Calculate Now Calculate Sheet alculation		
	MOWERSE	• (* X 🗸 £	=MINVERSE(I	11:K13)										*
4	A	В	С	D	E	P	Function Arguments			Second Second		2	м	N
1	Var No	Replication	Yield	Branch No	Test wt	Pod	MDWERSE							
2			Ch1	Ch2	Ch3	C	Алтау	I11:K13		(1,0.77)	18 18990 162563, -0	.2002426		
3	1	1	14.5	1.8	34	21				= (2.4885	332233727,-1.906	18945176	Ch4	
4		2	13.8	2.6	32.8	25	Returns the inverse matrix fo	Array is	a numeric array wi	th an equal number of	of rous and column	s, etter a cel		
5		3	14.8	2.8	35.1	18		ra	inge or an array co	instant.				
6	2	1	14.9	2.9	38.3	24	Formula result = 2.4885332	23						
7		2	15.8	2.3	38.5	2	Help on this function				OK	Cancel	1	-
8		3	17.3	3.2	40.2	17	.4		_	-				
9	3	1	15.1	2.8	48.5	25.	.2							
10		2	15.2	3.1	45.3	28	.8	Y	_ 1	2	3 _			
11		3	16.3	3.3	45.2	25.	.6	0.669	1.000	0.773	-0.200			
12	4	1	15.7	2	36.2	29.	.2	0.740	0.773	1.000	-0.221			
13		2	16.5	2.5	38.1	18	.4	-0.374	-0.200	-0.221	1.000			
14		3	17.5	3.1	44.2	24.	.8	L Y J		В				
15	5	1	17.6	3.3	46.1	24	.8			11:K13)				
16		2	17.1	3.5	55.3	22	.2							
17		3	18.3	3	58.6	20.	.2							*
Point	M Sheet1	Sheet2 Sheet3	0						•					+
-	6	()	0		2 2					CX ??		- 1	4.154	11:17 PM 8/20/2012

Slide 11.5: Step 4, showing the selection of matrix inverse range option from function submenu of MS Excel

<b>(</b>	<b>H</b> 1 - P			_	-	Chapter 11 (Con	npatibility Mod	e] - Microsoft Exce	d d anna					- 0 - X
fx Insert Function	Home E AutoSum	Insert Page Layout	Formulas	Data Review	View SAS	Aanager III/ Create 1 Defined Na	Name - Formula - From Selection mes	C Trace Precede	rnts 🖄 Show F Sents 🍲 Error O ws * @ Evaluat Formula Auditi	ermulas hecking - e Formula Mg	Calculation Options *	Calculate Now Calculate Sheet		9 - C)
	OWERSE	• (• X ✓ fe	=MINVERSE(I)	11:K13)			6							
4	А	в	C	D Cha	E	F	G	н	1	J	K	L	M	N.
2			Chi	Cn2	Ch3	Cn4	7			61.4	ct a	ct a	<i>c</i> t. t	I
3	1	1	14.5	1.8	34	27.2			Ch.4	Chi	Ch2	Ch3	Cn4	
4		2	13.8	2.0	32.8	19.2			Ch1 Ch2	1				
5	2	5	14.8	2.8	35.1	18.0			Ch2	0.55885	1			
0	2	1	14.9	2.9	38.3	24.8			Ch3	0.73998	0.77282	1		
/		2	15.8	2.5	38.5	23.6			Ch4	-0.37432	-0.20024	-0.22109	1	
8		3	17.5	3.2	40.2	17.4								
9	3	1	15.1	2.8	48.5	25.2								
10		2	15.2	3.1	45.3	28.8		Y	1	2	3			
11		3	16.3	3.3	45.2	25.6		0.669	1.000	0.773	-0.200			
12	4	1	15.7	2	36.2	29.2		0.740	0.773	1.000	-0.221			
13		2	16.5	2.5	38.1	18.4		-0.374	-0.200	-0.221	1.000			
14		3	17.5	3.1	44.2	24.8		LAI	-	В				
15	5	1	17.6	3.3	46.1	24.8				=MINVERS	E(I11:K13)			
16		2	17.1	3.5	55.3	22.2				×				
17		3	18.3	3	58.6	20.2				/				
18	6	1	17.2	3.7	60.8	20.8				-				
Edit	H Sheet1	Sheet2 Sheet3	/ <b>9</b> /									(0) (0) (0)	LADY (C)	
3	6		0		20					TX-		•	8 a P 4	11:20 PM 8/20/2012

### 4. Clicking OK will give us the option given below:

Slide 11.6: Step 4, showing the matrix inverse output option from function submenu of MS Excel



Select the range of cells where the inverse matrix is to be written as shown above.

5. Pressing F2 followed by Ctrl+Shift+Enter will give us the inverted matrix as given below:

	10-1				-	Chapter 11 [Co	ompatibility Mode	- Microsoft Exce	d it must			-	6	- 0 - X			
	Home	Insert Page Layo	out Formulas	Data Review	View SAS	_								🖌 – 🖉 🗴			
Normal Page Page Break Custom Full Ugout Preview Views Screek Schuber Views Schuber Sc						Q         Image: Construction of the state of the s								Macros			
	J15	• (9	fe {=MINVERSE{I	111:K13)}										¥			
	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	L	J	К	L	м	N			
5		3	14.8	2.8	35.1	18.6			Ch2	0.66885	1						
6	2	1	14.9	2.9	38.3	24.8			Ch3	0.73998	0.77282	1					
7		2	15.8	2.3	38.5	23.6			Ch4	-0.37432	-0.20024	-0.22109	1				
8		3	17.3	3.2	40.2	17.4											
9	3	1	15.1	2.8	48.5	25.2											
10		2	15.2	3.1	45.3	28.8		Y	_ 1	2	3						
11		3	16.3	3.3	45.2	25.6		0.669	1.000	0.773	-0.200						
12	4	1	15.7	2	36.2	29.2		0.740	0.773	1.000	-0.221						
13		2	16.5	2.5	38.1	18.4		-0.374	-0.200	-0.221	1.000						
14		3	17.5	3.1	44.2	24.8		LYJ	L	В	-						
15	5	1	17.6	3.3	46.1	24.8				2.48853	-1.90619	0.07688					
16		2	17.1	3.5	55.3	22.2	-			-1.90619	2.51151	0.17356					
17		3	18.3	3	58.6	20.2				0.07688	0.17356	1.05377					
18	6	1	17.2	3.7	60.8	20.8				B <sup>-1</sup>							
19		2	17.3	3.4	62	20.2				2	1						
20		3	18.5	4.1	59.4	28				/							
21	-								-								
Ready	M Sheet1	1 Sheet2 Sheet	3.0						Average: 0.30	4701287 Count !	9 Sum: 2.74231	1586	140%				
-	6		0		20					tre -		•	1 a P 4	11:28 PM 8/20/2012			

Slide 11.7: Step 4, showing the matrix inverse output total from function submenu of MS Excel

**Step 3**: Multiplication of  $\underline{A}$  and  $\underline{B}^{-1}$  Matrix and Formation Path Coefficient Matrix

1. Go to **Insert** Function submenu and select **MMULT** option as given below:

Home Insert Page Layout Formulas Data Review View SAS	Calculate Now	0 - 5 X
£ 🥿 🗑 🍘 🏠 🍘 🍘 🖓 🖓 🖓 👘	Calculate Now	
JA 4 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	Calculate Sheet	
H16 • ( × ✓ /		\$
A B C D E F Type a brief description of what you want to do and then dick go	L	M N
1 Var No Replication Yield Branch No Test wt Pod/plant or select a gategory: Math & Trog	Ch4	
2 Ch1 Ch2 Ch3 Ch4 Select a functory:		
3 1 1 14.5 1.8 34 27.2 MAX		
4 2 13.8 2.6 32.8 29.2 Machine		
5 3 14.8 2.8 35.1 18.6 Prover	1	
6 2 1 14.9 2.9 38.3 24.8 / HHUAT(array2)		
7 2 15.8 2.3 38.5 23.6 Returns the matrix product of two arrays, an array with the same number of rows as arrays and columns as arrays areas areas areas as arrays and columns as arrays areas as arrays areas areas areas as arrays areas areas as arrays areas areas areas as arrays areas		-
8 3 17.3 3.2 40.2 17.4		
9 3 1 15.1 2.8 48.5 25.2 when the forter		
10 2 15.2 3.1 45.3 28.8		
11 3 16.3 3.3 45.2 25.6 2.48853 -1.90619 0.07688		
12 4 1 15.7 2 36.2 29.2 -1.90619 2.51151 0.17356		
13 2 16.5 2.5 38.1 18.4 0.07688 0.17356 1.05377		
14 3 17.5 3.1 44.2 24.8 R <sup>-1</sup>		
15 5 1 17.6 3.3 46.1 24.8		
16 2 17.1 3.5 55.3 22.2 =		
17 3 18.3 3 58.6 20.2		
R ( + R Sheet) Sheet2 / Sheet3 / 27 / 14	(D) (D) 14	40% (=) U (+)
		4 P 40 11:30 PM
	-	8/20/2012

Slide 11.8: Step 5, showing the matrix multiplication option from Insert Function submenu of MS Excel

•	A	) e	-		and in case	Chapte	er 11 [Compatibility Mode]	Microsoft Excel	)					- 6 ×	
	Home In	sert Page Layout	Formulas	Data Review	View SAS										×
f.x Inser Functi	AutoSum R	ecently Financial Logic Jied Function	al Test Date Time	& Lookup & Math • Reference - & Trig	More Functions *	Name Manager III	Define Name  Use in Formula  Create from Selection  Defined Names	> Trace Preceder Trace Depender Remove Arrow	nts 🖄 Show Fo ents 🕆 Error Che s * 🙆 Evaluate Formula Auditine	reking - Formula Vinde	1	Calculate Now Calculate Sheet			
	MMULT	• (* X 🗸 J.	=MMULT(111	:K13,H7:H9)						/					¥
	А	В	С	D	E		Function Arguments	10	-	/		to be see a see	M	N	Ē,
1	Var No	Replication	Yield	Branch No	Test wt	Pod	MMULT	- Francis		· /2 494		10045176			
2			Ch1	Ch2	Ch3	Q	Агтау	1115K15 2 H75H9		(2.466)	49564711849:0.7	399813183			
3	1	1	14.5	1.8	34	2				= (0.225)	33512462173;0.5	185495310			
4		2	13.8	2.6	32.8	2	Returns the matrix product	of two arrays, an a	rray with the same	number of rows at	array1 and colum	ns as array2.			
5		3	14.8	2.8	35.1	1		Array2 is the colu	e first array of nur mns as Array2 has	rows.	d must have the s	ame number of			
6	2	1	14.9	2.9	38.3	2									
7		2	15.8	2.3	38.5	2	Formula result = 0.225133	512						1	1
8		3	17.3	3.2	40.2	1	Help on this function				OK	Cancel			
9	3	1	15.1	2.8	48.5	25	.2	-0.374	-0.200	-0.221	1.000				
10		2	15.2	3.1	45.3	28	3.8	C Y J	L	В	L				
11		3	16.3	3.3	45.2	25	5.6		2.48853	-1.90619	0.07688				
12	4	1	15.7	2	36.2	29	0.2		-1.90619	2.51151	0.17356				
13		2	16.5	2.5	38.1	18	3.4		0.07688	0.17356	1.05377				
14		3	17.5	3.1	44.2	24	1.8		R-1	]					
15	5	1	17.6	3.3	46.1	24	.8		2	]					
16		2	17.1	3.5	55.3	22	2.2	,H7:H9)						_	
17		3	18.3	3	58.6	20	).2								
Point	H Sheet1	Sheet2 Sheet3	0						•	_		000	1401 (-)	-	Ð
-	6	()	0		N G				100	re -		-	1410	11:31 PM 8/20/2012	

2. Select the ranges of the matrices in order in the specified boxes as shown below:

Slide 11.9: Step 5, showing the matrix multiplication range option from Insert Function submenu of MS Excel

3. Select the range where the product matrix is to be written and click OK.

is, matrix  $\underline{P}$  of the direct effects as shown below in the shaded cells:

4. Then press F2 followed by Ctrl+Shift+Enter. This will give the product of the matrices, that

0	10-0		1	-	Contraction of the local division of the loc	Chapter 11 [	Compatibility Mode]	- Microsoft Excel	)				-	- 0 ×
-	Home Ir	isert Page Layou	t Formulas	Data Review	View SAS									9 ×
10	X Cut	Calibri	- 11 - A ,	. = = =	≫- ∰ Wrap	Text	General	•		3- 3	Σ .	AutoSum *	a	
Paste	Copy	B I U	· · · ·		it it Merg	e & Center -	s - % , %	Conditional	Format Cell	Insert Dele	te Format	Sort &	Find &	
	Clipboard	5	Font	14	Alignment	G	Number	Ta Ta	Styles	Cel	s	Editing	Joeu	
	H14	• (* )	{=MMULT(111:8	13,H7:H9)}										¥
	Α	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L	M	N -
2			Ch1	Ch2	Ch3	Ch4		Ch1	1					
3	1	1	14.5	1.8	34	27.2		Ch2	0.66885	1				
4		2	13.8	2.6	32.8	29.2		Ch3	0.73998	0.77282	1			
5		3	14.8	2.8	35.1	18.6		Ch4	-0.37432	-0.20024	-0.22109	1		
6	2	1	14.9	2.9	38.3	24.8		Y	_ 1	2	3			
7		2	15.8	2.3	38.5	23.6		0.669	1.000	0.773	-0.200			
8		3	17.3	3.2	40.2	17.4		0.740	0.773	1.000	-0.221			
9	3	1	15.1	2.8	48.5	25.2		-0.374	-0.200	-0.221	1.000			8
10		2	15.2	3.1	45.3	28.8		LYJ	L	В	7			
11		3	16.3	3.3	45.2	25.6			2.48853	-1.90619	0.07688			
12	4	1	15.7	2	36.2	29.2			-1.90619	2.51151	0.17356			
13		2	16.5	2.5	38.1	18.4			0.07688	0.17356	1.05377			
14		3	17.5	3.1	44.2	24.8		0.22513	n-1	1				
15	5	1	17.6	3.3	46.1	24.8		0.51855	Ď					
16		2	17.1	3.5	55.3	22.2		-0.2146						
17		3	18.3	3	58.6	20.2		Р						
18	6	1	17.2	3.7	60.8	20.8			S					
	H Sheet1	Sheet2 Sheet3	120/ 1					0	(					
Ready			<b>• •</b>			_			Average: 0.176.	rozs81 Count	Sum: 0.529087	742 0 0 0	140% (-)-	11-33 PM
1	e				2 5							0	1 A P	8/20/2012

Slide11.10: Step 5, showing the matrix multiplication output from Insert Function submenu of MS Excel
#### Step 4: Calculation of Indirect Effects

The indirect effects of different factors are calculated with the help of the following formula:

$$\begin{split} r_{1y} &= p_{y1} + p_{y2}r_{12} + p_{y3}r_{13} = 0.225134 + (0.51855 \times 0.773) + ((-0.2146) \times (-0.2)) \\ &= 0.225134 + 0.4008 + 0.04292, \\ r_{2y} &= p_{y1}r_{12} + p_{y2} + p_{y3}r_{23} = 0.225134 \times 0.773 + 0.51855 + (-0.2146) \times (-0.221) \\ &= 0.174 + 0.51855 + 0.0474, \\ r_{3y} &= p_{y1}r_{13} + p_{y2}r_{23} + p_{y3} = 0.225134 \times (-0.2) + 0.51855 \times (-0.221) - 0.2146 \\ &= -0.045 - 0.11459 - 0.2146. \\ \text{Thus}, \ r_{1y} &= 0.225134 + 0.4008 + 0.04292, \end{split}$$

where 0.4008 and 0.04292 are the indirect effects of  $X_1$  via  $X_2$ , and  $X_3$ , respectively. Similarly, the indirect effects of other variables can also be worked out.

#### Step 5: Calculation of Residual

Residual value is calculated using the above path and correlation coefficients that we have already calculated using the following relationship:

$$R^{2} = 1 - \left[ p_{y1}^{2} + p_{y2}^{2} + p_{y3}^{2} + 2r_{12}p_{y1}p_{y2} + 2r_{13}p_{y1}p_{y3} + 2r_{23}p_{y2}p_{y3} \right] = 0.385.$$

The procedure for the calculation of path analysis at the phenotypic and genotypic levels using SPAR1 has been presented in Example 2.

#### 11.4 Stability Analysis

كالملاستشارات

One of the major tasks before releasing a genotype, or a variety for cultivation, or a technology at a farmers field is to judge its performance under varied situations. Multi-situational, multilocational, or multi-seasonal or all trials are conducted to understand the adaptability and the performance of the genotypes, the varieties, or the technology under different situations. Multi-situational/multilocational/multi-seasonal (environments) trials are conducted to oversee the stability in the performance of the varieties or the genotypes. When the interaction effects between the treatments and the environment is nonsignificant it implies the consistency of the treatment concerned over varied range of environments. But when this interaction becomes significant, then measuring the stability comes into mind, to find out the environment suitable for specific treatments.

Measuring the stability, mostly related to genotypic stabilities, has been worked out taking the environmental indices as the indicator and using the regression technique. Several measures are in literature; among these, Eberhart and Russell (1966) model is mostly used. But the methods of Yates and Cochran (1938), Comstock and Robinson (1952), Wricke (1962), Perkins and Jinks (1968), Freeman and Perkins (1971), etc., are also found to have been used. For details of these studies, readers may consult *Agriculture and Applied Statistics II* by Sahu and Das (2009). However, here we shall discuss Eberhart and Russell (1966) model.

#### 11.4.1 Eberhart and Russell Model

According to this method,



 $Y_{ij} = \mu_i + \beta_i E_j + \delta_{ij}; i = 1, 2, \dots, t$  genotypes and  $j = 1, 2, \dots, l$  situations or locations,

where  $Y_{ij}$  = mean of *i*th genotype in *j*th situations,

 $\mu_i$  = mean of the *i*th genotype over all the situation,

- $\beta_i$  = regression coefficient *i*th genotype on the environmental indices,
- $E_i$  = Environmental index for *j*th situation,
- $\delta_{ij}$  = Deviation of the regression of *i*th genotype on the environmental indices.

The environmental index is defined as

$$E_j = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{t} Y_{ij}}{t} - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{t} \sum_{j=1}^{l} Y_{ij}}{t_l} \text{ for } \sum_{j=1}^{l} E_j = 0.$$

The environmental index is an index to measure the capabilities of different environments under the given condition. In Eberhart and Russell model, there are two stability parameters, namely, (1) *the regression coefficient* and (2) *the mean squared deviation from the regression*.

1. The regression coefficient  $(\beta_i)$  is the regression of the performance of each genotype under different environments on environmental average over all the genotypes. This model considers  $b_i$  as a measure of responsiveness, and accordingly a genotype having the regression coefficient unity (i.e.,  $b_i = 1$ ) is averagely responsive. A regression coefficient less than unity means that the genotype is less responsive to environmental factors like nutrient status, soil status, and plant situation. On the other hand, the regression coefficient greater than unity for a genotype indicates high responsiveness of the genotype towards environmental factors. This type of genotypes generally performs well under rich environmental conditions. On the other hand, the other groups of genotype for which b < 1are suitable for poor environmental conditions.

2. The mean square deviation  $(\bar{S}_{d_i}^2)$  from the regression is given as

$$\bar{S}_{d_i}^2 = rac{\sum\limits_{j=1}^l \delta_{ij}^2}{(l-2)} - rac{S_{\rm e}^2}{r},$$

where

$$\sum_{j=1}^{1} \delta_{ij}^{2} = \left[\sum_{j=1}^{1} Y_{ij}^{2} - \frac{Y_{i.}^{2}}{t}\right] - \frac{\left(\sum_{j=1}^{1} Y_{ij}E_{j}\right)^{2}}{\sum_{j=1}^{1} E_{j}^{2}}$$

and  $S_e^2$  is the estimate of a pooled error.

A stable genotype is one which has  $\bar{S}_{d_i}^2 = 0$ . Thus, when the null hypothesis  $H_0: S_{d_i}^2 = 0$  is accepted, then the genotype is stable, and when the null hypothesis is rejected, then it is less stable. Actually, while testing the above null hypothesis,  $\delta_{ij}^2$  is compared against  $S_e^2$  through *F*-test.

Thus, using both stability parameters, it can be concluded that for a genotype to be stable, the regression coefficient should be in unity with the mean square deviation  $(\bar{S}_{d_i}^2)$  not significantly different from zero. Genotype means are also considered while selecting the best stable suitable genotype (Table 11.3).



Sl No.	Means	Regression coefficient (l	$b_i$ ) $S_{d_i}^2$	Inference		
1	$\bar{g}_i > \bar{y}$	$b_i = 1$	Nonsignificant	Widely adap	ted stable genotype	
2	$\bar{g}_i < \bar{y}$	Do	Do	Stable genot	ype adapted for poor e	environment
3	$\bar{g}_i > \bar{y}$	$b_i > 1$	Do	Above-avera environment	ige stable genotype ad	apted for rich
4	$\bar{g}_i > \bar{y}$	$b_i < 1$	Do	Below-avera environment	ge stable genotypes su	itable for poor
5	$\bar{g}_i > \bar{y}$	$b_i < 1$	Significant	Unstable ger	notype	
			Location			
Variety		Rep	E1	E2	E3	E4
V1		R1	88.59	21.24	92.84	98.96
		R2	100.84	35.53	94.88	101.00
		R3	94.71	47.78	92.84	101.00
V2		R1	98.80	62.06	96.92	98.96
		R2	84.51	68.18	96.92	101.00
		R3	70.22	94.71	94.88	101.00
V3		R1	82.47	45.73	90.80	101.00
		R2	35.53	11.04	86.71	84.67
		R3	86.55	53.90	90.80	98.96
V4		R1	98.80	88.59	96.92	98.96
		R2	51.86	49.82	90.80	92.84
		R3	80.43	88.59	96.92	101.00
V5		R1	31.45	14.10	88.76	92.84
		R2	25.33	15.12	94.88	68.35
		R3	23.29	13.08	86.71	80.59
V6		R1	21.24	9.50	86.71	86.71
		R2	15.12	11.04	96.92	68.35
		R3	15.12	9.50	82.63	82.63
V7		R1	55.94	15.12	96.92	94.88
		R2	45.73	47.78	80.59	98.96
		R3	47.78	60.02	94.88	76.51
V8		R1	72.27	23.29	96.92	84.67
		R2	62.06	13.08	94.88	92.84
		R3	74.31	31.45	94.88	84.67

Table 11.3 Inference drawn under different situation with respect to stability

*Example 11.5.* The following table gives the yield (q/ha) for eight varieties of wheat tested in four locations to study the yield stability of the varieties. Analyze the data, and using Eberhart–Russell model, find out the best stable variety.

The following is the analysis as per Eberhart–Russell model using the statistical software SPAR1: *Environment wise analysis* 

ENVIRNOMENT NO 1 ANOVA FOR TREATMENTS



(continued)

 TREATMENT MEANS

 94.71
 84.51
 68.18
 77.03
 26.69
 17.16
 49.82
 69.55

S.E. OF DIFF. OF TWO MEANS 0.10641630E+02

#### ENVIRNOMENT NO 2 ANOVA FOR TREATMENTS

ANOVA TABLE SOURCE D.F. SUM OF SQUARES MEAN SUM OF SQ F-VALUE REPL 2. 0.15325399E+04 0.76626993E+03 0.39569090E+01 TREAT 7. 0.13179994E+05 0.18828562E+04 0.97228030E+01 EROR 14. 0.27111510E+04 0.19365365E+03 TREATMENT MEANS 34.85 74.98 36.89 75.67 14.10 10.01 40.97 22.61

S.E. OF DIFF. OF TWO MEANS 0.11362320E+02

ENVIRNOMENT NO 3 ANOVA FOR TREATMENTS

#### ANOVA TABLE

 SOURCE D.F. SUM OF SQUARES MEAN SUM OF SQ F-VALUE

 REPL
 2. 0.10769658E+02 0.53848290E+01 0.22402580E+00

 TREAT
 7. 0.18601248E+03 0.26573212E+02 0.11055290E+01

 EROR
 14. 0.33651308E+03 0.24036649E+02

TREATMENT MEANS 93.52 96.24 89.44 94.88 90.12 88.75 90.80 95.56

S.E. OF DIFF. OF TWO MEANS 0.40030530E+01

ENVIRNOMENT NO 4 ANOVA FOR TREATMENTS

ANOVA TABLE

 SOURCE D.F. SUM OF SQUARES MEAN SUM OF SQ F-VALUE

 REPL
 2. 0.15303976E+03
 0.76519880E+02
 0.12410260E+01

 TREAT
 7. 0.14765731E+04
 0.21093901E+03
 0.34210830E+01

 EROR
 14. 0.86321969E+03
 0.61658549E+02

TREATMENT MEANS 100.32 100.32 94.88 97.60 80.59 79.23 90.12 87.39

S.E. OF DIFF. OF TWO MEANS 0.64113730E+01

#### STABILITY ANALYSIS FOLLOWING EBERHART AND RUSSELLS MODEL

ANOVA TABLE FOR STABILITY SOURCE D.F. SUM OF SQUARES MEAN SUM OF SQ F-VALUE

VARIETIES	7 0.59732702E+04 0.85332431E+03 0.41973140E+01
ENVIRONMENTS	3 0.16088347E+05 0.53627825E+04 0.26378340E+02
VARIETYXENVIRONMENT	21 0.42693522E+04 0.20330249E+03 0.18102900E+01
TOTAL	31 0.26330970E+05

(continued)

(continued)					
POOLED ERROR	56 0	0.62890135E+04	0.11230381E+03		
ENV+(VAR.*ENV.)	24 0	0.20357700E+05	0.84823748E+03		
ENVRON(LINEAR)	1 0	0.16088356E+05	0.16088356E+05	0.13016560E+03	
VARXENVRON(LINEAR)	70	0.22917573E+04	0.32739391E+03	0.26488360E+01	
POOLED DEVIATION	16 0	).19775868E+04	0.12359918E+03	0.33017360E+01	
POOLED ERROR MSS FOR	TESTIN	G POOLED DE	VIATION MSS=	0.37434604E+02	
ENV(LIN) AND VARXENV	(LIN) AF	RE TESTED AG	AINST POOLED	DEVIATION	

		VAR. OF	REG COEF	S(DELTA).	MEAN SQ
VAR	MEAN	MEAN	(B)	SQR	DEV(SD)
1	80.85	2847.80	1.00	837.95	381.54
2	89.01	397.18	0.44	10.45	-32.21
3	72.35	2074.18	1.00	68.48	-3.20
4	86.29	400.31	0.42	41.80	-16.53
5	52.88	4344.40	1.43	238.88	82.01
6	48.79	5027.75	1.51	427.24	176.19
7	67.93	2069.89	0.99	98.41	11.77
8	68.78	3196.19	1.21	254.37	89.75
POP MEA	N = 70.859 S.E.(M	(EAN) = 0.64187010	E+01		
MEAN OF	B = 1.0000 S.E. C	DF B = $0.24791170E$	+00		

Upon the validity of the null hypotheses w.r.t.  $b_i$  and  $\vec{S}_{d_i}^2$ , we can have the following conclusion:

$V_i - \overline{V}$	Regression coefficient $(b_i)$	Inference
9.991	1.00	Widely adapted stable genotype
18.151	0.44	Stable genotype less sensitive to environmental variation
1.491	1.00	Widely adapted stable genotype
15.431	0.42	Below-average stable genotype suitable for poor environment
-17.979	1.43	Below-average stable genotype suitable for rich environment
-22.069	1.51	Below-average stable genotype suitable for rich environment
-2.929	0.99	Below-average stable genotype
-2.079	1.21	Below-average stable genotype suitable for rich environment
	$\begin{array}{c} V_i - \overline{V} \\ 9.991 \\ 18.151 \\ 1.491 \\ 15.431 \\ -17.979 \\ -22.069 \\ -2.929 \\ -2.079 \end{array}$	$V_i - \overline{V}$ Regression coefficient $(b_i)$ 9.991         1.00           18.151         0.44           1.491         1.00           15.431         0.42           -17.979         1.43           -22.069         1.51           -2.929         0.99           -2.079         1.21

#### 11.5 Sustainability

Sustainability is an idea which has been defined by various authors with varied perspectives and objectivities. In this section, by sustainability, we mean persistence and the capacity of something to continue over a long period of time without damaging or degrading the natural resources. By sustainable agriculture, we mean integration of three main objectives: (1) *maintaining environmental health*, (2) *ensuring economic profitability*, *and* (3) *social and economic equity*. Sustenance of crop husbandry and cropping system, and farm management are essential criteria for food security in the long run. The measurement of



sustainability of the production of a crop or a particular cropping or management system is essential for future food security. Quite a few studies have been attempted to measure the sustainability and thereby compare the different competitive methods or processes in agriculture. Some of the works to mention, though not exhaustive, are of Soni et al. (1988), Narayan et al. (1990), Singh (1990), Katyal et al. (1998, 2000), Gangwar et al. (2003), Sahu et al. (2005), and Pal and Sahu (2007), etc. To frame a measure for sustainability, well-planned long-term experiments of different crops, cropping systems, or farming systems under a given situation are very useful. But such planned experiments for a long period of time are very rare in literature except a few like the long-term experiments conceived and continued in Rothamsted Experimental Station, UK. In India, experiments have been started during the late 1980s of the twentieth century to study the long-term behavior of crop, cropping system, nutrient management system, etc. Let us discuss some of the indices of yield sustainability under the above long-term setup.

Let us suppose that we have an experiment conducted with i treatments for j consecutive years on the same crop/cropping system. Then we have the yield sustainability indices:

Sustainability index SI(1) = 
$$\frac{\bar{y} - s}{y_{max}}$$
 (Singh et al. 1990),

where

للاستشارات

 $\bar{y}$ , s,  $y_{max}$  are the average, standard deviation and maximum yield respective

of a particular crop/cropping sequence or nutrient treatment over a period of time.

The higher the value of the index, the higher the sustainability status but with no definite range:

> Sustainability index SI(2) =  $\left|\frac{1}{b_i}\right|$ , where  $b_i$  is the regression coefficient in  $y_{ij}$ =  $a + b_i \bar{y}_j$ , (ICARDA 1994)

where  $y_{ij}$  is the yield corresponding to the *i*th treatment in the *j*th time period, and  $(\bar{y}_j)$  is the overall mean yield for the *j*th time period. According to this method, the higher the  $b_i$  value, the lower the sustainability and vice versa. In this method also, the sustainability index does not have any limit.

In an attempt to improve the above measure of ICARDA (1994) and Katyal et al. (2000) introduced a time coefficient in the above regression. Thus, the regression takes the shape of  $y_{ij} = a + b_i t + c_i \bar{y}_j$  and is the time period (Katyal et al. 2000).

According to this method sustainability index is given as

Sustainability index SI(3) =  $\left|\frac{1}{c_i}\right|$ , where  $c_i$  is the regression coefficient in  $\bar{y}_j$ 

The decision rule is similar to that of index 2.

www.m

The following two sustainability indices are by Pal and Sahu (2007):

Sustainability index SI(4) =  $\left|\frac{1}{b'_i}\right|$  where  $b'_i$  is the regression coefficient in  $y_{ij} = a + b'_i \bar{y}'_j$  and where  $\bar{y}'_j$  is the average yield for *j*th year excluding the yield for *i*th treatment in the particular year, Sustainability index SI(5) =  $\left|\frac{1}{c'_i}\right|$  where  $c'_i$  is the regression coefficient in  $y_{ij} = a + b'_i t + c'_i \bar{y}'_j$  and where  $\bar{y}'_j$  is the average yield for *j*th year excluding the yield for *i*th treatment in the particular year.

These two measures also do not have limits for sustainability. Another serious objection to all these four measures is the assumption of linearity of the regression. If the linearity of the regression is not valid, then the above measures will be put under question.

Sahu et al. (2005) proposed the sustainability index based on the average performance and the highest ever performance during the period of investigation with the help of the following formula: In this measure, sustainability has been visualized as the minimum deviation of the average performance over the highest ever achieved performance during the period of investigation. As such, the lower the value of the index, the higher the sustainability.

In addition to the above, Pal and Sahu (2007) proposed the following indices to measure sustainability which do not require any assumption of linearity:

Sustainability index SI(6) = 
$$\frac{Y_{\text{max}} - \bar{Y}}{\bar{Y}}$$
.

Sustainability index SI(7) = 
$$\frac{s_i}{\overline{y}_i \times s_{\max}}$$
,

where

 $s_i$  is the standard deviation of *i*th treatment over the entire period,

 $\bar{y}_i$  is the average of *i*th treatment over the entire period,

 $s_{\text{max}}$  is the maximum value of the standard deviation of all the treatments;

Sustainability index SI(8) = 
$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{j} \left[ \frac{|y_{ij} - y_{max}|}{\bar{y}_i} \right]$$

where

 $\bar{y}_i$  is the average of *i*th treatment over the entire time period,

 $y_{\text{max}}$  is the maximum value of the *i*th treatment over the time period;

Sustainability index SI(9) = 
$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{j} \left[ \frac{|y_{ij} - y_{med}|}{\bar{y}_i} \right]$$

where

 $\bar{y}_i$  is the average of *i*th treatment over the entire time period,

 $y_{med}$  is the median value of the *i*th treatment over the time period;

Sustainability index SI(10) = 
$$\frac{1}{n_{c_2}} \sum_{j} \sum_{j',j < j'} \left[ \frac{|y_{ij} - y'_{ij}|}{y_{i \max}} \right]$$

where

n is the number of time periods,

 $y_{ij}$  and  $y'_{ij}$  are the value of the *i*th treatment in *j*th and *j*'th year, respectively,

 $y_{i \max}$  is the maximum value of the *i*th treatment over the time period.

In all the last five measures, the lower the value of the sustainability index, the higher the sustainability.

nutrient treatments conducted over 17 years. Using the measures of sustainability, find out the most sustainable treatment in terms of yield. Also find out whether or not the most sustainable treatment is the best treatment.

*Example 11.6.* The following table gives the yield of wheat (q/ha) in response to five different

Obs.	T1	T2	T3	T4	T5
1	65.00	63.10	68.50	72.10	82.60
2	66.20	65.80	67.60	75.60	83.60
3	65.95	67.60	71.20	74.30	84.90
4	64.00	68.10	68.90	75.50	84.10
5	64.60	72.10	69.00	74.80	83.60
6	63.50	69.93	69.70	78.20	87.53
7	61.20	65.10	67.50	76.30	87.80
8	60.20	60.70	69.50	73.70	86.90
9	60.10	59.30	68.80	72.20	89.50
10	63.00	62.70	70.50	74.10	87.20
11	63.00	61.90	71.20	73.90	88.30
12	65.10	66.30	74.60	77.80	85.20
13	66.20	69.20	75.40	79.30	85.30
14	67.40	71.80	76.20	80.60	86.40
15	66.20	73.40	85.40	82.30	83.70
16	65.90	72.60	75.90	81.30	87.10
17	68.37	69.59	73.37	78.92	85.45

**Solution.** First, the average, the maximum, the median, and the standard deviation from the given data set for each treatment are worked out separately. Using the method of regression discussed earlier in Chap. 8 of this book, the

regression coefficients for measures 2, 3, 4, and 5 are worked out. The regression coefficients according to measures 2, 3, 4, and 5 are  $b_i$ ,  $c_i$ ,  $b'_i$ , and  $c'_i$ , respectively.

Obs.	T1	T2	Т3	T4	T5
1	65.00	63.10	68.50	72.10	82.60
2	66.20	65.80	67.60	75.60	83.60
3	65.95	67.60	71.20	74.30	84.90
4	64.00	68.10	68.90	75.50	84.10
5	64.60	72.10	69.00	74.80	83.60
6	63.50	69.93	69.70	78.20	87.53
7	61.20	65.10	67.50	76.30	87.80
8	60.20	60.70	69.50	73.70	86.90
9	60.10	59.30	68.80	72.20	89.50
10	63.00	62.70	70.50	74.10	87.20
11	63.00	61.90	71.20	73.90	88.30
12	65.10	66.30	74.60	77.80	85.20
13	66.20	69.20	75.40	79.30	85.30
14	67.40	71.80	76.20	80.60	86.40
15	66.20	73.40	85.40	82.30	83.70
16	65.90	72.60	75.90	81.30	87.10
17	68.37	69.59	73.37	78.92	85.45
Average	64.47	67.01	71.96	76.52	85.83
SD	2.39	4.38	4.53	3.16	1.95
Ymax	68.37	73.40	85.40	82.30	89.50
Median	65.00	67.60	70.50	75.60	85.45
$\overline{b_i}$	0.703	1.574	1.625	1.247	-0.150
$\overline{b_i'}$	0.539	1.477	1.52	1.28	-0.205
c	0.953	2.209	1.316	1.185	-0.664
<i>c</i> ′	0.714	2.576	0.906	1.153	-0.543

Using the above quantities, that is, average, median, standard deviation, maximum, and regression coefficients, sustainability indices for different treatments as per the formula discussed above are worked out and presented in the following table: From the above table, it is found that except for SI 7, treatment five is by far the most sustainable treatment. On examination, it is also revealed that treatment five has produced the highest average yield (85.45 q/ha) over the period of experimentation. Hence, treatment five is not only the most sustainable treatment but also the best treatment.

Sustainability		Treatme	nt			
index	Inference	<b>T</b> <sub>1</sub>	$T_2$	T <sub>3</sub>	$T_4$	T <sub>5</sub>
SI(1)	The higher the SI value, the higher the sustainability	0.908	0.853	0.790	0.891	0.937
SI(2)	Do	1.422	0.635	0.615	0.802	6.667
SI(3)	Do	1.049	0.453	0.760	0.844	1.506
SI(4)	Do	1.855	0.677	0.658	0.781	4.878
SI(5)	Do	1.401	0.388	1.104	0.867	1.842
SI(6)	The lower the SI value, the higher the sustainability	0.061	0.095	0.187	0.075	0.043
SI(7)	Do	0.008	0.014	0.014	0.013	0.012
SI(8)	Do	0.061	0.095	0.187	0.075	0.043
SI(9)	Do	0.029	0.054	0.044	0.034	0.019
SI(10)	Do	0.040	0.071	0.055	0.045	0.026

Bold faces indicate the most sustainable treatment according to the particular measure



## **Multivariate Analysis**

# 12

Analysis of information, resulting from different research programs, particularly the statistical procedures, may broadly be classified into univariate analysis and multivariate analysis. In univariate analyses, we consider one variable at a time contrary to the varied number of variables in multivariate analyses. The simplest case of multivariate analysis is the bivariate analysis, in which two variables are considered together. The variables that we consider in agriculture, economics, anthropology, sociology, psychology, management, etc., tend to move together, and as such multivariate analysis is more useful. Univariate analysis throws light on one character only, but to explain the relationship, interdependence, and relative importance of different variables, multivariate analyses would be more appropriate.

Let us take the example of analysis of innovation index which is associated with a number of parameters like age, gender, education, economic background, and society. These components are not independent of each other; rather these are correlated, interdependent to each other; these have varied importance towards ultimate innovation index. Univariate analysis can throw light separately on each of the character, but to analyze the system as a whole taking due consideration of their interdependence, relationships, importance, etc., multivariate analysis is the more acceptable option. Several examples in other disciplines like agriculture, business, economics, management, and medical science can also be put forward where multivariate analysis can effectively be used.

Multivariate analyses are more complicated, as they take care of the system as a whole, having a number of variables at a time, and consider their interdependence, relationships, importance, etc. But with the advent of computer technology and statistical software, the use of multivariate technique has become user-friendly and is gaining momentum day by day. The area and coverage of multivariate analysis is a huge one, and it is not possible to include all these here. In this book, an attempt will be made to provide an outline of some of the multivariate techniques which can be used in different agriculture and allied fields. The details of analytical/statistical steps for calculation are also avoided; emphasis will be provided to place different multivariate statistical tools using different statistical software to solve different problems. Useful references are provided for interested readers.

### 12.1 Classification of Multivariate Analysis

According to different authors, multivariate analysis may be classified into two broad groups: (a) *dependence method* and (b) *interdependence method*. In the dependence method of analysis, relationships of some dependent variables are worked out with the independent variables, but in the second method, interrelations among themselves are considered. The examples of first group of analysis are regression analysis, multiple discriminant analysis, multivariate

325

analysis of variance, canonical analysis, etc., while the other group consists of factor analysis, cluster analysis, etc.

#### 12.2 Regression Analysis

The main task of the researcher is to work out the actual relationship between or among the variables under study. In agricultural and other experiments, mainly three types of variables are recoded: (a) the treatments or factors such as variety, insecticide, doses or type of fertilizers, different chemical treatments, and different management practices; (b) environmental parameters like rainfall, temperature, humidity, sunshine hours, and wind speed; and (c) various responses in the form of different growth and yield parameters, qualitative changes, etc. Regression analysis is one of the most important statistical tools used in this endeavor. Regression analysis is a technique by virtue of which one can study the relationship of the ultimate variables, say, adoption index, awareness, empowerment status, etc., within different fields of studies (different demographic, social, economical, educational, and other parameters).

In regression analysis, the dependent variable (Y) is the function of one or more independent variables (X's) and the error term (u's), which can be represented in the form of  $Y = f(X_i, u_i)$ . Let us suppose that Y depends on k other variates which are denoted by  $X_1, X_2, \ldots X_k$ . These need not be independent. The usual problem is to find the best linear predicting equation for Y of the form  $Y_c = b_0 + b_1X_1 + b_2X_2 + b_3X_3 + \cdots + b_kX_k$  for the true regression equation in the population  $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1x_1 + \beta_2x_2 + \cdots + \beta_kx_k$ . We present here three methods of getting such relationships below. Readers are free to select any one of these as per the convenience:

1. Now, using the procedure adopted (Chap. 8) for calculation of simple correlation coefficients among the variables, one can have the following correlation matrix for the variables involved in the regression analysis:

$$\Re = \begin{bmatrix} r_{00} & r_{01} & r_{02} & r_{0j} & \dots & r_{0k} \\ r_{10} & r_{11} & r_{12} & r_{1j} & \dots & r_{1k} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ r_{k0} & r_{k1} & r_{k2} & r_{kj} & \dots & r_{kk} \end{bmatrix}$$

where  $r_{01}$ ,  $r_{02}$ ...,  $r_{kj}$ 's are the correlation between Y and  $X_1$ , Y and  $X_2$ ...  $X_K$  and  $X_J$  and the diagonal elements are 1. If we denote R for the corresponding determinant and  $R_{ij}$  for the cofactor of  $r_{ij}$  element in  $\Re$ , then one can have

$$b_j = \frac{s_0}{s_j} (-1)^{j-1} \times (-1)^{j+2} \cdot \frac{R_{0j}}{R_{00}}$$
  
=  $-\frac{s_0}{s_j} \cdot \frac{R_{0j}}{R_{00}}; \ j = 1, 2, \dots k \text{ and } S_0 \text{ and } S_j \text{ are}$ 

the standard deviations of Y and  $X_i$ , respectively,

and

$$b_0 = ar{Y} - \sum_{j=1}^n b_j ar{X_j} = ar{Y} + \sum_{j=1}^k rac{s_0}{s_j} \cdot rac{R_{0j}}{R_{00}} ar{X_j}$$

Thus, multiple regression equation of y on  $X_1$ ,  $X_2, \ldots X_k$  becomes

$$y_{c} = \bar{y} - \frac{s_{0}}{s_{1}} \cdot \frac{R_{01}}{R_{00}} (X_{1} - \bar{X}_{1}) - \frac{s_{0}}{s_{2}} \cdot \frac{R_{02}}{R_{00}} (X_{2} - \bar{X}_{2})$$
$$- \dots - \frac{s_{0}}{s_{k}} \cdot \frac{R_{0k}}{R_{00}} (X_{k} - \bar{X}_{k}).$$

The coefficient  $b_j$  is known as partial regression coefficient of Y on  $X_j$  for fixed  $X_1, X_2, \ldots X_{j-1}, X_{j+1}, \ldots X_k$  and is written in the form  $b_{yj.12...(j-1)(j+1)...k} = b_{0j.12...(j-1)(j+1)...}$  $k = -\frac{s_0}{s_j} \frac{R_{0j}}{R_{00}}.$ 

2. The objective is to find out the relationship of the form  $Y_i = \beta_1 X_{1i} + \beta_2 X_{2i} + \beta_1 X_{3i} + \cdots + \beta_k X_{ki} + u_i$ .

For *n* number of observations, the regression equation can be written as:

 $1 \quad Y_1 = \beta_1 X_{11} + \beta_2 X_{21} + \beta_3 X_{31} + \beta_4 X_{41} + \dots + \beta_k X k_1 + u_1$   $2 \quad Y_2 = \beta_1 X_{12} + \beta_2 X_{22} + \beta_3 X_{32} + \beta_4 X_{42} + \dots + \beta_k X k_2 + u_2$   $3 \quad Y_3 = \beta_1 X_{13} + \beta_2 X_{23} + \beta_3 X_{33} + \beta_4 X_{43} + \dots + \beta_k X k_3 + u_3$ .

$$n \quad Y_n = \beta_1 X_{1n} + \beta_2 X_{2n} + \beta_3 X_{3n} + \beta_4 X_{4n} + \dots + \beta_k X_{kn} + u_n$$

$$\Rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} Y_{1} \\ Y_{2} \\ Y_{n} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} X_{11} \ X_{21} \ X_{31} \ X_{41} \dots \ X_{k1} \\ X_{12} \ X_{22} \ X_{32} \ X_{42} \dots \ X_{k2} \\ X_{1n} \ X_{2n} \ X_{3n} \ X_{4n} \dots \ X_{kn} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{1} \\ \beta_{2} \\ \beta_{k} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u_{1} \\ u_{2} \\ u_{n} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\frac{n \times 1}{n \times k} \qquad \frac{n \times k}{k \times 1} \qquad \frac{n \times 1}{n \times 1}$$

In matrix notation, the above equations can be written as

 $Y = X\beta + \mu$  with  $E(Y) = X\beta$ ,  $E(\mu) = 0$ and  $E(\mu\mu') = \sigma^2 I$ , where I is an  $n \times n$  unit matrix.

Our objective will be to minimize L = u'u.

Let 
$$L = \underline{u}'\underline{u} = (\underline{Y} - \underline{X}\underline{\beta})' (\underline{Y} - \underline{X}\underline{\beta})'$$
  
=  $\underline{Y}'\underline{Y} - 2 \ \underline{\beta}'\underline{X}'\underline{Y} + \underline{\beta}'\underline{X}'\underline{X}\underline{\beta}.$ 

Let  $\underline{b}$  be the least square estimators of  $\underline{\beta}$ . Then using the procedure of ordinary least square,

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \beta} = 0, \text{ and writing } \underline{b} \text{ for } \beta, \text{ we have}$$

$$2\underline{X}'\underline{Y} - 2\underline{X}'\underline{X}\underline{b}$$
or  $\underline{X}'\underline{X}\underline{b} = \underline{X}'\underline{Y},$ 
or  $\underline{b} = \left(\underline{X}'\underline{X}\right)^{-1}\underline{X}'\underline{Y},$ 
provided  $\left(\underline{X}'\underline{X}\right)^{-1}$  exists.

Once after getting the *b* for a given set of observations, one can have the multiple regression equation  $y = b_1x_1 + b_2x_2 + \cdots + b_kx_k$ , the sample regression equation.

3. Most probably the simplest way of getting the above multiple regression equation is the use of data analysis module of MS Excel software of MS Office mostly available in computers. In this method, one need not to go into details about the steps of calculations; rather, one can

have the relationship for the research data using the above package. In example one, the same has been demonstrated using MS Excel as well as SPSS software.

#### 12.3 Multiple Correlation

Multiple correlation of y with  $x_1, x_2, \ldots x_k$  is nothing but the simple correlation coefficient between the observed y and the predicted  $y_c$ . Thus, multiple correlation coefficient is given as

$$R_{y.12...k} = \frac{\operatorname{cov}(y, y_c)}{\sqrt{V(y)}\sqrt{V(y_c)}} \therefore R_{0.12...k}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{V(y_c)}{V(y)}}; R_{0.12...k} = \left(1 - \frac{R}{R_{00}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

We have

TSS 
$$(y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \bar{y})^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - y_{ic} + y_{ic} - \bar{y})^2,$$
  
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - y_{ic})^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{ic} - \bar{y})^2$$
$$= \text{RSS} + R_g \text{SS},$$

where  $y_i$  and  $y_{ic}$  are the observed and expected values of *Y* for *i*th observation, respectively,

$$\therefore \text{ TSS} = \text{RSS} + R_{g}\text{SS} \Rightarrow \frac{\text{TSS}}{\text{TSS}} = \frac{\text{RSS}}{\text{TSS}} + \frac{R_{g}\text{SS}}{\text{TSS}}$$
$$\Rightarrow 1 = \frac{\text{RSS}}{\text{TSS}} + R^{2} \Rightarrow 1 - \frac{\text{RSS}}{\text{TSS}} = R^{2}.$$

Clearly, from the above,  $0 \le R^2 \le 1$ 

 $R^2$  indicates the proportion of variation of the dependent variable explained by the line of multiple regression.

We shall demonstrate the process of getting regression equation using MS Excel software of MS Office taking the following example:

*Example 12.1.* The following table gives the information on ten varieties of mulberry. Find out the regression equation of leaf yield on other yield attributing characters.

Leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> ): $X_1$	94.61	42.3	98.15	72.61	174.45	115.62	78.41	133.74	112.94	148.28
Total shoot length (cm): $X_2$	525.56	345	711.11	307.56	529.44	631.67	526.67	442.22	482.33	422.78
Leaf moisture $(\%)$ : $X_3$	79.35	58.41	73.67	74.6	81.21	82.83	78.66	80.76	80.66	78.26
Leaf yield/plant (g): Y	255.56	97.78	237.78	161.11	263.33	237.78	217.78	224.44	228.89	190.00

0	J 19 - 0 - 0	-			a hard a second	Chapter 12 -	Microsoft Excel	and indi					- 0	×
	Home Insert	Page Layout Fo	ormulas Data	Review View	SAS								<u>0</u> - 0	e x
Get Ex Dat	ternal a - Existing Connections Set External Data	Refresh All - Edit Links Connections	ions 24 2X x X4 Sort F Sort	K Clear Reapply ther Advanced	Text to Remov Columns Duplica	e Data tes Validation - Data Tool	Consolidate Whi Analy	t-# sis*	Ungroup Subtotal Outline	약품 Show Detail "중 Hide Detail	Data Analysis Analysis			
	F13 •	(* fx												¥
	А	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	К	L	M	-
	Leaf area	Total Shoot	Leaf	Leaf yield /		- 1	Data Analysis			2				
7	(cm <sup>2</sup> )	length (cm)	moisture	Plant (g)			Analysis Tools			OK				
8	X1	X2	X3	Y	1		Exponential Smo F-Test Two-Sam Envier Analysis	othing ple for Variances		Cancel				
9	94.61	525.56	79.35	255.56			Histogram Moving Average			Help				
10	42.30	345.00	58.41	97.78			Random Number Rank and Percer	Generation						
11	98.15	98.15 711.11 73.67 237		237.78		Samping Samping								
12	72.61	307.56	74.60	161.11			Letesu Pareu II	to sample to mea	8.0					
13	174.45	529.44	81.21	263.33					(		-			
14	115.62	631.67	82.83	237.78										
15	78.41	526.67	78.66	217.78										
16	133.74	442.22	80.76	224.44										
17	112.94	482.33	80.66	228.89										
18	148.28	422.78	78.26	190.00										
19														_
20														-11
21														-0
22 H 4 b H Shant1 (Shant2 (Shant2 (9))														1
Ready	Shield y shield										00	140%	<b>ə</b> (	۲
-	e 📋			¥#		-		1.00	-	-	Same 1	- 8 -	10 7:01 AN	12

Slide 12.1: Step 1, showing data structure and selection of Regression submenu from Data Analysis menu in MS Excel

0	39-0	).=	- 10 mm		-	Chapte	er 12 [Compati	bility Mode] - Mic	rosoft Excel					- 0	×
	Home In	sert Page Lay	out Formula	s Data Re	view View	SAS									- = ×
Get Ex Dat	ternal Existin a * Connect Set External Data	g Refresh All -	Connections Properties Edit Links nections	24 2 X X Sort Filte Sort & (cm2)	F & Clear & Reapply & Advanced Filter	Text to Re Columns Dup	move Data licates Validati Data 1	ools	What at Gri	pup Ungroup Sut Outli	9∄ Show Detail 1993 Hide Detail ne	Analysis			
1	Δ	B	C	D	F	F	G	н	1	1	ĸ	1	M	N	Ċ
1	Leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	Total Shoot length (cm)	Leaf moisture (%)	Leaf yield / Plant (g)	Regres: Input Inpu	ion t⊻Range: t⊻Range:	5042 5442	150512 <b>(%)</b> 150512 <b>(%)</b>	OK Cance Help		K	L		N	
2	X1	X2	X3	Y		abels Confidence Levels	Constan	t is Zero							
3	94.61	525.56	79.35	255.56	0.th	t options	-								
4	42.30	345.00	58.41	97.78		utput Range:	\$F\$2	1							
5	98.15	711.11	73.67	237.78	01	iew Worksheet By	r: 🔼								-1
6	72.61	307.56	74.60	161.11	Resi	iew <u>W</u> orkbook duais									
7	174.45	529.44	81.21	263.33		esiduals tandardized Resid		Residual Plots							
8	115.62	631.67	82.83	237.78	Nor	al Probability		-							
9	78.41	526.67	78.66	217.78	0	jormal Probability P	Plots								
10	133.74	442.22	80.76	224.44											
11	112.94	482.33	80.66	228.89	_					-					
12	148.28	422.78	78.26	190.00											
13															
14															-
Enter	H Sheet1	Sheet2 Shee	H3 . 😏						1.0			1		5	
0	e	I	I 🧔		1000	-	-	-	5		Sec.		· • •	- 40 80 10/	01 PM /6/2012

Slide 12.2: Step 2, showing data structure and selection of data range and other options in Regression submenu from Data Analysis menu of MS Excel

C	13.7-0					1000		hapter 12 - M	Aicrosoft Exc	et ]	-						-	×
	Home 1	nsert Page La	yout Formula	i Data R	leview Vie	rw SAS											<u>.</u> -	. = x
Pa	te Cut	Calibri B Z	- 11 - ( U - 🖽 - 💁 Font	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{A}^* \mathbf{x}^* & = \\ \mathbf{\Delta}^* & = \\ \mathbf{a}^* & = \\ \mathbf{a}$		Wrap To Merge	ext & Center = G	General \$ - % •	14 -3	Conditional Formatting *	Format Cel as Table - Style	Insert	Delete Form	E AI	toSum * 2 I - Sort ear * Filte Editing	à Find à		
	N25	• (*	f.e		10.05													¥
	A	В	с	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	K	L	M	N	0	Р	Q	-
	Leaf area	Total Shoot	Leaf	Leaf yield /														
7	(cm <sup>2</sup> )	length (cm)	moisture	Plant (g)	SUMMARY	OUTPUT												
8	X1	X2	X3	Y														
9	94.61	525.56	79.35	255.56	Regression	n Statistics												
10	42.30	345.00	58.41	97.78	R	0.949												
11	98.15	711.11	73.67	237.78	R Sqr	0.900												
12	72.61	307.56	74.60	161.11	Adj. R Sqr	0.850												
13	174.45	529.44	81.21	263.33	SE	19.370												
14	115.62	631.67	82.83	237.78	Obs.	10												
15	78.41	526.67	78.66	217.78														
16	133.74	442.22	80.76	224.44	ANOVA													
17	112.94	482.33	80.66	228.89		df	SS	MS	F	Significanc	e F							
18	148.28	422.78	78.26	190.00	Regressio	3	20200.59	6733.53	17.94633	0.002121								
19					Residual	6	2251.222	375.2037										
20					Total	9	22451.81											_
21																		_
22						Coefficients	SE	t Stat	P-value	L B 95%	U B 95%							
23					Intercept	-212.072	83.57333	-2.53755	0.044227	-416.568	-7.57506							
24					X1 X2	0.148552	0.236096	2 145251	0.010022	-0.42915	0.726259				1			
25					¥2	4 121941	1 362014	3.031622	0.019932	0.79601	7 466771		-		•			
27					~	4.151041	1.002.914	3.031022	0.02303	0.79091	7.400771							
14 4	► H Sheet1	Sheet2 She	et3 / 🎾 /							1		_		8	1			
Rea	ay and a second se				100	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_		110% (-)		
6	e				8												■ €0 7:07 8/29	AM 9/2012

Slide 12.3: Step 3, showing data structure and output of regression analysis using MS Excel

Thus, the above regression equation is found to be  $y = -212.072 + 0.149x_1 + 0.183x_2 + 4.132x_3$ . The above calculation can very well be performed using SPSS software as follows: **Step 1**:

En .	Yew Data	Iranstorm	Analyze	Graphs	Utilities Ad	d-gns Window	Relb										
	E 400	(in 14+	IL U	10.00	10 als 110	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1											
	1															Visible: 4 of	4 Varia
	x1	×2	×3	y	var	var	var	Var	var	 Var	Var	var	Yar.	var	. Var	var	
2	34.01	345.00	79.30 69.41	235.50													
2	42.30	711.11	72.67	207 70													
	73.61	207.60	73.07	401.10													
4	174.45	500.44	01.01	262.22													-
0	1/4.40	023.44	01.21	203.33													
7	70.41	631.67	82.83 70.00	237.78													
0	10.41	520.07	70.00	217.70													
0	133.74	442.22	00.76	224,44													
3	112.94	402.33	20.00	220.09													
10	148.28	422.78	/8.26	190.00													-
11	-																
12																	
1.5																	-
14																	-
10	-																
10																	
1/																	-
10	-																-
20	-																
20	-																
20	-																
22	-																
23	-																
29. NE																	
View	Variable Viev	4															

Slide 12.4: Step 1, showing data structure in data editor menu of SPSS



3 *Untitled	1 [DataSet0] - 1	SPSS Data E	ditor													-	<b>x</b>
Ele Edit	Yew Data	Iransform	Analyze Graphs Utilities	Add-	ons Window	Relb											
۵ 🖬 🍋	E 400	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Reports	,	8 9 G												
8:			Descriptive Statistics	•												Visible: 4 of	4 Variables
	x1	×2	Tagles	•	var.	var	Yar	var	Var	var							
1	94.61	525.56	Compare Means	•													-
2	42.30	345.00	General Linear Model	*													
3	98.15	711.11	Generalized Linear Models	•													
4	72.61	307.56	Miged Models														
5	174.45	529.44	Correlate														
6	115.62	631.67	Regression		A Linear												
7	78.41	526.67	Loginear	•	Qurve Estin	ation											
8	133.74	442.22	Neural Networks	1	A Partial Leag	f Squares											
9	112.94	482.33	Classify	1	📕 Binery Logi	stic											
10	148.28	422.78	Data Reduction	•	L. Mutinomial	Logistic											
11			Sogle		& Orginal												
12			Nonparametric Tests		E Brobit												
13			Time Series		R. Noninear												
14			Strada		R. Weight Fati	nation											
15			Missing Value Analysis		E. 2.Stage Les	ast Sources											
16			Mytiple Response		tal a conference												
17	_		Complex Samples	1	Optimal Sce	ling											
18			Quality Control														
19			A HOC CATA		1												
20																	
21																	
22																	-
23																	
24																	
76													1		1		
Data View	Variable View	6				_											
Linear														SPSS Process	oor is ready		
<b>6</b>	e T	1	2 📀 🖭	X	1 👬										• 8 🐗	10 10 8/2	19 AM 19/2012

Slide 12.5: Step 2, showing data structure and selection of appropriate options in analysis menu of SPSS

																	Visible: 4 of	4 Vari
	x1	×2	x3	у	var	Var	var	var	var	var	var	Var	var	Var	var	var	var	T
1	94.61	525.56	79.35	255.56							1		0					
2	42.30	345.00	58.41	97.78	1	-	-	-	_		_	-						
3	98.15	711.11	73.67	237.78		🔛 Linear Res	gression											
1	72.61	307.56	74.60	161.11	1				Dependent									
5	174.45	529.44	81.21	263.33	1	<b>₽</b> xt		4	<b>₽</b> y			Statistics_						
6	115.62	631.67	82.83	237.78	1	💑 x2		Block	1 of 1			Plots						
,	78.41	526.67	78.66	217.78	1	💑 x3		1				Sgve						
	133.74	442.22	80.76	224.44	1			Pro	Tiona		Next	Options	1					
	112.94	482.33	80.66	228.89	1				Independent(s)				1					
3	148.28	422.78	78.26	190.00	1				2 12									
					1			-	A 13									
					1													
					1			1	Metho	d Enter								
					1				Selection Variable									
					1			4			Rije							
					1			[	Çase Labels:									
7					1			4										
1					1				WLS Weight		_							
4					1													
					1		OK	East	e Beset	Cancel	Help							
-					1				_			_						
2					1	_	_	_		_			-					
3																		
4																		
5	L		_	_	_	_		-								_	_	-
	4																	

Slide 12.6: Step 3, showing data structure and variable selection of regression analysis using SPSS (Table 12.1)

Thus, both the procedures provide same result; additionally, in SPSS one can get the regression coefficients for standardized variables in the form of beta coefficients. This regression equation can be framed using other standard statistical packages also.



	Variables En	tered/Removed <sup>b</sup>	
Model	Variables Entered	Variables Removed	Method
1	x3, x2, x1 <sup>a</sup>		Enter
a. All ree	quested variables enter	ed.	
b. Deper	ndent Variable: y		

Table 12.1	Regression	output	through	SPSS
------------	------------	--------	---------	------

			Model Summary	
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	.949 <sup>a</sup>	.900	.850	19.37018
a. Predic	tors: (Coi	nstant), x3, x2,	x1	

			ANOVA <sup>b</sup>			
Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	20200.591	3	6733.530	17.946	.002 <sup>a</sup>
	Residual	2251.222	6	375.204		
	Total	22451.814	9			
o Dradi	atoma (Constant) v	2				

a. Predictors: (Constant), x3, x2, x1

b. Dependent Variable: y

Coeffi	cients <sup>a</sup>					
Model		Unstandardize	ed Coefficients	Standardized Coefficients		
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	-212.072	83.573		-2.538	.044
	x1	.149	.236	.115	.629	.552
	x2	.183	.058	.447	3.145	.020
	x3	4.132	1.363	.586	3.032	.023
a Den	endent Variable	•• v				

a. Dependent Variable: y

#### 12.4 Stepwise Regression

From the above example, it is clear that the relationship of yield with three yield components having  $R^2 = 0.900$  is sufficient to explain more than 90 of the variation in yield. The ANOVA table also shows the significance of the overall relationship as depicted by the significance value of 0.002 that means the  $R^2$  vis-a-vis the relationship is significant at 2 probability level (P = 0.02). Now, while analyzing the significance of the individual coefficients, it is found that *t*-test declares the coefficients of  $X_2$  and  $X_3$ significant as depicted by respective significance levels of 0.02 and 0.023. But the coefficient of  $X_1$ is not found to be significant. So the question is whether to retain  $X_1$  in the model or not. At this juncture, the readers should note that:

- The one-to-one relationship vis-a-vis the nature of the coefficients in linear relationship may change under multiple variable condition.
- 2. The coefficient of determination, that is,  $R^2$ , is a nondecreasing function of the number of variables in the regression equation. Thus, as we go on introducing more and more number of variables in the regression equation, the  $R^2$  is supposed to increase or at least remain constant. So one may be tempted to include more and more number of variables in the regression model in order to maximize  $R^2$  and thereby increase the possibility of significance of the overall regression equation. This phenomenon is sometimes known as game of maximizing  $R^2$ . It must be clearly understood that the variables to be included in the regression model should be guided by the knowledge about the variables in relation to the response variable, never should be guided towards maximizing  $R^2$ value. The experimenter should include or try to incorporate only those variables which have got significant coefficients and instead of concentrating on the value of  $R^2$  rather concentrate on adjusted  $R^2$ , which is not a nondecreasing

function of the number of variables in the model. The adjusted  $R^2$  is defined as

$$\overline{R}^{2} = R_{adj}^{2} = \frac{R_{g}SS/d.f}{TSS/d.f}$$
$$= \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{ic} - \overline{y})^{2}/(n - k - 1)}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{i} - \overline{y})^{2}/(n - 1)}.$$

We have

$$R^{2} = rac{\mathrm{R}_{\mathrm{g}}\mathrm{SS}}{\mathrm{TSS}} = rac{\mathrm{TSS} - \mathrm{RSS}}{\mathrm{TSS}} = 1 - rac{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{n} u_{i}^{2}}{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{n} (Y_{i} - \bar{Y})^{2}}.$$

On the other hand,

$$\bar{R} = 1 - \frac{\text{RMS}}{\text{TMS}} = 1 - \frac{\text{RSS}/(n-k)}{\text{TSS}/(n-1)}$$
$$= 1 - \frac{n-1}{n-k} \frac{\text{TSS} - \text{R}_{g}\text{SS}}{\text{TSS}}$$
$$= 1 - \frac{n-1}{n-k} (1 - R^{2}).$$

In regression model, we have:

- 1. K > 2 thereby indicating that  $\bar{R}^2 < R^2$ ; that means as the number of independent variables increases,  $\bar{R}^2$  increases less than  $R^2$ .
- 2.  $\bar{R}^2 = 1 \frac{n-1}{n-k}(1-R^2)$  when  $R^2 = 1$ ,  $\bar{R}^2 = 1$ .
- 3. When  $R^2 = 0 \Rightarrow \overline{R}^2 = 1 \frac{n-1}{n-k} = \frac{n-k-n+1}{n-k} = \frac{1-k}{n-k}$ ; if  $k \ge 2$  the  $\overline{R}^2$  is -ve. Thus, adjusted  $R^2$  can be negative if k > 2 and  $R^2 = 0$ ; when the value of the  $\overline{R}^2$  becomes negative, then its value is taken as zero.

While dealing with multiple variable regression equation, particularly with respect to the variable to be retained in the multiple regression equation, we generally follow two procedures— (a) stepwise forward and (b) stepwise backward regression technique—to get the actual relationship. In forward regression technique, the variable to be included first in the model is guided by the theoretical and logical idea about the variables under consideration and is further supported by the higher values of the correlation coefficient with the dependent variable. Similar decisions in subsequent steps are taken to include the other variables in stepwise manner. If the inclusion of a new variable in the model increases the explanatory power of the model, that is, increases the value of  $R^2$ , to a great extent without hampering the nature of the coefficient (s) of the previously included variable(s) in the model coupled with a significant coefficient, then the variable is retained in the model and it is useful. If the inclusion of a new variable in the model does not increase the explanatory power of the model, that is, the value of  $R^2$ , to a great extent, then the variable is redundant. If with the inclusion of a new variable in the model does not increase the explaining power of the model but rather changes the nature of the coefficient(s) of the variable(s) already in the model, then the variable is detrimental.

In the backward regression technique, all the variables under consideration are included in the model at the first instance to get the multiple regression equation;  $R^2$  value and the nature of the coefficients of the individual variables are noted. The variable having most nonsignificant coefficient (at a preassigned probability level) is dropped at the first instance, and the multiple regression equation is again framed by dropping the variable. In the next subsequent steps, the same procedure is followed to discard the unuseful variables in stepwise manner. The process continued till one gets a regression equation with all the variables having significant coefficient at preassigned level of significance.

*Example 12.2.* The following table in the next page gives the yield attributing characters along with yield for 37 varieties. We are to work out the linear relationship of yield with other yield components having significant coefficients.

From the given data, one should first make the following correlation table as per the method suggested in Chap. 8 (Table 12.2).

From the correlations of yield with other variables, it is found that the order of correlation coefficients is X11 > X12 > X7 > X10 > X13 and so on. So if one wants to have stepwise forward regression, then he or she should start with X11 first and then in subsequent step as per the order of the correlation coefficient shown above (Table 12.3).

Data 13 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Table for           X1           X1           32.34           32.35           32.38           33.33           33.33           33.34           33.34	X2 X2 151.81 140.71 138.77 138.31 140.23 132.90 136.10 136.10 137.11 147.68 153.77 160.23 164.75 153.17	12.2 X3 140.47 140.95 144.30 140.06 135.62 135.62 135.62 135.62 128.79 123.49 116.18 125.74 123.49 123.49 123.49 123.49 114.79 114.79	X4 21.23 21.23 20.33 18.63 17.67 18.67 19.93 19.93 19.67 19.07 19.07 19.07 19.07 19.07 19.07 19.07 19.07 19.03	X5 162.67 150.00 146.00 146.00 153.67 143.00 130.00 130.00 143.67 143.67 153.00 166.33 166.33 143.67 143.67 143.67 143.67 153.00	X6 107.88 104.49 93.17 93.17 92.60 103.54 103.54 103.54 103.55 108.25 108.25 108.25 108.25 108.25 100.95 98.60 98.60 100.17 112.08 100.17 1000	X7         X7           23.20         23.20           23.20         22.23           22.03         22.23           23.07         22.33           23.13         23.13           23.13         23.13           23.13         23.13           23.13         23.13           23.13         23.13           23.13         23.13           23.13         23.13           24.13         24.13           24.13         24.13           24.13         26.63           26.63         26.63	X8 31.17 33.17 33.17 33.17 33.50 33.50 29.00 29.00 29.00 29.00 29.03 30.33 30.33 30.33 30.33 20.17 26.17 24.83	X9           9.47           9.47           8.87           9.00           9.03           9.03           9.03           9.03           9.03           9.03           9.047           9.47     <	X10 149.37 149.37 144.04 145.20 145.20 145.32 145.32 145.32 145.32 145.32 145.32 145.32 147.31 133.45 133.5	X11 7.5 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.8 7.8 7.8 7.8 7.8 8.5 7.7 8.9 10.1 10.1 10.1 7.7 7.7 8.5 7.7 8.5 7.7 8.5 7.7 7.7 8.5 7.7 7.5 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6	2 7 7 9 9 8 8 3 3 0 7 2 2 5 1	X12           5         2.01           2         2.11           0         2.14           7         2.15           7         2.15           7         2.15           7         2.15           7         2.15           8         2.08           8         2.08           9         2.73           7         2.40           7         2.52           7         2.52           7         2.52           7         2.52           2         2.16	XI2         XI3           5         2.01         195.77           2         2.01         195.77           2         2.01         295.77           3         2.01         295.74           7         2.14         219.74           7         2.15         207.93           7         2.15         207.93           7         2.15         189.59           0         2.12         161.48           3         2.08         165.86           8         2.08         165.86           9         2.73         239.65           7         2.52         201.06           7         2.52         201.06           7         2.52         201.06	XI2         XI3         X14           5         2.01         195.77         1663.67           2         2.01         195.77         1663.67           2         2.11         222.68         1675.33           7         2.14         219.74         1672.33           7         2.15         228.32         1587.33           7         2.15         228.32         1587.33           7         2.15         228.32         1587.33           7         2.15         207.93         1621.00           0         2.112         161.48         1657.33           3         2.08         146.38         1657.33           8         2.07         189.59         1629.00           9         2.17         189.59         1657.33           8         2.08         165.43         1657.33           9         2.07         184.37         1702.67           7         2.39.65         178.567         7           7         2.54         233.48         1693.00           7         2.55         201.06         1609.00           7         2.55         201.06         1609.00  <	XI2         XI3         XI4         XI5           5         2.01         195.77         1663.67         313.38           2         2.11         222.68         1675.33         298.72           0         2.14         219.74         1672.33         302.74           7         2.15         207.93         1621.00         277.86           7         2.15         207.93         1621.00         277.86           7         2.15         207.93         1621.00         267.74           0         2.11         189.59         1659.00         267.74           0         2.12         161.48         1657.33         264.72           3         2.08         146.38         1657.43         253.30           8         2.08         164.38         1657.43         253.30           8         2.08         1654.43         253.30           9         2.73         239.65         1785.67         286.02           7         2.40         237.48         1693.00         267.24           7         2.52         201.06         1609.00         276.24           7         2.55         201.06         1702.67	XI2         XI3         XI4         XI5         XI6           5         201         195.77         1663.67         313.38         193           2         2.11         222.68         1675.33         298.72         193           0         2.14         219.74         1653.67         313.38         193           7         2.15         228.32         1577.33         298.72         193           7         2.15         228.32         1587.33         205.74         190           7         2.15         207.93         1621.00         277.86         1.53           7         2.21         189.59         1621.00         277.86         1.74           8         2.08         1667.33         264.72         1.74           8         2.08         1651.67         241.44         1.74           8         2.08         1663.433         253.30         1.95           8         2.08         1663.433         253.30         1.95           9         2.73         239.65         1785.67         2.95         1.77           9         2.73         239.65         178.56         2.77         1.74	X12         X13         X14         X15         X16         X17           5         2.01         195.77         1663.67         313.38         1.93         1.93           2         2.11         222.68         1675.33         298.72         1.93         1.93           0         2.14         219.74         1675.33         298.72         1.93         2.45           7         2.15         219.74         1672.33         302.74         1.90         2.44           7         2.15         21974         1672.33         302.74         1.90         2.44           7         2.15         207.93         1621.00         277.86         1.57         2.40           7         2.215         207.93         16621.00         267.74         1.34         2.41           0         2.12         189.59         1659.00         267.74         1.72         2.45           3         2.08         1651.67         241.44         1.74         2.25           3         2.08         1651.67         241.44         1.74         2.74           8         2.08         1651.67         241.44         1.77         2.74           9<	XI2         XI3         XI4         XI5         XI6         XI7         XI8           5         2.01         195.77         1663.67         313.38         1.93         1.93         9.96           2         2.11         222.68         1675.33         298.72         1.93         1.93         9.46           0         2.14         219.74         1667.33         298.72         1.93         245         14.50           7         2.15         219.74         1672.33         302.74         1.90         2.44         15.45           7         2.15         228.32         1587.33         263.92         1.57         2.59         15.63           7         2.15         229.32         1587.33         263.92         1.57         2.59         15.63           7         2.15         209.31         1621.00         277.46         1.3.47         2.41         13.37           0         2.12         189.59         1621.00         277.44         1.3.43         2.45         13.76           3         2.08         1651.67         241.44         1.74         2.25         12.26           8         2.08         1652.86         1634.33
15	33.84 34.56 22.46	148.67	11/.81 119.07	16.67	157.00 164.33	102.0/ 116.45	25.27	24.83 24.50	9.17	130.27 130.48 138 40	8.55 8.20		2.16 2.43	2.16 178.28 2.43 188.79 2.25 202.70	2.16 1/8.28 1496.00 2.43 188.79 1511.67 3.35 203.70 1547.32	2.16 178.28 1496.00 294.98 2.43 188.79 1511.67 288.41 2.55 207.70 1547.32 207.51	2.16 1/8.28 1496.00 294.98 1.6/ 2.43 188.79 1511.67 288.41 1.32 2.55 202.70 1547.22 207.51 1.44	2.16 1/8.28 1496.00 294.98 1.6/ 2.29 2.43 188.79 1511.67 288.41 1.32 2.33 2.55 202.70 1547.32 207.51 1.41 2.05	2.16 1/8.28 1496.00 294.98 1.6/ 2.29 11.29 2.43 188.79 1511.67 288.41 1.32 2.33 11.52 2.55 20270 154732 20751 1.44 2.05 10.52
16	32.46 34.01 34.58	156.00 156.99 162.46	121.01 138.86 145.61	20.10 21.83 23.90	162.67 144.00 149.33	115.48 117.92 104.79	25.50 25.07 25.17	22.50 27.40 29.67	9.07 9.10 9.20	138.49 151.50 144.95	8.38 10.06	0 0 0	54 54	25 202.79 54 216.33 60 220.73	25 202.79 1547.33 54 216.33 1662.67 60 220.73 1685.33	25 202.79 1547.33 307.51 54 216.33 1662.67 316.73 60 720.73 1685.33 313.12	25 202.79 1547.33 307.51 1.44 54 216.33 1662.67 316.73 1.42 60 220.73 1685.33 313.12 1.49	25 202.79 1547.33 307.51 1.44 2.05 54 216.33 1662.67 316.73 1.42 2.66 60 22073 1685.33 313.12 1.49 2.58	25 202.79 1547.33 307.51 1.44 2.05 10.52 54 216.33 1662.67 316.73 1.42 2.66 14.93 60 220.73 1685.33 313.12 1.49 2.58 14.54
61 0	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	100.56	24.67	33.83 30.60	9.07	150.81	10.01		200	56 208.66 168.35	56 208.66 1738.67 24 168.35 1668.33	56 208.66 1738.67 288.29 24 168 35 1668 33 247.84	56 208.66 1738.67 288.29 1.85 24 168.35 1668.33 247.84 1.55	56 208.66 1738.67 288.29 1.85 3.05 24 168.35 1668.33 247.84 1.55 2.40	00         ======         ====         ====         ====         ====         ===         ===         ===         ===         ===         ===         ===         ===         ===         ===         ===         ==         ==         ==         ==         ==         ==         ==         ==         ==         ==         ==         =
21	33.13 34.27	162.80 168.36	143.02 135.34	23.10 21.20	144.00 163.33	115.47	24.03 23.13	30.60 26.50	8.93 11.93	131.19 132.39	8.64 7.50	1.98	+ ~	t 168.35 8 131.32	t 168.35 1668.33 8 131.32 1711.33	t 168.35 1668.33 247.84 3 131.32 1711.33 239.02	Image: 108.35         108.35         141.84         1.55           131.32         1711.33         239.02         2.07	t 168.35 1668.35 247.84 1.55 2.40 8 131.32 1711.33 239.02 2.07 2.19	4 108.35 1068.33 247.84 1.55 2.40 13.12 8 131.32 1711.33 239.02 2.07 2.19 12.33
22	31.85 29.36	163.56 160.86	129.03 129.24	20.53 21.17	154.67 193.67	102.78 99.50	24.60 20.80	29.00 37.60	12.87 12.50	117.91	7.99	2.02		117.85 158.37	117.85 1653.00 158.37 1701.67	117.85 1653.00 234.97 158.37 1701.67 211.97	117.85         1653.00         234.97         1.81           158.37         1701.67         211.97         2.13	117.85 1653.00 234.97 1.81 2.02 158.37 1701.67 211.97 2.13 2.38	117.85 1653.00 234.97 1.81 2.02 10.43 158.37 1701.67 211.97 2.13 2.38 12.65
24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37		218.03	218.03 1692.00	218.03 1692.00 244.12	218.03 1692.00 244.12 1.66	218.03 1692.00 244.12 1.66 2.60	218.03 1692.00 244.12 1.66 2.60 13.66
25	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	1 I.	263.96	263.96 1764.00	263.96 1764.00 289.06	263.96 1764.00 289.06 1.87	263.96 1764.00 289.06 1.87 2.88	263.96 1764.00 289.06 1.87 2.88 15.42
26	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73 21.93	161.67 182.33	93.00	24.57 24.37	37.50 36.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84		223.82 216.55	223.82 1744.67 216.55 1747.33	223.82 1744.67 312.47 216.55 1747.33 289.87	223.82 1744.67 312.47 1.96 216.55 1747.33 289.87 1.71	223.82 1744.67 312.47 1.96 2.65 216.55 1747.33 289.87 1.71 2.53	223.82 1744.67 312.47 1.96 2.65 14.10 216.55 1747.33 289.87 1.71 2.53 13.53
28	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	·	197.75	197.75 1698.67	197.75 1698.67 286.04	197.75 1698.67 286.04 1.49	197.75 1698.67 286.04 1.49 2.02	197.75 1698.67 286.04 1.49 2.02 10.29
29	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	0	38.45	38.45 1624.00	38.45 1624.00 333.34	38.45 1624.00 333.34 1.39	38.45 1624.00 333.34 1.39 2.01	38.45 1624.00 333.34 1.39 2.01 10.28
30	36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	8	36.20	36.20 1542.33	36.20 1542.33 306.56	36.20 1542.33 306.56 1.79	36.20 1542.33 306.56 1.79 2.04	36.20 1542.33 306.56 1.79 2.04 10.45
31	37.34	157.67	151.84	21.63	195.33	102.57	24.90	33.50	10.90	161.70	8.42	2.20	23;	2.85	2.85 1582.33	2.85 1582.33 291.33	2.85 1582.33 291.33 1.76	2.85 1582.33 291.33 1.76 2.05	2.85 1582.33 291.33 1.76 2.05 10.76
32	33.13	151.16	143.56	24.53	191.00	98.26	25.00	29.50	11.03	135.25	7.69	2.20	203	.45	.45 1588.33	.45 1588.33 250.95	.45 1588.33 250.95 2.15	.45 1588.33 250.95 2.15 1.80	.45 1588.33 250.95 2.15 1.80 9.63
33	30.20	144.68	133.70	21.73	176.00	95.76	22.50	35.83	10.50	140.91	6.96	1.94	15	4.35	4.35 1611.00	4.35 1611.00 277.85	4.35 1611.00 277.85 1.89	4.35 1611.00 277.85 1.89 2.00	4.35 1611.00 277.85 1.89 2.00 10.19
34	30.26	140.64	119.93	21.93	178.67	94.23	20.77	37.67	9.30	128.65	7.12	2.13	15	9.38	9.38 1601.00	9.38 1601.00 286.54	9.38 1601.00 286.54 1.89	9.38 1601.00 286.54 1.89 1.99	9.38 1601.00 286.54 1.89 1.99 10.35
35	31.27	141.59	123.96	19.37	180.67	105.51	18.00	35.33	8.93	133.87	6.65	1.91	2	05.68	05.68 1648.00	05.68 1648.00 302.31	05.68 1648.00 302.31 1.74	05.68 1648.00 302.31 1.74 2.23	05.68 1648.00 302.31 1.74 2.23 12.42
36	33.17	150.82	131.18	18.80	178.67	107.36	17.37	31.17	9.23	143.59	6.68	1.92	- 1 I	206.11	206.11 1634.00	206.11 1634.00 306.61	206.11 1634.00 306.61 2.08	206.11 1634.00 306.61 2.08 2.12	206.11 1634.00 306.61 2.08 2.12 11.87
31	22.12	62.161	137.15	22.51	10.6/1	112.1/	20.15	30.83	06.8	143.50	6.83	1.81	203.41		1020.33	1020.55 304.86	1020.55 504.86 2.12	2.12 2.15 504.80 2.12 2.15	2.11 2.12 2.12 304.80 2.12 2.12

	Y																				1.000
	X19																			1.000	0.073
	X18																		1.000	0.421	0.345
	X17																	1.000	0.945	0.370	0.415
	X16																1.000	-0.116	-0.053	0.616	-0.400
	X15															1.000	-0.239	-0.063	-0.052	0.161	0.415
	X14														1.000	-0.095	0.277	0.531	0.532	0.580	0.358
	X13													1.000	0.180	0.630	-0.169	0.270	0.259	0.293	0.525
	X12												1.000	0.478	0.441	0.178	-0.313	0.582	0.427	0.052	0.764
	X11											1.000	0.896	0.430	0.452	0.223	-0.400	0.483	0.360	0.038	0.920
	X10										1.000	0.215	0.065	0.522	0.003	0.647	-0.173	0.013	0.119	0.186	0.562
	X9									1.000	-0.434	0.028	0.018	-0.436	0.276	-0.566	0.446	-0.186	-0.238	0.018	-0.126
	X8								1.000	0.068	-0.084	-0.076	0.029	0.138	0.366	-0.110	0.267	0.167	0.204	0.338	-0.135
	X7							1.000	-0.538	0.125	0.109	0.653	0.589	0.125	-0.048	0.001	-0.368	0.187	0.059	-0.263	0.613
	X6						1.000	0.239	-0.689	-0.114	0.264	0.193	0.025	-0.011	-0.058	0.280	-0.341	-0.100	-0.135	-0.184	0.268
	X5					1.000	-0.142	-0.335	0.390	0.223	0.042	-0.131	-0.142	0.236	-0.069	0.127	0.289	-0.404	-0.442	0.022	-0.099
	X4				1.000	0.429	0.012	0.016	0.253	0.134	0.151	0.268	0.122	0.109	0.193	0.089	0.179	-0.206	-0.222	0.008	0.274
table	X3			1.000	0.610	0.377	-0.138	-0.067	0.471	-0.059	0.488	0.303	0.197	0.445	0.267	0.274	0.052	0.072	0.174	0.288	0.403
relation	<b>X</b> 2		1.000	0.178	).336	0.110	0.192	0.282	-0.137	.449	-0.145	).360	).331	0.015	).346	-0.117	).263	).216	0.115	). 199	).254
	1	000	217 1	0.026 (	0.237 (	0.129 (	066 (	551 (	0.239 -	0.041 0	203 -	520 (	577 0	528 (	226 (	- 117	0.201 0	356 (	258 (	066 (	522 (
able 1	Х	1 1.	2 0.	-	+	- 2	5 0.	7 0.	8	- 6	10 0.	11 0.	12 0.	13 0.	14 0.	15 0.	- 91	17 0.	18 0.	19 0.	0
الق للاستشارات		×	X	X	×	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	Y

#### Table 12.3 Stepwise regression output

OU	ГРUТ						
tatis	tics						
		0.92					
		0.85					
		0.84					
		25.86					
		37.00					
df	SS	MS	F	Significance	F		
1	128364.52	128364.52	191.88	0.00			
35	23413.83	668.97					
36	151778.35						
	Coefficients	SE	t	Stat	P-value	LB95%	UB 95%
	-100.710	34.690	-	-2.903	0.006	-171.134	-30.286
	57.043	4.118		13.852	0.000	48.683	65.403
	OU' tatis. df 1 35 36	OUTPUT tatistics df SS 1 128364.52 35 23413.83 36 151778.35 Coefficients -100.710 57.043	OUTPUT           tatistics           0.92           0.85           0.84           25.86           37.00           df         SS           1         128364.52           128364.52         128364.52           35         23413.83           668.97         36           36         151778.35           Coefficients         SE           -100.710         34.690           57.043         4.118	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	OUTPUT         0.92           tatistics         0.85           0.85         0.84           25.86         37.00           df         SS         MS         F         Significance           1         128364.52         128364.52         191.88         0.00           35         23413.83         668.97         36         151778.35           Coefficients         SE         t Stat           -100.710         34.690         -2.903           57.043         4.118         13.852	OUTPUT         0.92           0.85         0.84           25.86         37.00           df         SS         MS         F         Significance F           1         128364.52         128364.52         191.88         0.00           35         23413.83         668.97         56         151778.35           Coefficients         SE         t Stat         P-value           -100.710         34.690         -2.903         0.006           57.043         4.118         13.852         0.000	OUTPUT         tatistics         0.92       0.85         0.84       25.86         25.86       37.00         df SS MS F Significance F         1       128364.52       128364.52       191.88       0.00         35       23413.83       668.97       55       56         36       151778.35       55       t Stat       P-value       LB95%         -100.710       34.690       -2.903       0.006       -171.134         57.043       4.118       13.852       0.000       48.683

#### Step 2 Include X12

SUMMARY	OUT	PUT						
Regression S	tatisti	cs						
R			0.93					
R Sqr			0.86					
Adj R Sqr			0.86					
SE			24.64					
Obs			37.00					
ANOVA								
	df	SS	MS	F	Significance	F		
Regression	2	131141.57	65570.79	108.03	0.00			
Residual	34	20636.78	606.96					
Total	36	151778.35						
	(	Coefficients	SE		t Stat	P-value	LB95%	UB 95%
Intercept		-66.111	36.790		-1.797	0.081	-140.877	8.655
X12		-78.036	36.482		-2.139	0.040	-152.177	-3.895
X11		73.949	8.824		8.381	0.000	56.017	91.881

#### Step 3: Include X7

SUMMARY	OUT	PUT			
Regression S	Statisti	CS			
R			0.93		
R Sqr			0.86		
Adj R Sqr			0.85		
SE			24.98		
Obs			37.00		
ANOVA					
	df	SS	MS	F	Significance F
Regression	3	131186.37	43728.79	70.08	0.00
Residual	33	20591.98	624.00		
Total	36	151778.35			



	Coefficients	SE	t Stat	P-value	LB95%	UB 95%
Intercept	-74.654	49.072	-1.521	0.138	-174.492	25.183
X7	0.692	2.582	0.268	0.790	-4.561	5.944
X12	-78.138	36.993	-2.112	0.042	-153.401	-2.876
X11	73.051	9.554	7.646	0.000	53.614	92.489

#### Step 4: Include X10 and drop X7

OUTPU	Т							
tatistics								
		0.99						
		0.99						
		0.98						
		8.14						
	3	37.00						
df	SS	MS	F	Signific	ance F			
3.00	149591.99	49864.00	752.63	0.00				
33.00	2186.36	66.25						
36.00	151778.35							
Coe	fficients	SE	t Sta	ıt	P-val	lue	LB95%	UB 95%
-40	00.194	23.421	-17	.087	0.000	0	-447.843	-352.544
	2.510	0.150	16	.688	0.000	0	2.204	2.816
-1	6.500	12.605	-1	.309	0.200	0	-42.145	9.144
5	55.650	3.115	17	.867	0.000	0	49.313	61.986
	df         3.00         33.00         36.00         Coe         -40         -11         5         5         5         5         7 <th7< th=""> <th7< th=""> <th7< th="" th7<=""></th7<></th7<></th7<>	OUTPUT tatistics	OUTPUT         tatistics         0.99       0.99         0.99       0.99         0.99       0.99         8.14       37.00         df       SS       MS         3.00       149591.99       49864.00         33.00       2186.36       66.25         36.00       151778.35       SE         Coefficients       SE         -400.194       23.421         2.510       0.150         -16.500       12.605         55.650       3.115	OUTPUT         tatistics         0.99         0.99         0.98         8.14         37.00         df SS MS F         3.00       149591.99       49864.00       752.63         33.00       2186.36       66.25         Coefficients       SE t Stat         -400.194       23.421       -17         2.510       0.150       16         -16.500       12.605       -1         55.650       3.115       17	OUTPUT         tatistics         0.99       0.99         0.98       8.14         37.00       37.00         df SS MS F Signific         3.00       149591.99       49864.00       752.63       0.00         33.00       2186.36       66.25 $-400.194$ 23.421 $-17.087$ Coefficients       SE       t Stat         -400.194       23.421 $-17.087$ 2.510       0.150       16.688         -16.500       12.605 $-1.309$ 55.650       3.115       17.867	OUTPUT         tatistics         0.99         0.99         0.98         8.14         37.00         df       SS       MS       F       Significance F         3.00       149591.99       49864.00       752.63       0.00         33.00       2186.36       66.25       66.25         Coefficients       SE       t Stat       P-va         -400.194       23.421       -17.087       0.000         2.510       0.150       16.688       0.000         -16.500       12.605       -1.309       0.200         55.650       3.115       17.867       0.000	OUTPUT         tatistics         0.99       0.99         0.98       8.14         37.00       37.00         df SS MS F Significance F         3.00       149591.99       49864.00       752.63       0.00         33.00       2186.36       66.25       66.25 $-400.194$ 23.421 $-17.087$ 0.000         Coefficients       SE       t Stat       P-value $-400.194$ 23.421 $-17.087$ 0.000         2.510       0.150       16.688       0.000         -16.500       12.605 $-1.309$ 0.200         55.650       3.115       17.867       0.000	OUTPUT         tatistics         0.99       0.99         0.98       8.14         37.00       37.00         df SS MS F Significance F         3.00       149591.99       49864.00       752.63       0.00         33.00       2186.36       66.25       66.25         SE t Stat       P-value       LB95%         -400.194       23.421       -17.087       0.000       -447.843         2.510       0.150       16.688       0.000       2.204         -16.500       12.605       -1.309       0.200       -42.145         55.650       3.115       17.867       0.000       49.313

#### Step 5: Include X13 and drop X12

SUMMARY	OUT	PUT						
Regression S	Statisti	ics						
R			0.993					
R Sqr			0.987					
Adj R Sqr			0.986					
SE			7.806					
Obs			37.00					
ANOVA								
	df	SS	MS	F	Significance I	7		
Regression	3	149767.55	49922.52	819.30	0.00	_		
Residual	33	2010.79	60.93					
Total	36	151778.35						
	(	Coefficients	SE	t	Stat	P-value	LB95%	UB 95%
Intercept	-	-425.760	20.502	_	-20.766	0.000	-467.472	-384.047
X13		-0.109	0.050		-2.178	0.037	-0.210	-0.007
X10		2.735	0.158		17.319	0.000	2.414	3.056
X11		53.104	1.376		38.581	0.000	50.304	55.904

#### Step 6: Include X1

رات

0.994
0.988
0.986
7.67
37.00
1

df

4

32

36

SS

149898.23

151778.35 Coefficients

-442.822

0.782

-0.140

2.759

1880.11

MS

37474.56

58.75

SE

23.156

0.525

0.053

0.156

0.989708

6.5873

37

Standard error

26.562

0.144

2.664

11.677

8.358

15.977

2.033

2.454

F

637.83

X11	52.267	1.463	35.715	0.000	49.286	55.248
Followir and droppin following r	ng the above pro ng of variables, c regression equation	cedure of inclustone can reach to on in which all	ion variat the as suc the	les are having h this equation	significant coeff is retained.	icients and
Summary out	tput					
n · ,						
Regression st	atistics					
Multiple R	atistics	0.995846				

P-value

0.000

0.146

0.013

0.000

LB95%

-489.989

-0.286

-0.249

2.441

Significance F

0.00

t Stat

-19.124

1.491

-2.626

17.698

MS

21502.85

t Stat

-17.090

19.802

21.852

-3.160

3.179

3.380

-2.516

-3.788

43.39252

Regression

Residual

Intercept

Total

X1

X13

X10

Adjusted R square

d.f.

7

29

36

Coefficients

2.844

58.218

26.566

53.995

-5.115

-9.297

-36.900

-453.939

Standard error

Observations

ANOVA

Regression

Residual

Intercept

Total

X10

X11

X12

X16

X17

X18

X19

SS

150520

151778.3

1258.383

Similarly, following the backward regression	Step
starting with the full model multiple regression	trans
equation, one can get the result. We shall dem-	Step
onstrate the same using SPSS. In Step 13 one can	ment
get the similar multiple linear regression equa-	
tion as found above	

1: Activate the SPSS data sheet by either porting or pasting or importing data files. 2: Proceed to Analyze–Regression–Linear as shown below.

F

P-value

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.004

0.004

0.002

0.018

0.001

495.5428

LB95%

-508.264

2.550

52.769

9.473

21.318

-9.274

-14.316

-60.783



UB 95%

-395.655

1.851

3.076

-0.031

Significance F

UB 95

-399.613

3.137

63.666

43.660

86.672

-0.957

-4.278

-13.017

2.07E-28



Example	8.sav [[	DataSet1] -	SPSS Dat	a Editor			<u>.</u>	- 340		-									Contraction in the second	- 0 - X
Ele Edit	⊻jew	Data It	ansform	Analyze	Graphs U	ilties Ada	Lons Who	kow Help												
🔶 🖩 🐣	œ	40.04	2 IN 1	Regorts		,	000													
1 : sino		1		Descrip	tive Statistics	•													Visib	le: 21 of 21 Variable
1		sino	x1	Tables		•	x5	x6	x7	x8	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18
1		1	32.1	Compar	e Means	,	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96
2		2	29.8	Genera	Linear Model		150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50
3		3	32.3	Genera	liged Linear M	lodels •	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45
4		4	38.3	Miged N	Nodels	,	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63
5		5	37.8	Correla	te	,	153.67	103.64	73.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75
6		6	35.0	Regres	sion	•	Linear.			29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37
7		7	32.3	Logine	w	,	Qurve E	stimation		30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76
8		8	32.5	Neural	Networks	,	Partial L	eagt Squares	Lee :	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26
9		9	34.1	Classig	1	,	E Binary L	ogistic		30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22
10		10	37.0	Data Re	duction	,	E Mutinor	nial Logistic		30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05
11		11	43.7	Scale		,	👗 Orginal			25.93	10.30	147.31	10.19	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98
12		12	41.5	Nonpar	ametric Tests	•	E Probt			24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29
13		13	38.2	Time Se	ries	,	Runner			26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21
14		14	33.8	Surviva	4	•	R united	×		24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29
15		15	34.5	Mssing	Value Analys	sis	10 Madat	Estimation		24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52
16		16	32.4	Mytiple	Response	,	alla 2-onage	Cease Sdraw	es	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52
17		17	34.0	Comple	× Samples	,	Optimal	Scaing		27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93
18		18	34.5	Quality	Control	,	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54
19		19	34.2	ROC O	r <u>y</u> e		155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96
20		20	33.1	13 162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12
21		21	34.2	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33
22		22	31.8	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43
23		23	29.3	6 160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65
24		24	35.0	1 154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66
%		*	35.3	1 161 4	1/5.13	22.40	181.00	98.95	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	262	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42
Data View	Varia	ible View																		
Linear																	1	SPSS Processor	is ready	
<b>7</b>	e					Þ		1								× ×			R -4 P	€0 10:49 PM 8/29/2012

Slide 12.7: Data structure and selection of appropriate regression model from analysis menu of SPSS

**Step 3**: Select the dependent and the independent variables as shown below and activate Statistics submenu.

	1																	Visib	le: 21 of 21 \
	sino	x1	x2	х3	×4	x5	x6	x7	x8	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18
	1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.9
2	2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	160.00	104.40	22.20	22.17	9.97	111.01	7.93	2.11	222.69	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.5
	3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	Unear I	segression	100		1.00	18.2	1000	2.16	200.0	2.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.4
	4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67				D R	pendent				Challedine	37.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.6
	5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	🖉 sino		-	· ·	γ				games.	1.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.7
	6	35.02	132.90	128.79	18.47	x1			Block 1 o	11				Plots_	19.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.3
	7	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	10						Ne		Silve	33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.7
	8	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87	/ x4				ndependent	183			Qotions	21.62	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.3
	9	34.10	147.68	125.74	19.67	1×5				×1			-		34.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.3
1	10	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	/ x6			4	×2					22.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.0
	11	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	1		1	J	×3					5.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.5
	12	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	1 19				- 34	that E	lackward	-		33.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.3
0	13	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	🖋 x10				-					9.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.2
	14	33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	🖉 x11			<b>1</b>	ection Vari	sble:	-			6.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.3
;	15	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	×12							Ne		11.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.5
i.	16	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	×13			V 8	se Lobels:			-		17.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.5
	17	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	A x15									52.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.5
( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )	18	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	🖋 x16		5	<b>•</b>	LS Weight					6.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.5
)	19	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	Antes	-			10			_		8.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.9
).	20	33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10		_	OK	Paste	Reset	Can	cel	Help		8.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.
	21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20				-						11.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.3
8	22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.4
	23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.6
(	24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.6
	25	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.95	21.97	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15./

Slide 12.8: Data structure and selection of appropriate variables in Regression submenu from analysis menu of SPSS



**Step 4**: Get the following window and select the appropriate requirement by ticking the corresponding boxes.

																		Visi	ble: 21 of 21 \
	sino	x1	x2	х3	x4	x5	x6	x7	x8	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	×17	x18
1	1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.9
2	2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	160.00	104.40	22.20	22.17	9.97	144.04	7.90	2.11	222.69		298.72	1.93	2.45	14.5
3	3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	M Linear	Regression		10.00	1.00	16.2	1100	216	200.02	72.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.4
4	4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67				- 0	ependent				-	87,33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.6
5	5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	🖉 sino			4	Ø Y				Statistics.	21 9	Linear Regressio	on: Statistics	1.00	X
6	6	35.02	132.90	128.79	18.47	/ x1			Block 1	11				Plots	29	Deservation Con	Winland		
7	7	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	/ x2						-		Sgve	57	Regression Col	emicient 🕑	jodel fit	1
8	8	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87					202		Cla		Options	21	Estimates	□ A	gquared change	
9	9	34.10	147.68	125.74	19.67	1 15				v1	8).		-		84	Confidence int	tervais 🔲 🛛	escriptives	
10	10	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	🥒 x6				1 22					02	Cogariance m	atrix 2	art and partial con	elations
11	11	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	1×1				×3			-		95			ofinearity diagnos	tics
12	12	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	/ x8				-					22	Docidente			-
					10.000	1 A A						the second s			23	ruesauruars			
13	13	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	×9					thod E	lackward	-		29	Durbin Winter	~		
13 14	13 14	38.29 33.84	144.75 155.17	115.58 117.81	20.03 19.33	/ x9 / x10 / x11				Meteory Meteory	sthod: [E	Backward	-		29 29	Dyrbin-Watso	on		
13 14 15	13 14 15	38.29 33.84 34.56	144.75 155.17 148.67	115.58 117.81 119.07	20.03 19.33 16.67	x9 x10 x11 x12			<b>•</b>	M glection Vari	shot E	Backward			29 29 26	Dyrbin-Watso	on agnostics	standard de-	informa and
13 14 15 16	13 14 15 16	38.29 33.84 34.56 32.46	144.75 155.17 148.67 156.00	115.58 117.81 119.07 121.01	20.03 19.33 16.67 20.10	x9 x10 x11 x12 x13			ا ب ا	M glection Vari ase Labels:	shot [E	Backward			23 09 96 11 47	Dyrbin-Watso     Qasewise da     Outlers out	on agnostics totale: []	standard dev	ations
13 14 15 16 17	13 14 15 16 17	38.29 33.84 34.56 32.46 34.01	144.75 155.17 148.67 156.00 156.99	115.58 117.81 119.07 121.01 138.85	20.03 19.33 16.67 20.10 21.83	/ x9 / x10 / x11 / x12 / x13 / x14		_	> S > S	M glection Vari ase Labels:	shot (t	Backward			33 39 36 11 47 52	Dyrbin-Watso     Qasewise da     O Qutiers out     Al cases	on agnostics texter	standard dev	ations
13 14 15 16 17 18	13 14 15 16 17 18	38.29 33.84 34.56 32.46 34.01 34.58	144.75 155.17 148.67 156.00 156.99 162.46	115.58 117.81 119.07 121.01 138.86 145.61	20.03 19.33 16.67 20.10 21.83 23.90	/ x9 / x10 / x11 / x12 / x13 / x14 / x15 / x16			۲ ۲ ۲	M glection Vari ase Labels: 4LS Weight	thod. [E	Backward			33 39 96 11 47 52 85	Dytin-Watso     Qasewise de     Quitiers out     Al cases	on agrostics tode:	standard dev	intons
13 14 15 16 17 18 19	13 14 15 16 17 18 19	38.29 33.84 34.56 32.46 34.01 34.58 34.22	144.75 155.17 148.67 156.00 156.99 162.46 166.22	115.58 117.81 119.07 121.01 138.86 145.61 153.17	20.03 19.33 16.67 20.10 21.83 23.90 22.73	x9           x10           x11           x12           x13           x14           x15           x16			به ۲۰ ۲۰	M glection Vari ase Labels: 4.S Weigtt	thod [E	Backward			93 96 11 47 52 86	Dybin-Watso     Qutiers out     Qutiers out     Al cases     Continue	on agnostics tester	standard dev	eetions
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	38.29 33.84 34.56 32.46 34.01 34.58 34.22 33.13	144.75 155.17 148.67 156.00 156.99 162.46 166.22 162.80	115.58 117.81 119.07 121.01 138.86 145.61 153.17 143.02	20.03 19.33 16.67 20.10 21.83 23.90 22.73 23.10	/ x9 / x10 / x11 / x12 / x13 / x14 / x15 / x16		OK	S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	M glection Vari ase Labels: 4.5 Weight Beset	thot [	cel	Help		93 09 96 11 47 52 86 88 33	Dystin-Watso     Qasewise da     Qutiers out     Al cases     Continue     247.84	on agnostics trader 2 Cancel 1.55	standard dev	intions
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21	13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21	38.29 33.84 34.56 32.46 34.01 34.58 34.22 33.13 34.27	144.75 155.17 148.67 156.00 156.99 162.46 166.22 162.80 168.36	115.58 117.81 119.07 121.01 138.86 145.61 153.17 143.02 135.34	20.03 19.33 16.67 20.10 21.83 23.90 22.73 23.10 21.20	1 x9 1 x10 1 x11 1 x12 1 x13 1 x14 1 x15 1 x16 2		OK .	S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	M glection Vari ase Labels: 4.S Weigtt Beset	thot (E stie	cel	Help		93 96 11 47 52 95 88 88 33 95	Continue 247.84 239.02	on agnostics troder 2 Cancel 1.55 2.07	Help	ntions
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22	13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 21 22	38.29 33.84 34.56 32.46 34.01 34.58 34.22 33.13 34.27 31.85	144.75 155.17 148.67 156.00 155.99 162.46 166.22 162.80 168.36 163.56	115.58 117.81 119.07 121.01 138.86 145.61 153.17 143.02 135.34 129.03	20.03 19.33 16.67 20.10 21.83 23.90 22.73 23.10 21.20 20.53	2 x9 2 x10 2 x11 2 x12 2 x13 2 x14 2 x15 2 x16 2 x16 154.67	102.78	ок 24.60	S     S	glection Vari ase Labels: LS Weight Beset 12.87	thod E able: Can	cel 7.89	•	117.85	93 96 11 87 52 95 88 33 	Dytin-Widsc     Dytin-Widsc     Qasewise da     ⊙ outlers ou     Al cases     Continue     247.84     239.02     234.97	on agnostics trode: 2 Cancel 1.55 2.07 1.81		ntions 13.1 12.3 10.4
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23	13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 21 22 23	38.29 33.84 34.56 32.46 34.01 34.58 34.22 33.13 34.27 31.85 29.36	144.75 155.17 148.67 156.00 156.99 162.46 166.22 162.80 168.36 163.56 160.86	115.58 117.81 119.07 121.01 138.86 145.61 153.17 143.02 135.34 129.03 129.24	20.03 19.33 16.67 20.10 21.83 23.90 22.73 23.10 21.20 20.53 21.17	2 x9 2 x10 2 x11 2 x13 2 x14 2 x15 2 x16 154.67 193.67	102.78	ок 24.60 20.80	<ul> <li>⇒</li> <li>S</li> <li>⇒</li> <li>S</li> <li></li> <l< td=""><td>Mercion Vari ase Labels: ALS Weight Beset 12.87 12.50</td><td>thod () able: () () () () () () () () () () () () ()</td><td>Cel 7.89</td><td>• Help 2.02 2.11</td><td>117.85 158.37</td><td>53 96 11 52 95 58 33 1653.00 1701.67</td><td>Dystin-Watso     Dystin-Watso     Qatervise di     O.Quters out     Al coses     Continue     247.84     239.02     234.97     211.97</td><td>on agrostics trade 3 Cancel 1.55 2.07 1.81 2.13</td><td>Help 2.40 2.19 2.02 2.38</td><td>13.1 12.3 10.4 12.6</td></l<></ul>	Mercion Vari ase Labels: ALS Weight Beset 12.87 12.50	thod () able: () () () () () () () () () () () () ()	Cel 7.89	• Help 2.02 2.11	117.85 158.37	53 96 11 52 95 58 33 1653.00 1701.67	Dystin-Watso     Dystin-Watso     Qatervise di     O.Quters out     Al coses     Continue     247.84     239.02     234.97     211.97	on agrostics trade 3 Cancel 1.55 2.07 1.81 2.13	Help 2.40 2.19 2.02 2.38	13.1 12.3 10.4 12.6
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 23 24	13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 21 22 23 23 24	38.29 33.84 34.56 32.46 34.01 34.58 34.22 33.13 34.27 31.85 29.36 35.01	144.75 155.17 148.67 156.00 156.99 162.46 166.22 162.80 168.36 163.56 160.86 154.62	115.58 117.81 119.07 121.01 138.86 145.61 153.17 143.02 135.34 129.03 129.24 140.06	20.03 19.33 16.67 20.10 21.83 23.90 22.73 23.10 21.20 20.53 21.17 21.53	2 x9 2 x10 2 x11 2 x12 2 x13 2 x14 2 x15 2 x16 154.67 193.67 171.00	102 78 99.50 90.33	ок 24.60 20.80 22.53	S     S	Merition Variates Labels: ALS Weight 12.87 12.50 9.50	thod E able: Can 117.91 117.78 129.01	cel	• Help 2.02 2.11 2.37	117.85 158.37 218.03	53 09 96 11 47 52 35 38 35 38 31 133 1653.00 1701.67 1692.00	Dytin-Watso     Qaterwise da     Quiters out     Qaters     Qaters out     Qaters     Qate	on agrostics trade 3 Cancel 1.55 2.07 1.81 2.13 1.66	Help 2.40 2.19 2.02 2.38 2.60	13.1 12.3 10.4 12.6 13.6
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 23 24 55	13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 24 25	38.29 33.84 34.56 32.46 34.01 34.58 34.22 33.13 34.27 31.85 29.36 35.01 36.71	144.75 155.17 148.67 156.00 156.99 162.45 166.22 162.80 168.36 163.56 160.86 154.62 161.44	115.58 117.81 119.07 121.01 138.86 145.61 153.17 143.02 135.34 129.03 129.24 140.06 145.13	20.03 19.33 16.67 20.10 21.83 23.90 22.73 23.10 21.20 20.53 21.17 21.53 27.40	154.67 193.67 171.00 181.00	102.78 99.50 90.33 98.95	ок 24.60 20.80 22.53 31.97	<ul> <li>\$</li> /ul>	12 87 12 50 9 50 9 67	thoot E able:	cel	• Help 2.02 2.11 2.37 2.62	117.85 158.37 218.03 363.96	53 09 96 11 47 52 95 88 89 33 1653.00 1701.67 1692.00 1764.00	Dythin-Watso     Qaserwise de     Quiters ou <u>outers ou     outers ou     dat cases     247.84     239.02     234.97     211.97     244.12     289.06 </u>	on agnostics texter 2 2 2 1.55 2.07 1.81 2.13 1.66 1.87	Help 2.40 2.19 2.02 2.38	13.1 12.3 10.4 12.6 13.6 15.4

Slide 12.9: Data structure, selection of appropriate variables, and regression statistics in Regression submenu from analysis menu of SPSS

**Step 5**: Activate the option submenu to get the following window and select the appropriate options.

	1																	Visibi	le: 21 of 21 Vr
	sino	x1	x2	х3	×4	x5	xб	x7	x8	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18
	1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	3 9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96
2	2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	160.00	104.40	22.20	22.17	7 9.97	144.04	7.90	2.11	222.69	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50
2	3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	M Linear	Regression		100.00	1 10	145.00	1100	216	210.10	72.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45
	4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67					Dependent					87.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63
	5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	🖉 sino		•		Ø Y				Statistics.	21.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75
	6	35.02	132.90	128.79	18.47	/ x1			Block 1	of 1				Plots	29.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37
	7	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	×2						-		Sgve	57.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76
	8	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87					gous		CP	<u>na</u>	Options	0	inear Repression	Ontions	X	12.26
	9	34.10	147.68	125.74	19.67	1 x5				x1	(8)		-	~	-	incorrectione	opoord		15.22
1	10	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	🥒 x6				1 2				/	SI	lepping Method C	riteria		15.05
ř –	11	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	<i>∕</i> x7				1×3			-			Use probability of	F		14.98
2	12	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	×8										Entry: 05 Po	emovat .06		11.29
E.	13	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	A x10				6	eenoa [e	JOCK WOR'D			C	Use F yake			12.21
1	14	33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	🖋 x11				Selection Var	isble:					Egtry: 3.54 Pi	100VBL 2.71		11.29
5	15	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	N x12							9_fe			had a second of the			11.52
	16	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	x13				Case Labels:	3					issing Values	eduation		10.52
	17	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	x14													14.93
E.	18	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	A x16			4	WLS Weight						Exclude cases its	twipe		14.54
1	19	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	La.e.	-	-								Exclude cases ga	rwise		17.96
1	20	33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10			OK	Paste	Bese	e Car	cel	Help			) Beplace with mea	n		13.12
8	21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20			-							-15	Continue C	ancel P	telp	12.33
2	22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	16				10.43
5	23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65
6 - C	24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.85	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66
	25	36.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	262	62.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.43

Slide 12.10: Data structure, selection of appropriate variables, and regression options in Regression submenu from analysis menu of SPSS

Step 6: Activate continue followed by OK to get the following results (Table 12.4).

Thus, the ultimate regression equation is the same as was obtained by using MS Excel.

Variables Entered/Removed <sup>b</sup>							
Model	Variables Entered	Variables Removed	Method				
1	x19, x4, x12, x9, x6, x5, x10, x2, x1, x18, x7, x3, x15, x14, x13, x16, x8, x11, x17 <sup>a</sup>	•	Enter				
2		x4	ty				
3		x3	llidi).				
4		x14	oba .06(				
5		x1	L H				
6		x5	ion ve >				
7		x13	iter				
8		x15	(cr				
9		x2	'ard F-tc				
10	·	x9	of				
11	·	x7	Ba				
12	·	x6					
13		x8					

Table 12.4 Backward regression output using SPSS

b. Dependent Variable: y

Model	odel Summary									
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Variables in the equation					
1	.997 <sup>a</sup>	.994	.988	7.09048	a. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x4, x12, x9, x6, x5, x10, x2, x1, x18, x7, x3, x15, x14, x13, x16, x8, x11, x17					
2	.997 <sup>b</sup>	.994	.989	6.89518	b. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x9, x6, x5, x10, x2, x1, x18, x7, x3, x15, x14, x13, x16, x8, x11, x17					
3	.997°	.994	.989	6.71770	c. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x9, x6, x5, x10, x2, x1, x18, x7, x15, x14, x13, x16, x8, x11, x17					
4	.997 <sup>d</sup>	.994	.990	6.55284	d. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x9, x6, x5, x10, x2, x1, x18, x7, x15, x13, x16, x8, x11, x17					
5	.997 <sup>e</sup>	.994	.990	6.43367	e. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x9, x6, x5, x10, x2, x18, x7, x15, x13, x16, x8, x11, x17					
6	.997 <sup>f</sup>	.994	.991	6.32285	f. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x9, x6, x10, x2, x18, x7, x15, x13, x16, x8, x11, x17					
7	.997 <sup>g</sup>	.994	.991	6.23063	g. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x9, x6, x10, x2, x18, x7, x15, x16, x8, x11, x17					
8	.997 <sup>h</sup>	.994	.991	6.13770	h. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x9, x6, x10, x2, x18, x7, x16, x8, x11, x17					
9	.997 <sup>i</sup>	.994	.991	6.15038	i. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x9, x6, x10, x18, x7, x16, x8, x11, x17					
10	.997 <sup>j</sup>	.993	.991	6.16318	j. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x6, x10, x18, x7, x16, x8, x11, x17					
11	.996 <sup>k</sup>	.993	.991	6.28617	k. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x6, x10, x18, x16, x8, x11, x17					
12	.996 <sup>1</sup>	.992	.990	6.55662	1. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x10, x18, x16, x8, x11, x17					
13	.996 <sup>m</sup>	.992	.990	6.60326	m. Predictors: (Constant), x19, x12, x10, x18, x16, x11, x17					



ANOVA	A <sup>n</sup>					
Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	150924.272	19	7943.383	157.999	.000 <sup>a</sup>
	Residual	854.673	17	50.275		
	Total	151778.945	36			
2	Regression	150923.163	18	8384.620	176.357	.000 <sup>b</sup>
	Residual	855.782	18	47.543		
	Total	151778.945	36			
3	Regression	150921.522	17	8877.737	196.725	.000 <sup>c</sup>
	Residual	857.423	19	45.128		
	Total	151778.945	36			
4	Regression	150920.152	16	9432.509	219.669	.000 <sup>d</sup>
	Residual	858.793	20	42.940		
	Total	151778.945	36			
5	Regression	150909.710	15	10060.647	243.057	.000 <sup>e</sup>
	Residual	869.235	21	41.392		
	Total	151778.945	36			
6	Regression	150899.419	14	10778.530	269.608	.000 <sup>f</sup>
	Residual	879.527	22	39.978		
	Total	151778.945	36			
7	Regression	150886.069	13	11606.621	298.980	.000 <sup>g</sup>
	Residual	892.876	23	38.821		
	Total	151778.945	36			
8	Regression	150874.834	12	12572.903	333.753	.000 <sup>h</sup>
	Residual	904.111	24	37.671		
	Total	151778.945	36			
9	Regression	150833.266	11	13712.115	362.494	.000 <sup>i</sup>
	Residual	945.679	25	37.827		
	Total	151778.945	36			
10	Regression	150791.339	10	15079.134	396.978	.000 <sup>j</sup>
	Residual	987.606	26	37.985		
	Total	151778.945	36			
11	Regression	150712.014	9	16745.779	423.773	.000 <sup>k</sup>
	Residual	1066.931	27	39.516		
	Total	151778.945	36			
12	Regression	150575.246	8	18821.906	437.828	.000 <sup>1</sup>
	Residual	1203.700	28	42.989		
	Total	151778.945	36			
13	Regression	150514.457	7	21502.065	493.132	.000 <sup>m</sup>
	Residual	1264.489	29	43.603		
	Total	151778.945	36			

#### Coefficients<sup>a</sup>

		Unstandardized	Coefficients	Standardized Coefficients		
Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	-357.508	75.171		-4.756	.000
	x1	.370	.829	.018	.446	.661
	x2	154	.209	023	735	.472
	x3	069	.297	012	234	.818
	x4	.285	1.922	.008	.149	.884

المتسارات

(continued)

Coeffic	eients <sup>a</sup>					
		Unstandardize	d Coefficients	Standardized Coefficien	nts	
Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
	x5	.071	.154	.019	.462	.650
	x6	621	.376	068	-1.651	.117
	x7	-1.632	1.518	054	-1.075	.297
	x8	-1.308	.871	090	-1.501	.152
	x9	2.050	2.841	.033	.722	.480
	x10	2.927	.241	.435	12.150	.000
	x11	59.591	5.251	.961	11.349	.000
	x12	-32.486	18.719	127	-1.735	.101
	x13	074	.093	038	798	.436
	x14	010	.044	011	232	.820
	x15	.060	.096	.025	.627	.539
	x16	18.444	21.193	.065	.870	.396
	x17	53.480	27.282	.245	1.960	.067
	x18	-4.517	4.045	144	-1.117	.280
	x19	-6.919	5.261	084	-1.315	.206
2	(Constant)	-356.632	72.876		-4.894	.000
	x1	.304	.682	.015	.446	.661
	x2	148	.200	022	741	.468
	x3	042	.224	007	186	.855
	x5	.064	.143	.017	.450	.658
	x6	613	.362	067	-1.693	.108
	x7	-1.625	1.475	053	-1.102	.285
	x8	-1.292	.840	089	-1.537	.142
	x9	1.809	2.265	.029	.798	.435
	x10	2.928	.234	.435	12.497	.000
	x11	60.054	4.108	.968	14.618	.000
	x12	-33.695	16.393	131	-2.055	.055
	x13	070	.085	035	816	.425
	x14	008	.040	008	194	.848
	x15	.057	.091	.024	.627	.539
	x16	20.735	14.134	.073	1.467	.160
	x17	55.296	23.718	.253	2.331	.032
	x18	-4.870	3.182	155	-1.530	.143
	x19	-7.467	3.649	091	-2.046	.056
3	(Constant)	-355.383	70.697		-5.027	.000
	x1	.332	.648	.016	.511	.615
	x2	166	.170	025	976	.341
	x5	.057	.135	.016	.426	.675
	x6	623	.350	068	-1.782	.091
	x7	-1.696	1.389	056	-1.221	.237
	x8	-1.363	.730	094	-1.868	.077
	x9	1.869	2.184	.030	.856	.403
	x10	2.914	.216	.433	13.492	.000
	x11	59.960	3.972	.967	15.097	.000
	x12	-33.860	15.948	132	-2.123	.047
	x13	071	.083	036	859	.401

Table 12.4 (continued)



(continued)

342

#### Table 12.4 (continued)

		Distandardized		Standardized Coer	licients	
Mode	1	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	
	x14	007	.038	007	174	
	x15	.060	.088	.025	.683	
	x16	21.082	13.649	.074	1.545	
	x17	57.719	19.300	.264	2.991	
	x18	-5.182	2.634	165	-1.967	
	x19	-7.595	3.491	093	-2.176	
4	(Constant)	-360.069	63.778		-5.646	
	x1	.297	.603	.014	.493	
	x2	164	.166	025	991	
	x5	.065	.125	.018	.520	
	x6	647	.313	071	-2.068	
	x7	-1.617	1.281	053	-1.263	
	x8	-1.409	.663	097	-2.124	
	x9	1.763	2.045	.029	.862	
	x10	2.917	.210	.434	13.918	
	x11	59.652	3.470	.962	17.190	
	x12	-33.672	15.521	131	-2.169	
	x13	071	.081	036	884	
	x15	.060	.085	.025	.707	
	x16	20.393	12.742	.071	1.600	
	x17	57.953	18.781	.265	3.086	
	x18	-5.246	2.544	167	-2.062	
	x19	-7.651	3.391	093	-2.256	
5	(Constant)	-349.457	58.946		-5.928	
	x2	163	.163	024	-1.001	
	x5	.061	.122	.017	.499	
	x6	681	.300	074	-2.274	
	x7	-1.627	1.257	053	-1.294	
	x8	-1.519	.613	104	-2.476	
	x9	1.925	1.981	.031	.972	
	x10	2.942	.200	.438	14,739	
	x11	59.504	3,394	.959	17,531	
	x12	-32.453	15.044	127	-2.157	
	x13	- 053	.070	027	- 753	
	x15	046	.079	.019	585	
	x16	19 683	12 431	069	1 583	
	x17	59 762	18 084	.007	3 305	
	x18	_5 506	2 443	- 175	_2 253	
	x19	_7 488	3 314	091		
6	(Constant)	_347 082	57 858	.071		
0	x?	_ 156	150	- 023	081	
	x6	.150	280	071	201	
	x7	1 750	1 212	071	-2.239	
	× 9	-1./30	550	037	-1.443	
	x0	-1.404	1 207	090	-2.513	
	x9 x10	2.148	1.69/	.055	1.132	
	x10	2.949	.196	.439	15.060	
	x11	60.001	3.188	.967	18.818	
	X Z	- 12 185		1 - 137	2 555	

www.m

Coeffic	cients <sup>a</sup>					
		Unstandardize	d Coefficients	Standardized Coefficients		
Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
	x13	032	.055	016	578	.569
	x15	.048	.077	.020	.619	.542
	x16	22.238	11.130	.078	1.998	.058
	x17	62.985	16.598	.288	3.795	.001
	x18	-6.078	2.121	193	-2.866	.009
	x19	-8.272	2.866	101	-2.886	.009
7	(Constant)	-346.763	56.976		-6.086	.000
	x2	171	.155	026	-1.101	.282
	x6	631	.283	069	-2.234	.036
	x7	-1.724	1.193	057	-1.445	.162
	x8	-1.409	.550	097	-2.561	.017
	x9	2.414	1.814	.039	1.331	.196
	x10	2.919	.186	.434	15.674	.000
	x11	60.251	3.113	.971	19.354	.000
	x12	-38.232	12.534	149	-3.050	.006
	x15	.040	.075	.017	.538	.596
	x16	22.919	10.906	.080	2.101	.047
	x17	64.111	16.243	.293	3.947	.001
	x18	-6.123	2.088	195	-2.932	.007
	x19	-8.651	2.749	105	-3.147	.005
8	(Constant)	-335.332	52.078		-6.439	.000
	x2	159	.151	024	-1.050	.304
	x6	644	.277	070	-2.321	.029
	x7	-1.931	1.112	063	-1.737	.095
	x8	-1.480	.527	102	-2.810	.010
	x9	1.984	1.604	.032	1.237	.228
	x10	2.970	.158	.442	18.788	.000
	x11	60.205	3.065	.971	19.640	.000
	x12	-35.667	11.419	139	-3.124	.005
	x16	21.941	10.593	.077	2.071	.049
	x17	63.467	15.957	.290	3.977	.001
	x18	-6.324	2.024	201	-3.125	.005
	x19	-8.147	2.546	099	-3.200	.004
9	(Constant)	-339.343	52.045		-6.520	.000
	x6	702	.272	077	-2.579	.016
	x7	-1.908	1.114	063	-1.712	.099
	x8	-1.457	.527	100	-2.764	.011
	x9	1.660	1.577	.027	1.053	.303
	x10	2.977	.158	.443	18.810	.000
	x11	59.433	2.982	.958	19.929	.000
	x12	-34.768	11.410	136	-3.047	.005
	x16	17.997	9.926	.063	1.813	.082
	x17	59.673	15.576	.273	3.831	.001
	x18	-5.957	1.997	189	-2.982	.006
	x19	-7.821	2.532	095	-3.088	.005

#### Table 12.4 (continued)



(continued)

#### Table 12.4 (continued)

		Unstandardize	d Coefficients	Standardized Coefficie	ents	
Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
10	(Constant)	-340.110	52.148		-6.522	.000
	x6	620	.261	068	-2.372	.025
	x7	-1.525	1.055	050	-1.445	.160
	x8	-1.272	.498	087	-2.555	.017
	x10	2.899	.140	.431	20.665	.000
	x11	60.223	2.892	.971	20.822	.000
	x12	-36.805	11.268	144	-3.266	.003
	x16	24.120	8.060	.085	2.993	.006
	x17	57.886	15.515	.265	3.731	.001
	x18	-5.826	1.998	185	-2.916	.007
	x19	-8.538	2.444	104	-3.494	.002
11	(Constant)	-391.643	38.809		-10.092	.000
	x6	424	.228	046	-1.860	.074
	x8	744	.345	051	-2.156	.040
	x10	2.858	.140	.425	20.394	.000
	x11	58.289	2.615	.940	22.289	.000
	x12	-37.182	11.490	145	-3.236	.003
	x16	22.678	8.157	.079	2.780	.010
	x17	53.322	15.493	.244	3.442	.002
	x18	-5.176	1.985	165	-2.607	.015
	x19	-7.772	2.433	095	-3.194	.004
12	(Constant)	-444.651	27.483		-16.179	.000
	x8	323	.272	022	-1.189	.244
	x10	2.820	.145	.419	19.504	.000
	x11	57.403	2.682	.926	21.403	.000
	x12	-33.111	11.765	129	-2.814	.009
	x16	26.011	8.301	.091	3.134	.004
	x17	50.397	16.076	.230	3.135	.004
	x18	-4.647	2.049	148	-2.268	.031
	x19	-8.575	2.498	105	-3.433	.002
13	(Constant)	-453.177	26.720		-16.960	.000
	x10	2.842	.144	.423	19.687	.000
	x11	58.011	2.652	.935	21.878	.000
	x12	-35.905	11.610	140	-3.093	.004
	x16	26.245	8.357	.092	3.140	.004
	x17	53.008	16.039	.242	3.305	.003
	x18	-5.016	2.040	160	-2.458	.020
	x19	-9.225	2 455	- 113	-3 758	001

#### **Regression vs. Causality** 12.5

Regression does not necessarily mean cause and effect relationship. Let us consider situations in

🏹 للاستشارات

which two or more variables are related with each other. Can anyone say the variables cause each other? Can anyone assign any direction of causality? Granger's test for causality can help in finding which variable is the cause of other one and vice versa. For example, the price of potato can depend not only on its past values but also on the lag values of production area under potato and lag values of area under competing crops grown during the potato season. For the time being, let us restrict to two variables only, that is, price of potato ( $P_r$ ) and production of potato (P).

$$P_{rt} = \alpha_1 P_1 + \alpha_2 P_2 + \alpha_3 P_3 + \cdots + \beta_1 P_{r_1} + \beta_2 P_{r_2} + \beta_3 P_{r_3} \cdots + u_{1t}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i P_{(t-i)} + \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_j P_{r(t-j)} + u_{1t} \quad (12.1)$$

and

$$P_{t} = \lambda_{1}P_{r_{1}} + \lambda_{2}P_{r_{2}} + \lambda_{3}P_{r_{3}} + \cdots + \gamma_{1}P_{1} + \gamma_{2}P_{2} + \cdots + u_{2t}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i}P_{r(t-i)} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \gamma_{j}P_{j(t-j)}.$$
(12.2)

We are to find out whether the (1) price of potato is caused by production of jute, that is,  $\sum \alpha_i \neq 0$  and  $\sum \gamma_j = 0$ ; (2) production is caused by the price of potato, that is,  $\sum \alpha_i = 0$  and  $\sum \lambda_j \neq 0$ ; (3) two-way causality, that is, both price causes production and production causes price, that is, coefficients are statistically significantly different from zero in both regressions; and (4) existence of no causality, that is, coefficients are not statistically significant from zero.

**Solution.** The step-by-step procedure is as follows:

- 1. Regress current price on all lagged price only and get residual sum of square (RSS<sub>1</sub>).
- 2. Regress current price on all lagged price and include lagged productions also. Get RSS<sub>2</sub>.
- 3. Calculate  $F = \frac{(RSS_1 RSS_2)/m}{RSS_2/(n-k)}$  with m,

n - k d.f., where *m* is the number of lagged productions and *k* is the number of parameters estimated in Step 2.

- 4. If Cal F > Tab F, then  $H_0$ :  $\sum \alpha_i = 0$  is rejected, that is, production causes price.
- 5. Repeat the Steps 1–4 with the mode 2, that is, to check whether  $P_r \rightarrow P$  and conclude accordingly.



#### 12.6 Partial Correlation

As has already been mentioned, the effect of variables on other variables may not be the same under multiple variable condition than what is found in bivariate condition. The interaction effects among the variables play great role in depicting one-to-one association, measured in terms of simple correlation coefficient also. Thus, the simple correlation coefficient under multiple variable condition may not portray the exact picture. Before calculation of correlation coefficient between any two variables under multiple variable condition, one must eliminate the effects of other variables on both variables under consideration. Precisely, we would like to know what the correlation would be between Y and  $X_1$ , say, after eliminating the effects of all other variables such as  $X_2, X_3, \ldots, X_k$  on both of these variables. This is called the partial correlation of Y and  $X_1$ , and the coefficient is written as  $r_{y1,23...k} = r_{01,23...k}$ . It is in general differs from the ordinary correlation coefficient  $r_{01}$  for Y and  $X_1$ . Using the correlation matrix R, one can work out the partial correlation as follows:

$$r_{01.2} = \frac{-R_{01}}{(R_{00}R_{11})^{\frac{1}{2}}}, \text{ where}$$
$$\Re = \begin{pmatrix} r_{00} & r_{00} & r_{02} \\ r_{10} & r_{11} & r_{12} \\ r_{20} & r_{21} & r_{22} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & r_{01} & r_{02} \\ r_{10} & 1 & r_{12} \\ r_{20} & r_{21} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \text{ for three variable case}$$

and this can be generalized for k variables  $X_1$ ,  $X_2, \ldots, X_k$  as well.

Thus, partial correlation coefficient between *i*th and *j*th variables  $r_{ij.123...k} = -\frac{R_{ij}}{(R_{ii}R_{ij})^{\frac{1}{2}}}, \quad i \neq j$ , where the correlation matrix now has (k + 1) rows and columns and  $R_{ij}, R_{ii}$ , and  $R_{jj}$ , has usual meanings as described earlier. It is to be noted that  $-1 \leq r_{ij.123...k} \leq 1$ .

Though, using MS Excel package, we may not directly get the partial correlation coefficients,

but packages like SPSS and SAS provide partial correlation coefficient.

Let us take the Example 12.1 of this chapter to demonstrate the process of getting partial correlation coefficient using SPSS. The following table gives the information on ten varieties of mulberry. Find out the partial correlation coefficients of leaf yield on other three yield attributing characters.

Leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> ): $X_1$	94.61	42.3	98.15	72.61	174.45	115.62	78.41	133.74	112.94	148.28
Total shoot length(cm): $X_2$	525.56	345	711.11	307.56	529.44	631.67	526.67	442.22	482.33	422.78
Leaf moisture(%): $X_3$	79.35	58.41	73.67	74.6	81.21	82.83	78.66	80.76	80.66	78.26
Leaf yield/plant(g): Y	255.56	97.78	237.78	161.11	263.33	237.78	217.78	224.44	228.89	190

**Step 1**: Up on transferring the data to SPSS editor, go to Analyze, followed by Correlate and Partial, as shown below:



Slide 12.11: Data structure and selection of appropriate correlation submenu in analysis menu of SPSS

Step 2: Select the variables for which partial correlation is to be worked out and also the

variables for which effects are to be eliminated, as shown below.



<b>T</b> Untitle	d - SPSS Dat	a Editor	Los Circle	retenic take	oden ilek													- 6 X
			D 44 +		ALE S	6												
24:x3																		
	x1	x2	x3	y	var	var	var	var	var	var	var	var	var	var	var	var	var	var 🔺
1	94.61	525.56	79.35	255.56	( Incom				-									
2	42.30	345.00	58.41	97.78	Parti	arcorrelatio	nus.											
3	98.15	711.11	73.67	237.78				/ariables:		OK								
4	72.61	307.56	74.60	161.11				€y		Paste	-	_			-		-	
5	1/4.45	529.44	81.21	263.33				🤹 x1			1							
7	70.41	631.67	70 66	237.70						Heset		-			-		-	
8	133.74	442.22	80.76	217.70			0	Controlling for		Cancel								
9	112.94	482.33	80.66	228.89	1			♦ x2		Help		1	-				-	
10	148.28	422.78	78.26	190.00	1		-	🔹 x3										
11																		
12					Test of	Significance												
13					• 1	wo-tailed	C One-talk	Nd							-		_	
14					C Ditel	w actual signifi	cance level			Options								
15															-			
10								-			-							
18										-		-		-	-	-	-	_
19																		
20																		
21						-				-					1		1	
22																		
23						_		_	_	-			_					
24				-		-		-	-	-	-	-			-		-	
25						-			-						-		-	
20							-	-	-	-		-			-	-	-	
28								-	-	-			-					
29										-								
30									-									
Date of the second	a View (Var	iable View /	-	-			-				1	1		1				1
											SPSS Pro	cessor is ready	e - 31					
👫 star	1 3	12- Multivariate	analy	Marosoft E	cel - Books	TH UNK	ed - SPSS Date									2	* R	1:07 PM

Slide 12.12: Data structure and selection of appropriate variables in correlation submenu in analysis menu of SPSS

**Step 3**: Click OK to get the following output. In the similar fashion, by changing the variables in Step 2, one can have different combinations of partial correlation coefficients among the variables. Given below are the different partial correlation coefficients of dependent variable Y with other variables as worked out following the above process (Table 12.5).

Table 12.5	Output table of partial	l correlation analysis using SPSS
------------	-------------------------	-----------------------------------

To get the following partial correlation coefficients:
To get the following partial contention coefficients.
PARTIAL CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS
Controlling for: X2 X3
Y X1
Y 1.0000 .2488
X1 .2488 1.0000
PARTIAL CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS
Controlling for X3 X1
Y X2
Y 1.0000 .7890*
X2 .7890* 1.0000
PARTIAL CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS
Controlling for: X1 X2
Y X3
Y 1.0000 .7778*
X3 .7778* 1.0000
* - Signif. LE .05  ** - Signif. LE .01 (2-tailed)
". " is printed if a coefficient cannot be computed



		X1	X2	X3	Y
X1	Pearson correlation	1	.282	.708(*)	.656(*)
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.430	.022	.039
	Ν	10	10	10	10
X2	Pearson correlation	.282	1	.417	.724(*)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.430	•	.231	.018
	Ν	10	10	10	10
X3	Pearson correlation	.708(*)	.417	1	.854(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.022	.231		.002
	Ν	10	10	10	10
Y	Pearson correlation	.656(*)	.724(*)	.854(**)	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.039	.018	.002	
	Ν	10	10	10	10

Let us consider the simple correlation coefficients among the variables under consideration as given below:

\*\*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

Thus, from the above, it is clear that in all the three cases, the simple correlation coefficients are different from the partial correlation coefficients of yield and other three variables, individually.

Partial correlation coefficient can also be worked out using SAS.

#### 12.7 **Canonical Correlation**

During regression analysis, generally one dependent variable is taken at a time to find out its relationship with independent variables. But in many situations, the researchers need to consider a group of dependent and independent variables. The researchers become interested in getting the relationship between a group of dependent variables and a group of independent variables. Canonical correlation analysis facilitates in getting the interrelationship between these two groups of variables. Canonical correlation is a powerful multivariate technique which provides the information of higher quality and in a more interpretable manner. Canonical analysis suggests the number of ways in which two groups (independent and dependent) of variables are related, their strength of linear relationship, and the nature of the relationship which otherwise might be unmanageable by judging huge number of bivariate correlations between sets of variables.

In social or agricultural studies, the innovation index, motivation index, adoption index, etc., of farmers are dependent on age, gender, education, income, family size, etc. Multiple regression equation of innovation index with age, gender, education, income, family size, etc., can predict the innovation index only. Similarly one can predict motivation index and/or adoption index using the independent variables mentioned above. But if the researcher wants to evaluate/identify/index farmers taking all the three indices at a time by assessing the relationship of these groups of dependent variables with the independent variables' group consisting of age, gender, education, income, family size, etc., then canonical correlation analysis could be the possible way out.

Canonical correlation measures the intensity of relationship between the linear combinations of the dependent variables with those of the independent variables. The weighted linear combinations of two or more (either for independent or for dependent) variables are known as canonical variates (also known as linear composites, linear compounds). Thus, the canonical correlation measures the strength of relationship between two canonical variates (two sets of variables). The canonical correlation analysis searches for optimum structure of

each set of variables that maximizes the intensity of relationship between the dependent and independent variable sets. Actually, during the above process, the process develops the number of independent canonical functions that maximizes the correlation between the canonical variates. The characteristic feature of the canonical correlation is that the canonical weights are derived in such a way so as to maximize the correlation between the canonical variates.

In canonical analysis, one comes across with the following terminologies ( $X_i$ 's are the independent variables and  $Y_j$ 's are the dependent variables):

- (a) *Canonical loadings*: It is the simple correlation between the individual independent variables and the canonical variates made out of the independent variables. That means  $r_{x_i \text{ vs. } x_{cv}}$  canonical loading measures the simple linear correlation between an observed variable and the sets of canonical variates. Thus, canonical loading reflects the variance that the variable shares with canonical variate, that is, its relative importance to the canonical variate; the larger the value, the greater the importance.
- (b) *Canonical cross loading*: As the name suggests, it is the correlation between the independent/dependent variables and the opposite canonical variates, that is, canonical variates of dependent variables/canonical variates of independent variables, respectively. That means  $r_{x_i \text{ vs. } y_{cv}}$  or  $r_{y_j \text{ vs. } x_{cv}}$ . As such cross loadings provide a more direct measure of the dependent–independent variable relationship.
- (c) Canonical function: The correlational relationships between two canonical variates are known as canonical function. The two canonical variates are made of independent and dependent variables separately. The canonical functions are derived in such a way that these are mutually independent of each other, that is, orthogonal.
- (d) Canonical root: The square of the canonical correlation between two canonical variates is known as canonical root. This is also known as eigenvalue. Actually canonical root estimates the amount of variations shared between the

للاستشارات

two optimally weighted canonical variates of the sets of independent and dependent variables.

(e) Redundancy index: It is the amount of variance of a canonical variate explained by the other canonical variate in the canonical function. For example, redundancy index of canonical variate of dependent variables is the amount of variance of dependent canonical variate explained by the canonical variates of independent variates.

Canonical correlation analysis is generally aimed at *three objectives*: (1) assessing the intensity of linear relationship between two sets of variables (dependent and independent) measured from the same elements, (2) working out the weights of the linear combinations, that is, canonical variates in such a way that each set will have maximum correlation, and (3) assessing the contribution of each variable to the canonical function.

Sample size plays a great role in canonical analysis. Small sample size fails to represent the correlation adequately, while very large sample may lead to a very small correlation significant at every instance. As a guideline, the researcher is advised to maintain at least ten observations per variable, though there is no or little importance of variables to be included in the dependent or independent sets, because of the maximization of correlation during productions of canonical variates that affect the entire process. Here lies the importance of selection of variables in the canonical variates. It is always welcome that the researcher should have conceptua understanding in linking the sets for variables before canonical correlation analysis.

Various ways of interpreting the canonical correlations have been propounded. As most of the multivariate analyses require computer software and the output generated may vary among these packages, among these the cross loading approach is mostly preferred, if not available, either to calculate these manually or to use canonical loadings for interpretation.

*Example 12.3.* Using the same data set of 37 varieties for 19 characters and taking X1–X10 as independent and X11–X19 as dependent variables, let us see the canonical correlation analysis through SAS.

**Step 1**: Import/transport/copy the data set as given below in two slides.

to provide	- onocor																	(C) [C	4
sie tot	View To	ols Kun	Solutions	Window H	elp	U Da e			× n	0									-
1					a u	10 150	18 · · / 1		~ • •	*									_
data ce	ncor;																		
input a	1 x2 x3	x4 x5 x6	x7 x8 3	t9 x10 x1	1 x12 x1	3 x14 x1	5 x16 x1	7 x18 x	19 1										
cards;		140.40		1 6 9 6 9															
32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67 313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85	
29.05	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33 298.72	1.93	2.95	14.50	9.95	354.41	
32.35	138.77	199.30	18.63	196.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	16/2.33 302.74	1.90	2.11	15.45	9.33	358.12	
38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	39.50	8.73	191.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33 263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39	
37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00 277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82	
35.02	132.90	128.79	10.97	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00 267.74	1.34	2.91	13.37	0.91	369.02	
32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33 264.72	1.72	2.95	13.76	8.99	373.14	
2.50	137.11	110.10	10.07	193.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	2.97	133.95	7.83	2.08	196.35	1021.07 291.99	1.74	2.25	12.20	7.98	353.28	
4.10	197.68	125.74	19.67	153.00	98.60	29.13	30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.56	1634.33 253.30	1.95	2.79	15.22	0.94	350.18	
7.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67 263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78	
3.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10.19	2.73	239.65	1785.67 286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41	
1.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00 284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.59	416.26	
1.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00 276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56	
3.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00 294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73	
4.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67 288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85	
2.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33 307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94	
1.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67 316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86	
4.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33 313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73	
4.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67 288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12	
3.13	162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33 247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93	
1.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33 239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47	
1.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00 234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67	
9.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67 211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57	
5.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00 244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87	
5.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00 289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53	
1.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67 312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42	
5.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33 289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74	
3.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67 286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22	
4.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00 333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62	
6.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33 306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00	
1 54	127 27	121 04	A1 63	105 55	101 67	54 BB	00 EA	10 00	121 94	0 47	4 44	151 65	1205 00 101 00	1 70	9 45	10 75	6 1.5	*** ***	
utput -	(Untitled)	E Log	- (Untitled		Editor - I	Untitled1 *	Re	sults Viewe	r - SAS Ou										
sers\CC																		Ln 627, C	ol
	A 0	6	6	6 3	0	100										-	0	D (2) (	

Slide	<b>12.13</b> :	Data	structure	for	canonical	analysis	using	SAS
-------	----------------	------	-----------	-----	-----------	----------	-------	-----

SAS - [Editor	r - Untitled1 *	1																0	×
File Edit	View Too	ls Run	Solutions	Window H	lelp														- 8 :
~			•	🗅 🛸 🖬	6 0	X 95	跑 🕫 🔋	1 2 1	X 🛈 🕯	0									
38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00 276.2	4 1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56	
33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00 294.9	8 1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73	
34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67 288.4	1 1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85	
32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33 307.5	1 1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94	
34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67 316.7	3 1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86	
34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33 313.1	2 1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73	
34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67 288.2	9 1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12	
33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33 247.8	4 1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93	
34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33 239.0	2 2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47	
31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00 234.9	7 1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67	
29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67 211.9	7 2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57	
35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00 244.1	2 1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87	
35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00 289.0	6 1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53	
38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67 312.4	7 1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42	
35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33 289.8	7 1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74	
33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67 286.0	4 1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22	
34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00 333.3	4 1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62	
36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33 306.5	6 1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00	
37.34	157.67	151.84	21.63	195.33	102.57	24.90	33.50	10.90	161.70	8.42	2.20	232.85	1582.33 291.3	3 1.76	2.05	10.76	8.12	442.93	
33.13	151.16	143.56	24.53	191.00	98.26	25.00	29.50	11.03	135.25	7.69	2.20	203.45	1588.33 250.5	5 2.15	1.80	9.63	7.10	331.91	
30.20	144.68	133.70	21.73	176.00	95.76	22.50	35.83	10.50	140.91	6.96	1.94	154.35	1611.00 277.8	5 1.89	2.00	10.19	7.25	321.00	
30.26	140.64	119.93	21.93	178.67	94.23	20.77	37.67	9.30	128.65	7.12	2.13	159.38	1601.00 286.5	4 1.89	1.99	10.35	7.28	283.70	
31.27	141.59	123.96	19.37	180.67	105.51	18.00	35.33	8.93	133.87	6.65	1.91	205.68	1648.00 302.3	1 1.74	2.23	12.42	8.15	276.98	
33.17	150.82	131.18	18.80	178.67	107.36	17.37	31.17	9.23	143.59	6.68	1.92	206.11	1634.00 306.6	1 2.08	2.12	11.87	9.09	300.94	
32.15	151.23	137.13	22.37	179.67	112.17	20.13	30.83	8.90	143.36	6.83	1.81	203.41	1650.33 304.8	6 2.12	2.15	11.52	9.27	295.61	
;					A														
sproc cal	ncorr dat	a=canco	7 vperi	x=10 wpe	T1X=19;	2	14 -15 -1	£ -17 -	10 -10-										
run:	A2 X3 X1	AS XO J	(/ X0 X)	ALO FRIC	x x.		11 X10 X1	0 X1/ X	10 A17;										
																			-
Output - (1	Untitled)	ELo	g - (Untitle	ŋ	Editor -	Untitled1	• 💽 R	esults View	er - SAS Ou_										
C:\Users\CC																		Ln 627, Co	15
	A 0	E	R	6 35	0												0	m an 00	
	-		and the second s		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	and the second s										_	Y		

Slide 12.14: Data structure and commands for canonical analysis using SAS

**Step 2**: Write the command along with specification of groups of variables, as shown above.


/	RE LOIT VIEW	Go Tools Sol	D	nep 2   🖉 🔃   X	<b>1</b> 0 ₫ ∞	<b>9 19 21</b>		An   🧶				-
						cluster ar	alysis usi	ng plant da	ita			
						The	CANCORR P	rocedure				
						Canoni	cal Correlation	on Analysis				
		Adjusted	Approximate	Squared		Eigenvalue = CanRsq/	s of Inv(E)"H (1-CanRsq)		Test of H0: The canonic	al correlations in the	current row an	d all that
	Canonical Correlation	Canonical Correlation	Standard Error	Canonical Correlation	Eigenvalue	Difference	Proportion	Cumulative	Likelihood Ratio	Approximate F Value	Num DF	Den I
	0.959219	0.937766	0.013316	0.920102	11.5159	7.8867	0.5161	0.5161	0.00028062	3.44	90	132
	0.885427		0.036003	0.783981	3.6292	0.3409	0.1627	0.6788	0.00351222	2.62	72	123
	0.875677		0.038865	0.766810	3.2883	1.8531	0.1474	0.8261	0.01625883	2.32	56	113
	0.767704	0.620758	0.068438	0.589369	1.4353	0.2510	0.0643	0.8905	0.06972350	1.86	42	101
	0.736328		0.076304	0.542178	1.1843	0.4847	0.0531	0.9435	0.16979601	1.67	30	
	0.641573	0.562726	0.098064	0.411616	0.6996	0.1894	0.0314	0.9749	0.37087805	1.35	20	77.
	0.581217		0.110365	0.337813	0.5101	0.4687	0.0229	0.9978	0.63033282	1.01	12	63
	0.199413	001665	0.160039	0.039766	0.0414	0.0327	0.0019	0.9996	0.95189545	0.21	6	
	0.093190		0.165219	0.008684	0.0088		0.0004	1.0000	0.99131564	0.11	2	
	Dutput - (Untitled	n [F] Log -	(Untitled)	Editor - Until	ledl *	Results Viewer	SAS_					
			(*******	ED CONC. CONC.								

## Step 3: Get the following output.

Slide 12.15: Portion of output for canonical analysis using S
---

Cluster analysis using plant dataThe Calve C	 _	• [10]		3 10 10 10	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	·					
The CHC/CRP ProcestCancial Science S					cluster anal	ysis using pl	ant data					
Canonical Cust Build           Raw Cust Build <th c<="" th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>The CAI</th><th>NCORR Proced</th><th>ure</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></th>	<th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>The CAI</th> <th>NCORR Proced</th> <th>ure</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>					The CAI	NCORR Proced	ure				
Raw Canonical Cost Not Variables           Image: Not					Canonical	Correlation An	alysis					
H101         H102         H103         H104         H106         H106         H107         H108         H109           x1         0.0922716405         0.1231248396         -0.013298848         0.2662156148         -0.027565205         -0.057408152         -0.169023582         -0.22173337         -0.0500035           x2         -0.002568239         0.0124959255         -0.002979281         0.012043247         -0.03059373         0.012560519         0.131999631         0.029331966         -0.03199051           x3         -0.044727034         0.013090617         0.0003017765         -0.02926591         0.081108228         -0.071273623         -0.052389708         0.016493818         -0.091199051           x4         0.3905633115         -0.085396729         0.10841770         0.1640227792         0.102850914         -0.012662915         -0.00711087         0.04046309         0.04036309           x5         0.0179238050         0.016804374         0.011247041         -0.022855848         0.1590489057         -0.06844284         0.043459889           x7         0.929235956         0.00754738         -0.01620788         0.016204374         0.011247041         -0.02285747         0.02038073         0.16398041         0.16394484         0.043459889           x8         -				Raw	Canonical Coe	fficients for the	VAR Variables					
x1       0.0922716400       0.1231248396       0.013298848       0.2662156148       0.027565205       0.057408152       0.169023582       0.220173537       0.05000035         x2       0.002568239       0.0124959255       0.00037765       0.002925691       0.012043247       0.00309733       0.012660519       0.131999631       0.029331966       0.034194084         x3       0.044727034       0.03009077       0.0003017765       0.002925591       0.0810108228       0.071273623       0.052389706       0.0166493818       0.09919951         x4       0.309503115       0.0683067780       0.104027724       0.104027792       0.102880786       0.025320245       0.006076198       0.066476428       0.104016809         x5       0.019238025       0.061804305       0.006071474       0.011247041       0.022855848       0.1506498057       0.09848791       0.66644284       0.043459889         x7       0.902925956       0.400752473       0.01620878       0.46550717       -0.06849391       0.424657327       0.002038073       0.163980411       0.1557472256         x8       -0.00436921       0.1871495766       -0.19629848       0.07700099       0.128916094       0.248627327       0.002038073       0.163980411       0.1557472256       0.266405178       0.0248627279		f101	f102	f103	f104	f105	f106	f107	f108	f109		
x2       0.002568239       0.0124959285       0.003017765       0.012043247       0.003099373       0.012660519       0.1301999631       0.029331966       0.03911964         x3       0.044727034       0.0130090617       0.003017765       0.002926591       0.0810108228       0.071273623       0.052389708       0.016493818       0.096199051         x4       0.3905633115       0.085396782       0.108461776       0.1640227792       0.1028689768       0.2352024805       0.0060761498       0.63624623       0.184110668         x5       0.0179238805       0.01804537       0.404294274       0.008715978       0.028538910       0.012662915       0.007011087       0.40468309       0.00308105         x6       0.008923622       0.64904305       0.00824474       0.0112470401       -0.02835848       0.159049057       0.09848791       0.40686309       0.246595784         x7       0.092925965       0.4007524738       -0.016208788       0.465350717       -0.06849391       0.242862732       0.002038073       0.616398411       0.185747255         x9       0.435523179       0.48096673       0.32521278       0.23328252       0.664642778       0.0043149       0.34019932       0.261793023       0.2626040519         x10       0.0109314       0.42225733 </td <td>x1</td> <td>0.0922716405</td> <td>0.1231248396</td> <td>-0.013298848</td> <td>0.2662156148</td> <td>-0.027565205</td> <td>-0.057408152</td> <td>-0.169023582</td> <td>-0.220173537</td> <td>-0.05006035</td> <td></td>	x1	0.0922716405	0.1231248396	-0.013298848	0.2662156148	-0.027565205	-0.057408152	-0.169023582	-0.220173537	-0.05006035		
x3       0.044727034       0.0130090617       0.003017765       0.002926591       0.0810108228       0.071273623       0.052389708       0.016493818       0.096199051         x4       0.3905633115       0.085396782       0.108461776       0.1640227792       0.1028689768       0.2352024805       0.0060761498       0.63624623       0.1849110668         x5       0.0179238805       0.001804537       0.042923274       0.008715978       0.03539014       0.012662915       0.007011087       0.04068039       0.00308105         x6       0.008923622       0.040940305       0.004024274       0.0112470401       0.022835848       0.159049057       0.09848791       0.04068308       0.043598898         x7       0.099235965       0.4007524738       0.016208788       0.465350717       -0.0684931       0.042734387       0.352513493       0.246957784         x8       0.004036921       0.1871495786       0.196298498       0.0700009       0.128916094       0.224862732       0.002035037       0.160398411       0.1857472256         x9       0.435523179       0.48096673       0.32512178       0.233028352       0.664642778       0.004471263       0.34019932       0.261793023       0.2626040519       0.111116861         x10       0.10193114       0.022225	x2	-0.002568239	0.0124959285	-0.005799281	0.0120443247	-0.030599373	0.0125605159	0.1301999631	0.0299331986	-0.034194084		
x4       0.3905633115       -0.085396782       0.108461776       0.1640227792       0.102868976       0.2352024605       -0.060761498       -0.63624623       0.1849110668         x5       0.0179238805       0.01804537       0.042923274       -0.008715978       -0.035539014       -0.012662915       -0.007011087       0.04068309       -0.005308105         x6       -0.008923622       0.040943030       -0.060724738       -0.012470401       -0.022835848       0.1590498057       -0.09848791       0.063642844       -0.043459889         x7       0.092925965       0.4007524738       -0.01620788       -0.465350717       -0.06849391       0.049995667       0.427734387       0.352513493       0.2466957784         x8       -0.004036921       0.1871495785       -0.16208788       0.0700009       -0.12816094       0.224862732       0.002035073       0.16309411       0.1857472256         x9       0.435525179       0.4080673       0.02421217       0.029482802       0.04680297       0.044471263       0.3019932       0.261973023       0.2626040519         x10       0.01043144       -0.02422573       0.024121217       0.029482802       0.04642778       0.04447163       0.0348985114       0.111116861         x10       0.01093144       0.02422573 <t< td=""><td>х3</td><td>-0.044727034</td><td>0.0130090617</td><td>0.0003017765</td><td>-0.002926591</td><td>0.0810108228</td><td>-0.071273623</td><td>-0.052389708</td><td>0.0166493818</td><td>-0.096199051</td><td></td></t<>	х3	-0.044727034	0.0130090617	0.0003017765	-0.002926591	0.0810108228	-0.071273623	-0.052389708	0.0166493818	-0.096199051		
x5       0.0179238805       0.001804537       0.0429243274       0.008715978       -0.035393014       -0.012662915       -0.007011067       0.040468309       -0.00308105         x6       -0.008923622       0.0649043005       -0.060424474       0.0112470401       -0.022835848       0.1590498057       -0.09848791       0.063644284       -0.04345989         x7       0.0929235965       0.4007524738       -0.016208788       -0.465350717       -0.06849391       0.049995867       0.0427734387       0.352513493       0.2466957784         x8       -0.004036921       0.1871495786       -0.16208788       -0.07000099       -0.12891604       0.2248627327       0.0020358073       0.163090411       0.1857472256         x9       0.4355253179       -0.40966733       -0.382511278       0.230328325       0.664662778       -0.0840309       -0.34019932       0.261793023       0.262040519         x10       -0.01943144       -0.02222573       0.0241221247       0.0294962809       0.026692728       0.044471263       0.034895115       0.1011418681	x4	0.3905633115	-0.085396782	0.108461776	0.1640227792	0.1028869768	0.2352024805	-0.060761498	-0.636246423	0.1849110668		
x6       -0.008923622       0.064043005       -0.0642474       0.0112470401       -0.02283584       0.1590498057       -0.09846791       0.0636442884       -0.043459889         x7       0.0929235965       0.4007524738       -0.016208788       -0.465350717       -0.06849391       0.0499995867       0.022734387       0.3525134943       0.2466957784         x8       -0.004039921       0.1871495786       -0.96294989       0.077000099       -0.128916094       0.2248627327       0.0020358073       0.1603980411       0.1857472256         x9       0.435525179       -0.469066733       -0.3682511278       0.230328325       0.6646642778       -0.00840309       -0.34019932       0.261793023       0.2626040519         x10       -0.010943144       -0.024225738       0.0241221247       0.0294962809       0.0266927290       0.044471263       0.0760326114       0.111418681         V       Example contract Coefficients for the WITH Variables       Example contract Coefficients for the WITH Variables         x10       191       192       193       194       195       196       197       198       199	x5	0.0179238805	0.001804537	0.0429243274	-0.008715978	-0.035539014	-0.012662915	-0.007011087	0.040468309	-0.005308105		
x7       0.0929235965       0.4007524783       -0.016208788       -0.465350717       -0.06849391       0.0499995867       0.0427734387       0.3525134943       0.2466957784         x8       -0.004039921       0.1871495766       -0.19629488       0.077000099       -0.128916094       0.2248627327       0.020358073       0.1603980411       0.1857472256         x9       0.435555179       -0.40906733       -0.32951278       0.202058025       0.664662778       -0.008403049       0.34019932       0.2617953023       0.262040519         x10       -0.010943144       -0.024225738       0.022425720       0.02692729       0.04471263       0.0760326114       0.0348985115       0.1011418681	x6	-0.008923622	0.0649043005	-0.060424474	0.0112470401	-0.022835848	0.1590498057	-0.09848791	0.0636442884	-0.043459889		
x8       -0.004036921       0.1871495786       -0.196298498       0.077000099       -0.128916094       0.2248627327       0.0020358073       0.1603980411       0.1857472256         x9       0.4355253179       -0.480966733       -0.382511278       0.2303285325       0.6646642778       -0.00403049       -0.34019932       0.2617953023       0.26202040519         x10       -0.010943144       -0.024225738       0.0224962809       0.0266927298       0.04471263       0.760326114       0.0348985115       0.1011418681	x7	0.0929235965	0.4007524738	-0.016208788	-0.465350717	-0.06849391	0.0499995867	0.0427734387	0.3525134943	0.2466957784		
x9       0.4355253179       -0.480966733       -0.382511278       0.2303285325       0.6646642778       -0.008403049       -0.34019932       0.2617953023       0.2626040519         x10       -0.010943144       -0.024225738       0.0421221247       0.0294962809       0.0266927298       0.0444712638       0.0760326114       0.0348985115       0.1011418681         Raw Canonical Coefficients for the WITH Variables         I I91       I92       I93       I94       I95       I96       I97       I98       I99	<b>x8</b>	-0.004036921	0.1871495786	-0.196298498	0.077000099	-0.128916094	0.2248627327	0.0020358073	0.1603980411	0.1857472256		
x10       -0.010943144       -0.024225738       0.0421221247       0.0294962809       0.0266927298       0.0444712638       0.0760326114       0.0348985115       0.1011418681         Raw Canonical Coefficients for the WITH Variables         I91       I92       I93       I95       I96       I97       I98       I99	<b>x9</b>	0.4355253179	-0.480966733	-0.382511278	0.2303285325	0.6646642778	-0.008403049	-0.34019932	0.2617953023	0.2626040519		
Raw Canonical Coefficients for the WITH Variables           191         192         193         194         195         196         197         198         199	x10	-0.010943144	-0.024225738	0.0421221247	0.0294962809	0.0266927298	0.0444712638	0.0760326114	0.0348985115	0.1011418681		
191 192 193 194 195 196 197 198 199				Raw	Canonical Coe	fficients for the	WITH Variables	1				
		191	192	193	194	195	196	197	198	199		

Slide 12.16: Portion of output for canonical analysis using SAS (Canonical cross loading of first set of variables with opposite canonical variables)



			Raw	Canonical Coel	fficients for the	WITH Variables	í			
	191	192	193	194	195	196	197	198	199	
x11	0.8304150217	0.2991268156	0.8981833548	-0.466270903	1.1897719804	0.4949132343	0.7505986718	-0.172763056	-1.516049257	
x12	-1.605650748	1.1245862786	-4.263496119	-1.004472935	-0.328863873	-4.313645927	-2.169954614	2.6437255435	9.2402483415	
x13	0.0075345304	0.0120302965	0.0209359343	0.0238788852	-0.010702288	-0.017685003	-0.013228012	-0.010728266	-0.019453378	
x14	0.0033872999	-0.002727106	-0.006201527	0.0145989092	-0.00305357	0.0140849745	-0.00824207	-0.007514613	0.003160581	
x15	-0.010276184	-0.008656152	0.0157678339	-0.001505707	-0.003710344	0.0340140481	0.0259613424	-0.01039854	0.0276227272	
x16	4.100104911	-1.639113347	2.8853225641	0.6933715597	0.6817886509	-1.097963713	5.4083075082	-3.713396519	0.5551595898	
x17	3.7397190039	1.4682671778	0.9154345995	0.370074445	-10.27693116	5.1432379728	4.9692469097	-0.457865759	-5.530398004	
x18	-0.717530928	-0.149664358	-0.108775269	-0.099072869	1.30922941	-0.689533747	-0.167498296	-0.424336157	0.5550901095	
x19	-0.907743882	0.2709393555	-0.729001685	-0.225538825	0.3254054168	-0.46277575	-0.439289601	2.3669978913	-0.203558484	
				cluster anal The CAI Canonical	ysis using pl NCORR Proced Correlation An	lant data lure alysis				
			Standard	ized Canonical	Coefficients fo	or the VAR Varia	bles			
			f101 f102	2 f103 f1	104 f105	f106 f107	f108 f109	)		
 10	Log - (Untitled)	Editor - L	Intitled1 *	Results Viewer - SAS	s					

Slide 12.17: Portion of output for canonical analysis using SAS (Canonical cross loading of second set of variables with opposite canonical variables)

SAS - [Results Viewer - SAS Output]											00	x
File Edit View Go Tools So	olutions Window Help	1.0.0										. 0
~	•][[] 🖙 🖬   🗠 🗷	3.001	2018		amaryor	5 O A	PINITE					_
				Th	CANCO		a dura					
					CANCO	ARTIO	cedure					
					Canonic	al Struct	ure					
		Correlat	ions Bet	ween the	VAR Va	riables a	nd Their	Canonic	al Variab	les		
		f101	f102	f103	f104	f105	f106	f107	f108	f109		
	x1	0.1518	0.7158	0.0620	0.2285	-0.0712	-0.2248	-0.0265	-0.1097	-0.0107		
	x2	0.4916	0.2040	-0.1253	0.1336	0.1267	0.1024	0.6199	0.1333	-0.5015		
	x3	-0.0565	0.2642	0.2742	0.4350	0.6077	-0.0923	-0.0040	0.1828	-0.1300		
	x4	0.5143	0.0228	0.2998	0.2081	0.3934	0.2571	0.0759	-0.2117	-0.0488		
	x5	0.4274	-0.1638	0.5036	0.3902	-0.2020	-0.0983	-0.1680	0.4379	-0.0872		
	x6	-0.0344	0.1065	0.2000	-0.2384	0.0878	0.7398	-0.1397	0.0637	-0.4297		
	x7	0.3299	0.6497	0.0384	-0.5465	0.2585	-0.0452	0.1018	-0.0211	0.0779		
	×8	-0.0419	-0.0217	-0.2578	0.6008	-0.0549	-0.2051	-0.0535	0.1849	0.3066		
	<b>x</b> 9	0.7089	-0.2769	-0.4215	0.0353	0.2482	-0.1225	0.0010	0.3684	-0.0440		
	x10	-0.3649	0.2403	0.6010	0.2387	0.4280	0.2609	0.1063	0.1222	0.2871		
		Correlati	one Date		10/171111/-	-	and Thesis	Canania	alMadak	100		
		Correlati	Ins Betw	veen me	WITH Va	inables a		Canonic		100		
		0.2572	0.9604	0.0547	0.0226	0.2465	0.0074	0.0002	0.0022	0.0569		a
(	=	0.2575	0.0004	-0.0347	-0.0330	0.3405	0.2371	0.0993	0.0022	0.0300		
Output - (Untitled)	- (Untitled)	Untitled1 *		esults View	er - SAS							
Children CC			100.0									
	3 0 0	-	-	-						1000	<b>4</b>	6
											🕑 - E Lr 11-06	

## Slide 12.18: Portion of output for canonical analysis using SAS (Canonical loadings)



File Edit View G	n Tools Solutions Window	Helo											-
/	• D 📽			000	🔊 🖞 ù	+ + +	8 O A						
		x5	0.4099	-0.1450	0.4410	0.2996	-0.1488	-0.0631	-0.0976	0.0873	-0.0081		
		x6	-0.0330	0.0943	0.1751	-0.1830	0.0646	0.4746	-0.0812	0.0127	-0.0400		
		x7	0.3165	0.5753	0.0336	-0.4195	0.1903	-0.0290	0.0592	-0.0042	0.0073		
		x8	-0.0402	-0.0192	-0.2258	0.4612	-0.0404	-0.1316	-0.0311	0.0369	0.0286		
		x9	0.6800	-0.2451	-0.3691	0.0271	0.1828	-0.0786	0.0006	0.0735	-0.0041		
		x10	-0.3500	0.2128	0.5263	0.1832	0.3151	0.1674	0.0618	0.0244	0.0268		
		Corre	lations B	etween th	e WITH Va	riables ar	nd the Car	nonical Va	riables of	the VAR \	ariables		
			f101	f102	f103	f104	f105	f106	f107	f108	f109		
		x11	0.2468	0.7618	-0.0479	-0.0258	0.2551	0.1521	0.0577	0.0004	0.0053		
		x12	0.2176	0.7821	-0.1625	0.0210	0.0674	0.0110	0.0769	-0.0050	0.0304		
		x13	-0.1550	0.5765	0.4458	0.3883	-0.0277	-0.0952	-0.0103	0.0099	0.0087		
		x14	0.1506	0.2345	-0.4453	0.5248	0.2062	0.1780	0.0891	-0.0032	0.0014		
		x15	-0.3430	0.2348	0.5830	0.1118	0.0079	0.2390	0.0796	0.0361	0.0357		
		x16	0.2942	-0.4896	-0.0792	0.3596	0.0642	-0.1945	0.2751	0.0434	0.0037		
		x17	-0.2619	0.5390	-0.4041	0.1412	-0.0455	-0.0154	0.2804	-0.0436	-0.0142		
		x18	-0.4241	0.4102	-0.3752	0.1995	0.1022	-0.0620	0.2584	-0.0595	-0.0143		
		x19	-0.1794	0.0119	-0.1340	0.4874	0.1254	-0.0409	0.2774	0.1033	-0.0089		
	1						-						
Output - (Untitled)	E Log - (Untitled)	R Ea	litor - Untitled	1.	Results View	ver - SAS							
C:\Users\CC		-				_			_				
🎒 🖉 🧐		•										衫 - 😥 - 😥	

**Slide 12.19**: Portion of output for canonical analysis using SAS (Canonical loading)

## 12.8 Multiple Regression Analysis and Multicollinearity

During the regression analysis, we have assumed that the predictor variables are independent not only with each other but also with the disturbance terms. But in real-life situation, hardly one can find any variable which is independent of other variables. Actually, in social, economic, business, biological, and other fields, the variables tend to move together. As a result, the variables will be correlated with each other, thereby violating the assumptions of the regression analysis. This phenomenon of linear association among the explanatory variables during regression analysis is known as multicollinearity. As a result of multicollinearity, the regression estimates sometimes become inestimable, and the standard errors of the estimates become exceptionally high, giving rise to nonsignificance the regression estimates. Thus, of the relationships worked out, and subsequently the conclusion drawn in the presence of multicollinearity may hamper/effect the quality/validity



*of the conclusion.* There are different techniques to avoid/overcome the problem of multicollinearity. One of the techniques is to use principal component analysis before conducting regression analysis. The principal component analysis is a type of factor analysis.

## 12.9 Factor Analysis

One of the most powerful multivariate techniques is the factor analysis aimed at simplifying and analyzing the interrelationship among a set of variables in the form of a relatively few number of hypothetical variables known as factors, which are orthogonal or uncorrelated among themselves. Factor analysis helps in getting an insight into the otherwise hidden structure of the data. The essence of factor analysis lies in explaining the interrelationship among a large number of variables to a small number of factors without losing any essential information or with minimum loss of information. *Types of Factor Analysis*: Mainly there are two types of factor analyses:

- 1. The common factor analysis
- 2. The principal component analysis

In common factor analysis, estimates of common variance among the original variables are used to generate the factor solution. As such the number of factors will always be less than the number of original variables. It assumes that the variation in variables consists of two parts: a common part and a unique part. On the one hand, the common part of the variable is the part of variable variation shared with other variables; on the other hand, the unique part of the variable concerned. Factor analysis starts with the original variable or standardized variable. In a system of *p*, variables  $x_i$ 's (i = 1, 2...p) are transformed as follows:

 $\begin{aligned} x_1 &= \lambda_{11}F_1 + \lambda_{12}F_2 + \dots + \lambda_{1k}F_k + \varepsilon_1 \\ x_2 &= \lambda_{21}F_1 + \lambda_{22}F_2 + \dots + \lambda_{2k}F_k + \varepsilon_2 \\ x_3 &= \lambda_{31}F_1 + \lambda_{32}F_2 + \dots + \lambda_{3k}F_k + \varepsilon_3 \\ \dots & \dots \\ x_p &= \lambda_{p1}F_1 + \lambda_{p2}F_2 + \dots + \lambda_{pk}F_k + \varepsilon_p, \\ \text{where } \operatorname{cov}(\varepsilon_i, \varepsilon_j) &= 0, \ \forall \ i \neq j. \end{aligned}$ 

The regression coefficients  $\lambda_{im}$  (*i* = 1,2,3... p and m = 1, 2, 3... k) are known as common factor loadings, and the residuals  $\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2, \varepsilon_3, \ldots \varepsilon_p$  are known as the unique factors. The factor loadings are essentially the correlations between the variable and the factor concerned. The factors  $F_1, F_2$ ,  $F_3, \ldots F_k$  are known as common factors. *Rotation* is a strategy used to clearly obtain the pattern of loadings. In many of the cases, it is found that a single factor results in high factor loadings for all the variables under consideration. Under this situation, the factor analysis fails to provide insight into the interrelationship among the variables. Rotation strategy provides a clear pattern of loadings among the factors. Rotations clearly mark the high factor loadings for some variables in first factor and low loading for the rest of the variables; in subsequent factors, it marks high factor loading for some or all the variables which were not marked in first or subsequent previous factors.

للاستشارات

Thus, under ideal situation, most of the variables, if not all, will be distributed among the factors with high factor loadings. Various rotational strategies like varimax, varimax normalized, quatrimax, and quatrimax normalized are available in most of the computer packages dealing with factor analysis.

## 12.9.1 Number of Factors

The problem of retaining the number of factors can be solved through the Kaiser criterion and Cattell scree test. According to the former criterion, one can retain the factors with eigenvalues greater than one. The logic is that unless a factor extracts at least equivalent to one original variable, it is redundant. But according to Cattell scree test, plot the eigenvalues against the number of factors and retain the number of factors beyond which the curve takes almost a smooth safe. The Kaiser method sometimes retains too many factors, while the Cattell scree test sometimes retains too few factors. But both criteria perform well when there are relatively few factors and many cases (Fig. 12.1).

## 12.9.2 Communality

Communality of a variable is defined as the proportion of the variance of the variable that is shared with other variables, that is, common factor. Thus, the proportion of variance unique to a particular variable is the total variance of the variable less its communality.

### 12.9.3 Factor Score

One can estimate the actual values of the individual cases for the factors known as factor scores. These factor scores are useful in further analysis involving the factors.

For checking, the users may please note that (1) total of eigenvalues should be equal to the number of variables under consideration and (2) total variance explained by all the factors must be equal to 100.



4.

Fig. 12.1 Cattell scree plot

## 12.9.4 Principal Component Analysis

The principle followed in this method is to construct a set of new variables called "principal components" ( $P_i$ 's) as linear combination of the given set of variables (mostly correlated) ( $X_i$ 's) either from the original X's or from their standardized form, that is,  $\frac{X_i - \bar{X}}{\sigma_x}$ ;

that is, 
$$P_1 = a_{11}x_1 + a_{12}x_2 + a_{13}x_3 + L + a_{1k}x_k$$
  
 $P_2 = a_{21}x_1 + a_{22}x_2 + a_{23}x_3 + L + a_{2k}x_k$   
 $\vdots$   $\vdots$   $\vdots$   
 $P_k = ak_1x_1 + ak_2x_2 + ak_3x_3 + L + a_{kk}x_k$ 

These *a*'s are called loading and are so chosen that the principal components (*P*'s) are orthogonal, that is, uncorrelated, and the first principal component  $P_1$  absorbs and accounts for the maximum possible proportion of the total variation of the set of all *X*'s, the second *P*, that is,  $P_2$ , absorbs and accounts for maximum of the remaining variation in the *X*'s, and so on.

The step-by-step procedure for PCA is as follows:

- Construct the correlation matrix of the explanatory variables.
- 2. Calculate the row total and column total.



3. Obtain the loading for the first principal component  $P_1$  as

$$a_{1j} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{k} rxixj}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{k} rxixj}} = 1j.$$

$$\lambda_1 = \text{Latent root of } P_1$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^k l_j^2 = \sum_{j=1}^k a_{1j}^2 = a_{11}^2 + a_{12}^2$$
$$+ a_{13}^2 + \dots + a_{1k}^2.$$

5.  $(\lambda_1/k) \times 100$  = Percent variation absorbs and accounted for by the  $P_1$  because

$$\sum_{m=1}^k \lambda_m = k.$$

6. Regress *Y* on  $P_s$  and substitute  $X_s$  in  $P_s$  to get the relationship in original *X*–*Y* form.

*Example 12.4.* Using the data for yield components in Example 12.2, let us demonstrate the factor analysis and the PCA through SPSS.

(16 X17 X18	.93 1.93 9.	.93 2.45 14	.90 2.44 15	.57 2.59 15.	.53 2.40 13	.34 2.41 13	.72 2.45 13.	.74 2.25 12	.95 2.74 15	.77 2.74 15	.77 2.73 14	.86 2.20 11	.74 2.47 12	.67 2.29 11	.32 2.33 11	.44 2.05 10	.42 2.66 14	.49 2.58 14	.85 3.05 17.	.55 2.40 13	.07 2.19 12	.81 2.02 10	.13 2.38 12	.66 2.60 13	.87 2.88 15	.96 2.65 14	.71 2.53 13.	.49 2.02 10	.39 2.01 10	.79 2.04 10	.76 2.05 10	.15 1.80 9	.89 2.00 10	.89 1.99 10	.74 2.23 12	.08 2.12 11	12 2.15 11
X15 2	313.38	298.72	302.74	263.92	277.86	267.74	264.72	241.44	253.30	263.88 ]	286.02	284.65	276.24	294.98	288.41	307.51	316.73	313.12	288.29	247.84	239.02	234.97	211.97	244.12	289.06	312.47	289.87	286.04	333.34	306.56	291.33	250.95	277.85	286.54	302.31	306.61 2	304.86
X14	1663.67	1675.33	1672.33	1587.33	1621.00	1629.00	1657.33	1621.67	1634.33	1702.67	1785.67	1693.00	1609.00	1496.00	1511.67	1547.33	1662.67	1685.33	1738.67	1668.33	1711.33	1653.00	1701.67	1692.00	1764.00	1744.67	1747.33	1698.67	1624.00	1542.33	1582.33	1588.33	1611.00	1601.00	1648.00	1634.00	1650.33
X13	195.77	222.68	219.74	228.32	207.93	189.59	161.48	146.38	162.86	184.37	239.65	237.48	201.06	178.28	188.79	202.79	216.33	220.73	208.66	168.35	131.32	117.85	158.37	218.03	263.96	223.82	216.55	197.75	238.45	236.20	232.85	203.45	154.35	159.38	205.68	206.11	203.41
X12	5 2.01	2 2.11	0 2.14	7 2.15	2 2.15	7 2.27	0 2.12	3 2.08	8 2.08	8 2.27	9 2.73	7 2.40	7 2.52	2 2.16	5 2.43	8 2.25	6 2.54	6 2.60	1 2.56	4 2.34	0 1.98	9 2.02	9 2.11	4 2.37	7 2.62	4 2.84	6 2.70	0 2.45	4 2.08	8 2.25	2 2.20	9 2.20	6 1.94	2 2.13	5 1.91	8 1.92	3 1.81
X11	7.5	7.8	7.9	7.6	7.7	7.9	7.8	7.8	7.8	8.5	10.1	9.1	8.9	7.7	8.5	8.3	10.0	10.4	10.0	8.6	7.5	7.8	7.9	8.6	8.6	9.8	10.0	10.0	8.9	8.5	8.4	7.6	6.9	7.1	6.6	6.6	6.8
X10	149.37	144.04	145.20	141.57	133.96	145.32	149.08	133.45	132.12	137.06	147.31	135.48	129.08	130.27	130.48	138.49	151.50	144.95	150.81	131.19	132.39	117.91	117.78	129.01	131.64	140.35	135.28	137.24	155.76	149.60	161.70	135.25	140.91	128.65	133.87	143.59	143.36
<b>X</b> 9	9.47	8.87	9.00	8.73	8.77	9.03	9.70	9.47	9.67	9.23	10.30	10.23	9.80	9.17	9.33	9.07	9.10	9.20	9.07	8.93	11.93	12.87	12.50	9.50	9.67	10.57	10.87	9.90	8.50	8.73	10.90	11.03	10.50	9.30	8.93	9.23	8.90
X8	31.33	33.17	33.33	34.50	33.50	29.00	30.33	28.17	30.33	30.00	25.93	24.83	26.17	24.83	24.50	22.50	27.40	29.67	33.83	30.60	26.50	29.00	37.60	42.50	36.73	37.50	36.50	34.50	29.50	31.17	33.50	29.50	35.83	37.67	35.33	31.17	30.83
X7	23.20	23.20	22.23	22.93	23.07	23.33	23.13	23.73	24.13	24.07	27.57	26.27	26.63	25.27	25.87	25.50	25.07	25.17	24.67	24.03	23.13	24.60	20.80	22.53	21.87	24.57	24.37	23.20	23.90	24.10	24.90	25.00	22.50	20.77	18.00	17.37	20.13
X6	107.85	104.49	93.17	92.6(	103.54	108.60	108.25	100.95	98.60	100.17	112.08	107.01	107.58	102.07	116.45	115.48	117.92	104.79	108.22	109.56	115.47	102.78	99.5(	90.33	98.85	93.00	104.51	105.69	112.40	103.77	102.57	98.26	95.76	94.23	105.51	107.36	112.17
X5	162.67	150.00	146.00	156.33	153.67	143.00	130.00	143.67	153.00	160.00	166.33	143.67	143.00	157.00	164.33	162.67	144.00	149.33	155.67	144.00	163.33	154.67	193.67	171.00	181.00	161.67	182.33	178.00	193.00	194.00	195.33	191.00	176.00	178.67	180.67	178.67	179.67
X4	21.23	20.33	18.63	17.67	18.70	18.47	19.93	18.87	19.67	19.10	19.07	19.60	20.03	19.33	16.67	20.10	21.83	23.90	22.73	23.10	21.20	20.53	21.17	21.53	22.40	19.73	21.93	22.97	22.63	23.53	21.63	24.53	21.73	21.93	19.37	18.80	22.37
X3	140.47	140.95	144.30	140.06	135.62	128.79	123.41	116.18	125.74	123.49	124.89	114.79	115.58	117.81	119.07	121.01	138.86	145.61	153.17	143.02	135.34	129.03	129.24	140.06	145.13	144.58	144.01	145.32	146.65	154.25	151.84	143.56	133.70	119.93	123.96	131.18	137.13
X2	151.81	140.71	138.77	138.31	140.23	132.90	136.10	137.11	147.68	153.77	161.64	160.23	144.75	155.17	148.67	156.00	156.99	162.46	166.22	162.80	168.36	163.56	160.86	154.62	161.44	159.29	147.69	139.24	139.44	151.53	157.67	151.16	144.68	140.64	141.59	150.82	151.23
X1	32.34	29.85	32.38	38.33	37.81	35.02	32.25	32.56	34.10	37.05	43.70	41.96	38.29	33.84	34.56	32.46	34.01	34.58	34.22	33.13	34.27	31.85	29.36	35.01	35.71	38.24	35.36	33.81	34.44	36.05	37.34	33.13	30.20	30.26	31.27	33.17	32.15
SI no.	1	2	Э	4	5	6	7	×	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37

File Edt	d - SPSS Da New Data	ta Editor Transform A	nalyze Graphs	Utilities W	indow Help														×
<b>e</b>			Reports		1.1.1	0													1
1:	and assessed assess		Tables	5005	and a second second	distantial													
	l ennous	var00010	Compare Means		var00013	var00014	var00015	var00016	var00017	var00018	var00019	var00020	var	Var			1250	var 1	
1	9.47	149 5	General Linear M	lodel +	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85	101						ï
2	8.87	144.0	Mixed Models	:	222.68	1675 33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14 50	9.45	354.41		-					
3	9.00	145.2	Regression		219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12							
4	8.73	141.5	Loginear		228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39			1				
5	8.77	133.5	Classify	,	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82					-		
6	9.03	145.3	Data Reduction	- P	Factor		267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82							
7	9.70	149.0	Scale	•	Correspond	lence Analysis	64.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14							
8	9.47	133.4	Nonparametric T	ests +	Optimal Sca	ing	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28							
9	9.67	132.1	Time Series	:	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18					1		
10	9.23	137.0	Mittinia Response		184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78							
11	10.30	147.3	Missing Value An	alvsis	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41					-		
12	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26							-
13	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56					-		
14	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73							
15	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85					1		
16	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94							
17	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86			1				
18	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73							
19	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12							
20	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93							
21	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47							
22	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67							
23	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57							
24	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87							
25	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53							
26	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42							
27	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74							
28	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22							
29	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62							
30	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00			1				L
( ) Dat	a View LVa	riable View	/						14					1	1			•	ŕ
Factor	A real of the	inter them							1.1		SPSS Proce	ssor is ready			_				
🐮 star	t ) 🗅	book		Microsoft B	Excel - data	Untitles	I - SPSS Data									0		🔯 4:02 PM	ſ

**Step 1**: Transform the data/open/paste the data in SPSS editor.

**Step 2**: Activate "Analyze"–"Data Reduction"– Factor submenus, as shown below.

Slide 12.20: Data structure and selection of appropriate submenu of analysis menu for Factor Analysis using SPSS

**Step 3**: Select the variables for Factor Analysis, as shown below.

ii) Untitle	d - SPSS Da	ata Editor																- 6 🛛
File Edk	View Oata	Transform A	nalyze Graph	s Utilities W	Indow Help	10.1												
<b>B</b>	3 💷 🖸	Ce ling		102	16 15 9	0												
1:																		
	var00001	var00002	var00003	var00004	var00005	var00006	var00007	var00008	var00009	var00010	var00011	var00012	var00013	var00014	var00015	var00016	var00017	var00018 _
1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.3	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96
2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50
3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.2	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45
4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.5	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63
5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.9	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75
6	35.02	132.90	128.79	- Fe	actor Analys					5.3	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37
7	32.25	136.10	123.41						_	19.00	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.7E
8	32.56	137.11	116.18		var00020		Vanables:		. 0	K 33.4	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26
9	34.10	147.68	125.74				va0000	1 ^	Pa	ste   32.13	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22
10	37.05	153.77	123.49				va0000		-	87.0	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05
11	43.70	161.64	124.89				1 × w0000	4	- He	17.3	10.19	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.9E
12	41.96	160.23	114.79			<u> </u>	Va(0000	6	Car	icel 05.4	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.25
13	38.29	144.75	115.58				♦ va0000	6	н	ah   29.0	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21
14	33.84	155.17	117.81				🔹 var0000	7		0.2	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.25
15	34.56	148.67	119.07				A vwnnn	R M		0.4	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52
16	32.46	156.00	121.01			_	Selection Var	riable:		8.4	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52
17	34.01	156.99	138.86			- P			Value	51.5	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93
18	34.58	162.46	145.61		1000					4.9	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54
19	34.22	166.22	153.17	Des	criptives	Extraction	Rotation	Scores	Options	- 50.8	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.9E
20	33.13	162.80	143.02		1.060			992 - D	1022	31.15	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12
21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.3	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.35
22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.9	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.45
23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.70	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65
24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.0	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66
25	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42
26	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.3	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10
27	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.2	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53
28	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.2	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.25
29	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.7	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.26
30	36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45
	a View V	ariable View	1						11									14
	A								1		SPSS Proc	essor is ready				1		
Hi etar	1	hook	1	S Mercelt I	Fund - data	Contractor	A. SPEC Date	100	wet - coss vie		12-Millionish	a secola					1.01.0	-
Joran	· / · · ·						a share bard in		1000			and the second second						

Slide 12.21: Data structure and selection of appropriate variables for Factor Analysis using SPSS



**Step 4**: Select descriptive to get a subwindow as shown below.

ii) Untitk	ed - SPSS Da	ta Editor																- 0 🛛
File Edit	Veni Oata	Transform A	nalyze Graphe	s Ublibes W	indow Help	10.1												
	🖱 🖳 🗠	CP 100				Ø												
1:																		
	var00001	var00002	var00003	var00004	var00005	var00006	var00007	var00008	var00009	var00010	var00011	var00012	var00013	var00014	var00015	var00016	var00017	var00018 _
1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.9€
2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50
3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45
4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63
5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	-				277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75
6	35.02	132.90	128.79		actor Analys					5.32	Factor	Analysis: De	escriptives	L	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37
7	32.25	136.10	123.41	1000			1000		1/	19.08	- Stati	tics		Continue	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.7E
8	32.56	137.11	116.18		rar00020		Variables:		. (	K 33.45	₩ U	rivariate descrip	tives	comme	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26
9	34.10	147.68	125.74				va000	01	P	ate   32.12	E la	itial enhation		Cancel	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22
10	37.05	153.77	123.49				va000	12	-	87.06	_			Help	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05
11	43.70	161.64	124.89			-	1 Augu000	0.4	B	17.31	1.520.02				26.02	1.77	2.73	14.9E
12	41.96	160.23	114.79			<u> </u>	A va(00)	05	Ca	ncel 95.48	Corre	lation Matrix			284 65	1.86	2.20	11.25
13	38.29	144.75	115.58				♦ va000	06	н	eb   29.08	P 0	oefficients	Inver:		276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21
14	33.84	155.17	117.81				🔹 val000	07	-	0.27	I Si	gnificance level	Bepro	duced	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.25
15	34.56	148.67	119.07				a vwm	na M		0.48	F D	eleminant	T Anti-in	1898	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52
16	32.46	156.00	121.01			_	Selection Va	siable:		38.49	FR	MO and Bartlett'	s test of spheric	ży	307.51	44	2.05	10.52
17	34.01	156.99	138.86			- P.			Value	51.50					316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93
18	34.58	162.46	145.61		1000					14.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54
19	34.22	166.22	153.17	Des	criptives	Extraction	Rotation	Scores_	Option	50.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.9E
20	33.13	162.80	143.02					619 - E	1.22	81.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12
21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.35
22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43
23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65
24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66
25	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42
26	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.1C
27	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53
28	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.25
29	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.2E
30	36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.55	1.79	2.04	10.45
	ta View V	riable View	1						11									14
									-		SPSS Proc	essor is ready				1		
👭 sta	nt 🗈	book.	T	🛐 Microsoft B	Excel - data	Untitles	- SPSS Data	. 🗖 🗤	put1 - SPSS We	wer 🗐	12-Multivariat	e analy						117 PM

Slide 12.22: Data structure, selection of appropriate variables, and descriptives for Factor Analysis using SPSS

**Step 5**: Select the required statistics in descriptive window, as shown above.

and select the appropriate method of extraction among the available options. If we select the Step 6(a), then PC analysis will continue.

**Step 6**: Go to Extraction submenu to get a window at the right-hand side, as shown above,

6(a)

🔠 Untitl	ed - SPSS Da	sta Editor																	- C 🛛
File Edit	Vew Data	Transform A	halyze Graph	a Utilities W	Indovi Help														
1	@ 🗐 🗠			16日	1. 5 9	0													
1:			benet brinkler	and the second second	Acceleration and	and and a second second					_								
0	var00001	var00002	var00003	var00004	var00005	xa/00006	var00007	80000ev	var00009	var00	1 010	var00011	var00012	var00013	var00014	var00015	var00016	var00017	va(00018 *
1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	14	9.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.95
2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	14	4.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675 33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50
3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	14	5.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45
4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	14	1.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63
5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	13	3.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75
6	35.02	132.90	128.79		actor Analys					X	5.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37
7	32.25	136.10	123.41				1.000		-	1	9.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76
8	32.56	137.11	116.18		var00020		Variables:		. 0	Ж	3.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26
9	34.10	147.68	125.74				√a0000     √a0000	1 ^	Pa	ste	2.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22
10	37.05	153.77	123.49				Va0000	2	-		7.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05
11	43.70	161.64	124.89				1	4		1929	7.31	10.19	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.9E
12	41.96	160.23	114.79			<u> </u>	var0000	5	Car	ncel	5.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.25
13	38.29	144.75	115.58				♦ var0000	6	H	eb	0.00	0.07	2.52	201.00	1000.00	270.24	1.74	2.47	12.21
14	33.84	155.17	117.81				♦ var0000	7		-	Facto	r Analysis:	Extraction				1.67	2.29	11.25
15	34.56	148.67	119.07				A variant	R M									1.32	2.33	11.52
16	32.46	156.00	121.01			_	Selection Va	iable:			Metho	a Unweight	led least squa			Continue	1.44	2.05	10.52
17	34.01	156.99	138.86			- P			Value		[ Ana			Display		Cancel	1.42	2.66	14.93
18	34.58	162.46	145.61		100						4.0			Uniotand	factor solution	Help	1.49	2.58	14.54
19	34.22	166.22	153.17	Des	criptives	Extraction	Rotation	Scores	Options	£	CO	ovariance mat		Scree plot			1.85	3.05	17.9E
20	33.13	162.80	143.02								F-4-				1		1.55	2.40	13.12
21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	1	C. C				`		2.07	2.19	12.35
22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	1	1. E	igenvalues ove	sc h				1.81	2.02	10.45
23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	1	CN	lumber of facto	er.				2.13	2.38	12.65
24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	1				-			1.66	2.60	13.6E
25	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	1	Maxim	um Iterations fo	x Convergence	et  25			1.87	2.88	15.42
26	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	1	0.35	3.04	2.04	223.02	1744.07	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.1C
27	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	13	5.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1,71	2.53	13.55
28	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	13	7.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.25
29	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	15	5.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.2E
30	36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	14	9.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45
< > \D.	ta View V	ariable View	/						11									• • •	2
0												SPSS Proces	isor is ready						
HI oto	-	a hand		S Manarak I	Event data	C. Constantion	A CREED DATE	100	with a conce use		-	. Made and the	and a start				51 0 B	2.0.0	A 17 04

Slide 12.23: Data structure, selection of appropriate variables, and factor extraction method for Factor Analysis using SPSS

📰 sas exam	ple - SPSS	Data E	ditor	Canet.	e redeu	. Wash	Male															1	ð 🗙
FRE LOC VE	in Data i	ransrorm	NOSYS	urapri	a Uoice	a written	rep																_
1	10	Cr ling	1 0	P 1	1		F 9	0															
16:x17			2.05																				
	sino	x1	x2	x3	x4	x5	x6	x7	x8	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18	x19	v	var	-
1	6								-	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85		-
2	- Facto	r Analys	sis						×	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.41		
3	( A cha		_		Variables:				or 1	9.00	145.20	7 90	2.14	219.74	1672 33	302.74	1,90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12		
4	Sino .				a x1		~	_	UK I	Fac	tor Anal	ysis: E	traction	n			57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39		
5					0.2		10	P	aste		_					_	53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82		-
6					*x3			R	eset	Me	thod Pr	incipal o	omponents			Co	ntinue 34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82		
7				•	🔿 x4			-		114	inalyze	ncipal cr	mponents	<u>^</u>	,	0	ancel 72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14		
8				_	♦ x5				ricel	6	Conel G	meralize	d least squ d least squ	lares	otated factor sole	tion -	74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28		
9					€ x6			+	felp		Covar	pomum li	kelihood		ee plot		1elp 35	2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18		
10					×7		~				A	ncipal ai pha facto	es factorn xing	° 👻			77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78		
11							-			1	stract						77	2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41		
12					Selection	vanacie.	11 0		E I	1 6	Eigenval	Jes over	1				36	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26		-
13	1								1	1	Number	of factors					74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56		
14	Descripti	ves.	Extraction	. 1	Rotation	So So	ores	Ontion	. 1								57	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73		
15										Ma	iomum Itera	itions for	Converge	nce: 2	5		32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85		
16	10	32.40	156.0	121.0	20.10	162.67	115.40	25.50	22.50	-								2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94		-
17	17	34.01	157.0	138.9	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.1	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86		
18	18	34.58	162.5	145.6	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.5	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73		
19	19	34.22	166.2	153.2	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.0	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12		
20	20	33.13	162.8	143.0	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93		
21	21	34.27	168.4	135.3	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47		
22	22	31.85	163.6	129.0	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67		
23	23	29.36	160.9	129.2	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57		
24	24	35.01	154.6	140.1	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87		
25	25	35.71	161.4	145.1	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53		
26	26	38.24	159.3	144.6	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42		
27	27	35.36	147.7	144.0	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.1	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74		
28	28	33.81	139.2	145.3	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.0	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22		
29	29	34.44	139.4	146.7	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	457.62		
30	30	36.05	151.5	154.3	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00		
() Data	View Var	iable Vie	wT														1						
	~														SPSS P	rocessor is re	ady [			- 1 N			-
🏄 start		book		1	PKS B	OKV (J1)	1	Sear	ch Results		15	aug. sa	s program	😰	12- Multivariate	anal	🔀 Microsoft Exc	el	sas exam	ple - SPSS	0 ? 3	🖉 🖸 . so	H PM

Slide 12.24: Data structure, selection of appropriate variables, and factor extraction method for Factor Analysis using SPSS

**Step 7**: Activate rotation option and get the window as given, and select appropriate rotation.

Untitle	d - SPSS Da	ata Editor	aline Grande	e (Miller W	ordense binder													_ 6 X
				Jule-1 m														
		100 ING 1		<u>. III @</u>	11 In 19	0												
1:																		
-	var00001	var00002	var00003	var000004	var00005	var00006	var00007	var00008	var00009	var00010	var00011	var00012	var00013	var00014	var00015	var00016	var00017	var00018 _
1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96
2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50
3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45
4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63
5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75
6	35.02	132.90	128.79	12	actor Analys					5.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37
7	32.25	136.10	123.41				Variables			19.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.7E
8	32.56	137.11	116.18		r#00020		Vanaures.			IX 33.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26
9	34.10	147.68	125.74				* value		Pa	iste   32.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22
10	37.05	153.77	123.49				- www.0000	'n		37.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1,77	2.74	15.05
11	43.70	161.64	124.89				1 × va000	ŭ T		17 F	actor Analysi	s: Rotation		6	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.9E
12	41.96	160.23	114.79				♦ var0000	6	Ca	ncel 95					284.65	1.86	2.20	11.25
13	38.29	144.75	115.58				🔹 va/000	6	н	elo   29	Method			Continue	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21
14	33.84	155.17	117.81				🔹 va/000	17		- 10	None	C Quart	inde	Cancel	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.25
15	34.56	148.67	119.07				A vwnnn	R M		10	C Varimax	C Equa	max	Carle	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52
16	32.46	156.00	121.01			_	Selection Va	riable:		10	C Direct Oblim	in C Prom	ax \	Help	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52
17	34.01	156.99	138.86			- P			Value	51	Dets 0	Карра	1		316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93
18	34.58	162.46	145.61		1000	-				. 14					313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54
19	34.22	166.22	153.17	Des	criptives	Extraction	Rotation	Scores_	Option	- 50 T	Display			1	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.9E
20	33.13	162.80	143.02					619 - E	1.22	31	P Flotated sol.	Ron F Load	ng plot(s)		247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12
21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132					239.02	2.07	2.19	12.35
22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	N2.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117	Lawimum Iteration		XF 25		234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43
23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99,60	20.80	37.60	12.50	117 70	1.35	4.111	100.07	1701.07	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65
24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.3	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66
25	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42
26	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10
27	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53
28	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.25
29	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.2E
30	36.05	151.53	154.25	23 53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45
	a View V	ariable View	/						11									
100	A HANNA		-								SPSS Proce	essor is ready				1		
👭 sta	rt 📔	book:	1	Marosoft B	Dicel - data	TH United	- SPSS Data	. 80	put1 - SPSS We	wer 🗐	12-Multivariate	analy						110 HILE PM

Slide 12.25: Data structure, selection of appropriate variables, and factor rotation method for Factor Analysis using SPSS

**Step 8**: Activate score option and get the window as given, select appropriate box, and continue.

📅 Untitle	d - SPSS Da	ata Editor																- 6 🛛
File Edit	View Data	Transform A	inalyze Graph	a Ublibes W	indow Help													
🗩 🖬 d	B 🔍 🔊	0	- D A	163	4 5 3	0												
1:																		
	var00001	var00002	var00003	var00004	var00005	var00006	var00007	var00008	var00009	var00010	var00011	var00012	var00013	var00014	var00015	var00016	var00017	var00018
1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313 38	1.93	1.93	9.96
2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50
3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45
4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63
5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75
6	35.02	132.90	128.79		actor Analys					\$5.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37
7	32.25	136.10	123.41	1	00000000000		10000000		1/	19.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.7E
8	32.56	137.11	116.18		var00020		Variables:		. (	K 33.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.2E
9	34.10	147.68	125.74				va/000	n ^	P	ute   12 P	ctor Analys	is: Factor Se	intes	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22
10	37.05	153.77	123.49				♥ va000	22	-	87				1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05
11	43.70	161.64	124.89				1 August	13	B	roet 17 Г	Save as vari	ablez	Continue	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.9E
12	41.96	160.23	114.79			<u> </u>	×w000	6	Ca	ncel 35	Method	R	Canad	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.25
13	38.29	144.75	115.58				♦ va/000	6	н	elo   29	G Regressi		Carcer	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21
14	33.84	155.17	117.81				🔹 va/000	07	-		C Bartet		Help	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.25
15	34.56	148.67	119.07				A variant	18		0	C Anderson	n-Richin		1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52
16	32.46	156.00	121.01			_	Selection Va	riable:		8				1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52
17	34.01	156.99	138.86			- P			Value	51 🖻	Display facto	r score coefficie	ent ingetries	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93
18	34.58	162.46	145.61						1	4.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54
19	34.22	166.22	153.17	Des	criptives	Extraction	Rotation	Scores	Option	50.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.9E
20	33.13	162.80	143.02		1.000	~ 4	K		1.12	81.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12
21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23 13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.35
22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.65	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43
23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65
24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66
25	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42
26	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10
27	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53
28	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.25
29	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.2E
30	36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.4£
( ) Da	a View V	ariable View	/						11									14
									1000		SPSS Proce	essor is ready						
🦺 sta	1 🗈	book	I	🔁 Microsoft B	Excel - data	Untitles	- SPSS Data	. 🛅 🗤	put1 - SPSS We	wer 🔯	12- Multivariate	e analy						😰 4:10 PM

Slide 12.26: Data structure, selection of appropriate variables, factor rotation method, and factor score option for Factor Analysis using SPSS

**Step 9**: Activate option and get the window as given, select appropriate box, and continue.

and the second																		
Untitl	ed - SPSS Da	ta Editor	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1															- • 🛛
FWE EOK	ven oss	transrorm as	nayze urapri	s ucces w	andow resp	In I												
	🖶 🔜 🗠	C* 100		162	16 3	0												
1:																		
	var00001	var00002	var00003	var00004	var00005	var00006	var00007	var00008	var00009	var00010	var00011	var00012	var00013	var00014	var00015	var00016	var00017	var00018 .*
1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.9€
2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50
3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45
4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63
5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75
6	35.02	132.90	128.79		actor Analys					5.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37
7	32.25	136.10	123.41						17-17	19.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.7E
8	32.56	137.11	116.18	۲	var00020		Variables:			IK 33.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26
9	34.10	147.68	125.74				val0000	1	Pa	uste   32.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22
10	37.05	153.77	123.49				• value	2	-	37.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05
11	43.70	161.64	124.89				1 × × × × × × × × × × × × × × × × × × ×	4	- He	17.31	10.19	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.96
12	41.96	160.23	114.79			<u> </u>	A va(0000	5	Ca	ncel 35.48	Factor An	abatis: Ontio	-	6	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.25
13	38.29	144.75	115.58				♦ va0000	6	н	elp 29.08	Tector Mile	arysis, opine			276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21
14	33.84	155.17	117.81				♦ va00000	7	-	0.27	MissingV	alues		Continue	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.25
15	34.56	148.67	119.07				A variant	R M		30.48	Exclude	le cases listwise		Cancel	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52
16	32.46	156.00	121.01			_	Selection Var	iable:		38.49	C Exclud	le cases pairwis	•	Cancer	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52
17	34.01	156.99	138.86			- P			Value	51.50	C Replac	ce with mean		Help	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93
18	34.58	162.46	145.61						1	14.95	Culture	Dista Franci	ST		213.12	1.49	2.58	14.54
19	34.22	166.22	153.17	Des	criptives	Extraction	Rotation	Scores	Option	50.81	Coefficien	K Uniplay Forma			208.29	1.85	3.05	17.9E
20	33.13	162.80	143.02		1.000			21 - E	0.00	81.19	T Somed	by size		1.0	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12
21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	1 Suppre	rss absolute val	Jes less than	1:0	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.35
22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91					234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43
23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65
24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66
25	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42
26	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.1C
27	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53
28	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.25
29	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.2E
30	36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.55	1.79	2.04	10.45
1 ) 0	ta View Va	riable View ,	/	11000				0.000	11									2
									10252		SPSS Proce	essor is ready						
🦺 sta	nt 📔 🛍			🔊 Microsoft I		Untitles	I - SPSS Data	<b>1</b>	put1 - SPSS We	wer 🖄	12- Multivariate					🛛 🔇 🛤	2000	🗱 4:19 PM

Slide 12.27: Data structure, selection of appropriate variables, and factor analysis option for Factor Analysis using SPSS (Table 12.6)

PC analysis		
Communalities		
	Initial	Extraction
X1	1.000	.854
X2	1.000	.727
X3	1.000	.802
X4	1.000	.843
X5	1.000	.772
X6	1.000	.812
X7	1.000	.796
X8	1.000	.929
X9	1.000	.824
X10	1.000	.732
X11	1.000	.918
X12	1.000	.885
X13	1.000	.887
X14	1.000	.754
X15	1.000	.796
X16	1.000	.879
X17	1.000	.908
X18	1.000	.917
X19	1.000	.887
E	1 . 1 .	

Table 12.6 Table of output of principal component analysis using SPSS

Extraction method: principal component analysis

#### Total variance explained

	Initial ei	genvalues		Extractio	on sums of squared l	oadings
Component	Total	% of variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of variance	Cumulative %
1	4.665	24.552	24.552	4.665	24.552	24.552
2	3.439	18.101	42.653	3.439	18.101	42.653
3	2.894	15.231	57.884	2.894	15.231	57.884
4	2.364	12.443	70.327	2.364	12.443	70.327
5	1.434	7.548	77.875	1.434	7.548	77.875
6	1.125	5.921	83.795	1.125	5.921	83.795
7	.685	3.607	87.402			
8	.568	2.989	90.391			
9	.509	2.680	93.071			
10	.339	1.784	94.855			
11	.259	1.362	96.217			
12	.210	1.104	97.320			
13	.145	.763	98.083			
14	.105	.552	98.635			
15	.096	.505	99.140			
16	.069	.365	99.505			
17	.060	.316	99.821			
18	.026	.139	99.960			
19	.008	.040	100.000			
Extraction met	thod: princip	al component analy	sis			



#### Component matrix(<sup>a</sup>)

	Component					
	1	2	3	4	5	6
X1	.657	243	135	.068	.019	.583
X2	.326	.225	338	.587	.328	053
X3	.373	.513	.514	.232	140	251
X4	.088	.397	.332	.633	118	391
X5	223	.447	.459	.449	141	.300
X6	.129	555	.119	.274	.535	334
X7	.512	529	263	.408	083	.105
X8	004	.804	.135	210	469	012
X9	211	.323	559	.584	.043	.142
X10	.399	096	.692	072	.272	071
X11	.859	109	085	.340	187	106
X12	.851	056	181	.208	276	.074
X13	.665	.082	.545	073	028	.367
X14	.540	.565	307	.008	.176	134
X15	.351	178	.760	075	.233	.071
X16	289	.701	174	.080	.456	.245
X17	.723	.158	390	427	036	155
X18	.654	.222	305	542	.026	229
X19	.307	.651	.005	272	.527	.131
Extraction	mathad: principal	component analysi	0			

Extraction method: principal component analysis

<sup>a</sup>Six components extracted

Component score coefficient matrix Component 1 2 3 4 5 6 X1 -.047.518 .141 -.071.029 .013 X2 .070 .065 -.117.248 .229 -.047X3 -.097.080 .149 .177 .098 -.223X4 -.082.019 .116 .115 .268 -.348X5 -.048.130 .159 .190 -.098.267 X6 .028 -.161 .041 .116 .373 -.297X7 -.091 .094 .110 -.154.172 -.058X8 -.001-.089 -.327 -.011.234 .047 X9 -.045 .094 -.193 .247 .030 .126 X10 .086 -.028.239 -.030 .190 -.063 -.094 X11 .184 -.032-.029 .144 -.130 -.193 X12 .182 -.016 -.063 .088 .066 X13 .142 .024 .188 -.031 -.019 .326 X14 .116 .164 -.106 .003 .123 -.119 X15 .075 -.052.262 -.032.162 .063 .318 X16 -.062.204 -.060.034 .218 X17 .155 .046 -.135 -.180-.025-.138X18 .140 .065 -.105-.229.018 -.204X19 .066 .189 .002 -.115.367 .117

Extraction method: principal component analysis

## 12.10 Discriminant Analysis

One of the most important multivariate statistical tools to distinguish among the individual elements of a population is the discriminant analysis. The essence of this analysis lies in providing specific group to each and every element of a population based on its difference from other elements of the population considering multiple characters measured on all elements. Discriminant analysis has got various uses in agricultural and allied sectors, finance, business, etc. To a breeder in the field of agriculture, it is important to know which of the genetic stocks are prospective with respect to certain characters of interest in a particular crop, so that these can be selected and exploited in future breeding improvement program. Thus, the object of such selection is to place a particular genotype into homogeneous group or otherwise. On the basis of information on multiple parameters, a bank manager may wish to know whether a loan applicant is good or otherwise. Before launching any product into the market, a manufacturer may wish to know the areas where the company should concentrate on the basis of certain common characteristics of the consumers of the product. The objectives of the entire discriminant analysis are (1) to test the existence or otherwise of any significant differences among the groups presumed, (2) to test whether the variables under consideration are contributing towards intergroup discrimination, (3) to work out a linear combination of a variables which maximize the ratio of the squared differences between the group means and variance within the group, and (4) given any object or individual to assign a particular group or class. It is essentially a statistical technique to discriminate the individuals or objects belonging to two or more groups based on multiple characters/variables simultaneously.

The idea of discriminant analysis was first proposed by Fisher in 1936. Discriminant analysis has got various uses in agricultural and allied sectors, finance, business, etc. In all these cases,



discriminant analysis comes into play in taking decisions. The existence of two or more groups with respect to several characters/variables measured at interval or ratio level is presumed. The groups are mutually exclusive. Given any object, it can be placed in any one of the groups presumed. As because the functional form used to combine the group characteristics towards classifying an object into a particular class or group is linear, it is also known as linear discriminant analysis (LDA). The basic assumption on which the entire LDA is based on is that each and every group or class belongs to multivariate normal population. This assumption, though not necessary, warrants for precise estimation of probabilities and subsequent test of significance.

Let there be k variables,  $X_1$ ,  $X_2$ ,...,  $X_k$ , measured on all the individual elements. One writes linear combination of all these variables to make

 $\Psi = \alpha_1 X_1 + \alpha_2 X_2 + \alpha_3 X_3 + \alpha_4 X_4 + \cdots + \alpha_{k-1} X_{k-1} + \alpha_k X_k$ , where there are *k* number of variables combined linearly,  $\alpha_i$ 's are called discriminant coefficients, and  $\Psi$  is the value of the discriminant function of a particular individual/ object. The  $\alpha_i$ 's are estimated in such a way that based on  $\Psi$  values the ratio of variance between population to that of the within population is maximized. The technique is to frame *k* sets of simultaneous equations so that solutions of these equations provide the estimates of  $\alpha_i$ 's. Without losing generality, one can measure the variables from their respective means.

If we consider the simplest case of two populations with k variables, then the discriminant function can be written in the form

$$\Psi = \alpha_1 X_1 + \alpha_2 X_2 + \alpha_3 X_3 + \alpha_4 X_4 + \cdots + \alpha_{k-1} X_{k-1} + \alpha_k X_k.$$

Thus, for group 1

$$\bar{\Psi}_1 = \alpha_1 \bar{X}_1^1 + \alpha_2 \bar{X}_2^1 + \alpha_3 \bar{X}_3^1 + \alpha_4 \bar{X}_4^1 + \cdots \\ + \alpha_{k-1} \bar{X}_{k-1}^1 + \alpha_k \bar{X}_k^1,$$

and for group 2

$$ar{\Psi}_2 = lpha_1 ar{X}_{_1}^2 + lpha_2 ar{X}_{_2}^2 + lpha_3 ar{X}_{_3}^2 + lpha_4 ar{X}_{_4}^2 + \cdots \ + lpha_{k-1} ar{X}_{_{k-1}}^2 + lpha_k ar{X}_{_k}^2,$$

where  $\bar{X}_i^1$  and  $\bar{X}_i^2$  are the sample means of *i*th variable for group 1 and 2, respectively.

Let us define  $\underline{d} = (\bar{X}_1^1 - \bar{X}_1^2, \bar{X}_2^1 - \bar{X}_2^2, \dots \bar{X}_k^1 - \bar{X}_k^2)'$  and  $\underline{W} = \frac{1}{n_1 + n_2 - 2}S$ , where  $\underline{S} = \underline{S}_1 + \underline{S}_2$ ,  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  are the sum of squares and products matrices for the first and second with  $n_1$  and  $n_2$ number of observations, respectively, and W is the pooled dispersion matrix for the k characters based on two samples.

These  $\alpha_i$ 's chosen that so  $M = \frac{\text{Variance between}\bar{\Psi}_1 \text{ and } \bar{\Psi}_2}{\text{Total variance with in groups}} \text{ is maximized.}$ 

Then  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_k)'$  is given as a solution of the equation WA = d. Let  $\overline{\Psi}_1$  and  $\overline{\Psi}_2$  be the sample means of the values for both samples and let  $\overline{\Psi}_1 < \overline{\Psi}_2$ . Then a unit is assigned to the first population if  $\Psi \leq \frac{\bar{\Psi}_1 + \bar{\Psi}_2}{2}$  and to the second population if  $\Psi = \frac{\bar{\Psi}_1 + \bar{\Psi}_2}{2}$ .

The  $\Psi = \alpha_1 X_1 + \alpha_2 X_2 + \alpha_3 X_3 + \alpha_4 X_4 + \cdots$  $+\alpha_{k-1}X_{k-1} + \alpha_k X_k$  score obtained from any set of values for a given object on the above p variables is used to determine the place of the particular object in group 1 or 2. A critical score  $\Psi^*$  is calculated (generally the average of  $\overline{\Psi}_1$  and  $\overline{\Psi}_2$ ); if the score of the new object lies between the  $\Psi^*$  and  $\overline{\Psi}_1$ , then it belongs to group 1; on the other hand, if it lies between the  $\Psi^*$  and  $\overline{\Psi}_2$ , then it belongs to group 2. The effectiveness of the discriminant function is measured with the help of probability of misclassification. The probability of misclassification is defined as the proportion of objects/individuals that are placed in a group but are actually belonging to other groups. Thus, for a two-group problem, the probability of misclassification is the proportion of objects belonging to group 1 but placed in group 2 and similarly the proportion of objects/individuals belonging to group 2 but placed in group 1.

To test for the equality of two population mean vector, that is, to test  $H_0: \mu_1 = \mu_2$ ,

we calculate statistic  $T^2$  analogous to Fisher's t statistic, defined as

 $T^2 = \frac{n_1 n_2}{n_1 + n_2} d' W^{-1} d$ . This is known as Hotelling's  $T^2$  statistic. This  $T^2$  is distributed as  $\frac{(n_1+n_2-2)k}{n_1+n_2-k-1}F_{k,\overline{n_1+n_2-k-1}},$ assuming that the variance-covariance matrices of the two populations are identical but unknown.

$$D^2 = d' W^{-1} d,$$
  
 $= A' d$   
 $= \sum_{i=1}^k lpha_i d_i,$ 

where  $\alpha_i$ 's are the linear discriminant coefficients and  $d_i$ 's are as defined above.

This  $D^2$  is known as Mahalanobis generalized  $D^2$  statistic.

The relationship between Hotelling's  $T^2$  statistic and Mahalanobis generalized  $D^2$  statistic is  $n_1n_2$ - 2

$$T^2 = \frac{1}{n_1 + n_2} D^2.$$
  
To test  $H_0$  we have

$$F = \frac{n_1 + n_2 - k - 1}{k}$$

$$\times \frac{n_1 n_2}{(n_1 + n_2)(n_1 + n_2 - 2)} D^2, \text{ with } k, n_1$$

$$+ n_2 - k - 1 \text{ d.f.}$$

Contribution of different characters towards group discrimination is worked out as follows:  $\frac{\alpha_i d_i \times 100}{D^2}$ 

Test for the equality of p (>2) population mean vectors:

In this problem, our objective is to test the null hypothesis  $H_0: \mu_1 = \mu_2 = \cdots = \mu_k$  vectors based on k characters. In this situation, we use  $\Lambda$  statistic, defined as  $\Lambda = \frac{|W|}{|W+B|}$ , where W and B are the sum of squares and sum of product matrices for within population and between population. This is known as Wilk's  $\Lambda$  (lambda) criterion, which is asymptotically distributed as  $\chi^2$  distribution

$$\chi^2_{k(p-1)} = \left[ (n-1) - \frac{k + (p-1) + 1}{2} \right] \log_e \Lambda.$$

Example 12.5. The following table gives the information on 20 yield and yield components for 37 varieties distributed in four groups. Justify whether grouping was made correctly on not, contribution of different yield components in group discrimination.

	Group	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1	1	-	-	2	2	2	7	2	2	3	ю	ю	ю	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
	X20	276.98	283.70	295.61	298.67	299.57	300.94	321.00	323.82	325.47	327.73	331.91	341.39	345.85	350.18	353.28	354.41	356.87	358.12	359.93	363.85	369.82	371.94	372.53	373.14	384.56	394.78	416.26	420.00	442.93	449.22	450.74	453.42	457.62	489.41	495.12	502.73	505.86
	X19	8.15	7.28	9.27	7.41	8.86	9.09	7.25	7.73	8.40	7.76	7.10	7.93	9.49	8.94	7.98	9.45	8.31	9.33	7.58	6.68	6.91	7.22	9.13	8.44	8.01	8.18	8.54	8.28	8.12	7.83	8.67	9.53	7.65	8.67	9.29	LT.T	7.46
	X18	12.42	10.35	11.52	10.43	12.65	11.87	10.19	13.75	12.33	11.29	9.63	15.63	96.6	15.22	12.26	14.50	13.66	15.45	13.12	11.52	13.37	10.52	15.42	13.76	12.21	15.05	11.29	10.45	10.76	10.29	13.53	14.10	10.28	14.98	17.96	14.54	14.93
	X17	2.23	1.99	2.15	2.02	2.38	2.12	2.00	2.40	2.19	2.29	1.80	2.59	1.93	2.74	2.25	2.45	2.60	2.44	2.40	2.33	2.41	2.05	2.88	2.45	2.47	2.74	2.20	2.04	2.05	2.02	2.53	2.65	2.01	2.73	3.05	2.58	2.66
	X16	1.74	1.89	2.12	1.81	2.13	2.08	1.89	1.53	2.07	1.67	2.15	1.57	1.93	1.95	1.74	1.93	1.66	1.90	1.55	1.32	1.34	1.44	1.87	1.72	1.74	1.77	1.86	1.79	1.76	1.49	1.71	1.96	1.39	1.77	1.85	1.49	1.42
	X15	302.31	286.54	304.86	234.97	211.97	306.61	277.85	277.86	239.02	294.98	250.95	263.92	313.38	253.30	241.44	298.72	244.12	302.74	247.84	288.41	267.74	307.51	289.06	264.72	276.24	263.88	284.65	306.56	291.33	286.04	289.87	312.47	333.34	286.02	288.29	313.12	316.73
	X14	1648.00	1601.00	1650.33	1653.00	1701.67	1634.00	1611.00	1621.00	1711.33	1496.00	1588.33	1587.33	1663.67	1634.33	1621.67	1675.33	1692.00	1672.33	1668.33	1511.67	1629.00	1547.33	1764.00	1657.33	1609.00	1702.67	1693.00	1542.33	1582.33	1698.67	1747.33	1744.67	1624.00	1785.67	1738.67	1685.33	1662.67
	X13	205.68	159.38	203.41	117.85	158.37	206.11	154.35	207.93	131.32	178.28	203.45	228.32	195.77	162.86	146.38	222.68	218.03	219.74	168.35	188.79	189.59	202.79	263.96	161.48	201.06	184.37	237.48	236.20	232.85	197.75	216.55	223.82	238.45	239.65	208.66	220.73	216.33
	X12	1.91	2.13	1.81	2.02	2.11	1.92	1.94	2.15	1.98	2.16	2.20	2.15	2.01	2.08	2.08	2.11	2.37	2.14	2.34	2.43	2.27	2.25	2.62	2.12	2.52	2.27	2.40	2.25	2.20	2.45	2.70	2.84	2.08	2.73	2.56	2.60	2.54
	X11	6.65	7.12	6.83	7.89	7.99	6.68	6.96	7.72	7.50	7.72	7.69	7.67	7.55	7.88	7.83	7.82	8.64	7.90	8.64	8.55	7.97	8.38	8.67	7.80	8.97	8.58	9.17	8.58	8.42	10.00	10.06	9.84	8.94	10.19	10.01	10.46	10.06
	X10	133.87	128.65	143.36	117.91	117.78	143.59	140.91	133.96	132.39	130.27	135.25	141.57	149.37	132.12	133.45	144.04	129.01	145.20	131.19	130.48	145.32	138.49	131.64	149.08	129.08	137.06	135.48	149.60	161.70	137.24	135.28	140.35	155.76	147.31	150.81	144.95	151.50
	6X	8.93	9.30	8.90	12.87	12.50	9.23	10.50	8.77	11.93	9.17	11.03	8.73	9.47	9.67	9.47	8.87	9.50	9.00	8.93	9.33	9.03	9.07	9.67	9.70	9.80	9.23	10.23	8.73	10.90	9.90	10.87	10.57	8.50	10.30	9.07	9.20	9.10
	X8	35.33	37.67	30.83	29.00	37.60	31.17	35.83	33.50	26.50	24.83	29.50	34.50	31.33	30.33	28.17	33.17	42.50	33.33	30.60	24.50	29.00	22.50	36.73	30.33	26.17	30.00	24.83	31.17	33.50	34.50	36.50	37.50	29.50	25.93	33.83	29.67	27.40
	LX	18.00	20.77	20.13	24.60	20.80	17.37	22.50	23.07	23.13	25.27	25.00	22.93	23.20	24.13	23.73	23.20	22.53	22.23	24.03	25.87	23.33	25.50	21.87	23.13	26.63	24.07	26.27	24.10	24.90	23.20	24.37	24.57	23.90	27.57	24.67	25.17	25.07
	X6	105.51	94.23	112.17	102.78	99.50	107.36	95.76	103.54	115.47	102.07	98.26	92.60	107.88	98.60	100.95	104.49	90.33	93.17	109.56	116.45	108.60	115.48	98.85	108.25	107.58	100.17	107.01	103.77	102.57	105.69	104.51	93.00	112.40	112.08	108.22	104.79	117.92
	X5	180.67	178.67	179.67	154.67	193.67	178.67	176.00	153.67	163.33	157.00	191.00	156.33	162.67	153.00	143.67	150.00	171.00	146.00	144.00	164.33	143.00	162.67	181.00	130.00	143.00	160.00	143.67	194.00	195.33	178.00	182.33	161.67	193.00	166.33	155.67	149.33	144.00
	X4	19.37	21.93	22.37	20.53	21.17	18.80	21.73	18.70	21.20	19.33	24.53	17.67	21.23	19.67	18.87	20.33	21.53	18.63	23.10	16.67	18.47	20.10	22.40	19.93	20.03	19.10	19.60	23.53	21.63	22.97	21.93	19.73	22.63	19.07	22.73	23.90	21.83
	X3	123.96	119.93	137.13	129.03	129.24	131.18	133.70	135.62	135.34	117.81	143.56	140.06	140.47	125.74	116.18	140.95	140.06	144.30	143.02	119.07	128.79	121.01	145.13	123.41	115.58	123.49	114.79	154.25	151.84	145.32	144.01	144.58	146.65	124.89	153.17	145.61	138.86
	2	41.59	40.64	51.23	63.56	160.86	50.82	44.68	140.23	168.36	155.17	151.16	138.31	151.81	147.68	137.11	140.71	154.62	138.77	62.80	48.67	132.90	56.00	161.44	136.10	44.75	153.77	60.23	151.53	157.67	39.24	47.69	59.29	39.44	161.64	166.22	162.46	156.99
		1.27	0.26	2.15	1.85	9.36	3.17	0.20	7.81	4.27	3.84	3.13	8.33	2.34	4.10	2.56	9.85	5.01	2.38	3.13	4.56	5.02	2.46	5.71	2.25	8.29	7.05	1.96	6.05	7.34	3.81	5.36	8.24	4.44	3.70	4.22	4.58	4.01
	iety X	3	3	3.	3	2	3.	3	3	ά.	3.	.3	3	3.	'n	3.	0		ί.	3.	ά	3.	ί.		3	ũ	÷	4	Ś	ŝ	ю.	с,	õ	ά	4	ώ	ώ	ώ
ارات	Var	-	2	S)	4	5	9	٢	∞	6	10	=	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37

🚰 *sas exa	mple.sav	[DataSet1] -	SPSS D	ata Editor	-				0.00000000000										i - x
Ele Edit	View	Data Trans	form	Analyze Gro	aphs Utilitie	s Add	ons Windo	w Help											
۵ 🖬 🧀		••	<b>I</b>	Regorts		,	8 G G												
6:				Descriptive	Statistics	,												Visible: 29 of 2	29 Variables
	x4	x5	xŧ	Tables		•	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18	x19	у	VAR00001	var
4	30.53	154.67	10	Compare M	leans	,	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7,41	298.67	1.00	-
5	21.17	193.67	9	General Lin	vear Model	,	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57	1.00	
6	18.80	178.67	10	Generalize	d Linear Mode	sta 🔸	143.59	6.68	1.92	206.11	1634.00	306.61	2.08	2.12	11.87	9.09	300.94	1.00	
7	21.73	176.00	9	Miged Mode	els	•	140.91	6.96	1.94	154.35	1611.00	277.85	1.89	2.00	10.19	7.25	321.00	1.00	
8	18.70	153.67	10	⊆orrelate		,	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82	1.00	
9	21.20	163.33	11	Begression	1	•	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47	1.00	1
10	19.33	157.00	10	Loginear		•	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73	1.00	
11	24.53	191.00	9	Neural Nety	ejorks	•	135.26	7.69	2.20	203.45	1588.33	250.95	2.15	1.80	9.63	7.10	331.91	1.00	
12	17.67	156.33	9	Classify		•	A IwoStep	Cluster		228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39	1.00	
13	21.23	162.67	10	Qata Reduc	tion	,	K-Means	Cluster		195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85	1.00	
14	19.67	153.00	9	Scale		•	Herarchic	al Cluster.	-	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18	1.00	
15	18.87	143.67	10	Nonparame	stric Tests	•	Tree		1	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28	1.00	
16	30.33	150.00	10	Tyne Series	1	•	Discrimine	nt		222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.41	1.00	
17	21.53	171.00	9	Survival			129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87	1.00	
18	18.63	146.00	9	Missing Va	Ave Anelysis.		145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12	1.00	
19	23.10	144.00	10	Mytiple Re:	sponse	,	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93	2.00	
20	16.67	164.33	11	Complex Si	amples	•	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85	2.00	
21	18.47	143.00	10	Quality Cor	trol	•	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82	2.00	
22	20.10	162.67	11	ROC Curye			138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94	2.00	
23	22.40	181.00	96	1.85 21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53	2.00	
24	19.93	130.00	108	25 23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14	2.00	
25	20.03	143.00	107	.58 26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56	3.00	
26	19.10	160.00	100	1.17 24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78	3.00	
27	19.60	143.67	107	01 26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26	3.00	
28	1263	194.00	100	77 24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542 33	306.66	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00	3.00	
Data View	Variab	le View																	
Discriminant								_								SPSS Proc	essor is ready	1	
3	e		D	ī 🧔								1			Co.A	Serie.	- 8		528 PM 31/2012

Slide 12.28: Data structure and selection of appropriate analysis submenu of discriminant analysis using SPSS

																		Visible: 29 of 2	29 Vari
	x4	x5	xб	x7	xB	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18	x19	у	VAR00001	W
4	20.53	Discin	and Analy	-	100.000	10.00		1.00	1.00	23	1653.00				10.00	7.41	298.67	1.00	
5	21.17	Coochine and	nanic receipts	0	101.000	1000	1000	1100	10.000	1000-001	1701	Discriminant Ar	nalysis: Stat	istics	-	8.86	299.57	1.00	
6	18.80	-			Group	ing Variabi	e:			Statistics	1634.	Descriptives-		Matrices		9.09	300.94	1.00	
7	21.73	/ sino		_	VAR	00001(1 4)				Mathead	1611.	Manna		Within-proving	orrelation	7.25	321.00	1.00	
8	18.70	Y		_	0	the Range			1	Thereo	1621.	1 bebureinte Ab	01/84	This course		7.73	323.82	1.00	
9	21.20				Indeo	enderts:			4	Qassify	1711.	Convigiate An	~~~	- vern-groups (	or a same	8.40	325.47	1.00	
10	19.33			1	- 1	1			-	Sgve	496.	D Box's W		Separate-group	is covariance	7.76	327.73	1.00	
11	24.53			24	÷ //>	2					1588.	Function Coeffi	cients		•	7.10	331.91	1.00	
12	17.67			-	1	3					1587.	Esher's				7.93	341.39	1.00	
13	21.23				•	nter indepe	ndents toget	her			1663.	Unstandardiz	ed			9.49	345.85	1.00	
14	19.67				01	se stepwis	e method				1634					8.94	350.18	1.00	
15	18.87			1	Selec	țion Variabl	e.	1000			1621.	Contro		ancel Hel		7.98	353.28	1.00	
16	30.33	L						Yes Yes	ue		1675.				_	9.45	354.41	1.00	
17	21.53			OK	Easte	Reset	Cancel		telp		1692.00	244.12	1.6	6 2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87	1.00	
18	18.63	-					-	-	-	-	672.33	302.74	1.5	0 2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12	1.00	
19	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.5	5 2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93	2.00	
20	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.3	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85	2.00	
21	18.47	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.3	4 2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82	2.00	
22	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.4	4 2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94	2.00	
23	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.8	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53	2.00	
24	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.7	2 2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14	2.00	
25	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.7	4 2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56	3.00	
26	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.7	7 2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78	3.00	
27	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.8	6 2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26	3.00	
7A	253	194.00	103 77	24.10	31 17	8.73	149.60	8.68	2.25	236.20	1542 33	306.66	1.7	ND C P	10.45	8.78	420.00	3.00	_
	•							1.000											_

Slide 12.29: Data structure, selection of appropriate variables, and descriptives in discriminant analysis using SPSS



																		Visible: 29 of 2	29 Variab
	x4	x5	x6	x7	xВ	x9	x10	x11	x12	x13	x14	x15	x16	x17	x18	x19	у	VAR00001	Vät
4	20.53	O Discrimi	and hash	-	100.000	10.00	10.00		1.00	23	1653.0	Discriminant An	alysis: Classificatio	n			298.67	1.00	1
5	21.17	COCCUMIN	name receipts		10.000	-	1000	1100	10.000	10000-000	1701.6	Drive Drobability		Una Casa	animente Materia		299.57	1.00	
6	18.80	-			Group	ing Variabi	e:			Statistics	1634.0	PTION PTODADING	-	USE COVE	RIGHCU MOUTX		300.94	1.00	
7	21.73	/ sino		_	VAR	0001(1 4)				Method	1611.0	Al groups equ	<u>e</u>	() Within	groups		321.00	1.00	
8	18.70	Y		_	0	fine Range			1	Denno	1621.0	O Compute from	group sizes	OSegar	ite-groups		323.82	1.00	
9	21.20				Indep	endents:				Qiassiny	1711.3	Display		Plots			325.47	1.00	
10	19.33				- / >	1			-	Sgve	496.0	Catenaise res		Contri	ned around		327.73	1.00	
11	24.53			26	الله 🔶	2					1588.3	Linit cases	to first	Cent	de conces		331.91	1.00	
12	17.67				/ x	3	0.000	1921			1587.3	C Communitation		C gepare	ke-groops		341.39	1.00	
13	21.23				•	nter indepe	ndents toget	her			1663.6			Teuro	na map		345.85	1.00	
14	19.67				0	se stepwis	e method				634.5	L'eave-one-out	classification				350.18	1.00	
15	18.87				Selec	jon Variata	e.				1621.6	Beplace missing	g values with mean				353.28	1.00	
16	30.33							1 20			675.3	-					354.41	1.00	
17	21.53			OK	Easte	Reset	Cance	4 P	selp		692.0	L	Continue C	ancel	Help		356.87	1.00	
18	18.63	-	-		-		-				1672.3	-		-			358.12	1.00	
19	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93	2.00	
20	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85	2.00	
21	18.47	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82	2.00	
22	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94	2.00	
23	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53	2.00	
24	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14	2.00	
25	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56	3.00	
26	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78	3.00	
27	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26	3.00	
28	1	194.00	103 77	24.10	31.17	8.73	1/9.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542 33	306.66	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28	420.00	3.00	
a View	Variable	View														SPSS Proce	issor is ready		

Slide 12.30: Data structure, selection of appropriate variables, and classification option in discriminant analysis using SPSS (Table 12.7)

Table 12.7 Discriminant analysis output using SPS	Table 1	2.7	Discriminant	analysis	output	using	SPSS
---	---------	-----	--------------	----------	--------	-------	------

Analysis (	Case Processing Summary		
Unweight	ed Cases	Ν	Percent
Valid		37	100.0
Excluded	Missing or out-of-range group codes	0	.0
	At least one missing discriminating variable	0	.0
	Both missing or out-of-range group codes and at least one missing discriminating variable	0	.0
	Total	0	.0
	Total	37	100.0

By using same data with SPSS, one gets the following output:

				Valid N (listwise)	)
VAR00001		Mean	Std. deviation	Unweighted	Weighted
1	x1	32.8822	2.46721	18	18.000
	x2	1.4874E2	9.29225	18	18.000
	x3	1.3246E2	8.86043	18	18.000
	x4	20.4217	1.70423	18	18.000
	x5	1.6609E2	15.40695	18	18.000
	x6	1.0137E2	6.84825	18	18.000
	x7	22.3661	2.19903	18	18.000
	x8	32.5050	4.36185	18	18.000
	x9	9.8800	1.32207	18	18.000
	x10	1.3515E2	8.81418	18	18.000
	x11	7.5578	.51970	18	18.000
	x12	2.0706	.12982	18	18.000
للاستشا	ΖıL	الحل			(continued)

## (continued)

Group statistics

				Valid N (listwise)	
VAR00001		Mean	Std. deviation	Unweighted	Weighted
	x13	1.8444E2	33.87301	18	18.000
	x14	1.6368E3	50.82311	18	18.000
	x15	2.7253E2	30.68083	18	18.000
	x16	1.8756	.19318	18	18.000
	x17	2.2539	.25597	18	18.000
	x18	12 3950	1 94749	18	18 000
	x19	8 3183	81692	18	18 000
2	x1	33.8550	1 43826	6	6,000
-	x2	1 4965E2	12 78573	6	6,000
	x3	1.3007E2	11 34534	6	6.000
	x4	20.1117	2 39749	6	6.000
	x5	1 5/17E2	18 / 2026	6	6.000
	x5 x6	1.041762	6 22227	6	6.000
	7	1.0933E2	0.52227	0	6.000
	<u>x/</u>	23.9550	1.51515	6	6.000
	<u>x8</u>	28.9433	5.03115	6	6.000
	<u>x9</u>	9.2883	.33457	6	6.000
	x10	1.3770E2	7.99281	6	6.000
	x11	8.3350	.36687	6	6.000
	x12	2.3383	.17198	6	6.000
	x13	1.9583E2	36.64345	6	6.000
	x14	1.6296E3	90.56326	6	6.000
	x15	2.7755E2	21.40818	6	6.000
	x16	1.5400	.21900	6	6.000
	x17	2.4200	.26758	6	6.000
	x18	12.9517	1.72697	6	6.000
	x19	7.6600	.94786	6	6.000
3	x1	38.3375	2.58296	4	4.000
	x2	1.5257E2	6.38617	4	4.000
	x3	1.2703E2	18.56861	4	4.000
	x4	20.5650	2.01287	4	4.000
	x5	1.6017E2	23.88554	4	4.000
	x6	1.0463E2	3 41556	4	4 000
	x7	25 2675	1 37337	4	4 000
	x8	28.0425	3.02432	4	4.000
	x0	0.4075	65541	4	4.000
	x9 x10	9.4973 1.2790E2	.05341	4	4.000
		9.9250	0.30097	4	4.000
	x11 12	8.8230	.29443	4	4.000
	x12	2.3600	.12570	4	4.000
	x13	2.1478E2	26.37621	4	4.000
	x14	1.6368E3	75.70713	4	4.000
	x15	2.8283E2	17.97179	4	4.000
	x16	1.7900	.05099	4	4.000
	x17	2.3625	.30794	4	4.000
	x18	12.2500	2.00027	4	4.000
	x19	8.2525	.22172	4	4.000
4	x1	36.1889	3.21260	9	9.000
	x2	1.5452E2	9.98084	9	9.000
	x3	1.4388E2	8.28200	9	9.000
	x4	21.8244	1.54563	9	9.000
	x5	1.6952E2	18.62794	9	9.000
	x6	1.0680E2	7.10421	9	9.000
	x7	24.8244	1.19958	9	9.000
	x8	32.0367	4.06234	9	9.000

## (continued)

Group statistics

VA D00001		Mana	Ctd dawind		Valid N (listwise)	Waishta
VAR00001		0.8222	Sid. deviai	on	Onweighted	
	x9 x10	9.8233	.885/1		9	9.000
	x10 x11	0.7756	65643		9	9.000
	x11 x12	2 5222	24702		9	9.000
	$\frac{x12}{x13}$	2.3222 2.3222	13 83608		9	9.000
	x13 x14	1.6966E3	65 38209		9	9,000
	x14 x15	3.0191E2	17 28947		9	9.000
	x16	1 6489	20551		9	9.000
	x10 x17	2 4756	36715		9	9.000
	x17 x18	13 4856	2,59200		9	9.000
	x19	8 3322	74328		9	9,000
Total	x1	34.4341	3,11995		37	37.000
Totul	$\frac{x_1}{x_2}$	1 5071E2	9 75440		37	37.000
	$\frac{n2}{x3}$	1 3426E2	11 50760		37	37,000
	x4	20.7281	1.85799		37	37.000
	x5	1.6435E2	17.65243		37	37.000
	x6	1.0437E2	7.09265		37	37.000
	x7	23.5354	2.13098		37	37.000
	x8	31.3311	4.46036		37	37.000
	x9	9.7289	1.05023		37	37.000
	x10	1.3878E2	9.65722		37	37.000
	x11	8.3603	1.04694		37	37.000
	x12	2.2551	.25335		37	37.000
	x13	1.9862E2	33.04842		37	37.000
	x14	1.6502E3	67.12036		37	37.000
	x15	2.8160E2	27.36225		37	37.000
	x16	1.7568	.22761		37	37.000
	x17	2.3465	.29686		37	37.000
	x18	12.7349	2.06500		37	37.000
	x19	8.2078	.79184		37	37.000
Tests of equa	lity of group means					
	Wilks' lam	ıbda	F	d.f.1	d.f.2	Się
x1	.618		6.812	3	33	.00
x2	.936		.758	3	33	.52
x3	.747		3.725	3	33	.02
x4	.880		1.498	3	33	.23
x5	.912		1.062	3	33	.37
x6	.793		2.874	3	33	.05
x7	.678		5.222	3	33	.00
x8	.851		1.927	3	33	.14
x9	.953		.544	3	33	.65
x10	.736		3.954	3	33	.01
x11	.227		37.379	3	33	.00
x12	.420		15.206	3	33	.00
x13	.759		3.495	3	33	.02
x14	.840		2.088	3	33	.12
x15	.803		2.692	3	33	.06
x16	.654		5.817	3	33	.00
	.894		1.310	3	33	.28
x17	045		.635	3	33	.59
x17 x18	.945					

x4 x5 x6 x7 x8 x9	<u>157</u> 488173100 .345151001	105 .284 .093 .149 .193134 .479	000 .551 .329255236 .470127	551 1.000 .402039130 .248 .118	329 .402 1.000089396 .334 .174	255039089 1.000 .060705045	236130396 .060 1.000533 .230	470 .248 .334705533 1.000011	127 .118 .174045 .230011 1.000	354021021 .163161111522	024 .019 –.399 –.195 .509 .011 .133	062121226446 .341 .241 .128	391035 .253198195 .249487	094 .064165148236 .380 .278	113067 .088 .206272127649	206 .316 .267102203 .191 .451	027316437276 .031 .249166	089314492246029 .224244	777 - 047 - 067 - 098 - 295 - 297 - 046
x6	3100	3 .149	)255	2039	080 (	) 1.000	090. 0	t705	1045	.163	) –.195	6 –.446	3198	5148	3 .206	7102	7276	2246	7098
x7 x8	.345 –.1	.193 –.1	236 .4	130 .2	396	090.	1.0005	533 1.0	.230 –.(	1611	). 605.	.341 .2	195 .2	2363	2721	203 .1	.031 .2	029 .2	2952
6x	51001	34 .479	170127	248 .118	34 .174	705045	533 .230	000011	111 1.000	11522	111 .133	241 .128	249 –.487	80 .278	27 –.649	91 .451	249166	24244	92046
x10	004	323	.354	021	021	.163	161	111	522	1.000	538	526	.392	246	.548	.016	167	.010	.204
x11 x	.205	.306	024 -	- 019	399 -	195 -	.509	.011	.133	538 -	1.000	.778 1	.012	.344	370 -	131	.479	.400	.071
12 x13	.396 .369	.242129	.062 .39	.121032	.226 .25	.446 –.198	.341195	.241 .249	.128 –.487	.526 .392	.178 .01	.000 .21	.214 1.000	.353 .029	.226 .54	.084 .003	.549 .150	.432 .200	.151 .342
x14	) .136	) .290	.094	5 .064	3165	3148	5236	) .380	7 .278	2 –.246	2 .344	t .353	029	) 1.000	t –.320	3 .494	505	508 .508	2 .610
x15	115	261	.113	067	.088	.206	272	127	649	.548	370	226	.544	320	1.000	125	224	165	.162
x16	086	.440	.206	.316	.267	102	203	.191	.451	.016	131	.084	.003	.494	125	1.000	.072	.071	.633
x17	.295	.162	027	316	437	276	.031	.249	166	167	.479	.549	.156	.505	224	.072	1.000	.954	.447
x18	.264	.074	080.	314	492	246	029	.224	244	.010	.400	.432	.206	.508	165	.071	.954	1.000	.468
x19	.066	.195	.277	047	067	360	29	.292	046	.20	.07	.151	.34	.61	.16	.63	4.	.46	1.00

Eigenvalues					
Function	Eigenvalue	% of variance	Cumulative %	Canon	ical Correlation
1	28.240 <sup>a</sup>	84.6	84.6	.983	
2	4.258 <sup>a</sup>	12.8	97.3	.900	
3	.893 <sup>a</sup>	2.7	100.0	.687	
a. First 3 canonical	discriminant function	ons were used in the	analysis		
Wilks' Lambda					
Test of Function(s)	Will	ks' Lambda	Chi-square	df	Sig.
1 through 3	.003		139.000	57	.000
2 through 3	.100		56.299	36	.017
3	.528		15.633	17	.550
Standardized Cano	nical Discriminant F	unction Coefficients			
	Function	n			
	1		2		3
x1	1.189		1.256		354
x2	561		322		.213
x3	554		048		248
x4	.551		648		.086
x5	.941		455		.866
x6	.265		.109		.001
x7	925		.271		.532
x8	.541		1.773		.597
x9	1.304		430		.712
x10	1.627		-1.162		.017
x11	2.678		2.685		431
x12	497		-3.419		.282
x13	-1.444		101		760
x14	561		816		.178
x15	1.556		1.370		.792
x16	.145		2.966		965
x17	.515		126		-2.887
x18	.339		.451		3.530
x19	404		-1.524		.493
Structure Matrix					
	Function				
	1	2		3	
x11	.342*		.106	244	
x10	.111*	_	.027	.096	
x15	.093*	_	.005	.035	

.009

.285\*

.148\*

-.192\*

 $-.077^{*}$ 

.060

.092

-.060

## Analysis 1 Summary of canonical discriminant functions

المتسارات للاستشارات

x2

x16

x6

x19

x17

x1

x8

x7

.049\*

-.078

.055

.010

.057

.114

.109

-.006

(continued)

-.041

-.141

-.051 $-.518^{*}$ 

.114

.106

.394\*

-.377\*

#### (continued)

Structure Matri	Structure Matrix									
	Function									
	1	2	3							
x3	.088	.020	.365*							
x12	.206	172	268*							
x5	.021	.106	.201*							
x13	.102	004	164*							
x14	.076	.027	.159*							
x9	.000	.080	.157*							
x4	.065	.041	.113*							
x18	.038	049	.081*							

Pooled within-groups correlations between discriminating variables and standardized canonical discriminant functions

Variables ordered by absolute size of correlation within function.

\*. Largest absolute correlation between each variable and any discriminant function

Canonical Discriminant Function Coefficients

	Function		
	1	2	3
x1	.464	.491	138
x2	057	033	.022
x3	053	005	024
x4	.303	356	.047
x5	.053	026	.049
x6	.040	.017	.000
x7	504	.148	.290
x8	.126	.412	.139
x9	1.218	401	.665
x10	.188	134	.002
x11	5.135	5.150	827
x12	-2.902	-19.944	1.645
x13	048	003	025
x14	009	013	.003
x15	.061	.053	.031
x16	.753	15.424	-5.017
x17	1.757	431	-9.851
x18	.162	.215	1.683
x19	513	-1.938	.627
(Constant)	-82.362	.234	-21.981
Unstandardized coefficient	ents		
Functions at Group Cen	troids		
	Function		
VAR00001	1	2	3
1	-3.918	.930	.417
2	-1.784	-4.266	446
3	1.525	1.981	-2.382
4	8.348	.104	.521
Unstandardized canonic	al discriminant functions evaluat	ed at group means	



## 12.10.1 Classification Statistics

Classification	Processing	Summary					
Processed							37
		Missing	g or out-of-range gr	oup codes			0
Excluded		At least	one missing discri	minating v	variable		0
Used in Outp	ut						37
Prior Probabi	lities for Gro	oups					
				Cases U	Jsed in Analysis		
VAR00001		Prior		Unweig	ghted		Weighted
1		.250		18			18.000
2		.250		6			6.000
3		.250		4			4.000
4		.250		9			9.000
Total		1.000		37			37.000
Classification	Function Co	oefficients					
	V	AR00001					
	1		2		3		4
x1		41.072	39.633		44.501		46.345
x2		-3.488	-3.459		-3.893		-4.157
x3		-6.062	-6.131		-6.290		-6.715
x4		30.574	33.027		31.716		34.585
x5		6.158	6.363		6.284		6.840
x6		11.206	11.206		11.441		11.684
x7		16.385	14.288		12.982		10.105
x8		31.385	29.391		32.115		32.602
x9		96.797	100.908		101.143		112.135
x10		13.404	14.501		14.281		15.822
x11		289.057	273.974		324.740		347.709
x12	_	-215.171	-119.170		-256.539		-234.126
x13		-4.836	-4.899		-5.030		-5.424
x14		.019	.064		050		078
x15		6.895	6.720		7.195		7.599
x16		4.049	-70.146		38.408		.027
x17	_	102.865	-88.375		-66.184		-81.989
x18		62.076	59.851		58.472		64.059
x19		-47.096	-38.665		-53.682		-51.727
(Constant)		-4.940E3	-5.100E3		-5.324E3		-5.979E3
Fisher's linea	r discrimina	nt functions					
Classification	Results <sup>a</sup>						
			Predicted Gro	oup Memb	ership		
		VAR00001	1	2	3	4	Total
Original	Count	1	18	0	0	0	18
		2	0	6	0	0	6
		3	0	0	4	0	4
		4	0	0	0	9	9
	%	1	100.0	.0	.0	.0	100.0
		2	.0	100.0	.0	.0	100.0
		3	.0	.0	100.0	.0	100.0
		4	.0	.0	.0	100.0	100.0

a. 100.0% of original grouped cases correctly classified.

ستشارات

*Example 12.6.* Using the SPAR1 software for the same example and taking the first ten characters into consideration with the following four groups, the output would be as given below:

#### **Fisher's Discriminant Analysis**

char means group 1

 32.97
 150.55
 131.38
 20.61
 171.95
 102.44
 21.96
 32.19

 10.15
 133.29
 7.37
 2.04
 179.54
 1625.25
 270.99
 1.89

 2.18
 11.84
 8.02
 1.12
 1.12
 1.12
 1.12
 1.12
 1.12

char means group 2

 32.99
 147.77
 133.72
 20.00
 154.33
 102.68
 23.61
 31.74

 9.28
 136.86
 8.10
 2.19
 190.32
 1642.42
 273.74
 1.75

 2.39
 13.21
 8.47

#### char means group 3

36.10	149.59	128.31	20.40	157.17	106.21	24.36	28.84
9.43	139.47	8.52	2.34	209.62	1643.08	282.55	1.69
2.41	12.76	8.09					

#### char means group 4

36.19	154.52	143.88	21.82	169.52	106.80	24.82	32.04
9.82	147.21	9.78	2.52	221.64	1696.59	301.91	1.65
2.48	13.49	8.33					

chars included in dis. function

#### 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

#### groups 1 2

group d	iff. d(i)	,s				
-0.02	2.78	-2.34	0.61	17.61	-0.24	
-1.65	0.45	0.87	-3.57			

#### t-values for D(I),S

determinant of pooled var/cov matrix= 0.43857635E+11

discriminant function coefficients L(1),S 0.9938 -0.1752 -0.0033 0.7923 0.1135 -0.1393 -1.5224 -0.6471 1.6698 -0.1320

#### L(I)xD(I) values

(continued)

L(I)xD(I)x100/DSQ values -0.3423 -7.8917 0.1270 7.7969 32.4094 0.5448 40.7367 -4.6896 23.6830 7.6258

d-square= 0.61692864E+01 hotelling tsquare= 0.29612570E+02

F value for testing T-SQ= 1.481 WITH 10 AND 9 D.F.

centroid discriminant scores for groups 1 and 2 are  $\,$  - 27.3625 and  $\,$  -33.5317

groups 1 3

group diff. D(I), S -3.13 0.96 3.07 0.22 14.78 -3.78 -2.40 3.35 0.72 -6.18

t-values for d(i),s -2.27 0.20 0.56 0.26 1.70 -1.38 -2.53 1.70 1.50 -1.65

DETERMINANT OF POOLED VAR/COV MATRIX = 0.31849705E+11

DISCRIMINANT FUNCTION COEFFICIENTS L(I),S -0.2534 -0.2416 0.2667 0.0395 -0.0181 -0.5544 -2.3654 -1.4696 0.8977 -0.4154

L(I)xD(I) VALUES 0.7929 -0.2322 0.8198 0.0085 -0.2677 2.0936 5.6731 -4.9189 0.6486 2.5654

L(I)xD(I)x100/DSQ VALUES 11.0382 -3.2321 11.4131 0.1186 -3.7266 29.1462 78.9766 -68.4772 9.0293 35.7139

D-SQUARE= 0.71832473E+01 HOTELLING T-SQUARE= 0.34479590E+02

F VALUE FOR TESTING T-SQ= 1.724 WITH 10 AND 9 D.F.

CENTROID DISCRIMINANT SCORES FOR GROUPS 1 AND 3 ARE -214.2960 AND -221.4792

## **GROUPS 1 4**

GROUP DIFF. D(I),S -3.22 -3.96 -12.50 -1.21 2.43 -4.36 -2.86 0.15 0.33 -13.92

(continued)



(continued)

T-VAI	LUES F	FOR D(I),S			
-2.39 0.08	-0.9 0.62	$   \begin{array}{r}     0 & -3.50 \\     -3.61   \end{array} $	-1.60	0.33 -1.40	-3.37
DETE = 0.56	RMINA 525495:	ANT OF PO 5E+11	DOLED V	/AR/COV MA	TRIX

DISCRIMINANT FUNCTION COEFFICIENTS L(I),S -0.4532 -0.1486 0.0266 -0.7149 -0.0276 -0.7006 -2.5632 -1.7477 1.1586 -0.2437 L(I)xD(I) VALUES 1.4587 0.5893 -0.3328 0.8676 -0.0670 3.0547 7.3314 -0.2651 0.3843 3.3920

L(I)xD(I)x100/DSQ VALUES 8.8877 3.5903 -2.0275 5.2858 -0.4080 18.6114 44.6678 -1.6149 2.3412 20.6663

D-SQUARE= 0.16413136E+02 HOTELLING T-SQUARE= 0.84410420E+02

F VALUE FOR TESTING T-SQ=4.443 WITH 10 AND 10 D.F.

CENTROID DISCRIMINANT SCORES FOR GROUPS 1 AND 4 ARE -258.3327 AND -274.7458 GROUPS 2 3

GROUP DIFF. D(I),S -3.11 -1.82 5.42 -0.39 -2.83 -3.54 -0.75 2.90 -0.15 -2.61

T-VALUES FOR D(I),S -2.48 -0.37 0.84 -0.42 -0.33 -0.98 -1.06 1.21 -0.74 -0.66

DETERMINANT OF POOLED VAR/COV MATRIX= 0.37497077E+09

DISCRIMINANT FUNCTION COEFFICIENTS L(I),S -2.5936 0.1834 0.6440 -2.8162 -0.1129 -0.4099 4.6301 0.2521 7.2228 -0.2808

L(I)xD(I) VALUES 8.0595 -0.3335 3.4888 1.1018 0.3198 1.4490 -3.4610 0.7311 -1.1015 0.7332

L(1)xD(1)x100/DSQ VALUES 73.3534 -3.0355 31.7530 10.0284 2.9109 13.1877 -31.5002 6.6544 -10.0250 6.6729 (continued)

D-SQUARE= 0.10987192E+02 HOTELLING T-SQUARE= 0.43948760E+02

F VALUE FOR TESTING T-SQ=1.570 WITH 10 AND 5 D.F.

CENTROID DISCRIMINANT SCORES FOR GROUPS 2 AND 3 ARE 57.7524 AND 46.7652 GROUPS 2 4

GROUP DIFF. D(I), S -3.20 -6.74 -10.16 -1.82 -15.18 -4.12 -1.21 -0.30 -0.54 -10.35

T-VALUES FOR D(I), S -2.63 -1.49 -2.07 -2.08 -2.10 -1.06 -2.14 -0.13 -1.73 -2.56 DETERMINANT OF POOLED VAR/COV MATRIX= 0.36381531E+09

DISCRIMINANT FUNCTION COEFFICIENTS L(I),S -1.8258 1.4017 -0.7546 -4.2540 0.3174 -0.2351 -14.6768 -1.8397 -2.1950 -0.3366

L(I)xD(I) VALUES 5.8383 -9.4535 7.6646 7.7452 -4.8192 0.9682 17.7508 0.5435 1.1926 3.4851

L(I)xD(I)x100/DSQ VALUES 18.8845 -30.5784 24.7920 25.0528 -15.5882 3.1318 57.4170 1.7580 3.8577 11.2730

D-SQUARE= 0.30915662E+02 HOTELLING T-SQUARE= 0.13093690E+03

F VALUE FOR TESTING T-SQ= 5.237 WITH 10 AND 6 D.F.

CENTROID DISCRIMINANT SCORES FOR GROUPS 2 AND 4 ARE -485.6838 AND -516.5995 GROUPS 3 4

GROUP DIFF. D(I),S -0.09 -4.93 -15.57 -1.43 -12.35 -0.58 -0.46 -3.20 -0.39 -7.74

T-VALUES FOR D(I),S -0.06 -0.98 -2.73 -1.80 -1.25 -0.19 -0.65 -1.55 -1.14 -1.94

(continued)



(continued)

DETERMINANT OF POOLED VAR/COV MATRIX= 0.12996363E+10

DISCRIMINANT FUNCTION COEFFICIENTS L(I),S 0.0915 0.0325 -0.1818 -0.1363 0.0288 -0.6955 -4.1911 -1.7772 -0.7058 -0.1388

L(I)xD(I) VALUES -0.0082 -0.1601 2.8312 0.1948 -0.3557 0.4062 1.9360 5.6790 0.2758 1.0746

L(I)xD(I)x100/DSQ VALUES -0.0695 -1.3483 23.8443 1.6403 -2.9954 3.4209 16.3054 47.8289 2.3231 9.0502

D-SQUARE= 0.11873580E+02 HOTELLING T-SQUARE= 0.50288100E+02

F VALUE FOR TESTING T-SQ=2.012 WITH 10 AND 6 D.F.

CENTROID DISCRIMINANT SCORES FOR GROUPS 3 AND 4 ARE -266.6579 AND -278.5314

## 12.11 Cluster Analysis

Researchers, particularly in the field of social science, breeding, genetics, medical, and other fields, always want to have groups of homogeneous elements so that there exist maximum variation among the groups and minimum variation among the individual elements of particular group. This will facilitate further action-oriented research with the elements of these groups. In conventional breeding, the possibility of success in a breeding program increases with the crossing between two parents in two different groups having maximum genetic distance between them. The possibility of in breeding depression increases as the distance between the parents decreases. Clustering based on genetic distances may help in identifying the parents for breeding improvement program. In social sciences, an extension specialist may try to adopt different extension strategies for different groups of people depending upon their multiple characteristics. The extension personal may like to have groups of homogeneous respondents which may fit well to specific extension strategy. In medical sciences, classification of diseases may provide a structural basis towards combating a group of diseases. Cluster analysis is a multivariate statistical technique used to form group of relatively homogeneous elements/ individuals/entities together. The main emphasis in cluster analysis remains in exploring the possibility of formation of homogeneous groups of individuals or objects based on multiple characteristics. In all the clustering activities, the main objective remains in bringing together the individuals or the objects or the entities within a group having minimum variance among them and maximum variance between the groups.

The main activities of cluster analysis encompass three major steps: (1) to measure the distance between any two objects based on multiple characteristics, (2) the procedure for formation of clusters, that is, amalgamation technique, and (3) to form the clusters based on the distances calculated taking multiple characters into consideration and following the appropriate amalgamation technique. This will help in further utilization of information generated through cluster analysis.

## 12.11.1 Distance Measures

Let there be n number of individuals, all measured for p number of characters. The first task is to find out a suitable measure which can be used to have an idea about the distances between any two individuals based on the p characters. These will be used to form the distance matrix among the n individuals.

In literature several distance measures are found; we discuss some of these below:



1. *Minkowski distance* is defined as  $M_{ij} = \sqrt[r]{\sum_{k=1}^{p} |X_{ik} - X_{jk}|^{r}}$ , where  $M_{ij}$  denotes the distance between two objects *i* and *j*, k = 1,2,3...p the number of characters, and

*r* is the parameter chosen suitably.
If we select *r* = 2, then we get the *Euclidean* distance measure. Thus, Euclidean distance measure between *i*th and *j*th individual is

given as 
$$E_{ij} = \sqrt{\sum_{k=1}^{p} (X_{ik} - X_{jk})^2}.$$

- 3. Squared Euclidean distance  $= E_{ij}^2 = \sum_{k=1}^p (X_{ik} X_{jk})^2$  is also used when anyone wants to put greater weights on objects that are fur-
- ther apart. 4. *City block distance*: In Minkowski distance measure, if we put r = 1 and take the absolute value, we get the measure  $CB_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{p} |X_{ik} - X_{jk}|$ . This is nothing but the sum of the distance across the *p* dimensions between any two objects. This distance measure is also known as Manhattan distance measure.
- 5. *Chebychev's distance* measure: According to this measure, two individuals are different if they differ in anyone of the characteristics, and as such this distance is calculated as  $C_{ij} = \text{Maximum} |X_{ik} X_{jk}|$ . Thus, in this distance measure dissimilarity is the major point of interest rather than the similarity.
- 6. Power distance measure: The power distance

measure is defined as 
$$M_{ij} = \sqrt[r]{\sum_{k=1}^{p} |X_{ik} - X_{jk}|^{q}}$$

where q and r are the user-defined parameters. In fact the same weight r is placed to each and every dimension of Minkowski measure.

7. *Percent disagreement* =  $PD_{ij} = \frac{\text{Number of } X_{ik} \neq X_{jk}}{p}$ ; when the information is of categorical in nature, then this type of measure becomes useful. In taxonomic studies, the difference in banding pattern in response to an enzymatic action is used to differentiate two samples.

🏹 للاستشارات

8. *Mahalanobis*  $D^2$  value as described in discriminant analysis is also used in measuring the distance between two individuals based on multiple characters.

It must clearly be noted that some of the above-mentioned distances are based on similarity while the others are based on dissimilarity; each of the above-mentioned distances has got merits and demerits; not all the measures are equally useful in all situations. Hence, proper selection of distance measure is one of the most important points in cluster analysis.

## 12.11.2 Clustering Technique

Amalgamation of the similar individuals into different groups on the basis of appropriate similarity or dissimilarity distance measure constitutes the clustering technique. Among the different clustering techniques, the hierarchical technique, partitioning technique, graphical method, etc., are use mostly.

## 12.11.2.1 Hierarchical Technique

In this method of clustering, each *n* individual is assumed to be in *n* individual clusters initially. Successive fusions take place by linking the most similar to more similar cases or objects and so on in the successive steps. The reverse process of successive divisions of the cases into the most dissimilar to more dissimilar and so on also takes place. The special feature of this technique is that once an object is allocated to a cluster, it is never removed or combined with other objects belonging to some other clusters. Among the different methods of linking the objects in different clusters, single linkage (nearest neighbor), complete linkage (furthest neighbor), unweighted pair group average (UPGMA), weighted pair group average (WPGMA), unweighted pair group centroid (UPGMC), weighted pair group centroid (WPGMC), Ward's method, etc., are important and mostly used.

(a) *Single linkage*: In this method, two objects having minimum distance (nearest neighbor)



form the first cluster. In the next step, either a third object will join them or another two closest unclustered objects are joined to form a second cluster. This depends on whether the distance from one of the unclustered objects to the first cluster is shorter than the distance between the two closest unclustered objects or not. This process continues to present a long chain.

- (b) Complete linkage: In this method, first, the two objects having maximum distance (furthest neighbor) between them constitute two groups. Next the object either joins one of the previous two clusters or forms its own group following the above rule as in the case of first two objects. The process continues till all the objects have become member of any cluster or form their own groups.
- (c) Unweighted pair group average (UPGMA): The distance between a cluster and an object is calculated as the average distance between all the objects in the cluster and the objects supposed to enter into the cluster.
- (d) Weighted pair group method (WPGMA): Use of weights as the number of objects in the clusters to which another object is sought to be included or excluded in the unweighted pair group method is weighted pair group method.
- (e) Centroid method: Cluster centers are identified for different clusters, and the distances (closest or furthest) are calculated from this centroid to the object (being considered for inclusion or exclusion) following either unweighted or weighted method. This process results in unweighted pair group centroid or weighted pair group centroid linkage distance, respectively.
- (f) *Ward's method*: This is a method of using the technique of analysis of variance (ANOVA). The error sum of squares (ESS) serves as objective function which is minimized during amalgamation. This method assumes *n* groups of objects with one object per group initially. Then the first group is formed by selecting two of these *n* groups. This (n 1) set of groups is examined to determine the objective

الم للاستشارات

function. The process is followed systematically for initial n groups to n - 1 to n - 2 to n - 3..., to 1 group, and in each stage, the objective function is assessed and the stage at which the objective function is minimum is taken. This method has the tendency to form clusters of small sizes.

(g) Tocher method of clustering:  $D^2$  values are arranged in ascending order. Two objects having smallest distance from each other (nearest neighbor) are considered to form the initial cluster. A third object having smallest average  $D^2$  value from the first two objects is added. The process continues till one comes across with an abrupt change in the average  $D^2$  value. A new cluster is started and the same procedure is followed. Care should be taken that intercluster distance should be greater than the intracluster distance.

## 12.11.2.2 k-means Clustering Technique

Instead of forming unknown number of clusters with n objects, it becomes useful to the researchers or users to cluster the whole *n* objects into some prespecified number of clusters. While making the clusters, one of the distance measures discussed and deemed suitable for the situation may be adopted. So far as amalgamation technique is concerned, it starts with k random classes and uses ANOVA technique to compare within and between group variances to compute significance test to test the null hypothesis that the group means are different from each other. In the process, the objects are moved in and out of groups to get the most significant ANOVA result so as to minimize within cluster variance and maximize between cluster variance.

# 12.11.3 Graphical Method (Glyph and Metroglyphs)

This method does not require extensive formal computational algorithm in forming the clusters and is especially useful in the absence of efficient computer knowledge or facility. The essence of this method lies on placing the objects/ individuals on a two-dimensional space taking any two of the p characters. Next other characters for each and every individual are presented with the help of lines/rays or some other geometric figures proportional to some suitably transformed index/scales/scores (if required). From the placement and the cumulative values (or scores) of the individuals, one can have distinct idea about the different groups. This method is also objected for its subjective nature.

## 12.11.4 Dendrogram (Tree Diagram)

Graphical representation linking the objects or variables based on the criteria discussed is known as dendrogram or tree diagram.

Readers must note that clustering is a powerful multivariate technique helpful in grouping the variables as well as individuals of any population, but it requires extensive knowledge about the theory of the method to be used, its usefulness, and appropriateness under specific situation. Researchers should be guided by the conceptual framework about the subject concerned and the requirement and should not be tempted to be guided by the availability of the options in the statistical packages. While dealing with cluster analysis, the following points may be noted:

- 1. Cluster analysis is a useful technique and can be applied for univariate as well as multivariate data.
- Presence of outliers should be dealt with caution as most of the clustering techniques are sensitive to the presence of outliers in the data.
- 3. Selection of appropriate similarity or dissimilarity measure should be taken with utmost care.
- 4. Similarly, the linkage method to be adopted is also not exclusive for a particular situation, though average linkage is preferred over the others.
- 5. As most of the clustering analyses are to be performed using computer software and in standard packages there are a number of options in each stage, one should be very careful in selecting the appropriate one. Knowledge of the technique and methods is essential to have meaningful conclusion from cluster analysis.

*Example 12.7.* The table in the next page gives data on 19 yield component characters for 37 varieties. Using the data cluster the varieties.

Variety	X1	<i>X</i> 2	X3	X4	X5	X6	X7	X8	X9	X10	X11	X12	X13	X14	X15	X16	X17	X18	X19
-	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67	313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49
2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33	298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45
3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33	302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33
4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33	263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93
5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00	277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73
9	35.02	132.90	128.79	18.47	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00	267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91
7	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33	264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44
8	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87	143.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67	241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98
6	34.10	147.68	125.74	19.67	153.00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33	253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22	8.94
10	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67	263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18
11	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10.19	2.73	239.65	1785.67	286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98	8.67
12	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00	284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54
13	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00	276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01
14	33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00	294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76
15	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67	288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68
16	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33	307.51	1.4	2.05	10.52	7.22
17	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67	316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46
18	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33	313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77
19	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67	288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29
20	33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33	247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58
21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33	239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40
22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00	234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41
23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67	211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86
24	35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00	244.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31
25	35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00	289.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13
26	38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67	312.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53
27	35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33	289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67
28	33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67	286.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83
29	34.44	139.44	146.65	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	8.94	2.08	238.45	1624.00	333.34	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65
30	36.05	151.53	154.25	23.53	194.00	103.77	24.10	31.17	8.73	149.60	8.58	2.25	236.20	1542.33	306.56	1.79	2.04	10.45	8.28
31	37.34	157.67	151.84	21.63	195.33	102.57	24.90	33.50	10.90	161.70	8.42	2.20	232.85	1582.33	291.33	1.76	2.05	10.76	8.12
32	33.13	151.16	143.56	24.53	191.00	98.26	25.00	29.50	11.03	135.25	7.69	2.20	203.45	1588.33	250.95	2.15	1.80	9.63	7.10
33	30.20	144.68	133.70	21.73	176.00	95.76	22.50	35.83	10.50	140.91	6.96	1.94	154.35	1611.00	277.85	1.89	2.00	10.19	7.25
34	30.26	140.64	119.93	21.93	178.67	94.23	20.77	37.67	9.30	128.65	7.12	2.13	159.38	1601.00	286.54	1.89	1.99	10.35	7.28
35	31.27	141.59	123.96	19.37	180.67	105.51	18.00	35.33	8.93	133.87	6.65	1.91	205.68	1648.00	302.31	1.74	2.23	12.42	8.15
36	33.17	150.82	131.18	18.80	178.67	107.36	17.37	31.17	9.23	143.59	6.68	1.92	206.11	1634.00	306.61	2.08	2.12	11.87	9.09
37	32.15	151.23	137.13	22.37	179.67	112.17	20.13	30.83	8.90	143.36	6.83	1.81	203.41	1650.33	304.86	2.12	2.15	11.52	9.27

**Solution.** The following slides demonstrate the data transformation to SAS data editor, the commands for execution of cluster analysis, the distance matrix, and the dendrogram. It may

be noted that in each and every step, there are alternatives/options and related commands. The following method is neither unique nor exhaustive.

File	Edit Vie	w Tools	Run Soluti	ons Windo	w Help														- (
1				- D =			In 🖪 •	n 🗊 🖭	XX	0 🧶									
tit	le 'clu	ster ana	lysis us:	ing plant	data';														
dat	a clust	er;																	
ing	ut trt	\$ X1 X2	X3 X4	X5 X6	X7 X8	X9 X10	X11 X1	2 X13 X14	X15 X1	6 X17 X18	X19 ;								
cas	da;																		
1	32.34	151.81	140.47	21.23	162.67	107.88	23.20	31.33	9.47	149.37	7.55	2.01	195.77	1663.67 313.38	1.93	1.93	9.96	9.49	345.85
2	29.85	140.71	140.95	20.33	150.00	104.49	23.20	33.17	8.87	144.04	7.82	2.11	222.68	1675.33 298.72	1.93	2.45	14.50	9.45	354.41
3	32.38	138.77	144.30	18.63	146.00	93.17	22.23	33.33	9.00	145.20	7.90	2.14	219.74	1672.33 302.74	1.90	2.44	15.45	9.33	358.12
4	38.33	138.31	140.06	17.67	156.33	92.60	22.93	34.50	8.73	141.57	7.67	2.15	228.32	1587.33 263.92	1.57	2.59	15.63	7.93	341.39
5	37.81	140.23	135.62	18.70	153.67	103.54	23.07	33.50	8.77	133.96	7.72	2.15	207.93	1621.00 277.86	1.53	2.40	13.75	7.73	323.82
6	35.02	132.90	128.79	18.47	143.00	108.60	23.33	29.00	9.03	145.32	7.97	2.27	189.59	1629.00 267.74	1.34	2.41	13.37	6.91	369.82
7	32.25	136.10	123.41	19.93	130.00	108.25	23.13	30.33	9.70	149.08	7.80	2.12	161.48	1657.33 264.72	1.72	2.45	13.76	8.44	373.14
8	32.56	137.11	116.18	18.87	143.67	100.95	23.73	28.17	9.47	133.45	7.83	2.08	146.38	1621.67 241.44	1.74	2.25	12.26	7.98	353.28
9	34.10	147.68	125.74	19.67	153.00	98.60	24.13	30.33	9.67	132.12	7.88	2.08	162.86	1634.33 253.30	1.95	2.74	15.22	8.94	350.18
10	37.05	153.77	123.49	19.10	160.00	100.17	24.07	30.00	9.23	137.06	8.58	2.27	184.37	1702.67 263.88	1.77	2.74	15.05	8.18	394.78
11	43.70	161.64	124.89	19.07	166.33	112.08	27.57	25.93	10.30	147.31	10.19	2.73	239.65	1785.67 286.02	1.77	2.73	14.98	8.67	489.41
12	41.96	160.23	114.79	19.60	143.67	107.01	26.27	24.83	10.23	135.48	9.17	2.40	237.48	1693.00 284.65	1.86	2.20	11.29	8.54	416.26
13	38.29	144.75	115.58	20.03	143.00	107.58	26.63	26.17	9.80	129.08	8.97	2.52	201.06	1609.00 276.24	1.74	2.47	12.21	8.01	384.56
14	33.84	155.17	117.81	19.33	157.00	102.07	25.27	24.83	9.17	130.27	7.72	2.16	178.28	1496.00 294.98	1.67	2.29	11.29	7.76	327.73
15	34.56	148.67	119.07	16.67	164.33	116.45	25.87	24.50	9.33	130.48	8.55	2.43	188.79	1511.67 288.41	1.32	2.33	11.52	6.68	363.85
16	32.46	156.00	121.01	20.10	162.67	115.48	25.50	22.50	9.07	138.49	8.38	2.25	202.79	1547.33 307.51	1.44	2.05	10.52	7.22	371.94
17	34.01	156.99	138.86	21.83	144.00	117.92	25.07	27.40	9.10	151.50	10.06	2.54	216.33	1662.67 316.73	1.42	2.66	14.93	7.46	505.86
18	34.58	162.46	145.61	23.90	149.33	104.79	25.17	29.67	9.20	144.95	10.46	2.60	220.73	1685.33 313.12	1.49	2.58	14.54	7.77	502.73
19	34.22	166.22	153.17	22.73	155.67	108.22	24.67	33.83	9.07	150.81	10.01	2.56	208.66	1738.67 288.29	1.85	3.05	17.96	9.29	495.12
20	33.13	162.80	143.02	23.10	144.00	109.56	24.03	30.60	8.93	131.19	8.64	2.34	168.35	1668.33 247.84	1.55	2.40	13.12	7.58	359.93
21	34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33 239.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47
22	31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00 234.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67
23	29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67 211.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	0.00	299.57
27	35.01	159.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	92.50	9.50	129.01	8.01	2.3/	218.03	1692.00 244.12	1.00	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87
25	35.71	101.99	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00 289.06	1.67	2.88	15.92	9.13	372.53
20	35.24	159.29	144.05	19.73	101.0/	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.04	2.01	223.82	1/11.0/ 312.1/	1.96	2.65	19.10	9.53	103.12
27	35.36	197.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	109.51	29.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	210.55	1747.33 289.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	950.79
20	33.01	139.29	146 65	22.91	100.00	105.69	23.20	39.50	9.90	137.21	10.00	2.10	197.75	1698.67 286.09	1.19	2.02	10.29	7.03	457 63
	34.44	109.11	140.05	22.03	193.00	102.90	23.90	29.00	0.00	100.70	0.71	2.00	230.45	1629.00 333.39	1.39	2.01	10.20	1.00	420.02
Out	out - (Untit	(ed)	E Log - (U	titled)		fitor - Untit	edl *	Results )	liewer - SA	soul									
	por (onio			and cut					inement and										- 592 Call
	asile c	-			-		-	_	-	_		-	-		-	-	-	U	1302, CO19
	1 10	0	ER	25	. m (		100											- 07 m	

Slide 12.31: Data structure for cluster analysis using SAS

	over 1																		0 0 0
File Edit View	w Tools F	Run Solutio	ons Windo	w Help															- 1
					Q   %	R 🖪	n 👘 🚉	* X	0 🧶										
21 34.27	168.36	135.34	21.20	163.33	115.47	23.13	26.50	11.93	132.39	7.50	1.98	131.32	1711.33 23	9.02	2.07	2.19	12.33	8.40	325.47
22 31.85	163.56	129.03	20.53	154.67	102.78	24.60	29.00	12.87	117.91	7.89	2.02	117.85	1653.00 23	4.97	1.81	2.02	10.43	7.41	298.67
23 29.36	160.86	129.24	21.17	193.67	99.50	20.80	37.60	12.50	117.78	7.99	2.11	158.37	1701.67 21	1.97	2.13	2.38	12.65	8.86	299.57
24 35.01	154.62	140.06	21.53	171.00	90.33	22.53	42.50	9.50	129.01	8.64	2.37	218.03	1692.00 24	4.12	1.66	2.60	13.66	8.31	356.87
25 35.71	161.44	145.13	22.40	181.00	98.85	21.87	36.73	9.67	131.64	8.67	2.62	263.96	1764.00 28	9.06	1.87	2.88	15.42	9.13	372.53
26 38.24	159.29	144.58	19.73	161.67	93.00	24.57	37.50	10.57	140.35	9.84	2.84	223.82	1744.67 31	2.47	1.96	2.65	14.10	9.53	453.42
7 35.36	147.69	144.01	21.93	182.33	104.51	24.37	36.50	10.87	135.28	10.06	2.70	216.55	1747.33 28	9.87	1.71	2.53	13.53	8.67	450.74
8 33.81	139.24	145.32	22.97	178.00	105.69	23.20	34.50	9.90	137.24	10.00	2.45	197.75	1698.67 28	6.04	1.49	2.02	10.29	7.83	449.22
9 34.44	139.99	190.05	22.63	193.00	112.40	23.90	29.50	8.50	155.76	0.94	2.08	230.95	1624.00 33	3.31	1.39	2.01	10.28	7.65	100.00
36.05	101.03	109.20	23.03	194.00	103.77	29.10	31.1/	0./3	149.00	0.00	2.20	230.20	1542.33 30	0.00	1.79	2.04	10.95	0.20	420.00
2 37.39	10/.0/	101.04	21.03	195.33	102.5/	29.90	33.50	10.90	101.70	7.60	2.20	232.05	1502.33 23	0.05	2.70	2.05	10.70	7.10	992.93
3 30 20	144 68	133.30	21.03	176.00	20.20	22.50	27.00	10.50	140 01	6.96	1.04	154 35	1611 00 27	7.85	1 80	2.00	10 19	7.25	321.00
4 30 26	140 64	110 03	21 03	178 67	94 23	20.77	37.67	0.30	128 65	7 12	2 13	150 38	1601 00 28	6.54	1.80	1.00	10.35	7 28	283 70
5 31 27	141.59	123.96	19.37	180.67	105.51	18.00	35.93	8.93	199.87	6.65	1.91	205.68	1648.00 30	2.91	1.74	2.23	12.42	8.15	276.98
6 33.17	150.82	131.18	18.80	178.67	107.36	17.37	31,17	9.23	143.59	6.68	1.92	206.11	1634.00 30	6.61	2.08	2.12	11.87	9.09	300.94
7 32.15	151.23	137.13	22.37	179.67	112.17	20.13	30.83	8.90	143.36	6.83	1.81	203.41	1650.33 30	4.86	2.12	2.15	11.52	9.27	295.61
run; PROC print id tr	t data=di rt;	stmat;																	
run;	danastes		anan'i ba		handias	laura da			tunt our										
d tyte	uare-115	e norase	era-2 m	LASUNGA	noruroy	aay-say	He Athes	(00×0×-1	vaue) out										
ant.																			
ROC distar	oce data*	cluster	method=E	UCLID o	ut=dists	tati													
var i	interval (	x1-x19);																	
id tr	:53																		
run;																			
	- D	-		1000			-		1										
Output - (Untit)	ed) [	Log - (Un	titled)	Ed Ed	itor - Untitl	ed1*	Results	Viewer - SAS	Ou_										
000000000																		U	582. Col 9
Users\CC																			
Users\CC																	20	1000	00-04

Slide 12.32: Data structure and commands for cluster analysis using SAS



							cluster	analysi	s using	plant d	ata							
_1	_2	_3	_4	_5	_6	_7	_8	_9	_10	_11	_12	_13	_14	_15	_16	_17	_18	_1
0.000																		
37.823	0.000																	
8.751	14.334	0.000																
9.724	96.258	94.786	0.000															
61.519	61.797	61.639	44.247	0.000														
5.273	67.330	67.610	62.478	30.013	0.000													
2.166	77.525	77.604	103.485	68.346	42.884	0.000												
4.264	113.207	112.892	96.716	75.294	54.763	50.874	0.000											
9.378	88.414	88.400	84.137	54.993	39.580	41.444	29.797	0.000										
8.339	64.333	68.481	125.962	88.482	79.828	63.480	95.663	73.304	0.000									
34.720	118.021	124.164	203.417	171.166	170.009	158,766	198.112	175.462	104.227	0.000								
39.738	46.427	53.801	115.540	84.653	88.339	92.835	126.261	102.734	62.055	96.947	0.000							
7.132	80.353	80.751	51.640	29.043	34.927	69.360	67.320	54.603	98.941	184.681	93.553	0.000						
2.542	187.717	185.389	113.790	132.162	140.247	169.664	142.167	145.979	209.436	297.407	206.773	118.353	0.000					
57.381	171.025	170.080	96.614	114.800	123.727	Horizontal De	endrogram of	Cluster Anal	ysis Results	279.806	189.808	101.815	26.716	0.000				
9.509	133.970	133.246	74.963	84.899	97.804	131.723	118.712	112.717	163.495	242.790	153.444	74.373	60.765	44.493	0.000			
	_1 0.000 77.823 88.751 99.724 55.273 72.166 44.264 99.378 83.339 44.720 99.738 77.132 72.542 73.81 9.509	_1         _2           0.000	_1         _2         _3           0.000             7.823         0.000             7.823         0.000             8.751         14.334         0.000            197.24         96.258         94.786            15.273         67.330         67.610            2.166         77.525         77.604            44.264         113.207         112.892            19.378         88.414         88.400            83.39         64.333         68.481            48.339         46.427         53.601            7.132         80.353         80.751            2.542         187.717         18.5389            7.381         171.025         170.000            9.590         133.970         133.246	1         2         3         4           0.000	1         2         3         4         6           0.000         .         .         .         .         .         .           7.823         0.000         .         .         .         .         .         .           7.823         0.000         .         .         .         .         .         .         .           17.823         0.000         . <td< td=""><td>1         2         3         4         5         6           0.000         .</td></td<> <td>_1         _2         _3         _4         _5         _6         _7           0.000         .         <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>_1         _2         _3         _4         _5         _6         _7         _8         _9         _10         _11           0.000         .</td><td>_1         _2         _3         _4         _5         _6         _7         _8         _9         _10         _11         _12           0.000         .</td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13           0.000         .</td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14           0.000         .</td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         15           0.000         .         .         .         .         .         .         .         .   </td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         15         16           0.000         .         <t< td=""><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         15         16         17           0.000         .         &lt;</td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         16         16         17         18           0.000         .</td></t<></td></t<></td>	1         2         3         4         5         6           0.000         .	_1         _2         _3         _4         _5         _6         _7           0.000         . <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>_1         _2         _3         _4         _5         _6         _7         _8         _9         _10         _11           0.000         .</td><td>_1         _2         _3         _4         _5         _6         _7         _8         _9         _10         _11         _12           0.000         .</td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13           0.000         .</td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14           0.000         .</td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         15           0.000         .         .         .         .         .         .         .         .   </td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         15         16           0.000         .         <t< td=""><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         15         16         17           0.000         .         &lt;</td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         16         16         17         18           0.000         .</td></t<></td></t<>				_1         _2         _3         _4         _5         _6         _7         _8         _9         _10         _11           0.000         .	_1         _2         _3         _4         _5         _6         _7         _8         _9         _10         _11         _12           0.000         .	1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13           0.000         .	1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14           0.000         .	1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         15           0.000         .         .         .         .         .         .         .         .	1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         15         16           0.000         . <t< td=""><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         15         16         17           0.000         .         &lt;</td><td>1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         16         16         17         18           0.000         .</td></t<>	1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         15         16         17           0.000         .         <	1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12         13         14         16         16         17         18           0.000         .

Slide 12.33: Distance matrix as obtained by cluster analysis using SAS

- 8 )								riew Go Tools Solutions Window Help	File Edit View Go Tools
			0	A		9 🖭 🖣		- 🗋 📽 🖬 🖉 🗽 🗴 🗞	
			Iure	Proce	LUSTER	The (	A		
			10.00 March						
	118.9428	118.9	bservations	veen O	ance Betv	are Dist	-Mean-Squ	Ro	
				story	Cluster H				
	Tie	Tie	Norm RMS Distance	Freq	rs Joined	Cluste	Number of Clusters		
			0.1205	2	3	2	36		
			0.1592	2	37	36	35		
			0.1816	3	CL35	35	34		
			0.2015	2	34	33	33		
			0.2246	2	15	14	32		
			0.2442	2	13	5	31		
			0.2487	2	18	17	30		
			0.2505	2	9	8	29		
			0.2738	3	6	CL31	28		
			0.28	4	CL30	CL36	27		
			0.2914	4	CL34	1	26		
			0.3038	2	27	26	25		
					SAS	s Viewer -	Result	titled) 🗐 Log - (Untitled) 🕼 Editor - Untitled1 *	Output - (Untitled)
				_					\Users\CC
<b>AL</b>	and the second								

Slide 12.34: Portion of the output as obtained by cluster analysis using SAS



•		
	Cluster Analysis	
	0,00 0,25 0,50 0,75 1,00	15
	Average Distance Between Clusters	
e [		

Slide 12.35: Dendrogram of 37 varieties as obtained by cluster analysis using SAS

Taking the same example of 37 varieties for 20 characters (along with yield) and using STATISTICA software, one can have the cluster analysis of the varieties, as shown in the following slides. Readers may kindly note that each software has its own way of presentation and having varied options, the researchers must be very careful in using the appropriate one befitting with the requirement of the research program.

г.	STATISTIC	A: Cli	uster Ar	nalysis - [Da	ta: Cluster 2	010.S	TA 20	lv * 37	c ]											8 ×
	<u>File Edit</u>	liew	Analysi	s <u>G</u> raphs <u>C</u>	ptions Windo	W H	elp													8 ×
13	.64	1	FIN Sta	artup Panel		DC III	Ð	QF	1++	H :8	:00 ×	2 12		50		138	FA			
TEX			¢⊅ Re	sume Analysis			( interior	er Tou	o je se je	Iuro	i mili			<u>مر</u> ب ا	a jesa je	رعميت			ii — ii —	
VAL	1		-			5		6		7	0	8		9		1	0	11		
	VAR1	V.	5-10	ning (tree clus	tering)	VAR	25	VAL	R6	VAN	27	VAL	R8	VAL	R9	VAR	10	VAR	11	VA
12	38.330	13	So F.	neans clusterir	ng.	156	.330	92	. 600	22	.930	34	.500	8	.730	141	. 570	7	670	
13	32.340	15	Tw	ro-way joining		162	670	107	. 880	23	200	31	. 330	9	. 470	149	. 370	7	550	- 1
14	34.100	14	BASI ST.	ATISTICA BA	SIC	153	000	98	. 600	24	130	30	. 330	9	.670	132	.120	7	880	- 1
15	32.560	13	ISSNI Co	mmand Langu	age (SCL)	143	670	100	.950	23	.730	28	.170	9	. 470	133	.450	7	830	- 1
16	29.850	14	INSK 2	in the going of	oge (001)	150	000	104	. 490	23	200	33	170	8	. 870	144	.040	7	820	- 1
17	35.010	15	Al Qu	ijck Basic Stat	s 🕨	171	000	90	. 330	22	530	42	500	9	. 500	129	.010	8	640	
18	32.380	13	🔂 Ot	per Statistics		146	000	93	.170	22	230	33	. 330	9	.000	145	. 200	7	900	- 1
19	33.130	163	2.800	143.020	23.100	144	000	109	. 560	24	030	30	. 600	8	. 930	131	. 190	8	640	- 1
20	34.560	14	8.670	119.070	16.670	164	.330	116	. 450	25	870	24	. 500	9	. 330	130	. 480	8	550	
21	35.020	133	2.900	128.790	18.470	143	000	108	. 600	23	.330	29	.000	9	.030	145	. 320	7	970	
22	32.460	15	6.000	121.010	20.100	162	670	115	. 480	25	.500	22	. 500	9	.070	138	. 490	8	380	
23	35.710	16:	1.440	145.130	22.400	181	000	98	. 850	21	870	36	.730	9	.670	131	.640	8	670	
24	32.250	130	5.100	123.410	19.930	130	.000	108	. 250	23	130	30	. 330	9	.700	149	. 080	7	800	
25	38.290	14-	4.750	115.580	20.030	143	000	107	. 580	26	.630	26	.170	9	. 800	129	.080	8	970	
26	37.050	15:	3.770	123.490	19.100	160	000	100	. 170	24	070	30	.000	9	.230	137	.060	8	580	
27	41.960	16	0.230	114.790	19.600	143	670	107	.010	26	270	24	830	10	.230	135	. 480	9	170	-
28	36.050	15:	1.530	154.250	23.530	194	000	103	.770	24	100	31	.170	8	.730	149	. 600	8	580	
29	37.340	15	7.670	151.840	21.630	195	. 330	102	. 570	24	900	33	. 500	10	. 900	161	. 700	8	420	
30	33.810	13	9.240	145.320	22.970	178	.000	105	. 690	23	200	34	. 500	9	. 900	137	.240	10	000	-
31	35.360	14	7.690	144.010	21.930	182	. 330	104	. 510	24	. 370	36	. 500	10	. 870	135	. 280	10	060	-
32	38.240	15	9.290	144.580	19.730	161	670	93	.000	24	570	37	. 500	10	. 570	140	. 350	9	840	
33	34.440	13	9.440	146.650	22.630	193	000	112	. 400	23	900	29	. 500	8	. 500	155	. 760	8	940	_
34	43.700	16	1.640	124.890	19.070	166	330	112	.080	27	570	25	.930	10	. 300	147	. 310	10	190	<u> </u>
35	34.220	16	5.220	153.170	22.730	155	670	108	. 220	24	670	33	.830	9	.070	150	. 810	10	010	
36	34.580	16.	2.460	145.610	23.900	149	330	104	. 790	25	170	29	. 670	9	. 200	144	. 950	10	460	
31	34.010	15	5.990	138.860	21.830	144	000	117	. 920	25	070	27	400	9	.100	151	. 500	10	060	
L I	Auto Ta:	k Butt	ons 🔛																	ъĚ
Joir	ir 🗞 Cus	tomiz	e	ical clustering)		_		_				_	-	Outp	utOFF	_	Sel:OFF	Wei	htOFF	
-	n l Z				0			E	(Ital)			-	20		w 1	1000	11			
	Start	6	- i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	JSta		MI	rosoft	Excel		STAT	STICA		Doci	iment	• ML		1 S	3 10 1	<ul> <li>10:1</li> </ul>	БРМ
Sli	de 12.36:	Data	a alon	g with me	nu bar for	clust	er an	alysi	s usir	ng ST	TATIS	STIC	А							

STATISTICA: Cluster Analysis Elle Edit View Analysis Grag	-[Data: Cluster 2010.S] ohs Options Window He	TA 20v * 37c ] alp					-	18) 18)
31.64 📰 🚺	Vars Cases	001++		x-? 🔢 🞑	🚮 🛄 🛃 🕯	IX 🕄	p de	<u>) X</u>
1 2 3	4 5		7	8 VAR8	9 VAR9	10 VAR10	11 VAR11	VA
Variables: ALL		F	пок	34.500	8.730 9.470	141.570 149.370	7.670	
Input: Raw data	-	Ē	Cancel	28.170	9.670	132.120	7.880	
<u>Cluster:</u> Cases (rows)	<u> </u>		0	42.500	9.500	129.010	8.640	
<u>A</u> malgamation (linkage Dis <u>tance me</u>	asure: Euclidean distan	ices	<u> </u>	30.600	8.930 9.330	131.190 130.480	8.640	
2	D: 2 🖬 E	2 =		29.000 22.500	9.030 9.070	145.320 138.490	7.970 8.380	
Missing	data: Casewise deleted	d 💌	iables for the	36.730 analysis	9.670	131.640	8.670	
2 1 5 37.050 153.770 123. 7 41.960 160 230 114	.490 19.100 160. 790 19.600 143	670 1-VAR1	13-VAR13				<u>o</u> k	
3 36.050 151.530 154 3 37.340 157.670 151	.250 23.530 194. .840 21.630 195.	000 3-VAR3 330 4-VAR4	15-VAR15 16-VAR16			C	ancel	
33.810 139.240 145 35.360 147.690 144	.320 22.970 178. .010 21.930 182.	000 6-VAR6 330 7-VAR7	18-VAR17 18-VAR18 19-VAR19				P	-
38.240 159.290 144 34.440 139.440 146	.580 19.730 161. .650 22.630 193.	670 8-VAR8 000 9-VAR9 10-VAR10	20-VAR20			Se	lect All	
34.220 166.220 153 34.580 162.460 145	.170 22.730 155. .610 23.900 149.	670 330				<u>s</u>	pread	
7 34.010 156.990 138	.860 21.830 144.	000 Select va	nables:				Zoom	
K to Customize F1					Output:OFF	SetOFF	Weight:OFF	
🖁 Start 🛛 🌌 🍘 🗊 🥹 🗌 🤤	Sta Mic	crosoft Excel	STATISTIC	A MDocu	ment1 - Mi		AK 🏂 10:	17 PM

Slide 12.37: Data along with selected variables for cluster analysis using STATISTICA

	Eile	TISTIC <u>E</u> dit	CA: C ⊻iew	luster A	inalysis is <u>G</u> rap	-[Da hs []	ta: Clu ptions	ister 2 Wind	010.S	TA 20	v * 37	c ] 1. n. 16	না চিনা		<b>a</b> (117			1	PIAN	<b>ES</b> ] (7	acie	-8× -8×
131	.64			L.			ars	ases	NOC III		의 🖻				123			1		<u>i</u>		
VAL		1		2	3		4		5		6		7		8		9		10	)	11 VAD11	- VA
12	-	🖺 Clu	ster /	Analysis	: Joinin	g (Tre	e Clu	stering	a) 📃					? ×	34	500	8	730	141	570	7.67	0
13		_			1							-		- 1	31	330	9	470	149	370	7 55	0
14	-1		Vari	iables:	ALL							<u> </u>	<u>0</u>	ĸ	30	330	9	670	132	120	7.88	0 :
15	-												Canc	el Í	28	170	9	470	133	450	7.83	0 :
16		Īu	put:	Raw d	ata		1	1				_	ouno		33	170	8	870	144	040	7.82	0 :
17		Clu	ster:	Cases	(rows)			-							42.	500	9.	500	129	010	8.64	0 :
18	- 1			- tion (	Enkage	)	[c:								33.	330	9.	000	145	200	7.90	0 :
19	- 1	Mu	aiyai	mation (	iinkaye	j rule.	Sing		kage					<u> </u>	30.	600	8	930	131	190	8.64	0 :
20	1			Distar	nce mea	asure:	Com	nlete	kaqe Linkar	16					24.	500	9.	330	130	480	8.55	0 :
21	1						Unw	eighte	d pair	-group	avera	ge		- 11	29.	000	9.	030	145	320	7.97	0 :
22	1						Weig	phted	pair-g	roup a	verage			- 11	22.	500	9.	070	138	490	8.38	0 :
23	1				Missing	data:	Unw	eighte	ed pair	-group	centr	oid	F>	- 11	36.	730	9.	670	131	640	8.67	0 :
24	- 1	E Ra	teh r	vocossi	has and	printi	Weig	inted f's m	pair-gi thod	roup c	entroid	i (mec	lianj	11	30.	330	9.	700	149	080	7.80	0 :
25	1	1 100	ton p	10000331	ng ana	pinna	il trait	<u> </u>	Anou						26.	170	9.	800	129	080	8.97	0 :
26	3	7.050	113	53.770	123	490	19	100	190	. 000	100.	170	24.	070	30.	000	9.	230	137	060	8.58	0 :
27	4	1.960	16	60.230	114	790	19	600	143	. 670	107.	010	26.	270	24.	830	10	230	135	480	9.17	0 :
28	3	6.050	1	51.530	154	250	23	530	194	.000	103.	770	24.	100	31.	170	8	730	149	600	8.58	0 :
29	3	7.340	19	57.670	151	840	21	630	195	. 330	102.	570	24.	900	33.	500	10	900	161	700	8.42	0 :
30	3	3.810	13	39.240	145	320	22	970	178	.000	105.	690	23.	200	34.	500	9.	900	137	240	10.00	0 :
31	3	5.360	14	47.690	144.	010	21	930	182	. 330	104.	510	24.	370	36.	500	10	870	135	280	10.06	0 :
32	3	8.240	19	59.290	144	580	19	730	161	.670	93.	000	24.	570	37.	500	10	570	140	350	9.84	0 :
33	3	4.440	1:	39.440	146.	650	22	630	193	.000	112.	400	23.	900	29.	500	8.	500	155	760	8.94	0 :
34	4	3.700	10	61.640	124	890	19	070	166	. 330	112.	080	27.	570	25.	930	10	300	147	310	10.19	0 :
35	3	4.220	10	66.220	153	170	22	730	155	. 670	108.	220	24.	670	33.	830	9.	070	150	810	10.01	0 :
36	3	4.580	10	62.460	145.	610	23	900	149	. 330	104.	790	25.	170	29.	670	9.	200	144	950	10.46	0 :
37	3	4.010	1	56.990	138	860	21	830	144	.000	117.	920	25.	070	27.	400	9.	100	151	500	10.06	0 :
141		Auto Ti	isk Bu	ttons 👔																		- ×
	1	2 Cu	stom	ize	F1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	0	1055		0-1077	Ded at a los	
JUK	dlr	41 00	stoll		FI										_		JUutpu	CUFF		Securi	Jweighti	JFF J
1	Sta	rt 🚺 🙋	1 @	S 😂 🍕		Sta			🔀 Mi	crosoft	Excel	124	STATI	STICA	🕅	Docu	ument1	- Mi		1	<b>≜K %</b> ∶	10:17 PM

Slide 12.38: Data along with selected linkage method for cluster analysis using STATISTICA



Γ.	STATISTIC	A: Cluster Ar	nalysis - [Dat	a: Cluster 2	010.STA 20	lv * 37c ]					_	1 1 2 1 2
	<u>File</u> <u>E</u> dR	View Analysis	s <u>G</u> raphs <u>O</u> r	otions Wind	ow <u>H</u> elp						-	ाह्य <del>र</del>
13	1.64	6	1 🖬 🖬 🗸 🖬	ars Cases		의님뿐		e? 🔢 🞑	a 🛄 🗟 🕯			380
TEX												-
	VAR2	VAR3	VAR4	VAR5	VAR6	VAR7	VAR8	VAR9	10 VAR10	VAR11	VAR12	VA
12	138.310	140.060	17.670	156.330	92.600	22.930	34.500	8.730	141.570	7.670	2.150	221
13	151.810	140.470	21.230	162.670	107.880	23.200	31.330	9.470	149.370	7.550	2.010	19!
14	147.680	125.740	19.670	153.000	98.600	24.130	30.330	9.670	132.120	7.880	2.080	16:
15	137.110	116.180	18.870	143.670	100.950	23.730	28.170	9.470	133.450	7.830	2.080	14
16	140.710	140.950	20 330	150 000	104 490	23 200	33 170	8 870	144 040	7.820	2.110	22:
17	154.620	140.060	E Cluster	Analysis: J	roining (Tre	e clustering)			<u> 1</u> ^	8.640	2.370	21:
18	138.770	144.300						[200]	or I	7.900	2.140	21'
19	162.800	143.020	<u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u></u>	snables:	ALL					8.640	2.340	16:
20	148.670	119.070	Input	Baw dat	a	-			Cancel	8.550	2.430	18:
21	152.900	128.790								7.970	2.270	18.
22	161 440	145 120	<u>C</u> luster	Cases (r	(swo	-				0.300	2.250	20.
24	126 100	122 410	Amalg	amation (lin	kage) rule:	Single Link	age		-	2 900	2.620	16
25	144 750	115 590	_							9.970	2.120	20
26	153 770	123 490		Distanc	e measure:	Euclidean	distances		<u> </u>	8 580	2 270	18.
27	160 230	114 790	-			Squared Eu	iclidean dist	ances		9 170	2 400	23
28	151.530	154.250	-			City-block (	Manhattan)	distances		8.580	2.250	231
29	157.670	151.840	-	Mi	ssing <u>d</u> ata:	Chebychev	distance me	etric		8.420	2.200	23:
30	139.240	145.320	■ <u>B</u> atch	processing	and printin	Power: SUN	4(ABS(x-y)**	'p)**1/r	k	10.000	2.450	19'
31	147.690	144.010				1-Pearson	agreement		F	10.060	2.700	211
32	159.290	144.580	19.730	161.670	93.000	24.570	37.500	10.570	140.350	9.840	2.840	22:
33	139.440	146.650	22.630	193.000	112.400	23.900	29.500	8.500	155.760	8.940	2.080	23:
34	161.640	124.890	19.070	166.330	112.080	27.570	25.930	10.300	147.310	10.190	2.730	23'
35	166.220	153.170	22.730	155.670	108.220	24.670	33.830	9.070	150.810	10.010	2.560	20:
36	162.460	145.610	23.900	149.330	104.790	25.170	29.670	9.200	144.950	10.460	2.600	221
37	156.990	138.860	21.830	144.000	117.920	25.070	27.400	9.100	151.500	10.060	2.540	211
L a f	Auto Ti	isk Buttons 🔝										× Č
E C	le Cu	stomize	F1		_				Output:055	SelOF	E Weight OF	<u> </u>
Jon			lilor		-			-	Joupacorr	Joecori	1 weight Off	-
3	Start	] @ 🕄 🥹	Sta		Microsoft	Excel	STATISTICA	A Docu	ument1 - Mi	1.901	3 🛸 10:	26 PM

Slide 12.39: Data along with selected linkage and distance measure for cluster analysis using STATISTICA

S S		: Cluster And	alysis Dias Dair	na Mandau	Hale						_ 8 ×
131.	.64	Briaysis Gr		ars Cases		2  +		? 🔢 🞑		* 🖪 🗗 🖻	
TEX	Data: Cluste	er 2010.STA	20v * 37c						<u>-101×</u>	1	
VAL	VAR2	VAR3	4 VAR4	5 VAR5	6 VAR6	7 VAR7	8 VAR8	9 VAR9	10 VAR10	-	
12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 22 22 24 25	138.310 151.810 147.680 137.110 154.620 138.770 162.800 148.670 132.900 156.000 161.440 136.100 144.750	140.060 140.470 125.740 116.180 140.950 140.060 144.300 143.020 119.070 128.790 121.010 145.130 123.410 115.580	17.670 21.230 19.670 18.870 20.330 2 2 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1	156.330 162.670 153.000 153.000 143.670 150.000 150.000 150.000 150.000 150.000 150.000 150.000 150.000 150.000 150.000 150.000 150.000 153.000 154.000 154.000 154.000 154.000 154.000 154.000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.0000 155.00000 155.00000 155.00000 155.00000 155.000000 155.000000 155.00000000000000000000000000000000000	92.600 107.880 98.600 100.950 104.490 00.230 iables: 20 ss: 37 see cases (joining) ; ic is: Euc	22.930 23.200 24.130 23.730 23.200 23.200 23.200 23.500 11se delete rule: Sing 11dean dis	34.500 31.330 30.330 28.170 33.170 33.170 10.500 d le Linkage tances (no	8.730 9.470 9.670 9.470 8.870 0.500	141.570 149.370 132.120 133.450 144.040	2 🗵	
26	153.770 160 230	123.490 114 790		Horizonta <u>Ve</u> Bectangular Scale tree to <u>A</u> mals <u>G</u> raph of a	l hierarchica rtical icicle p branches dlink/dmax* gamation sch amalgamatior	l <u>tree plot</u> blot 100 nedule n schedule		<u>D</u> ist Des <u>o</u> ri Save o	Cance Cance tance matrix ptive statistics distance matrix		
For h	elp, Press F1	_	_	_				_	Output:OFF	Set:OFF Wei	pht:OFF
	Start 🗍 🧭	@ 🗊 🥹	Sta Sta		Microsoft E	xcel 🔤 S	TATISTICA.	Docu	ment1 · Mi	2004 ( <b>1</b> 4 (	5 10:18 PM

Slide 12.40: Menu bar for getting output for cluster analysis using STATISTICA

الک للار

ات

P. s	TATISTICA	: Cluster An	alysis										_ 8 ×
Eile	<u>E</u> dit ⊻iew	Insert Layo	uts Ar	halysis	Graphs C	ptions Winde	w <u>H</u> elp						
33.8	7, 81 Dy		1		303 =		1 16 19 19	3888	181 📟 🜆	A. 50	A. 6		a X &
1	Data: Cluste	2010 STA	20. *	37c							×I		and Second Second
TEX	o oto. Ciaste	. 2010.0174	LUT	010							<b>-</b>		
VAL	2	3	4		5	6	7	8	9	10	-		
	VAR2	VAR3	VAR	24	VAR5	VAR6	VAR7	VAR8	VAR9	VAR10			
12	138.310	140.060	17.	670	156.330	92.600	22.930	34.500	8.730	141.570			
13	151.810	140.470	21.	230	162.670	107.880	23.200	31.330	9.470	149.370			
15	137 110	116 180	19.	870	143 670	100 950	24.130	28 170	9.670	132.120			
16	140.710	140.950	20	330	150.000	104.490	23.200	33.170	8.870	144.040			
17	154.620	140.060	1	Grap	oh5: Tree D	iagram for 3	7 Cases			_			
18	138.770	144.300	: 0	ontin	ue		Tree Disora	n for 37 Cares		-			
19	162.800	143.020					Single	Linkage					
20	148.670	119.070					Euclidea	n distances					
21	132.900	128.790		100									
22	161 440	145 120		00									
24	136 100	123 410	-										
25	144.750	115.580		80			_				1		
26	153.770	123.490		70	Iн		<u> </u>						
27	160 220	11/ 790	. 3	60						-			
			- 1	50	HI I					1 1	<b>-</b> 1		
				40		in an an area	1141						
			- a	30			A 1111			+	41		
			2	20						┼╌┨╌┼┈┼╌┠╌┍┹			
				10									
				0									
					នុនុនុនុន	1853555	888888	2,2,8,2,2,2	445854	0055800	35		
					00000	000 0	0000000	0000000	0000000	00			
	Auto Task	Buttons 2	_	_									
Rea	le Cust	omize								Output:PRIN	TER Set	OFF Weight:0	DFF
1	Start 🛛 🌌	@ 🗊 🥹		Sta		Microsoft I	Excel 🔤 S	TATISTICA	Docu	ment1 - Mi		- <b>X</b>	10:19 PM

Slide 12.41: Data along with dendrogram for 37 varieties (cases) through cluster analysis using STATISTICA



Slide 12.42: Amalgamation schedule along with linkage distance plot through cluster analysis using STATISTICA


STA STA	TISTI	CA: Cluster An	alysis										_ 5	X
File E	dit ⊻ie	w Analysis G	raphs Options V	/indow Help										
		Pb			<del>   →   →    </del>	H €20	00 HH /				a re	AV		רי
	-			ions lletlet	li da l	att.] [200]-								_
tt: Dal	ta: Cli	E Amaigamat	Cingle Tink	uster 2010.s	taj							비의		
TEX VAL		ANALYSIS	Euclidean d	istances								-		
, in the second	2	linkage	Obi. No.	Obi No.	Obi.	No.	Obi. N	o. Ob	i. No.	Obi.	No. (	Dbi.		
12 1	38 3	distance	1	2	3		4		5	6				
13 1	51 8	14.80681	C_16	C_18	👼 Gra	ph6: Plo	t of Linka	age Dista	nces acr	oss Steps	1			. 101
14 1	47 6	19.67252	C_3	C_6									_	
15 1	37.1	28.33327	C_1	C_3	_		PI	ot of Linka	ge Distance	s across St	eps			
16 1	40.7	29.74993	C_36	C_37	-			Euc	lidean dista	inces				
17 1	54.6	29.95728	C_14	C_15	110	, <u> </u>								
18 1	38.7	36.23880	C_31	C_32	100	•							1	
19 1	62.8	37.91019	C_21	C_25	- 90	, j							-	
20 1	48.6	38.77992	C_13	C_16	- 80									
21 1	32.9	43.012//	C_21	C_25	* 70									
22 1	56.0	44.10474	C_14	C_15	- e							-		
23 1	61.4	44.33699	C 10	C 20	15 00	1							1	
24 1	36.1	45 22236	C_10	C_20	8 50	2							1	
25 1	44.7	45.39528	C 14	C 15	2 4	•	لىر							
26 1	53.7	47.60768	E Euclidea	n distances	(cluster)	2010 sta	a							
IT I	511 2	•	Continue				Í					1	î	
			Continue.	" C_1	C_2	C_3	C_4	C_5	C_6	C_7	C_8	C_9	C_10	C_
			_C_1		70.	28.	120.	121.	32.	83.	67.	131.	166.	10
			C_2	70.		77.	94.	130.	68.	44.	74.	137.	120.	8
			C_3	28.	77.		118.	121.	20.	76.	59.	122.	164.	9
			C_4	120.	94.	118.		79.	122.	83.	112.	70.	182.	12
			_C_5	121.	130.	121.	79.		130.	119.	128.	62.	229.	13
			C_6	32.	68.	20.	122.	130.		69.	50.	133.	147.	8
			_C_7	83.	44.	76.	83.	119.	69.		61.	116.	123.	6
-	Auto T	ask Buttons 🛛 📢	<u>C_8</u>	67.	74.	59.	112.	128.	50.	61.		129.	132.	6
	2 Cu	ustomize	C 9	131.	137.	122.	70.	62	133.	116.	129	LOFE BUC	229	14
Read									J	Jutput:UFF	JSe	CUFF JWe	IgnCUFF	
1 Sta	ort 🛛 🏹	1 🖉 😭 😕	Sta	2K M	icrosoft Ex	cel	STATIS	TICA.	Docum	ent1 - Mi	200	S-COK	S 10.22	PM

Slide 12.43: Amalgamation schedule along with linkage distance plot and distance matrix among the varieties through cluster analysis using STATISTICA



#### Instrumentation and Computation

13

#### 13.1 Instruments

Instruments have become an indispensible part of modern scientific research; may it be laboratory/ field research, use of one or more instruments is inevitable. The knowledge of instruments about their function, principle, and safety measure during use is an essential part of research activities. Thousands of instruments with their variants are being put into use in research. Everyday a number of new instruments are being invented and dedicated for the betterment of the humanity. One can hardly provide description of all these instruments at any point of time. In this chapter, our attempt will remain to provide a brief description of some of the mostly used instruments in agriculture and allied fields. It must clearly be noted that this attempt is neither exhaustive nor any effort to list the instruments. The following table gives a glimpse of few instruments used.



ä للاستشارات

Caring for a pH meter depends on the types of electrode in use. Modern pH meters do not mind their electrodes drying out provided they have been rinsed thoroughly in deionized water or potassium chloride. Remember that a liquid of pH = 4 has 10,000 more hydrogen ions than a liquid of pH = 8. Thus, a single drop of pH = 4 in a vial measuring 400 drops of pH = 8 really upsets measurements! Remember also that the calibration solutions consist of chemical buffers that "try" to keep pH levels constant, so contamination of your test vial with a buffer is really actional, wine, and food industry such as manufacturing of soft drinks, butter, and yogurt.

13.1 Instruments



Pen type digital pH meters

There are different types of pH meters like instant pH meter, digital pH meter, electronic digital pH meter, and pH indicators. In instant pH meter one can see the results instantly; the instrument also does not require any calibration with buffer solutions. Digital pH meters are handy and accurate for pH measuring of waste water, chemical, and food and for some laboratory applications. pH indicators are widely used in various industrial applications, and also they are technically designed to meet the industrial requirements

Electronic Digital pH meters

391

	ge	PH INDICATOR	pH Indicators	
	Imag	L on tion the		e out Bg it ow
	Feature	While using pH meters depending upon the type, one should be carefu the following points: (a) stabilization of solution is required before tal reading, (b) better to keep the electrodes deep in buffer of 7.00 pH solu when not in use, (c) the pH meter must be calibrated using standard solution before unknown solution is measured, and (d) temperature of solution also plays an important role in accurate measurement of pH		Likewise to that of medical and other research laboratories, agricultur laboratories also require sterile working environments in order to carry specialized work. Laminar airflows can maintain a working area free f contaminants. Laminar flow cabinets create particle-free working environments by projecting air through a filtration system and exhaustin across a work surface in a laminar or unidirectional air stream. They provide an excellent clean air environment for a number of laboratory requirements. Among different types of cabinets with a variety of airfl patterns for different purposes, the vertical laminar flow cabinets, and hoods, an laminar flow benches and booths are widely used
(continued)	Instrument			Laminar flow system
ارات	نيا	ا المناحة المرست		

BOD incubator

An incubator is an instrument used mostly in biological studies which can maintain optimal temperature, humidity, and other conditions for growth of microbiological or cell culture. BOD incubator is an incubator designed to maintain  $20^{\circ}$ C temperature necessary to perform a test called biochemical oxygen demand (BOD). It involves incubating samples saturated with oxygen at  $20^{\circ}$ C temperature (usually) for 5 days. There are other incubators designed to maintain temperatures of  $5^{\circ}$ C or more above ambient to as high as  $100^{\circ}$ C to study the growth of organisms of under temperate or tropical condition. Incubators designed to maintain temperatures below ambient to as low as about  $10^{\circ}$ C are generally called low-temperature incubators



Orbital shaking	This is a special type of incubator useful for life sciences applications,
incubator	fermentation studies, aging tests, growth studies, and biological cultures
	under various controlled temperature conditions. Advanced shaking
	mechanism provides quiet shaking and precise speed control with digital
	display





Instrument

للاستشارار

Instrument	Feature	-
Digital colony counter	Digital colony counter is an indispensable benchtop tool for the busy microbiologist designed for quick and accurate counting of bacterial and mold colonies in peri dishes or similar experimental units. Simply place the petri dish on the illuminated pad and touch the dish with the pen provided to mark each colony in turn. This causes a count to be registered	_
	on the digital display and audible tone confirms each count made. Marking the dish with the pen avoids missing colonies or double counting. The digital count on the display can be reset manually any time by pressing the reset key provided. Glare-free illumination is essential for optimum viewing of colonies	

31



Continuous shaking at variable speed from 10 to 250 RPM single/double or The shaking becomes difficult when preparing a number of such solutions/ culture work and other chemical mixing procedures. D.C. motor drives the For proper mixing or making of solution, continuous shaking is necessary. 3-tier platform unit is the feature of this type of instrument. Speed can be adjusted digitally. Rotary swirling agitation is used extensively in tissue shaker mechanism through mechanical transmission with v-belt drive. mixtures. Rotary shaking machine is there to help the researchers. Rotary shaking machine

Minimum precautionary measures should be taken to maintain the speed,

time, and proper placement of the samples



processes in a flame photometer include the following stages: desolvation plays a great role in this direction. Flame photometry (also known as flame atomic emission spectrometry) is a branch of atomic spectroscopy in which (namely, Na, K, Rb, Cs, Ca, Ba, Cu) at a relatively low flame temperature. Careful and frequent calibration is necessary for good results, and it is very remains important in clinical and soil laboratories, and flame photometer technique. In all cases the atoms under investigation are excited by light. suitable for qualitative and quantitative determination of several cations, (drying), vaporization, atomization, and ionization. Each of these stages emission spectrometry (ICP-AES), a relatively new and very expensive the species examined in the spectrometer are in the form of atoms. The Reliable and accurate concentration of Na, K, Li, Ca, etc., in solutions solutions under conditions that are as nearly identical as possible. The includes the risk of interference in case the degree of phase transfer is clinical, biological, and environmental analysis. Flame photometry is different for the analyte in the calibration standard and in the sample Flame photometry is simple and relatively inexpensive and used for important to measure the emission from the standard and unknown especially for metals that are easily excited to higher energy levels spectrophotometry (AAS) and inductively coupled plasma-atomic other two branches of atomic spectroscopy are atomic absorption

50-300°C (generally) to sterilize articles. These are widely used to sterilize devices like those using bacterial spores can be used to work as controls, to test for the efficacy of the device in every cycle. They do not require water heating the oven to the required temperature, maintaining that temperature and cooling the articles in the closed oven till they reach room temperature vary. Power supply needs vary from country to country, depending on the for the proper time interval for that temperature, turning the machine off, temperature. Double walled insulation separated by an air-filled space in voltage and frequency (hertz) used. Temperature-sensitive tapes or other If the door is opened before time, heat escapes and the process becomes glassware and powders. Linen gets burned and surgical sharps lose their autoclave, making them safer to work with. A complete cycle involves between keeps the heat in and conserves energy. An air circulating fan helps in uniform distribution of the heat. The capacities of these ovens An electrical instrument used for sterilization. The oven uses dry heat articles that can withstand high temperatures and not get burned, like sharpness. Generally, a digitally controlled thermostat maintains the and there is not much pressure buildup within the oven, unlike an ncomplete. Thus, the cycle must be properly repeated all over





(continued)

www.m

Hot air oven and hot air sterilizer

Image		
Feature	An autoclave is a device used to sterilize equipment and supplies by subjecting them to high-pressure saturated steam at 121°C for around 15–20 min depending on the size of the load and the contents. The name comes from Greek <i>auto</i> -, ultimately meaning self, and Latin <i>clavis</i> meaning key—a self-locking device. Autoclaves are widely used in microbiology, medicine, tattooing, body piercing, veterinary science, mycology, dentistry, chiropody, and prosthetics fabrication. They vary in size and function depending on the media to be sterilized. Typical loads include laboratory glassware, surgical instruments, medical waste, patient pair utensils, and animal cage bedding. A notable growing application of autoclaves is the predisposal treatment and sterilization of waste material, such as pathogenic hospital waste. Machines in this category largely operate under the same principles as conventional autoclaves in that they are able to neutralize potentially infectious agents by utilizing pressurized steam and superheated water. Autoclaves are also widely used to cure composites and in the vulcanization of rubber. The high heat and pressure that autoclave creates allow to ensure the best possible physical properties of the material used for sterilization	While using this instrument in the laboratory, care must be taken such that the pressure and temperature do not cross beyond the capacity of the instrument; otherwise, there is every possibility of meeting accidents. Maintenance of appropriate time, temperature, and pressure is the key point to be noted for highest effectivity
ntinued) trument	utoclave	

396

# Analytical balance

Analytical balance is used to measure mass to a very high degree of precision and accuracy. The measuring pan(s) of a high precision (0.1 mg or better) analytical balance is inside a transparent enclosure with doors so as to avoid dust particles and airflow in affecting the balance's operation. Analytical precision is achieved by maintaining a constant load on the balance beam, by subtracting mass on the same side of the beam to which the sample is added.

Precaution should be taken to avoid air flow during recording of weights and under dust-free condition



Compound microscope

branches, microscope is an essential instrument in research. As light from a wipe any optical surface as you could scratch a lens. Use an air blower or a clearly visible by the naked eye. In life science, medical science, and other source passes through the object, the lens nearest the object, the objective xylene to remove the oil after use. Never use a dry cloth or paper towel to Microscope is a tool used to view small tiny elements, which are mostly not lens, produces an enlarged image of the object in the primary image angle. The lens that you look into, the eyepiece, acts as a magnifier and produces magnification of the objective lens, usually  $4\times$ ,  $10\times$ ,  $40\times$ , and  $100\times$ . For example, a  $10 \times$  eyepiece in conjunction with a  $40 \times$  objective will give you a magnification factor of 400; that means the object will be magnified 400 the damage of the lens. Wipe off the lens gently with tissue paper soaked in can't be removed with air or the brush, gently wipe it with a piece of clean times larger than you can view it with the naked eye. Viruses, molecules, and atoms are beyond the capabilities of today's compound microscopes immersion oil while viewing any object using 100× eyepiece to prevent camel hair brush to whisk away dust. If there is dirt on the eyepiece that an enlarged image of the image produced by the objective lens. The and can be viewed only with an electron microscope. Always use magnification is the product of the eyepiece magnification by the cotton



(continued)



(continued)	
Instrument	Feature Image
Stereoscopic microscope	The stereo or dissecting microscope is an optical microscope variant designed for low-magnification observation of a sample using incident light illumination. It uses two separate optical paths with two objectives and two eyepieces to provide slightly different viewing angles to the left and right eyes. In this way it produces a three-dimensional visualization of the sample being examined. Stereomicroscopy overlaps macrophotography for recording and examining solid samples with complex surface. The stereo microscope should not be confused with a compound microscope equipped with double eyepieces and a binoviewer. In such a microscope, both eyes see the same image, but the binocular eyepieces provide greater viewing comfort. However, the image in such a microscope is no different from that obtained with a single monocular eyepiece

Electron microscope

100,000 times shorter than visible light (photons). Magnifications of up to samples, metals, and crystals. Industrially, the electron microscope is often used for quality control and failure analysis. As such these are used in all about 10,000,000× can be achieved through these microscopes. Electron microscopes are used to observe a wide range of biological and inorganic types of research activities. Electron microscope may be (1) transmission image. An electron microscope has greater resolving power than a lightpowered optical microscope because electrons have wavelengths about a beam of electrons to illuminate a specimen and produce a magnified (3) reflection electron microscope, (4) scanning transmission electron An electron microscope is the modern variant of microscope. It uses specimens including microorganisms, cells, large molecules, biopsy microscope (TEM), (2) scanning electron microscope, microscope, and (5) low-voltage electron microscope



13.1 Instruments





-	
c	
Ð	
a	
E	
Ξ	
드	
÷.,	
$\mathbf{z}$	
-	

Feature

ц	
.9	
E.	
St.	
5	
ē	
th	
Sa	
5	

station. Measurements on parameters can also be made from remote areas speed, wind vane for measuring wind direction, hygrometer for measuring Argos Systems and the Global Telecommunication System or save the data thermometer for measuring temperature, anemometer for measuring wind them even have ceilometer for measuring cloud height, rain gauge along Weather parameters have become indispensible part of modern research. through the use of these stations. Most automatic weather stations have meteorological sensors with an attached solar panel or wind turbine are humidity, and barometer for measuring atmospheric pressure. Some of purpose of the system. The system may report in near real time via the tremendous development associated with other advantages, nowadays, automatic weather stations (AWS) are preferred over manual weather mounted upon a mast. The specific configuration may vary due to the particularly in the field of life science and agriculture. Because of with data logger, rechargeable battery, and telemetry, and the for later recovery





Image

Spectroanalytical procedures are nowadays used for determination of concentration of elements in solutions. Atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS) is one of such quantitative procedures employing the absorption of optical radiation (light) by free atoms in the gaseous state. AAS can be used to determine over 70 different elements in solution or directly in solid samples

Based on Beer-Lambert law, it requires standards with known analyte content to establish the relation between the measured absorbance and the analyte concentration. The principle of AAS lies on promoting the electrons of the atoms into higher orbital (excited state) for a few nanoseconds by absorbing a defined quantity of energy (i.e., radiation of a given wavelength) which is specific to a particular electron transition in a particular element because, in general, each wavelength corresponds to only one element



401

الم للاستشارات

1

## (continued)

Instrument PCR unit

Feature

Image

chain reaction (PCR) unit is used to amplify a single or a few copies of a piece of DNA across several orders of magnitude, generating thousands to contamination causing amplification of spurious DNA products. According (MLPA), multiplex PCR, nested PCR, overlap extension PCR, splicing by to the variations on the basic PCR technique, it can be allele-specific PCR, asymmetric PCR, dial-out PCR, hot start PCR, intersequence-specific PCR and often indispensible technique used in medical and biological research (TAIL-PCR), touchdown PCR (step-down PCR), PAN-AC, universal fast millions of copies of a particular DNA sequence. PCR is now a common overlap extension (SOE), quantitative PCR (qPCR), reverse transcription One of the major tools in molecular biology is the PCR. The polymerase because PCR can fail for various reasons, in part due to its sensitivity to walking, and in silico PCR (digital PCR, virtual PCR, electronic PCR, etesting), detection and diagnosis of infectious diseases, etc. A basic PCR setup requires several components and reagents like DNA template, two primers, Taq polymerase deoxynucleoside triphosphates, buffer solution, divalent cations, and monovalent cation. The researchers must be careful (ISSR), inverse PCR, ligation-mediated PCR, methylation-specific PCR, labs for DNA cloning for sequencing, diagnosis of hereditary diseases, identification of genetic fingerprints (in forensic sciences and paternity PCR (RT-PCR), solid phase PCR, thermal asymmetric interlaced PCR miniprimer PCR, multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification PCR)





natography Separati noint in

Separation of constituents from the mixture has remained the main focal point in chromatography. Chromatography is the collection of a set of laboratory techniques. There are two phases—the *mobile phase*, which carries, and the *stationary phase*. The various constituents of the mixture travel at different speeds, causing them to separate. Chromatography may be preparative (separate the components of a mixture) or analytical (measuring the relative proportions of analytes in a mixture). Chromatography, may be categorized by (a) *chromatographic bed shape* (column chromatography, planar chromatography, paper chromatography, thin-layer chromatography, and (b) *physical state of mobile phase* (gas chromatography, liquid chromatography, etc.)



13.1 Instruments

One of the important chromatographic techniques in analytical chemistry and biochemistry is the high-performance liquid chromatography, also known as high-pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC), used to separate a mixture of compounds for identifying, quantifying, and purifying the individual components of the mixture. HPLC has many uses in medical, purifying substances from a complex biological sample, manufacturing, pharmaceutical, quality assurance, etc.

HPLC



403

	mage	
	Feature	A landmark in the history of science is the invention of computer: Computer is an electronic device that is designed to work with information. The term "computer" is derived from the Latin term <i>computers</i> this means to calculate. Computer cannot do anything without a program. Computers not only help in calculation but also have become integrated components of many modern instruments. A general-purpose computer has four main components: the arithmetic logic unit (ALU), the control unit, the memoy, and the input and output devices (collectively termed I/O). These parts are interconnected by busses, often made of groups of wires. Inside each of these parts are thousands to trillions of small electrical circuits which can be turned off or on by means of an electronic switch. The circuits are arranged in logic gates so that one or more of the circuits are tatted for one or more of the other circuits. The control unit, ALU, registers, and basic I/O and as central processing unit (CPU). A <i>peripheral</i> is a device connected to a host computer, but not part of it. It expands the host's capabilities but does not form part of the core computer architecture. It is often, but not always, partially or completely dependent on the host
(continued)	Instrument	Computer
ارات	ش	المنار <b>خ</b> للاست

Computer and peripheral

#### 13.2 Laboratory Safety Measures

Safety measures can broadly be categorized into two groups-the human safety and the instrumental or laboratory safety. Almost all laboratory equipments are sensitive and can become dangerous if safety precautions are not taken properly. Many equipments are something that one can't just drag around and store anywhere because most equipments have their conditions and specifications in installing, use, and storing. Most of the instruments achieve high levels of performance due to carefully designed interface between external connectors and internal components. As a result, specific handling precautions must be observed for device reliability and optimum performance. An appropriate safety precaution to use with a laboratory instrument depends on the type of instrument and analysis to be carried out. For example, if one is going to use an instrument having furnace, then one is required to be careful about fire, overheating, burning, etc. On the other hand, if the instrument uses compressed gas, one needs to be aware of how to make and maintain tight connections to the gas source and may need to look at adequacy of ventilation. While using the instrument, one should be careful about the following points, though these are not exhaustive:

- The equipment should be placed away from heat sources. Do not block airflow around equipment. If equipment be operated at high ambient temperatures, mount with a good thermal connection to a large thermal mass.
- 2. Do not allow foreign material into the enclosure. Do not allow contamination to be introduced into the connectors.
- 3. If applicable, always use the provided AC adaptor. Do not power the unit with a different adaptor. Do not modify the power plug or wall outlet to remove the third (ground) pin.
- 4. Do not drop or shake the equipment. Minimize vibration and handle with care.
- 5. Make sure to read the instructions in the lab equipment and do not do experiments on your own.

لمسارك للاستشارات

6. If you don't know how to use the lab equipment, it's better to ask the expert to avoid mistakes caused by hunches.

#### 13.2.1 Precautionary Measures

Given below are some of the precautionary measures one should follow while using the instruments:

- 1. *Autoclaves*, heat sterilizers, and pressure cookers should be run only by experts or professionals. In using a pressure cooker, check the safety valve before pressure is built up. The equipment should be turned off and allowed to cool before the stopcock is opened to equalize pressure.
- Incubators may be useful components of a biology laboratory; care should be taken to keep incubators safe and well maintained. Unwanted growth of organisms should be restricted by regular cleaning.
- 3. *Microscope*: if it has a cover or case, always put it in place when you aren't using the device. Wet or dirty slides should never be put on the stage, which should always be kept dry. When cleaning your microscope, unplug it first, if applicable, and then clean the outside using a damp, soft cloth only. Never use a dry cloth or paper towel to wipe any optical surface as it could scratch lens. Use an air blower or a camel hair brush to whisk away dust. If there is dirt on the eyepiece that can't be removed with air or the brush, gently wipe it with a piece of clean cotton.
- 4. Chromatography
  - (a) Dissolving and developing solvents give off toxic vapors. They must be stored in closed containers and the room should properly be ventilated.
  - (b) Solvents are highly flammable and must not be used near an open flame.
  - (c) Avoid skin contact when spraying the developing solvents.
  - (d) Use a fume hood when appropriate.

- 5. Biotechnology
  - (a) Handle all microorganisms and DNA carefully. Treat them as if they could cause infections.
  - (b) Hands should be washed with soap and water before and after handling microorganisms and before leaving the laboratory regardless of what materials were used. When handling microorganisms or other living materials, wear rubber gloves to protect against infection.
  - (c) Use only mechanical pipetting devices for transferring any material. Do not allow mouth pipetting.
- 6. Greenhouse maintenance and operation
  - (a) Check waterlines, heating system, fans, and temperature control. These are usually routine procedures but must be done every time.
  - (b) Make sure all automatic equipments are functional and accurate.
  - (c) Clean tools after use and store them appropriately.

#### 13.2.2 Human Safety Measures

- (a) Use safety equipment in performing tests and experiments such as safety goggles to avoid anything from entering your eyes, which could be anything from chemicals to shrapnel.
- (b) Don't eat or drink in the laboratory or near lab equipment that has chemicals or sample in them. While you may want to feel refreshed and relaxed in the lab, it's not worth to risk in case you swallow something by mistake.
- (c) Many people are allergic to pollen, mold spores, or other plant exudates. When using flowers, mushrooms, fungi, etc., in the laboratory, adequate ventilation is essential. Pollen and mold spores should be displayed in closed glass petri dishes.
- (d) Do not apply cosmetics in the laboratory. Keep fingers and writing instruments away from your face and mouth.

الم للاستشارا<u>ت</u>

#### 13.2.3 Overall Laboratory Condition

- (a) Keep the laboratory clean.
- (b) Disinfect the work area before and after each laboratory procedure. Use of a commercial disinfectant to wipe down the area is acceptable.
- (c) While working the researcher should use gloves, chemical splash safety goggles, and aprons as would be found necessary.
- (d) Containers should be cleaned before and after use.
- (e) Do not leave laboratory materials unattended or ill maintained. They should be cleaned out regularly to prevent unwanted growth of organisms.
- (f) Laboratory should be well equipped with proper lighting, adequate heat, and water supply along with fire extinguisher.
- (g) Commercial potting mixtures are recommended over garden soil because they are relatively sterile.

#### 13.3 Computer, Computer Software, and Research

By this time, the importance of statistics to a researcher is clear. Statistics are best used when it is supported by strong computing facilities. The need for developing computing facility was felt time and again. Many of the statistical tools would not have been used at a large scale if there was no effective development in the computing facilities. Development of computers and statistical software has made it possible to have wider application of statistics in unearthing and/or explaining the so long hidden truth of this universe. But this development is not unidirectional or flawless. For best application, understanding the theories and situations where actually the specific statistical tools are required to be used is essential. Statistical theories are used best by the subject matter specialists in consultation with an efficient statistician. Understanding of both the specialists towards the field of each other to a certain degree is essential for efficient use of

statistical theories towards advancement of human civilization. Statistics is just like a molded clay; one can make God or devil out of it as per the choice of the user. Unfortunately, in many of the cases, statistical calculations have been made with the help of the computer packages, without knowing the logic and utilities. Misuse of statistical concept is increasing day by day. We must be cautious about garbage in, garbage out (GIGO). The researcher must have a clear idea about what are the requirements, what are inputted to the computer, and what are the commands to be given to the computers to get the required information analyzed properly befitting to the requirement of the objectives of the research program. A computer does not have any brain; the only thing it can do is the use of stored program as per the direction of the user. Using a set of data, one can get innumerable types of output just by changing instruction to the computer. But definitely all of these outputs are neither relevant nor correct under the given situation. For best use of the computer, it is feasible to get from the information fed to the computer using statistical theories, what should be the direction to the computer and what is the output generated by the computer. In the following example, we

shall demonstrate how many types of statistical analysis could be taken up. While using statistical software, the following points are required to be noted:

- 1. The background information about the data
- 2. Nature of the data
- 3. Objectives of the experiment
- 4. Hypothesis to be tested
- 5. Appropriate statistics to be calculated for 3 and 4 using the specific type of data
- 6. Background knowledge about the statistical package to be used w.r.t. its algorithm, techniques used in performing the task
- 7. Testing the accuracy of the software using solved identical example
- Knowledge about the explanation of the output after running the statistical package and linking these with the objective of the study

*Example 13.1* The following table gives yield (q/ha) of a particular paddy variety. The experiment was conducted with three types of manure and three doses of nitrogen to standardize the supplement of inorganic nitrogen by manure, and the experiment was conducted under field condition for two consecutive seasons. The problem is to find out the best dose of nitrogen and best manure to get the best yield.

	Nitrogen	N1	N1	N1	N2	N2	N2	N3	N3	N3
	Rep	R1	R2	R3	R1	R2	R3	R1	R2	R3
Manure 1	Season 1	57.80	65.06	67.78	68.77	70.37	76.47	76.07	64.67	75.37
	Season 2	58.43	65.69	68.41	71.37	61.01	68.07	68.81	69.31	70.10
Manure 2	Season 1	76.27	66.37	69.17	59.47	71.47	72.77	69.77	77.63	71.84
	Season 2	70.11	66.29	70.14	68.31	74.30	73.72	70.82	71.56	72.87
Manure 3	Season 1	69.07	87.74	81.70	83.07	90.48	72.66	71.86	62.92	61.80
	Season 2	73.71	75.38	72.34	73.81	73.12	73.26	72.61	71.76	68.54

Before analyzing the data information on the type design followed is a must. But most frequently it is found that after completion of the experiment, the researcher searches for appropriate method of data analysis. Actually in designs of experiments, once the experimental design is fixed, its analysis is also fixed. In the absence of full information, the above data could be analyzed in various forms, and the results of all these analyses are not identical. Here, some of the possible analyses along with experimental design assumed in each stage are provided. Readers may note that these are not exhaustive; one can have other types of analysis with the same data. We have presented the ANOVA tables only, from which it is clear that there exist differences among the analyses and as such the interpretation will also vary. Thus, appropriate analysis of the data is required to extract the information. Otherwise, misleading



Analysis o	t variancetable					
K value	Source	Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares	Mean square	F-value	Prob
1	Replication	2	25.020	12.510	0.4745	
2	Season	1	36.787	36.787	1.3955	0.2457
4	Manure	2	351.847	175.923	6.6735	0.0036
6	SM	2	28.528	14.264	0.5411	
8	Nitrogen	2	53.707	26.853	1.0187	0.3718
10	SN	2	32.885	16.442	0.6237	
12	MN	4	454.189	113.547	4.3073	0.0063
14	SMN	4	190.808	47.702	1.8095	0.1498
-15	Error	34	896.296	26.362		
	Total	53	2070.066			

Table 13.1 Analysis of data using three-factor randomized complete block design

**Table 13.2** Analysis of data using randomized complete block design for season, with manure and nitrogen as split plots on season

Analysis o	of variancetable					
K value	Source	Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares	Mean square	F-value	Prob
1	Replication	2	25.020	12.510	1.4902	0.4016
2	Season	1	36.787	36.787	4.3822	0.1714
-3	Error	2	16.789	8.395		
4	Manure	2	351.847	175.923	6.4008	0.0046
6	SM	2	28.528	14.264	0.5190	
8	Nitrogen	2	53.707	26.853	0.9770	
10	SN	2	32.885	16.442	0.5982	
12	MN	4	454.189	113.547	4.1313	0.0082
14	SMN	4	190.808	47.702	1.7356	0.1665
-15	Error	32	879.507	27.485		
	Total	53	2070.066			

**Table 13.3** Analysis of data using randomized complete block design for season and manure with nitrogen as a split plot on season and manure

Analysis c	of variancetable					
K value	Source	Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares	Mean square	F-value	Prob
1	Replication	2	25.020	12.510	0.5800	
2	Season	1	36.787	36.787	1.7055	0.2208
4	Manure	2	351.847	175.923	8.1563	0.0079
6	SM	2	28.528	14.264	0.6613	
-7	Error	10	215.691	21.569		
8	Nitrogen	2	53.707	26.853	0.9469	
10	SN	2	32.885	16.442	0.5798	
12	MN	4	454.189	113.547	4.0040	0.0126
14	SMN	4	190.808	47.702	1.6821	0.1869
-15	Error	24	680.605	28.359		
	Total	53	2070.066			

conclusion may be drawn. In fact in statistical software, there are a varied range of options for execution of analysis; one must be sure about the exact procedure to be adopted for that knowledge on analytical tools and the specifications/command of the statistical software are essential (Tables 13.1, 13.2, 13.3, 13.4, 13.5, and 13.6).

Analysis o	f variancetable					
K value	Source	Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares	Mean square	F-value	Prob
1	Replication	2	25.020	12.510	1.4902	0.4016
2	Season	1	36.787	36.787	4.3822	0.1714
-3	Error	2	16.789	8.395		
4	Manure	2	351.847	175.923	7.0758	0.0170
6	SM	2	28.528	14.264	0.5737	
-7	Error	8	198.902	24.863		
8	Nitrogen	2	53.707	26.853	0.9469	
10	SN	2	32.885	16.442	0.5798	
12	MN	4	454.189	113.547	4.0040	0.0126
14	SMN	4	190.808	47.702	1.6821	0.1869
-15	Error	24	680.605	28.359		
	Total	53	2070.066			

**Table 13.4** Analysis of data using randomized complete block design for season, with manure as a split plot on season and nitrogen as a split plot on manure

 Table 13.5
 Analysis of data using two-factor randomized complete block design combined over seasons

Analysis o	of variancetable					
K value	Source	Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares	Mean square	F-value	Prob
1	Season	1	36.787	36.787	1.3384	0.2559
3	R(S)	4	41.809	10.452	0.3803	
4	Manure	2	351.847	175.923	6.4008	0.0046
5	SM	2	28.528	14.264	0.5190	
8	Nitrogen	2	53.707	26.853	0.9770	
9	SM	2	32.885	16.442	0.5982	
12	MN	4	454.189	113.547	4.1313	0.0082
13	SMN	4	190.808	47.702	1.7356	0.1665
-15	Error	32	879.507	27.485		
	Total	53	2070.066			

 Table 13.6
 Analysis of data using two-factor randomized complete block design with split plot combined over seasons

Analysis of variancetable							
K value	Source	Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares	Mean square	F-value	Prob	
1	Season	1	36.787	36.787	1.4796	0.2585	
3	R(S)	4	41.809	10.452	0.4204		
4	Manure	2	351.847	175.923	7.0758	0.0170	
5	SM	2	28.528	14.264	0.5737		
-7	Error	8	198.902	24.863			
8	Nitrogen	2	53.707	26.853	0.9469		
9	SN	2	32.885	16.442	0.5798		
12	MN	4	454.189	113.547	4.0040	0.0126	
13	SMN	4	190.808	47.702	1.6821	0.1869	
-15	Error	24	680.605	28.359			
	Total	53	2070.066				



### Research Proposal and Report Writing 14

#### 14.1 Research Proposal

Research is a systematic process and research proposal is the documentation of the process in a stepwise manner. Discussions have been made on the type of research from a qualitative point of view. For successful implementation of research program, funding is a major aspect; at the same time there are various established and reputed research organizations to carry out different types of researches. Each and every research organization has clear-cut guidelines for framing research proposals. Besides, the above researches are also carried out by the individual researcher. Moreover, there are certain researches which do not require dependence on financial support for carrying out research program. However, a research program should always be documented in the form of research proposals. The content, steps, and procedure of writing a research proposal may vary to some extent, but there are certain common points to be documented in any research proposal. A research proposal is a standalone document which clarifies what the proposed project is about, what it is trying to do and achieve, how it will go about doing that, what we will learn from it, and why it is worth learning. It is a document written to convince funding agencies and academic bodies that the project is worth their attention. If the research proposal is asking for financial support, then there are several components to a strong grant

application. First, the subject must be creative, exciting, and worthy of funding. Second, the project must have been developed through a rigorous, well-defined experimental plan. One of the most important points to consider when presenting a research proposal for funding is presenting the information in crystal clear language with the application following the rules and guidelines of the funding authority. The research idea, questions, or problems must be very clearly stated and persuasive and address a demonstrable gap in the existing literature. One must be sure that the departmental staffs are interested in the subject area and available for the project. One must also ensure that the scope of the project is reasonable and must remember that there are significant limits to the size and complexity of a project that can be completed and written up within a given period of time. Assessment of proposals takes place not only for their intellectual ambition and significance but also for the likelihood that the researcher can complete this project. International agencies, particularly the agencies in the Western countries, use objective criteria in screening the proposals. In India, the evaluation is subjective, that is, by peer review. Experts review the projects, and few promising projects are approved directly; some are accepted with modifications, and a fairly large number of projects are rejected. Most rejections are mainly attributed to inappropriate presentation style.

P.K. Sahu, Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields, DOI 10.1007/978-81-322-1020-7\_14, © Springer India 2013 While reviewing a project proposal, the following points are generally given importance along with other factors: (a) how best are the intellectual quality and merit of the study; (b) what is its potential impact; (c) how holistic is the proposal, whether the research proposal is likely to produce new data and concepts or confirm existing hypotheses; (d) are the hypotheses valid and whether these have been presented with supporting evidences; (e) whether the aims are logical; (f) whether the procedures proposed are appropriate, adequate, and feasible for the research; (g) whether the investigators/proposers are qualified and competent enough as shown by their credentials and experience; (h) are the facilities adequate and the environment conducive to the research; and (i) is there any other organization where the similar types of work are being conducted, if so how the present proposal is different from that, and so on.

In the following section, an attempt is made to note down the possible steps in research proposal.

#### 14.1.1 Title

The title is the stepping stone to a project proposal. It gives first impression of a proposal and as such is required to be catchy, small, and informative. The title should not be the same as the objective. It should be shorter and at the same time must indicate broadly what is being attempted to.

#### 14.1.2 Introduction and Rationale

In this part of the research proposal, the researcher makes an attempt to put forward a research problem, which he/she has conceived. This section concerns with background information, urgency, critical gaps in knowledge, and need for the present study. The background part of the introduction deals with a context having a set of problems. In the process, the researcher should emphasize on the origin of the problems, its importance, and its impact on society. A researcher should try to make clear why the



problem was selected and why it has an importance to the society and thereby justify the research approach.

#### 14.1.3 Review of Literature

Once after the synthesis of the problem, the researcher should try to search whether the same types of work are already taken up in the same area, if any, their short falls, and how previous work could be improvised or thought afresh to solve the present problem. This will help the researcher to concretize the research idea and the methodology to be adopted or developed.

#### 14.1.4 Objectives and Specific Objectives of the Study

Based on the above two stages, the researcher is now better placed to formulate the objective and specific objective of the research program proposed. The objectives of the study should clearly be spelled out. Generally there are objective(s), and to each and every objective, specific objectives are there, which are generally followed by hypothesis to be tested (not in all cases). In all these efforts, the researchers should try to clear out what he/she wants to achieve, for whom the objectives are valuable, whether the objectives are in measurable form or not, and of course how far the objectives are realistic and achievable under the given situation. It should be clearly noted that for mandatory researches, the objectives, specific objectives, and the hypotheses are mostly stipulated by the research organizations or the funding agencies. The researcher may have options to slightly modify or reorient keeping the mandate in mind.

#### 14.1.5 Materials and Methodology

This is purely a technical section. This section clearly answers to questions on how to realize the objectives. Approaches with details and references wherever possible must be provided. Facilities available and additional resources needed and the method of acquiring resources must be specified. To fulfill the objectives, any research proposal should clearly spell out the information/data required and to be used, how the data are to be collected, and the methodology for analysis of the data. Depending on the type of research, whether the primary data or secondary data are to be used must be clearly mentioned. The analytical tools to be used or to be developed must also be cited clearly so that the reviewer of the project can understand that using the information and methodology mentioned, the objectives of the project would be achieved.

#### 14.1.6 Time Trend

In a project proposal, the researcher should draw up the time trend for the completion of different steps of the project along with the output expected. This will help monitor the progress of the research project. Activity-wise time frame and investigators who will be held responsible for carrying out the specific work must clearly be spelled out. Scheduling of works provided in the methodology in a sequence is to be provided. Generally standard project management techniques like flow chart and PERT are used to illustrate this. The proposer must specify facilities available and additional resources needed and the method of acquiring resources. Specify activity-wise time frame. Give milestones for each objective. Elaborate how the work will be managed.

#### 14.1.7 Financial Outlay

Other than the institutional research project, all types of research project proposals should contain the budgetary requirement. Even institutional researches need budgetary allocation for smooth functioning of the project. The researcher must provide year-wise and activity-wise budget in detail and justify costly equipments and other facilities. Try to include reasonable inflation while calculating year-wise budget. The breakup of budget requirement for different components of research and justifications thereof must be provided. Unless and otherwise stipulated by the funding agency, the researcher should have such a budgetary provision so as to complete the research process effectively. Generally, there are three parts in budgetary provisions: (1) the recurring contingency, (2) the nonrecurring contingency, and (3) salaries and wages. In ad hoc projects, provisions for salaries are generally avoided. Under the recurring contingency, generally the consumable, the expenses for day-to-day functioning, traveling allowances, etc., are included. In nonrecurring contingency, the expenditures on fixed items like purchase of equipments and facility development are included. To each and every research project, supporting staff are required, may it be in the form of research scholars, research fellows, research assistance, technical staff, etc. To meet the expenditures on staff, salary and wages form the budgetary provision. The financial outlay should clearly mention the amount of money required at different stages of the research process. The various budgets should match the details given in the work program. Avoid overbudgeting, as underutilization may invite negative remark. Once all the project activity costs are listed, split the costs as per the funding agencies' format.

#### 14.1.8 Information About the Research Organizations

Not all types of research works could be taken up in all types of research institutions. Capacity and credential of the research organization play a vital role in deciding whether the research program could be taken up at the particular organization or not. Details of institutional capabilities/ credential may help in sanctioning the research proposals.



#### 14 Research Proposal and Report Writing

#### 14.1.9 Information About the Research Persons

Whether a particular researcher (or a team) is competent enough to carry out the proposed research work required to be ascertained. A brief biodata of the researcher and the associated personals should be provided to assess the capabilities and the expertise of the group. This is specially required in competitive mode of research funding.

#### 14.1.10 Monitoring and Evaluation

To judge the success of the research program, periodic evaluation report at various stages is needed and if required midterm corrections may also be taken up. Participation of stakeholders and interest groups in planning, monitoring, and evaluation is the most widely used method in internationally reputed research organizations. To assess the progress, key indicators are specified in each of the objectives. The indicators should be as far possible as quantitative in nature.

#### 14.1.11 Layout of the Research Proposal

A research proposal should be framed and designed meticulously. There should be different parts of the research proposals. Though not exhaustive, along with the above-mentioned sections, there should be one cover page and another inner cover page. The cover page should contain the title of the project, address of the implementing organizations, name of the person who proposed the research, name of person the project is submitted to, etc. The inner cover page will also contain similar information. The cover page is generally colorful and lucrative in nature contrary to the simple presentation of the inner cover page.

#### 14.2 Research Report Writing

للاستشارات

Research is an endeavor towards the betterment of civilization. All research activities are directed to having a better world. Unless and otherwise people come to know about the research activities and its findings, the whole process results in a futile exercise and the whole process of carrying out research gets vitiated. So, passing on the findings and inferences of the research work carried out is one of the most important tasks of the researcher. Writing of research reports is the last and most probably the most difficult step of the research process. Research reports have many purposes. The report informs the rest of the world about what a researcher has done, what has been invented or discovered, what are the conclusions a researcher have drawn from the research findings, how these findings or information is going to enrich the knowledge bank, how the results/findings/ recommendations are going to help the society, etc. In mandatory research or sponsored researches, the reports are of great importance. It is also mandatory on the part of the researchers to satisfy the sponsors in regard to the extent of commitment fulfilled or otherwise towards the objectives. A research is of least importance and value unless it is being communicated effectively to others.

Research reports maybe of different types: (a) printed form, (b) audio form, (c) electronic form, and (d) documented as audio-video film, etc. Most of the research reports are presented in printed form. Additionally, other forms may also come into existence. One can find very few or rare examples where the report of the research projects has not been documented in typed or printed form. As such, in this section we shall consider the printed version of the research report along with general features of the research reports in brief. The layout, content, arrangement, and chronology of the reports vary from types of research, purpose of research report, etc. However, there are certain guidelines and norms with regard to the preparation of the research report.

Before writing a research report, (1) *the researcher must satisfy himself or herself* (a) about the conceptualization of the research project, of course, that has been checked and rechecked during the preparation of the project proposal, (b) that the data generated for the project are trustworthy, appropriate, and adequate to draw inference befitting to the objectives of the

research program, and (c) that proper analytical/ statistical tools have been used; (2) the researcher must be cautious about the possible errors which may creep into the inference; (3) the researcher must keep a strong vigil about the fact that the interpretations are supported by facts and analysis of the facts and figures; (4) the researcher must be aware about the fact that it is the task of the researcher to not only state the striking observations but also identify and unreveal the factors so long remained hidden; and (5) there should be consistent interaction between the initial hypothesis or presumption (if any), the empirical observations, and the theoretical background/conceptions.

#### 14.2.1 Steps in Research Report Writing

Writing of the report is the last stage of research process. It requires a set of great skills from different allied departments/sections. A researcher is always advised to be most careful and to take help from the experts in relevant field while writing reports so that the whole process could be accomplished in a holistic and faithful manner. The whole process of report writing is completed in a steady and in no hurry condition involving the following steps: (1) logical analysis of the whole work, (2) preparation of outline of the report, (3) preparation of draft report, (4) reviewing and fine-tuning the draft report, and (5) preparation of bibliography and writing the final report. The activities to be performed in different steps may vary from project to project, but by and large, one has to follow the above steps with modification, alteration, and/or addition.

In the first step of report preparation, the researcher needs to take the whole work into his or her mind. Then, sequencing is required to be done either logically or chronologically or both, such that the problem with which the research work initially started and took place gets its solution. Once the researcher has taken the whole work in his or her mind, the outline of the presentation is required to be framed. In doing so, utmost care should be taken to inform the rest of

المنسارة للاستشارات

the world in its simplest form. Soon after conceptualization of the outline of the report, a draft report is required to be prepared accordingly. In this phase, the researcher writes chronologically or logically or both on why the research was undertaken; what has been done; what are the procedures adopted; what are the overall observations, analysis, findings, and inferences that could be drawn; what are the limitations and suggestions; etc. Ideally, there should be a gap of reasonable time period between the preparation of the draft report and rewriting and finetuning of the same. The step of rewriting and fine-tuning of the draft report is the most vital, tedious job and requires ample patience and time. Consistency in every sphere is required to be checked during this period. Grammar, spelling check, important omissions, or deletions are required to be taken care of with utmost sincerity. Lastly, the lists of literature consulted are required to be acknowledged in the form of a bibliography.

#### 14.2.2 Components of Research Report

A research report is meant for the rest of the world and is an authentic unique documentation so as to convey the general scientific context of the research work, the adequacy of the method, and the findings for the betterment of humanity. Thus, the layout of the report has great importance in reaching the world. In general, a research report should have three main parts: the preliminary or initial part, the main part, and the end part or the last part. The initial part is devoted to introducing the title of the work, location of the work, preface or the foreword, acknowledgement, and content of the reports, that is, table of contents and table of figures/illustrations. This part facilitates the readers to locate the portion of his or her interest. Sometimes, an executive summary is also presented in between the initial pages and the main part of the report, whereas in the main part, the reader understands the introduction of the research problem; its rationale; sources of finance along with financial layout, timeline, objectives, and specific objectives; the materials and method section; experimental part (if any); and observations made and analysis data, followed by statement of the findings, interpretations and implications of results and findings, recommendations (if any), summary and conclusion, etc. The end part or the last part is consisting mainly of the bibliography, questionnaires, mathematical deductions, annexure or appendix, etc. Thus, it is clear that though the report is divided in to three parts, each part is again constituted of subparts. By and large, a research report should have the following sections: (1) the cover page, (2) the inner cover page, (3) the foreword, (4) the preface, (5) acknowledgement, (6) the table of contents, (7) the table of figures, (8) the financial outlay of the project (optional), (9) the executive summary, (10) the introduction and rationale of the project, (11) the objectives and specific objectives of the study along with hypotheses to be tested (if any), (12) location/implementation area of the project (optional), (13) materials and methodology, (14) results and findings along with discussion, (15) conclusion and recommendation, (16) future scope of research, (17) the reference or bibliography, and (18) the annexures/appendices. It may emphatically be noted that these sections may change or get modified as per the mandate or need of the research project. Though these are self-explanatory, in the following sections these will be discussed in brief.

- 1. *The Cover Page*: The cover page is generally a colored, attractive, high-quality page consisting of the title of the project, the name (s) of the researcher(s) submitting the report, the year of submission, the agency to whom the report is being submitted (optional), and the name and address of the implementing agency.
- 2. *The Inner Cover Page*: It is almost the replica of the cover page but mostly on the paper of the same quality as that of the inner pages of the report.
- 3. *The Foreword*: These pages are generally to introduce the readers about the necessity and usefulness of the research program. A scientist of eminence in the concerned



field or an authority in the area of research generally writes this portion. Appreciation of the work done in the report is generally provided in the foreword pages. It may be noted that this portion is not a compulsory one.

- 4. *The Preface*: In the preface, the authors/ researchers writing the report try to provide, in a very short form, about the synthesis, the execution, and the outcomes of the research program under report. During the process, the researcher acknowledges the help, cooperation, and assistance received from various corners.
- 5. Acknowledgement: This is the portion carefully written by the researcher to acknowledge the name of the persons, the institutions, the agencies, etc., from which the researcher has been benefitted in various ways during the process of research program. Acknowledgement at personal level and official level also comes under this section. If otherwise not stipulated, the financial sources or financial assistances received from different sources are to be mentioned in this section.
- 6. Table of Contents: In the table of contents, page-wise distributions of different sections of the research report are mentioned. A reader, going through this table of contents, can have an idea what are the contents of the research report and where lies the chapter(s) of his/her interest and the page concerned. The table of contents helps the readers in getting the overall view of the research report at a glance.
- 7. *Table of Figures/Illustrations*: Likewise to that of the table of contents, additionally there may be table of figures and illustrations. This will help the readers who are in a hurry to search and get a glimpse of the chapter or portions of his/her interest. Going through the pages of tables or figures of interest, the readers can have an idea, in no time, about his/her point of interest.
- Financial Statement: The financial outlay portion is not obligatory to each and every research report. Generally the ad hoc research project reports funded by some

agencies for a short period of time may contain these financial statement pages. In the financial statement, there would be revelations of the amount sanctioned for the project, details of breakup of the allocation of fund, and utilization thereof, and it may also include the auditor's report.

- 9. *Executive Summary*: During the fast-moving era of the present days, people of high profile get very little time to go through all the tidbits of any huge research report. This is particularly more applicable for the topmost administrator, policy makers, and other prominent persons. The executive summary provides the bird's eye view of the entire research program carried out, vis-a-vis the output and its implications for the development of the society thereof. The researcher should be very careful while writing the executive summary so that all essential information is put together in a nutshell.
- 10. *Introduction and Rationale*: The purpose of writing the introduction and rationale of the project is to make the readers understand the purpose, the importance, and the usefulness of the research program taken up. In this section, the brief background upon which the project has been conceptualized and the status of the research vis-à-vis the shortcoming of the already taken research program are clearly spelled out. A clear definition or the statement of the problem must be focused with backup from review of literature on recent works done in the area of the proposed research.
- 11. *Objectives*: As has already been mentioned, clear statement of the objective of any research program lays the foundation of the whole program. In writing the objective and specific objective of the program, one should be very careful to state these in a clear-cut and meaningful manner which are operationalized and achieved. The objective of the research program may be hypothesis testing type or otherwise. In research program requiring testing of hypothesis, the hypothesis tested under the given situations must be clearly explained.



- 12. Site of Implementation: Different research programs have got different areas of operation, which vary over the types of research. If a research is to be carried out under laboratory conditions, then the locations and facilities used are required to be mentioned. If a research program is field oriented, survey type, or experimental type, the locations of the experimental fields or the survey fields must clearly be mentioned. But location specifications are not absolutely necessary for all types of research program; these are specially required for field experiment or field research.
- 13. Materials and Methods: Experimental materials and method constitute a very important part of the research report. Synchronization of these two factors is essential for a fruitful research outcome. Absence or fault in any one of these factors is bound to have tremendous impact on the whole research process. A good methodology accompanied by a faulty or bad material is not going to help the researcher in fulfilling the objective of the research program. Similarly, good material with unjustified methodology also results in the same output. In this section the researcher clearly spells out the materials, information and data generated, technique, and field of data collections used in the research program. The researcher also clearly indicates the methodology used in analyzing the information to extract the hidden truth from the data. If the researcher develops some new methods or methodology that also required to be clearly discussed. In fact, the material and methodology section induces the future researchers to take up similar studies in other fields. Various limitations of the materials and method used (if any) are also discussed.
- 14. *Results and Discussion*: Statement of the observations made and findings obtained upon analysis of the information constitute the most vital part of the research report. The presentations of the results and findings generally have two parts: *nontechnical part and technical part*. At the initial stage, the

statement of the observations and findings should be made in such a way that any person, even a nontechnical one, is also able to easily understand the findings of the program. In the second half, the results and findings are to be presented with scientific logic, references, etc., to justify the conclusions that the researcher is going to draw in the next section. To present the findings in a meaningful and lively manner, it should be made in tabular, graphical, pictorial, etc., forms wherever possible along with explanations. The discussion and inference part of the research report should be made unambiguously and in a straightforward manner. Too much generalization of the findings or inferences drawn over ambitiously, not supported by the methodology or analytical tool, may be a drawback of the report. During the end of this section, the researcher should again write the results clearly and precisely followed by implications of each and every result and finding.

- 15. Conclusion and Recommendation: Researches are for the betterment of human life. The conclusion and recommendation part of any research program, therefore, is the most important part of the research report in furthering the betterment of human life. In the conclusion part of the research report, a very brief summary of the research problem vis-à-vis the findings obtained using specific methodologies followed by the recommendations is provided. The policy makers and the executives at the highest levels are more interested on these aspects rather than the whole research report.
- 16. *Future Scope*: A good research program encourages or lays the foundations for many research problems. Moreover, particularly in exploratory type of research, all the aspects may not be covered in a single research program. As such the younger researchers or other researchers look for the avenues and possibilities of newer research programs/

problems from any research report. The future scope of research, in a research report, thus gives birth to many research problems. This also enlightens the researchers about the other possible ways of solving a particular problem.

- 17. Reference/Bibliography: During the entire research process, a researcher needs to survey the literature, may it be printed source, esource and/or other sources. In each and every step, this helps in the efficient execution of the whole research process. So, one section is devoted in noting down the resources used for the purpose under reference or bibliography section. There are different methods of writing the bibliography or reference section. Different organizations have set different standards and types of writing references; unless and otherwise stipulated, the researcher should follow any one of the standard methods. The reference section is very useful for future researchers.
- 18. *Annexure/Appendix*: Starting from the conceptualization of the problem to the ultimate presentation of the research report, a researcher is required to go through a host of essential supporting materials which cannot be provided or mentioned in the text. These supporting materials like questionnaires and schedules are presented in the form of appendix or annexure at the end of the report.

So long we have discussed the presentations of the research report in written/printed form and the steps to be followed in writing the report. But the reader should note that the written form of the report is not the only form of presentation of report. Nowadays, reports are also presented in audio, audiovisual, and other formats. Audio recording for the research report is very much helpful in reaching the research report to the ultimate stakeholders who may be illiterate or sitting at distant places or otherwise. "Seeing is believing"—following this truth, sometimes research reports are presented in audiovisual form like video cassette/documentary film/ movie.





#### 14.2.3 Qualities of a Good Research Report

Depending upon the objective, mandate of the funding agency reports may be of various types. Mainly, reports can be of *technical* and/or *popular type*. Whatever may be the form of the report, a good research report should have certain qualities, and some precautions are required to be taken up during the preparation of the research report. The following are some of the qualities of a good research report:

1. A research report should not be too lengthy

- 2. A research report should not be dull and must be attractive, eye catching, neat, and clean.
- 3. The layout of the research report should be well planned and in accordance with the objective of the study.
- 4. A research report should be written in simple and clear sentences. Crystal clear sentences to the readers should be used.
- 5. A research report should be devoid of any grammatical mistake.
- 6. A research report should be framed like a short story such that the interest of the readers continues till the end of the report.



#### **Suggested Readings**

- Abrams M (1951) Social survey and social action. Heinemann, London
- Ackoff RL (1953) The design of social research. University of Chicago Press, Chicago
- Agarwal BL (2006) Basic statistics. New Age International Publishers, New Delhi
- Aigner DJ (1971) Basic econometrics. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs
- Allen RGD (1951) Statistics for economics. Hutchinson Universal Library, London
- Anderson TW (1958) An introduction to multivariate analysis. Wiley, New York
- Anderson TW (1963) An introduction to multivariate statistical analysis. Wiley, New York
- Annual Report (1994) International Centre for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas (ICARDA), PB 5466, Aleppo, Syria, pp 29–30
- Anonymous (1984) Linear probability, logit and probit models. Sage, Bevery Hills
- Arnold SJ (1979) A test for clusters. J Market Res 16:545–551
- Bailey KD (1978) Methods of social research. The Free Press, London
- Baker LT (1988) Doing social research. McGraw Hill, New York
- Barnett V, Lewis T (1978) Outliers in statistics. Wiley, New York
- Berndt ER (1991) The practice of econometrics: classic and contemporary. Addison and Wesley, Reading
- Bhattacharya GK, Johnson RA (1977) Statistical concepts and methods. Wiley, New York
- Black JA, Champion DJ (1976) Methods and issues in social research. Wiley, New York
- Blackwell D, Girshick MA (1954) Theory of games and statistical decision. Wiley, New York
- Blalock HM (1972) Social statistics. McGraw Hill, New York
- Bridge JI (1971) Applied econometrics. North Holland, Amsterdam
- Broadbeck M (ed) (1968) Readings in the philosophy of science. The McMillan, New York
- Campbell DT, Stanley JC (1963) Experimental and quasi experimental designs for research. Houghton Mifflin, Boston

- Chapin FS (1974) Experimental design in sociological research. Harper, New York
- Chatterji S, Price B (1991) Regression analysis by example. Wiley, New York
- Chiang C (1984) Fundamental methods of mathematical economics, 3rd edn. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Child D (1970) The essentials of factor analysis. Holt, Rinehart and Winston Inc, New York
- Chow GC (1960) Test of equality between sets of coefficient in two linear regressions. Econometrica 28(3):591–605
- Chow GC (1983) Econometric methods. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Christ C (1966) Economic models and methods. Wiley, New York
- Christopher AH (1982) Interpreting and using regression. Sage, Beverly Hills
- Chung KL (1968) A course in probability theory. Harcourt, Brace & World, New York
- Cochran WG (1985) Sampling technique. Wiley Eastern Limited, New Delhi
- Coombs CH (1950) The concepts of reliability and homogeneity. Educ Psychol Meas 10:43–56
- Cronbach LJ (1964) Essentials of psychological testing. Harper and Row, International Education, New York
- Croxton FE, Cowden DJ (1964) Applied general statistics. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs
- D' Amato MR (1970) Experimental psychology: methodology psychophysics and learning. McGraw-Hill Kogakusha Ltd, Tokyo
- Dabholkar AR (1992) Elements of biometrical genetics. Concept Publishing Co, New Delhi
- Darlington RB, Weinberg S, Walberg H (1973) Canonical variate analysis and related techniques. Rev Educ Res 43(3):433–454
- Das SK (1998) An inventory of local flora. Project work submitted to the Indira Gandhi National Open University for Certificate in Environmental Studies, Coochbehar, West Bengal
- Das NG (2002a) Statistical methods, vol 1. M Das and Co, Salt Lake
- Das NG (2002b) Statistical methods, vol 2. M Das and Co, Salt Lake

P.K. Sahu, Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields, DOI 10.1007/978-81-322-1020-7, © Springer India 2013

421

- Das J, Mandal TK, Basu D (1997) Content analysis of farmer education programme in All India Radio, Kolkata. J Educ Rabindra Bharati University 2(1):52–61
- Department of Agricultural Statistics (2002) Manual on computational statistics in agricultural sciences. Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Mohanpur
- Department of Agricultural Statistics (2004) Manual on recent advances in computational statistics in agricultural sciences. Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Mohanpur
- Des Raj, Chandhok P (1999) Sample survey theory. Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi
- Dey PK (1968) Relative effectiveness of radio and television as mass communication media in dissemination of agricultural information. M. Sc. thesis, Division of Agricultural Extension, Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi
- Dillon WR, Goldstein M (1984) Multivariate analysis: methods and applications. Wiley, New York
- Dixon WJ, Massey FJ (1957) Introduction to statistical analysis. McGraw-Hill Book Company Inc, New York
- Doby JT, Suchman EA, Mckineey JC, Dean JP (eds) (1954) An introduction to social research. Stackpole, Harrisburg
- Draper NR, Smith H (2003) Applied regression analysis, 3rd edn. Wiley, New York
- Durbin J (1960) Estimation of parameters in time series regression model. J R Stat Soc Ser B 22:139–153
- Dutta M (1975) Econometric methods. South Western Publishing Company, Cincinnati
- Eberhart SA, Russell WL (1966) Stability parameters for comparing varieties. Crop Sci 6:36–40
- Edwards AL (1969) Techniques of attitude scale construction. Vakils, Feffer and Simons Private Ltd, Mumbai
- Eide WB (1992) Nutrition research in developing countries- 'Data Imperialism'- or a tool in the fight against hunger and malnutrition. Paper for 5th Nordic Congress of Nutrition, Reykjavik, Iceland, 14–17 June
- Engelman L, Hartigan JA (1969) Percentage points of a test for clusters. J Am Stat Assoc 64:1647–1648
- English HB, English AC (1961) A comprehensive dictionary of psychological and psychoanalytical terms. Longman Green and Co, New York
- Epstein I, Tripodi T (1974) Research techniques for program planning, monitoring and evaluation. Columbia University Program, New York
- Everitt B (1980) Cluster analysis. Wiley, New York
- Ezekiel M, Fox KA (1959) Methods of correlation and regression analysis. Wiley, New York
- Farrar DE, Glauber RR (1967) Multicollinearity in regression analysis: the problem revisited. Rev Econ Stat 49:92–107
- Feller W (1968) An introduction to probability theory and its applications, vol I, 3rd edn. Wiley, New York
- Feller W (1971) An introduction to probability theory and its applications, vol II, 2nd edn. Wiley, New York
- Ferguson TS (1967) Mathematical statistics. Academic, New York

أسم إلم للاستشارات

- Festinger L, Katz D (eds) (1953) Research methods in behavioural sciences. Holt, Rinehart and Winston Inc, New York
- Finley KW, Wilkinson GM (1963) The analysis of adaptation in plant breeding programme. Aust J Agric Res 14:742–757
- Finney DJ (1981) Probit analysis. S Chand and Company Ltd, New Delhi
- Fisher RA, Frank Y (1979) Statistical tables for biological, agricultural and medical research. Longman, London
- Fisz M (1963) Probability theory and mathematical statistics, 3rd edn. Wiley, New York
- Flanagan JC (1953) The critical incident technique. American Institute for Research, Pittsburgh
- Flesch R (1960) How to write, speak and think more effectively. Harper and Row Publishers, New York
- Food and Agriculture Organization (1990) Participatory monitoring and evaluation: handbook for training field workers. FAO, Bangkok
- Fox K (1968) Intermediate economic statistics. Wiley, New York
- Fraser DAS (1965) Nonparametric methods in statistics. Wiley, New York
- Freeman FS (1965) Theory and practice of psychological testing. Oxford and IBH Publishing Company Pvt Ltd, New Delhi
- Freund JE (1992) Mathematical statistics. Prentice-Hall of India, New Delhi
- Galtung J (1970) Theory and methods of social research. George Allen and Unwin, London
- Gambhir GD (1979) Labour in small scale industries. Nagpur University, Nagpur
- Gangwar B, Katyal V, Anand KV (2003) Productivity, stability and efficiency of different cropping sequences in Maharashtra. Indian J Agri Sci 73 (9):471–477
- Garrett HE (1979) Statistics in psychology and education. Vakils, Feffer and Simons Ltd, Mumbai
- Gibbons JD (1971) Nonparametric inference. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Gibbons JD, Chakrabarty S (1985) Nonparametric methods for quantitative analysis. American Sciences Press, New York
- Giles WJ, Hatt PK (1981) Methods in social research. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Singapore
- Glejser H (1969) A new test for heteroscedasticity. J Am Stat Assoc 64:316–323
- Goldberg S (1960) Probability, an introduction. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs
- Goldberger AS (1964) Econometric theory. Wiley, New York
- Goldfield SM, Quandt RE (1972) Nonlinear methods in econometrics. North Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam
- Goode WJ, Hatt PK (1952) Methods of social research. McGraw Hill, New York
- Goon AM, Gupta MK, Dasgupta B (1998a) Fundamentals of statistics, vol 1. World Press, Kolkata

- Goon AM, Gupta MK, Dasgupta B (1998b) Fundamentals of statistics, vol 2. World Press, Kolkata
- Goon AM, Gupta MK, Dasgupta B (1998c) Outline of statistics, vol 1. World Press, Kolkata
- Goon AM, Gupta MK, Dasgupta B (1998d) Outline of statistics, vol 2. World Press, Kolkata
- Gorsuch RL (1983) Factor analysis. Erlbaum, Hillsdale
- Granger CWJ (1969) Investigating causal relations by econometric models and cross-spectral methods. Econometrica 37(3):424–438
- Granger CWJ, Mowbold P (1976) R<sup>2</sup> and the transformation of regression variables. J Econom 4:205–210
- Graybill FA (1961) Introduction to linear statistical models, vol 1. Mc-Graw Hill Inc, New York
- Guilford JP (1954) Psychometric methods. McGraw-Hill Book Company Inc, New York
- Gujarati DN (1995) Basic econometrics. McGraw-Hill, Inc, Singapore
- Gunning R (1952) The technique of clear writing. McGraw-Hill Book Co Inc, New York
- Gupta SC (2001) Fundamentals of statistics. Himalaya Publishing House, Mumbai
- Gupta SC, Kapoor VK (2002) Fundamentals of mathematical statistics. Sultan Chand and Sons, New Delhi
- Gupta SC, Kapoor VK (2004) Fundamentals of applied statistics. Sultan Chand and Sons, New Delhi
- Haque A (1981) Study of some factors related to the adoption of recommended species of fish in composite fish culture. PhD thesis, Department of Agricultural Extension, Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya, West Bengal
- Harman HH (1976) Modern factor analysis. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago
- Hartigan JA (1975) Clustering algorithm. Wiley, New York
- Hogg RV, Craig AT (1972) Introduction to mathematical statistics. Amerind, New Delhi
- Hollander M, Wolfe DA (1973) Nonparametric statistical methods. Wiley, New York
- Holsti OR, Loomba JK, North RC (1968) Content analysis. In: Lindzey G, Aronson E (eds) The handbook of social psychology, vol 2. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company Inc, Reading
- House ER (1980) Evaluating with validity. Sage, Beverly Hills
- Johnston J (1985) Econometric methods. Mcgraw-Hill Book Company, Singapore
- Kaiser HF (1958) The varimax criterion for analytic rotation in factor analysis. Psychometrika 23:187–200
- Kane EJ (1968) Economic statistics and econometrics. Harper International, New York
- Kaplan A, Goldsem JM (1949) The reliability of content analysis categories. In: Lasswell H et al (eds) The language of politics: studies in quantitative semantics. George steward, New York
- Kapoor JN, Saxena HC (1973) Mathematical statistics. S Chand and Co (Pvt) Ltd, New Delhi
- Katyal V, Sharma SK, Gangwar KS (1998) Stability analysis of rice (*Oryza sativa*)- wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) cropping system in integrated nutrient management. Indian J Agric Sci 68(2):513–516



- Katyal V, Gangwar KS, Gangwar B (2000) Yield stability in rice (*Oryza sativa*)- wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) system under long term fertilizer use. Indian J Agric Sci 70(5):277–281
- Katz D (1953) Field studies. In: Festinger L, Katz D (eds) Research methods in the behavioural sciences. Holt, Rinehart and Winston Inc, New York
- Kaufman R, Thomas S (1980) Evaluation without fear. New Viewpoints, New York
- Kendall MG (1962) Rank correlation methods, 3rd edn. Griffin, London
- Kendall MG, Stuart A (1968) The advance theory of statistics, vol 3, 2nd edn. Charles Griffin and Company Limited, London
- Kendall M, Stuart A (1973) The advance theory of statistics, vol 2. Charles Griffin and Co. Ltd, London
- Kendall M, Stuart A (1977) The advance theory of statistics, vol 1. Charles Griffin and Co. Ltd, London
- Kerlinger FN (1973) Foundations of behavioural research. Holt, Rinehart and Winston Inc, New York
- Khanna KP, Mathew M (1979) Women workers in unorganised sector of coir industries in India. I.C.S.S.R. research abstract
- Khaparde MS (1998) Action research process. National Council of Educational Research and Training, New Delhi
- Kidder LH (1981) Research methods in social relations. Holt, New York
- Klien LR (1962) An introduction to econometrics. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs
- Klien LR, Shinkai Y (1963) An econometric model of Japan, 1930–1959. Int Econ Rev 4:1–28
- Kmenta J (1986) Elements of econometrics, 2nd edn. Macmillan, New York
- Kochar VK (1970) Strategy and framework for ethnographic research in India. In: Sinha SC (ed) Research programmes on cultural anthropology and allied disciplines. Anthropological Survey of India, Kolkata
- Kolmogorov AN, Fomin SV (1961) Elements of the theory of functions and functional analysis, vol 2. Graylock Press, Albany
- Koontz H, Weihrich H (1988) Management. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York
- Kothari CR (1996) Research methodology: methods and techniques. Wishwa Prakasam, New Delhi
- Koul L (1998) Research methodology: methods and techniques. Wishwa Prakashan, New Delhi
- Koutsoyiannis A (1977) Theory of econometrics. Macmillan Press Ltd, London
- Kraft CH, Eeden CV (1968) A nonparametric introduction to statistics. Macmillan, New York
- Kramer JS (1991) The logit model for economists. Edward Arnold publishers, London
- Krejcie M (1970) Determining Sample Size for Research Activities. Educ Psychol Meas 30:607–610
- Kumar Somesh (2002) Methods for community participation: a complete guide for practitioners. Vistaar Publications, New Delhi
- Kvalseth TO (1985) Cautionary note about R<sup>2</sup>. Am Stat 39:279–285

- Lal Das DK (2000) Practice of social research: social work perspective. Rawat Publications, Jaipur
- Lee KL (1979) Multivariate tests for clusters. J Am Stat Assoc 74:708–714
- Lehmann EL (1959) Testing statistical hypotheses. Wiley, New York
- Leser C (1966) Econometric techniques and problems. Griffin, London
- Li C (1958) Population genetics. The University of Chicago press, Chicago
- Lindgren BW (1968) Statistical theory, 2nd edn. The Macmillan Company, New York
- Lindquist EF (ed) (1951) Educational measurement. American council of education, Washington
- Loeve M (1963) Probability theory, 3rd edn. Van Nostrand, Princeton
- Lundberg GA (1946) Social research. Longman, New York
- Lush JL (1943) Animal breeding plans. Iowa State College Press, Ames
- Madala GS (1983) Limited dependent and qualitative variables in econometrics. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Maddaka GS (1983) Limited dependent and qualitative variables in econometrics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Madnani JMK (1988) Introduction to econometrics: principles and applications, 4th edn. Oxford and IBH Publishing Company Pvt Ltd, Calcutta
- Mahajan SL (1998) Postgraduate diploma in future studies (PGDFS) course at India Gandhi National Open University (IGNOU) Level (Development of Curriculum Outline through Delphi Method). Indian Psychol Rev 51 (Special Issue):261–271
- McClain JO, Rao VR (1975) CLUSTSIZ: a programme to test for the quality of clustering of a set of objects. J Market Res 12:456–460
- Mehta P (1958) A study of communication of agricultural information and the extent of distortion occurring from district to village level workers in selected IADP districts. PhD thesis, The University of Udaipur, Rajasthan
- Mikkelsen B (1995) Methods for development work and research: a guide for practitioners. Sage, New Delhi
- Mill JS (1930) A system of logic, 8th edn. Longmans, New York
- Millers DC (1964) Handbook of research design and social measurement. David Mckey Co, New York
- Mohsin SM (1984) Research methods in behavioural sciences. Orient and Longman Limited, Calcutta
- Monete DR et al (1986) Applied social research: tool for the human services. Holt, Chicago
- Montgomery D, Elizabeth P (1982) Introduction to linear regression analysis. Wiley, New York
- Monthly Public Opinion surveys (1981) A readership study in metropolitan cities: May 1981. 22(2)
- Monthly Public Opinion surveys (1983) Radio and television audience surveys. 28(9)
- Monthly Public Opinion surveys (1986) An assessment of preferences of viewers of advertisements and sponsored programmes on Doordarshan, 31(5 and 6)



- Mood AM, Graybill FA, Boes DC (1974) Introduction to the theory of statistics. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Morrison DF (1990) Multivariate statistical methods. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Moser CA, Kalton G (1950) Survey methods in social investigation. Heinemann Educational Books Harper and Brothers, London
- Moulik TK (1965) A study of the predictive values of some factors of adoption of nitrogenous fertilisers and the influence of sources of information on adoption behaviour. PhD thesis, Division of Agricultural Extension, Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi
- Mulay S, Sabarathanam VE (1980) Research methods in extension education. Manasayan, New Delhi
- Nachmias D, Nachmias C (1981) Research methods in the social sciences. St. Martina Press, New York
- Nanjappa D, Ganapathy KR (1987) Content analysis of agricultural information in selected Kannada dailies. Indian J Ext Educ 23(1 and 2):20–23
- Narain P, Soni PN, Pandey AK (1990) Economics of long-term fertilizer use and yield sustainability: soil fertility and fertilizer use. Vol. IV nutrient management and supply system for sustaining in agriculture. Indian Farmers Fertilizers Co-operative Limited. Agricultural Services Department, Marketing Division, New Delhi
- Osgood CE, George JS, Percly HT (1957) The measurement of meaning. University of Illinois Press, Urbaba
- Pal Satyabrata, Sahu PK (2007) On assessment of sustainability of crops and cropping system – some new measures. J Sustain Agric 31(3):43–54
- Panse VG, Sukhatme PV (1967) Statistical methods for agricultural workers. Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi
- Pareek U, Trivedi G (1964) Manual of the socioeconomic status scale (rural). Manasayan, Delhi
- Park RE (1966) Estimation with heteroscedastic error terms. Econometrica 34(4):888
- Parzen E (1972) Modern probability theory and its applications. Wiley Eastern, New Delhi
- Patel V (1982) "Women and work" (mimeographed). SNDT Women's University, Mumbai
- Patton MQ (1980) Qualitative evaluation and research methods, 2nd edn. Sage, New Delhi
- Patton MQ (1982) Qualitative evaluation methods. Sage, London
- Perry NC, Michael WB (1951) The estimation of a phicoefficient. Educ Psychol Meas 11:629–638
- Pfohl J (1986) Participatory evaluation: a users guide. PACT, New York
- Posova EJ, Carey RG (1985) Programme evaluation methods and case studies. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs
- Prajneshu (1998) A non-linear statistical model for aphid population growth. J Indian Soc Agric Stat 51:73–80
- Prajneshu (2007) Non-linear statistical models and their applications to crops, pests and fisheries. In: A diagnostic study of design and analysis of field experiments. IASRI, New Delhi

- Punch KF (1998) Introduction to social research. Sage, New Delhi
- Radhakrishna RB, Bowen BE (1991) Agricultural extension problems: perceptions of extension Directors. Indian J Ext Educ 27(3 and 4):7–15
- Raifa H, Schlaifer R (1961) Applied statistical decision theory. Division of Research, Harvard Business School, Harvard University, Boston
- Ramachandran P (1968) Social work research and statistics. In: History and philosophy of social work in India. Allied Publishers, Bombay
- Rangaswamy R (2000) A text book of agricultural statistics. New Age International (P) Limited, Publishers, New Delhi
- Rao CR (1952) Advanced statistical methods in biometric research. Wiley, New York
- Rao CR (1968) Linear statistical inference and its application. Wiley, London
- Rao MP (1998) Scientific literacy-its impact on neoliterates. Indian J Adult Educ 59(1):10–15
- Ray GL (1967) A study of agricultural and sociological factors as related to high and low levels of urbanisation of farmers. PhD thesis, Division of Agricultural Extension, Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi
- Ray GL (2003) Extension communication and management. Kalyani Publishers, Ludhiana
- Roethlisberger FJ, Dickson WJ (1939) Management and the worker. Harvard University Press, Cambridge
- Rogers EM (1995) Diffusion of innovations. The Free Press, New York
- Rosenberg M (1968) The logic of survey analysis. Basic Books, New York
- Rossi P, Freeman H (1982) Evaluation: a systematic approach. Sage, Beverly Hills
- Rubin A, Babbie E (1989) Research methods for social work. Belmont, California
- Ruttman L (ed) (1977) Evaluation research methods: a basic guide. Sage, Beverly Hills
- Sagar RL (1983) Study of agro-economic, sociopsychological and extension- communication variables related with the farmers productivity of major field crops in Haringhata Block. PhD thesis, Department of Agricultural Extension, Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya, West Bengal
- Sahu PK (2007) Agriculture and applied statistics –I, Kalyani Publisher, Ludhiana, India
- Sahu PK, Das AK (2009) Agriculture and applied statistics –II, Kalyani Publisher, Ludhiana, India
- Sahu PK, Kundu AL, Mani PK, Pramanick M (2005) Sustainability of different nutrient combinations in a long term rice-wheat cropping system. J New Seeds 7(3):91–101
- Scheffe H (1959) The analysis of variance. Wiley, New York
- Scheirer MA (1980) Programme evaluation: the organizational context. Sage, Beverly Hills
- Seber GAF, Wild CJ (1989) Nonlinear regression. Wiley, New York
- Sellitz G et al (1973) Research methods in social relations, 3rd edn. Holt, Rinehart and Winston Inc, New York



- Selltiz C, Wrightsman LS, Cook SW (1976) Research methods in social relations. Holt, Rinehart and Winston Inc, New York
- Sen Gupta T (1966) Developing job-chart and a rating scale for measuring effectiveness of village level workers in the intensive agricultural district programme. PhD thesis, Division of Agricultural Extension, Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi
- Shah VF (1977) Research design. Rachna Prakashan, Ahmadabad
- Sharma JC (1974) Measurement of social concepts: indicators and indexes. Indian J Soc Work 34 (4):359–366
- Sharma DD (1998a) Marketing research-principles, applications and cases. Sultan Chand and Sons, New Delhi
- Sharma JR (1998b) Statistical and biometrical techniques in plant breeding. New Age International Publishers, New Delhi
- Shaughnessy JJ, Zechmeister EB (1950) Research methods in psychology. McGraw-Hill Publishing Company, New York
- Shenoy GV, Pant M (1994) Statistical methods in business and social sciences. Macmillan India Limited, New Delhi
- Siddaramaiah BS, Jalihal KA (1982) An experimental study of one-sided and two-sided presentation of messages with advance organisers. Indian J Ext Educ 18(1 and 2):45–50
- Siegal S (1956) Nonparametric statistics for the behavioural sciences. McGraw-Hill Book Company Inc, New York
- Singh SN (1969) A study on adoption of high yielding varieties and investment pattern of additional income by the farmers of Delhi Territory. PhD thesis, Division of Agricultural Extension, Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi
- Singh AK (1981) Study of some agro-economic sociopsychological and extension-communication variables related with the level of fertiliser use of the farmers. PhD thesis, Department of Agricultural Extension, Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya, West Bengal
- Singh Daroga, Chaudhary FS (1989) Theory and analysis of sample survey designs. Wiley Eastern Limited, New Delhi
- Singh RK, Chaudhary BD (1995) Biometrical methods in quantitative genetic analysis. Kalyani Publishers, Ludhiana
- Sinha AKP, Upadhyaya OP (1962) Eleven ethnic groups on a social distance scale. J Soc Psychol 57:49–54
- Sjoberg G, Nett B (1968) A methodology of social research. Harper & Row, New York
- Slessinger D, Stevenson M (1930) Social research, in encyclopaedia of the social science, vol 9. The MacMillan Company, New York
- Sneath P (1957) The application of computers to taxonomy. J Gen Microbiol 17:201–226
- Snedecor GW, Cochran WG (1967) Statistical methods. Iowa State University Press, Ames
- Sokal RR, Sneath PHA (1963) Principles of numerical taxonomy. Freeman, London
- Soni PN, Sikarwar HS, Moheta DK (1988) Long term effects of fertilizer application on productivity in rice-wheat sequence. Indian J Agron 33:167–173
- Spicer EH (ed) (1952) Human problems in technological change: a casebook. Wiley, New York
- Spiegel MR (1988) Theory and problems of statistics. McGraw-Hill Book Co, Singapore
- Sproull NL (1988) Handbook of research methods; a guide for practitioners and students in the social sciences. The Scarecrow Press Inc, Metuchen
- Stouffer SA (1962) Social research to test ideas. Free Press of Glencoe, New York
- Sulaiman VR, Sadamate VV (2000) Privatising agricultural extension in India. Policy paper 10. National Centre for Agricultural Economics and Policy Research, New Delhi
- Theil H (1970) On the relationships involving qualitative variables. Am J Sociol 76:103–154
- Theil H (1972) Principles of econometrics. North Holland, Amsterdam
- Theil H (1978) Introduction to econometrics. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs
- Theis J, Grady HM (1991) Participatory rapid appraisal for community development: a training manual based on experience in the Middle East and North Africa. International Institute for Environment and Development and Save the Children Federation, London
- Thomas PT (1977) Social research. In: Encyclopaedia of social work India. Government of India, New Delhi
- Thompson WA Jr (1969) Applied probability. Holt, Rinehart and Winston Inc. New York
- Thurstone LL (1946) Comment. Am J Sociol 52:39
- Tintner G (1965) Econometrics. Wiley, New York

- Tuckman BW (1978) Conducting educational research. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Inc, New York
- UNICEF (1990) Strategy for improved nutrition of children and women in developing countries. A UNICEF policy review. UNICEF, New York
- Walker HM, Lev J (1965) Statistical inference. Oxford and IBH Publishing Company Pvt Ltd, Calcutta
- Ward J (1963) Hierarchical grouping to optimize an objective function. J Am Stat Assoc 58:236–244
- Watson G (1987) Writing a thesis: a guide to long essays and dissertations. Longman Inc, New York
- White H (1980) A heterosedasticity consistent covariance matrix estimator and direct test of heterosedasticity. Econometrica 48:817–898
- Wilkinson TS, Bhandarkar PL (1977) Methodology and techniques of social research. Himalaya, Bombay
- Wilks SS (1962) Mathematical statistics. Wiley, New York
- Wimmer RD, Dominick JR (2000) Mass media research: an introduction. Wadsworth Publishing Company, New York
- Wolfe JH (1970) Pattern of clustering by multivariate mixture analysis. Multivar Behav Res 5:329–350
- Yamane T (1970) Statistics. Harper International, New York
- Yang WY (1980) Methods of farm management investigation. FAO Agricultural Development Paper No. 80. FAO, Rome
- Yin RK (1984) Case study research: design and methods. Applied social research methods series, vol 5. Sage, Beverly Hills
- Young PV (1996) Scientific social surveys and research. Prentice-Hall of India Pvt. Ltd, New Delhi
- Yule GU, Kendall MG (1950) Introduction to the theory of statistics. Charles Griffin, London
- Zacks S (1971) The theory of statistical inference. Wiley, New York

# Index

#### A

Absolute, 40, 41, 98–100, 136, 139, 219, 236, 373, 378

- Absolute experiment, 4
- Abstract indicators, 42
- Accuracy, 1, 3, 7, 33, 39, 47, 56, 64, 72, 73, 77, 397, 407
- Acknowledge, 20, 415, 416
- Ad, 413, 416

Abscissas, 85

- Adaptability, 315
- Additive, 152, 190, 191, 205, 217, 228, 284
- Additive effects, 303
- Additivity, 152, 190, 191, 205, 217, 228, 284, 303
- Adjusted treatment, 288, 289
- Alteration, 415
- Alternative hypothesis, 17, 132, 133, 137–140, 143, 146–148, 152, 170, 171, 173, 191, 217
- Analysis of covariance, 30, 283-290, 295
- Analysis of variance, 30, 31, 158, 165, 189–284, 289, 291–293, 326, 379, 408, 409
- Analytical, 3–7, 17, 19, 25, 70, 325, 397, 403, 408, 413, 415, 418
- Angular transformation, 211–215
- ANOVA, 89, 189–215, 217, 218, 220, 224, 229, 231, 235, 237, 243, 245, 250, 257, 260, 264, 271, 274, 289, 292, 293, 317, 318, 331, 335–337, 341, 379, 407 Antilog, 91, 206 Appreciation, 70, 416
- Appropriate, 3, 6, 8, 16, 28, 29, 38, 41, 48, 55, 72–73, 97, 106, 108, 109, 112, 121, 133–135, 141, 145, 147, 148, 166, 167, 194, 195, 197, 199, 200, 204, 206, 209, 216, 228, 230, 234, 242, 246, 249, 253, 259, 261, 262, 270, 274, 275, 286, 290, 292, 325, 330, 338, 339, 347, 348, 358–361, 367, 368, 377, 378, 380, 384, 396, 405–407, 411, 412, 414 Arcsin transformation, 211 Assertion, 17, 28, 132 Assumptions, 3, 24, 30, 158, 162, 172, 190, 200, 205–215,
- 217, 228, 284, 354
- Assumptions in analysis of variance, 190 Asymmetrical factorial experiment, 33, 249, 253
- Asymmetry, 87, 89
- Atomic spectroscopy, 395
- Atomization, 395
- Attribute, 36, 43, 48, 58, 89, 123–125, 149, 154–158 Autoclave, 395, 396, 405
- Auxiliary, 56, 57, 63, 283

Average, 4, 21, 22, 43, 44, 46, 81, 89, 90, 93, 97, 98, 100, 126, 135–137, 145, 146, 163–165, 203, 205–211, 213, 214, 219, 224, 236, 237, 243, 244, 249, 250,255, 256, 262–264, 272, 273, 286, 298, 316, 317, 319–323, 365, 378–380

#### B

- Bartlett's test, 150, 190
- Belt drive, 394
- Bias, 26-30, 44, 47, 60, 64, 241, 242, 245
- Biased estimator, 50, 55, 56, 59, 135, 148
- Biased sample, 46
- Binomial probabilities, 159, 188
- Bivariate analysis, 325
- Bivariate normal population, 134
- Block, 30–32, 56, 57, 59, 83, 84, 228–234, 241, 246, 249, 253, 258–283, 378, 405, 408, 409 BOD incubator, 393
- Broad sense heritability, 290, 291, 297–299
- Budgetary, 413

# С

Canonical analysis, 89, 326, 349-354 Caption. 82 Cattell scree test, 355 Cause, 6, 9, 10, 41, 66, 67, 126, 213, 303, 306, 345, 346, 394,406 Census method, 45, 46 Central tendency, 44, 87, 89-98, 101, 103 Centroid linkage, 379 Change of origin, 99, 113, 123, 126, 127, 213-215 Change of scale, 99, 127, 213 Chatting, 64, 67 Chebychev's distance, 378 Chronology, 67, 414 Cluster analysis, 89, 326, 377-388 Clustered, 83, 84 Clustering, 57, 377-380 Coefficient of variation (CV), 46, 47, 98, 101, 215, 290, 298, 299 Co-heritability, 290, 299 Common factor analysis, 355 Communality, 355 Comparative experiment, 4 Comparison of means, 215-217 Complete linkage, 379

P.K. Sahu, Research Methodology: A Guide for Researchers in Agricultural Science, Social Science and Other Related Fields, DOI 10.1007/978-81-322-1020-7, © Springer India 2013 Completely randomized design (CRD), 30–32, 217–227, 241, 248, 253 Composite hypothesis, 132 Concomitant variables, 283 Confidence interval, 131 Consistency, 7, 9, 26, 28, 77, 315, 415 Constants, 35, 90, 93, 99, 100, 113, 123, 126, 190 Construct validity, 42 Contamination, 391, 402, 405 Content validity, 42 Continuous, 12, 36, 39, 80-83, 93, 98, 162, 169, 170, 172, 394 Contrast, 27, 131 Convenience, 42, 80, 258, 264, 326 Convincing, 82, 98 Correction factor (CF), 51, 81, 94–96, 168, 192, 196, 197, 201, 202, 218, 219, 224, 229, 231, 235, 237, 242, 245, 247, 249, 250, 255, 256, 260, 262, 263, 269, 270, 272, 273, 292, 294 Correlation, 6, 42, 89, 112-127, 130, 134, 141-144, 168, 181, 289–291, 295–297, 301–311, 315, 326–332, 334, 346-356, 371-373 Covariance, 30, 119, 127, 128, 283-302, 304, 305, 308, 365 CRD. See Completely randomized design (CRD) Criteria validity, 42 Critical difference (CD), 193, 195, 198, 200, 203, 205, 212, 216, 219, 220, 225, 230, 231, 237, 243, 245, 246, 248, 261, 264, 274, 275 Critical region, 132-134, 159, 170 Cumulative, 51, 81, 85, 86, 94-96, 159, 162, 172, 173, 180, 188, 362, 372, 380 Customary, 101, 299 D D.C motor drives, 394 Degrees of freedom, 133, 135, 136, 139, 151, 152, 166, 216, 217, 219, 236, 242, 243, 260, 261, 270, 271, 274, 290, 408, 409 Dendrogram, 380-388

- Dependent variable, 36-39, 126-127, 189, 283, 302-305, 325-327, 331, 332, 340, 345, 348-350
- Deviation, 98-101, 145-148, 162, 190, 215, 289, 303, 316, 319-323, 326, 368, 369
- Diagnostics, 12
- Diagrammatic, 82, 85
- Dialectical, 6, 11
- Digital colony counter, 394
- Digital pH meters, 391
- Dimensionality, 43
- Direct effect, 303, 306-308, 314
- Discrete, 38, 39, 77, 80-83, 93
- Discrete variable, 36, 98
- Discriminant analysis, 89, 325, 364-377
- Disguised observation, 64
- Dispersion, 41, 87, 89, 97-101, 104, 365 Distance matrix, 377, 382, 383, 388
- Distance measure, 377-379, 386
- Distribution free, 158



DMRT. See Duncan multiple range test (DMRT) Dummy variable, 36, 38 Duncan multiple range test (DMRT), 216, 217

#### Е

Eberhart and Russell model, 315-319 Ecovalence, 42 Editing, 60, 75, 77 Effect, 4, 6, 10, 12, 29, 30, 32, 38, 41, 44, 71, 121, 126, 141, 142, 144, 158, 169, 190-192, 195, 197, 198, 200, 202, 203, 205, 206, 208, 212, 213, 216, 217, 219, 224, 228, 230, 231, 234, 236, 237, 241-251, 253, 255, 257-259, 261-265, 268, 270, 271, 274, 283, 284, 286, 292, 293, 297, 302, 303, 306–308, 314, 315, 345-347, 354 Efficiency, 55, 58-60, 70, 189 Efficient estimator, 52 Eigen value, 350, 355, 362, 372 Electrode, 390-392 Endogenous variables, 302 Environmental correlation, 290, 297 Environmental covariance, 290, 295 Environmental effects, 293 Environmental index, 316 Error mean square, 151, 215, 217 Error of leniency, 44 Estimate, 7, 42, 47, 48, 57-59, 126, 127, 131, 143, 149, 151, 201, 215, 235, 241–245, 261, 263, 270, 274, 284, 289, 298, 299, 316, 331, 340, 350, 354, 355, 364 Estimation, 30, 47, 56, 57, 60, 89, 131-132, 158, 289, 364 Estimator, 46-48, 50, 52, 55-59, 135, 148, 161, 327 Euclidean distance, 378 Exclusive, 11, 15, 21, 36, 39, 80, 153, 364, 380 Exhaustive, 2, 15, 21, 36, 72, 73, 79, 134, 382, 389, 405, 407 Exogenous, 4 Exogenous variables, 302 Experiment, 3, 4, 9, 11, 25, 30-33, 39, 57, 63, 151, 152, 195, 200, 206, 215–217, 219, 230, 234, 236, 242, 246–259, 261, 262, 264, 271, 283, 306, 320, 407, 417 Experimental error, 30, 31, 205, 215, 234 Experimental units, 30, 31, 215, 217, 228, 234, 241, 253, 259.394 Experimenter, 2, 4, 8, 29-32, 246, 331 Explanatory, 6, 10, 36, 37, 126, 332, 354, 416 F

Factor analysis, 326, 354-363 scores, 355, 361 Factorial comparison, 215 Factorial design, 249, 253, 259 Factorial experiment, 32-33, 246-259 2<sup>2</sup> Factorial experiment, 32, 251–253, 255 2<sup>3</sup> Factorial experiment, 32, 53, 255 2<sup>n</sup> Factorial experiment, 253, 255 Fermentation studies, 393 Finite population, 49, 51

Fisher-t statistic, 139, 365 Fixed effect model, 190, 192, 195, 219 Flame photometer, 395 Free hand curve, 85 Frequency, 40, 79, 153, 395 *F*-test, 139, 215, 216, 261, 270, 274, 316

#### G

Garbage in garbage out (GIGO), 19, 407 GCV. *See* Genotypic coefficient of variation (GCV) Genetic advance, 290, 299, 301, 302 Genetic gain, 290, 299 Genotypic coefficient of variation (GCV), 290, 291, 297–299 Genotypic correlation, 289, 297, 301 Glare-free illumination, 394 Glyph and metroglyph, 379–380 Gradient, 228 Gradient blocking, 228 Group comparison, 215

#### H

Hartley test, 190 Heritability, 289, 290, 297 Heterogeneity, 31, 52, 151, 152, 234 Hierarchical technique, 378–379 Historigram, 82–85 Holtzman inkblot, 70 Homogeneity, 30, 32, 149, 172, 190, 259 Homogeneity of variance, 150, 152 Homogeneous, 11, 30, 31, 55, 121, 153, 217, 228, 364, 377 Homoscedastic, 190 Hotelling's T<sup>2</sup> statistic, 365 Hypothesis, 3, 15, 21, 25, 39, 131–188, 191, 285, 365, 407, 412

#### I

🖌 للاستشار

ICARDA, 320 Inclusive, 80 Incomplete block design, 258-282 Index number, 92, 93 Indirect assay, 65, 69 Indirect effect, 297, 302, 303, 306-308, 315 Inference, 3–7, 18, 25, 33, 45, 46, 48, 131–133, 139, 140, 165, 189, 206, 208, 211, 317, 319, 323, 414, 415, 418 Inferential, 4, 89 Infinite population, 45, 46 Inflation, 413 Influenced, 1, 36, 37, 73, 89, 92, 112, 302 Innovation index, 97, 325, 349 Instrument(s), 7, 15, 18, 26, 28, 41, 42, 71, 73, 124, 389-406 Instrumental or laboratory safety, 405-406 Interaction effect, 32, 158, 195, 200, 202, 205, 246-251, 253, 255, 257–259, 261, 262, 264, 265, 268, 271, 315 Interdependence method, 325 Interval estimation, 131–132

Interval scale, 40–41, 43, 44 Interview method, 64–68

#### K

Kendall's coefficient, 168–169, 188 Kiser criterion, 355 *K*-means clustering technique, 379 Kolmogorov-Smirnov one sample test, 162–163 Kruskal-Wallis test, 165–167 Kurtosis, 97–112

#### L

Laminar air flows, 392 Large sample, 46, 57, 144-158, 162, 172, 184, 350 Latin square, 31, 234, 243 Latin square design (LSD), 30-32, 234-240, 243, 244, 248, 253, 258, 261, 263, 264, 270, 271 Layout, 31, 32, 230, 236, 242, 244, 259, 268, 283, 414, 415, 419 LDA. See Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) Level, 6, 17, 22, 29, 35, 47, 72, 89, 132, 189, 290, 331, 391, 416 Level of significance, 132-136, 138-140, 142, 143, 145-149, 151-154, 156-159, 161, 163-167, 170, 173, 178-179, 188, 190-193, 196, 198, 201, 202, 205, 207, 208, 210, 212, 216, 218, 219, 224, 228, 230, 236, 242-244, 247, 249, 250, 255, 257, 260, 262, 263, 269, 272, 292, 332 Life sciences, 5, 393, 397, 400 Linear combination, 189, 349, 350, 356, 364 Linear discriminant analysis (LDA), 364 Linearity, 123, 321 Local control, 30, 31, 217 Logarithmic transformation, 206–208 Longitudinal, 6, 9 LSD. See Latin square design (LSD)

### Μ

Main effect, 248, 257 Manhattan distance measure, 378 Mann-Whitney U-test, 164-165 McNemar test, 167-168 Mean comparison, 200, 264 Mean squared error (MSE), 46, 48, 289 Median, 40, 89, 94-99, 101, 111, 159, 160, 163, 170-172, 322, 323 Median test, 163-164 Mendel's, 152, 153 Mesokurtic, 101, 103, 104 Microbiological, 393 Minkowski measure, 378 Minkowski's distance, 378 Missing plot technique, 241-246 Mixed effect model, 190 Model, 4, 8, 9, 37, 38, 158, 189-190, 197, 200, 202, 206, 217, 224, 228, 230, 234, 236, 242, 244, 246, 249, 253, 259, 262, 268, 271, 283-286, 292, 305, 315-319, 331, 332, 337, 338, 340-345 Monohybrid, 152

Motivation index, 124, 125, 349

Moving, 51, 68, 390 MSE. *See* Mean squared error (MSE) Multicollinearity, 354 Multi-locational, 315 Multiple correlation coefficient, 143–144, 327 Multiple discriminant analysis, 325 Multivariate analyses, 87, 89, 130, 325–388 Mutually orthogonal contrast, 350 *m x n* Factorial experiment, 246–253, 259

#### Ν

Newman-Kuels test, 216 Nominal scale, 40, 158 Non-assignable parts, 189 Non-heritable components, 289 Nonlinear, 121, 126 Non-parametric test, 132, 149, 158–173 Non probability sampling, 18, 59–60 Non-significant, 136, 143, 147, 148, 153, 158, 198, 317, 332 Normal population, 134–144, 190 Normit model, 38 Null hypothesis, 17, 132–153, 155, 157–162, 165–173, 192, 195, 196, 198, 212, 215, 219, 220, 224, 230, 231, 288, 316, 379

#### 0

Objective, 2, 15, 21, 25, 35, 46, 63, 75, 131, 200, 319, 326, 397, 411 Observation method, 64 One way classified data, 189, 190, 192–195, 218, 284–289 Optimum performance, 405 Optimum sample size, 46 Ordinal scale, 40, 41 Ordinates, 82, 85 Orthogonal, 350, 354

#### Р

Pair comparison, 43, 215, 216 Paired t-test, 134, 141, 167 Pantry audit, 70, 71 Parameter, 4, 15, 17, 28, 38, 46-48, 56-60, 72, 87, 125, 126, 131-133, 141, 153, 154, 158, 159, 162, 170, 171, 190, 289-291, 297-299, 316, 325, 326, 346, 364, 378, 400 Parametric test, 132, 158, 163 Partial correlation coefficient, 144, 181, 346, 348, 349 Partial regression coefficient, 326 Path coefficient, 291, 303-315 Path coefficient analyses, 297 Path diagram, 302, 303 PCV. See Phenotypic coefficient of variation (PCV) Percent disagreement, 378 Percentiles, 40, 89, 95, 111 Petri dishes, 394, 406 Phenotypic coefficient of variation (PCV), 290, 291, 297-299

المناوع الاستشارات

Phenotypic correlation, 290, 297, 301 Phenotypic co-variability, 289 pH meter, 18, 390-392 Plasma-atomic emission spectrometry, 395 Platykurtic, 101, 103, 104 Point estimation, 89, 131 Population correlation coefficient, 141, 142 mean, 46, 50, 55-57, 133-141, 145, 191 variance, 46, 50, 134-141, 145-147, 149 Potential, 31, 66, 98, 158, 234, 250, 390, 396, 412 Potential of hydrogen, 390 Power distance, 378 PRA. 69. 71 Precision, 25, 32, 72, 73, 134, 215, 258, 297 Predictability, 1 Presentation, 25, 59, 60, 64, 75, 81-82, 85, 87, 88, 101-104, 112, 119, 123, 380, 384, 411, 414, 417, 418 Presumption, 415 Primary data, 18, 63-64, 67, 69, 73, 75, 413 Principal Component Analysis, 354–363 Principles of design, 30, 31, 217 Probability level, 331, 332 of misclassification, 365 sampling, 18, 48-59 Probit, 38 Probit model, 423 Projective method, 69-70 Projects, 2, 3, 5, 6, 10, 11, 41, 42, 69-71, 73, 392, 411-417

### Q

Qualitative, 4–7, 9, 11, 18, 36, 38, 63, 71–73, 79, 95, 97, 123, 154, 168, 326, 395, 411 Quartiles, 89, 95, 98, 99, 101, 111 Quatrimax, 355 Quatrimax normalized, 355 Questionnaire, 27, 28, 66–71, 416, 418 Questionnaire method, 67, 68

# R

Random effect model, 190 Randomization, 30, 31, 217, 228, 259, 268 Randomized block design (RBD), 31, 32, 228-234, 241-243, 246-248, 251-253, 292 Ratio scale, 40, 41, 43 Raw data, 19, 63, 75, 77, 99, 100 RBD. See Randomized block design (RBD) Recurring, 413 Redundancy index, 350 Regression analysis, 37, 38, 112, 113, 126–130, 325–327, 329, 330, 349, 354 coefficient, 126, 127, 134, 143, 283, 284, 286, 316, 317, 319–323, 330, 355 Relevant, 1, 5, 15-17, 19, 20, 23, 27, 65, 72, 82, 407, 415

Reliability, 5, 26–28, 41, 42, 72, 73, 215

Replication, 2, 30-32, 198, 204-212, 216, 217,

219, 228-231, 234, 241-243, 246-248, 250,

255, 257-264, 268-274, 292, 294, 295,

Research process, 4, 10, 15-20, 25, 35, 63, 71, 73,

Researcher, 1, 15, 21, 26, 35, 45, 63, 79, 131, 189, 302,

Research programme, 2, 5-7, 9-12, 16-21, 23, 25-28, 39,

Residual, 127, 284, 285, 297, 302-306, 308, 315, 331,

41, 45, 63, 64, 72, 73, 75, 95, 325, 384, 407, 411,

Remainder approach, 50-51

308, 408, 409

326, 394, 411

412, 414-418

Rotation, 58, 355, 360, 361

Rosenzweig, 70

Research proposal, 5, 411–414

335-337, 341, 346, 355

413-415, 417, 418

Standard deviations, 98–101, 145–148, 215, 303, 320–323, 326

- STATISTICA, 384–388
- Statistical hypothesis, 132
- Statistical softwares, 239, 251, 264, 325, 408
- Stepwise backward regression technique, 332
- Sterilize articles, 395
- Stimulus, 37, 43
- Stimulus variable, 36–38
- Strip plot design, 264–282
- Successive intervals, 44
- Sum of squares, 127, 191, 192, 196, 200, 201, 215, 231, 242, 243, 260, 261, 263, 269, 270, 272–274, 284, 285, 289, 291, 317, 318, 331, 341, 365, 408, 409
- Survey, 3, 4, 8, 9, 15, 16, 18, 22, 23, 25, 27, 38, 40, 41, 45, 46, 48, 56, 57, 60, 63, 67, 68, 71, 417
- Susceptibility, 124, 189
- Sustainability, 319-323
- Sustainability index, 320-323
- Symmetric, 32, 33, 101, 102, 249, 253, 402
- Symmetrical factorial experiment, 32, 33
- Synchronization, 417
- Synthesis, 7, 283, 412, 416

# T

Test for homogeneity of variance, 150 the randomness, 159, 161 statistic, 29, 132-149, 151, 153, 154, 156-158, 161, 165-167, 173 Tetrachoric, 125 Tidbits, 417 Time series data, 132 Tocher method of clustering, 379 Tolerance, 189 Transformation, 76, 78, 106, 205-215, 382 Transitory, 71 Treatment effect, 216, 284 mean, 195, 207, 208, 210, 215-217, 219, 230, 231, 237, 242, 243, 261, 263, 264, 270, 271, 274, 275, 285, 288, 289, 299-301.318 Trend, 8, 70, 126, 215, 413 t-test, 139-141, 164, 167, 189, 190, 290, 331 Tukey's honestly significant difference test, 216 Two way analysis of variance, 30, 195, 200, 202 Two way classified data, 198, 199, 201, 204, 205, 211, 229 Type I error, 132, 133 TypeII error, 133, 158

## U

Unbiased, 1, 30, 66, 131, 132, 135, 168 Unbiased estimator, 50, 55, 56, 59, 135, 148 Unbiased sample, 46

S Sample means, 47, 50, 55, 57–59, 135–140, 145, 150, 166, 189.365 size, 26, 46, 47, 55-56, 58, 100, 136-140, 144-147, 158, 161, 162, 164, 171, 173, 183, 350 space, 132 survey, 9, 48 survey method, 45, 46 Sampling error, 46, 48 SAS, 103, 110-111, 114, 116, 117, 130, 220-223, 225-227, 232-234, 238-240, 251-253, 264-267, 347, 349-354, 382-384 Scaling technique, 43-44 Scatteredness, 89 Schedule, 32, 66, 68, 69, 73, 246, 271, 275, 387, 388, 418 Schedule method, 64, 68-69 Scrutiny, 2, 60, 75, 77-79 Secondary data, 18, 22, 63, 71-72 SEm, 216, 217 Shaker mechanism, 394 Sign test, 158-159, 169-170 Simple hypothesis, 132 Single linkage, 378–379 Size and shape, 215 Skewness, 97-98, 101-112 Social research, 12, 47 Sociogram, 70 Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, 123, 124, 168 Split Plot, 259, 264-268, 408, 409 Split plot design, 258-264, 268 SPSS, 107-110, 114, 117, 118, 130, 200, 327, 329-331, 337-340, 347, 348, 356, 358-362, 367, 368 Spurious, 121, 402 Square root of error mean square, 215 Square root transformation, 206, 208-211 Stability, 42, 315–319

Stacked, 83, 84

Uncorrelated, 142, 354, 356 Uniformity, 77 Univariate analyses, 87, 325 Unreveal, 415 Unweighted index numbers, 368–370, 374 Unweighted pair group method, 379

### V

Value index, 320 Vaporization, 395 Variability, 31, 46, 98, 138, 142, 146–148, 189, 228, 283, 289, 290 Variance component model, 190 Varimax normalized, 355 Vitiated, 414

#### W

Ward's method, 378, 379 Warranty card, 70 Weighted index number, 368–370, 374 Wilcoxon's unpaired distribution, 164, 186

# Y

Yates method, 315 Yield, 10, 56, 65, 75, 137, 189, 283, 326, 407

